## LOK SABHA

# THE COMPANIES (AMENDMENT) BILL, 1959

(Report of the Joint Committee)

(Presented on the 16th August, 1960)



LOK SABHA SECRETARIAT NEW DELHI August, 1960 Price : 3-50 nP. Joint/Salact Committee Report presented to the Lok Sabha during the 10th, 11th and 12th Sessions of Second Lok Se

Salle_	N ma of the Report	Dute of pre-
1.	Select Committee on the Preference Shares(Regulation of Dividends)Bill, 1980.	5, 12, <b>196</b> ).
2.	JointCommittee on the Delni Land Holdings(Ceiling)Bill, 1969.	8.2 <b>.1960</b> .
3.	Soint Committee on the Trigura Land Revenue and Land Reforms Bill, 1959.	- do -
4.	Joint Conmittee on the Manipur Land Revenue and Land Reforms Bill, 1959.	- dø -
8.	Joint Committee on the Legal Practi- tioners sill, 1959.	<b>28. 3. 196</b> 0.
6.	Joint Committee on the Bombay Reorganisation Bill, 1960.	14.4.1960.
7.	Joint Committee on the Companies (Amendment) Bill, 1969 with Evidence.	16.8 <b>. 1960</b> .
8.	Jeint Committee on the Notor Transport Workers Bill, 1960 with Evidence.	5, 12, 1960.

## CONTENTS

										PAG
t. Composition of the	Joint C	Comm	ittee	•	•	•		•	•	(iii)
2. Report of the Joint (	Commi	ttoc	•	•			•	•	•	(V)
3. Note	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	(XXV)
4. Minutes of Dissent	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	(XXVi)
5. Bill as reportedjby th	e Joint	Com	mittee	•		•			•	I
APPENDIX I-										
Motion in the Lok S	abha fo	or ref	erence	of <sub>L</sub> tl	ne Bill	l to Jo	int C	ommi	toe	117
APPENDIX II -										
Motion in the Rajya	Sabha	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	119
Appendix III										
Statement of memora tee	nda/rej	pr <b>ese</b> r	tations	rece	ived b	y the	Joint	Comn	nit-	120
APPENDIX IV-										
List of Associations v	who gay	re cvi	dence b	cfor	the ]	oint (	Comm	it <b>tee</b>	•	124
Appendix V-										
Minutes of the Sitting	gs of th	e Joir	t Com	mitte	æ	•	•	•	•	135

•

613(B) L.S.-A

.

#### Composition of the Joint Committee

Lok Sabha

\*Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman

#### MEMBERS

- 2. Shri H. C. Heda
- 3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 6. Shri Radhelal Vyas
- 7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 8. Shri P. T. Thanu Pillai
- 9. Shri M. Shankaraiya
- 10. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 11. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 12. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 13. Shri G. D. Somani
- 14. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 15. Shri C. D. Pande
- 16. Shri Mulchand Dube
- 17. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi
- 18. Shri Arun Chandra Guha (chairman from 15th September, 1959 to 21st December, 1959
- 19. Shrimati Sucheta Kripalani
- 20 Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 21. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 22. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani

#### (i**ii**)

<sup>\*</sup>Resigned from the Committee with effect from 5th September, 1959 and was reappointed to the Committee on the 21st December, 1959.

- 23. Shri S. Easwara Iyer
- 24. Shri M. R. Masani
- 25. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 26. Shri Tridib Kumar Chaudhuri
- 27. Shri Surendra Mahanty
- 28. Shri G. K. Manay
- 29. Shri Naushir Bharucha
- 30. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

#### Rajya Sabha

- 31. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai
- 32. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar
- 33. Shri P. D. Himatsingka
- 34. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai
- 35. Shri J. S. Bisht
- \*36. Shri Akbar Ali Khan
- \*37. Shri R. S. Doogar
- 38. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha
- **†39. Shri Ram Sa**hai
- 40. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- †41. Shri Jairamdas Daulatram
- †42. Shri Dahyabhai V. Patel
- \*\*43. Shri Mulka Govinda Reddy
  - †44. Shri P. Ramamurti
  - 45. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

#### DRAFTSMEN

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Joint Secretary and Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

Shri G. R. Bal, Deputy Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

Shri P. L. Gupta, Deputy Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

#### SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai-Deputy Secretary.

\*Ceased to be members of the Joint Committee consequent on their retirement from Rajya Sabha with effect from the 2nd April, 1960 but were re-appointed by Rajya Sabha on the 14th April, 1960 on their re-election to that House.

<sup>†</sup>Appointed on the 14th April, 1960 by Rajya Sabha vice Dr. R. P. Dube, Shri P. T. Leuva, Shri V. K. Dhage and Shri J. V. K. Vallabhrao, ceased to be members of the joint Committee on their retirement from that House.

<sup>\*\*</sup>Appointed on the 25th February, 1960 vice Shri H. D. Rajah died.

#### **REPORT OF THE JOINT COMMITTEE**

On behalf of the Joint Committee to which the Bill<sup>\*</sup> further to amend the Companies Act, 1956, was referred, I, having been authorised by the Committee, present on their behalf, their report, with the Bill as amended by the Committee annexed thereto.

2. The Bill was introduced in the Lok Sabha on the 1st May, 1959. The motion for reference of the Bill to a Joint Committee of the Houses was moved in the Lok Sabha by Shri Nityanand Kanungo, the Minister of Commerce, on the 6th May, 1959 and was discussed and adopted on the same day (Appendix I).

3. The Rajya Sabha discussed the motion on the 7th and 8th May, 1959 and concurred in the said motion on the 8th May, 1959 (Appendix II).

4. The message from the Rajya Sabha was read out to the Lok Sabha on the 9th May, 1959.

5. The Committee held twenty-seven sittings in all.

6. The first sitting of the Committee was held on the 8th May, 1959 to draw up a programme of work. The Committee at this sitting decided to hear evidence from associations, public bodies and individuals desirous of presenting their suggestions or views before the Committee and to issue a press communique inviting memoranda for the purpose. The Chairman was authorised to decide, after examining the memoranda submitted by them, as to which of the associations, public bodies etc. should be called to give oral evidence before the Committee.

7. 64 memoranda/representations on the Bill were received by the Committee from different associations, public bodies and individuals as mentioned in Appendix III.

8. At their second sitting held on the 6th July, 1959, the Committee had a preliminary discussion. At their third, fourth, fifth, sixth and seventh sittings held on the 7th, 8th, 9th, 10th and 11th July, 1959, respectively, the Committee heard the evidence given by fourteen associations etc. specified in Appendix IV.

9. The Committee have decided that the whole of the evidence given before them should be laid on the Table of the House.

(v)

<sup>\*</sup>Published in Part II, Section 2 of the Gazette of India, Extraordinary, dated the 1st May, 1959.

10. At their eighth, ninth and tenth sittings held on the 13th, 14th and 15th July, 1959, respectively, the Committee had a general discussion on the important provisions of the Bill.

11. The Committee considered the Bill clause by clause at their sittings held from 14th to 17th October, 1959, 25th and 27th to 29th January, 1960, and 16th and 18th to 21st July, 1960.

12. The report of the Committee was to be presented by the last day of the first week of the Eighth Session of Second Lok Sabha. The Committee were granted four extensions of time; for the first time on the 3rd August, 1959 upto the last day of the first week of the Ninth Session, again on the 16th November, 1959, upto the last day of the first week of the Tenth Session, again on the 8th February, 1960 upto the last day of the first week of the Eleventh Session and lastly, on the 5th August, 1960, upto the 16th August, 1960.

13. The Committee considered and adopted the Report on the 10th August, 1960.

14. The observations of the Committee with regard to the principal changes proposed in the Bill are detailed in the succeeding paragraphs.

15. Clause 2.—The Committee feel that in order to avoid practical hardships where the managing agent body corporate is also the managing agent of an associate body corporate referred to in paragraph (ii) of sub-clause (c) of clause 3 of section 2 of the Companies Act, 1956 (hereinafter referred to as the Act), a subsidiary of the associate body corporate should not be an associate of the managing agent.

The Committee further feel that similar provision should be made in respect of secretaries and treasurers.

The Committee consider that in the definition of "managing director" a specific provision should be made to the effect that the power to do administrative acts of a routine nature when so authorised by the Board, such as, the power to affix the common seal of the company to a document etc. should not be included within substantial powers of management.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

The other changes made in this clause are of drafting nature.

16. Clause 3.—The amendments made in the clause are clarificatory in nature. The Committee consider it unnecessary to treat an Indian private company, the entire share capital of which is held by one or more bodies corporate incorporated outside India, as a private company which is a subsidiary of a public company for the purposes of the Act. 17. Clause 4.—The clause has been recast to make the intention clear.

18. Clause 5.—The Committee are of the view that the power of the Central Government to declare an establishment not to be a branch office in relation to a company for all or any of the purposes of the Act should also extend to a banking or an insurance company.

They are further of the view that the provisions of section 8 of the Act should conform with the new definition of 'branch office', contained in clause 2(d) of this Bill.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

19. Clause 9.—The Committee feel that the Central Government should have a general power to grant exemption to companies licensed under section 25 of the Act from any provisions of the Act according to the circumstances and exigencies of each case and that the power need not be confined only to the sections mentioned in the clause.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

20. Clause 12.—The amendment made in this clause is clarificatory in nature.

21. (Original clause 13) — The Committee consider that the period of seven days laid down in section 39 of the Act is quite sufficient for supplying copies of documents specified therein to members of the company and ought not to be raised to fourteen days. Also the existing fee of one rupee for supplying copies of documents should not be raised.

The clause has, therefore, been omitted.

22. Clause 14 (Original clause 15).-In respect of this clause it was contended that there was no justification for deeming a private company as a public one when twenty-five percent or more of its shares were held by one or more private companies, because such a company might not employ any public money directly or indirectly, particularly when the aggregate individual membership of the concerned company including the individual members of the shareholding private companies did not exceed 50. The Committee think that this contention is not without substance. They, therefore, feel that the restriction imposed under this clause should not apply to any private company if (i) the body corporate or each of the bodies corporate holding shares in the private company is itself a private company. (ii) no body corporate holds any share in any of the shareholding companies and (iii) the total number of individual shareholders of the share-holding company or companies together with the

individual shareholders of the private company does not exceed 50, which number should be computed in the same manner as is done in the case of a private company under section 3(1) (iii) (b) of the Act.

The Committee further feel that in computing the relevant percentage, no account should be taken of any shares in the private company held by a banking company either as a trustee for any individual or as an executor or as an administrator of a deceased person.

The Committee also consider it unnecessary to require a private company which has become a public company to pass a resolution for the change of its name. The purpose will be served if the company informs the Registrar about the conversion within a period of three months.

The clause has been recast accordingly.

23. Clause 15 (Original clause 16).—The Committee consider that where a company transfers any shares to a Bank to facilitate the disposal of these shares, then, if the shares are not disposed of within six months, the Bank should retransfer them to the company.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

24. Clauses 18 and 19 (New clauses).—These new clauses have been inserted to carry out changes in sections 62 and 63 of the Act, respectively, necessitated by the adoption of clause 17 (original clause 18).

25. Clause 21 (Original clause 20).—The clause has been recast to make the intention clear.

26. Clause 24 (Original clause 23).—The Committee feel that where the Board of Directors decides to increase the subscribed capital of a company by allotment of further shares, the further shares should oridinarily be offered to existing holders of equity shares pro rata; but these further shares may also be offered to any persons in any manner irrespective of the existing equity shareholders if a special resolution is passed by the company in general meeting or although no such special resolution is passed in that general meeting, if the proposal has been carried out by a majority of votes and the Central Government is satisfied on the application of the Board of Directors that the proposal is most beneficial to the company.

The Committee also feel that the provision: of section 81 should apply when the Board of Directors proposes to increase the subscribed capital of a company by allotment of further shares after the expiry of two years from the formation of the company or after the expiry of one year from the first allotment of shares whichever is earlier.

The Committee further consider that the provisions of this section should not apply in relation to convertible loans or debentures *i.e.*, in relation to the increased subscribed capital caused by the conversion of debentures or loans into shares of the company if the following two conditions are satisfied: namely, that the terms of issue of debentures or loans has been approved by the company by a special resolution and also has been approved by the Central Government before such issue, or such terms are in conformity with the rules made by the Central Government.

The clause has been recast accordingly.

27. Clause 25 (Original clause 24).—The Committee are of the view that a penalty of a fine upto one thousand rupees is not a sufficient deterrent to prevent fraudulent duplication of shares especially when shares involving large amounts are concerned. They, therefore, feel that where such duplicates are issued for a fraudulent purpose, the penalty should extend upto a fine of ten thousand rupees in the case of the company issuing the duplicates and in respect of every officer of the company who is responsible for it, the penalty should be a fine upto the extent mentioned above or imprisonment upto six months or both.

They further feel that manner of issue or renewal of a certificate or issue of a duplicate thereof etc., payment of fees for the same, should be regulated by rules to be prescribed by the Central Government.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

28. (Original clause 25).—In the opinion of the Committee difficulty has not been experienced in applying the existing section 89 of the Act. The Committee feel that no useful purpose will be served by providing for readjustment of voting rights attached to different classes of shareholders at this stage when the period of one year mentioned in the section has already long passed. Further, as defaults in compliance with the provisions of the section must have been dealt with on the expiry of the prescribed period of one year, it would be invidious to make a change at this stage which might confer un-intended benefits on those whose defaults have not yet been detected.

The clause has been omitted accordingly.

29. Clause 26 (Original clause 26).—The clause has been recast to make the intention clear.

613(B) L.S.-B

**30.** Clause **30** (Original clause **30**).—Amendment made in this clause is of a verbal nature.

31. (Original clauses 31 and 32).—The Committee feel that the power of the Registrar to accept notice of part satisfaction should be etained to enable the company to notify such part satisfaction to the Registrar when it considers it necessary to do so.

Clauses 31 and 32 have accordingly been omitted.

32. Clause 31 (Original clause 33).—The Committee think that the scope of the clause should be made more comprehensive so as to include all cases of failure or omission to take action under part V of the Act.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

33. Clause 34 (Original clause 36).—The Committee consider that besides the name of the company, the address of its registered office should also be painted or affixed outside every office or place in which its business is carried on.

This has been provided in the amended clause.

34. (Original clause 38).—Under section 27 of the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956, the transferee of a share claiming dividend thereon is required to lodge the share together with the instrument of transfer etc. with the company for registration in his name within fifteen days of the date when the dividend becomes due. But if a company closes its register of members under section 154 of the Act during that period of fifteen days, then the transferee cannot lodge the share with the instrument of transfer etc. and therefore, cannot get dividend thereon.

The clause sought to provide that the register of members should not be closed within the aforesaid period of fifteen days. The Committee are of the view that the provision to this effect should more appropriately be made in the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, than in the Companies Act.

The clause has been omitted accordingly.

35. Clause 37 (Original clause 40).—The amendment made in this clause is consequential upon the adoption of sub-clause (b) of clause 36 (Original clause 39).

36. Clause 38 (Original clause 41).—Amendments made in this clause are of clarificatory nature and also intended to remove certain practical difficulties.

37. (Original clause 44) — The Committee feel that the copying fees as laid down in clause (b) of sub-section (3) of section 163 of the Act ought not to be raised. The Committee further consider that the period of ten days specified in sub-section (4) of that section

for supplying a copy of register, index etc. is reasonable and need not be raised to fourteen days.

The clause has been omitted accordingly.

38. Clause 42 (Original clause 46).—The Committee think that the Registrar should be empowdered to grant extension of time for holding annual general meeting up to a period of three months.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

39. (Original clause 48).—The Committee are of the view that twenty-one days' notice for calling a general meeting of a company is adequate and need not be raised to twenty-eight days.

The clause has, therefore, been omitted.

40. Clause 45 (New clause).—The Committee think that the phraseology of section 173(2) of the Act should be brought in line with that of section 299 thereof. The Committee further feel that the disclosure of the extent of share-holding interest in the company of a director, managing agent, if any, secretaries and treasurers, under section 173(2) of the Act need be set out in the statement only where the extent of share-holding is twenty per-cent or more.

The new clause provides for the same.

41. Clause 47 (New clause).—The Committee are of the view that the words "if it were a member" occurring in section 187 of the Act are unhappy and inappropriate since the body corporate referred to in the section is a member and the words should, therefore, be substituted by the words "if it were an individual member".

The new clause has been inserted accordingly.

42. Clause 49 (Original clause 52) —Since the period of notice for calling a general meeting has been retained as twenty-one days (by omission of original clause 48) the Committee consider that the period of special notice required to be given by the shareholders to the company for intention to move a resolution mentioned in section 190 of the Act should be reduced to fourteen days.

Similarly, the period of notice of fourteen days required under the proposed sub-section (2) of section 190 should be reduced to seven days.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

43. Clause 50 (Original clause 53).—The Committee feel that the filing of the Board's resolution according consent to contracts specified in section 297 of the Act with the Registrar as contemplated in the original clause would entail a good deal of expense for companies and would also throw an undue burden on the Registrars. The item has, therefore, been omitted.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

The other amendments made in this clause are of a clarificatory or consequential nature.

44. Clause 51 (Original clause 54).—The Committee are of opinion that some definite period should be prescribed within which the minutes of proceedings of every general meeting and that of the Board of Directors or of its Committee should be entered in books kept for that purpose and they have accordingly suggested fourteen days as the period for doing so.

They also feel that it would be reasonable if each page of such books is initialled or signed.

In the case of the minutes of the proceedings of a general meeting, it has been specified that either they should be signed within fourteen days of the meeting by the Chairman of the meeting or, in the event of his inability to do so, by a director duly authorised by the Board for the purpose.

The Committee strongly feel that minutes of proceedings should in no case be attached to the minutes books referred to above by pasting or otherwise.

This has been provided in the amended clause.

45. (Original clause 57).—The Committee consider that the period of seven days prescribed by sub-section (2) of section 196 of the Act should be enough for supplying copies of minutes and it need not be raised to fourteen days. The existing provision of this sub-section relating to the payment of fees should also stand.

The clause has been omitted accordingly.

46. (Original clause 58).—The object of the amendment proposed in this clause was that the Chairman's speech which forms a part of the proceedings of a general meeting of the company should not be circulated or advertised at the expense of the company unless it is accompanied by a summary of proceedings of the meetings.

The Committee feel that the Chairman's speech by itself serves a useful purpose and any provision requiring Chairman's speech to be accompanied by a summary of the proceedings of the general meeting will entail unnecessary expenditure to the company.

The clause has, therefore, been omitted.

47. Clause 55 (Original clause 60).—The amendments made in ithis clause are clarificatory in nature.

48. Clause 57 (Original clause 62).—The Committee are of opinion that the original clause involved an element of rigidity as it contemplated that depreciation should be deducted only in accordance with the method prescribed for provision of normal depreciation under the Indian Income Tax Act, 1922. They feel that a company should be allowed to provide for depreciation subject to certain safeguards, also in accordance with other recognised methods. In order to cover cases calling for special treatment a company should also be permitted with the approval of the Central Government to declare and pay dividends to its shareholders without providing for depreciation.

The clause has been recast accordingly.

49. Clause 58 (Original clause 63).—The Committee feel that delay in payment of dividends is not widely prevalent. They, therefore, consider that section 207 of the Act should be retained as it is with the modification that for the period of three months specified in the section within which dividends are to be paid, or dividend warrants posted a period of 42 days should be substituted.

The clause has been recast accordingly.

50. Clause 59 (Original clause 64).—The Committee are of opinion that besides the right of inspection of books of accounts to be conferred upon the Registrar, any officer of the Government authorised by the Central Government in this behalf should also be competent to inspect books if in the opinion of the Central Government inspection by an officer other than the Registrar is considered necessary.

Further, they are of opinion that punishment for failure to take all reasonable steps to secure compliance by the company with the requirements of section 209 as laid down in sub-section (5) thereof should be more deterrent than merely fine. Therefore, in this subsection, the Committee have now provided for imprisonment extending upto six months or fine extending upto one thousand rupees or both.

The Committee, however, feel that the sentence of imprisonment should not be awarded unless the act proceeded against was committed wilfully.

The Committee are of the view that the managing director should also be included amongst the managerial personnel charged by sub-section (6) with the duty of ensuring compliance with the requirements of section 209. The provision of punishment under sub-section (7) has been brought in line with that sub-section (5) as now amended by the Committee.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

The other amendments are of a verbal or clarificatory nature.

51. Clause 60 (Original clause 65).—The Committee feel it to be necessary and desirable that normally the shareholders and the public should be informed of the affairs of the company within six months of the end of its financial year.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

52. Clause 61 (Original clause 66).—The Committee are of opinion that the balance sheet of a company may be drawn up either in the form set out in schedule VI or in such other form as may be approved by the Central Government either generally or in any particular case. This is to enable progressive companies to adopt advanced methods in the matter of presentation of their accounts.

Provision has been made accordingly in the clause.

The other amendments made in the clause are of a consequential or drafting nature.

53. (Original clause 70).— In view of omission of original clause 48, this clause has also been omitted.

54. Clause 65 (Original clause 71).—The Committee feel that when the Registrar of companies allows inspection of the balance sheet of a private company by a person other than a member, the profit and loss account should not be shown along with the balance sheet. This would not be possible if the two are printed and filed together.

Therefore, the Committee feel that the copies of the balance sheet and the copies of the profit and loss account of a private company should be filed separately with the Registrar.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

55. Clause 66 (Original clause 72).—The Committee consider that when a company appoints an auditor other than the retiring auditor at the annual general meeting, it should send intimation about such appointment to the auditor concerned within seven days of his appointment. The Committee further think that the period within which the auditor so appointed should inform the Registrar of his acceptance or rejection of the appointment should be extended from 7 days to 30 days. The clause has been recast accordingly.

56. Clause 68 (Original clause 74).—The amendments made in this clause are consequential upon an amendment accepted to clause 69 (Original clause 75).

57. Clause 69 (Original clause 75).—The Committee are of opinion that the provisions relating to branch audit might cause some hardship particularly to companies whose branches are spread all over the country or where the branch concerned is a small one. They, therefore, feel that the Central Government should be authorised to make rules for exempting any branch office from the requirement of compulsory audit to the extent to be specified in the rules. While making such rules, the Central Government should have regard to the arrangements made by the company for the audit of the accounts of the branch office and the nature and quantum of activity carried on at that branch during a period of three years immediately preceding the date on which the branch office is exempted etc. and any other matter which in the opinion of the Central Government justifies the grant of exemption.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

Some other changes of clarificatory nature have also been made in the clause.

58. Clause 70 (New clause).—The Committee think that where the Central Government has reason to believe that the affairs of a company are not being managed in accordance with sound business principles or prudent commercial practices or they are being managed in a way likely to cause serious injury or damage to the interests of the trade, industry or business to which it pertains or the financial position of the company is such as to endanger its solvency, it should be entitled to order a special audit of the company's accounts, so that a critical appreciation of the company's working and the state of its affairs may be available to the Government.

The new clause has been inserted accordingly.

59. Clause 71 (Original clause 76).—The Committee feel that the scope of sub-section (1) of section 234 of the Act should be widened to empower the Registrar to call for information and explanation with respect to any matter to which the document submitted to him purports to relate. They also feel that the penalty for failure to supply the information and explanation asked for by the Registrar should be enhanced from a fine of rupees fifty to rupees five hundred and that an additional daily fine of rupees fifty should be provided in case of a continuing offence.

It has also been provided that where the Registrar has obtained the books and papers which are required by the company, he may retain copies or extracts therefrom and attach those copies or extracts to the original documents filed under sub-section (1) of sect on 234 of the Act before returning those books and papers to the company.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

Other changes are of a clarificatory nature.

60. Clause 72 (Original clause 77).—The Committee are of the view that an obligation should be cast on the Registrar to return the books and papers within thirty days after seizure to the company or the other body corporate or the person concerned, so that the normal business or working of the company is not hampered. In order that subsequent enquiry or follow-up action is not impeded, the Registrar has been empowered to take copies or extracts from the seized documents before returning them.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

Some changes of a consequential or drafting nature have also been made.

61. Clause 73 (Original clause 78).—The clause has been redrafted. The additions in the clause are consequential upon the adoption of clause 59 (original clause 64).

62. Clause 74 (Original clause 79).—The Committee feel that in order that the inspector may examine on oath any officer, agent or other employee of the company as provided for in sub-section (2) of section 240 of the Act the inspector should be given power to require such officer, agent or other employee to appear before him personally.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

The other changes are clarificatory in nature.

63. Clauses 75 and 77 (Original clauses 80 and 82 respectively).— The clauses have been amended to make the intention clear.

64. Clause 79 (Original clause 84).—The Committee are of opinion that the scope of sub-section (1) of section 250 should be widened so as to enable the Central Government to impose restrictions in suitable cases although there may not be any investigation under sections 247, 248 or 249 of the Act. They further feel that the Central Government should be authorised to vary or rescind any order made by it under sub-sections (1), (3) or (4).

The Committee also feel that no order of the Court whether interim or final under sub-section (6) should be made without giving the Central Government an opportunity of being heard.

It has also been provided that an order of the Central Government shall be served on the company within fourteen days after the making of the order.

The clause has been redrafted accordingly.

65. Clause 84 (Original clause 89).—The Committee are of the view that the company should have the option of informing their members of the candidature of a person or the intention of a member to propose a person as a candidate by serving individual notices upon members not less than seven days before the meeting individually or through advertisement in two newspapers, one in English and the other in the regional language, not less than seven days before the meeting.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

66. Clause 88 (Original clause 93).—The clause has been amended so as to enable a director to file his consent after appointment within a period of thirty days instead of seven days under sub-section (2) of the proposed section 264.

67. Clause 99 (Original clause 104).—Where the sole selling agent is a firm or a body corporate, the term of its office is regulated by section 204 of the Act. But where the sole selling agent is an individual there is no express provision in the Act relating to his term of office. The Committee feel that section 294 should regulate the term of office of the sole selling agent whether he is an individual or a firm or a body corporate.

The Committee think that instead of banning the appointment of an erstwhile managing agent as a sole selling agent of the company whose managing agent he was within three years of the cesser of the managing agency, it will be sufficient if such appointments are allowed to be made during that period with the approval of the Central Government.

The Committee also consider that the Central Government should have the power to call for information from a company having a sole selling agent by whatever name called in order to satisfy itself whether or not the terms and conditions of appointment of the sole selling agent are prejudicial to the interests of the company and, if necessary, to vary them.

613(B) L.S.--C

In the opinion of the Committee, power should also be given to the Central Government to call for information regarding the terms and conditions of appointment of selling agents of a company where it has more selling agents than one for any area or areas in order to see whether any of those selling agents may not be for all intents and purposes sole selling agent of the company for such area or areas. In such a case also the Central Government should have the power to vary the terms and conditions of appointment of the selling agent declared by the Central Government to be the sole selling agent of the company.

The clause has been recast accordingly.

68. Clause 111 (Original clause 116).—The Committee consider that where before coming into force of this amending legislation, companies have been making monthly payments to their directors for attending meetings of the Board or a Committee thereof, such arrangements should not be disturbed till the term of the present incumbents cease or for a period of two years after coming into force of this legislation, whichever is earlier.

The Committee further consider that the ceiling on the remuneration of a whole-time director or a managing director presoribed as percentages of the net profits by the proviso to the proposed subsection (3) should not be rigidly applied, but be waived at the discretion of the Central Government. Similarly, the percentage ceiling on the remuneration of directors other than whole-time or managing directors laid down in sub-section (4) of the existing section should be relaxable by the Central Government in suitable cases.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

69. Clause 114 (Original clause 119).—The Committee are of the view that the restrictions imposed by section 314(1) of the Act should not apply in a case where a relative of a director or a firm in which such relative is a partner has been holding a place or office of profit in the company before such person was appointed as a director thereof.

A provision has been made in the clause accordingly.

70. Clause 119 (Original clause 124).—Although the Committee agree with the proposal that no company should appoint or employ as its managing agent any body corporate which is a subsidiary of itself or of any other body corporate, after the commencement of the present amending Act, they are of the view that the subsidiary

·\_\_\_ · · ·

companies which have been acting as managing agents uptill now should not be prevented in future from acting as the managing agents of the companies at present managed by them as it may cause hardship in certain cases.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

71. Clause 120 (New clause).—The Committee feel that attempts to circumvent the provision contained in section 332 of the Act to the effect that after the 15th August, 1960, no managing agent shall manage more than ten companies through the device of a managing agency company 'transferring' managed companies in excess of ten to other managing agency companies which are really in the same group and which manage less than ten companies each, should be forestalled.

This new clause has been added to make such evasions more difficult by plugging the loopholes in section 332(4) of the Act.

72. Clause 123 (Original clause 127).—The Committee consider that where a managing agent, being a body corporate, is a subsidiary of another body corporate and the shares of the other body corporate are dealt in, or quoted on a recognised stock exchange, no change in the ownership of the shares of the other body corporate should be deemed to be a change in the constitution of the managing agent for the purposes of section 346 of the Act.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

The other amendments made in the clause are of a clarificatory nature.

73. Clause 130 (Original clause 133) — The Committees are of opinion that in the case of a contract for supply or rendering any service other than that of managing agent, the management of a company besides obtaining the approval of the general body of share-holders by a special resolution should obtain the approval of the Central Government so that there may be a check on any tendency on the part of the managing agents to obtain extra remuneration by contracts for the supply or rendering of service.

The other amendment is of a drafting nature.

74. Clause 132 (Original clause 135) — The Committee are of the view that it should be made clear that the prohibition in section 369 of the Act against the grant of loans to managing agents or their associates should not apply when the loanee is the subsidiary of the lending company.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

75. Clause 133 (Original clause 136).—The Committee feel that it should be made clear that section 370 of the Act would be attracted also in the case of a loan made or guarantee given by a company to a partnership firm, any partner of which is a body corporate under the same management as the lending company. The Committee further feel that every lending company should keep a register showing the names of all bodies corporate under the same management as the lending company and the name of every firm in which a partner is a body corporate under the same management as the lending company and detailed particulars regarding the loans made, guarantees given etc. should be entered in the register, which shall be open to inspection by the members of the company. Failure to maintain the register has been made punishable with fine.

The clause has been redrafted also with some other consequential or verbal amendments.

76. Clause 135 (New clause).—Amendment of section 371 was necessitated by the introduction of sub-section (1C) to (IF) in section 370 of the Act as the Committee have recommended in clause 133 (Original clause 136).

A new clause amending section 371 of the Act has accordingly been inserted.

77. Clause 136 (Original clause 138).—The Committee feel that in applying the restrictions imposed on investments in companies outside the same group, investments in the shape of debentures of those companies (which do not help in the acquisition of control over those companies) should be left out of account.

As the investment in rights shares does not normally mean acquisition of a greater degree of control over the 'investee' company and are sometimes absolutely necessary if the investing company is to maintain its existing position in relation to the conduct of affairs of the other company, the Committee feel that investments in rights shares should not be subject to percentage ceilings. It has, however, been made clear that investments made in rights shares must be taken into account for the purpose of applying the limits when further investments are to be made in shares, other than rights shares.

The Committee feel that infringement of the provisions of subsection (6) or (7) of the proposed section may be punishable additionally with a fine of rupees fifty for every day during which the default continues.

The Committee consider that investment companies should attach to their balance sheets a statement showing only the investments existing on the date on which the balance sheet is made out.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

78. Clause 138 (New clause).—The proposed sub-section (8) of section 372 provides for a penalty for contravention of sub-sections (6) and (7) of that section. This has necessitated a slight verbal alteration in section 374 of the Act.

A new clause amending section 374 has, therefore, been inserted.

79. Clause 145 (Original clause 146).—The Committee are of opinion that in order to avoid possible hardship particularly to smaller companies, it should be provided that the ceiling of five per cent of net profits on the remuneration of managers may be exceeded with the approval of the Central Government.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

80. Clause 154 (Original clause 155).—The Committee feel that applications about frivolous or minor matters under sections 408 and 409 of the Act need not be referred to the Advisory Commission but Government might deal with them independently.

They are also of the view that Government might pass interim orders on those applications but before passing final orders the opinion of the Advisory Commission ought to be obtained.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

81. Clause 157 (New clause).—The Committee consider that the present penalty of a fine of rupees five hundred as provided under section 420 of the Act is not an adequate deterrent. In their opinion offences under that section should be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months or with fine which may extend to one thousand rupees.

A new clause amending section 420 has been inserted accordingly.

82. Clause 160 (New clause).—The Committee are of the opinion that intimation of an order made by the Court for the winding up of a company under section 444 of the Act should also be sent to the Registrar.

The new clause amending section 444 has been inserted accordingly.

83. Clause 164 (Original clause 163).—The Committee feel that penalty under sub-section (5) of section 454 of the Act for failure to draw up and furnish the statement of affairs to the Official Liquidator should in appropriate cases be more deterrent and should, therefore, also include imprisonment which may extend to two years, or fine as at present or both.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

84. Clause 168 (New clause).—The Committee feel that in computing the period of limitation prescribed for any suit or application in the name and on behalf of a company which is being wound up by the Court, the period from the date of commencement of the winding up of the company to the date on which the winding up order is made (both inclusive) and a period of one year immediately following the date of the winding up order should be excluded. This should hold good irrespective of anything to the contrary contained in any other law.

A new clause inserting a new section 458A has been inserted accordingly.

• 85. Clause 169 (Original clause 167).—The Committee feel that power should be conferred upon the Government to move the Court for replacement of a liquidator appointed by the Court under the Indian Companies Act of 1913 by Official Liquidator referred to in section 448 of the Act.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

86. Clause 185 (New clause) — The Committee are of the view that the Supreme Court should be given power to make rules providing that a liquidator may exercise any of the powers referred to in sub-clause (ii) or sub-clause (iii) of sub-section (1) of section 546 without the sanction of the Court but subject to such conditions as may be specified in the rules.

A new clause amending section 546 has been inserted accordingly.

87. Clause 188 (Original clause 185).—The Committee feel that in order to avoid any undue hardship the Central Government may be empowered to remit in any proper case either in part or in whole the amount of interest which the liquidator is liable to pay under sub-section (9) of section 555 of the Act.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

88. Clause 193 (Original clause 190).—The Committee think that the penalty for non-compliance with an order of the Court under sub-section (1) of proposed new section 614A should be fine or imprisonment or both.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

The other amendment is consequential in nature.

The clause has, therefore, been omitted.

90. Clause 202 (Original clause 200).—The clause has been redrafted to make the intention clear.

91. Clause 203 (Original clause 201).—The Committee think that in a criminal proceeding under sub-section (1) of section 633, the Court should not grant relief from a civil liability which may attach to an office in respect of any negligence, default etc. mentioned in the said sub-section.

Drafting improvement has been carried out in sub-section (2) of the section to make the intention clear.

92 Clause 204 (Original clause 202).—The Committee consider that the Government should be authorised to prescribe fees which may be different for different matters not exceeding one hundred rupees to be paid along with applications made by a company for approval, sanction, consent etc. under the provisions of this Act.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

93. Clause 206 (New clause).—The Committee feel that it is desirable in order to avoid possible hardships to make a general provision that, excepting in cases where it is expressly provided, in computing the period within which any order of the Court is required to be filed with the Registrar or company or any other person, the time taken in drawing up the order and in obtaining a copy thereof should be excluded.

A new clause incorporating new section 640A has been inserted accordingly.

94. Clauses 207 and 208 (Original clauses 204 and 205 respectively).—The Committee feel that sub-sections (3) of sections 641 and 642 should be redrafted to incorporate the new formula which has been agreed to by the Committee on Subordinate Legislation for laying notifications before the Houses of Parliament.

This has now been provided for in the amended clauses.

95. Clause 210 (Original clause 207).—The amendment made in the clause is of a drafting nature.

#### (xxiv)

96. Clause 213 (Original clause 210).—The Committee consider that the list of relatives enumerated in the proposed schedule 1A should include a son's daughter's husband but omit the words "including step father" in item 1 and the categories mentioned in the original items 24 to 27, 31 to 34, 51, 58 and 59.

The list has been revised accordingly.

97. Clause 214 (Original clause 211).—The Committee feel that footnote (L) to the form of the Balance Sheet in part I of Schedule VI should be modified to accord with section 372 as proposed to be amended and to make the intention clear and the explanation proposed to be inserted by the clause in para 3(x) of Part II of the Schedule relating to the profit and loss accounts should be omitted in order to avoid practical difficulties. The words "and any other person" occurring in the substantive part of the proposed para 4 of Part II of the Schedule should be omitted as they are inappropriate and may cause practical difficulty. The word "percentages" in the proposed para 4A in the same Part should also be omitted as no auditor received his remuneration by way of a percentage.

The clause has been amended accordingly.

98. The Joint Committee recommend that the Bill as amended be passed.

ARUN CHANDRA GUHA.

New Delhi; 12th August, 1960.

1 would like to make a suggestion for amendment of section 153 of the Companies Act. 1956, though there is no amendment proposed to that section in the Bill. I note that the Joint Committee also had introduced some new provisions which are not covered in the Bill. Section 153 provides that no notice of any trust express, implied or constructive, shall be entered on the register of members or debenture holders or be receivable by the Registrar. Though the ostensible purpose of the provision is that the company should not take notice of any equitable interests in the shares of the company, it has given rise to a lot of practical difficulties in the matter of purchase and sale of shares by the trust and collection of dividends. I do not see any objection in recognising trusts and their entry in the share register as members. One or two trustees may be authorised by a resolution of the trustees where there are more than two trustees to sign and act on behalf of the trust. The trustees can then easily act on behalf of the trust in respect of its investments, namely, purchase and sale of shares and collection of dividends.

There is also another good reason why a company should recognise trusts as members. That is the necessarily to avoid abuse or fraud. The shares of a trust have necessarily to be registered now in the names of one or two trustees in their individual names and those persons can deal with the income or sell the shares in fraud of the trust. Of course, later on, action may be taken against the erring trustees, but meanwhile the mischief would have been done. In order to avoid that and also make it easy for well-established and recognised trusts to function without being put to inconvenience in the matter of purchase and sale of shares and collection of dividend I strongly feel that it is necessary that trusts should be recognised under Company Law and their entry in the share register as members permitted.

NEW DELHI; 10th August, 1980. P. D. HIMATSINGKA

613(B) L.S.-D

**(XXV)** 

In its order of the 15th May, 1957, constituting the Sastri Committee to consider the working of the Companies Act, 1956, the Government of India had laid down certain wholesome objectives, namely.

- (i) to overcome certain practical difficulties in its working as may have been encountered since it came into force;
- (ii) to remove such drafting defects and obscurities as may have interfered with the working of the Act; and

ι.

(iii) to consider what changes in the form or structure of the Act, if any, were necessary or desirable to simplify it.

On the basis of these directives the Committee, after an exhaustive enquiry, including the examination of many witnesses, made their Report and the present Bill was framed, containing many substantial amendments of the law. The Select Committee in its report has, however, gone a good deal further. The tenor of the amendments which have been introduced in the Select Committee, most of them by Government, would suggest that Government had second thoughts and a number of amendments have been introduced which cannot, by any stretch of imagination, be considered as necessary to "overcome practical difficulties", "remove drafting defects" or to "simplify" the form or structure of the Act of 1956.

Encroachments on management in the interests of the shareholders and by the shareholders are understandable, but it is difficult to understand how the interference of the governmental bureaucracy in the day to day affairs of a Company either safeguards the interests of the shareholders, even when it is unwanted by the shareholders, or promotes development and expansion of industries. Unfortunately, I was not able to convince the majority of my colleagues in the Select Committee about the unfair discrimination which is sought to be practised on a section of the industrial and business community represented by joint stock companies through these excessive regulations which bureaucratic zeal has sought to impose. I am opposed to this measure of over-regulation because I believe that the economic development of the country would be advanced if the entrepreneurs who are represented in large measure by joint stock enterprise in this country are given a fair chance to live and to expand, to run their businesses

#### (xxvii)

using their own judgement subject to the control which is exercised by the investors, namely, the shareholders and subject only to minimum interference by Government.

I shall proceed to illustrate this general consideration by a reference to certain of the provisions inserted in the Bill:

1. New Clause 70:

The first of these is the provision for the appointment of a Special Auditor. This provision is remarkable for the sweeping powers conferred on what might ultimately turn out to be a Deputy Secretary of Government in directing a special audit of a Company's affairs. The Central Government is given power under this section to appoint a special auditor where the Government is of opinion,

- (a) that the affairs of any Company are not being managed in accordance with sound business principles or prudent commercial practices (it is difficult to find a power vested in vaguer and more general language than this);
- (b) that any Company is being managed in a manner likely to cause serious injury or damage to the interest of the trade, industry or business to which it pertains;
- (c) that the financial position of any Company is such as to endanger its solvency.

A greater inroad on the autonomy of joint stock enterprise or in fact on the freedom which is given by the Constitution to people to carry on trade and businesses in their own interest it is difficult to find. The test applied is completely subjective. It is all a matter of Government's opinion without even the corrective powers which could be exercised judicially and impartially by a court of law. Government cannot be unaware that a decision to appoint a special auditor by itself would imperil the financial position of a Company and might even endanger its solvency. The good name and reputation of companies are plants of delicate growth, hard to build, easy to destroy. What is sound business principle or prudent commercial practice cannot surely be the prerogative of a Government depart-There can be more than one view on the subject and those ment. who are actually running industries with the help of presumably competent Boards of Directors and with the safeguards which already exist in the law are far better judges than the bureaucracy of what sound business principles are or prudent commercial practices should be in their particular class of business. The appointment of a special auditor is also a slur on the regular auditors of the Company.

#### (xxviii)

This power to appoint a Special Auditor is, in my view, completely unnecessary, apart from being unjustified, because under various sections of the Act, as confirmed and strengthened by this Bill, the powers of investigation of Companies, the right of minority of shareholders to approach Government in matters of management and finally the very wide powers conferred on Registrars, coupled with the audit by the Company's own auditors, fully safeguard the business interests of Companies as entities and of the shareholders as primarily interested in the equity.

The powers conferred on the Special Auditor appear to go much further than the powers conferred on the auditors of the Company. I refer to sub-clause (5) of the new clause where, in the widest possible terms, there is an obligation cast on every person called upon to furnish such information "as may be required by the special auditor" in connection with the special audit upon pain of a penalty of Rs. 500 if the information is not given. Here again, a subjective test is applied and the special auditor can call for any information, relevant or irrelevant, so long as he thinks it is required in connection with his audit.

I am opposed to the whole clause but, if a provision on the lines mentioned in the clause is to be incorporated in our Company Law, certain suitable safeguards should be provided.

First, before the Government directs a special audit, it should communicate to the Company broadly why they consider there has been a breach of either (a), (b) or (c) which has led the Government to decide on taking steps for appointing a Special Auditor. This will enable the Central Government, after hearing the Company, to withhold the appointment of a Special Auditor if they are satisfied with the Company's representation.

Secondly, the Company should be entitled to call for a copy of the report and make its representations on it.

Thirdly, in keeping with the spirit of the Constitution, the Company should be at liberty to appeal against Government's decision to a Court of Law.

#### 2. Clause 79:

The terms of the original Clause in the Bill were exproprietory in character since they conferred on Government powers to veto the transfer of shares and even the exercise of voting rights. The amendments made in Select Committee go substantially further since they extend to shares which have not yet been issued but which may be issued in the future so that the shareholder against whom the order is passed will be deprived of his quota in a "rights" issue. Such a prohibition over a period of three years must be considered a violation of Article 31 of the Constitution. The benefit of a rights issue can be very valuable property and, as Companies' issues have to be made within a limited period of time, very much less than three years, it follows that the exercise of the veto in regard to such shares means for all practical purposes a cancellation of the benefit vested in the shareholder. There is no provision in the clause which enables a shareholder to claim damages if ultimately it is established that Government's orders were unnecessary, nor could such a shareholder ask for a postponement of the "rights" issue pending a review of the proceedings under the clause in a Court of Law.

Under new sub-clause (3), the powers conferred by the Section become exercisable when the Central Government is of the opinion that a change in management would be prejudicial to the "public interest". It is really the interests of the shareholders, or minority interests of shareholders, that should be involved. Therefore the powers should be exercised by the Government at the instance of at least minority interests in a Company in much the same way as the parallel powers given to Government under Section 398 (1) (b) are exercisable where there is danger of control oppressive to such minority interests or prejudicial to the Company and its shareholders.

The minority interests in this case might be the same as provided in Section 399 (1), namely, shareholders holding 10 per cent. of the capital or 100 in number or one-tenth of the total number of shareholders.

As in Section 398, there should be the safeguard of inviting a Court's order before action is taken under the Clause.

Further, the power under the Clause should not extend to the receipt of "rights" shares.

- ----

#### 3. Clause 99:

The amendments moved by Government and accepted by the Select Committee in regard to the appointment of sole selling agents represent perhaps a greater inroad into the internal management of a Company than any of he other amendments. Applying the now familiar subjective test, the Central Government is given the widest possible powers to write new agreements with selling agents, and even cancel certain selling agencies by declaring sole selling agents for areas where there is more than one selling agent, all upon terms which the bureaucracy dictates. This is really a form of bureaucracy run amuck and places Indian industry in an unenviable position, particularly as foreign competitors may appoint selling agents on more realistic terms and thus be able thereby to capture the trade to the loss of Indian manufacturing interests.

As the power apparently is exercisable where the Central Government is of opinion that the terms and conditions of appointment of the selling agents are "prejudicial to the interests of the Company", it is surprising that no consultation with the Board of Directors of the Company, or even with the shareholders who are the owners of the Company, is provided for. One can well imagine how the sales of products of a Company against whom the power is exercised will suffer during such period as is needed for the Government to undertake examination of the existing selling agency terms and conditions. No cogent reason has been given for the introduction of such sweeping powers at the eleventh hour. It might even be suspected that these powers have been introduced to make it easier for the State Trading Corporation to enter by the backdoor the field of sales of the products of a particular industry.

#### 4. Clause 136:

An objectionable type of interference by Government in the working of a Company is illustrated by the provisions of sub-section (4) of the new section 372 proposed by this clause. The normal business of an investment Company is to buy and sell shares. Proviso 2 to sub-section (2), however, unlike proviso 1, applies to investment Companies so that no investment Company is entitled to make investments in other bodies corporate in the "same group" beyond twenty per cent, of the subscribed capital. If it has already done so by the date of the coming into force of this Act, any investment in that group has to receive the approval of the Central Government. Obviously, it will take time for a Company to receive that sanction. It is plain that the shareholders are the best people to judge whether or not a further investment in the "same group" beyond twenty per Therefore, the additional requirement cent. should be agreed to. that, besides a resolution of the investment Company in general meeting, the approval of the Central Government is obtained is unjustified.

The proposed new sub-section (3) under this clause is objectionable, because it is retroactive in application. The restrospective character of the clause is such as to cover all investments made by a Company from the commencement of its existence so that, reading it with the proviso to sub-section (2), if the Company has already, before the commencement of the proposed Amendment Act of 1960. exceeded the prescribed percentages under provisos 1 and 2 of the proposed sub-section (2), it cannot invest in a single share unless both the sanction of the shareholders and the Central Government is received. This might even prohibit variations investments even though no additional fresh funds are invested, because at the time of making an investment the Company will have already exceeded the prescribed percentages. These rigorous and somewhat harsh provisions seem to be quite unnecessary, and there is no reason why the provisions of the proposed sub-section (3) should have retrospective operation. In my view, therefore, the following amendments should be made in this clause:

- (i) The approval of the Central Government should be deleted as unnecessary under the proposed sub-section (4); and
- (ii) Sub-section (3) should not have retrospective effect before the commencement of the Amendment Act of 1960 or at the earliest before the commencement of the Companies Act, 1956.

### Corporate Finance for Political Funds

It is a matter for regret that the Joint Select Committee turned down certain amendments to clause 103 of the Bill and to section 13 of the Act the effect of which would have been to prohibit contributions from Joint Stock Company finances to any political party or fund.

The issue is one of considerable importance for the effective functioning of our nascent democracy. While the influence of money power cannot be eliminated altogether in a free society any more than the influence of labour, of landed interests or of other numerically large agglomerations of individuals with common economic interests, it is important that its influence should be limited as far as possible. Political parties are necessary for the functioning of parliamentary democracy and they naturally need finance for their functioning and for their election campaigns but such funds should come from those individual citizens who are their members on supporters. Fortunately, there are in most cases natural limits to such contributions but permitting contributions by joint stock enterprises opens the door to contributions of a magnitude which are normally not within the capacity of most citizens. They also have the

#### (xxxii)

serious demerit that those at whose instance they are made are not spending their own money but are utilising the funds of shareholders which were never intended for such a purpose.

It has been argued that a collective entity like a joint stock Company should not be prevented from giving support to that party with whose ideology its members have sympathy. It is obvious. however, that all shareholders of any Company cannot possibly be expected to have the same ideological bias. Members of different political parties and those holding different political views subscribe to a Company's shares without any thought of political implications. The decision of the Joint Select Committee to permit such contributions unquestionably has the effect of accentuating party and political warfare in the ranks of joint stock Companies. Rival groups of shareholders will press for contributions to this or that political party and the minority will rightly complain that their money is being used to advance a political cause which is repugnant to them. Α suggestion made for enabling minority shareholders to contract out of such contributions, as in the case of the political levy imposed on members of British trade unions, was also turned down. At a time when Shri Javaprakash Naravan is campaigning for a non-party democracy and most parties are prepared to agree that party influence and strife should be withdrawn from panchayat and district bodies, it is lamentable that partisanship and factionalism should thus be encouraged in a field which has hitherto been relatively free from it.

There are two other serious objections to this decision. In a controlled economy, the Government of the day has virtually the power of life and death over the fortunes of business and industrial enterprises. The possibility of business houses being coerced into making contributions to a political party whose policy may even be opposed to that of business and industry as a whole cannot therefore At the time of the last general elections, several be ruled out. businessmen complained of undue pressure being exercised upon them by leaders of the ruling party, and in between elections there are numerous calls for contributions to purses and advertisements for souvenirs published on the occasion of party meetings. The other objection is that selfish and unscrupulous elements in business seek advantages for themselves by getting into the good books of the ruling party in the hope of compensation in the months and years to come. If there is one vested interest in India today, it is that of those in office along with their satellites and hangers-on in business who profess to support the policies of the ruling party in order to feather their own nests. Since every control is potentially a source of corruption, the Joint Select Committee's decision pushes the door wide open to corruption of this nature.

#### (xxxiii)

In this context, the fact that the majority in the Joint Select Committee turned down the salutary proposals presented to them makes it quite clear which party in this country is dependent on big business for filling its coffers and supporting its candidates for public office.

NEW DELHI; 10th August, 1960. M. R. MASANI.

Π

While I am not a Director or connected directly or indirectly with the management of any Joint Stock Company I feel impelled to write this minute of dissent on some of the controversial aspects of the Bill as it has emerged from the Joint Select Committee. I would first like to record my strong protest against some new clauses of a drastic and far-reaching character which have been introduced by the Joint Select Committee and which did not even find a place in the draft Bill. Usually a Select Committee confines itself to making such changes as are incidental or relevant to the clauses of the Bill, unless the terms of reference to them include making recommendations or proposals outside the clauses of the Bill as well. In this amendment of the Company Law which has gone through several stages of Committees, parliamentary debates, etc. no drastic changes should have been introduced at this stage. It should also be noted that these new proposals have not been considered by the interests concerned nor have they been put to the witnesses who gave evidence before the Joint Committee. It is, therefore, objectionable, in my opinion at the Joint Committee stage to introduce important and controversial changes in the law in this manner.

It is possible to write a dissenting minute on many clauses of the Bill which are either unnecessary or irksome. But I am confining myself to some important clauses. I may, however, refer to some general aspects of the Bill. The powers of Government and other authorities under the Companies Act are already large. Here again, as was the case with Life Insurance business, the failure of high Government officials to use the wide and drastic powers that they had under the existing law has been used as an excuse or argument to give still wider powers to the same system if not the same officers of Government. How that will improve matters, it is difficult to understand. They are being further enlarged by this Bill. The Government, the Registrar and the Inspector investigating the 613(B) L.S.-E affairs of companies are being given much larger powers. Further in respect of many more matters of company management and administration, it has been provided that the approval or sanction of the Central Government must be obtained. I cannot find a parallel in the Company Law of any other country which requires the approval of Government in respect of so many matters of internal day to day administration. It would appear that the Department of Company Law Administration would like to have its finger, or rather active hand in the activities of all Corporations and have a say in the functioning of the entire corporate sector.

I feel that the law has already gone too far and prescribed too many restrictions which in actual practice would make difficult, if not impossible the smooth and efficient management of business. The sum total of all the restrictive provisions creates an impracticable situation, from the point of view of the practical working of business concerns. This, I know, has been found to be so in many instances.

Further, there is such an unnecessary amount of forms filling, submission of returns to the Registrar and of applications to Government. The present Bill adds further to the list of such requirements. All these mean a tremendous cost to companies and no return to its shareholders, workers or consumers. I wonder whether during the three years and more the new Act has been in force, Government have found anything fundamentally wrong in the management and administration of companies or whether there have been attempts generally by companies to defraud the shareholders or the public. There may be such rare instances but to take such large and blanket powers over the entire field of corporate sector is certainly not justified. Forms filling, making of applications, sending of returns etc. only entail a colossal waste of national effort, time and material. That much of paper used in the preparation of unnecessary forms and returns could have been put to much better use, what with the present shortage of paper.

It is not merely in the companies sector which is managed by managing agents that these formalities of consents and approvals are required but also in the case of other companies as well. While attempts are being made to simplify, rationalise and streamline the laws, procedures and formalities under the various laws, those under Company Law have however, been made unnecessarily more complicated and expensive to companies. In my opinion, the time has come to scrap the entire law and re-enact the corporate law to make it more simple and understandable to the public and enable big as well as small entrepreneurs to start numerous factories all over India to rapidly industrialise and develop the country. Company Law is the mechanism through which the private sector operates and when the private sector has been assigned a role which it has to fulfil, nothing should be done which will come in the way of its free functioning. There is today a climate which is favourable for investment and for the floatation of new companies largely because of certain factors operating in the issue market. The new Bill as it has emerged from the Joint Committee will however, dampen enthusiasm of entrepreneurs and make difficult the successful floatation of new companies. I may add that this piece of legislation which gives such large regulatory powers to Government to interfere in the internal affairs and administration of companies will also retard foreign collaboration and investment in India.

#### Special Audit: Clause 70:

This is an instance where Government have taken more powers. They can appoint a special auditor if they are of the opinion that the affairs of the company are not being managed on sound business principles, that the company is being managed in a manner likely to cause injury to the interests of the trade or industry to which it pertains or that the financial position of the company is such as to endanger its solvency. The special auditor may be asked to audit the companies account for any period, notwithstanding that the company's statutory auditor has already completed the audit of the accounts for the same period.

ł

I do not understand the necessity for the provision inasmuch as the Companies Act already provides ample remedies to deal with companies which are not functioning properly or are mismanaged. Government can launch an investigation into its affairs. Minority shareholders can seek relief in Court for oppression or mismanagement, Government can appoint Directors on the Board and they can prevent a change in the Board of Directors on an application by shareholders. Apart from these remedies under Company Law, recourse can also be had to the provisions of the Industries (Development and Regulation) Act, 1951, under which investigation can be ordered. Therefore, this provision is clearly not called for. Moreover, it is not fair to the statutory auditor of the company who has already audited the accounts of the company for the same period. The clause also provides that the expenses of such special audits will be borne by the Company. It is unjust and unfair to throw additional financial burden on the company by appointing a special auditor against its wishes and making the expenses of the audit payable by it.

#### Sole Selling Agents: Clause 99:

The provision regarding sole selling agency is another instance of interference by Government in the internal affairs of the company. Government have taken power under this clause to require information regarding the terms and conditions of appointment of the sole selling agents. They can vary them if in their opinion they are prejudicial to the interests of the company. Where there are more than one selling agent for a company in any area they may after requiring like information appoint one person as sole selling agent.

The appointment of a sole selling agent is done by the directors of a company after considering the qualifications and the suitability of a person to push the sales of the company's products. His business experience and contacts and his integrity and suitability otherwise are all taken into consideration. If a person is not found satisfactory another person may have to be appointed. The considerations which weigh in the appointment of sole selling agents differ from company to company depending upon their peculiar sales techniques. It is, thus, a purely internal matter of administration and no public policy is involved requiring the intervention of Government. Even now the law provides that the appointment of a sole selling agent by the directors, is to be approved by the company in general meeting which is sufficient safeguard. There is absolutely no reason, therefore, for Government to take this power.

It must also be remembered that all big manufacturing companies will have to appoint sole selling agents. If all the applications are to be considered by Government, they will have their hands full and consequently the company's work will be delayed. This in turn will interfere with the smooth functioning of companies.

#### Inter-Company Investment: Clause 136:

Under this clause, a company cannot normally make investments in other companies or bodies corporate, exceeding 30 per cent. of its subscribed capital.

This, in my opinion, will be a retrograde step. Particularly during present times, there is a paucity of investible savings by individuals as a result of high taxation and cost of living. Therefore, the internal resources of companies have largely been helpful in financing the floatation of new companies. This has been the history of corporate development in every country. One has merely to look at the practice and experience in this respect in this as well as in other countries. In our country, many new companies in new lines of industries have been brought into existence by the investments of the established or conventional industries. Intercorporate investments as they are called have been recognised as useful and it is not uncommon for incentives to be granted to promote such investments by way of relief in taxation and by other methods. Such incentives in taxation are given in India, also. I am, therefore, strongly opposed to this new restriction on the development of corporate enterprises. Of course, it is possible for a company to exceed this prescribed limit by a resolution in general meeting and by obtaining the approval of Government. I cannot, however, agree to Government intervention in a purely internal matter.

# Payment of Dividends: Clause 57:

-- .. .....

Under this clause, a company before it declares dividends for any year must provide not merely depreciation for that year but also all arears of depreciation.

The position today is that companies can declare dividends out of profits without providing for depreciation if it is so thought desirable. It being so, I can appreciate if it is only made necessary that a company can declare dividends out of profits after it provides for the depreciation of that year. To go further and enact that if there are arrears of depreciation which have not been provided for against profits of the previous years, they should also be provided for in the current years profits, will make impossible the declaration of dividends for a fairly long period of time by a new company or even an existing company which has embarked upon a large scheme of expansion. In heavy industries particularly, the period will be much longer. The emphasis today is on the setting up of basic and heavy industries. I may take an example. Supposing a company engaged in a heavy industry after five years of working, makes sufficient profits in the fifth year to enable it to pay some dividend in that year after providing for depreciation in that year. In the previous four years there have not been sufficient profits and, therefore, depreciation has not been provided for in the previous years. After its fifth year, it will make increasing profits each year which will be sufficient not only to provide for current as well as a good deal of all the arrears of past depreciation and also pay dividends continuously from the fifth year onwards. But if this clause is put on the statute book, it may not be possible for such a company to pay dividends even up to a period of ten years. This will make it pretty difficult for attracting capital to new floatations or for financing the expansion of existing industries.

The clause makes a similar provision for making allowances for losses sustained in previous years which is objectionable for the same reasons. I must also point out that if a company does not declare dividend for a fairly long period its credit will be affected. Such a situation will retard the formation of new companies. There are

#### xxxviii

certain favourable market conditions today for bringing into existence new companies and industries. But I am apprehensive that this position will be entirely changed if the proposal is accepted.

#### Imposition of Restrictions on shares: Clause 79:

This clause provides that if as a result of transfer of shares in a company, a change taken place in the composition of the Board or constitution of the managing agency, the Central Government may if it is of the opinion that it is prejudicial to public interest restrict voting rights in respect of those shares for a period not exceeding three years. Also, if Government is of the opinion that as a result of transfer of shares a change in the Board or managing agency is likely to take place and that it will be prejudicial to public interest, they may prohibit the transfer of shares for a period not exceeding three years.

The fundamental principle of Company Law is that a company's affairs should be carried on according to the wishes of the majority of the shareholders. Accordingly, if the majority of shareholders whose majority holding is due to transfers of large blocks of shares or otherwise, desire a change in the management, they should be permitted to have it. It is not desirable that Government should interfere with the voting rights or transfer of shares, which will have adverse repercussions on the companies. If the change of management will not be in the interests of the company, there are other safeguards available to prevent it. Firstly, the new management has to be approved by Government. Secondly, the old management if it has a grievance has the power under section 398 of the Act to apply to Court for suitable relief. In the circumstances, I am opposed to this clause which gives more powers to Government to interfere in the affairs of a company.

#### Donations to Political Parties: Clause 98:

I am strongly opposed to this provision which gives legal sanction for companies to make donations to the political funds of political parties. This matter has been the subject of controversy in many countries. Recently, our courts had also occasion to discuss the pros and cons of this matter. It will be sufficient for my purpose if I refer to some of the objections which are discussed in the judgement itself. "To induce the Government of the day by contributing money to the political funds of the political parties is to adopt the most sinister principle fraught with grave dangers to commercial as well as public standards of administration. Persuasion by contribution of money lowers the standard of administration even in a welfare State or democracy. To convert convictions and conscience by money is to pervert both democracy and administration. Joint Stock Companies are not intended to be adjuncts to political parties and possible sources of revenues for these parties. It will induce the most unwholesome competition between business companies by introducing the race who could pay more to the political funds of political parties. In that competition business is bound to suffer in the long run. In the bid for political favouritism by the bid of money, the company who will be highest bidder may secure the most unfair advantage over its rival trader companies. It will mark the advent and entry of the voice of the big business in politics and in the political life of the country. The tune of political life is liable in the long run to become the tune of the big trading companies and concerns. They will be bad both for business and for politics. It will be alike bad for public life as well as commercial life."

That such a prohibitory section was in the Act till it was amended by the present ruling party is significant. It may be thought that there is some safeguard if publicity is given to the donations made. The amendment provides that such donations should be made public and not kept secret. It no doubt looks very wise and harmless. But it should also be borne in mind that the publication of payments to the ruling party may carry no danger with it but publication of any payment to parties that oppose the ruling party may carry with it consequences which are too obvious to need dwelling upon. I may add that such a proposal which is fully put to advantage by the ruling party and which has been opposed in the Joint Committee should not be carried through with the majority of the ruling party. It is unfair to the other parties and will also be a blow to democracy.

New Delhi; 10th August, 1960. DAHYABHAI V. PATEL

#### ш

We are in general agreement with the recommendations of the Joint Committee. We believe that they constitute one more step forward in the direction of realising the aims and objects of the Companies Act, 1956. They provide for greater and more effective control over and voice in the management for share-holders, a higher standard of accounting and auditing and a greater control by the Government over the management of the Company with a view to safeguard the interests of the minority shareholders. We, however, feel that some of the recommendations fall short of the objectives in view and need to be amended.

We regret that the Joint Committee did not accept the principle of prohibiting the corporate bodies from contributing out of their resources to the funds of a political party. Even the countries where common man is in a better position to contribute to the funds of the party of his choice than in India, the corporate bodies are not permitted to contribute to the election funds of a political party. Under conditions prevailing in India any contribution by a prosperous corporate body to the funds of a political party would give an immense advantage in terms of resources to that party and would generate a legitimate fear that money power might be able to influence the results of elections in the country. This fear would all the more be strengthened if a corporate body advances, as a legitimate argument in favour of such contributions out of its funds, a plea that it is necessary to do so in safeguarding and furthering the interests of that corporate body. It is immaterial whether its interests are in fact safeguarded and furthered or not. If the policy of the party to the funds of which contributions are made is not safeguarding the interests of the contributing corporate body and yet that body continues to make the contributions the inferences one may legitimately draw from the action of the corporate body would not be flattering either to the contributing corporate body or to the party that continues to receive such contributions. In the interest of establishing healthy democratic traditions in the country and to give a sense of confidence to the common man that he has an effective voice in choosing the rulers of the land it is very desirable that such contributions are prohibited.

This is necessary also from the point of view of safeguarding the interests of the minority shareholders. Why should even one shareholder be compelled to contribute an amount to the fund of a political party against his will which would have been his but for the decision of the corporate body to make such a contribution? Even the prestige of the political party concerned demands that it should not receive any contribution, howsoever small the amount may be, from any one who is compelled to make that contribution against his will.

The Bill provides that the compensation that may be due to workmen under provisions of Chapter VA of the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947, should be included within the scope of the term "wages" for purposes of Section 530(1)(b) of the principal Act. This sub-section provides that wages should be considered as a preferential charge in case of a winding up. This is a step in the right direction. As long as the workmen have no effective say in the management of the Company it is not fair to put his dues accruing to him under the law in the category of an ordinary debt. But this laudable purpose of the provision in the Bill is likely to be defeated in many cases unless the maximum limit of these dues to be considered as a preferential charges is not raised simultaneously with the inclusion of compensation in the term wages. We, therefore, believe that in Sub-section (2) of section 530 of the principal Act, the limit should be raised from one thousand rupees to two thousand and five hundred rupees.

We strongly feel that the Government should exercise the powers it possesses under the Companies Act, 1956 to end the managing agency system. The disadvantage in its continuation far outweigh the advantages in its retention. The present trends in the stocks and capital markets seem to indicate developments that are prejudicial to sound promotional activities. The managing agency system is at the root of these developments.

If, however, it is not possible to end this system forthwith, at least steps should be taken to see that there are no loopholes in the provisions in the principal Act limiting the number of companies that can be managed by a managing agent to ten. This principle is accepted by the Joint Committee and accordingly clause 120, a new clause, has been added. According to section 332(4) (b) of the principal Act every member of a managing company whether public or private who is entitled to exercise not less than twenty per cent of the total voting power therein is to be deemed to hold office as managing agent of the managed company. Experience of the working of the Act however indicates that this provision can be and, in fact, is circumvented in certain cases by arrangements whereby an effective control can be exercised by a member of the managing company in that company without holding twenty per cent of the total voting power therein. Such a contingency would defeat the purpose of keeping interlocking of companies within limits. The new clause 120 accordingly reduces the limit of the voting power held from twenty per cent to ten per cent in case of a public company and five per cent in case of a private company.

We are of the view that the limit of ten per cent in the case of a public company is quite safe because the share holdings in such a company are widely dispersed and therefore it is not easy to keep an effective voice in the management of a public company while holding less than ten per cent of the voting power therein. In the case of the private company, however, the situation is different. In private companies shares are held by a closed group of persons, normally the friends and relatives of a key member. It is, therefore, possible for him to so distribute the holdings that even by holding a very nominal percentage of total voting power 613(B) L.S.—F in that company he may be able to exercise an effective control over its management. It is, therefore, desirable to provide that a person holding even a nominal voting power in the company should be deemed to hold the office of managing agent of the managed company. We, therefore, recommend that the new clause 120 should be suitably amended to make such a provision.

Clause 9 of the Bill as amended by the Joint Committee empowers the Central Government to grant exemptions to the companies licensed under section 25 of the principal Act from any provisions of the Act. We cannot accept the view that such a general power of exemption is necessary. As the law stands at present non-profit making associations licensed under section 25 of the principal Act have to comply with most of the obligations placed on the company under the Act. We agree that this is not necessary and that the scope of sub-section (6) of section 25 of the principal Act needs to be widened. We are, however, of the view that if these bodies are exempted from the operation of all or any of the sections mentioned in clause 9, lines 28 and 29 on page 5 of the original Bill that would be sufficient for the purpose in view. We, therefore, urge that the power of the Central Government to grant exemptions to the licensed companies should be confined only to the sections mentioned in clause 9, lines 28 and 29 on page 5 of the original Bill.

NEW DELHI; 10th August, 1960. ROHIT M. DAVE MULKA GOVINDA REDDY Y. N. JADHAV

#### IV

We regret that we have to submit this minute of dissent to the Report of the Joint Committee. We very much wished to avoid taking this step. But the points at issue are so important that we will be failing in our duty if we did not place our point of view on record.

The Joint Committee have made some major changes in the draft Bill. These are of a substantive character and also of a highly controversial nature. Our understanding of the terms of reference of the Joint Committee is that it considers the provisions of the Bill, and after reconciling various conflicting views, hammers out a piece of legislation more acceptable to all the sections of the House, but on the basis of the main provisions of the Bill. It is generally outside the scope of the Select Committee to introduce new provisions

#### (xlin)

which are substantive in character. Inasmuch as during the reference stage the Parliament has had no time to discuss these new clauses, the Select Committee, howsoever representative it may be, is generally not supposed to take upon itself the task of anticipating the views of Parliament on such new clauses. We are, therefore, of opinion that important changes should not have been introduced in the Bill at the Select Committee stage.

Though we have confined our minute of dissent to a few clauses. we have our differences on some other clauses of the Bill also. We note that very wide powers have been taken by Government and other authorities under the Act. In our opinion, the frequency and the multiplicity of sanctions and formalities under company law involve considerable waste of time both of businessmen and of the administration to an extent that is wholly unnecessary. These regulatory provisions do not exist in the company law of any other While attempts are being made to simplify, rationalise country. and streamline other laws and procedures, the position in regard to the company law is that it is getting unnecessarily more complicat-The Companies Act, as it finally emerged from Parliament in ed. 1956, contains 658 sections. While many of these provisions are no doubt more in the nature of prescribing a ritualistic behaviour, it cannot be denied that they constitute hardship and expense to the companies in their day-to-day working. The amendments proposed now, which deal with more than 200 sections, contain some directed to ease the situation. On the other hand, the amendments, on the whole, will tend to make the company law more irksome. We should not also forget that such a piece of massive legislation with such large regulatory powers to Government is bound to come in the way of foreign collaboration and investment in India.

#### Clause 57:

This clause provides that before a dividend can be declared for any year not merely depreciation for that year but also all arrears of depreciation must be provided.

We are apprehensive that if this provision is passed, new companies and existing companies which embark on schemes of expansion would be unable to declare any dividends during the first few years of incorporation or expansion as the case may be. It is perhaps reasonable to provide that a company should provide out of the current profits of any year for which dividends are to be declared, depreciation of that year, though even that will make it impossible for new companies to declare dividends during the first

The clause, however, goes even further. A new comfew years. pany may be able to pay dividend out of the profits, say, in its fourth year of working, after providing depreciation for that year. It may. however, not be able to pay dividends for a few more years if past arrears of depreciation are also to be deducted before dividends can The clause makes a similar provision for making allowbe paid. ances for losses sustained in previous years. We wish to point out that non-declaration of dividends for quite some years will affect the credit of a company. It will also restrict the formation of new com-It will be very difficult to attract new capital if the subpanies. scribers know beforehand that for ten years or so they will get no dividend. Today the climate for investment and for the floatation of new companies is good because of certain favourable market con-This climate, we are afraid, will be adversely affected if ditions. the proposal is accepted.

#### Clause 70:

This clause gives power to Government to direct a special audit by a special auditor of the company's accounts for any period under certain instances.

The special auditor will be appointed if Government is of the opinion that the affairs of the company are not being managed on sound business principles, that the company is being managed in a manner likely to cause injury to the interests of the trade or industry to which it pertains or that the financial position of the company is such as to endanger its solvency. The purposes for which the special auditor is to be appointed are already taken care of by other safeguards provided in the Act. The shareholders' rights are considerable under the law. Besides, Government can launch an investigation into the affairs of a company if the members of the company have not been given all the information with respect to its affairs. Minority shareholders can seek relief in Court for oppression and mismanagement under sections 397 and 398. Section 408 gives powers to Government to appoint directors on the Board in order to prevent the affairs of the company being conducted in a manner oppressive to the members or prejudicial to the interests of the company. Government have power to prevent a change in the Board of Directors which is likely to affect the affairs of the company on application by shareholders. There are remedies available to Government under other Acts also, as for instance, the Industries (Development and Regulation) Act, 1951, when the company's affairs are in a bad state. There is no necessity, therefore, for the appointment of a special auditor who will have the same powers and duties

as the auditor of the company. When the auditor of the company has already discharged his duties, it is not clear why a special auditor should again be appointed. It is unfair to the auditor of the company. It is also unfair to provide that the expenses of the special auditor should be borne by the company.

#### Clause 99:

Where after 1st April, 1956, any managing agent has resigned and has been appointed as sole selling agent of the managed company, the sole selling agency whether taken in his name or in association with other persons for his benefit should be approved by the Central Government within a period of six months from the commencement of the Amendment Act.

The clause further gives power to Government to require information regarding the terms and conditions of appointment of the sole selling agents and to vary them if they are prejudicial to the interests of the company. It also gives power to Government to treat one person as sole selling agent where there are more than one selling agent for the company in any area.

We are of the opinion that no retrospective operation should be given to this provision and that such persons who have already been appointed as sole selling agents in accordance with the law after obtaining the sanction of the general meeting should be allowed to continue.

The appointment of a sole selling agent depends upon the sales techniques appointed by different companies. Each company has its own problems and the norms and conditions applied to one company cannot be applied to another company. The directors are the best person to choose the selling agents for any area after taking into consideration the standing, capacity, integrity and the suitability of the person. Other factors taken into consideration are the contacts of the person and his business experience. The appointment of a sole selling agent is a matter which does not involve any public policy to require the intervention of Government. It is not also like managing agency remuneration which is fixed once in five It is a day-to-day matter of internal administraor ten years. tion and sole selling agents may have to be changed now and then to augment the sales. After all, the appointments are also approved by the company in general meeting. Officers of Government will not have adequate knowledge of such matters which require to be weighed in the appointment of a sole selling agent.

Another important consideration is that almost all big manufacturing companies will have to appoint selling agents and if all these appointments are to be considered by Government, thousands of applications will have to be dealt with, which will put an enormous and unnecessary strain on the administration. These applications will amount to a few thousands and as the number of companies increases as it is bound and ought to, there will be a further increase in the applications to be dealt with by Government. All this means delay in the disposal of applications. In the matter of export promotion and such things delay will be most unfortunate. We are of the opinion that this question should be left to be decided as hitherto by the directors and the company in general meeting.

#### Clause 120:

This is a new clause which seeks to amend section 332 of the Companies Act which provides that no person shall be managing agent of more than ten companies. Under the clause, where the managing agent of a company is itself a company, every person who is a director and where it is a public company, every member entitled to not less than 10 per cent. of the total voting power in the company and where it is a private company, every member entitled to not less than 5 per cent. of the total voting power in the company will be deemed to be holding the office of managing agent.

Under the existing section 332, it is only in cases when a member of a managing agency company whether public or private holds more than 20 per cent. of the total voting power, will he be deemed to be holding the office of managing agent. This has been reduced to ten per cent. in the case of a managing agency public company and to five per cent. in the case of a managing agency private company. Thus, where a managing agency private company manages, say, ten companies, any member thereof holding 5 per cent. of the voting power in the company will also be deemed to be managing agent of ten companies and precluded from acting as managing agent of any other company or being a member of any other managing agency private company with a holding exceeding 5 per cent. in that com-An employee of the private company who may be a member pany. holding 5 per cent. of the shares but who has no power or influence over the conduct of the affairs of the private company will also be deemed to be holding the office of a managing agent. This is going In our opinion, unless any member of a company has a too far. substantial interest in the company which should not be less than 10 per cent. in the case of a private company and 20 per cent. in the

**case** of a public company, he should not be considered to be holding the office of a managing agent. Further, the Explanation provides that a director or member will include any person in accordance with whose directions or instructions, the director or member as the case may be, is in the opinion of the Central Government accustomed to act. This may often lead to anomalous results as they impose legal obligations of an onerous character on person who may really have no part or lot to play in the affairs of the company.

Clause 136:

The proposal makes a major change in the existing law and according to it no company can normally make investments, the aggregate of which in other bodies corporate will exceed 30 per cent. of the subscribed capital of the investing company.

This proposal should not have been made particularly in the Because of high taxation and other factors. present circumstances. individual savings today are negligible. What expansion there has been in the corporate sector has been achieved more by the investments of companies. Indeed, the history of the last few years has proved that new company formation and consequent industrial expansion have to a large extent been made possible by inter-corporate In our country, many of the new lines of industries investments. have been developed as a result of the investments by the conventional industries. Inter-corporate investments have acquired a new significance and have been recognised as useful and indeed incentives are given for such investments in taxation and in other matters. We feel that any restriction of the nature proposed will arrest the further development of our economy. It may be said that investments in excess of the limits prescribed may be made by a resolution of the investing company in general meeting and the approval of Govern-But we see no reason why any restrictions should be placed ment. at all and why Government approval should be deemed necessary in such matters of internal administration

New Delhi; 10th August, 1960. BABUBHAI M. CHINAI P. D. HIMATSINGKA G. D. SOMANI.

#### (xlvii)

We are constrained to append our minutes of dissent as we do not agree with some of the conclusions of the Joint Committee.

2. At the outset, we would like to point out that the Bill before the Joint Committee had a limited scope. The working of the Com-1956 had revealed certain administrative difficulties. panies Act. The Sastri Committee had also mainly gone into these questions and made recommendations for amending the Act to overcome these difficulties. The amending Bill had in fact this limited scope although there is a slight departure from some of the recommendations. The wider and basic question before the country of preventing concentration of economic wealth as accepted by Parliament in the Industrial Policy Resolution of 1956 and the Second Plan and as provided for in the Directive Principles of the Constitution has yet to be tackled. It will be necessary in our opinion to undertake a full and comprehensive enquiry for achieving the objective and consequent recasting of the Companies Act.

3. Incidentally, it was good that the question of difference between the private and public companies was taken up for consideration in this Bill itself although we are of opinion that the amendment agreed to by the Joint Committee does not go far enough *e.g.* claust 14 (old clause 15). In our opinion there is no valid reason for any distinction between private and public companies and all restrictions applying to public companies must apply to private companies also.

4. The provision in new clause 70 is a welcome one. Under this, the Government is empowered to order a special audit whenever it is satisfied that the affairs of the company are not managed properly. On the other hand, the Committee's amendment of the original clause 104 (present 99) of the amending Bill is in our opinion a retrograde one. The original clause completely banned the ex-managing agents being appointed the sole selling agents of a company for three years in order to prevent the phenomenon of managing agents relinquishing their agency and becoming sole selling agents. This is found to be more lucrative. The three years period was provided for so that at the end of the period, the ex-managing agents would not be in a **p**osition to influence decisions in this regard. Actually, it was necessary to increase the period from three years to five years. Instead, Committee has allowed appointments within three years subject to approval of the Government.

5. The deletion of the original clause 58 in our opinion is not correct. The clause provided that publication of chairman's speeches at the company's cost was undesirable. The Committee had felt that chairman's speech was useful and any obligation to publish summary of the proceedings of the meeting would entail unnecessary expenditure. Actually, when it is known that the shareholders of company are widely dispersed and it is not possible for many of them to attend such meetings, it was necessary to make it obligatory to publish the summary of the proceedings in order to enable the shareholders to take intelligent and informed interest in the affairs of the company.

6. The original clause 179 of the amending Bill (present clause 181) seeks to include retrenchment compensation payable to the worker in being included in the items of preferential payments under section 530 of the original Act when a company is wound up. This is good as far as it goes. But the proviso to sub-section (2) of section 530 of the original Act which puts a ceiling of Rs. 1,000 for such preferential payments, in our opinion, should have been enhanced to at least Rs. 2,500 if not altogether removed. This is particularly important today when it is remembered that the cost of living has increased considerably since 1956 when the Act came into force. Besides, increased benefit should be contemplated in view of the new addition.

7. In cur opinion the omissions of certain items contained in the original Schedule IA are not warranted.

8. We have to strongly protest against legalising contributions to political parties. It is brought as an amendment to section 293 of the original Act by inclusion of sub-sections 6 and 7. The clause in question is 98(b) [old clause 103(b)]. It provides as follows: "Every company shall disclose in its profits and loss account any amount contributed under clause (e) of sub-section 1 to any political party or for any political purpose.....giving particulars of total amount contributed and the name of the party, individual or body to whom such amount has been contributed". Section 293(e) authorised contributions up to Rs. 25,000 by Board of Directors. The practice of contributing to political parties have come into vogue and this clause legalises it. Some high courts have expressed themselves against 613(B) L.S.—G

this practice. It will lead to buttressing certain political parties by financial interests. It is no argument to state that Government is free to take action against such companies also. It will lead to thwarting the free democratic development. Certain monopolies will have a free access to Government and connected activities. How does it serve the interest of the shareholders? Is it necessary for companies to make this type of contribution to the ruling parties? We believe that this clause is pregnant with mischievous potentialities. Hence this clause, more particularly sub-clause (b), should be deleted.

New Delhi; 11th August, 1960. K. T. K. TANGAMANI. P. RAMAMURTI.

VI

While I am in general agreement with the numerous changes effected by the Joint Select Committee in the Bill, I consider it necessary to append my minute of dissent on a few clauses for reasons mentioned hereunder.

1. Clause 4, amending Section 6:

Section 6 of the Act deals with the meaning of "relative" with reference to Schedule 1A of the Act.

I am of the opinion that in the Bill as it has emerged from the Joint Select Committee, the following items in Schedule 1A on page 103 should be deleted, being—

Item 6. Father's father.

Item 7. Father's mother.

Item 8. Mother's mother.

Item 9. Mother's father.

Item 13. Son's daughter's husband.

Item 16. Daughter's son's wife.

Item 18. Daughter's daughter's husband.

Item 35. Father's sister's husband.

Item 36. Father's brother's wife.

Item 37. Mother's brother's wife.

Item 38. Mother's sister's husband.

I consider these are too remote relatives to be taken into consideration for the purpose section 6 has in view.

2. Clause 14, inserting Section 43A:

New Section 43A has been completely overhauled by the Joint Committee which was perhaps inevitable having regard to the purpose it was intended to serve. Of necessity, this new clause has become extremely complex and may impose a burden of work out of all proportions to the purpose it might serve, particularly in case of small companies, say with a paid up capital of less then Rs. 5 lacs.

I am, therefore, of the view that new section 43A should not apply to cases of private companies where the paid up capital is under Rs. 5 lacs.

#### 3. Clause 25, amending Section 84:

Section 84 deals with the issue of share certificates. The Joint Committee has sought to tighten up this clause so that there might be exercised a salutary check on issue of counterfeit share certificates. Unfortunately it appears that due consideration has not been given to numerous cases of bona fide holders who may have lost or misplaced their share certificates. Discretion is left to the company in demanding the type and character of evidence for proving such loss. I am aware of one company where it insisted upon advertisement of loss being inserted in not less than 7 newspapers for three consecutive days. The cost of such advertisements would be so prohibitive that smaller shareholders would prefer to lose their small investments rather than pursue the question of having duplicate share certificates issued. In the Companies (Issue of Share Certificates) Rules, 1960, issue of March, 1960 rules have been framed for the purpose of issue of duplicate share certificates but here again I regret no account is taken of the difficulties of genuine shareholders mentioned above.

I am, therefore, of the opinion that this question requires to be modified by inclusion of the following conditions on compliance of which duplicate share certificates may be issued, namely—

- (a) production by the applicant of an affidavit, as to loss or destruction of the certificate;
- (b) execution of an indemnity bond by the applicant in such form as the Board of Directors may prescribe, indemnifying the Company against any future claim; and

(c) insertion of advertisements in such newspapers as the Board may direct, provided that the cost of such insertion shall not exceed 10 per cent of the face value of such shares or Rs. 500/- whichever is less.

#### 4. Clause 44, amending Section 172:

The Bill seeks to dispense with advertisement or statement of material facts referred to in Section 173 where a notice of meeting is given by advertisement in a newspaper.

I am of the opinion that it is not enough to mention in the advertisement that the statement has been forwarded to the members of the Company. This section therefore requires to be amended to make it obligatory on the company to insert in the advertisement a short summary of the statement of material facts referred to in section 173.

5. Clause 59, amending Section 209:

Section 209 deals with books of account to be kept by company. In order to obviate the constant necessity of informing the Registrar in certain cases, it appears to me that a further proviso should be added as follows:—

- "Provided further where books of account are temporarily shifted for the purpose of litigation in court or for production before an authority requiring production of such books under any law for the time being in force, no such intimation may be given to the Registrar".
- 6. Clause 103, amending Section 293:

Section 293 among other matters relates to political contribution. I am opposed to political contributions, being given by companies as they tend to influence Government policies in favour of such companies wittingly or unwittingly. I quote extracts from the case of the Tata Iron and Steel Company wherein Mr. Chief Justice Chhagla observed as under in an application made by the Tata Iron and Steel Company for amendment of their Memorandum of Association:—

"It is with considerable uneasiness of mind and sinking feeling in the heart that we approach this problem of the Tata Iron & Steel Company Ltd., that they should be permitted by amendment of the Memorandum of Association to make contribution to political parties..... Democracy in this country is nascent and it is necessary that democracy should be looked after, attended and nurtured so that it should rise to its full and proper stature. Therefore, any proposal or suggestion which is likely to strangle democracy, almost in its cradle must be looked at not only with a considerable hesitation, but a great deal of suspicion......The discussion and debate must be conducted honestly and objectively and the decisions must be arrived at on merits without being influenced or actuated by extraneous circumstances."

He further observed, "the least that Parliament can do is at least to require the sanction of the Court before any large amount is paid by the companies to the fund of political parties. But it is not for us to legislate, nor is it for us to lay down policy. But having had this cass before us and our attention having been drawn to the possibilities of the evils attendant on the powers exercised by the companies, we thought it our duty to draw the attention of the Parliament to the necessity of remedial measures being immediately undertaken to curb and control this evil".

I am, therefore, strongly of the view that contributions by companies to political parties should be completely prohibited. However, without abandoning my fundamental objection to political contributions from companies, I think the least that this Hon'ble House may do is to make such contributions dependent on sanction of the High Court.

7. Clause 124, amending Section 348:

Section 348 deals with managing agents remuneration, while section 349 deals with determination of net profits and section 350 with ascertainment of depreciation. Section 616 of the Companies Act says that the provision of this Act shall apply "to companies engaged in the generation or supply of electricity except in so far as the said provisions are inconsistent with the provisions of the Electricity (Supply) Act, 1948, and the Indian Electricity Act, 1910. The Electricity (Supply) Act, 1948 has a separate provision for computing the managing agents remuneration as also "the clear profit" and "reasonable return" under the sixth Schedule of the Act. Paragraph VI of the Sixth Schedule lays down the principles 613(B) L.S.—H  $\delta n$  which depreciation has to be computed. I am of the view that for the sake of further clarity and removal of doubt it should be mentioned in appropriate place that these sections 348, 349 and 350, do not apply to Electricity Supply Undertakings to which Electricity (Supply) Act, 1948 and the Indian Electricity Act, 1910 apply.

8. Clause 181, amending Section 530:

My last submission is with reference to the preferential payments in winding up proceedings. Section 530 fixed the priority of debtors. Sub-section (1) (b) gives second priority to salary and wages of the employees to the extent of four months only. I am unable to appreciate why the salaries and wages of poor workers should not be made payable at least for a period of 12 months prior to the commencement of winding up. I trust the House will lock into these matters when the Bill as it has emerged from the Joint Committee is placed before it.

NAUSHIR BHARUCHA.

New Delhi; 12th August, 1960.

# THE COMPANIES (AMENDMENT) BILL, 1959.



(As reported by the Joint Committee)

### THE COMPANIES (AMENDMENT) BILL, 1959

(As reported by the Joint Committee)

(WORDS SIDE-LINED OR UNDERLINED INDICATE THE AMENDMENTS SUGGESTED BY THE COMMITTEE; ASTERISKS INDICATE OMISSIONS)

# A

## BILL

further to amend the Companies Act, 1956.

BE it enacted by Parliament in the Eleventh Year of the Republic of India as follows:—

1. This Act may be called the Companies (Amendment) Act, Short title.. 1960.

196

1 of 1956.

- 6. 5 2. In section 2 of the Companies Act, 1956 (hereinafter referred Amendment to as the principal Act),—
  - (a) in clause (3), in sub-clause (c),-

(i) the word "and" at the end of paragraph (i) shall be omitted;

10

(ii) after paragraph (ii), the following paragraph shall be inserted, namely:—

"(*iii*) any subsidiary of the other body corporate referred to in paragraph (*ii*) above:\*

Provided that where the body corporate is the managing

- agent of the other body corporate referred to in paragraph (*ii*) above, a subsidiary of such other body corporate shall not be an associate in relation to the managing agent aforesaid; and";
- 711 (B) LS-1.

a the second of any are

(b) in clause (4), in sub-clause (b),-

(i) the word "and" at the end of paragraph (i) shall be mitted;

(ii) after paragraph (ii), the following paragraph shall be inserted, namely:— 5

"(iii) any subsidiary of the other body corporate referred to in paragraph (ii) above:\*

Provided that where the body corporate is the secretaries and treasurers of the other body corporate referred to in paragraph (*ii*) above, a subsidiary of such other body corpo- 10 rate shall not be an associate in relation to the secretaries and treasurers aforesaid; and";

(c) in clause (7), for the words "does not include a corporation sole", the following words shall be substituted, namely:—

"does not include---

15

(a) a corporation sole;

(b) a co-operative society registered under any law relating to co-operative societies; and

(c) any other body corporate (not being a company as defined in this Act) which the Central Government 20 may, by notification in the Official Gazette, specify in this behalf;";

(d) for clause (9), the following clause shall be substituted, namely:---

(9) "branch office" in relation to a company means-25

(a) any establishment described as a branch by the company; or

(b) any establishment carrying on either the same or substantially the same activity as that carried on by the head office of the company; or 30

(c) any establishment engaged in any production, processing or manufacture,

but does not include any establishment specified in any order made by the Central Government under section 8;';

(e) for clause (11), the following clause shall be substituted, 35 namely:---

(11) "the Court" means,—

(a) with respect to any matter relating to a company (other than any offence against this Act), the Court having jurisdiction under this Act with respect to that matter relating to that company, as provided in section 10;

(b) with respect to any offence against this Act, the Court of a Magistrate of the First Class or, as the ease may be, a Presidency Magistrate, having jurisdiction to try such offence:':

(f) in clause (26),---

(a) for the words "any powers of management", the words "substantial powers of management" shall be substituted;

(b) the following provisos shall be added at the end, namely:-

"Provided that the power to do administrative acts of a routine nature when so authorised by the Board such as the power to affix the common seal of the company to any document or to draw and endorse any cheque on the account of the company in any bank or to draw and endorse any negotiable instrument or to sign any certificate of share or to direct registration of transfer of any share, shall not be deemed to be included within substantial powers of management:

Provided further that a managing director of a company shall exercise his powers subject to the superintendence, control and direction of its Board of directors;";

(g) for clause (30), the following clause shall be substituted, namely:—

(30) "officer" includes any director, managing agent, secretaries and treasurers, manager or secretary, and also includes—

(a) where the managing agent, the secretaries and treasurers or the secretary is or are a firm, any partner in the firm;

(b) where the managing agent or the secretaries and treasurers is or are a body corporate, any director or manager of the body corporate;

(c) where the secretary is a body corporate, any director, managing agent, secretaries and treasurers or manager of the body corporate;

40 but, save in sections 477, 478, 539, 543, 545, 621, 625 and 633 does not include an auditor;';

25

30

5

10

20

15

.

(h) in clause (33), for the words, brackets and figures "subsection (1) of section 549 and sub-section (3) of section 550" occurring at both the places, the words, brackets and figures "subsection (3) of section 550, section 552 and sub-section (3) of section 555" shall be substituted;

(i) in clause (36), for the words "any prospectus,", the words "any document described or issued as a prospectus and includes any" shall be substituted;

'(45) "secretary" means any individual, firm or body corporate appointed to perform the duties which may be performed by a secretary under this Act and any other purely ministerial or administrative duties;'.

Amendment of section 4.

.

#### 3. In section 4 of the principal Act,-

(a) in sub-section (1), for clause (b), the following clause shall be substituted, namely:—

(i) where the first-mentioned company is an existing company in respect of which the holders of preference 20 shares issued before the commencement of this Act have the same voting rights in all respects as the holders of equity shares, exercises or controls more than half of the total voting power of such company;

(ii) where the first-mentioned company is any other 25 company, holds more than half in nominal value of its equity share capital; or";

(b) in sub-section (2), for clause (c), the following clause shall be substituted, namely:—

"(c) that the directorship is held by an individual nomi- $_{32}$  nated by that other company or a subsidiary thereof.";

"(7) A private company, being a subsidiary of a body corporate incorporated outside India, which, if incorporated 15 in India, would be a public company within the meaning of this Act, shall be deemed for the purposes of this Act to be a subsidiary of a public company if the entire share câpital in that private company is not held by that body corporate whether alone or together with one or more other bodies 40 corporate incorporated outside India."

15

4. For section 6 of the principal Act, the following section shall Substitution of new be substituted, namely:--section for section 6. "6. A person shall be deemed to be a relative of another if, Meaning of 'relative" and only if .---(a) they are members of a Hindu undivided family: or • 5 (b) they are husband and wife; or (c) the one is related to the other in the manner indicated in Schedule IA" 5. In section 8 of the principal Act.-Amendment of section 8. (a) the words "not being a banking or an insurance com-IO pany" shall be omitted: (b) for the words "any production or manufacture", the words "any establishment engaged in any production, processing or manufacture" shall be substituted.

6. In section 17 of the principal Act, for sub-section (4), the Amendment 15 following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:of section 17.

"(4) The Court shall cause notice of the petition for confirmation of the alteration to be served on the Registrar who shall also be given a reasonable opportunity to appear before the Court and state his objections and suggestions, if any, with respect to the confirmation of the alteration.".

7. In section 18 of the principal Act.-

(a) for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be of section 18. substituted, namely:---

"(1) A certified copy of the order of the Court made under sub-section (5) of section 17 confirming the alteration. together with a printed copy of the memorandum as altered. shall, within three months from the date of the order, be filed by the company with the Registrar who shall register the same and certify the registration under his hand within one month from the date of the filing of such documents.":

(b) in sub-section (4), after the word "documents", the words "or for the registration of the alteration" shall be inserted.

8. In section 19 of the principal Act, for sub-section (2), the follow- Amendment as ing sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---

of section 19

"(2) If the documents required to be filed with the Registrar under section 18 are not filed within the time allowed under that section, such alteration and the order of the Court made under

Amendment

25

20

sub-section (5) of section 17 and all proceedings connected therewith, shall, at the expiry of such period, become void and inoperative:

Provided that the Court may, on sufficient cause shown, revive the order on application made within a further period of 5 one month.".

Amendment of section 25. 9. In section 25 of the principal Act,-

(a) for sub-section (6), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:—

'(6) It shall not be necessary for a body to which a <sup>IO</sup> licence is so granted to use the word "Limited" or the words "Private Limited" as any part of its name and, unless its articles otherwise provide, such body shall, if the Central Government by general or special order so directs and to the extent specified in the direction, be exempt from such of the 15 provisions of this Act as may be specified therein.

(b) for sub-section (8), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---

"(8) (a) A body in respect of which a licence under this section is in force shall not alter the provisions of its memo- 20 randum with respect to its objects except with the previous approval of the Central Government signified in writing.

(b) The Central Government may revoke the licence of such a body if it contravenes the provisions of clause (a).

(c) In according the approval referred to in clause (a), <sup>25</sup> the Central Government may vary the licence by making it subject to such conditions and regulations as that Government thinks fit, in lieu of, or in addition to, the conditions and regulations, if any, to which the licence was formerly subject.

(d) Where the alteration proposed in the provisions of the memorandum of a body under this sub-section is with respect to the objects of the body so far as may be required to enable it to do any of the things specified in clauses (a) to (g) of sub-section (1) of section 17, the provisions of this 35 sub-section shall be in addition to, and not in derogation of, the provisions of that section."

Amendment 10. In section 29 of the principal Act, the following proviso shall of section 29. be added at the end, namely:---

"Provided that nothing in this section shall be deemed to 40 prevent a company from including any additional matters in its articles in so far as they are not inconsistent with the provisions contained in the Form in any of the Tables C. D and E. adopted by the company.".

11 In section 31 of the principal Act.--

Amendment of section 31.

5

(a) in sub-section (1), the following proviso shall be added at the end. namely:---

"Provided that no alteration made in the articles under this sub-section which has the effect of converting a public company into a private company, shall have effect unless such alteration has been approved by the Central Government.";

(b) after sub-section (2), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:---

"(2A) Where any alteration such as is referred to in the proviso to sub-section (1) has been approved by the Central Government, a printed copy of the articles as altered shall be filed by the company with the Registrar within one month of the date of receipt of the order of approval.".

12. In section 38 of the principal Act, for the proviso, the follow- Amendment of section 38. ing proviso shall be substituted, namely:---

"Provided that this section shall not apply---

(a) in any case where the member agrees in writing either before or after a particular alteration is made, to be bound by the alteration; or

(b) in any case where the company is a club or the company is any other association and the alteration requires the member to pay recurring or periodical subscriptions or charges at a higher rate although he does not agree in writing to be bound by the alteration.".

13. In section 41 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), for the Amendment 30 of section4 r. word "agrees", the words "agrees in writing" shall be substituted.

14. After section 43 of the principal Act, the following section. Insertion of shall be inserted, namely:-43A.

'43A. (1) Save as otherwise provided in this section, where not less than twenty-five per cent. of the paid-up share capital 35 of a private company having a share capital, is held by one or more bodies corporate, the private company shall,-

> (a) on and from the date on which the aforesaid percentage is first held by such body or bodies corporate, or

15

10

25

20

new section

Private company o become public company in cer.ain cases.

(b) where the aforesaid percentage has been first so held before the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, on and from the expiry of the period of three months from the date of such commencement unless within that period the aforesaid percentage is reduced below 5 twenty-five per cent of the paid-up share capital of the private company.

become by virute of this section a public company:

Provided that even after the private company has so become a public company, its articles of association may include provisions IO relating to the matters specified in clause (*iii*) of sub-section (1) of section 3 and the number of its members may be, or may at any time be, reduced below seven:

Provided further that in computing the aforesaid percentage, account shall not be taken of any share in the private company 15 held by a banking company, if, but only if, the following conditions are satisfied in respect of such share, namely:—

(a) that the share—

(i) forms part of the subject-matter of a trust.

(ii) has not been set apart for the benefit of any 20 body corporate, and

(*iii*) is held by the banking company either as a trustee of that trust or in its own name on behalf of a trustee of that trust; or

(b) that the share—

25

(i) forms part of the estate of a deceased person,

(ii) has not been bequeathed by the deceased person by his will to any body corporate, and

(*iii*) is held by the banking company either as an executor or administrator of the deceased person or in 30 its own name on behalf of an executor or administrator of the decease1 person;

and the Registrar may, for the purpose of satisfying himself that any share is held in the private company by a banking company as aforesaid, call for at any time from the banking 35 company such books and papers as he considers necessary.

(2) Within three months from the date on which a private company becomes a public company by virtue of this section, the company shall inform the Registrar that it has become a public company as aforesaid, and thereupon the Registrar shall delete the word "Private" before the word "Limited" in the name of the company upon the register and shall also make the necessary alterations in the certificate of incorporation issued to the company and in its memorandum of association.

۵

(3) Sub-section (3) of section 23 shall apply to a change of name under sub-section (2) as it applies to a change of name under section 21.

10

5

(4) A private company which has become a public company by virtue of this section shall continue to be a public company until it has with the approval of the Central Government and in accordance with the provisions of this Act, again become a private company.

(5) If a company makes default in complying with subsection (2), the company and every officer of the company who is in default, shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees for every day during which the default continues.

20

(6) Nothing in this section shall apply—

(a) to a private company of which the entire paid-up share capital is held by another single private company or by one or more bodies corporate incorporated outside India; or

(b) to any other private company if, but only if, each of the following conditions is satisfied, namely:---

(i) that the body corporate or each of the bodies corporate holding shares in the private company is itself a private company (hereinafter in this section referred to as a shareholding company),

(ii) that no body corporate is the holder of any shares in any such shareholding company,

(*iii*) that the total number of shareholders of the shareholding company, or as the case may be of all the shareholding companies together with the individual shareholders [not including the persons referred to in sub-clause (b) of clause (*iii*) of sub-section (1) of section 3], if any, of the private company, does not exceed fifty.

711 (B) LS-2.

25

30

(7) Every shareholding company shall, as soon as may be, inform the private company referred to in clause (b) of subsection (6) about every change in the membership of the shareholding company taking place by a change in the number of its individual shareholders or by any body corporate becoming 5 the holder of any of its shares.

(8) Every private company having a share capital shall, in addition to the certificate referred to in sub-section (2) of section 161, file with the Registrar along with the annual return a second certificate signed by both the signatories of the return, <sup>10</sup> stating either—

(a) that since the date of the annual general meeting with reference to which the last return was submitted, or in the case of a first return, since the date of the incorporation of the private company, no body or bodies corporate <sup>15</sup> has or have held twenty-five per cent or more of its paid-up share capital, or

(b) that though since the aforesaid date one or more bodies corporate have held twenty-five per cent or more of its paid-up share capital, the provisions of this section do not  $^{20}$  apply to it because it is a private company referred to in clause (a) or clause (b) of sub-section (6).'.

Amendment of section 49 15. In section 49 of the principal Act,-

(a) in sub-section (1), after the words, brackets and figures "sub-sections (2) to (5)", the words "or any other law <sup>25</sup> for the time being in force" shall be inserted;

(b) in sub-section (2), the words "expressly described as a nominee of the company" shall be omitted;

(c) in sub-section (5), after clause (a), the following elause  $3^{\circ}$  shall be inserted, namely:—

"(aa) from depositing with, or transferring to, or holding in the name of, the State Bank of India or a Scheduled Bank, being the bankers of the company, shares or securities, in order to facilitate the\* transfer thereof: \*

Provided that if within a period of six months from <sup>35</sup> the date on which the shares or securities are transferred by the company to, or are first held by the company in the name of, the State Bank of India or a Scheduled Bank as aforesaid, no transfer of such shares or securities takes place, the company shall, as soon as practicable after the 49

expiry of that period, have the shares or securities retransferred to it from the State Bank of India or the Scheduled Bank or, as the case may be, again hold the shares or securities in its own name; or";

5

(d) in sub-section (6), for the words "with a Scheduled Bank", the words "with the State Bank of India or a Scheduled Bank" shall be substituted.

16. In section 53 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), in clause Amendment of the section (5), the words "unless the contrary is proved," shall be omitted.

10 17. In section 60 of the principal Act, for sub-section (3), the Amendment following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:—

"(3) The Registrar shall not register a prospectus unless the requirements of sections 55, 56, 57 and 58 and sub-sections (1) and (2) of this section have been complied with and the prospectus is accompanied by the consent in writing of the person, if any named therein as the auditor, legal adviser, attorney, solicitor, banker or broker of the company or intended company, to act in that capacity.".

18. In section 62 of the principal Act, in the proviso to sub-section Amendment 20 (1), the words, brackets and letter "clause (b) of" shall be omitted.

19. In section 63 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2) in Amendment clause (b), the words, brackets and letter "clause (b) of" shall be omitted.

20. In section 73 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1),--

Amendment of section 73.

يربعون التجمير فنا

مراجع والمرجع والم

25

35

15

(a) for the words "three weeks" occurring at both the places, the words "four weeks" shall be substituted; and

(b) for the words "six weeks" the words "seven weeks" shall be substituted.

21. In section 75 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), for Amendment 30 clause (c), the following clause shall be substituted, namely:— of section 75.

"(c) file with the Registrar-

(i) in the case of bonus shares, a return stating the number and nominal amount of such shares comprised in the allotment and the names, addresses and occupations of the allottees and a copy of the resolution authorising the issue of such shares;

(ii) in the case of issue of shares at a discount, a copy of the resolution passed by the company authorising such issue together with a copy of the order of the Court sanctioning the issue and where the maximum rate of discount exceeds ten per cent, a copy of the order of the Central Government permitting the issue at the higher percentage.".

Amendment of section 76. 22. In section 76 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), for the 5 words "any of its capital moneys", the words "any of its moneys" shall be substituted.

Amendment of section 80. 23. In section 80 of the principal Act,-

(a) for the words "the capital redemption reserve fund" wherever they occur, the words "the capital redemption reserve 10 account" shall be substituted:

(b) in sub-section (4), for the word and figures "section 601", the word and figures "section 611" shall be substituted.

Amendment of section 81. 24. In section 81 of the principal Act,-

(a) in sub-section (1),—

(i) for the words "Where at any time subsequent to the first allotment of shares in a company it is proposed to increase the subscribed capital of the company by the issue of new shares, then, subject to any directions to the contrary which may be given by the company in general meeting, 20 and subject only to those directions—", the following words shall be substituted, namely:—

15

"Where at any time after the expiry of two years from the formation of a company or at any time after the expiry of one year from the allotment of shares in 25 that company made for the first time after its formation, whichever is earlier, the Board of directors decides to increase the subscribed capital of the company by allotment of further shares, then,—"

(ii) in clause (a), for the word "new", the word "further" 3° shall be substituted;

(b) after sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:—

"(1A) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1), the further shares aforesaid may be offered to any 35persons [whether or not those persons include the persons referred to in clause (a) of sub-section (1)] in any manner whatsoever—

13

(a) if a special resolution to that effect is passed by the company in general meeting, or

(b) where no such special resolution is passed, if the votes cast (whether on a show of hands, or on a poll, as the case may be) in favour of the proposal contained in the resolution moved in that general meeting (including the casting vote, if any, of the Chairman) by members who, being entitled so to do, vote in person, or where proxies are allowed, by proxy, exceed the votes, if any, cast against the proposal by members so entitled and voting and the Central Government is satisfied, on an application made by the Board of directors in this behalf, that the proposal is most beneficial to the company.";

(c) for sub-section (3), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:—

"(3) Nothing in this section shall apply—

(a) to a private company; or

(b) to the increase of the subscribed capital of a public company caused by the conversion of debentures issued or loans raised by the company into shares in the company:

Provided that the terms of issue of such debentures or the terms of such loans include a term providing for an option to exchange such debentures or loans for shares in the company and such term—

(a) has been approved by a special resolution of the company before the issue of the debentures or the raising of the loans; and also

(b) either has been approved by the Central Government before the issue of the debentures or the raising of the loans, or is in conformity with the rules, if any, made by that Government in this behalf.".

25. Section 84 of the principal Act shall be re-numbered as sub-Amendment of section 84.

section (1) of that section and after that sub-section as so re-numbered, the following sub-sections shall be inserted, namely:---

"(2) A certificate may be renewed or a duplicate of a certificate may be issued if such certificate—

(a) is proved to have been lost or destroyed, or

20

25

5

10

15

30

(b) having been defaced or mutilated or torn is surrendered to the company.

(3) If a company with intent to defraud renews a certificate or issues a duplicate thereof, the company shall be punishable with fine which may extend to ten thousand rupees and <sup>5</sup> every officer of the company who is in default shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months, or with fine which may extend to ten thousand rupees, or with both.

(4) Notwithstanding anything contained in the articles of <sup>10</sup> association of a company, the manner of issue or renewal of a certificate or issue of a duplicate thereof, the form of a certificate (original or renewed) or of a duplicate thereof, the particulars to be entered in the register of members or in the register of renewed or duplicate certificates, the form of such regis-<sup>15</sup> ters, the fee on payment of which, the terms and conditions, if any (including terms and conditions as to evidence and indemnity and the payment of out-of-pocket expenses incurred by a company in investigating evidence) on which a certificate may be renewed or a duplicate thereof may be issued, shall be such <sup>20</sup> as may be prescribed.".

Substitution of new section for section 106.

Alteration of rights of holders of special classcs of shares.

Amendment of section 111.

751 - 1 . . . . "106. Where the share capital of a company is divided in-25 to different classes of shares, the rights attached to the shares of any class may be varied with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three-fourths of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the holders of the issued shares of that 30 class—

26. For section 106 of the principal Act, the following section

(a) if provision with respect to such variation is contained in the memorandum or articles of the company, or

(b) in the absence of any such provision in the memorandum or articles, if such variation is not prohibited by the 35 terms of issue of the shares of that class.".

27. In section 111 of the principal  $Act, \rightarrow$ 

shall be substituted, namely:---

(a) in sub-section (2), for the words "If, in pursuance of any such power, a company refuses", the words "If a company refuses, whether in pursuance of any power under its articles or 40 otherwise," shall be substituted;

(b) after sub-section (4), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:-

15

"(4A) Every appeal under sub-section (3) shall be made by a petition in writing and shall be accompanied by such fee not exceeding fifty rupees as may be prescribed by the Central Government.":

(c) in sub-section (5), for the word "forthwith", the words "within ten days of the receipt of the order" shall be substituted:

(d) after sub-section (5), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:---

"(5A) Before making an order under sub-section (5) on an appeal against any refusal of the company to register any transfer or transmission, the Central Government may require the company to disclose to it the reasons for such refusal, and on the failure or refusal of the company to disclose such reasons, that Government may, notwithstanding anything contained in the articles of the company, presume that the disclosure, if made, would be unfavourable to the company.":

(e) after sub-section (8), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:---

"(9) If default is made in giving effect to the order of the Central Government within the period specified in sub-section (5) or to a direction of that Government given under the proviso to sub-section (8), the company, and every officer of the company who is in default, shall be punishable with fine which may extend to one thousand rupees. and with a further fine which may extend to one hundred rupees for every day after the first during which the default continues.".

28. In section 113 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), for the Amendment of section words "three months after the application", the words "two months 113. after the application" shall be substituted.

29. In section 125 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), the Amendment 35 of section following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:---125.

"Provided that the Registrar may allow the particulars and instrument or copy as aforesaid to be filed within seven days next following the expiry of the said period of twenty-one days 40 if the company satisfies the Registrar that it had sufficient cause for not filing the particulars and instrument or copy within that period.".

111

. :

20

25

15

5

10

Amendment of section 138. 30. In section 138 of the principal Act,-

(a) in sub-section (1), for the words "in whole or in part", the words "in full" shall be substituted;

(b) in sub-section (3), the words "in whole or in part, as 5 the case may be," shall be omitted.

Amendment of section 141. 31. In section 141 of the principal Act. for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:—

"(1) The Court, on being satisfied—

(a) that the omission to file with the Registrar the  $^{10}$ particulars of any charge created by a company or of any charge subject to which any property has been acquired by the company or of any modification of any such charge or of any issue of debentures of a series, or that the omission to register any charge within the time required by this 15 Part, or that the omission to give intimation to the Registrar of the payment or satisfaction of a charge, within the time required by this Part, or that the omission or mis-statement of any particular with respect to any such charge, modification or issue of debentures of a series or with respect to 20 any memorandum of satisfaction or other entry made in pursuance of section 138 or 139, was accidental or due to inadvertance or to some other sufficient cause or is not of a nature to prejudice the position of creditors or sharehold-25 ers of the company: or

(b) that on other grounds it is just and equitable to grant relief;

may, on the application of the company or any person interested and on such terms and conditions as seem to the Court just and expedient, direct that the time for<sup>\*\*\*</sup> the filing of the particulars  $_{30}$ or for the registration of the charge or for the giving of intimation of payment or satisfaction shall be extended or, as the case may require, that the omission or mis-statement shall be rectified.".

Amendment<br/>of section<br/>142.32. In section 142 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), in<br/>clause (b), the words "in whole or in part", shall be omitted.35Amendment<br/>of section<br/>145.33. In section 145 of the principal Act, for the words "any<br/>charge created before the commencement of this Act", the words35

"any charge created before, and remaining unsatisfied at, the commencement of this Act." shall be substituted. 34. In section 147 of the principal Act.-Amendment of section (a) in sub-section (1),-147. (1) in clause (a), after the words "its name", the 5 words "and the address of its registered office" shall be inserted (2) in clause (c).— (i) after the words "its name", the words "and the 10 address of its registered office" shall be inserted: (ii) the word ". advertisements" shall be omitted; (iii) for the words "and in all bills of exchange". the words "and also have its name so mentioned in all bills of exchange" shall be substituted: (b) in sub-section (2), after the words "its name" wherever 15 they occur, the words "and the address of its registered office" shall be inserted; (c) in sub-section (4), in clause (b),-(i) the word ". advertisement" shall be omitted: (ii) for the words "its name is", the words "its name and the address of its registered office are" shall be substituted. 35. In section 149 of the principal Act, sub-section (8) shall be Amendment of section omitted. 149. 36. In section 155 of the principal Act,-Amendment 25 of section (a) in sub-section (1), for clause (a), the following clause 155. shall be substituted. namely:-"(a) the name of any person-(i) is without sufficient cause, entered in the register of members of a company, or 30 (ii) after having been entered in the register, is, without sufficient cause, omitted therefrom; or"; (b) after sub-section (4), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:---35 "(5) The provisions of sub-section (1) to (4) shall apply in relation to the rectification of the register of 711 (B) LS-3.

debenture holders as they apply in relation to the rectification of the register of members.".

Amendment of section 156. 37. In section 156 of the principal Act,-

(a) after the words "a list of its members", the words "and a list of its debenture holders" shall be inserted;

(b) after the words "to be filed", the words "by the company" shall be inserted;

(c) the following Explanation shall be inserted, namely:--

"Explanation.—In computing the period of fourteen days prescribed under this section, the time taken in drawing 10 up the order of the Court and in obtaining a copy of that order shall be excluded."

5

15

Amendment of section 38. In section 159 of the principal Act,— 159.

\*

(a) in sub-section (1),-

(i) in clause (g), for the words "and managers", the words "managers and secretaries" shall be substituted;

(ii) the following proviso and Explanation shall be added at the end, namely:---

> "Provided that if any of the two immediately preced-<sup>20</sup> ing returns has given as at the date of the annual general meeting with reference to which it was submitted, the full particulars required as to past and present members and the shares\*\* held and transferred by them, the return in question may contain only such of the parti-<sup>25</sup> culars as relate to persons ceasing to be or becoming members since that date and to shares transferred since that date or to changes as compared with that date in the number of shares held by a member.

Explanation.—Any reference in this section or in sec-  $_{30}$  tion 160 or 161 or in any other section or in Schedule V to the day on which an annual general meeting is held or to the date of the annual general meeting shall, where the annual general meeting for any year has not been held be constructed as a reference to the latest day on or before which that 35 meeting should have been held in accordance with the provisions of this Act.";

(b) in sub-section (2), after the words "as circumstances admit", the following words shall be inserted, namely:---

"and where the return is filed even though the annual general meeting has not been held on or before the latest day by which it should have been held in accordance with the provisions of this Act, the company shall file with the return a statement specifying the reasons for not holding the annual general meeting.".

**39.** In section 160 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1). ÷

Amendmen of section 160

(a) after clause (a), the following clause shall be inserted. namely:

"(aa) the names of members and the respective dates on which they became members and the names of persons who ceased to be members since the date of the annual general meeting of the immediately preceding year. \*\*\* and the dates on which they so ceased;":

(b) in clause (b), for the words "and its manager", the words "its manager and its secretary" shall be substituted.

40. In section 161 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), in clause Amendment of section ao (a), the word "and" at the end of the clause shall be omitted and 161. after that clause, the following clause shall be inserted, namely:---

"(aa) that since the date of the last annual return the transfer of all shares and debentures and the issue of all further certificates of shares and debentures have been appropriately recorded in the books maintained for the purpose; and".

25

30

35

5

10

15

41. In section 165 of the principal Act, in sub-section (4), the Amendment of section words "on capital account" shall be omitted. 16<u>5</u>.

42. In section 166 of the principal Act,-

Amendmeni

(a) for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be  $\frac{of}{266}$  section substituted, namely:-

> "(1) Every company shall in each year hold in addition to any other meetings a general meeting as its annual general meeting and shall specify the meeting as such in the notices calling it; and not more than fifteen months shall elapse between the date of one annual general meeting of a company and that of the next:

Provided that a company may hold its first annual general meeting within a period of not more than eighteen months from the date of its incorporation; and if such general meeting is held within that period, it shall not be necessary for the company to hold any annual general meeting 5 in the year of its incorporation or in the following year:

Provided further that the Registrar may, for any spe-	
cial reason, extend the time within which any annual gene-	
ral meeting (not being the first annual general meeting)	
shall be held, by a period not exceeding three months.";	10

(b) in sub-section (2),-

(i) the words "; and the notices calling the meeting shall specify it as the annual general meeting" shall be omitted;

"Provided that the Central Government may exempt any class of companies from the provisions of this subsection subject to such conditions as it may impose:

Provided further that-

(a) a public company or a private company <sup>20</sup> which is a subsidiary of a public company, may by its articles fix the time for its annual general meetings and may also by a resolution passed in one annual general meeting fix the time for its subsequent annual general meetings; and 25

(b) a private company which is not a subsidiary of a public company, may in like manner and also by a resolution agreed to by all the members thereof, fix the times as well as the place for its annual general meeting.".

Amendment 43. In section 168 of the principal Act, the following words shall  $\frac{of section}{16}$  be added at the end, namely:—

"and in the case of a continuing default, with a further fine which may extend to two hundred and fifty rupees for every dayafter the first during which such default continues."

-

Amendment of section

"Provided that where the notice of a meeting is given by advertising the same in a newspaper circulating in the neighbourhood of the registered office of the company under sub-section (3) of section 53, the statement of material facts referred to in section 173 need not be annexed to the notice as required by that section but it shall be mentioned in the advertisement that the statement has been forwarded to the members of the company.".

45. In section 173 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2),-

Ś

	(a) for the words "the nature and extent of the interest", <sup>of section</sup> the words "the nature of the concern or interest" shall be subs- tituted;	
15		
20	"Provided that the extent of shareholding interest in the company of every director, the managing agent, if any, the secretaries and treasurers, if any, and the manager, if any, shall also be set out in the statement where such director or the managing agent or the secretaries and treasurers or the manager holds not less than twenty per-	
25	cent of the paid-up share capital of the company.". 46. In section 176 of the principal Act, for sub-section (3), the Amendment of section following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:— "(3) Any provision contained in the articles of a public	
30	company or of a private company which is a subsidiary of a public company, which specifies or requires a longer period than forty-eight hours before a meeting of the company, for depositing with the company or any other person any instrument appointing a proxy or any other document necessary to show the validity or otherwise relating to the appointment of a proxy in order that the appointment may be effective at such meeting, shall have effect as if a period of forty-eight hours had been specified in or required by such provision for such deposit.".	
35	47. In section 187 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), for the Amendment of section words "a member", the words "an individual member" shall be subs-	
	<b>48.</b> After section 187 of the principal Act, the following section Insertion of new section shall be inserted, namely:	
40	"187A. (1) The President of India or the Governor of a Representa- tion of the State, if he is a member of a company, may appoint such person President and	

Governors in meetings of companies of which they are members.

as he thinks fit to act as his representative at any meeting of the company or at any meeting of any class of members of the company.

(2) A person appointed to act as aforesaid shall, for the purposes of this Act, be deemed to be a member of such a com- 5 pany and shall be entitled to exercise the same rights and powers (including the right to vote by proxy) as the President or, as the case may be, the Governor could exercise as a member of the company.".

Amendment of section 190. 49. In section 190 of the principal Act,---

(a) in sub-section (1), for the words "twenty-eight days", the words "fourteen days" shall be substituted;

TO

(b) for sub-sections (2) and (3), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:—

"(2) The company shall, immediately after the notice 15 of the intention to move any such resolution has been received by it, give its members notice of the resolution in the same manner as it gives notice of the meeting, or if that is not practicable, shall give them notice thereof, either by advertisement in a newspaper having an appropriate circula-<sup>20</sup> tion or in any other mode allowed by the articles, not less than seven days before the meeting.".

50. In section 192 of the principal Act,-

(a) in sub-section (1), after the words "every resolution", the brackets, words and figures "(together with a copy of the 25 statement of material facts annexed under section 173 to the notice of the meeting in which such resolution has been passed)" shall be inserted;

(b) in sub-section (2), for the words "a copy of every such resolution or agreement", the words, brackets and figure "a copy of every resolution referred to in sub-section (1) which has the effect of altering the articles and a copy of every agreement referred to in that sub-section" shall be substituted;

(c) in sub-section (3), for the words "such resolution or agreement", the words, brackets and figure "resolution or agreement referred to in sub-section (1)" shall be substituted;

Amendment of section (d) in sub-section (4), the words "and" at the end of clause (e) shall be omitted and after that clause, the following clause shall be inserted, namely:—

"(ee) resolutions passed by a company-

\*

(i) according consent to the exercise by its Board of directors of any of the powers under clause (a), clause
(d) and clause (e) of sub-section (1) of section 293;

(*ii*) approving the appointment of sole selling agents under section 294; and"

ı٥

5

"(1) Every company shall cause minutes of all proceedings of every general meeting and of all proceedings of every meeting of its Board of directors or of every committee of the Board, to be kept by making within fourteen days of the conclusion of every such meeting concerned, entries thereof in books kept for that purpose with their pages consecutively numbered.

(1A) Each page of every such book shall be initialled or
 signed and the last page of the record of proceedings of each meeting in such books shall be dated and signed—

(a) in the case of minutes of proceedings of a meeting of the Board or of a committee thereof, by the chairman of the said meeting or the chairman of the next succeeding meeting;

(b) in the case of minutes of proceedings of a general meeting, by the chairman of the same meeting within the aforesaid period of fourteen days or in the event of the death or inability of that chairman within that period, by a director duly authorised by the Board for the purpose.

(1B) In no case the minutes of proceedings of a meeting shall be attached to any such book as aforesaid by pasting or otherwise."

52. For section 194 of the principal Act, the following section shall 35 be substituted, namely:---

Substitution of new section for section 194. Minutes to

"194. Minutes of meetings kept in accordance with the provisions of section 193 shall be evidence of the proceedings recorded therein.".

15

25

Amendment of section 195. **53.** In section 195 of the principal Act, for the words and figures "have been made and signed in accordance with the provisions of sections 193 and 194", the words and figures "have been kept in accordance with the provisions of section 193" shall be substituted.

Insertion of new heading and section shall be inserted, namely: and new section 197A. "Prohibition of simultaneous appointment of different categories of

managerial personnel

197A. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Act or any <sup>10</sup> other law or any agreement or instrument, no company shall, after the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, appoint or employ at the same time, or after the expiry of six months from such commencement, continue the appointment or employment at the same time, of more than one of the follow-<sup>15</sup> ing categories of managerial personnel, namely:---

- (a) managing director,
- (b) managing agent,
- (c) secretaries and treasurers, and
- (d) manager.".

55. For section 198 of the principal Act, the following section shall be substituted, namely:—

'198. (1) The total managerial remuneration payable by a public company or a private company which is a subsidiary of a public company, to its directors and its managing agent, secre-<sup>25</sup> taries and treasurers or manager in respect of any financial year shall not exceed eleven per cent. of the net profits of that company for that financial year computed in the manner laid down in sections 349, 350 and 351, except that the remuneration of the directors shall not be deducted from the gross profits: 30

Provided that nothing in this section shall affect the operation of sections 352 to 354 and 356 to 360.

(2) The percentage aforesaid shall be exclusive of any fees payable to directors under sub-section (2) of section 309.

(3) Within the limits of the maximum remuneration specified 35 in sub-section (1), a company may pay a monthly remuneration to its \* \* (managing or whole-time director) in accordance with the provisions of section 309 or to its manager in accordance with the provisions of section 387.

(4) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-sections (1) 40 to (3), if in any financial year, a company has no profits or its

Substitution of new section for section 198. Overall maximum managerial remuneration and managerial remuneration in case of absence or inadequacy of profits.

Company not to appoint

categories of

managerial personnel at

the same

or employ

certain different .

20

profits are inadequate, the company may, subject to the approval of the Central Government, unless such approval has been obtained under any other provision of this Act, pay to its directors (including any managing or whole-time director), its managing agent, secretaries and treasurers, or manager or if there are two or more of them holding office in the company, to all of them together by way of minimum remuneration, such sum not exceeding fifty thousand rupees per annum [exclusive of any fees payable to directors under sub-section (2) of section 309] as it considers reasonable:

Provided that where a monthly payment is being made or is proposed to be made to any managing or whole-time director \* \* \* or the manager or to any one or more of them and the Central Government is satisfied that for the efficient conduct of the business of the company the minimum remuneration of fifty thousand rupees per annum is or will be insufficient, the Central Government may by order sanction an increase in the minimum remuneration to such sum, for such period and subject to such conditions, if any, as may be specified in the order.

Explanation.—For the purposes of this section and sections 309, 310, 311, 348, 352, 381 and 387, "remuneration" shall include,—

(a) any expenditure incurred by the company in providing any rent-free accommodation, or any other benefit or amenity in respect of accommodation free of charge, to any of the persons specified in sub-section (1);

(b) any expenditure incurred by the company in providing any other benefit or amenity free of charge or at a concessional rate to any of the persons aforesaid;

(c) any expenditure incurred by the company in respect of any obligation or service which, but for such expenditure by the company, would have been incurred by any of the persons aforesaid; and

(d) any expenditure incurred by the company to effect any insurance on the life of, or to provide any pension, annuity or gratuity for, any of the persons aforesaid or his spouse or child.'.

56. In section 204 of the principal Act,-

Amendment of section

(a) for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be 204. substituted, namely: ---

"(1) Save as provided in sub-section (2), no company shall after the commencement of this Act, appoint or employ 711 (B) LS-4.

20

25

15

5

τo

30

35

any firm or body corporate to or in any office or place of profit under the company, other than the office of managing agent, secretaries and treasurers or trustee for the holders of debentures of the company, for a term exceeding five years at a time:

Provided that the initial appointment or employment of a firm or body corporate to or in any office or place of profit as aforesaid may, with the approval of the Central Government, be made for a term not exceeding ten years.";

(b) in sub-section (5), for the words "obtains anything", 10 the words "obtains from the company anything" shall be substituted.

ion 57. For section 205 of the principal Act, the following section -- Ishall be substituted, namely:—

'205. (1) No dividend shall be declared or paid by a company  $_{15}$  for any financial year except out of the profits of the company for that year arrived at after providing for depreciation in accordance with the provisions of sub-section (2) or out of the profits of the company for any previous financial year or years arrived at after providing for depreciation in accordance with those pro- $_{20}$  visions and remaining undistributed or out of both or out of moneys provided by the Central Government or a State Government for the payment of dividend in pursuance of a guarantee given by that Government:

Provided that-

(a) if the company has not provided for depreciation for any previous financial year or years which falls or fall after the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, it shall, before declaring or paying dividend for any financial year provide for such 3° depreciation out of the profits of that financial year or out of the profits of any other previous financial year or years;

(b) if the company has incurred any loss in any previous financial year or years, which falls or fall after 35 the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, then, the amount of the loss or an amount which is equal to the amount provided for depreciation for that year or those years whichever is less, shall be set off against the profits of the company for the year 40 for which dividend is proposed to be declared or paid or

Substitution of new section for section 205. Dividend to be paid only out  $r_a$  of profits. 5

against the profits of the company for any previous financial year or years, arrived at in both cases after providing for depreciation in accordance with the provisions of sub-section (2) or against both;

(c) the Central Government may, if it thinks necessary so to do in the public interest, allow any company to declare or pay dividend for any financial year out of the profits of the company for that year or any previous financial year or years without providing for depreciation:

Provided further that it shall not be necessary for a company to provide for depreciation as aforesaid where dividend for any financial year is declared or paid out of the profits of any previous financial year or years which falls or fall before the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960.

(2) For the purpose of sub-section (1), depreciation shall be provided either—

(a) to the extent specified in section 350; or

(b) in respect of each item of depreciable asset, for such an amount as is arrived at by dividing ninety-five per cent. of the original cost there of to the company by the specified period in respect of such asset; or

(c) on any other basis approved by the Central Government which has the effect of writing off by way of depreciation ninety-five per cent. of the original cost to the company of each such depreciable asset on the expiry of the specified period; or

(d) as regards any other depreciable asset for which no rate of depreciation has been laid down by the Indian Income-Tax Act, 1922 or the rules made thereunder, on such basis as may be approved by the Central Government by any general order published in the Official Gazette or by any special order in any particular case:

Provided that where depreciation is provided for in the manner laid down in clause (b) or clause (c), then, in the event of the depreciable asset being sold, discarded, demolished or destroyed the written down value thereof at the end of the financial year in which the asset is sold, discarded, demolished
or destroyed, shall be written off in accordance with the proviso to section 350.

11 of 1922.

27

15

20

25

30

10

¢

(3) No dividend shall be payable except in cash:

Provided that nothing in this sub-section shall be deemed to prohibit the capitalization of profits or reserves of a company for the purpose of issuing fully paid-up bonus shares or paying up any amount for the time being unpaid on any 5 shares held by the members of the company.

(4) Nothing in this section shall be deemed to affect in any manner the operation of section 208.

(5) For the purposes of this section-

(a) "specified period" in respect of any depreciable asset 10 shall mean the number of years at the end of which at least ninety-five per cent. of the original cost of that asset to the company will have been provided for by way of depreciation if depreciation were to be calculated in accordance with the provisions of section 350; 15

(b) any dividend payable in cash may be paid by cheque or warrant sent through the post directed to the registered address of the shareholder entitled to the payment of the dividend or in the case of joint shareholders, to the registered address of that one of the joint sharehold-<sub>20</sub> ers which is first named on the register of members, or to such person and to such address as the shareholder or the joint shareholders may in writing direct.'.

Amendment of section 207.

58. In section 207 of the principal Act, for the words "three months", the words "forty-two days" shall be substituted. 25

Amendment of section 209. 59. In section 209 of the principal Act,-

(a) for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---

"(1) Every company shall keep at its registered office proper books of account with respect to— 30

(a) all sums of money received and expended by the company and the matters in respect of which the receipt and expenditure take place;

(b) all sales and purchases of goods by the  $com-_{35}$  pany; and

(c) the assets and liabilities of the company:

Provided that all or any of the books of account aforesaid may be kept at such other place in India as the Board of directors may *shaild*, and when the Board of directors so  $_{40}$  decides, the company shall, within seven days of the decision, file with the Registrar a notice in writing giving the full address of that other place.";

(b) in sub-section (4), the following proviso shall be inserted, namely: \_\_\_\_\_

"Provided that the books of accounts shall also be open to inspection by the Registrar or by any officer of Government authorised by the Central Government in this behalf if in the opinion of the Registrar or such officer sufficient cause exists for the inspection of the books of accounts.";

(c) after sub-section (4), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:—

"(4A) The books of account of every company relating to a period of not less than eight years immediately preceding the current year shall be preserved in good order:

Provided that in the case of a company incorporated less than eight years before the current year, the books of account for the entire period preceding the current year shall be so preserved.";

20

15

5

10

(d) in sub-section (5),-

(i) for the words "fine which may extend to one thousand rupees", the words "imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months, or with fine which may extend to one thousand rupees, or with both" shall be substituted;

(ii) in the proviso, the words "that he had reasonable ground to believe, and did believe" shall be omitted;

(*iii*) after the proviso, the following further proviso shall be inserted; namely:—

"Provided further that no person shall be sentenced to imprisonment for any such offence unless it was committed wilfully.";

(e) in sub-section (6),—

(i) in clause (a), for the words "or secretaries and treasurers" occurring at both the places, the words "secretaries and treasurers or managing director or manager" shall be substituted;

(ii) in clause (d), for the words "secretaries and treasurers, every director of the company", the words "secretaries and treasurers nor managing director nor manager, every director of the company" shall be substituted;

30

25

(f) in sub-section (7),-

(i) after the words "secretaries and treasurers", the words "managing director, manager" shall be inserted;

(*ii*) for the words "fine which may extend to one thousand rupees", the words "imprisonment for a term which 5 may extend to six months, or with fine which may extend to one thousand rupees, or with both" shall be substituted.

60. In section 210 of the principal Act,-

"(b) in the case of any subsequent annual general meeting of the company, to the period beginning with the day immediately after the period for which the account was last submitted and ending with a day which shall not precede the day of the meeting by more than six months, or in cases 15where an extension of time has been granted for holding the meeting under the second proviso to sub-section (1) of section 166, by more than six months and the extension so granted.";

(b) in sub-section (5), in the first proviso, the words 20 "that he had reasonable ground to believe, and did believe," shall be omitted.

61. In section 211 of the principal Act,-

(a) for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:— 25

'(1) Every balance-sheet of a company shall give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company as at the end of the financial year and shall, subject to the provisions of this section, be in the form set out in Part I of Schedule VI, or as near thereto as circumstances admit or 30 in such other form as may be approved by the Central Government either generally or in any particular case; and in preparing the balance-sheet due regard shall be had, as far as may be, to the general instructions for preparation of balance-sheet under the heading "Notes" at the end of that 35 Part:

Provided that nothing contained in this sub-section shall apply to any insurance or banking company or any company engaged in the generation or supply of electricity or to any other class of company for which a form of balance-sheet 40

210.

Amendment of section

Amendment of section 211. has been specified in or under the Act governing such class of company.':

(b) in sub-section (2), in the proviso, after the words "banking company", the words "or any company engaged in the generation or supply of electricity" shall be inserted:

(c) in sub-section (3), for the words "mational interest", the words "public interest" shall be substituted;

(d) in sub-section (5), in clause (iii), for the words and figures "the Electricity Supply Act, 1948", the words, figures and brackets "both the Indian Electricity Act. 1910, and the 10 54 of 1948. Electricity (Supply) Act. 1948" shall be substituted:

> (e) in sub-section (7), in the first proviso, the words "that he had reasonable ground to believe and did believe" shall be omitted:

(f) in sub-section (8), after the words "secretaries and treasurers,", the words, "managing director or manager," shall be inserted.

62. In section 212 of the principal Act.-

Amendment of section 212

(a) in sub-section (2),—

(i) for clause (a), the following clause shall be substituted. namely:---

"(a) The balance-sheet referred to in clause (a) of sub-section (1) shall be made out in accordance with the requirements of this Act,-

(i) as at the end of the financial year of the subsidiary, where such financial year coincides with the financial year of the holding company;

(ii) as at the end of the financial year of the subsidiary last before that of the holding company where the financial year of the subsidiary does not coincide with that of the holding company;":

(ii) in clause (c), for the words "The financial year aforesaid", the words "Where the financial year of the subsidiary does not coincide with that of the holding company. the financial year aforesaid" shall be substituted:

(b) in sub-section (9), in the first proviso, the words "that he had reasonable ground to believe, and did believe," shall be omitted;

20

15

5

30

35

25

54 of 1948. 9 of 1910.

(c) in sub-section (10), after the words "secretaries and treasurers,"; the words "managing director, manager," shall be inserted.

63. In section 216 of the principal Act after the words "auditors'

Amendment

of section report", the brackets and words "(including the auditors' separate. 5 216 special or supplementary report, if any)" shall be inserted. 64. In section 217 of the principal Act,-Amendment of section 217. (a) in sub-section (1),— (i) in clause (b), the word "either" and the words "or in a subsequent balance-sheet; and" shall be omitted; το (ii) after clause (c), the following clause shall be inserted. namely:---"(d) material changes and commitments, if any. affecting the financial position of the company which have occurred between the end of the financial year of 15 the company to which the balance-sheet relates and the date of the report.":\*\* (b) in sub-section (5), in the second provise, the words "that he had reasonable ground to believe, and did believe," shall 20 be omitted. Amendment 65. In section 220 of the principal Act,of section 220 (a) in sub-section (1),— (i) in clause (a),— 25 (1) the words "in the case of a public company" shall be omitted: (2) the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:-"Provided that in the case of a private company, 20 copies of the balance-sheet and copies of the profit and loss account shall be filed with the Registrar separately."; (ii) clause (b) shall be omitted;

(iii) the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely: --

"Provided that,---

(i) in the case of a private company which is not a subsidiary of a public company, or

(ii) in the case of a private company of which the entire paid-up share capital is held by one or more bodies corporate incorporated outside India, or

(*iii*) in the case of a company which becomes a public company by virtue of section 43A, if the Central Government directs that it is not in the public interest that any person other than a member of the company shall be entitled to inspect, or obtain copies of, the profit and loss account of the company,

no person other than a member of the company concerned shall be entitled to inspect, or obtain copies of, the profit and loss account of that company under section 610.";

20 (b) in sub-section (2), the words "public or private" shall be omitted.

"(1) Every company shall, at each annual general meeting, appoint an auditor or auditors to hold office from the conclusion of that meeting until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting and shall, within seven days of the appointment, give intimation thereof to every auditor so appointed, unless he is a retiring auditor.

30 (1A) Every auditor appointed under sub-section (1), unless he is a retiring auditor, shall within thirty days of the receipt from the company of the intimation of his appointment, inform the Registrar in writing that he has accepted, or refused to accept the appointment.".

35 67. In section 226 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), in Amendment of section clause (a), for the words "those territories", the word "India" shall 226. be substituted.

711 (B) LS-5.

5

10

## 68. In section 227 of the principal Act.

(a) in sub-section (3), after clause (b), the following clause shall be inserted, namely:—

"(bb) whether the report on the accounts of any branch office audited under section 228 by a person other than the <sup>5</sup> company's auditor has been forwarded to him as required by clause (c) of sub-section (3) of that section and how he has dealt with the same in preparing the auditor's report;";

(b) in sub-section (4), after the brackets and letter "(b)", <sup>10</sup> the brackets and letters "(bb)" shall be inserted;

(c) for sub-section (5), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---

"(5) The accounts of a company shall not be deemed as not having been, and the auditor's report shall not state 15 that those accounts have not been, properly drawn up on the ground merely that the company has not disclosed certain matters if—

(a) those matters are such as the company is not required to disclose by virtue of any provisions con-20 tained in this or any other Act, and

(b) those provisions are specified in the balancesheet and profit and loss account of the company.".

Amendment of section 228.

٩.

69. In section 228 of the principal Act,—

(a) in sub-section (1),—

(i) for the words "unless the company in general meeting decides otherwise, be audited", the words and figures "be audited by the company's auditor appointed under section 224 or" shall be substituted;

(*ii*) for the words "by a person qualified as aforesaid", 3° the words "by the company's auditor or a person qualified as aforesaid" shall be substituted;

(b) in sub-section (2), for the words "not so audited", the words "audited by a person other than the company's auditor" shall be substituted;

(c) after sub-section (2), the following sub-sections shall be inserted, namely:—

"(3) (a) Where a company in general meeting decides to have the accounts of a branch office audited otherwise

than by the company's auditor, the company in that meeting shall for the audit of those accounts appoint a person qualified for appointment as auditor of the company under section 226, or where the branch office is situate in a country outside India, a person who is either qualified as aforesaid or an accountant duly qualified to act as an auditor of the accounts of the branch office in accordance with the laws of that country, or authorise the Board of directors to appoint such a person in consultation with the company's auditor;

(b) the person so appointed (hereafter in this section referred to as the branch auditor) shall have the same powers and duties in respect of audit of the accounts of the branch office as the company's auditor has in respect of the same;

(c) the branch auditor shall prepare a report on the accounts of the branch office examined by him and forward the same to the company's auditor who shall in preparing the auditor's report, deal with the same in such manner as he considers necessary;

(d) the branch auditor shall receive such remuneration and shall hold his appointment subject to such terms and conditions as may be fixed either by the company in general meeting or by the Board of directors if so authorised by the company in general meeting.

(4) Notwithstanding anything contained in the foregoing provisions of this section, the Central Government may, by rules made in this behalf, exempt any branch office from the provisions of this section to the extent specified in the rules and in making such rules the Central Government shall have regard to all or any of the following matters, namely:---

(a) the arrangement made by the company for the audit of accounts of the branch office by a person otherwise qualified for appointment as branch auditor even though such person may be an officer or employee of the company;

(b) the nature and quantum of activity carried on at the branch office during a period of three years immediately preceding the date on which the branch office is exempted from the provisions of this section;

(c) the availability at a reasonable cost of a branch auditor for the audit of accounts of the branch office;

5

10

20

15

25

30

35

(d) any other matter which in the opinion of the Central Government justifies the grant of exemption to the branch office from the provisions of this section.".

Insertion of new section shall be inserted, namely:—

233A. Power of

Central

Government to direct special audit

in certain

cases.

5

15

"233A. (1) Where the Central Government is of the opinion—

(a) that the affairs of any company are not being managed in accordance with sound business principles or prudent commercial practices; or 10

(b) that any company is being managed in a manner likely to cause serious injury or damage to the interests of the trade, industry or business to which it pertains; or

(c) that the financial position of any company is such as to endanger its solvency,

the Central Government may at any time by order direct that a special audit of the company's accounts for such period or periods as may be specified in the order, shall be conducted and may by the same or a different order appoint either a chartered accountant as defined in clause (b) of sub-section (1) of section 20 2 of the Chartered Accountants Act, 1949, (whether or not such chartered accountant is a chartered accountant in practice within the meaning of that Act) or the company's auditor himself to conduct such special audit.

(2) The chartered accountant or the company's auditor 25 appointed under sub-section (1) to conduct a special audit as aforesaid is hereafter in this section referred to as the special auditor.

(3) The special auditor shall have the same powers and duties in relation to the special audit as an auditor of a company 30 has under section 227:

Provided that the special auditor shall, instead of making his report to the members of the company, make the same to the Central Government.

(4) The report of the special auditor shall, as far as may be, 35 include all the matters required to be included in an auditor's report under section 227 and, if the Central Government so directs, shall also include a statement on any other matter which may be referred to him by that Government.

(5) The Central Government may by order direct any person specified in the order to furnish to the special auditor within such time as may be specified therein such information or additional information as may be required by the special auditor in connection with the special audit; and on failure to comply with such order such person shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees.

(6) On receipt of the report of the special auditor, the Central Government may take such action on the report as it considers necessary in accordance with the provisions of this Act or any other law for the time being in force:

Provided that if the Central Government does not take any action on the report within four months from the date of its receipt, that Government shall send to the company either a copy of, or relevant extract from, the report with its comments thereon and require the company either to circulate that copy or those extracts to the members or to have such copy or extracts read before the company at its next general meeting.

(7) The expenses of, and incidental to, any special audit under this section (including the remuneration of the special auditor) shall be determined by the Central Government (which determination shall be final) and paid by the company and in default of such payment shall be recoverable from the company as an arrear of land revenue."

25 71. In section 234 of the principal Act,—

Amendment of section 234.

(a) in sub-section (1), for the words "in order that such document may afford full particulars of the matter to which it", the words "with respect to any matter to which such document" shall be substituted;

(b) after sub-section (3), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:—

"(3A) If no information or explanation is furnished within the time specified or if the information or explanation furnished is, in the opinion of the Registrar, inadequate, the Registrar may by another written order call on the company to produce before him for his inspection such books and papers as he considers necessary within such time as he may specify in the order; and it shall be the duty of the company, and of all persons who are officers of the company, to produce such books and papers.";

15

10

5

20

35

40

(c) in sub-section (4),—

(i) after the words "any such information or explanation" the words "or if the company or any such person as is referred to in sub-section (3A) refuses or neglects to produce any such books and papers" shall be inserted; 5

(*ii*) for clauses (a) and (b), the following clauses shall be substituted, namely:—

"(a) the company and each such person shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees and in the case of a continuing offence, with an Io additional fine which may extend to fifty rupees for every day after the first during which the offence continues; and

(b) the Court trying the offence may, on the application of the Registrar and after notice to the company, 15 make an order on the company for production before the Registrar of such books and papers as in the opinion of the Court, may reasonably be required by the Registrar for the purpose referred to in sub-section (1).";

(d) for sub-section (5), the following sub-section shall be 20 substituted, namely:—

"(5) On receipt of any writing containing the information or explanation referred to in sub-section (1), or of any book or paper produced whether in pursuance of an order of the Registrar under sub-section (3A) or of an order of the 25 Court under sub-section (4), the Registrar may annex that writing, book or paper, or where that book or paper is required by the company, any copy or extract thereof, to the document referred to in sub-section (1); and any writing or any book or paper or copy or extract thereof so annexed 30 shall be subject to the like provisions as to inspection, the taking of extracts and the furnishing of copies, as that document is subject.";

(e) for sub-section (6), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely: ----

"(6) If such information or explanation is not furnished within the specified time or if after perusal of such information or explanation or of the books and papers produced

35

whether in pursuance of an order of the Registrar under subsection (3A) or of an order of the Court under sub-section (4), the Registrar is of opinion that the document referred to in sub-section (1), together with such information or explanation or such books and papers discloses an unsatisfactory state of affairs or does not disclose a full and fair statement of any matter to which the document purports to relate, the Registrar shall report in writing the circumstances of the case to the Central Government.":

(f) in sub-section (7), after the brackets and figure "(3)" the brackets, figure and letter "(3A)" shall be inserted.".

72. After section 234 of the principal Act, the following section Intertion of shall be inserted, namely:---

new section 334A. documents

"234A. (1) Where, upon information in his possession or Science of otherwise, the Registrar has reasonable ground to believe that\*\* by Registrar. 15 books and papers of, or relating to, any company or other body corporate, or any managing agent or secretaries and treasurers or managing director or manager of such company or other body corporate, or any associate of such managing agent or secretaries and treasurers, \*\*\* may be destroyed, mutilated, altered, 20 falsified or secreted, the Registrar may make an application to the Magistrate of the First Class or, as the case may be, the Presidency Magistrate having jurisdiction for an order for the seizure of such \*\* books and papers.

(2) After considering the application and hearing the 25 Registrar, if necessary, the Magistrate may, by order, authorise the Registrar-

> (a) to enter, with such assistance as may be required. the place or places where such \*\*\* books and papers are kept;

> (b) to search that place or those places in the manner specified in the order; and

> (c) to seize such \*\*\* books and papers as he considers necessary.

(3) The Registrar shall return the books and papers seized under this section as soon as may be, and in any case not later than the thirtieth day, after such seizure, to the company or the other body corporate or, as the case may be, to the managing agent or the secretaries and treasurers or the associate of such

30

35

5

managing agent or secretaries and treasurers or the managing director or the manager or any other person, from whose custody or power they were seized and inform the Magistrate of such return:

Provided that the Registrar may, before returning such 5 books and papers as aforesaid, take copies of, or extracts from them or deal with the same in such other manner as he considers necessary.

(4) Save as otherwise provided in this section, every search made under this section shall be carried out in accordance with the provi- IO sions of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898, relating to searches 5 of 1898. made under that Code.".

> "239. (1) If an inspector appointed under section 235 or 237 15 to investigate the affairs of a company thinks it necessary for the purposes of his investigation to investigate also the affairs of—

(a) any other body corporate which is, or has at any relevant time been the company's subsidiary or holding company, or a subsidiary of its holding company, or a hold-20 ing company of its subsidiary;

(b) any other body corporate which is, or has at any relevant time been, managed—

(i) by any person as managing agent or as secretaries and treasurers or as managing director or as manager, 25 who is, or was at the relevant time, either the managing agent or the secretaries and treasurers or the managing director or the manager of the company; or

(*ii*) by any person who is, or was at the relevant time, an associate of the managing agent or secretaries 30 and treasurers of the company; or

(*iii*) by any person of whom the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers of the company is, or was at the relevant time, an associate;

(c) any other body corporate which is, or has at any 35 relevant time been, managed by the company or whose Board of directors comprises of nominees of the company or is accustomed to act in accordance with the directions or instructions of ---

(i) the company, or

Substitution of new section for section 239.

Power of inspectors te carry investigation into affairs of related companics or of managing agent or associate, etc.

(ii) any of the directors of the company, or

(*iii*) any company any of whose directorships is held by the employees or nominees of those having the control and management of the first mentioned company; or

(d) any person who is or has at any relevant time been the company's managing agent or secretaries and treasurers or managing director or manager or an associate of such managing agent or secretaries and treasurers,

the inspector shall, subject to the provisions of sub-section (2), have power so to do and shall report on the affairs of the other body corporate or of the managing agent, secretaries and treasurers, managing director, manager or associate of the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers, so far as he thinks that the results of his investigation thereof are relevant to the investigation of the affairs of the first-mentioned company.

(2) In the case of any body corporate or person referred to in clause (b) (ii), (b) (iii), (c) or (d) of sub-section (1), the inspector shall not exercise his power of investigating into, and reporting on, its or his affairs without first having obtained the prior approval of the Central Government thereto:

Provided that before according approval under this subsection, the Central Government shall give the body corporate or person a reasonable opportunity to show cause why such approval should not be accorded.".

74. In section 240 of the principal Act,-

Amendment of section

(a) in sub-section (1), for the words "all officers" wherever 249. they occur, the words "all officers and other employees" shall be substituted:

(b) in sub-section (2), the words "and for that purpose may require any of those persons to appear before him personally" shall be inserted at the end;

(c) for sub-section (3), the following sub-sections shall be substituted, namely:

35

"(3) If any such person fails without reasonable cause or refuses-

(a) to produce to an inspector any book or paper which it is his duty under sub-section (1) to produce: er

711 (B) LS-6.

20

5

10

15

25

(b) to appear before the inspector personally when required to do so under sub-section (2) or to answer any question which is put to him by the inspector in pursuance of that sub-section;

the inspector may certify the failure or refusal under his 5 hand to the Court and make an application to the Court to hold an enquiry into the case; and the Court may, thereupon. after taking such evidence, if any, as may be produced against or on behalf of the alleged offender and hearing his explanation, if any, make an order for the production by him before 10 the inspector of all such books or papers within a date to be specified in the order or requiring such person to answer any question which may be put to him by the inspector.

(3A) Any such person who disobeys an order of the Court under sub-section (3), shall be punishable with 15 imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months. or with fine which may extend to two thousand rupees, or with both and also with a further fine which may extend to two hundred rupees for every day after the first during which the disobedience continues.". 20

(d) in sub-section (6), in clause (c), for the word "officers" occurring at both the places, the words "officers and other employees" shall be substituted.

75. After section 240 of the principal Act, the following section Insertion of shall be inserted, namely:-25

> "240A. (1) Where in the course of investigation under section 235 or section 237 or section 239 or section 247, the inspector has reasonable ground to believe that the books and papers of, or relating to, any company or other body corporate or any managing agent or secretaries and treasurers or managing director or 30 manager of such company or other body corporate, or any associate of such managing agent or secretaries and treasurers may be destroyed, mutilated, altered, falsified or secreted, the inspector may make an application to the Magistrate of the First Class or, as the case may be, the Presidency Magistrate, having juris- 35 diction for an order for the seizure of such books and papers.

(2) After considering the application and hearing the inspector, if necessary, the Magistrate may by order authorise the inspector-

(a) to enter, with such assistance, as may be required, 40 the place or places where such books and papers are kept;

new section 240A.

Seizure of documents by inspector.

(b) to search that place or those places in the manner specified in the order: and

(c) to seize books and papers he considers necessary for the purposes of his investigation.

5 (3) The inspector shall keep in his custody the books and papers seized under this section for such period not later than the conclusion of the investigation as he considers necessary and thereafter shall return the same to the company or \*\*\* the other body corporate, or, as the case may be, to the managing agent, or the secretaries and treasurers or the associate of such 10 managing agent or secretaries and treasurers or the managing director or the manager or any other person, from whose custody or power they were seized and inform the Magistrate of such return.

(4) Save as otherwise provided in this section, every search 15 made under this section shall be carried out in accordance with the provisions of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898, relating to searches made under that Code.".

76. In section 242 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), for the Amendment 20 words "all officers", the words "all officers and other employees" shall be substituted.

77. In section 245 of the principal Act,-

(a) in sub-section (1), in clause (c), for sub-clause (i), 245. the following sub-clause shall be substituted. namely:---

"(i) any company, body corporate, managing agent. secretaries and treasurers associate, managing director or manager dealt with by the report of the inspector shall be liable to reimburse the Central Government in respect of the whole of the expenses, unless and except in so far as, the Central Government otherwise directs; and":

(b) for sub-section (3), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---

"(3) The amount of expenses in respect of which any company, body corporate, managing agent, secretaries and treasurers, associate, managing director or manager is liable under sub-clause (i) of clause (c) of sub-section (1) to reimburse the Central Government shall be recoverable from that company, body corporate, managing agent secretaries and treasurers, associate, managing director or manager, as an arrear of land revenue.".

25

30

35

40

of section 342.

Amendment of section

Amendment of section 247.

Substitution of new section for section 250.

I mposition of restrictions upon shares and debentures and prohibition of transfer of shares or debentures in certain cases.

78. In section 247 of the principal Act, in sub-section (5), in the first proviso, for the words "officers and agents", the words "officers and other employees and agents" shall be substituted.

**79.** For section 250 of the principal Act, the following section shall be substituted, namely:—

5

"250. (1) Where it appears to the Central Government, whether in connection with any investigation under section 247. 248 or 249 or otherwise, that there is good reason to find out the relevant facts about any shares (whether issued or to be issued) and the Central Government is of the opinion that <sup>10</sup> such facts cannot be found out unless the restrictions specified in sub-section (2) are imposed, the Central Government may, by order, direct that the shares shall be subject to the restrictions imposed by sub-section (2) for such period not exceeding three years as may be specified in the order. <sup>15</sup>

(2) So long as any shares are directed to be subject to the restrictions imposed by this sub-section—

(a) any transfer of those shares shall be void;

(b) where those shares are to be issued, they shall not be issued; and any issue thereof or any transfer of the 20 right to be issued therewith, shall be void;

(c) no voting right shall be exercisable in respect of those shares;

(d) no further shares shall be issued in right of those shares or in pursuance of any offer made to the holder 25 thereof; and any issue of such shares or any transfer of the right to be issued therewith, shall be void; and

(e) except in a liquidation, no payment shall be made of any sums due from the company on those shares, whether in respect of dividend, capital or otherwise. 30

(3) Where a transfer of shares in a company has taken place and as a result thereof a change—

(a) in the composition of the Board of directors, or

(b) where the managing agent is an individual, of the managing agent, or 35

(c) where the managing agent is a firm or a body corporate, in the constitution of the managing agent,

of the company is likely to take place and the Central Government is of the opinion that any such change would be

prejudicial to the public interest, that Government may, by order, direct that—

(i) the voting rights in respect of those shares shall not be exercisable for such period not exceeding three years as may be specified in the order;

(ii) no resolution passed or action taken to effect a change in the composition of the Board of directors or of, or in the constitution of, the managing agent before the date of the order shall have effect unless confirmed by the Central Government.

(4) Where the Central Government has reasonable ground to believe that a transfer of shares in a company is likely to take place whereby a change—

(a) in the composition of the Board of directors, or

15

20

(b) where the managing agent is an individual, of the managing agent, or

(c) where the managing agent is a firm or a body corporate, in the constitution of the managing agent,

of the company is likely to take place and the Central Government is of the opinion that any such change would be prejudicial to the public interest, that Government may by order direct that any transfer of shares in the company during such period not exceeding three years as may be specified in the order shall be void.

(5) The Central Government may, by order at any time, vary or rescind any order made by it under sub-section (1) or sub-section (3) or sub-section (4).

(6) Where the Central Government makes an order under sub-section (1) or sub-section (3) or sub-section (4) or subsection (5) or refuses to rescind any such order, any person aggrieved thereby may apply to the Court and the Court may, if it thinks fit, by order, vacate any such order of the Central Government:

Provided that no order, whether interim or final, shall be made by the Court without giving the Central Government an opportunity of being heard.

(7) Any order of the Central Government rescinding an order under sub-section (1), or any order of the Court vacating any such order, which is expressed to be made with a view to

30

35

25

5

LO,

permitting a transfer of any shares, may continue the restrictions mentioned in clauses (d) and (e) of sub-section (2), either in whole or in part, so far as they relate to any right acquired, or offer made, before the transfer.

(8) Any order made by the Central Government under sub- 5 section (5) shall be served on the company within fourteen days of the making of the order.

(9) Any person who---

(a) exercises or purports to exercise any right to dispose of any shares or of any right to be issued with any 10 such shares when to his knowledge he is not entitled to do so by reason of any of the said restrictions applicable to the case under sub-section (2); or

(b) votes in respect of any shares whether as holder or proxy, or appoints a proxy to vote in respect thereof, 15 when to his knowledge he is not entitled to do so by reason of any of the said restrictions applicable to the case under sub-section (2) or by reason of any order made under subsection (3); or

(c) transfers any shares in contravention of any order <sup>20</sup> made under sub-section (4); or

(d) being the holder of any shares in respect of which an order under sub-section (2) or sub-section (3) has been made, fails to give notice of the fact of their being subject to any such order to any person whom he does not know 25 to be aware of that fact but whom he knows to be otherwise entitled to vote in respect of those shares, whether as holder or as proxy,

shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months or with fine which may extend to five 30 thousand rupees or with both.

(10) Where shares in any company are issued in contravention of such of the restrictions as may be applicable to the case under sub-section (2), the company, and every officer of the company who is in default, shall be punishable with fine 35 which may extend to five thousand rupees.

(11) A prosecution shall not be instituted under this section except by, or with the consent of, the Central Government.

(12) This section shall apply in relation to debentures as it applies in relation to shares.".

80. In section 252 of the principal Act.-

(a) in sub-section (1), the words ", and every private of section 252. company which is a subsidiary of a public company," shall be omitted:

5 (b) in sub-section (2), the words "which is not a subsidiary of a public company" shall be omitted.

81. In section 253 of the principal Act, the words "public or Amendment private" shall be omitted.

82. In section 255 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), for Amendment of section 10 the words "Not less than two-thirds", the words "Unless the articles 255. provide for the retirement of all directors at every annual general meeting, not less than two-thirds" shall be substituted.

83. In section 256 of the principal Act, after sub-section (5), Amendment the following Explanation shall be inserted, namely:-

'Explanation.-In this section and in section 257, the expression 15 "retiring director" means a director retiring by rotation.'.

84. In section 257 of the principal Act, after sub-section the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:-

"(1A) The company shall inform its members of the candidature of a person for the office of director or the intention of a member to propose such person as a candidate for that office. by serving individual notices on the members not less than seven days before the meeting:

Provided that it shall not be necessary for the company to serve individual notices upon the members as aforesaid if the company advertises such candidature or intention not less than seven days before the meeting in at least two newspapers circulating in the place where the registered office of the company is located, of which one is published in the English language and the other in the regional language of that place.".

85. In section 261 of the principal Act,-

Amendment of section

(a) in sub-section (1), for the words "none of the follow- 261. ing persons shall be appointed as a director of the company whose period of office is liable to determination by retirement of directors by rotation, except by a special resolution passed by the company: ----", the following words and figures shall be substituted, namely:---

"none of the following persons shall be appointed-

(i) as a director of the company whose period of office is liable to determination by retirement of directors by rotation, or

20

25

30

35

ŧ

47

Amèndment

of section 253.

of section 256.

(1), Amendment of section 257.

(ii) to fill a casual vacancy in the office of a director under section 262, or

-

. .

٢

15

20

(iii) as an additional director under section 260, or

(iv) as an alternate director under section 313,

except by a special resolution passed by the company:-";

(b) in sub-section (2), for the words "as a director of the company", the words and figures "as a director or an additional or alternate director of the company or to fill a casual vacancy in the office of a director under section 262" shall be substituted. 10

Amendment of section 263. 86. In section 263 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), in the proviso, for the words "retiring directors", the words "the director retiring by rotation" shall be substituted.

Insertion of 87. After section 263 of the principal Act, the following section rew section shall be inserted, namely:---

Sections 177, 255, 256 and 263 not to apply in relation to companies not carrying business for profit, etc.

. .

"263A. Nothing contained in sections 177, 255, 256 and 263 shall affect any provision in the articles of a company for the election by ballot of all its directors at each annual general meeting if such company does not carry on business for profit or prohibits the payment of a dividend to its members.".

Substitution 88. For section 264 of the principal Act, the following section of new section for sec-shall be substituted, namely: tion 264.

Consent of candidate for directorship to be filed with the company and consent to act as director to be filed with the Registrar. "264. (1) Every person (other than a person who has left at the office of the company a notice under section 257 signifying his candidature for the office of a director) proposed as a 25 candidate for the office of a director shall sign, and file with the company, his consent in writing to act as a director, if appointed.

(2) A person other than a director re-appointed after retirement by rotation shall not act as a director of a company unless he has within thirty days of his appointment signed, 30 and filed with the Registrar, his consent in writing to act as such director.

(3) This section shall not apply to a private company unless it is a subsidiary of a public company.".

Amendment 89. In section 267 of the principal Act, in clause (c), the words 35 267. "in India" shall be omitted.

90. For section 269 of the principal Act, the following section Substitution shall be substituted, namely:-

of new section for section 269.

"269. (1) In the case of a public company or a private Appointment company which is a subsidiary of a public company, whether or re-apsuch public company or private company is an existing com-managing or pany or not, the appointment of a person for the first time as whole-time a managing or whole-time director shall not have any effect require Gounless approved by the Central Government:

vernment approval in certain cases.

**Provided** that in the case of a public company, or a private 10 company which is a subsidiary of a public company, incorporated after the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act. 1960, the appointment of a person as a managing or whole-time director for the first time after such incorporation may be made without the approval of the Central Government 15 but such appointment shall cease to have effect after the expiry of three months from the date of such incorporation unless the appointment has been approved by that Government.

(2) Where a public company or a private company which is a subsidiary of a public company, is an existing company, the re-appointment of a person as a managing or whole-time director for the first time after the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, shall not have any effect unless approved by the Central Government.".

91. In section 271 of the principal Act, for the words "this Act", Amendment <sup>25</sup> the words, brackets and figures "the Companies (Amendment) Act, <sup>01 sec</sup><sub>271.</sub> of section 1960," and for the words "file with the company", the words "file with the Registrar" shall be substituted.

**92.** In section 274 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), in Amendment clause (d), the words "in India" shall be omitted. of section 274.

93. In section 280 of the principal Act.-30

Amendment of section

(a) in sub-section (2), after the existing proviso, the follow- $\frac{1}{380}$ . ing further proviso shall be inserted, namely:---

"Provided further that where a person has been appointed \* as a director of a public company or of a private company which is a subsidiary of a public company, before he has attained the age of sixty-five years, he shall not be required to vacate his office within a period of three years after his appointment merely on the ground that he has attained that age within that period.";

711 (B) LS-7.

5

20

35

40

(b) in sub-section (3), for the words "retiring directors". the words "a director retiring by rotation" shall be substituted.

94. In section 283 of the principal Act.-

(a) in sub-section (1),---

(i) for the words "The office of a director shall be 5 vacated if-", the words "The office of a director shall become vacant if-" shall be substituted;

(ii) for clause (e), the following clause shall be substituted, namely:---

"(e) he is convicted by a Court of any offence 10 involving moral turpitude and sentenced in respect thereof to imprisonment for not less than six months:":

(iii) in clause (f), the words "unless the Central Government has, by notification in the Official Gazette. removed the disgualification incurred by such failure" shall 15 be added at the end:

(iv) in clause (h), for the words "he, or any firm in which", the words and brackets "he (whether by himself or by any person for his benefit or on his account), or any firm in which" shall be substituted; 20

(v) the word "or" at the end of clause (i) shall be omitted and the word "; or" shall be added at the end of clause (k) and after that clause, the following clause shall be inserted. namely:---

"(l) having been appointed a director by virtue 25 of his holding any office or other employment in the company, or as a nominee of the managing agent of the company, he ceases to hold such office or other employment in the company or, as the case may be. the managing agency comes to an end.":

(b) after sub-section (2), the following sub-section shall be inserted. namely:---

"(2A) Subject to the provisions of sub-sections (1)and (2), if a person functions as a director when he knows that the office of director held by him has become 35 vacant on account of any of the disqualifications, specified in the several clauses of sub-section (1), he shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees for each day on which he so functions as a director.".

Amendment of acction 283.

e 1

**95.** For section 285 of the principal Act, the following section Substitution of new section shall be substituted, namely:—

of new section for section 285.

"285. In the case of every company, a meeting of its Board te Board of directors shall be held at least once in every three meet at least calendar months; and not more than two \* months shall every three intervene between the last day of the calendar month in which such meeting is held and the date of the next meeting:

Provided that the Central Government may, by notification in the Official Gazette, direct that the provisions of this section shall not apply in relation to any class of companies or shall apply in relation thereto subject to such exceptions, modifications or conditions as may be specified in the notification.".

96. In section 287 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), in the Amendment of section
15 proviso, after the words "who are not interested", the words "present 287.
at the meeting being not less than two" shall be inserted.

97. In section 292 of the principal Act,---

5

10

20

25

30

35

.

Amendment of section 292.

(a) in sub-section (1), for the proviso, the following provisos and *Explanations* shall be substituted, namely:—

"Provided that the Board may, by a resolution passed at a meeting, delegate to any committee of directors, the managing director, the managing agent, secretaries and treasurers, the manager or any other principal officer of the company or in the case of a branch office of the company, a principal officer of the branch office, the powers specified in clauses (c). (d) and (e) to the extent specified in subsections (2), (3) and (4) respectively, on such conditions as the Board may prescribe:

Provided further that the acceptance by a banking company in the ordinary course of its business of deposits of money from the public repayable on demand or otherwise and withdrawable by cheque, draft, order or otherwise, or the placing of moneys on deposit by a banking company with another banking company on such conditions as the Board may prescribe, shall not be deemed to be a borrowing of moneys or, as the case may be, a making of loans by a banking company within the meaning of this section.

Explanation I.—Nothing in clause (c) of sub-section (1) shall apply to borrowings by a banking company from other

banking companies or from the Reserve Bank of India, the State Bank of India or any other banks established by or under any Act.

Explanation II.—In respect of dealings between a company and its bankers, the exercise by the company of the <sup>5</sup> power specified in clause (c) of sub-section (1) shall mean the arrangement made by the company with its bankers for the borrowing of money by way of overdraft or cash credit or otherwise and not the actual day to day operation on overdraft, cash credit or other accounts by means of which <sup>10</sup> the arrangement so made is actually availed of.";

(b) in sub-section (2), after the words "the total amount", the words "outstanding at any one time" shall be inserted.

98. In section 293 of the principal Act,-

(a) in sub-section (1),-

(i) in clause (b), the words "except in the case of renewal or continuance of an advance made by a banking company to its director in the ordinary course of business" shall be added at the end;

(ii) in clause (c), for the words "the sale proceeds <sup>20</sup> resulting from the acquisition, after the commencement of this Act, without the consent of the company", the words "the amount of compensation received by the company in respect of the compulsory acquisition, after the commencement of this Act" shall be substituted; <sup>25</sup>

(iii) the existing Explanation shall be numbered as Explanation III and before the Explanation as so numbered, the following Explanations shall be inserted, namely:—

'Explanation I.—Every resolution passed by the company in general meeting in relation to the exercise of the <sup>30</sup> power referred to in clause (d) or in clause (e) shall specify the total amount up to which moneys may be borrowed by the Board of directors under clause (d) or, as the case may be, the total amount which may be contributed to charitable and other funds in any finan-<sup>35</sup> cial year under clause (e).

Explanation II.—The expression "temporary loans" in clause (d) means loans repayable on demand or within six months from the date of the loan such as short term, cash credit arrangements, the discounting of bills  $4^{\circ}$ 

Amendment of section 293.

and the issue of other short term loans of a seasonal character, but does not include loans raised for the purpose of financing expenditure of a capital nature.';

(b) after sub-section (5), the following sub-sections shall be inserted, namely:—

"(6) Every company shall disclose in its profit and loss account any amount contributed by it under clause (e) of sub-section (1) to any political party or for any political purpose to any individual or body during the financial year to which that account relates, giving particulars of the total amount contributed and the name of the party, individual or body to which or to whom such amount has been contributed.

(7) The provisions of this section in so far as they relate to contributions made by a company to any political party or for any political purpose to any individual or body shall also apply to a private company which is not a subsidiary of a public company.".

99. In section 294 of the principal A	Act,—
---------------------------------------	-------

Amendment of section 294.

20

5

10

15

(a) for sub-sections (1) and (2), the following sub-sections shall be substituted, namely:—

## "Appointment of sole selling agents.

(1) No company shall, after the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, appoint a sole selling agent for any area for a term exceeding five years at a time:

Provided that nothing in this sub-section shall be deemed to prohibit the re-appointment, or the extension of the term of office, of any sole selling agent by further periods not exceeding five years on each occasion.

(2) After the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, the Board of directors of a company shall not appoint a sole selling agent for any area except subject to the condition that the appointment shall cease to be valid if it is not approved by the company in the first general meeting held after the date on which the appointment is made.

(2A) If the company in general meeting as aforesaid disapproves the appointment, it shall cease to be valid with effect from the date of that general meeting.";

30

(b) after sub-section (3), the following sub-sections shall be inserted, namely:—

"(4) Notwithstanding anything contained in the foregoing provisions of this section—

(a) where at any time during the period beginning 5 on the 1st day of April, 1956 and ending on the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, a managing agent has ceased to hold office as such and has been appointed as the sole selling agent of the company whose managing agent he was, the sole selling 10 agency agreement whether taken in his own name or in association with, or in the name of, any other person for his benefit or on his own account, shall unless approved by the Central Government within a period of six months from such commencement, become void and 15 inoperative and the appointment as sole selling agent shall, unless it has terminated by efflux of time, come to an end on the expiry of that period;

(b) no managing agent-

(i) who has ceased to hold office as such before 20 the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, but has not been appointed before such commencement as the sole selling agent of the company whose managing agent he was, or

(ii) who has ceased to hold office as such after 25 the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960,

shall be appointed after such commencement during a period of three years from the date of such cesser as the sole selling agent of the company whose managing agent he was except 30 with the approval of the Central Government obtained in this behalf.".

(5) (a) Where a company has a sole selling agent (by whatever name called) for an area and it appears to the Central Government that there is good reason so to do, the  $_{35}$  Central Government may require the company to furnish to it such information regarding the terms and conditions of the appointment of the sole selling agent as it considers necessary for the purpose of determining whether or not such terms and conditions are prejudicial to the interests of the 4° company;

(b) if the company refuses or neglects to furnish any such information, the Central Government may appoint a suitable person to investigate and report on the terms and conditions of appointment of the sole selling agent;

(c) if after perusal of the information furnished by the company or, as the case may be, the report submitted by the person appointed under clause (b), the Central Government is of the opinion that the terms and conditions of appointment of the sole selling agent are prejudicial to the interests of the company, the Central Government may, by order, make such variations in those terms and conditions as would in its opinion make them no longer prejudicial to the interests of the company;

(d) as from such date as may be specified by the Central Government in the order aforesaid, the appointment of the sole selling agent shall be regulated by the terms and conditions as varied by the Central Government.

(6) (a) Where a company has more selling agents than one (by whatever name called) in any area or areas and it appears to the Central Government that there is good reason so to do, the Central Government may require the company to furnish to it such information regarding the terms and conditions of appointment of all the selling agents as it considers necessary for the purpose of determining whether any of those selling agents should be declared to be the sole selling agent for such area or any of such areas;

(b) if the company refuses or neglects to furnish any such information, the Central Government may appoint a suitable person to investigate and report on the terms and conditions of appointment of all the selling agents;

(c) if after perusal of the information furnished by the company or, as the case may be, the report submitted by the person appointed under clause (b), the Central Government is of the opinion that having regard to the terms and conditions of appointment of any of the selling agents and to any other relevant factors, that selling agent is to all intents and purposes the sole selling agent for such area, although there may be one or more other selling agents of the company operating in that area, the Central Government may by order declare that selling agent to be the sole selling agent of the company for that area with effect from such date as may be specified in the order and may make

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

suitable variations in such of the terms and conditions of appointment of that selling agent as are in the opinion of the Central Government prejudicial to the interests of the company;

(d) as from the date specified in clause (c) the appointment of the selling agent declared to be the sole selling agent shall be regulated by the terms and conditions as varied by the Central Government.

(7) It shall be the duty of the company-

(a) to produce to the person appointed under clause 10
(b) of sub-section (5) or clause (b) of sub-section
(6), all books and papers of, or relating to, the company which are in its custody or power; and

(b) otherwise to give to that person all assistance in connection with the investigation which the company 15 is reasonably able to give.

(8) If a company refuses or neglects-

(a) to furnish the information required by the
Central Government under clause (a) of sub-section
(5) or clause (a) of sub-section (6), or 20

(b) to produce to the person appointed under clause
(b) of sub-section (5) or clause (b) of sub-section
(6) any books and papers which are in its custody or power or otherwise to give to that person any assistance which it is reasonably able to give,

the company and every officer of the company who is in default shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five thousand rupees and with a further fine of not less than fifty rupees for every day after the first during

30

Amendment of section 295. 100. In section 295 of the principal Act,-

which such refusal or neglect continues.".

(a) in sub-section (1), for the words "shall, without obtaining the previous approval of the Central Government in that behalf,", the words "without obtaining the previous approval of the Central Government in that behalf shall, directly or indirec-35 tly," shall be substituted;

(b) for sub-section (2), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---

"(2) Sub-section (1) shall not apply to-

(a) any loan made, guarantee given or security provided-

5

10

15

(i) by a private company unless it is a subsidiary of a public company, or

(ii) by a banking company:

- (b) any loan made-
  - (i) by a holding company to its subsidiary, or

(ii) by a company which is the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers of another company to that other company:

(c) any guarantee given or security provided-

(i) by a holding company in respect of any loan made to its subsidiary, or

(ii) by a company which is the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers of another company in respect of any loan made to that other company.";

(c) in sub-section (6), after the words "or security provided", the words, letters and figures "after the 1st day of April, 1956." shall be inserted. 20

101. For section 296 of the principal Act, the following section Substitution of new secshall be substituted, namely:---

tion for section 206.

No.

"296. Section 295 shall apply to any transaction represented Application by a book debt which was from its inception in the nature of a loan or an advance.". 25 tain cases

102. In section 297 of the principal Act, for sub-sections (2), (3), Amendment (4) and (5), the following sub-sections shall be substituted, name- $\frac{\alpha r}{297}$ . ly:-

"(2) Nothing contained in clause (a) of sub-section (1) shall affect---30

> (a) the purchase of goods and materials from the company, or the sale of goods and materials to the company, by any director, relative, firm, partner or private company as aforesaid for cash at prevailing market prices; or

(b) any contract or contracts between the company on one side and any such director, relative, firm, partner or private company on the other for sale, purchase or supply of

711 (B) LS-8.

35

of section 295 to book debts in cer-

of section

a \_\_\_\_\_

any goods, materials and services in which either the company or the director, relative, firm, partner or private company, as the case may be, regularly trades or does business:

Provided that such contract or contracts do not relate to <sup>5</sup> goods and materials the value of which, or services the cost of which, exceeds five thousand rupees in the aggregate in any year comprised in the period of the contract or contracts; or

(c) in the case of a banking or insurance company any transaction in the ordinary course of business of such com-<sup>IO</sup> pany with any director, relative, firm, partner or private company as aforesaid.

(3) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-sections (1) and (2), a director, relative, firm, partner or private company as aforesaid may, in circumstances of urgent necessity, enter, without <sup>15</sup> obtaining the consent of the Board, into any contract with the company for the sale, purchase or supply of any goods, materials or services even if the value of such goods or cost of such services exceeds five thousand rupees in the aggregate in any year comprised in the period of the contract; but in such a case, the con-<sup>20</sup> sent of the Board shall be obtained at a meeting within three months of the date on which the contract was entered into.

(4) Every consent of the Board required under this section shall be accorded by a resolution passed at a meeting of the Board and not otherwise; and the consent of the Board required 25 under sub-section (1) shall not be deemed to have been given within the meaning of that sub-section unless the consent is accorded before the contract is entered into or within three months of the date on which it was entered into.

(5) If consent is not accorded to any contract under this 3° section, anything done in pursuance of the contract shall be voidable at the option of the Board.

(6) Nothing in this section shall apply to any case where the consent has been accorded to the contract before the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960.". 35

Amendment 103. In section 298 of the principal Act, the words "notwithstandof section ing anything contained in this Act," shall be omitted.

Amendment 104. In section 299 of the principal Act, after sub-section (5), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:—

"(6) Nothing in this section shall apply to any contract 4<sup>o</sup> or arrangement entered into or to be entered into between

two companies where any of the directors of the one company or two or more of them together holds or hold not more than two per cent, of the paid-up share capital in the other company.".

105. In section 300 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), in Amendment 5 clause (d), for the words, brackets and figure "consists solely in his of section being a director of such company and the holder of not more than shares of such number or value therein as is requisite to qualify him for appointment as a director thereof, he having been nominated 10 as such director by the company referred to in sub-section (1)", the following words, brackets and figures shall be substituted, namely:-

"consists solely---

(i) in his being a director of such company and the holder of not more than shares of such number or value therein as is requisite to qualify him for appointment as a director thereof, he having been nominated as such director by the company referred to in sub-section (1), or

(ii) in his being a member holding not more than two per cent. of its paid-up share capital".

20 106. In section 301 of the principal Act, for sub-sections (1), (2) Amendment and (3), the following sub-sections shall be substituted, namely:-

"(1) Every company shall keep one or more registers in which shall be entered separately particulars of all contracts or to which section 297 or section 299 applies, arrangements including the following particulars to the extent they are applicable in each case, namely:---

- (a) the date of the contract or arrangement;
- (b) the names of the parties thereto;
- (c) the principal terms and conditions thereof:

(d) in the case of a contract to which section 297 applies or in the case of a contract or arrangement to which subsection (2) of section 299 applies, the date on which it was placed before the Board;

(e) the names of the directors voting for and against the contract or arrangement and the names of those remaining neutral.

(2) Particulars of every such contract or arrangement to which section 297 or, as the case may be, sub-section (2)

30

35

25

15

of section 301.

300.

of section 200 applies, shall be entered in the relevant register aforesaid-

(a) in the case of a contract or arrangement requiring the Board's approval, within seven days (exclusive of public holidays) of the meeting of the Board at which the 5 contract or arrangement is approved.

(b) in the case of any other contract or arrangement. within seven days of the receipt at the registered office of the company of the particulars of such other contract or arrangement or within thirty days of the date of such 10 other contract or arrangement whichever is later:

and the register shall be placed before the next meeting of the Board and shall then be signed by all the directors present at the meeting.

(3) The register aforesaid shall also specify, in relation to 15 each director of the company, the names of the firms and bodies corporate of which notice has been given by him under subsection (3) of section 299.

(3A) Nothing in sub-sections (1), (2) and (3) shall apply—

(a) to any contract or arrangement for the sale, <sup>20</sup> purchase or supply of any goods, materials or services if the value of such goods and materials or the cost of such services does not exceed one thousand rupees in the aggregate in any year; or

(b) to any contract or arrangement (to which section  $^{25}$ 297 or. as the case may be, section 299 applies) by a banking company for the collection of bills in the ordinary course of its business or to any transaction referred to in clause (c) of sub-section (2) of section 297.".

Amendment 107. In section 302 of the principal Act, in sub-section (7), the 3° words "or proposed resolution" and the words "or proposed contract" shall be omitted.

Amendment of acction 303.

of section

303.

108. In section 303 of the principal Act,-

(a) in sub-section (1),—

(i) in clause (a), after the words "any former name or 35 surname in full", the words "his father's name and surname in full or where the individual is a married woman. the husband's name and surname in full", shall be inserted;

(ii) in clause (b), after the words "that nationality", the words "the father's name or where a director is a married woman, the husband's name", shall be inserted;

(*iii*) in clause (c), after the words "that nationality", the words "the father's name or where a partner is a married woman, the husband's name" shall be inserted;

(iv) in clause (1) of the Explanation for the words "whose instructions", the words "whose directions or instructions" shall be substituted;

(b) in sub-section (2),-

 (i) for the words "a return in the prescribed form", the words "a return in duplicate in the prescribed form" shall be substituted;

(*ii*) for the words "a notification in the prescribed form", the words "a notification in duplicate in the prescribed form" shall be substituted;

(iii) the following proviso shall be added at the end, 15 namely:—

> "Provided that the notification of any change in any of the particulars contained in the register shall be sent within twenty-eight days of the close of the year during which the change occurred.".

20 109. For section 305 of the principal Act, the following section shall be substituted, namely:---

Substitution of new section for section 305. Duty of directors, etc., to make disclosure.

"305. (1) Every director, managing director, managing agent, secretaries and treasurers, manager or secretary of any company, who is appointed to, or relinquishes, the office of director, managing director, managing agent, secretaries and treasurers, manager or secretary of any other body corporate, shall, within twenty days of his appointment to, or as the case may be, relinquishment of, such office, disclose to the company aforesaid the particulars relating to the office in the other body corporate which are required to be specified under sub-section (1) of section 303; and if he fails to do so, he shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees.

35

(2) The provisions of sub-section (1) shall also apply to a person deemed to be a director of the company by virtue of the *Explanation* to sub-section (1) of section 303 when such person is appointed to, or relinquishes, any of the offices in the other body corporate referred to in sub-section (1)."

10

Amendment or section 307 of the principal Act, after sub-section (10), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:—

> "(11) The provisions of this section and section 308 shall apply to managing agents, secretaries and treasurers and managers as they apply to directors.".

Amendment of section 309. (a) for sub-sections (2) and (3), the following sub-sections

attended by him:

shall be substituted, namely:—
"(2) A director may receive remuneration by way of a 10 fee for each meeting of the Board, or a committee thereof.

Provided that where immediately before the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, fees for meetings of the Board and any committee thereof, attended 15 by a director are paid on a monthly basis, such fees may continue to be paid on that basis for a period of two years after such commencement or for the remainder of the term of office of such director, whichever is less, but no longer.

(3) A director who is either in the whole-time employ-20 ment of the company or a managing director may be paid remuneration either by way of a monthly payment or at a specified percentage of the net profits of the company or partly by one way and partly by the other:

Provided that except with the approval of the Central 25 Government such remuneration shall not exceed five per cent. of the net profits for one such director, and if there is more than one such director, ten per cent. for all of them together.";

(b) in sub-section (4), the following proviso shall be added 30 at the end, namely:-

("Provided that the company in general meeting may, with the approval of the Central Government, authorise the payment of commission at a rate exceeding one per cent., or as the case may be, three per cent. of its net profits.";

(c) after sub-section (5), the following sub-sections shall 35 be inserted, namely:—

"(5A) If any director draws or receives, directly or indirectly, by way of remuneration any such sums in excess

of the limit prescribed by this section or without the prior sanction of the Central Government, where it is required, he shall refund such sums to the company and until such sum is refunded, hold it in trust for the company.

(5B) The company shall not waive the recovery of any sum refundable to it under sub-section (5A) unless permitted by the Central Government.".

112. In section 310 of the principal Act, for the words "In the Amendment of section case of a public company, or a private company which is a subsidiary 310.
10 of a public company, an amendment of any provision relating to the remuneration of any director including a managing or whole-time director, which purports to increase", the words "In the case of a public company, or a private company which is a subsidiary of a public company, or a private company which is a subsidiary of a public company, any provision relating to the remuneration of any 15 director including a managing or whole-time director. or any amendment thereof, which purports to increase" shall be substituted.

113. In section 313 of the principal Act, for sub-section (2), the Amendment following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:— 313.

"(2) An alternate director appointed under sub-section (1) shall not hold office as such for a period longer than that permissible to the original director in whose place he has been appointed and shall vacate office if and when the original director returns to the State in which meetings of the Board are ordinarily held.".

25 <u>114.</u> In section 314 of the principal Act,— (a) for sub-section (1), the following sub-sections shall be <sup>314.</sup>

substituted, namely:---

"(1) Except with the previous consent of the company accorded by a special resolution,---

(a) no director of a company shall hold any office or place of profit, and

(b) no partner or relative of such a director, no firm in which such a director or relative is a partner, no private company of which such a director is a director or member, and no director, managing agent, secretaries and treasurers, or manager of such a private company shall hold any office or place of profit carrying a total monthly remuneration of five hundred rupees or more,

except that of managing director, managing agent, secretaries and treasurers, manager, legal or technical adviser,

30

5

<u>4</u>0

banker or trustee for the holders of debentures of the company,---

(i) under the company; or

(*ii*) under any subsidiary of the company, unless the remuneration received from such subsidiary in 5 respect of such office or place of profit is paid over to the company or its holding company:

Provided that where a relative of a director or a firm in which such a relative is a partner, is appointed to an office or place of profit under the company or a subsi- 10 diary thereof without the knowledge of the director, the consent of the company may be obtained within three months from the date of the appointment; and if such consent is not obtained within that period or is refused, the relative or the firm shall be deemed to have vacated 15 his or its office or place on and from the date of expiry of that period and shall be liable to refund to the company any remuneration drawn by him or it for the period immediately preceding that date.

*Explanation*.—For the purpose of this sub-section, a  $_{20}$  special resolution according consent shall be necessary for every appointment in the first instance to an office or place of profit and to every subsequent appointment to such office or place of profit on a higher remuneration not covered by the special resolution, except where an appointment on a  $_{25}$  time scale has already been approved by the special resolution.

(1A) Nothing in sub-section (1) shall apply where a
relative of a director or a firm in which such relative is a
partner holds any office or place of profit under the company 30
or a subsidiary thereof having been appointed to such office
or place before such director becomes a director of the com-
pany.";

(b) after sub-section (2), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:---

35

"(2A) Every individual, firm, private company or other body corporate proposed to be appointed to any office or place of profit to which this section applies shall, before or at the time of such appointment, declare in writing whether he or it is or is not connected with a director of the company  $_{40}$ in any of the ways referred to in sub-section (1)."; (c) in sub-section (3),-

(i) the words "in a company" shall be omitted;

(ii) in clause (a), for the words "obtains anything", the words "obtains from the company anything" shall be substituted;

(*iii*) in clause (b), for the words "obtains anything", the words "obtains from the company anything" shall be substituted

115. Section 315 of the principal Act shall be omitted.

Omission of section 315.

116. In section 316 of the principal Act,-

Amendment of section

(a) in sub-section (1),—

(i) for the words "No company", the words "No public company and no private company which is a subsidiary of a public company," shall be substituted;

(ii) for the words "any other company", the words and brackets "any other company (including a private company which is not a subsidiary of a public company)" shall be substituted;

(b) in sub-section (2),-

(i) for the words "A company", the words "A public company or a private company which is a subsidiary of a public company" shall be substituted;

(ii) for the words "other company", the words and brackets "other company (including a private company which is not a subsidiary of a public company)" shall be substituted;

(c) in sub-section (3), for the words "two companies", the words "two companies of which each one or at least one is a public company or a private company which is a subsidiary of a public company" shall be substituted and for the words "this Act" occurring for the second time, the words, brackets and figures "the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960," shall be substituted.

711(B) LS-9.

65

12.

5

20

25

Amendment of section 317.

117. In section 317 of the principal Act. after sub-section (3), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:---

"(4) This section shall not apply to a private company unless it is a subsidiary of a public company.".

Amendment of section 318.

. .

325A.

118. In section 318 of the principal Act. in sub-section (3).

5

(a) in clause (a), the words "secretaries and treasurers" shall be omitted:

(b) in clause (c), for the brackets and letter "(k)", the brackets and letter "(1)" shall be substituted.

Insertion of 119. After section 325 of the principal Act, the following section 10 new section shall be inserted. namely:---

Subsidiary of a body corporate not to be appointed as managing agent.

"325A. After the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, no company shall appoint as its managing agent any body corporate which is a subsidiary either of itself or of any other body corporate unless immediately before such 15 commencement the company has any such subsidiary as its managing agent.".

Amendment of section 332.

120. In section 332 of the principal Act.-

(a) in sub-section (4), for clause (b), the following clause shall be substituted. namely:---20

"(b) where the managing agent of the company is itself a company, every person who is a director, the secretaries and treasurers or a manager of the latter company, and where the latter company is a public company, every member who is entitled to exercise not less than ten per cent. 25 of the total voting power therein and, where the latter company is a private company, every member thereof who is entitled to exercise not less than five per cent. of the total . . . voting power therein.";

(b) after sub-section (4), the following sub-section shall be 20 inserted, namely:---

"(4A) A director or member referred to in clause (b) of sub-section (4) shall include any person in accordance with whose directions or instructions any director or, as the case may be, any member is in the opinion of the Central Government accustomed to act.".

## 121. In section 342 of the principal Act,-

Amendment of section 342.

(a) in sub-section (1), for the words "resign his office with effect from such date as may be specified in the notice", the words, brackets and figure "resign his office as from such date as may be specified in the notice but such resignation shall not be effective until it is accepted by the company under sub-section (7)" shall be substituted;

(b) in sub-section (2), for the words, brackets and figure "but his resignation shall not be effective until it is considered as provided in sub-section (3)", the words "but the managing agent shall not be absolved from liability to the company for his acts whether of commission or omission, during the period of his managing agency" shall be substituted;

(c) for sub-sections (3), (4) and (5), the following subsections shall be substituted, namely:—

"(3) When notice of resignation is given as aforesaid, the Board shall require the managing agent within such time as may be fixed by it or such further time as may be anowed by it, to prepare, and the managing agent shall prepare, a report on the state of affairs of the company as on the date specified in the notice of resignation or such subsequent date as the Board may think suitable, not being later than that on which the managing agent ceases to act as such under sub-section (2), together with a balance-sheet made out as on that date and a profit and loss account for the period commencing from the date up to which the last such account was prepared and ending with the date on which the managing agent ceases to act as such.

(4) In case of default by the managing agent in complying with the requisition of the Board under sub-section (3), the Board shall itself cause a report on the state of affairs of the company as on the date specified in the notice of

10

15

5

20

25

30

resignation or such subsequent date as the Board may think suitable, not being later than that on which the managing agent ceases to act as such under sub-section (2), together with a balance-sheet made out as on that date and a profit and loss account for the period specified in sub-section (3), 5 to be prepared.

(5) The Board shall also obtain a report from the auditors of the company on such balance-sheet and profit and loss account in accordance with sections 227, 228 and 229 and place the managing agent's resignation together with 10 the report on the state of the company's affairs, balance-sheet, profit and loss account and auditors' report mentioned above, before the company in general meeting.

(6) In relation to any report made by the auditors as aforesaid, sections 230 to 233 shall apply in like manner as 15 they apply in relation to auditors' report referred to therein.

(7) The company in general meeting may, by a resolution, accept the resignation or take such other action with reference thereto as it may deem fit.". 20

Substitution 122. For section 343 of the principal Act, the following section tion for sec-shall be substituted, namely: tion 343-

Transfer of office by

managing agent.

"343. (1) The managing agent of a company shall not transfer his office to another person or enter into any agreement or arrangement with another person by or under which the 25 managing agent parts with, or which has the effect of transferring, his right to manage the whole or substantially the whole of the affairs of the company in favour of or to that other person unless approval of the company in general meeting and also of the Central Government has been accorded to such 30 transfer, agreement or arrangement.

(2) If the other person and the managing agent referred to in sub-section (1) contravene the provisions of that sub-section, that other person and the managing agent, and where the

ĠB

managing agent is a firm, every partner in the firm and where the managing agent is a body corporate, every director of the body corporate, shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months, or with fine which may extend to five thousand rupees, or with both.".

123. In section 346 of the principal Act,---

(a) in sub-section (1),---

(i) for the words "before such expiry", the words "before the expiry of six months aforesaid or where further time has been allowed by the Central Government, before the expiry of that time" shall be substituted:

(*ii*) in the *Explanation*, after clause (c), the following words shall be inserted as a separate paragraph, namely:—

"and where the managing agent, being a body corporate is a subsidiary of another body corporate, includes a change in the constitution of that other body corporate within the meaning of clause (a), clause (b)or clause (c).";

(b) for sub-section (2), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:—

"(2) Where the managing agent is a body corporate (whether or not it is a subsidiary of another body corporate) and its shares are for the time being dealt in, or quoted on, a recognised stock exchange, a change in the ownership of its shares, or

Where a managing agent being a body corporate is a subsidiary of another body corporate and the shares of the other body corporate are for the time being dealt in, or quoted on, a recognised stock exchange, a change in the ownership of the shares of the other body corporate,

shall not be deemed to be a change in the constitution of the managing agent within the meaning and for the pur-

10

5

15

25

30

20

Amendment of section 346.

ð

poses of sub-section (1), unless the Central Government, by notification in the Official Gazette, otherwise directs:

Provided that no such notification shall be issued in respect of any such, or such other, body corporate as aforesaid, unless the Central Government is of the opinion that 5 any change in the ownership of its shares has taken place or is likely to take place, which has affected or is likely to affect prejudicially the affairs of any company which is being managed by the managing agent.".

Amendment of section 348 of the principal Act shall be re-numbered as sub- 10 section (1) of that section and—

> (a) in that sub-section as so re-numbered, the words "Save as otherwise expressly provided in this Act," shall be omitted;

(b) after that sub-section as so re-numbered, the following sub-sections shall be inserted, namely:— 15

"(2) For the purposes of this section, any payment made by way of remuneration to any of the following persons shall be deemed to be included in the remuneration of the managing agent:—

(a) where the managing agent of the company is 20 a firm, every partner in the firm;

(b) where the managing agent of the company is a public company, every director of that public company;

(c) where the managing agent of the company is a private company, every director and member of that  $_{25}$  private company.

(3) Nothing contained in sub-section (1) or sub-section
(2) shall be deemed to affect the operation of sections 352,
354 and 356 to 360.".

## 125. In section 349 of the principal Act,-

Amendment of section 349.

. . . . .

(a) in sub-section (3),---

(i) in clause (c), for the words "profits from the sale", the words "profits of a capital nature including profits from the sale" shall be substituted;

(ii) the following proviso shall be inserted at the end, namely:---

"Provided that where the amount for which any fixed asset is sold exceeds the written down value thereof referred to in section 350, credit shall be given for so much of the excess as is not higher than the difference between the original cost of that fixed asset and its written down value.";

(b) in sub-section (4),-

(i) for clause (j), the following clause shall be substituted, namely: ---

"(j) outgoings inclusive of contributions made under clause (e) of sub-section (1) of section 293;";

(*ii*) for clause (*l*), the following clause shall be substituted, namely:—

"(l) the excess of expenditure over income, which had arisen in computing the net profits in accordance with this section in any year which begins at or after the commencement of this Act, in so far as such excess has not been deducted in any subsequent year preceding the year in respect of which the net profits have to be ascertained;";

(iii) after clause (n), the following clause shall be inserted, namely:---

"(o) debts considered bad and written off or adjusted during the year of account.";

(c) in sub-section (5), after clause (c), the following clause shall be inserted, namely:-

"(d) loss of a capital nature including loss on sale of the undertaking or any of the undertakings of the company or of any part thereof not including any excess referred to in the proviso to section 350 of the written-down value of any asset which is sold, discarded, demolished or destroyed over its sale proceeds or its scrap value.".

10

15

5

20

30

Substitution of new section 350.

Ascertainment of deprecistion.

126. For section 350 of the principal Act, the following section tion for sec- shall be substituted, namely:---

> "350. The amount of depreciation to be deducted in pursuance of clause (k) of sub-section (4) of section 349 shall be the amount calculated with reference to the written-down value of s the assets as shown by the books of the company at the end of the financial year expiring at the commencement of this Act or immediately thereafter and at the end of each subsequent financial year, at the rate specified for the assets by the Indian Income-tax Act, 1922, and the rules made thereunder for the 10 II of 1922. time being in force, as normal depreciation including therein extra and multiple shift allowances but not including therein any special. initial or other depreciation or any development rebate, whether allowed by that Act or those rules or otherwise:

Provided that if any asset is sold, discarded, demolished or 15 destroyed for any reason before depreciation of such asset has been provided for in full, the excess, if any, of the written-down value of such asset over its sale proceeds or, as the case may be, its scrap value, shall be written off in the financial year inwhich the asset is sold, discarded, demolished or destroyed.". 20

Amendment of section 356.

127. In section 356 of the principal Act. in sub-section (2). in clause (a), the words "or any other company managed by the managing agent" shall be added at the end.

Amendment of section 358.

128. In section 358 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), after the words "not connected with that of the company", the words "or 25 any other company managed by the managing agent" shall be inserted.

129. In section 359 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), the Amendment of section words "managing agents, secretaries and treasurers, manager" shall 359. be omitted. 30

Amendment of section 360.

130. In section 360 of the principal Act,-

(a) for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:----

"(1) A contract between a company and its managing agent or an associate of the managing agent,---35

(a) for the sale, purchase or supply of any property. movable or immovable, or for the supply or rendering of any service other than that of managing agent; or

(b) for the underwriting of any shares or debentured to be issued or sold by the company:

shall not be valid against the company-

(i) unless the contract has been approved by the company by a special resolution passed by it, and

(ii) where the contract is for the supply or rendering of any service other than that of managing agent, unless further the contract has been approved by the Central Government.

either before the date of the contract or at any time within three 10 months next after that date.":

(b) in sub-section (2),—

(i) in clause (a), after the words "proposed to be entered into", the words "or entered into" shall be inserted;

(ii) in clause (b), for the word "goods", the word "property" shall be substituted:

(c) for sub-section (4), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---

"(4) Nothing in clause (a) of sub-section (1) shall affect any contract or contracts for the sale, purchase or supply of any property or the supply or rendering of any services, in which either the company or the managing agent or associate, as the case may be, regularly trades or does business, provided that the value of such property or the cost of such services does not exceed five thousand rupees in the aggregate in any year comprised in the period of the contract or contracts.".

131. Section 363 of the principal Act shall be re-numbered as Amendment sub-section (1) of that section and-

of section 363.

(a) in sub-section (1) as so re-numbered, for the words "shall account to the company for such sum as if he held it in trust for the company", the words "shall refund such sum to the company and until such sum is so refunded, hold it in trust for the company" shall be substituted:

(b) after sub-section (1) as so re-numbered, the following 35 sub-section shall be inserted, namely:----

> "(2) The company shall not waive the recovery of any sum refundable to it under sub-section (1) unless permitted by the Central Government.".

711(B) LS-10.

73

مالجا بتوطف ناد

15

\$

20

25

Amendment 132. In section 369 of the principal Act,—

: 🔥

. 1

369.

(a) in sub-section (1), for the words "shall make", the words "shall, directly or indirectly, make" shall be substituted;

(b) for sub-section (2), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely: —

"(2) Nothing contained in sub-section (1) or section 295 shall apply to—

(a) any credit given by the company to its managing agent for the purpose of facilitating the company's business and held by such agent in his own name in <sub>IO</sub> one or more current accounts, subject to limits previously approved by the directors of company and on no account exceeding twenty thousand rupees in the aggregate; or

(b) any loan made by a holding company to its  $_{15}$  subsidiary.

*Explanation.*—Credit referred to in clause (a) of subsection (2) is confined to any cash advance given by way of a permanent advance or imprest for facilitating the carrying on of the company's business, transactions on such  $_{20}$ advance or imprest account being settled as far as possible on a monthly basis.".

133. In section 370 of the principal Act,-

(a) after sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:— 25

"(1A) Where the lending company—

(a) makes any loan to, or

(b) gives any guarantee, or provides any security, in connection with a loan made by any other person to, or to any other person by,

a firm in which a partner is a body corporate under the same management as the lending company—

(i) the loan shall be deemed to have been made to, or

(ii) the guarantee or the security shall be deemed 35 to have been given or provided in connection with the

Amendment of section 370.

. 1.1

5

6 . 0.

loan made by such other person to, or to such other person by,

a body corporate under the same management.";

(b) the Explanation to sub-section (1) shall be numbered and lettered as sub-section (1B) and in sub-section (1B) as so numbered and lettered,—

(i) for the words "For the purposes of this sub-section", the words, brackets, figures and letter "For the purposes of sub-section (1) and (1A)" shall be substituted;

(*ii*) at the end of clause (*ii*), the word "or" shall be added;

(iii) after clause (ii), the following clauses shall be inserted, namely:---

"(*iii*) if not less than one-third of the total voting power with respect to any matter relating to each of the two bodies corporate is exercised or controlled by the same individual or body corporate; or

(iv) if the holding company of the one body corporate is under the same management as the other body corporate within the meaning of clause (i), clause (ii), or clause (iii), or

(v) if one or more directors of the one body corporate while holding, whether by themselves or together with their relatives, the majority of shares in that body corporate also hold, whether by themselves or together with their relatives, the majority of shares in the other body corporate.";

(c) after sub-section (1B) as so numbered and lettered, the following sub-sections shall be inserted, namely:---

"(1C) Every lending company shall keep a register showing—

(a) the names of all bodies corporate under the same management as the lending company and the name of every firm in which a partner is a body corporate under the same management as the lending company and

(b) the following particulars in respect of every loan made, guarantee given or security provided by the lending company under this section:---

20

25

15

30

35

5

4 🕊 í



(i) the name of the body corporate to which the loan has been made whether such loan has been made before or after that body corporate came under the same management as the lending company,

(ii) the amount of the loan,

(iii) the date on which the loan has been made,

(iv) the date no which the guarantee has been given or security has been provided in connection with a loan made by any other person to, or  $I_{0}$ to any other person by, any body corporate or firm referred to in sub-section (1) or (1A) together with the name of the person, body corporate or firm.

(1D) Particulars of every such loan, guarantee or security shall be entered in the register aforesaid within three <sup>15</sup> days of the making of such loan, or the giving of such guarantee or the provision of such security or in the case of any loan made, guarantee given or security provided before the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, within three months from such commencement <sub>20</sub> or such further time not exceeding six months as the company may by special resolution allow.

(1E) If default is made in complying with the provisions of sub-section (1C) or (1D), the company and every officer of the company who is in default, shall be punishable 25 with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees and also with a further fine which may extend to fifty rupees for every day after the first during which the default continues.

(1F) The register aforesaid shall be kept at the registered office of the lending company and—

30

٢

(a) shall be open to inspection at such office, and

(b) extracts may be taken therefrom or copies thereof may be required,

by any member of the company to the same extent and in the same manner and on the payment of the same fees 35 as in the case of the register of members of the company; and the provisions of section 163 shall apply accordingly."; (d) for sub-section (2), the following sub-sections shall be substituted, namely:—

"(2) Nothing contained in the foregoing provisions of this section shall apply to-

5

10

(a) any loan made-

(i) by a holding company to its subsidiary, or

(*ii*) by the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers to any company under his or their management, or

(iii) by a banking company in the ordinary course of its business;

(b) any guarantee given or any security provided-

(i) by a holding company in respect of any loan made to its subsidiary, or

(ii) by the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers in respect of any loan made to any company under his or their management; or

(*iii*) by a banking company in the ordinary course of its business.

(3) Nothing in this section shall apply to a book debt unless the transaction represented by the book debt was from its inception in the nature of a loan or an advance.

(4) For the purposes of this section, any person in accordance with whose directions or instructions the Board of directors of a company is accustomed to act shall be deemed to be a director of the company.".

134. After section 370 of the principal Act, the following section Insertion of new section 370A.

30 "370A. Where any loan made, guarantee given or security provided by a company and outstanding at the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960 would not have been made, given or provided if section 369 or section 370 had been in force at the time when such loan was made, guarantee given to r security provided, the company shall, within six months from the commencement of that Act, enforce the repayment of the

Provisions as to certain loans which could not have been made if sections 369 and 370 were in force.

**100** 

25

loan made or, as the case may be, revoke the guarantee given or the security provided, notwithstanding any agreement to the contrary:

Provided that the period of six months within which the company is required by this section to enforce the repayment of 5 the loan or to revoke the guarantee or security, may be extended— $\frac{1}{2}$ 

(a) in the case of a loan, guarantee or security under section 369, by the Central Government on an application made to it by the company for that purpose; IO

(b) in the case of a loan, guarantee or security under section 370, by a special resolution of the company.".

135. In section 371 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), for the words and figures "section 369 or 370", the words, brackets, figures and letters "section 369 or section 370 [excluding sub-section  $_{15}$  (1C) or (1D)], or section 370A" shall be substituted.

136. For section 372 of the principal Act, the following section shall be substituted, namely:---

"372. (1) A company (hereafter in this section and section 373 referred to as the investing company) shall not be  $^{20}$  entitled to subscribe for, or purchase, the shares\*\* of any other body corporate except to the extent and except in accordance with the restrictions and conditions specified in this section.

(2) The Board of directors of the investing company shall be entitled to invest in any shares\*\* of any other body corporate 25 up to ten per cent. of the subscribed capital of such other body corporate:

Provided that the aggregate of the investments so made by the Board in all other bodies corporate shall not exceed thirty per cent. of the subscribed capital of the investing company: 30

Provided further that the aggregate of the investments made in all other bodies corporate in the same group shall not exceed twenty per cent of the subscribed capital of the investing company. (7.1,0.0.4)

(3) In computing at any time the percentages specified in sub-section (2) and the provisos thereto, the aggregate of the 35 investments made by the investing company in other body or bodies corporate [whether before or after the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960] up to that time shall be taken into account.

Amendment of section 371.

Substitution of new section for section 372.

Purchase by company of shares, etc., of other companies. (4) The investing company shall not make any investment in the shares\*\* of any other body corporate in excess of the percentages specified in sub-section (2) and the provisos thereto, unless the investment is sanctioned by a resolution of the investing company in general meeting and unless further it is approved by the Central Government:

Provided that the investing company may at any time invest up to any amount in shares offered to it under clause (a) of subsection (1) of section 81 (hereafter in this section referred to as rights shares) irrespective of the aforesaid percentages:

Provided further that when at any time the investing company intends to make any investments in shares other than rights shares, then, in computing at that time any of the aforesaid percentages, all existing investments, if any, made in rights shares up to that time shall be included in the aggregate of the investments of the company.

(5) No investment shall be made by the Board of directors of an investing company in pursuance of sub-section (2), unless it is sanctioned by a resolution passed at a meeting of the Board with the consent of all the directors present at the meeting, except those not entitled to vote thereon, and unless further notice of the resolution to be moved at the meeting has been given to every director in the manner specified in section 286.

(6) Every investing company shall keep a register of all
 investments made by it in shares \* \* of any other
 body or bodies corporate (whether in the same group or not and whether in the case of a body corporate in the same group, such investments were made before or after that body came within the same group as the investing company), showing in respect of each investment the following particulars:—

(a) the name of the body corporate in which the investment has been made;

(b) the date on which the investment has been made:

(c) where the body corporate is in the same group as the investing company, the date on which the body corporate came in the same group;

(d) the names of all bodies corporate in the same group as the investing company.

20

15

5

30

(7) Particulars of every investment to which sub-section (6) applies shall be entered in the register aforesaid within seven days of the making thereof or in the case of investments made before the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, within six months from such commencement, 5 or such further time as the Central Government may grant on an application by the company in that behalf.

(8) If default is made in complying with the provisions of sub-section (6) or (7), the company, and every officer of the company who is in default, shall be punishable with fine which IO may extend to five hundred rupees and also with a further fine which may extend to fifty rupees for every day after the first during which the default continues.

(9) The register aforesaid shall be kept at the registered office of the investing company and—

(a) shall be open to inspection at such office, and

(b) extracts may be taken therefrom and copies thereof may be required.

15

by any member of the investing company to the same extent, in the same manner, and on the payment of the same fees as in  $_{20}$ the case of the register of members of the investing company; and the provisions of section 163 shall apply accordingly.

(10) Every investing company shall annex in each balancesheet prepared by it after the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, a statement showing the bodies corporate (indicating separately the bodies corporate in the same group) in the shares \* \* of which investments have been made by it (including all investments, whether existing or not, made subsequent to the date as at which the previous balance-sheet was made out) and the nature and extent of the 30 investments so made in each body corporate:

Provided that in the case of a company whose principal business is the acquisition of shares, stock, debentures or other securities (hereafter in this section referred to as an investment company), it shall be sufficient if the statement shows only the 35 investments existing on the date as at which the balance-sheet to which the statement is annexed has been made out.

(11) For the purposes of this section, a body corporate shall be deemed to be in the same group as the investing company---

(a) if the body corporate is the managing agent of the 40 investing company; or

(b) if the body corporate and the investing company should, in virtue of sub-section (1B) of section 370, be deemed to be under the same management.

5

(12) References in the foregoing provisions of this section to shares shall in the case of investments made by the investing company in other bodies corporate in the same group, be deemed to include references to debentures also.

(13) The provisions of this section except the first proviso to sub-section (2) shall also apply to an investment company.

10

15

20

25

(14) This section shall not apply—

(a) to any banking or insurance company;

(b) to a private company, unless it is a subsidiary of a public company;

(c) to any company established with the object of financing, whether by way of making loans or advances to, or subscribing to the capital of, private industrial enterprises in India, in any case where the Central Government has made or agreed to make to the company a special advance for the purpose or has guaranteed or agreed to guarantee the payment of moneys boo owed by the company from any institution outside India,

(d) to investments by a holding company in its subsidiary; or

(e) to investments by a managing agent or secretaries and treasurers in a company managed by him or them.".

137. In section 373 of the principal Act,-

Amendments of section. 373.

(a) after the words "made by a company", the words "in 373. any other body corporate in the same group" shall be inserted; and

30

(b) for the words "the proviso to that sub-section", the words "the second proviso to that sub-section" shall be sub-stituted

138. In section 374 of the principal Act, for the words and figures "section 372 or 373", the words, figures and brackets "sec35 tion 372 [excluding sub-sections (6) and (7)] or section 373" shall be substituted.

711 (B) LS-11.

Amendment of section 377. 139. In section 377 of the principal Act,-

(a) after sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:-

"(1A) Nothing contained in sub-section (1), or in any other provision of this Act, or in the memorandum or 5 articles of a company, or in any agreement executed by it, or in any resolution passed by the company in general meeting, or by its Board of directors shall be deemed to authorise the managing agent to appoint the chairman of the Board of directors."; 10

(b) after sub-section (5), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:-

"(6) Where from any cause the total number of directors is so reduced as not to exceed five, but the number of directors appointed by the managing agent exceeds, after 15 such reduction, the number authorised under sub-section (1), the managing agent shall determine which of them shall continue to hold office and intimate the choice made by him to the company before the expiry of one month from the happening of the cause and only the director so 20 chosen shall continue to hold office as director with effect from such expiry:

Provided that if no choice is made by the managing agent as aforesaid, all the directors appointed by him shall with effect from such expiry, be deemed to have vacated 25 their offices.".

Amendment 140. In section 378 of the principal Act, the proviso shall be of section omitted.

Amendment of section 379. 141. In section 379 of the principal Act, after the words "subject as aforesaid", the words "and unless the context otherwise requires" 30 shall be inserted.

Amendment 142. In section 381 of the principal Act, the word "annual" of section occurring at both the places shall be omitted.

Amendment of section <sup>384.</sup> 143. In section 384 of the principal Act, for the words "No public company, and no private company which is a subsidiary of a 35 public company,", the words "No company" shall be substituted.

Amendment 144. In section 386 of the principal Act, sub-section (5) shall be of section omitted.

145. In section 387 of the principal Act,-

(a) the words "not exceeding five," shall be omitted:

(b) the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:---

5

"Provided that except with the approval of the Central Government such remuneration shall not exceed in the aggregate five per cent. of the net profits.".

146. In section 388 of the principal Act, for the figures "310", the Amendment of section figures "269, 310" shall be substituted. 388.

147. After section 388 of the principal Act, the following section Insertion of 10 new section shall be inserted, namely:----388A.

"388A. Sections 386, 387 and 388 shall not apply to a private Sections 386 to 388 not company unless it is a subsidiary of a public company.". to apply to

certain private companies.

148. In section 391 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), after Amendment 15 the words "where proxies are allowed", the words and figures of section 391. "under the rules made under section 643" shall be inserted.

149. In section 396 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), for Amendment of section the words "national interest", the words "public interest" shall be 366. substituted.

150. In section 398 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), Amendment 20 in clause (b), after the words "secretaries and treasurers", where of section 398. they occur for the first time, the words "or manager" shall be inserted.

151. In section 407 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), in Amendment 25 clause (b), for the words "the order terminating the agreement", of section the words "the order terminating or setting aside the agreement" shall be substituted.

152. In section 408 of the principal Act,-Amendment ofsection (a) in sub-section (1),-

(i) the words "being members of the company," shall

408.

30

be omitted;

(ii) for the words "two hundred", the words "one hundred" shall be substituted:

(b) in sub-section (2), for the words "two members of the company", the words "two persons" shall be substituted;

(c) after sub-section (3), the following sub-sections shall be inserted. namely:---

"(4) A person appointed under sub-section (1) to hold office as a director or a person directed under sub-section (2) to hold office as an additional director, shall not be required to hold any qualification shares nor his period of office shall be liable to determination by retirement of directors by rotation; but any such director or additional director may be removed by the Central Government from his office at any time and another person may be appointed to by that Government in his place to hold office as a director or, as the case may be, an additional director.

(5) No change in the Board of directors made after a person is appointed or directed to hold office as a director or additional director under this section shall, so long as 15 such director or additional director holds office, have effect unless confirmed by the Central Government.".

153. In section 409 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1),-

(a) for the words "or the secretaries and treasurers", the words "the secretaries and treasurers or the manager" shall be 20 substituted:

(b) for the words "no resolution passed or action taken", the words "no resolution passed or that may be passed or no action taken or that may be taken" shall be substituted.

Amendment 154. In section 411 of the principal Act, the following provisos 25 shall be added at the end, namely:---

> "Provided that it shall not be necessary for the Central Government to refer to the Advisory Commission any application under section 408 or section 409 which in the opinion of that Government is of a frivolous nature or deals with matters 30 of minor importance:

> Provided further that the Central Government may, in the case of any application under section 408 or section 409 which has been, or may be, referred to the Advisory Commission, make such interim order as it thinks fit but it shall not make 35 any final order on such application except after considering the advice tendered by the Advisory Commission.".

Amendment section ef -417.

155. In section 417 of the principal Act,-.

(a) for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---40

"(1) Any money or security deposited with a company 1 by any of its employee in pursuance of his contract of

Amendment section of 409

of section

411.

service with the company shall be kept or deposited by the company within fifteen days from the date of deposit—

(a) in a post office savings bank account, or

(b) in a special account to be opened by the company for the purpose in the State Bank of India or in a Scheduled Bank, or

(c) where the company itself is a Scheduled Bank, in a special account to be opened by the Company for the purpose either in itself or in the State Bank of India or in any other Scheduled Bank.";

(b) in sub-section (3), the words "with a Scheduled Bank" shall be omitted.

156. In section 418 of the principal Act,-

Amendment of section

(a) for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be  $_{418.}^{130}$  substituted namely:—

"(1) Where a provident fund has been constituted by a company for its employees or any class of its employees, all moneys contributed to such fund (whether by the company or by the employees) or received or accruing by way of interest or otherwise to such fund shall, within fifteen days from the date of contribution, receipt or accrual, as the case may be, either—

(a) be deposited—

(i) in a post office savings bank account, or

(*ii*) in a special account to be opened by the company for the purpose in the State Bank of india or in a Scheduled Bank, or

(*iii*) where the company itself is a Scheduled Bank, in a special account to be opened by the company for the purpose either in itself or in the State Bank of India or in any other Scheduled Bank; or

(b) be invested in the securities mentioned or referred to in clauses (a) to (e) of section 20 of the Indian Trusts Act, 1882.";

(b) in sub-section (4),-

(i) the word "separate" shall be omitted;

(*ii*) after the words "to the trustees", the words "within fifteen days from the date of collection" shall be inserted.

85

2 of 1882. 35

.

5

10

15

20

25

Amendment of section 420.	157. In section 420 of the principal Act, for the words "fine which may extend to five hundred rupees", the words "imprison- ment for a term which may extend to six months, or with fine which may extend to one thousand rupees" shall be substituted.
Amendment of section 426.	158. In section 426 of the principal Act, in sub-section $(1)$ , in 5 clause $(g)$ , for the words "any other creditor who is not a past or present member of the company", the words "any creditor claiming otherwise than in the character of a past or present member of the company" shall be substituted.
Amendment of section 439.	159. In section 439 of the principal Act, in sub-section $(5)$ ,— 10
	<ul> <li>(a) for the words, brackets and letters "clauses (b), (c) and (e)", the words, brackets and letters "clauses (b), (c), (d), (e) and (f)" shall be substituted;</li> </ul>
'n	(b) in the first proviso, for the words "an inspector", the words, figures and letter "a special auditor appointed under sec- 15 tion 233A or an inspector" shall be substituted.
Amendment of section 444.	160. In section 444 of the principal Act, for the words "Official Liquidator", the words "Official Liquidator and the Registrar" shall be substituted.
Amendment of section 445.	161. In section 445 of the principal Act, after sub-section (1), the <sup>20</sup> following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:—
	"(1A) In computing the period of one month from the date of the making of a winding up order under sub-section (1), the time requisite for obtaining a certified copy of the order shall be excluded.". $25$
Amendment	162. In section 446 of the principal Act,—
of section 446.	(a) for sub-section (2), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:—
	"(2) The Court which is winding up the company shall, notwithstanding anything contained in any other law for 30 the time being in force, have jurisdiction to entertain, or dispose of—
	(a) any suit or proceeding by or against the com-
	(b) any claim made by or against the company (including claims by or against any of its branches in India);

(c) any application made under section 391 by or in respect of the company;

(d) any question of priorities or any other question whatsoever, whether of law or fact, which may relate to or arise in course of the winding up of the company;

whether such suit or proceeding has been instituted or is instituted, or such claim or question has arisen or arises or such application has been made or is made before or after the order for the winding up of the company, or before or after the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960.";

(b) after sub-section (3), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:---

"(4) Nothing in sub-section (1) or sub-section (3) shall apply to any proceeding pending in appeal before the Supreme Court or a High Court.".

**163**. In section 448 of the principal Act,—

default continues, or with both.

Amendment of section 448.

(a) after sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:—

"(1A) The Central Government may appoint one or more Deputy or Assistant Official Liquidators to assist the Official Liquidator in the discharge of his functions.";

(b) in sub-section (2), the words, brackets, figure and letter "and as including references to Deputy or Assistant Official Liquidators appointed under sub-section (1A)" shall be inserted at the end.

164. In section 454 of the principal Act,—	Amendment of section
(a) for sub-section (5), the following sub-sections shall be	
substituted, namely:—	
"(5) If any person, without reasonable excuse, makes	
default in complying with any of the requirements of this	. <b>.</b>

30

35

(5A) The Court by which the winding up order is made or the provisional liquidator is appointed, may take cognizance of an offence under sub-section (5) upon receiving a

section, he shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to two years, or with fine which may extend to one hundred rupees for every day during which the

15

20

25

5

complaint of facts constituting such an offence and trying the offence itself in accordance with the procedure laid down in the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898, for the trial of summons cases by magistrates.".

5 of 1898.

Amendment of section 455. 165. In section 455 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), after 5 the words "six months from the date of the order", the words "or such extended period as may be allowed by the Court" shall be inserted.

Amendment of section 456. 166. In section 456 of the principal Act,-

(a) in sub-section (1), after the words "the liquidator", the 10 words "or the provisional liquidator, as the case may be," shall be inserted;

(b) after sub-section (1), the following sub-sections shall be inserted, namely:—

"(1A) For the purpose oť enabling the 15 liquidator or the provisional liquidator, as the case may be, to take into his custody or under his control, any property, effects or actionable claims to which the company is or appears to be entitled, the liquidator or the provisional liquidator, as the case may be, may by writing 20 request the Chief Presidency Magistrate or the District Magistrate within whose jurisdiction such property, effects or actionable claims or any books of account or other documents of the company may be found, to take possession thereof, and the Chief Presidency Magistrate or the District 25 Magistrate may thereupon after such notice as he may think fit to give to any party, take possession of such property. effects, actionable claims, books of account or other documents and deliver possession thereof to the liquidator or the provisional liquidator. 30

(1B) For the purpose of securing compliance with the provisions of sub-section (1A), the Chief Presidency Magistrate or the District Magistrate may take or cause to be taken such steps and use or cause to be used such force as may in his opinion be necessary.".

Amendment of section 457. 167. In section 457 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), after clause (i), the following clause shall be inserted, namely:---

"(ia) to inspect the records and returns of the company on the files of the Registrar without payment of any fee;".

168. After section 458 of the principal Act, the following section Insertion of new section shall be inserted, namely:----458A.

"458A. Notwithstanding anything in the Indian Limitation Exclusion of certain Act, 1908 or in any other law for the time being in force. time in computing periods of limitation. in computing the period of limitation prescribed for any suit or application in the name and on behalf of a company which is being wound up by the Court, the period from the date of commencement of the winding up of the company to the date on which the winding up order is made (both inclusive) and a period of one year immediately following the date of the winding up order shall be excluded "

10

15

5

169. In section 463 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1),---Amendment of

section

(a) after the words "imposed on him by this Act", the words  $\frac{46}{463}$ . and figures "or by the Indian Companies Act. 1913" shall be inserted:

(b) the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:----

"Provided that where the winding up of a company has commenced before the commencement of this Act, the Court may, on the application of the Central Government, appoint in place of such liquidator the Official Liquidator as the liquidator in such winding up.".

170. In section 464 of the principal Act.--

Amendment of section

(a) for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be 464. substituted, namely:---

"(1) (a) The Court may, at the time of making an order for the winding up of a company or at any time thereafter, direct that there shall be appointed a committee of inspection to act with the liquidator.

(b) Where a direction is given by the Court as aforesaid, the liquidator shall, within two months from the date of such direction, convene a meeting of the creditors of the company (as ascertained from its books and documents) for the purpose of determining who are to be members of the committee.":

(b) for sub-section (2), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---

"(2) The liquidator shall, within fourteen days from the date of the creditors' meeting or such further time as the 711 (B) LS-12. ...

20

30

25

Court in its discretion may grant for the purpose, convene a meeting of the contributories to consider the decision of the creditors' meeting with respect to the membership of the committee; and it shall be open to the meeting of the contributories to accept the decision of the creditors' meeting 5 with or without modifications or to reject it.":

(c) in sub-section (3), the words "whether there shall be a committee of inspection: and, if so," shall be omitted.

Amendment 171. In section 465 of the principal Act, in sub-section (3), the of section words "and, failing such appointment, at least once a month," shall 10 be omitted.

Amendment of section 468.

465.

172. In section 468 of the principal Act.-

(a) for the words "or officer", the words "officer or other employee" shall be substituted;

(b) for the words "in his hands", the words "in his custody  $\tau_5$ or under his control" shall be substituted.

173. In section 477 of the principal Act, after sub-section (4), Amendment of section the following sub-sections shall be inserted, namely:---477.

> "(5) If, on his examination, any officer or person so summoned admits that he is indebted to the company, the Court may 20 order him to pay to the provisional liquidator or, as the case may be, the liquidator at such time and in such manner as to the Court may seem just, the amount in which he is indebted, or any part thereof, either in full discharge of the whole amount or not. as the Court thinks fit, with or without costs of the exa-25 mination.

> (6) If, on his examination, any such officer or person admits that he has in his possession any property belonging to the company, the Court may order him to deliver to the provisional liquidator or, as the case may be, the liquidator, that 30 property or any part thereof, at such time, in such manner and on such terms as to the Court may seem just.

(7) Orders made under sub-sections (5) and (6) shall be executed in the same manner as decrees for the payment of money or for the delivery of property under the Code of Civil 35 Procedure, 1908, respectively. 5 of 1908.

(8) Any person making any payment or delivery in pursuance of an order made under sub-section (5) or sub-section (6) shall by such payment or delivery be, unless otherwise

directed by such order, discharged from all liability whatsoever in respect of such debt or property.".

174. In section 481 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), after Amendment of section the words "completely wound up", the words "or when the Court 481.
5 is of the opinion that the liquidator cannot proceed with the winding up of a company for want of funds and assets or for any other reason whatsoever and it is just and reasonable in the circumstances of the case that an order of dissolution of the company should be made" shall be inserted.

10 175. In section 488 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), for Amendment of section clause (b), the following clause shall be substituted, namely:— 488.

"(b) it is accompanied by a copy of the report of the auditors of the company (prepared, as far as circumstances admit, in accordance with the provisions of this Act) on the profit and loss account of the company for the period commencing from the date up to which the last such account was prepared and ending with the latest practicable date immediately before the making of the declaration and the balance-sheet of the company made out as on the last-mentioned date and also embodies a statement of the company's assets and liabilities as at that date"

176. In section 512 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), in clause Amendment (a), for the words, brackets and figures "clauses (i) to (iv) of sub-512. section (2)", the words, brackets, letters and figure "clauses (a) to (d) of sub-section (1)" shall be substituted.

25	177. I	n sect	ion 515 of the	e prii	ncipa	l Ac	:t,			Amendme of section	
	(	(a) in	sub-section	(1),	for	the	words	"the	Court	515. may	

appoint a liquidator", the words "the Court may appoint the Official Liquidator or any other person as a liquidator" shall be substituted;

(b) for sub-section (2), the following sub-sections shall be substituted, namely:---

"(2) The Court may, on cause shown, remove a liquidator and appoint the Official Liquidator or any other person as a liquidator in place of the removed liquidator.

(3) The Court may also appoint or remove a liquidator on the application made by the Registrar in this behalf.

(4) If the Official Liquidator is appointed as liquidator under the proviso to sub-section (2) of section 502 or under

20

30

35

15

•

this section, the remuneration to be paid to him shall be fixed by the Court and shall be credited to the Central Government.".

Omission of 178. Section 521 of the principal Act shall be omitted. section 521

Amendment **179.** In section 524 of the principal Act. after sub-section (2), the 5of section following sub-sections shall be inserted. namely:----

> "(3) The Court may appoint the Official Liquidator as a liquidator under sub-section (1) or to fill any vacancy occasioned under sub-section (2).

(4) The Court may also appoint or remove a liquidator on IO an application made by the Registrar in this behalf.".

180. In section 529 of the principal Act. in sub-section (2), the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:-

"Provided that if a secured creditor instead of relinquishing his security and proving for his debt proceeds to realise his 15 security, he shall be liable to pay the expenses incurred by the liquidator (including a provisional liquidator, if any) for the preservation of the security before its realization by the secured A 24 March 10 - 10 - 10 creditor.".

181. In section 530 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), in 20 clause (b), after the words "relevant date", the following words, letters and figures shall be inserted, namely:-

> "and any compensation payable to any workman under any of the provisions of Chapter VA of the Industrial Disputes Act, 25 14 of 1947. 1947."

182. After section 531 of the principal Act, the following section . Insertion of new section shall be inserted, namely:-531A.

> "531A. Any transfer of property, movable or immovable, or any delivery of goods, made by a company, not being a transfer or delivery made in the ordinary course of its business or in 3° favour of a purchaser or encumbrancer in good faith and for valuable consideration, if made within a period of one year before the presentation of a petition for winding up by or subject to the supervision of the Court or the passing of a resolution for voluntary winding up of the company, shall be void against the 35 liquidator.".

Amendment 183. In section 535 of the principal Act, in sub-section (4), for the of section words "the company shall be deemed to have adopted it", the words "he shall be deemed to have adopted it" shall be substituted.

Amendment of section 530.

Avoidance of voluntary

transfer.

535.

Amendment

of section 529.

524.

184. In section 537 of the principal Act, for sub-section (2), the Amendment of section following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:— 537.

"(2) Nothing in this section applies to any proceedings for the recovery of any tax or impost or any dues payable to the Government.".

62

"(1A) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1), in the case of a winding up by the Court, the Supreme Court may make rules under section 643 providing that the liquidator may, under such circumstances, if any, and subject to such conditions, restrictions and limitations, if any, as may be specified in the rules, exercise any of the powers referred to in subclause (ii) or sub-clause (iii) of sub-section (1) without the sanction of the Court.".

186. In section 549 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), for Amendment of section the words "the Central Government", the words "the Supreme 549. Court" shall be substituted.

> Amendment of section

15

10

5

187. In section 551 of the principal Act,— (a) for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be 551. substituted, namely:—

"(1) If the winding up of a company is not concluded within one year after its commencement, the liquidator shall, unless he is exempted from so doing either wholly or in part by the Central Government, within two months of the expiry of such year and thereafter until the winding up is concluded, at intervals of not more than one year or at such shorter intervals, if any, as may be prescribed, file a statement in the prescribed form and containing the prescribed particulars duly audited, by a person qualified to act as auditor of the company, with respect to the proceedings in, and position of, the liquidation,—

(a) in the case of a winding up by or subject to the supervision of the Court, in Court; and

(b) in the case of a voluntary winding up, with the Registrar:

Provided that no such audit as is referred to in this subsection shall be necessary where the provisions of section 462 apply.";

25

20

30

(b) in sub-section (5), the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:---

"Provided that if the liquidator makes wilful default in causing the statement referred to in sub-section (1) to be audited by a person qualified to act as auditor of the 5 company, the liquidator shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months, or with fine which may extend to one thousand rupees, or with both.".

Amendmen. of section 555.

#### 188. In section 555 of the principal Act,---

10

(a) for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---

"(1) Where any company is being wound up, if the liquidator has in his hands or under his control any money representing— 15

(a) dividends payable to any creditor which had remained unpaid for six months after the date on which they were declared, or

(b) assets refundable to any contributory which have remained undistributed for six months after the 20 date on which they became refundable.

the liquidator shall forthwith pay the said money into the public account of India in the Reserve Bank of India in a separate account to be known as the Company's Liquidation Account."; 25

(b) in sub-section (2), for the word "unclaimed", the word "unpaid" shall be substituted;

(c) in sub-section (9), in clause (a), the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:---

"Provided that the Central Government may in any  $_{3Q}$  proper case remit either in part or in whole the amount of interest which the liquidator is required to pay under this clause.".

189. In section 582 of the principal Act, in clause (b), the words "at the time when the petition for winding up the partnership, asso-35 ciation or company, as the case may be, is presented before the Court" shall be inserted at the end.

Amendment of section 595.

Amendment

of section

582.

190. In section 595 of the principal Act, in clause (c), the word ", advertisements" shall be omitted.

191. In section 610 of the principal Act,-

Amendment of section 610

(a) in sub-section (1),—

(i) for the words "Any person may", the words "Save as otherwise provided elsewhere in this Act. any person may" shall be substituted :

då

(ii) in clause (b), for the words "on payment of a fee of five rupees in the case of a certificate of incorporation, and of six annas for every one hundred words or fractional part thereof", the words "on payment in advance of a fee of five rupees in the case of a certificate of incorporation, and of one rupee for every one hundred words or fractional part thereof" shall be substituted:

(b) sub-section (4) shall be omitted.

192. Section 611 of the principal Act shall be re-numbered as Amendment <sup>15</sup> sub-section (1) of that section and—

of section 611.

(a) in that sub-section as so re-numbered. after the proviso, the following further proviso shall be inserted, namely:---

"Provided further that in the case of resolutions to which section 192 applies, not more than one \* fee shall be required for the filing of more resolutions than one passed in the same meeting if such resolutions are filed with the Registrar at the same time.";

(b) after that sub-section as so re-numbered, the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:---

"(2) Any document required or authorised by this Act to be filed or registered, or any fact required or authorised by this Act to be registered, with the Registrar on payment of the fee specified therefor in Schedule X, may, without prejudice to any other liability, be filed or registered after the time, if any, specified in this Act for its filing or registration on payment of such additional fee not exceeding ten times the amount of the fee so specified as the Registrar may determine.".

τo

5

20

30

Power of Court trying offences under the Act to direct the filing of documents with Registrar.

193. In Part XII. after section 614 of the principal Act. the following section shall be inserted, namely:---

"614A. (1) Any Court trying an offence for a default in compliance with any provision of this Act which requires a companv or its officers to file or register with, or deliver or 5 send to, the Registrar, any return, account or other document may at the time of sentencing, acquitting or discharging the accused, direct by order, if it thinks fit to do so, any officer or other employee of the company to file or register with deliver or send to, the Registrar on payment of the fee including the 10 additional fee required to be paid under section 611, such return, account or other document within such time as may be specified in the order.

(2) Any officer or other employee of the company who fails to comply with an order of the Court under sub-section (1) 15 shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months, or with fine, or with both.".

•

9 of 10

30

194. In section 616 of the principal Act, in clause (c), after the Amendment words "the provisions of", the words and figures "the Indian Electricity Act. 1910, or" shall be inserted. 20

Amendment of section 617.

of section

616.

195. In section 617 of the principal Act.-

(a) for the words and figures "sections 618, 619 and 620". the words "this Act" shall be substituted:

(b) for the words "share capital", the words "paid-up share capital" shall be substituted; 25

(c) the words "and includes a company which is a subsidiary of a Government company as thus defined" shall be added at the end.

196. For section 618 of the principal Act, the following section shall be substituted, namely:-

section for section 618. Government companies not to have managing agents.

Substitution of new

> "518. No Government company, whether formed before or after the 1st day of April, 1956, shall, after the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, appoint or employ, or after the expiry of six months from such commencement. continue the appointment or employment of, any managing 35 agent:

> Provided that where a company has become a Government company after the 1st day of April, 1956, nothing in this section shall prevent that company from continuing after the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, the ⊿o appointment or employment of a managing agent appointed or employed before such commencement.".

ġŔ

of new section 619 A.

"619A. (1) Where the Central Government is a member of Annual reports on a Government company, the Central Government shall cause Government an annual report on the working and affairs of that company companies. to be—

(a) prepared within three months of its annual general meeting before which the audit report is placed under sub-section (5) of section 619; and

(b) as soon as may be after such preparation. laid before both Houses of Parliament together with a copy of the audit report and any comments upon, or supplement to, the audit report, made by the Comptroller and Auditor-General of India.

(2) Where in addition to the Central Government, any State Government is also a member of a Government company, that State Government shall cause a copy of the annual report prepared under sub-section (1) to be laid before the House or both Houses of the State Legislature together with a copy of the audit report and the comments or supplement referred to in sub-section (1).

(3) Where the Central Government is not a member of a Government company, every State Government which is a member of that company, or where only one State Government is a member of the company, that State Government shall cause an annual report on the working and affairs of the company to be—

(a) prepared within the time specified in sub-section (1); and

(b) as soon as may be after such preparation, laid before the House or both Houses of the State Legislature with a copy of the audit report and comments or supplement referred to in sub-section (1)."

195. After section 620 of the principal Act, the following heading Insertion of new heading and new section shall be inserted, namely:-

Modification of Act in its application to Nidhis and Mutual Benefit Societies

620A. (1) In this section, "Nidhi" or "Mutual Benefit Power to Society" means a company which the Central Government in its applimay, by notification in the Official Gazette, declare to be a cation to Nidhi or Mutual Benefit Society, as the case may be. 711 (B) LS-13.

10

15

5

20

25

(2) The Central Government may, by notification in the Official Gazette, direct that any of the provisions of this Act specified in the notification—

(a) shall not apply to any Nidhi or Mutual Benefit Society, or

5

(b) shall apply to any *Nidhi* or Mutual Benefit Society with such exceptions, modifications and adaptations as may be specified in the notification.

(3) A copy of every notification issued under sub-section
(1) shall be laid as soon as may be after it is issued, before 10 each House of Parliament."

Amendment of section 621. 199. In section 621 of the principal Act, after sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:—

> "(1A) Notwithstanding anything contained in the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898, where the complainant under sub- 15 5 of 1898. section (1) is the Registrar or a person authorised by the Central Government, the personal attendance of the complainant before the Court trying the offence shall not be necessary unless the Court for reasons to be recorded in writing requires his personal attendance at the trial.". 20

Insertion 200. After section 624 of the principal Act, the following sections  $\frac{1}{1000} \frac{1}{1000} \frac{1}{1000}$  shall be insterted, namely:—

and 624 B.

Power of Central Government to appoint company prosecutors "624A. Notwithstanding anything contained in the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898, the Central Government may appoint 25 generally, or in any case, or for any specified class of cases in any local area, one or more persons, as company prosecutors for the conduct of prosecutions arising out of this Act; and the persons so appointed as company prosecutors shall have all the powers and privileges conferred by that Code on public prosecu- 30 tors appointed by a State Government under section 492 of that Code.

Appes1 against acquittal. 624B. Notwithstanding anything contained in the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898, the Central Government may, in any case arising out of this Act, direct any company prosecutor 35 or authorise any other person either by name or by virtue of his office, to present an appeal from an order of acquittal passed by any Court other than a High Court and an appeal presented by such prosecutor or other person shall be deemed to have been validly presented to the appellate Court.".

201. In section 627 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), after Amendment the words "by the Central Government". the words figures and 627. letter "or by a company prosecutor appointed under section 624A" shall be inserted.

202. After section 629 of the principal Act, the following section Insertion of 5 new section 629A. shall be inserted, namely:---

Penalty "629A. If a Company or any other person contravenes any where no provision of this Act for which no punishment is provided elsespecific penalty is where in this Act, the company and every officer of the company provided elsewhere in who is in default or such other person shall be punishable with the Act. fine which may extend to five hundred rupees, and where the contravention is a continuing one, with a further fine which may extend to fifty rupees for every day after the first during which the contravention continues.".

Amendment 203. In section 633 of the principal Act,-15 of section 633.

(a) in sub-section (1), the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:---

"Provided that in a criminal proceeding under this sub-section, the Court shall have no power to grant relief from any civil liability which may attach to an officer in respect of such negligence, default, breach of duty, misfeasance or breach of trust.":

(b) for sub-section (2), the following sub-sections shall be substituted, namely:--

"(2) Where any such officer has reason to apprehend that any proceeding will or might be brought against him in respect of any negligence, default, breach of duty, misfeasance or breach of trust, he may apply to the High Court for relief and the High Court on such application shall have the same power to relieve him as it would have had if it had been a Court before which a proceeding against that officer for negligence, default, breach of duty, misfeasance or breach of trust had been brought under sub-section (1).

(3) No Court shall grant any relief to any officer under sub-section (1) or sub-section (2) unless it has, by notice served in the manner specified by it, required the Registrar and such other person, if any, as it thinks necessary, to show cause why such relief should not be granted.".

10

20

25

30

Insertion of new heading and new section 637A.

Power of Central Government to accord approval, etc., subject to conditions and to prescribe fees on applications.

.

204. After section 637 of the principal Act, the following heading and section shall be inserted and shall be deemed always to have been inserted, namely:---

"Grant of approval, etc., subject to conditions and levy of fees on applications

637A. (1) Where the Central Government is required or authorised by any provision of this Act,—

(a) to accord approval, sanction, consent, confirmation or recognition to or in relation to, any matter;

(b) to give any direction in relation to any matter; or <sup>IO</sup>

5

(c) to grant any exemption in relation to any matter,

then, in the absence of anything to the contrary contained in such or any other provision of this Act, the Central Government may accord. give or grant such approval, sanction, consent, confirmation, recognition, direction or exemption subject to such condi-<sup>15</sup> tions, limitations or restrictions as it may think fit to impose.

(2) Save as otherwise expressly provided in this Act, every application which may be, or is required to be, made by a company to the Central Government under any provision of this Act—20

(a) in respect of any approval, sanction, consent, confirmation or recognition to be accorded by that Government to, or in relation to, any matter; or

(b) in respect of any direction or exemption to be given or granted by that Government in relation to any matter; or 25

(c) in respect of any other matter,

shall be accompanied by such fee not exceeding one hundred rupees as may be prescribed:

Provided that different fees may be prescribed for applications in respect of different matters or for applications by 30 different classes of companies.".

Omission of heading and section 639. (1) Section 639 of the principal Act and the heading above it shall be omitted.

(2) For the removal of doubt it is hereby declared that nothing in section 639 of the principal Act before its omission by sub-section 35 (1) of this section shall be deemed ever to have required the Central Government to prepare, and lay before both Houses of Parliament, any annual report on the working and affairs of a Government company of which the Central Government is not a member.

æ	206. After section 640 of the principal Act, the following heading nd section shall be inserted, namely:— "Computation of time for filing orders of Court	Insertion of aew head- ing and new section after section 640.
5	640A. Except as expressly provided in this behalf elsewhere in this Act, where by any provision of this Act, any order of the Court is required to be filed with the Registrar, or a company or any other person within a period specified therein, then, in computing that period, the time taken in drawing up the order and in obtaining a copy thereof shall be excluded.".	time requir- ed in obtain- ing copies of orders of
ıo fo	207. In section 641 of the principal Act, for sub-section (3), the blowing sub-section shall be substituted, namely:	Amendment of section 641.
	"(3) Every alteration made by the Central Government	
	under sub-section (1) shall be laid as soon as may be after it is made before each House of Parliament while it is in session for	
15	a total period of thirty days which may be comprised in one	
	session or in two successive sessions and if before the expiry	
	of the session in which it is so laid or the session immediately following, both Houses agree in making any modification in the	
	alteration, or both Houses agree that the ulteration should not	
20	be made, the alteration shall thereafter have effect only in such	
	modified form or be of no effect, as the case may be, so, however,	
	that any such modification or annulment shall be without prejudice to the validity of anything previously done in pursu-	
	ance of that alteration.".	
	· · ·	
25 (3	), the following sub-sections shall be substituted, namely:	Amendment of section 642.
	"(2) Any rule made under sub-section (1) may provide	
	that a contravention thereof shall be punishable with fine which	
	may extend to five hundred rupees and where the contravention	
30	is a continuing one, with a further fine which may extend to fifty rupees for every day after the first during which such contra-	
	vention continues.	
	(2) There we have been the Control Comment of the	
	(3) Every rule made by the Central Government under sub- section (1) shall be laid as soon as may be after it is made before	
26	each House of Parliament while it is in session for a total period	
35	of thirty days which may be comprised in one session or in two	
	successive sessions, and if before the expiry of the session in	

which it is so laid or the session immediately following both Houses agree in making any modification in the rule or both Houses agree that the rule should not be made, the rule shall thereafter have effect only in such modified form or be of no effect, as the case may be, so, however, that any such modification or annulment shall be without prejudice to the validity of <sup>5</sup> anything previously done under that rule.".

209. In section 643 of the principal Act,-

Amendment of section 643.

(a) in sub-section (1),-

(i) in clause (a), for the words, brackets and figures 10 "sub-section (1) of section 549 and sub-section (3) of section 550", the words, brackets and figures "sub-section (3) of section 550, section 552 and sub-section (3) of section 555" shall be substituted;

(*ii*) in clause (b), in sub-clause (*iv*), the words "and 15 the sub-division of the shares of a company" shall be omitted;

(b) after sub-section (3), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:---

"(4) All rules made by the Central Government under 20 sub-section (1) of section 549 and in force immediately before the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960 shall continue in force and be deemed to have been made by the Supreme Court unless and until they are superseded by rules made by the Supreme Court after such 25 commencement.".

Amendment of section 647. **210.** In section 647 of the principal Act, the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:---

> "Provided that where the proceedings in any such winding up are pending at the commencement of the Companies 30 (Amendment) Act, 1960,—

(a) sections 463, 502, 515 and 524 shall. as far as may be, also apply in relation thereto;

(b) the liquidator appointed by the Court and functioning in any such winding up shall in such manner and at such time as may be prescribed by the Central Government, pay the moneys received by him as such liquidator, into the public account of India in the Reserve Bank of India.".

5

.

211. Section 650 of the principal Act shall be omitted. Omission of section 650.

212. In Schedule I to the principal Act, in Table A, in regula-Amendment tion  $\overline{3}$ , in clauses (1) and (2), the word "general" shall be omitted. I.

213. After Schedule I to the principal Act, the following Sche-Insertion of new Sche-IO dule shall be inserted, namely:— dule IA.

#### "SCHEDULE IA

[See section 6(c)]

LIST OF RELATIVES

- 1. Father. \*\*\*
- 2. Mother (including step-mother).
  - 3. Son (including step-son).
  - 4. Son's wife.
  - 5. Daughter (including step-daughter).
  - 6. Father's father.
  - 7. Father's mother.
  - 8. Mother's mother.
    - 9. Mother's father.
    - 10. Son's son.
    - 11. Son's son's wife.
- **25** 12. Son's daughter.
  - 13. Son's daughter's husband.
  - 14. Daughter's husband.
  - 15. Dauhgter's son.
  - 16. Daughter's son's wife.
  - 17. Daughter's daughter.
    - 18. Daughter's daughter's husband.

15

20

19. Brother (including step-brother).	•
20. Brother's wife.	
21. Sister (including step-sister).	•
22. Sister's hubsand.	
23. Husband's father.	5
24. Husband's mother.	
* * *	
25. Husband's sister.	
26. Wife's father.	
27. Wife's mother.	IO
* * *	
28. Wife's brother.	
29. Wife's sister.	
30. Wife's sister's husband.	
31. Father's brother.	15
32. Father's sister.	
33. Mother's brother.	
34. Mother's sister.	
35. Father's brother's wife.	
36. Father's sister's hubsand	20
37. Mother's brother's wife.	
38. Mother's sister's husband.	
39. Brother's son.	
40. Brother's son's wife.	
41. Brother's daughter.	25
42. Sister's son.	•
43. Sister's daughter.	
44. Father's brother's son.	
45. Father's brother's daughter.	30
46. Father's sister's son.	
47. Father's sister's daughter.	
48. Mother's brother's son.	
49. Mother's brother's daughter.".	
	35

				105			
	de out)	Instructions in accordance with which assets should be made out			up to the end of the reactions therefrom during the year, and the total deput- ciation written off or provided up to the end of the year to be stated.	In case where original com cannot be secretained, the valu- ation shown by the books shall be given and where any of the	
PART I-FORM OF BALANCE-SHEET	Ballance-Sheet of(Here enter the name of the company) As at(Here enter the date as at which the balance-sheet is made out)	Assets	Figures Figures for the for the the current year	Ra. (b) *FIXED ASSETS () Distinguishing an far an	possible between ex- penditure upon (a) goodwill, (b) land, (c) buildings, (d) lease- holds, (e) railway sid- inea. (f)	machinery, (g) furni- sure and fittings, (h) development of pro- perty, (i) patents, trade	marks and designs. (j) live-stock and (ft) vehi- cles, etc.
-Part I-	Billionca-Sheet of	Lisbilities	Figures Figures for the former th	Ra. (b) *SHARE CAPITAL : Authorizedbintes	of Rseach. Itsued (distinguishing between the various classes of capital and stating the particulars specified below. in	Rs. cr Rs. cr (dis freen	
		Instructions in accordance with which liabilities	ehould b	*Terms of redemption or conversion (if any)	A rational Pro-	Farticulars of any op- tion on unissued share capital to be specified.	Prestoulars of the different classes of preference shares to be groue, j
	Ŷ		10	15	8	35	8

711(B) LS-14

<u>(\* 5</u>

\*\*\*\*

(a) for Part I, the following Part shall be substituted, namely:---

214. In Schedule VI to the principal Act,-

Amendment of Schedule VI.

Instructions in accordance with which assers should be rtade out				Where sums have been written off on a reduction of Capital or a revaluation of assets, every balance-sheet, (after the first balance-abeet) subsequent to the reduction or revaluation shall show the reduct of
	Figures for the current year	<b>.</b> (9)		
Assets	Figures for the previous year	Rs. (b)]		~
8	Figures for the current year	Re (j)	f the above shares abares are allotted as fully paid up pursuant for a contract without payments being re- ceived in cash. (the above shares fully paid up by way of bonus shares or other shares by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves or fand from share premizm account.	Ars: Calls unpaid: By managing agents or secretaries and treasurers and where the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers are a firm, by the parmers there- of, and where the managing agent or secretaries and trea-
Linbilitite	Figures for the previous year	29	Ra called up. Of the above shares abares are allotted as fully paid up pursuan to a contract without payments being re- carved in cash. Of the above shares of the above shares of the above shares way of bonus shares by way of bonus shares by way of bonus shares or other shares by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves or fand from shares	Less : Calls unpaid : (i) By managing agents or eccretaries and treasurers and where the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers are a firm, by the parmers there of, and where the managing agent or eccretaries and trea-
The start of the s	which which made out			
	So the	1 2	20 20 25	30

<ul> <li>company, by the di- creations or members of that company.</li> <li>(i) By directors.</li> <li>(ii) By directors.</li> <li>(iii) By others.</li> <li>(iii) By</li></ul>						1				
Add : Forfeited shares     Madd : Forfeited shares       (a) By directora.     (b) By directora.       (a) By directora.     (a) By directora.       (a) By directora.     (a) By directora.       (a) By directora.     (a) By directora.       (b) By directora.     (a) By directora.       (a) By directora.     (a) By directora.       (a) By directora.     (a) By directora.       (a) Supple for Directora.     (b) By directora.       (a) Supple for Directora.     (a) Supple for Directora.       (a) Caprial Releves and the anount of the specifical heads.     (b) Caprial Relevers and the anount of the specifical heads.       (b) Caprial Relevers and the anount of the specifically represented the anount of Supple for Directora.     (b) Supplus that is be be been of Net Correctora.       (c) Supple for any other Relevers and the anount of Supplus the and the specifically reliable and the specifical the set of the specifical set of the specifical the set of the set of the set of the		halance-sheet 6	first five years subsequent to the date of the reduction. shall	also the amount of n made. amount of where sums added by writing assets. every bal	ing up thail show the increased figures with the date of the increase in place of the original cost. Each balance-theet	the most of the second second second second to the date of writing up shall also show the amount of increase made.	amount quoted	b comp		
Additions and deductions since last balance shoen of the specified heads. The word "fund" in re- lation to any "Reserve" where such Reserve is specifically represented by readily relisable and eurmarked assets.						INVESTMENTS :	Showing nature of in- vestments and mode of valuation, for exam-	ple cost or market value and distinguish- ing between	r Tra	burtes or fully partly so dis- differ abare
"Additions and deductions since last balance-sheet to be shown, under each of the specified heads. The word "fund" in re- lation to any "Reserve is should be used only where such Reserve is specifically realisable and etimarked assets.	company, by the di- rectors or members of that company.	(ii) By directors.	(iii) By others.	Add : Forfeited shares		*RESERVES AND SURPLUS : (1) Capital Reserves not	available for Dividend. (2) Capital Redemption Reserve. (3) Share Promism A	(4) Other Reserves are cifying the nature of each reserve and the amount	Lets: Debit balance in Profit and Loss Ac- count (if any). (5) Any other Reserve	Frofit. Out of Net (6) Surphas that is ba- lance in Profit and Loss Account after providing for proposed allocations, <i>niz.</i> ,
<b>3</b> 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	, , ,	,	2		5	-	ç	The word lation to should 1		35

	Instructions in accordance with	which assets shows of				PHMode of valuation of tools shaft be stated and the annount is respect of raw materials shaft also be stated septarately withere practicable.	any orde of valuation of worlds fin-progress shall be stated.	+In regard to Sunday. Debtons pairticulars to be given sepa- facely of -(a) debus considered good and in respect of which the connum is fully secured;	
_	Austr	Manual Contract of the Contrac	(b) (b)	and showing also in similar defatts inyest- metric in shares, de- besturge or bonds of subsidiary companies. (3) fininoveble pro- perties.	CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS AND ADVANCES :	<ul> <li>(A) Current Assets.</li> <li>(1) Interest accrued on Investments.</li> <li>(2) Stores and Spare</li> </ul>	(3) Loose Tools.   (4) Stock-in-trade.   (5) Works in Progress.   (6) Sundry Debtors.	<ul> <li>(a) Debts outstanding for a period exceeding six months.</li> <li>(b) Other debts.</li> <li>Less: Reserve.</li> </ul>	f(7) Cash and bank outsucce.
		Figures for the previous year	Rs. (b)	timis trinit tritti tri trinit trini	CURRE LOA	(A) Cu (I) Inter Invest H(2) Stor		(a) Debrs a period months. (b) Other Less: Res	42) Ce
	L ishilitice	Figures for the current	(b) (b)	. Bonus or Re- 1 additions 1. Funds.	ECURED LOANS : Vi) Debéntured	from Banks. (1) Loans and Advances (3) Loans and Advances (4) Other Loans and Advances.			
	lei.l	Figures for the previous year	R. (6)	Dividende Boul serves. (7), Proposed add to referves. (8) Sinking Funds.	SECURED LOANS : u(1) Debentment u(1) Tome and Advan	<ul> <li>(z) Loans and Ad from Banks and Ad *(3) Loans and Ad from subsidiaries.</li> <li>(4) Other Loans Advances.</li> </ul>			
	Instructions in accordance	Ъ.			*The nature of the security	to be specified in each case. Where loans have been guaranteed by managing agents, secretaries and	or directors, a mention thereof shall also be made and also the aggre- eate amount of such	Terms of redemption Terms of redemption or conversion (if any) of debentures issued to be stated together with	carlicst date of rouching tion or conversion.
	<b></b>	<i>N</i>	្រ	IS	*	50	52	30	35

and (b) debts considered good for which the company holds no security other than the debtor's personal se- curity; and (c) debts consi- dered doubtful or bad.	ి సైగా ఒం కై	pectively in which any director is a parmer or a director or a member to be separately stated.	nies under the magement to be dis th the names of mpanies (vide se ).	The memimum amount due by directors or other officies of the company at any time during the year to be aboven by way of a note.	The Reserves to be shown under this head should not exceed the amount of debts stated to be considered doubt- ful or bad and any surplus	ated, should by are closing under f Surplus' (si fites side) under e sub-head '' whiful or Ba
'n	2	15	30	35	ø	35

	Instructions in accordance	Liabilitics	Asects	c 3
Ś	with which habituce should be made out	Figures Figures for the for the previous current year	Rigures Rigures for the for the current year	Instructions in accordance with which assets should be made out
10		Ra. (6) (6)	Ra. (b).	belances lyin
<b></b>				bankers on current accounts, call accounts and deposit accounts shall be shown separately.
	-	UNSECURED LOANS :		
00	Where loans have guaranteed by ma agents, secretaric treasurers, manager or directors, a m thereof shall also by and also the age	<ul> <li>(1) Fixed Deposits.</li> <li>(2) Loans and Advances from subsidiaries.</li> <li>(3) Short Term Loans and Advances :</li> <li>(a) From Banks.</li> <li>(b) From others.</li> </ul>		
52		1(4) Other Loans and Advances : (a) From Banks. (b) From others.		
30		CURRENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS : A. Current Liabilities. (1) Accentances.		
35		<ul> <li>(2) Sundry Creditors.</li> <li>(3) Subsidiary Companies.</li> <li>(4) Provision for Taxation.</li> <li>(5) Proposed Dividends.</li> </ul>	f(B). Loans and Advances. (8) Advances and Loans to	

	•	***	- <b>4</b> -	
The above instructions re- garding "Sundry Debtors" apply to "Loans and Ad- vances" also.				4- Duracher - 1-11-21
<ul> <li>subsidiaries.</li> <li>(9) Bills of Exchange.</li> <li>(10) Advances recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received, e.g., Rates, Taxes, Insurance, etc.</li> <li>Insurance, etc.</li> <li>(12) Balances on current account with Managing Agents or Secretaries and Tressurer.</li> <li>(12) Balances with Customs, Port Trust, etc. (where payable on demand).</li> </ul>				
(6) Advance Payments and Un- expired Discounts for the portion for which value has still to be given, e.g., in the case of the following classes of companies : (Newspeper, Fire Insurance, Theatre, Clubs, Banking, Steamship Companies, etc.)	<ul> <li>(7) Unclaimed Dividends.</li> <li>(8) Other Liabilities (if any).</li> <li>(9) Interest accrued and accru- ing on secured loans.</li> <li>(10) Interest accrued and accru- ing on unsecured loans.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>B. Provisiona.</li> <li>(11) For contingencies.</li> <li>(12) For Provident Fund scheme.</li> <li>(13) For insurance, pension and similar staff benefits schemes.</li> <li>(14) Other provisiona.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>[A foot-note to the balance-sheet may be added to show separately :</li> <li>(1) Claims against the company not addnowledged as debts.</li> <li>(2) Uncalled liability on shares partly paid.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>11(3) Arrears of fixed cumulative dividends.</li> <li>(4) Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided foi.</li> </ul>
			the dividence for which [A the dividencia are in n arrear or if there is more than one class of shares, the dividencis (1) on each such class are in arrear, shall be (2) stated.	The amount shall be stated before deduction of income-tax, except that

---- ,

			117			
1	unstructions in accordance was which assets should be made out					
Asacts	Figures Figures for the previous current year	Ra. (b) MISCELLANBOUS EXPENDI- TURE (to the extent not writ- ten off) : (1) Preliminary expenses.	(2) Expenses including commis- sion or brokerage on under- writing or subscription of shares or debentures.	<ul> <li>(3) Discount allowed on the issue of shares or debentures.</li> <li>(4) Interest paid out of capital during construction (also stating the rate of interest).</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>(5) Déredopment expendituire not adjusted.</li> <li>(6) Other items (specifying nature).</li> </ul>	PROFIT AND LOIS ACCOUNT Loss brought forward. Liss 1 Reserves set off.
Liabilities	Frigures for the for the for the current year	Ra. (g) t(5) Other money for which the t1fcompany is contingently liable.]		Υ.		
Instructions in accordance	with which the trade out the should be made out	in the case of the free dividends the affrontit shall be shown free of income-tax and the fact that it is so shown shall be stated.	±₽ ₽₽	company shall be stated and where practicable, the general nature and amount of each such contingent liability, if material, shall also be specified.		
	Ś	10	50	25	30	

- 21

۰.

General instructions for perparations of balance-sheet.—(a) The information required to be given under any of the items or sub-items in this Form, if it cannot be conveniently included in the balance-sheet itself, sha!! be furnished in a separate Schedule or Schedules to be annexed to and to form part of the balance-sheet. This is recommended when items are numerous.

Notes

Naye Passe can also be given in addition to Rupees, if desired.

In the case of subsidiary companies, etc., the number of shares held by the holding company as well as by the ultimate holding company Ð

The auditor is not required to certify the correctness of such share-holdings as certified by the management. 5 (c) In the case w succession of stated. and its subsidiaries must be separately stated.

The item "Share Premum Account" shall include full details of its utilization in the manner provided in section 78.

- Short Term Loans will include those which are due for not more than one year as at the date of the balance-sheet હુ E
- Depreciation written off or provided shall be allocated under the different asset heads and deducted in arriving at the value of Fixed Assets. 3 ព្ព

(f) Dividends declared by subsidiary companies after the date of the balance-sheet cannot be included unless they are in respect of period which closed on or before the date of the balance-sheet.

Any reference to benefits expected from contracts to the extent not executed shall not be made in the balance-sheet but shall be made in the Board's report. ક

The debit balance in the Profit and Loss Account shall be set off against the General Reserve, if any. E 5

(i) As regards Loans and Advances, amounts due by the Managing Agents or Secretaries and Treasurers, either severally or jointly with any other persons, to be separately stated ; the amounts due from other companies under the same management should also be given with the names of the companies vide section 370; the maximum amount due from every one of these at any time during the year must be shown.

Particulars of any redeemed debentures which the company has power to issue should be given. S and (h) Where any of the company's debentures are held by a nominee or a trustee for the company, the nominal amount of the debentures the amount at which they are stated in the books of the company shall be stated. 8

(i) A statement of investments (whether shown under "Investments" or under "Current Assets" as stock-in-trade) separately classifying trade investments and other investments should be annexed o the balance-sheet showing the names of the bodies corporate, indicating separately the names of the bodies corporate in the same group (with the name of the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers, if any, of separately the names of the bodies corporate in the same group (with the name of the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers, if any, of sub equent to the idea of the broke shares or debentures investments have been made (including all investments whether existing or not, made sub equent to the idea of an investment have been made out) and the nature and extern of the investments so made in each tuch body corporate; provided that in the case of an investment (company, that is to say, a company who e principal business is he acqui-tion of shares, stock, debenutes or other securities, is shall be sufficient if the statement shows only the investments cristing on the date as at which the balance-sheet has been made out; provided further that it shall not be necessary to give any particulars in respect. of investments unde by a managing agency or secretaries and treasurers company in the managed companies' shares or debentures.

30 5

711(B) LS-15.

A "Trade Investment" means an investment by a company in the shares or debentures of another company. not being its subsidiary, for the purpose of promoting the trade or business of the first company.

(m) If, in the opinion of the Board, any of the current assets have not a value on realisation in the ordinary course of business at least equal to the amount at which they are stated, the fact that the Board is of that opinion shall be stated.

- (x) Except in the case of the first balance-sheet laid before the company after the commencement of the Act, the corresponding amounts for the immediately preceding financial year for all items shown in the balance-sheet shall be also given in the balance-sheet. The requirement in this behalf shall in the case of companies preparing quarterly or half-yearly accounts, etc., relate to the balance-sheet for the corresponding date in Š
- (o) The amounts to be shown under Sundry Debtors shall include the amounts due in respect of goods sold or services rendered or in respect of other contractual obligations but shall not include the amounts which are in the nature of loans or advances. ្ឋ

(p) Advances by Directors, Managing Agents, Secretaries and Treasurers, Managers as also balances on current account with them whether they are in credit or debit shall be shown separately.";

(b) in Part II,-

.

(i) in paragraph 3,—

(1) in sub-paragraph (iii), for the words "works remained to be executed", the words "such works have been completed" shall be substituted;

I

(2) in sub-paragraph (v), for the word "payable", the words "paid or payable" shall be substituted;

10

15

5

(3) in sub-paragraph (x), in item (f) (3), the following words shall be added at the end, namely:—

"to the extent not adjusted from any previous provision or reserve.

Note.—Information in respect of this item should also be given in the balance-sheet under the relevant provision or reserve account.";

(4) in sub-paragraph (xii) (a), the following words shall be added at the end, namely:—

"to the extent not adjusted from any previous provision or reserve.

Note.—Information in respect of this item should also be given in the balance-sheet under the relevant provision or reserve account.";

(*ii*) for paragraph 4, the following paragraphs shall be substituted, namely:—

"4. The profit and loss account shall also contain or give by way of a note detailed information in regard to the following payments received during the financial year by the directors (including managing directors), the managing agent, secretaries and treasurers or manager, if any, from the company, the subsidiaries of the company\*\*\*:---

> (i) managerial remuneration, that is to say, amounts paid during the financial year to the directors (including managing directors), the managing agent, secretaries and treasurers or manager, if any;

20

30

25

(ii) expenses reimbursed to the managing agent under section 354;

(*iii*) commission or other remuneration payable separately to a managing agent or his associate under sections 356, 357 and 358; 5

(*iv*) commission received by the managing agent as buying or selling agent of other concerns under section 359;

(v) the money value of the contracts for the sale or purchase of goods and materials or supply of 10 services, entered into by the company with the managing agent or his associate under section 360 during the financial year;

(vi) other allowances (details to be given);

(vii) any other perquisites or benefits in cash or 15 in kind (stating approximate money value where practicable);

(viii) pensions, etc.,--

(a) pensions,

(b) gratuities,

(c) payments from provident funds, in excess of own subscriptions and interest thereon,

(d) compensation for loss of office,

(e) consideration in connection with retirement from office. 25

4A. The profit and loss account shall further contain or give by way of a note detailed information in regard to amounts paid to the auditor, whether as fees, \*\*or otherwise for services rendered—

(a) as auditor; and

(b) in any other capacity.".

Amendment 215. In Schedule VII to the principal Act, clause (1) shall be of Schedule omitted.

30

# APPENDIX 1

#### (Vide para 2 of the Report)

#### Motion in the Lok Sabha for reference of the Bill to a Joint Committee

"That the BAI further to amend the Companies Act, 1956, be referred to a Joint Committee of the Houses consisting of 45 members; 30 from this House, namely:---

|

.....

- 1. Sardar Hukam Singh
- 2. Shri H. C. Heda
- 3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 6. Shri Radhelal Vyas
- 7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 8. Shri P. T. Thanu Pillai
- 9. Shri M. Shankaraiya
- 10. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 11. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 12. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 13. Shri G. D. Somani
- 14. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 15. Shri C. D. Pande
- 16. Shri Mulchand Dube
- 17. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi
- 18. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
- 19. Shrimati Sucheta Kripalani
- 20. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 21. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 22. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 23. Shri S. Easwara Iyer
- 24. Shri M. R. Masani
- 25. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 26. Shri Tridib Kumar Chaudhuri

117

613(B) L.S.-16

ļ

- 27. Shri Surendra Mahanty
- 28. Shri G. K. Manay
- 29. Shri Naushir Bharucha, and
- 30. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

and 15 members from Rajya Sabha;

that in order to constitute a sitting of the Joint Committee the quorum shall be one-third of the total number of members of the Joint Committee;

that the Committee shall make a report to this House by the last day of the first week of the next session;

that in other respects the Rules of Procedure of this House relating to Parliamentary Committees will apply with such variations and modifications as the Speaker may make; and

that this House recommends to Rajya Sabha that Rajya Sabha do join the said Joint Committee and communicate to this House the names of members to be appointed by Rajya Sabha to the Joint Committee."

#### APPENDIX II

100

ζ.

ź

.

1

-----

÷

#### (Vide para 3 of the Report)

#### Motion in the Rajya Sabha

"That this House concurs in the recommendation of the Lok Sabha that the Rajya Sabha do join in the Joint Committee of the Houses on the Bill further to amend the Companies Act, 1956, and resolves that the following members of the Rajya Sabha be nominated to serve on the said Joint Committee:—

1

1

- 1. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai
- 2. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar
- 3. Shri P. D. Himatsingka

. .

- 4. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai
- 5. Shri J. S. Bisht

ŧ.

- 6. Dr. R. P. Dube
- 7. Shri Akbar Ali Khan
- 8. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha
- 9. Shri P. T. Leuva
- 10. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 11. Shri R. S. Doogar
- 12. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
- 13. Shri H. D. Rajah
- 14. Shri V. K. Dhage

------

15. Shri Rohit M. Dave."

.

(Vide Para 7 of the Report)

# Statement showing particulars of memoranda representations etc. received by the Joint Committee and the action taken thereon

erial No.	Nature of docum	ent	From whom received	Action taken
1.	Memorandum	• •	Indian Banks' Association, Bombay.	Circulated to Members and evidence of the association taken on the 7th July, 1959.
2.	Memorandum		Tata Industries Private Li- mited, Bombay.	Circulated to Members and evidence of the company taken on the 7th July, 1959.
3.	<b>Memoran</b> dum		The Indian Merchants' Chamber, Bombay.	Circulated to Membera and evidence of the chamber taken on the 7th and 8th July, 1959.
4.	Memorandum		The Bombay Shareholders' Association, Bombay.	Circulated to Members and evidence of the association taken on the 8th July, 1959.
5.	Memorandum		The Associated Chambers of Commerce of India, Calcutta.	Circulated to Member and evidence of the chamber taken on the 8th July, 1959.
6.	Memorandum		Indian Chamber of Com- merce, Calcutta.	Circulated to Member and evidence of th chamber taken on the 9th July, 1959.
7.	Memorandum	•	. Indian National Trade Union Congress, New Delhi.	
8	. Memorandum	•	. Federation of Indian Cham- bers of Commerce and Industry, New Delhi.	Circulated to Member and evidence of th Federation taken on th 9th July, 1959.
9	• Memorandum	•	. The Indian Cotton Mills' Federation, Bombay.	Circulated to Member and evidence of th Federation taken on th 10th July, 1959.
10	. Memorandum	•	. The Indian Federation of Working Journalists New Delhi.	

:¥ [120

,	<u></u>	

-----

.

Sl. No.	Nature of docum	ent		From whom received	Action taken
11.	Memorandum	•	•	Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited, New Delhi	Circulated to Members and evidence of the company taken on the Ioth July, 1959.
12.	<b>Memo</b> randum	•	•	The Company Law Associ- ation of India, Bombay.	Circulated to Member and evidence of the association taken on the 11th July, 1959.
13.	Memorandum	•	•	Bengel National Chamber of Commerce and Indus- try, Calcutta.	Circulated to Member and evidence of the chamber taken on the 11th July, 1959.
14.	Memorandum	• r`	•	The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, New Delhi.	Circulated to Member and evidence of the Institute taken on the 11th July, 1959.
15.	Memorandum		•	Shri A. V. Khare, Dantoli, Nagpur.	Circulated to Members.
16.	Representation		•	Shri S. Narasimhan, Coim- batore.	Do.
17.	Memorandum		•	Shri Kamalnayan Bajaj, M.P., Bombay.	Do.
18.	<b>Representation</b>		•	The Bombay Exchange Banks' Association, Bom- bay.	Do.
19.	Representation	•	•	Shri Kasturbhai Lalbhai Safi, Bombay.	Do.
20.	Representation	•	•	Shri K. D. Ganguli, Cal- cutta.	Do.
21.	Memorandum		•	Indian Tea Planters' As- sociation, Jalpaiguri	Do.
22.	Memorandum	•	•	The Ahmedabad Millowners' Association, Ahmedabad.	Do.
23.	Memorandum	•	•	The Millowners' Associa- tion, Bombay.	Do.
24.	Representation		•	Shri R. N. Sengupta, Cal- cutta	Do.
25.	Memorandum		•	The Auditors Association of Southern India, Coimbatore.	Do.
26	Memorandum		•	K. N. Gutgutia and Com- pany, Calcutta.	Do.
27.	Memorandum	•	•	Bharat Chamber of Com- merce, Calcutta.	De.
28.	Memorandum	•	•	Gujarat Vepari Mahaman- dal, Ahmedabad.	Do.

Sl. Nature of document No.			From whom received	Action taken		
29.	Memorandum		•	Kirloskar Brothers, Limited Kirloskarvadi, South Satara.	Circulated to Member	
30.	Memorandum	•	•	The All India Manufac- turers' Organisation, Bom- bay.	De.	
31.	Memorandum	•	•	All India Investors' Asso- ciation, Calcutta.	De.	
32.	Memorandu <b>m</b>	•	•	The Calcutta Stock Ex- change Association Limited, Calcutta.	Do.	
33∙	Meinorandum	•	•	The Maharatha Chamber of Commerce and In- dustries, Poona.	Do.	
34.	Memorandum	•	•	The Southern India Mill- owners' Association, Coimbatore.	Do.	
35.	Letter .	•	•	Shri M. N. Samant, Bombay	Placed in the Parlia ment Library an members informed.	
36.	Letter	•		Shri K. C. Khanna, Delhi.	Do.	
37•	Petition .	•	•	Shri Chandra Prakash Agarwal, Kaimganj.	Do.	
38.	Letter		•	Shri C. A. Mithawale, Bom- bay.	De.	
<b>39</b> .	Letter		•	Third Class Railway Passen- gers' Association, Coim- batore.	Do.	
<b>4</b> 9.	Representation	•	•	Shri K. Sundarajan, Madras.	Do.	
41.	Suggestion .		•	Shri M. K. Raghavan, Madras.	Do.	
42.	Memorandum	•	•	Shri Ratilal Khemchand Modi, Ahmedabad.	Do.	
<b>4</b> 3·	Representation		•	Shri Golok Chandra Day, Calcutta.	Do.	
<b>44</b> ·	Representation	•	•	Shri M. M. Dave, Bhav- nagar.	Do.	
<b>45</b> .	Representation		•	Shri N. V. Bhonde, Poona.	Do.	
<b>4</b> 6.	Representation			Shri N. Y. Sastri, Madras.	Do.	
<b>4</b> 7·	Representation		•	Shri R. Jayashankar, Tiru- chirapalli.	Do.	
<b>48</b> .	Representation		•	The Indian Stock Ex- change Limited, Bom- bay.	De.	
<b>49</b> .	Memorandum		•	Northern India Share- holders Association (Regd.), New Delhi.	Do.	

51. No.	Nature of document		From whom received	Action taken			
50.	Representation	• •	Anderson Wright, Limited, Calcutta.	Placed in the Parlia ment Library and menabers informed.			
51.	Representation		Shri A. Ramaiya, Madu- rai-	Do.			
52.	Memorandum		Shri S.K. Basu, Calcutta.	Do.			
53.	Memorandum	•	Federation of Biscuits Ma- nufacturers' of India, Delhi.	Do.			
54-	Representation	• •	Delhi Newspaper Em- ployees Federation, New Delhi.	Do.			
55.	Representation		Shri Khanderao Narayan- rao Wadegaonkar, Dhan- toli, Nagpur.	Do.			
56.	Representation		Shri Vidya Bhaskar Chatur- vedi, Calcutta.	Do.			
57•	<b>Memoran</b> dum		The Federation of Gujarat Mills and Industries, Baroda.	Do.			
5 <b>8</b> .	Memorandum		The Chartered Institute of Secretaries India Asso- ciation, Calcutta.	Do,			
<b>59</b> .	Representation	• •	The Bombay Shop-Assis- tants Federation, Bom- bay.	Do.			
60.	Memorandum	•	Merchants' Chamber of U.P. Kanpur.	<b>D</b> ●.			
61.	Memorandum	•••	The Madurai-Ramnad Chamber of Commerce, Madurai.	De.			
62.	Memorandum	• •	Shri M. Dutt, Ahmedabad	Do.			
63.	Representation		Shri B. R. Mohatta, Calcutta.	Do.			
64.	Representation	•	Shri Nadirshah N. Gocal, Mount Abu.	Do.			

ı

ſ

## APPENDIX IV

## (Vide Para 8 of the Report)

91. No.	Name of the Association		]	Date on which evidence was taken
1.	Indian Banks' Association, Bombay		•	7-7-59
2.	Tata Industries Private Limited, Bombay			7-7-59
3.	The Indian Merchants' Chamber, Bombay		•	7-7-59 and 8-7-59
4.	The Bombay Shareholders' Association, Bombay			8-7-59
5.	The Associated Chambers of Commerce of India, Calcutta	•		8-7-59
6.	Indian Chamber of Commerce, Calcutta		•	9-7-59
7.	Indian National Trade Union Congress, New Delhi	•.	•	9-7-59
8.	Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry, Ne	w Del	hi	9-7-59
9.	The Indian Cotton Mills' Federation, Bombay	•		10-7-59
10.	The Indian Federation of Working Journalists, New Delhi	•	•	· 10-7-59
11.	Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited, New Delhi		•	10-7-59
12.	The Company Law Association of India, Bombay	•	•	11-7-59
13.	Bengal National Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Calcutta	•		11-7-59
14.	The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, New Delhi	•		11-7-59

,

### List of Associations who gave evidence before the Joint Committee

.

×

## **APPENDIX V**

# MINUTES OF THE SITTINGS OF THE JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE COMPANIES (AMENDMENT) BILL, 1959

# I

# **First Sitting**

The Committee met from 17.00 to 17.50 hours on Friday, the 8th May, 1959.

#### PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman

## Members

Lok Sabha

1. Shri H. C. Heda

2. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha

3. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

4. Shri Shivram Rango Rane

5. Shri N. R. M. Swamy

6. Shri P. T. Thanu Pillai

7. Shri M. Shankaraiya

8. Shri Jaganatha Rao

9. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka

10. Shri G. D. Somani

11. Shri C. D. Pande

12. Shri Mulchand Dube

13. Shri Rohan Lal Chaturvedi

14. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani

15. Shri Nityanand Kanungo

16. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani

17. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav

18. Shri Tridib Kumar Chaudhuri

19. Shri Naushir Bharucha

20. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

125

613(B) L.S.-17

# Rajya Sabha

21. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

22. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

23. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai

24. Shri J. S. Bisht

25. Shri Akbar Ali Khan

26. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha

27. Shri P. T. Leuva

## 28. Shri M. P. Bhargava

29. Shri R. S. Doogar

30. Shri V. K. Dhage

31. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

#### DRAFTSMAN

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

ŧ

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

#### SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai-Under Secretary.

2. The Committee held a discussion about their future programme.

3. The Committee considered whether any evidence should be taken by them and whether it was necessary to issue a press communique advising associations and individuals desirous of presenting their suggestions or views before the Committee in respect of the Bill to submit written memoranda thereon.

4. It was decided that a press communique might be issued advising associations, public bodies and individuals who are desirous of presenting their suggestions or views or give evidence before the Committee in respect of the Bill to send written memoranda thereon to the Lok Sabha Secretariat by the 10th June, 1959.

5. The Committee authorised the Chairman to decide after examining the memoranda as to which of the associations, public bodies etc. might be called upon to give oral evidence before the Committee.

٣....

р

6. The Committee desired that copies of the following documents might be circulated to the Members of the Committee:—

- (i) Report of the Committee appointed under the Chairmanship of Shri A. V. Viswanath Sastri.
- (ii) The Companies Act, 1956.
- (iii) The Second Annual Report on the working and administration of the Companies Act, 1956.

7. The Committee further decided that if any member desired any further literature on the subject he might write to the Lok Sabha Secretariat for its supply, if available.

8. The Committee decided to hold their future sittings from 6th July, 1959 onwards.

9. The Committee further decided that evidence, if any, might be taken at 0900 hours on the 7th July, 1959.

10. The Chairman suggested that notice of amendments to the clauses of the Bill might be sent to the Lok Sabha Secretariat by the 20th June, 1959 for circulation to the members of the Committee.

11. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 16.00 hours on Monday, the 6th July, 1959.

2.....

## Second Sitting

The Committee met from 16.00 hours to 16.21 hours on Monday, the 6th July, 1959.

#### PRESENT

## Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairmon

#### Members

## Lok Sabha

- 2. Shri H. C. Heda
- 3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 6. Shri Radhelal Vyas
- 7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 8. Shri M. Shankaraiya
- 9. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 10. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 11. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 12. Shri G. D. Somani
- 13. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 14. Shri Mulchand Dube
- 15. Shrimati Sucheta Kripalani
- 16. Shri' Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 17. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 18. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 19. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 20. Shri Tridib Kumar Chaudhuri
- 21. Shri Surendra Mahanty
- 22. Shri G. K. Manay
- 23. Shri Naushir Bharucha

128

i

ł

ł

# Rajya Sabha

24. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

25. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

26. Shri P. D. Himatsingka

27. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai

28. Shri J. S. Bisht

29. Shri P. T. Leuva

30. Shri M. P. Bhargava

31. Shri R. S. Doogar

32. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao

33. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

## Draftsman

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

# SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai-Under Secretary.

2. The Committee discussed their programme of hearing of evidence and approved the same with certain changes.

3. The Committee decided to take up clause by clause consideration of the Bill after hearing of evidence.

4. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 08.30 hour on Tuesday, the 7th July, 1959.

## Third Sitting

The Committee met from 08.30 hours to 13.30 hours on Tuesday, the 7th July, 1959.

#### PRESENT

#### Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman

## MEMBERS

Lok Sabha

ł

١

2. Shri H. C. Heda

3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha

4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane

6. Shri Radhelal Vyas

7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy

8. Shri Jaganatha Rao

9. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi

10. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka

11. Shri G. D. Somani

12. Shri Feroze Gandhi

13. Shri Mulchand Dube

14. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi

15. Shri Arun Chandra Guha

16. Shrimati Sucheta Kripalani

17. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani

18. Shri Nityanand Kanungo

19. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani

20. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav

21. Shri Tridib Kumar Chaudhuri

22. Shri Surendra Mahanty

23. Shri G. K. Manay

....

24. Shri Naushir Bharucha

25. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

130

# Ħ

## Rajya Sabha

26. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

27. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

28. Shri P. D. Himatsingka

29. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai

30. Shri J. S. Bisht

31. Shri P. T. Leuva

32. Shri M. P. Bhargava

33. Shri R. S. Doogar

34. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao

35. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

## Draft'sman

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law

١

ł

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

i.

## Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai-Under Secretary.

#### WITNESSES

I. Indian Banks' Association, Bombay

1. Shri C. H. Bhabha

2. Shri P. V. Gandhi

3. Shri Mohan Singh.

H. Tata Industries Private Limited, Bombay.

1. Shri J. D. Choksi

2. Kumari G. N. Cowasjee.

III. The Indian Merchants' Chamber, Bombay.

1. Shri Lalchand Hirachand

2. Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia

3. Shri R. G. Saraiya

4. Shri Tanubhai D. Desai

5. Shri C. L. Gheevala.

2. The Committee heard the evidence tendered by the Representatives of the Association named above. The evidence of the Indian Merchants' Chamber, Bombay, was not concluded.

3. A verbatim record of the evidence tendered was taken down.

4. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 08.30 hours on Wednesday, the 8th July, 1959.

~

#### Fourth Sitting

The Committee met from 08.30 hours to 13.37 hours on Wednesday, the 8th July, 1959.

#### PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman

## MEMBERS

# Lok Sabha

2. Shri H. C. Heda

3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha

4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane

6. Shri Radhelal Vyas

7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy

8. Shri Jaganatha Rao

9. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi

10. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka

11. Shri G. D. Somani

12. Shri Feroze Gandhi

13. Shri Mulchand Dube

14. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi

15. Shri Arun Chandra Guha

16. Shrimati Sucheta Kripalani

17. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani

18. Shri Nityanand Kanungo

19. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani

20. Shri M. R. Masani

21. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav

22. Shri Tridib Kumar Chaudhuri

23. Shri Surendra Mahanty

24. Shri G. K. Manay

#### 133

ţ

13

.

618(B)L.S.--18.

25. Shri Naushir Bharucha

26. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

## Rajya Sabha

27. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

- 28. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar
- 29. Shri P. D. Himatsingka
- 30. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai
- 31. Shri J. S. Bisht
- 32. Shri P. T. Leuva
- 33. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 34. Shri R. S. Doogar
- 35. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
- 36. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

## Draftsman

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration

> · ..

. .

## Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai—Under Secretary

#### WITNESSES

- I. The Indian Merchants' Chamber, Bombay.
  - 1. Shri Lalchand Hirachand
  - 2. Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia
  - 3. Shri R. G. Saraiya
  - 4. Shri Tanubhai D. Desai
  - 5. Shri C. L. Gheevala.

# II. The Bombay Shareholders' Association, Bombau

- 1. Shri Jagdish J. Kapadia
- 2. Shri Tanubhai D. Desai
- 3. Dr. R. C. Cooper.

III. The Associated Chamber of Commerce of India, Calcutta

1. Mr. J. D. K. Brown

2. Sir Walter Michelmore

3. Mr. D. S. Gorer.

2. The Committee heard the evidence tendered by the Representatives of the Associations named above.

3. A verbatim record of the evidence tendered was taken down.

4. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 08.30 hours on Thursday, the 9th July, 1959.

#### **Fifth Sitting**

The Committee met from 08.30 hours to 13.35 hours on Thursday, the 9th July, 1959.

#### PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman

#### MEMBERS

# Lok Sabha

- 2. Shri H. C. Heda
- 3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 4. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 5. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 6. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 7. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 8. Shri G. D. Somani
- 9. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 10. Shri Mulchand Dube
- 11. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi
- 12. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
- 13. Shrimati Sucheta Kripalani
- 14. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 15. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 16. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 17. Shri S. Easwara Iyer
- 18. Shri M. R. Masani
- 19. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 20. Shri Tridib Kumar Chaudhuri
- 21. Shri G. K. Manay
- 22. Shri Naushir Bharucha
- 23. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

## Rajya Sabha

1

24. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

25. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

- 26. Shri P. D. Himatsingka
- 27. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai
- 28. Shri J. S. Bisht
- 29. Shri P. T. Leuva
- 30. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 31. Shri R. S. Doogar
- 32. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
- 33. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

## DRAFTSMAN

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

į

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

#### Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai-Under Secretary.

### WITNESSES

I. Indian Chamber of Commerce, Calcutta

- 1. Shri B. P. Khaitan
- 2. Shri A. L. Goenka
- 3. Shri B. Kalyana Sundaran.
- II. Indian National Trade Union Congress, New Delhi
  - 1. Shri S. R. Vasavada
  - 2. Shri N. K. Bhatt
  - 3. Shri S. D. Desai
  - 4. Shri M. B. Joshi.
- III. Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry, New Delhi
  - 1. Shri Madanmohan R. Rufa

2. Shri A. M. M. Murugappa Chettiar

3. Shri Lakshmipat Singhania

4. Shri M. L. Shah

8. Shri Ramnath A. Podar

6. Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain

7. Shri S. M. Shah

8. Shri G. L. Bansal

9. Shri P. Chentsal Ran

10. Shri N. Krishnamurti.

2. The Committee heard the evidence tendered by the Representatives of the Associations named above.

3. A verbatim record of the evidence tendered was taken down.

4. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 08.30 hours on Friday, the 10th July, 1959.

----

#### Sixth Sitting

The Committee met from 08.30 hours to 13.00 hours on Friday, the 10th July, 1959.

#### PRESENT

# Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman

## MEMBERS

Lok Sabha

2. Shri H. C. Heda

3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha

4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane

6. Shri N. R. M. Swamy

7. Shri M. Shankaraiya

8. Shri Jaganatha Rao

9. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi

10. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka

11. Shri G. D. Somani

12. Shri Feroze Gandhi

13. Shri Mulchand Dube

14. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi

15. Shri Arun Chandra Guha

16. Shrimati Sucheta Kripalani

17. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani

18. Shri Nityanand Kanungo

19. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani

20. Shri S. Easwara Iyer

21. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav

22. Shri Surendra Mahanty

23. Shri G. K. Manay

24. Shri Naushir Bharucha

25. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

## 180

1.4

## Rajya Sabha

26. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

27. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

28. Shri P. D. Himatsingka

29. Shri J. S. Bisht

30. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha

31. Shri P. T. Leuva

32. Shri M. P. Bhargava

33. Shri R. S. Doogar

34. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao

35. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

## Draftsman

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

1

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

#### Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai-Under Secretary.

# WITNESSES

1. The Indian Cotton Mills Federation, Bombay

- 1. Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain
- 2. Shri J. J. Ashar
- 3. Shri B. G. Kakatkar.

II. Indian Federation of Working Journalists, New Delhi

- 1. Shri J. P. Chaturvedi
- 2. Shri R. Narasimhan
- 3. Shri C. Raghavan.

III. Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited, New Delhi

- 1. Shri S. C. Aggarwal
- 2. Shri Bhim Sen.

2. The Committee heard the evidence tendered by the Representatives of the Associations named above.

0.11

3. A verbatim record of the evidence tendered was taken down.

4. It was decided that after the conclusion of evidence of general discussion on the points arising out of it would be held.

5. It was further decided that thereafter the Committee would adjourn.

6. As Chairman would not be present at the sitting of the Cammittee on the 11th July, 1959, it was decided that Shri Khandubhai K. Desai might act as Chairman of the Committee for that day.

7. The Committee then **adjourned** to meet again at 09.00 hours on Saturday, the 11th July, 1959.

613 (B) LS-19

## Seventh Sitting

vti -

The Committee met from 09.00 hours to 13.31 hours on Saturday, the 11th July, 1959.

#### PRESENT

## MEMBERS

## Lok Sabha

Ì

ł

- 2

-

1. Shri H. C. Heda

\_

- 2. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 3. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 4. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 5. Shri M. Shankaraiya
- 6. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 7. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 8. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 9. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 10. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi
- 11. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
- 12. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 13. Shri Nityanand Kanungo (in the Chair from 10.45 hours to 10.48 hours)
- 14. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 15. Shri S. Easwara Iyer
- 16. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 17. Shri Surendra Mahanty
- 18. Shri G. K. Manay
- 19. Shri Naushir Bharucha

## Rajya Sabha

- 20. Shri Khandubha! K. Desai
- 21. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar
- 22. Shri P. D. Himatsingka

· -----

- 24. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha
- 25. Shri P. T. Leuva
- 26. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 27. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
- 28. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

#### DRAFTSMAN

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

#### SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai-Under Secretary.

## WITNESSES

I. The Company Law Association of India, Bombay.

- 1. Shri K. T. Chandy
- 2. Shri S. H. Gursahani
- 3. Shri K. V. Rao

II. Bengal National Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Calcutta.

- 1. Shri D. N. Bhattacherjee
- 2. Shri S. R. Biswas

III. The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, New Delhi.

- 1. Shri C. C. Chokshi
- 2. Shri J. S. Lodha
- 3. Shri E. V. Srinivasan.

2. In the absence of Sardar Hukam Singh, Chairman of the Committee, Shri Khandubhai K. Desai acted as Chairman for the sitting as had been decided by the Committee at their Sixth Sitting held on the 10th July, 1959.

3. The Committee heard evidence tendered by the Representatives of the Associations named above.

4. A verbatim record of the evidence tendered was taken down.

. .

5. The Committee decided that the evidence tendered before them might be laid on the Table-of the House.

6. The Committee also decided that after the evidence was laid on the Table, the memoranda submitted by the Associations that tendered evidence before the Committee might be placed in the Parliament Library for reference of the Members of Parliament.

7. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 09.00 hours on Monday, the 13th July, 1958.

## **Eighth Sitting**

VIII

The Committee met from 09.00 hours to 13.10 hours on Monday, the 13th July, 1959.

#### PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman

MEMBERS

Lok Sabha

ł

į

2. Shiri H. C. Heda

3. Shri Savendra Narayan' Silha-

4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

5. Shri Shivram Ranga Rane

6. Shri Radhelal Vyas

7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy

8. Shri M. Shankaraiya

9. Shri Jaganatha Rao

10. Shii Radhesiiyani Rankuinar Morarka

11. Shiff G. D. Soffani

12.-Shri-Feroze Gandhi

13. Shri Arun Chandra Guha

14. Shrp Narendrabhai Nathwari

15. Shri Nityanand Kanungo

16. Shri K. T. K. Tangamant

17. Shri S. Easwara Iyer

18. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav

19. Shri Surendra Mahanty

20. Shri G. K. Manay

21. Shri Naushir Bharucha

22. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

Rajya Sabha

23. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

24. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettlar

25. Shri P. D. Himatsingka

26. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai

- 27. Shri J. S. Bisht
- 28. Shri P. T. Leuva
- 29. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 30. Shri J. V. K. Ballabharao
- 31. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

## Draftsman

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

Representatives of Ministries and other Officers

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

## Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai-Under Secretary.

2. The Committee decided to have a general discussion on the following clauses of the Bill till the 15th of July, 1959 (vide paras 4 and 5 of the Minutes of Sixth Sitting):—

2, 4, 9, 15, 46, 60, 62, 63, 64, 75, 76, 77, 79, 80, 84, 103, 104, 124, 129, 130, 136, 138, 179 and 200.

3. The Committee took up discussion of clause 15. The discussion was not concluded.

4. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 09:00 hours on Tuesday, the 14th July, 1959.

## Ninth Sitting

The Committee met from 09.00 hours to 14.20 hours on Tuesday, the 14th July, 1959.

#### PRESENT

#### Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman

## MEMBERS

## Lok Sabha

- 2. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 3. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 4. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 5. Shri Radhelal Vyas
- 6. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 7. Shri M. Shankaraiya
- 8. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 9. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 10. Shri G. D. Somani
- 11. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 12. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
- 13. Shrimati Sucheta Kripalani
- 14. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 15. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 16. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 17. Shri M. R. Masani
- 18. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 19. Shri G. K. Manay
- 20. Shri Naushir Bharucha
- 21. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

## Rajya Sabha

- 22. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai
- 23. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

24. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai

25. Shri J. S. Bisht

26. Shri Akbar Ali Khan

27. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha

28. Shri P. T. Leuva

29. Shri M. P. Bhargava

30. Shri R. S. Doogar

31. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao

32. Shri Rohit M. Dave

## DRAFTSMAN

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

## SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai-Under Secretary.

2. The Committee, resumed discussion on clause 15 of the Bill. Discussion on the clause was concluded.

3. The Committee then had a general discussion on clauses 60, 62, 75, 129 and 130 of the Bill.

4. The Committee then adjourned to meet again, at 93.30 hours on Wednesday, the 15th July, 1959.

148

.

÷

# **Tenth Sitting**

The Committee met from 08.37 hours to 14.20 hours on Wednesday, the 15th July, 1959.

## PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman.

## Members

Lok Sabha

2. Shri H. C. Heda

3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha

4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane

6. Shri Radhelal Vyas

7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy

8. Shri M. Shankaraiya

9. Shri Jaganatha Rao

10. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi

11. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka

12. Shri G. D. Somani

13. Shri Feroze Gandhi

14. Shri Arun Chandra Guha

15. Shrimati Sucheta Kripalani

16. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani

17. Shri Nityanand Kanungo

18. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani

19. Shri M. R. Masani

20. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav

21. Shri G. K. Manay

22. Shri Naushir Bharucha

23. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

## Rajya Sabha

•

1

24. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

25. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

818(B) L.S.-20

26. Shri P. D. Himatsingka

27. Shri Babhubhai M. Chinai

- 28. Shri J. S. Bisht
- 29. Shri Akbar Ali Khan
- 80. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha
- 81. Shri P. T. Leuva
- 32. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 33. Shri R. S. Doogar
- 34. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
- 35. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

) 14-1

5

## Draftsman

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai-Under Secretary.

2. The Committee had a general discussion on clauses 2, 4, 9, 27, 46, 75, 63, 64, 76, 77, 79, 80, 84, 103, 104, 119, 124, 136, 138, 179, 196, 198 and 200.

3. The Committee decided to ask for extension of time for the presentation of the Report upto the last day of the first week of the Winter Session and the Chairman was authorised to move the necessary motion in the House.

4. The Committee also authorised the Chairman to fix their next sitting towards the end of the Eighth Session.

5. The Committee then adjourned.

# XI Eleventh Sitting

:

The Committee met from 16.00 hours to 16.25 hours on Friday, the 4th September, 1959.

#### PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman.

### Members

## Lok Sabha

2. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha

3. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

4. Shri Shivram Rango Rane

5. Shri P. T. Thanu Pillai

6. Shri Jaganatha Rao

7. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi

8. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka

9. Shri G. D. Somani

10. Shri Mulchand Dube

11. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi

12. Shri Arun Chandra Guha

13. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani

14. Shri Nityanand Kanungo

15. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani

16. Shri Tridib Kumar Chaudhuri

17. Shri Surendra Mahanty

18. Shri Naushir Bharucha

19. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

#### Rajya Sabha

20. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettlar

21. Shri P. D. Himatsingka

22. Shri J. S. Bisht

23. Dr. R. P. Dube

151

. . .

ţ.

- 1

24. Shri Akbar Ali Khan

25. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha

- 26. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 27. Shri R. S. Doogar
- 28. Shri V. K. Dhage
- 29. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

#### Draftsman

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

...

## Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai—Under Secretary.

2. The Chairman informed the Committee that he would be out of India for two months from the 16th of September, 1959. After consulting the members the Chairman announced that he would resign from the Committee so that the Speaker may appoint another Chairman in his place.

3. The Committee decided to hold their next sittings from the 14th October, 1959 onwards.

4. The Chairman suggested that notice of amendments to the clauses of the Bill might be sent to the Lok Sabha Secretariat by the end of September, 1959.

5. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 15.00 hours on Wednesday, the 14th October, 1959.

## Twelfth Sitting

The Committee met from 15.00 hours to 16.35 hours on Wednesday, the 14th October, 1959.

#### PRESENT

ы • · · · • •

> ۍ ج

Shri Arun Chandra Guha-Chairman

.....

#### MEMBERS

Lok Sabha

2. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha

3. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

4. Shri Shivram Rango Rane

5. Shri Radhelal Vyas

6. Shri N. R. M. Swamy

7. Shri M. Shankaraiya

8. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi

9. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka

10. Shri Feroze Gandhi

11. Shri C. D. Pande

12. Shri Mulchand Dube

13. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi

14. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani

15. Shri Nityanand Kanungo

16. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani

17. Shri M. R. Masani

18. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav

19. Shri Naushir Bharucha

#### Rajya Sabha

20. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

21. Shri P. D. Himatsingka

22. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai

23. Shri J. S. Bisht

24. Dr. R. P. Dube

**.** 153

XII

25. Shri Akbar Ali Khan

26. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha

- 27. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 28. Shri R. S. Doogar
- 29. Shri V. K. Dhage
- 30. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

#### DRAFTSMAN

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

ii.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

#### Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai-Deputy Secretary.

2. As the Minister of Commerce and Industry was not able to attend the sittings of the Committee due to illness, the Committee decided not to take up controversial clauses of the Bill.

3. The Committee decided to sit day to day upto the 17th October, 1959.

4. The Committee then took up clause by clause consideration of the Bill.

5. Clause 2.—Consideration of the clause was held over.

6. Clause 3.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 4,

(a) line 4,

for "half the nominal value" substitute "half in nominal value.".

(b) line 17,

1

for "by that body corporate" substitute "by that body corporate whether alone or together with one or more other bodies corporate incorporated outside India."

The clause as amended was adopted.

 Clause 4.—The following amendment was accepted: — In page 4,

for lines 18-25, substitute-

- '6. A person shall be deemed to be a relative of another Meaning of if, and only if, relative.
  - (a) they are members of a Hindu undivided family; or
  - (b) they are husband and wife; or
  - (c) the one is related to the other in the manner indicated in Schedule 1A'".

t f

The clause as amended was adopted.

8. Clause 5.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 4,

ŕ

....

-

for lines 26-27, substitute—

"5. Amendment of section 8.—In section 8 of the principal Act,

- (a) the words 'not being a banking or an insurance company' shall be omitted;
- (b) for the words 'any production or manufacture', the words "any establishment engaged in any production, processing or manufacture' shall be substituted".

The clause as amended was adopted.

- 9. Clauses 6 to 8.—Consideration of these clauses was held over.
- 10. Clause 9.-The following amendment was accepted:-

In page 5, lines 26-29,

for "the operation of all or any of the following sections, that is to say, sections 53, 147, 159, 160, 161, 166, 171 to 173, 176, 188, 190, 259, 269, 280, 282, 285, 287 and 303", substitute "such of the provisions of this Act as may be specified therein."

The clause as amended was adopted.

11. Clause 10.-The clause was adopted without any amendment.

12. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 09.30 hours on Thursday, the 15th October, 1959.

# XIII

## **Thirteenth Sitting**

The Committee met from 09.30 hours to 13.00 hours on Thursday, the 15th October, 1959.

### PRESENT

Shri Arun Chandra Guha-Chairman.

## MEMBERS

## Lok Sabha

- 2. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 3. Shri Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 4. Shri N. R. M. Swamy

•

- 5. Shri P. T. Thanu Pillai
- 6. Shri M. Shankaraiya
- 7. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 8. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 9. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 10. Shri C. D. Pande
- 11. Shri Mulchand Dube
- 12. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 13. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 14. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 15. Shri M. R. Masani
- 16. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 17. Shri Naushir Bharucha

#### Rajya Sabha

- 18. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai
- 19. Shri T. S. Avineshilingam Chettiar
- 20. Shri P. D. Himatsingka
- 21. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai
- 22. Shri J. S. Bisht
- 28. Dr. R. P. Dube

...

1

۰,

- 24. Shri Akbar Ali Khan
- 25. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha
- 26. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 27. Shri R. S. Doogar
- 28. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
- 29. Shri V. K. Dhage
- 30. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

#### DRAFTSMAN

- Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law. REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS
- Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

.

## Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai-Deputy Secretary.

2. The Committee resumed clause by clause consideration of the Bill.

3. Clause 9.—The Committee re-opened discussion on this clause.

After some discussion the clause as amended at their last sitting was adopted.

4. Clause 11.-The clause was adopted without any amendment.

The Committee, however, felt that the rules under the Act should lay down a specific period of thirty days or so within which the Central Government should dispose of an application for granting of approval to the alteration in the article which has to be obtained under the proviso.

- 5. Clause 12.—The following amendment was accepted:—
  - In page 6, line 38,

after "club or", insert "the company is any". The clause as amended was adopted.

6. Clause 13.—The clause was omitted.

7. Clause 14.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

8. Clause 15.—Consideration of the clause was held over.

9. Clause 16.—The draftsman was directed to submit a revised draft of the clause in the light of the discussion in the Committee.

10. Clauses 17 and 18.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

618(B) L.S.\_\_21

11. New clauses 18A and 18B.—New clauses as follows, were adopted:—

Page 9,

after line 2, add-

"Amendment of section 62.--

18A. In Section 62 of the principal Act, in the proviso to sub-section (1), the words, brackets, and letter 'clause (b) of' shall be omitted.

Amendment of section 63.—

18B. In Section 63 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), in clause (b), the words, brackets and letter '(clause (b) of' shall be omitted."

12. Clause 19.--The clause was adopted without any amendment.

13. Clause 20.—The following amendment was accepted:—

Page 9,

for lines 8-25, substitute-

"20. Amendment of Section 75.—In section 75 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1) for clause (c), the following clause shall be substituted, namely:—

(c) file with the Registrar-

- (i) in the case of bonus shares, a return stating the number and nominal amount of such shares comprised in the allotment and the names, addresses and occupations of the allottees and a copy of the resolution authorising the issue of such shares;
- (ii) in the case of issue of shares at a discount, a copy of the resolution passed by the company authorising such issue together with a copy of the order of the Court sanctioning the issue and where the maximum rate of discount exceeds ten per cent., a copy of the order of the Central Government permitting the issue at the higher percentage.' "

The clause as amended was adopted.

14. Clauses 21 and 22.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

15. Clause 23.—The consideration of the clause was held over.

16. Clause 24.-The following amendment was accepted:-

Page 10,

for lines 18-25, substitute-

- "(2) A certificate may be renewed or a duplicate of a certificate may be issued if such certificate—
  - (a) is proved to have been lost or destroyed, or
  - (b) has been defaced, mutilated or torn and surrendered to the company.
- (3) If a company with intent to defraud renews a certificate or issues a duplicate thereof the company shall be punishable with fine which may extend to ten thousand rupees and every officer who is in default shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months or with fine which may extend to ten thousand rupees or with both.
- (4) Notwithstanding anything contained in the articles of association of a company, the manner of issue or renewal of a certificate or issue of a duplicate thereof, the form of a certificate (original or renewed) or of a duplicate thereof, the particulars to be entered in the register of members or in the register of renewed or duplicate certificates, the form of such registers, the fee on payment of which, the terms and conditions, if any including terms and conditions as to evidence and indemnity and the payment of out-of-pocket expenses incurred by a company in investigating evidence on which a certificate may be renewed or a duplicate thereof may be issued, shall be such as may be prescribed."

The clause as amended was adopted.

17. Clause 25.—The clause was omitted.

18. Clause 26.-The following amendment was accepted:-

In page 11, line 22,

after "holders of", insert "not less than".

Further consideration of the clause was held over.

The draftsman was directed to submit a revised draft in the light of the discussions in the Committee—with particular reference to the last line of the clause.

19. Clause 27.-The clause was adopted without any amendment.

The Committee, however, felt that rules should provide for graduated scales of fees to avoid hardship to holders of shares of small denomination.

20. Clauses 28 and 29.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

21. Clause 30.-The following amendment was accepted:-

In page 12,

.

for lines 34-35, substitute-

"In sub-section (1), for the words 'in whole or in part', the words 'in full' shall be substituted."

The clause as amended was adopted.

22. Clauses 31 and 32.—These clauses were omitted.

23. The Chairman announced that the following controversial clauses will not be taken up for consideration for the time being:—

Clauses 58, 60, 62, 63, 74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 79, 80, 84, 103, 104, 124, 130, 138 and 139.

24. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 09.30 hours on Friday, the 16th October, 1959.

 $\begin{aligned} \mathbf{f}_{i} &= \mathbf{f}_{i} \\ \mathbf{f}_{i} \\ \mathbf{f}_{i} &= \mathbf{f}_{i} \\ \mathbf{f}_{i} \\ \mathbf{f}_{i} &= \mathbf{f}_{i} \\ \mathbf$ 

## Fourteenth Sitting

The Committee met from 09.30 hours to 13.00 hours on Friday, the 16th October, 1959.

#### PRESENT

Shri Arun Chandra Guha-Chairman.

# MEMBERS

Lok Sabha

2. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha

3. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

4. Shri Shivram Rango Rane

5. Shri N. R. M. Swamy

6. Shri P. T. Thanu Pillai

7. Shri M. Shankariaya

8. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi

9. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka

10. Shri G. D. Somani

11. Shri Feroze Gandhi

12. Shri C. D. Pande

13. Shri Mulchand Dube

14. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi

15. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani

16. Shri Nityanand Kanungo

17. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani

18. Shri M. R. Masani

19. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav

20. Shri Naushir Bharucha

to so succession Rajya Sabha

nood 21. ShrioKhandubhai K. Desai

to noticelline T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

agrad 23/ Shrt P. D. Himatsingka

· Guis Part, or that the

dano dia

# XIV

- 24. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai
- 25. Shri J. S. Bisht
- 26. Dr. R. P. Dube
- 27. Shri Akbar Ali Khan
- 28. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha
- 29. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 30. Shri R. S. Doogar
- 31. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
- 32. Shri V. K. Dhage
- 33. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

## DRAFTSMEN

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

Shri P. L. Gupta, Deputy Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

## SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai-Deputy Secretary.

2. The Committee resumed clause by clause consideration of the Bill.

3. Clause 33.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 13,

for lines 3-23, substitute-

- "Substitution of new section for section 141. In section 141 of the principal Act, for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---
  - (1) The Court on being satisfied—
    - (a) that the omission to file with the Registrar the particulars of any charge created by a Company or of any charge subject to which any property has been acquired by the Company or of any modification of any such charge or of any issue of debentures of a series, or that the omission to register any charge within the time required by this Part, or that the omission to give intimation to the Registrar of the

payment or satisfaction of a charge, within the time required by this Part or that the omission or mis-statement of any particular with respect to any such charge, modification or issue of debentures of a series or with respect to any memorandum of satisfaction or other entry made in pursuance of section 138 or 139, was accidental or due to inadvertence or to some other sufficient cause or is not of a nature to prejudice the position of creditors or share-holders of the company; or

(b) that on other grounds it is just and equitable to grant relief,

may on the application of the company or any person interested and on such terms and conditions as seem to the Court just and expedient direct that the time for filling of the particulars or for the registration of the charge or for the giving of intimation of payment or satisfaction shall be extended or as the case may require, that the omission or mis-statement shall be rectified."

The clause as amended was adopted.

4. Clauses 34 and 35.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

5. Clause 36.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 13,

for line 31, substitute-

- "(a) in sub-section (1)—
  - (1) in clause (a), after the words 'its name', the words 'and the address of its registered office' shall be inserted;
  - (2) in clause (c)—".

The clause as amended was adopted.

6. Clause 37.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

7. Clause 38.—The Committee discussed whether in the proposed proviso, the words "dividends are declared" should be substituted by the words "dividends are due".

The draftsman was directed to examine this question in the light of discussion in the Committee.

The Committee further felt that Government might prepare a note on the mechanism of closing of books, declaration of dividends etc. for circulation to members.

8. Clause 39.—The Committee felt that the language of this clause was not clear. The draftsman was directed to submit a revised draft of the clause in the light of discussion in the Committee.

9. Clause 40.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 14,—

- (a) after line 32, insert—
  - "(a) after the words "a list of its members", the words "and a list of its debenture holders" shall be inserted;
- (b) line 33, for the brackets and letter "(a)", substitute the brackets and letter "(b)";
- (c) line 35, for the brackets and letter "(b)", substitute the brackets and letter "(c)".

The clause as amended was adopted.

- 10. Clause 41.—The following amendment was accepted:—
  - In page 15,
    - (a) omit lines 5 to 9.
    - (b) line 10,
      - for the brackets and figures "(ii)", substitute the brackets and figures "(i)".
    - (c) for line 12, substitute-
      - "(ii) the following proviso and Explanation shall be added at the end".
    - (d) line 18,

omit "and stock".

(e) line 19,

for "shall", substitute "may".

(f) line 23,

for "amount of stock", substitute "number of shares".

- (g) after line 23, insert—
  - "Explanation.—Any reference in this section or in section 160 or 161 or in Schedule V to the day on which an

annual general meeting is held or to the date of the annual general meeting shall, where the annual general meeting for any year has not been held, be construed as a reference to the latest day on or before which that meeting should have been held in accordance with the provisions of this Act."

The clause as amended was adopted.

- 11. Clause 42-The following amendment was accepted:-
  - (a) In page 15,

omit lines 33 to 37.

- (b) In page 16, line 1,
  - for the brackets and letter "(b)", substitute the brackets and letter "(a)".
- (c) In page 16, line 5,
  - for "the annual", substitute "the date of the annual".
- (d) In page 16, lines 6 to 8,
  - omit "or where the said annual general meeting has not been held, since the latest day for the holding of that meeting".
- (e) In page 16, line 10,
  - for the brackets and letter "(c)", substitute the brackets and letter "(b)".

The clause as amended was adopted.

12. Clause 43.-The following amendment was accepted:-

In page 16, line 17,

after "certificates", insert "of shares and debentures".

The clause as amended was adopted.

13. Clause 44.—The clause was omitted.

14. Clause 45.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

15. Clause 46.—Consideration of the clause was taken up but not concluded.

16. The Committee adjourned to meet again at 10.00 hours on Saturday, the 17th October, 1959. 613(B) L.S.-22

## **Fifteenth Sitting**

The Committee met from 10.00 hours to 12.25 hours on Saturday, the 17th October, 1959.

## PRESENT

Shri Arun Chandra Guha-Chairman.

# Members

Lok Sabha

2. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha

3. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

4. Shri Shivram Rango Rane

5. Shri Radhelal Vyas

6. Shri N. R. M. Swamy

7. Shri P. T. Thanu Pillai

8. Shri M. Shankaraiya

9. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi

10. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka

11. Shri G. D. Somani

12. Shri Feroze Gandhi

13. Shri C. D. Pande

14. Shri Mulchand Dube

15. Shri Rohanlal Chaurvedi

16. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani

17. Shri Nityanand Kanungo

18. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani

19. Shri M. R. Masani

20. Shri Surendra Mahanty

21. Shri Naushir Bharucha.

Rajya Sabha

22. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

23. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettier

1**66** 

## XV

24. Shri P. D. Himatsingka

25. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai

26. Shri J. S. Bisht

- 27. Dr. R. P. Dube
- 28. Shri Akbar Ali Khan
- 29. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha
- 30. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 31. Shri R. S. Doogar
- 32. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
- 33. Shri V. K. Dhage
- 34. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

## Draftsmen

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

Shri P. L. Gupta, Deputy Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

# SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai—Deputy Secretary.

2. The Committee resumed clause by clause consideration of the Bill.

301Clause 46.-(contd.).-The Committee felt that-

- (i) the Registrar and not the Central Government ought to be empowered to grant extension of time for holding annual general meetings;
- (ii) period of extension ought to be three months only; and
- (iii) annual general meeting should be held in every year.

The draftsman was asked to submit a revised draft of the clause accordingly.

4. Clause 47.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

5. Clause 48.—The clause was omitted.

6. Clause 49.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

7. New clause 49A.—The Committee decided to take up consideration of the following new clause after clause 109:—

In page 17,

after line 39, add—

- "49A. Amendment of section 173.—In section 173 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2)—
  - (a) for the words 'the nature and extent of the interest', the words 'the nature of the concern or interest' shall be substituted;
  - (b) the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:—
    - 'Provided that the extent of shareholding interest in the company of every director, the managing agent, if any, the secretaries and treasurers if any, and the manager, if any, shall also be sent out in the statement where such director or the managing agent or the secretaries and treasurers or the manager holds not less than twenty per cent. of the paid-up share capital of the company".

8. Clause 50.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

9. New clause 50A.—On a point of order being raised that the following new clause was beyond the scope of the Bill, its consideration was held over:—

In page 18,

after line 12, add-

"50A. Amendment of section 187.—In Section 187 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), for the words 'a member', the words 'an individual member' shall be substituted."

10. Clause 51.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 18, line 18,

for "a company", substitute "the company".

The clause as amended was adopted.

11. Clause 52.—The following amendments were accepted:-

In page 18,

(a) line 27,

for "twenty-one days", substitute "fourteen days".

(b) line 37,

for "fourteen days", substitute "seven days".

The clause as amended was adopted.

- 12. Clause 53.-Consideration of the clause was held over.
- 13. Clause 54.—The following amendment was accepted:—
- In page 19,

for lines 21-30, substitute-

- "54. Amendment of section 193.—In section 193 of the principal Act, for sub-section (1), the following sub-sections shall be substituted, namely:—
  - '(1) Every company shall cause minutes of all proceedings of every general meeting and of all proceedings of every meeting of its Board of Directors or of every Committee of the Board, to be kept by making within fourteen days of the conclusion of every such meeting concerned, entries thereof in books kept for that purpose with their pages consecutively numbered.
  - (1A) Each page of every such book shall be initialled or signed and the last page of the record of proceedings of each meeting in such books shall be dated and signed—
    - (a) in the case of minutes of proceedings of a meeting of the Board or a Committee thereof, by the Chairman of the said meeting or the Chairman of the next succeeding meeting;
    - (b) in the case of minutes of proceedings of a general meeting, by the Chairman of the same meeting within the aforesaid period of fourteen days or in the event of the death or inability of that Chairman within that period, by a director duly authorised by the Board for the purpose.
  - (1B) In no case the minutes of proceedings of a meeting shall be attached to any such book aforesaid by pasting or otherwise'".

The clause as amended was adopted.

14. Clauses 55 and 56.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

15. Clause 57.—The clause was omitted.

16. Clause 58.—Consideration of the clause was held over.

17. The Committee decided to ask for extension of time for the presentation of the Report upto the last day of the first week of the next Budget Session and the Chairman and in his absence, Shri R. R. Morarka was authorised to move the necessary motion in the House.

18. The Chairman was authorised to fix their next sitting during the Ninth Session for deciding their future programme of sittings.

19. The Committee then adjourned.

# Sixteenth Sitting

The Committee met from 15.35 hours to 15.40 hours on Thursday, the 3rd December, 1959.

#### PRESENT

# Shri Arun Chandra Guha-Chairman.

# MEMBERS

# Lok Sabha

- 2. Shri H. C. Heda
- 3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 4. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 5. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 6. Shri M. Shankaraiya
- 7. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 8. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 9. Shri Mulchand Dube
- 10. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 11. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 12. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 13. Shri Naushir Bharucha

# Rajya Sabha

- 14. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar
- 15. Shri P. D. Himatsingka
- 16. Shri J. S. Bisht
- 17. Dr. R. P. Dube
- 18. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 19. Shri V. K. Dhage
- 20. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

## DRAFTSMAN

- Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.
- Shri P. L. Gupta, Deputy Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

## 171

# XVI

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

# Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai—Deputy Secretary.

2. The Committee decided to hold their further sittings from the 25th January, 1960 onwards.

3. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 15.00 hours on Monday, the 25th January, 1960.

172

# XVП

# Seventeenth Sitting

The Committee met from 15.00 hours to 15.57 hours on Monday, the 25th January, 1960.

# PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman.

# MEMBERS

Lok Sabha

2. Shri H. C. Heda

3. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

4. Shri Shivram Rango Rane

5. Shri Radhelal Vyas

6. Shri N. R. M. Swamy

7. Shri M. Shankaraiya

8. Shri Jaganatha Rao

9. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi

10. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka

11. Shri G. D. Somani

12. Shri C. D. Pande

13. Shri Mulchand Dube

14. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi

15. Shri Arun Chandra Guha.

16. Shri Narendrabhaî Nathwani

17. Shri Nityanand Kanungo

18. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani

19. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav

20. Shri G. K. Manay

21. Shri Naushir Bharucha

22. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

Rajya Sabha

23. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

24. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

173

613(B) L.S.--23

- 25. Shri P. D. Himatsingka
- 26. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai
- 27. Shri J. S. Bisht
- 28. Shri Akbar Ali Khan
- 29. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 30. Shri V. K. Dhage
- 31. Shri Rohit M. Dave

## DRAFTSMAN

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

# SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai—Deputy Secretary.

2. The Committee decided to sit up to the 30th January, 1960 and thereafter to meet again from 4th July, 1960.

3. The Committee then resumed clause by clause consideration of the Bill.

4. Clause 58.—Consideration of the clause was taken up but not concluded.

5. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 14.30 hours on Wednesday, the 27th January, 1960.

# XVIII

# **Eighteenth Sitting**

The Committee met from 14.30 hours to 17.40 hours on Wednesday, the 27th January, 1960.

#### PRESENT

## Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman

## MEMBERS

# Lok Sabha

2. Shri H. C. Heda

١

- 3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 6. Shri Radhelal Vyas
- 7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 8. Shri M. Shankaraiya
- 9. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 10. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 11. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 12. Shri G. D. Somani
- 13. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 14. Shri Mulchand Dube
- 15. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
- 16. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 17. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 18. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 19. Shri M. R. Masani
- 20. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 21. Shri G. K. Manay
- 22. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

# Rajya Sabha

- 23. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai
- 24. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

# 175

25. Shri P. D. Himatsingka

26. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai

27. Shri J. S. Bisht

r vales

- 28. Shri Akbar Ali Khan
- 29. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 30. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
- 31. Shri V. K. Dhage.

# Draftsman

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

## Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai—Deputy Secretary.

2. The Committee resumed clause by clause consideration of the Bill.

3. Clause 58 (contd.).—The clause was omitted.

4. Clauses 59-60 — Consideration of the clauses was concluded but the decision thereon was held over.

5. Clause 61.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

6. Clauses 62-63.— Consideration of the clauses was held over.

7. Clause 64.—Consideration of the clause was taken up but not concluded.

8. The Committee reviewed their earlier decision (vide para 2 of the minutes of the Seventeenth Sitting, held on the 25th January, 1960) and decided to meet from the 7th July, 1960 instead of from the 4th July, 1960 for further consideration of the Bill after adjourning on the 30th January, 1960.

9. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 14.00 hours on Thursday, the 28th January, 1960.

# Nineteenth Sitting

XIX

The Committee met from 14.05 hours to 16.45 hours on Thursday, the 28th January, 1960.

## PRESENT

## Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman

# MEMBERS

Lok Sabha

2. Shri H. C. Heda

3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha

4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane

6. Shri N. R. M. Swamy

7. Shri M. Shankaraiya

8. Shri Jaganatha Rao

9. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka

10. Shri G. D. Somani

11. Shri Feroze Gandhi

12. Shri Mulchand Dube

13. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi

14. Shri Arun Chandra Guha

15. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani

16. Shri Nityanand Kanungo

17. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani

18. Shri M. R. Masani

19. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav

20. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri.

# Rajya Sabha

21. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

22. Shri P. D. Himatsingka

23. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai

177

- 24. Shri J. S. Bisht
- 25. Shri Akbar Ali Khan
- 26. Shri P. T. Leuva
- 27. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 28. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
- 29. Shri V. K. Dhage.

# Draftsman

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

Representatives of Ministries and other Officers

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

## SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai-Deputy Secretary.

2. The Committee resumed clause by clause consideration of the Bill.

- 3. Clause 59.—The Clause was adopted without any amendment.
- 4. Clause 60.—The following amendments were accepted:—
  - (1) In page 21, line 16,
    - after "Central Government" insert "unless such approval has been obtained under any other provision of this Act".
  - (2) In page 22, line 10,

after "persons aforesaid" insert "or his spouse or child." The clause as amended was adopted.

- 5. Clause 64.—The following amendments were accepted:—
  - (1) In page 24,
    - (i) lines 32-33,
      - for "send to the Registrar intimation in writing of the full address of that other place," substitute "file with the Registrar a notice in writing giving full address of that other place."
    - (ii) for lines 34-35 substitute-
      - "(b) in sub-section (4) for the words 'by any director during business hours', the words 'during the business hours

by any director or by the Registrar or by any officer of Government authorised by the Central Government in this behalf' shall be substituted."

(2) In page 24,

-----

- after line 35, insert-
- "(c) after sub-section (4) the following proviso shall be inserted, namely:---
- 'Provided that the books of account shall also be open to inspection by the Registrar or by any officer of Government authorised by the Central Government in this behalf if in the opinion of the Registrar or such officer sufficient cause exists for the inspection of the books of accounts.'".
- (3) In page 25,
  - (i) for lines 7-9, substitute-
  - "(d) in sub-section (5)-
    - (i) for the words "fine which may extend to one thousand rupees", the words "imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months or with fine which may extend to one thousand rupees or with both" shall be substituted;
    - (ii) in the proviso, the words 'that he had reasonable ground to believe, and did believe', shall be omitted;"
  - (ii) Line 13,
    - for "or manager" substitute "or managing director or manager".
- (iii) for lines 14-15, substitute—
  - "(ii) in clause (d), for the words 'secretaries and treasurers, every director of the company', the words 'secretaries and treasurers nor managing director nor manager, every director of the Company', shall be substituted;".
  - (iv) for lines 16-17, substitute-
    - "(f) in sub-section (7)
      - (i) after the words 'secretaries and treasurers,' the words 'managing director, manager' shall be inserted;
      - (ii) for the words 'fine which may extend to one thousand rupees' the words 'imprisonment for a term which

may extend to six months or with fine which may extend to one thousand rupees or with both' shall be substituted."

It was decided to add a second proviso to sub-section (5) of Section 209 of the principal Act on the lines of the second proviso to sub-section (5) of section 210 of the principal Act.

The draftsman was directed to carry out the necessary changes.

The clause as amended was adopted.

6. Clause 65.—The following amendments were accepted:— In page 25,

- (i) for lines 19-28, substitute-
  - "(a) in sub-section (3), for clause (b), the following clause shall be substituted, namely---
    - '(b) in the case of any subsequent annual general meeting of the company, to the period beginning with the day immediately after the period for which the account was last submitted and ending with a day which shall not precede the day of the meeting by more than six months, or in cases where an extension of time has been granted for holding the meeting under the second proviso to sub-section (1) of section 166, by more than six months and the extension so granted'".
- (ii) line 24,

for "the proviso" substitute "the first proviso."

The clause as amended was adopted.

- 7. Clause 66.—The following amendments were accepted:—
  - (1) In page 25,

1

for lines 28-37, substitute-

- "(a) for sub-section (1) the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely---
  - '(1) Every balance sheet of a company shall give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company as at the end of the financial year and shall, subject to the provisions of this section, be in the Form set out in Part I of Schedule VI, or as near thereto as circumstances admit or in such other form as may be approved by the Central Government either

generally or in any particular case and in preparing the balance sheet due regard shall be had, as far as may be, to the general instructions for preparation of balance sheet under the heading 'Notes' at the end of that Part :

- Provided that nothing contained in this sub-section shall apply to any insurance or banking company or any company engaged in the generation or supply of electricity or to any other class of company for which a form of balance sheet has been specified in or under the Act governing such class of company'".
- (2) In page 26,
  - (i) line 7,

"for "the proviso" substitute "the first proviso".

- (ii) for lines 10-11, substitute---
  - "(f) in sub-section (8), after the words 'secretaries and treasurers', the words 'managing director or manager' shall be inserted".

The clause as amended was adopted.

8. Clause 67.-The following amendment was accepted:--

In page 26,

for lines 33-34, substitute-

"(c) in sub-section (10), after the words 'secretaries and treasurers' the words 'managing director, manager' shall be inserted".

The clause as amended was adopted.

9. Clause 68.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

10. Clause 69.—The following amendments were accepted:—

In page 27,

(i) line 5,

for "clauses" substitute "clause".

- (ii) line 7,
  - for "material changes" substitute "material changes and commitments".

613(B) L.S.-24

(iii) line 11.

omit "and".

(iv) omit lines 12-14.

The clause as amended was adopted.

11. Clause 70.-The clause was omitted.

12. Clause 71.-The following amendment was moved:-

In page 27,

for lines 23-24 substitute-

"(i) in clause (a)-

- the words 'in the case of a public company' shall be omitted;
- (2) the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely---
  - Provided that in the case of a private company, copies of the balance sheet and copies of the profit and loss account shall be filed with the Registrar separately".

The consideration of the clause was held over till decision on clause 15.

- 13. Clause 72.—Consideration of the clause was held over.
- 14. Clause 73.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.
- 15. Clauses 74-80.-Consideration of the clauses was held over.
- 16. Clause 81.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.
- 17. Clause 82.-The following amendments were accepted.
  - (1) In page 33,

omit lines 36-39.

(2) In page 34,

omit lines 1—3.

(3) In page 34,

for line 4, substitute—

- "(c) for sub-section (3), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely---
  - (3) The amount of expenses in respect of which any company, body corporate, managing agent, secretaries and treasurers or associate managing director

or manager is liable under sub-clause (i) of clause (c) of sub-section (1) to reimburse the Central Government shall be recoverable from that company, body corporate, managing agent, secretaries and treasurers or associate managing director or manager as an arrear of land revenue."

It was also decided that in sub-clause (i) of clause (c) of sub-section (1) of section 245, after "associate" the words "managing director or manager" should be inserted.

The draftsman was directed to carry out the necessary changes. The clause as amended was adopted.

18. Clause 83.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

19. Clause 84.-Consideration of the clause was held over.

20. Clauses 85-88.—The clauses were adopted without any amendment.

21. Clause 89.—The following amendment was accepted: — Page 36,

for lines 11-19, substitute-

Å ...

- "(1A) The Company shall inform its members of the candidature of a person for the office of director or the intention of a member to propose such person as a candidate for that office, by serving individual notices on the members not less than seven days before the meeting:
- Provided that it shall not be necessary for the company to serve the individual notices upon the members as aforesaid if the Company advertises such candidature or intention not less than seven days before the meeting in at least two newspapers circulated in the place where the registered office of the company is located, of which one is published in the English language and the other in the regional language of that place."

The clause as amended was adopted.

**22.** Clauses 90-92.—The clauses were adopted without any **amendment**.

23. Clause 93.-The following amendment was accepted:-

Page 37, line 22,

for "seven days" substitute "thirty days".

The clause as amended was adopted.

24. Clauses 94-97.—The clauses were adopted without any amendment.

25. Clause 98.—The following amendment was accepted:—

Page 38,

for lines 25-31, substitute-

"Provided further that where a person has been appointed as a director of a public company or of a private company which is a subsidiary of a public company, before he has attained the age of sixty-five years, he shall not be required to vacate his office within a period of three years after his appoinment merely on the ground that he has attained that age within that period.".

The clause as amended was adopted.

26. Clause 99.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

27. Clause 100.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 39, lines 37-38,

for "and not more than two calendar months shall intervene between any two meetings" substitute "and not more than two months shall intervene between the last day of the calendar month in which such meeting is held and the date of the next meeting;".

The clause as amended was adopted.

28. Clauses 101-02.—The clauses were adopted without any amendment.

29. Clauses 103-104.—Consideration of the clauses was held over.

30. Clause 105.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

It was felt that the question of certain facilities being given to subsidiaries may be examined in the light of following suggested amendment:—

In page 44, line 3,

after "subsidiaries" insert "any other arrangements made by its subsidiary, or".

31. Clause 106.—The clause was adopted without any amendment. 32. Clause 107.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

The Draftsman was directed to examine whether the proviso after clause (b) of the proposed sub-section (2) applied only to clause (b) or also to clause (a) of the sub-section. The draftsman was directed to redraft the proviso, if necessary in order to make the intention clear.

33. Clause 108.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

34. Clause 109.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 45,

for lines 28-32, substitute-

"(6) Nothing in this section shall apply to any contract or arrangement entered into or to be entered into between two companies where any of the directors of the one company or two or more of them together holds or hold not more than two percent of the paid up share capital in the other company."

The clause as amended was adopted.

35. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 10.00 hours on Friday, the 29th January, 1960.

# Twentieth Sitting

XX

The Committee met from 10.13 hours to 13.05 hours on Friday the 29th January, 1960.

## PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman

# MEMBERS

Lok Sabha

- 2. Shri H. C. Heda
- 3. Shri Satvendra Naravan Sinha
- 4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 6. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 7. Shri M. Shankaraiya
- 8. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 9. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 10. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 11. Shri G. D. Somani
- 12. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 13. Shri Mulchand Dube
- 14. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi
- 15. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
- 16. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 17. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 18. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 19. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 20. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

## Rajya Sabha

- 21. Shri Khandubhai K. Desal
- 22. Shri P. D. Himatsingka
- 23. Shri J. S. Bisht

186

4--

24. Shri Akbar Ali Khan

25. Shri P. T. Leuva

.

26. Shri M. P. Bhargava

27. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao

28. Shri V. K. Dhage

## Draftsman

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF THE MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

#### SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai—Deputy Secretary.

2. The Committee resumed clause by clause consideration of the Bill.

3. Clause 110.-The clause was adopted without any amendment.

4. Clause 111.—The Committee considered the following amendments:—

(1) In page 46.

for lines 23-32, substitute-

- (2) particulars of every such contract or arrangement to which section 297 or as the case may be, sub-section
   (2) of section 299 applies, shall be entered in the relevant register aforesaid—
  - (a) in the case of a contract or arrangement requiring the Board's approval, within seven days (exclusive of public holidays) of the meeting of the Board at which the contract or arrangement is approved,
  - (b) in the case of any other contract or arrangement, within seven days of the receipt at the registered office of the company of the particulars of such other contract or arrangement or within thirty days of the date of such other contract or arrangement whichever is later;

and the register shall be placed before the next meeting of the Board and shall then be signed by all the directors present at the meeting." (2) In page 47,

for lines 4-7, substitute-

• "(b) to any contract or arrangement (to which section 297 or as the case may be, section 299 applies) by a banking company for the collection of bills in the ordinary course of its business or to any transaction referred to in clause (c) of sub-section (2) of section 297."

The decision on the clause was held over.

- 5. Clause 112.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.
- 6. Clause 113.—The following amendment was accepted:—
  - In page 47,

for lines 12-14, substitute-

- (i) in clause (a), after the words 'any former name or surname in full' the words 'his father's name and surname in full or where the individual is a married woman, the husband's name and surname in full', shall be inserted;
- (ii) in clause (b), after the words 'that nationality', the words 'the father's name or where a director is a married woman, the husband's name', shall be inserted;
- (iii) in clause (c), after the words 'that nationality', the words 'the father's name or where a partner is a married woman, the husband's name', shall be inserted;
- (iv) in clause (1) of the Explanation, for the words 'whose instructions', the words 'whose directions or instructions', shall be substituted."

The clause as amended was adopted.

7. Clauses 114-115.—The clauses were adopted without any amendment.

8. Clause 116.—The following amendments were accepted:—

In page 48,

- (i) line 22,
  - after "Provided that" insert "except with the approval of the Central Government."

(ii) after line 25, add—

- "(b) in sub-section (4), the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:—
  - 'Provided that the company in general meeting may, with the approval of the Central Government authorise the payment of commission at a rate exceeding one percent, or as the case may be, three percent, of its net profit".

The following amendment was also accepted subject to the provision that the payment of fees to a director on a monthly basis will be discontinued when the terms of the present incumbents cease or after two years whichever is less:—

In page 48,

after line 16, add—

"Provided that nothing in this sub-section shall be deemed to prohibit the payment of fees to a director on a monthly basis where immediately before the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1959, fees for meetings of the Board or a Committee thereof, attended by such director, are paid on that basis."

The Draftsman was directed to recast the above accordingly.

Subject to the above, the clause as amended was adopted.

9. Clause 117.-The clause was adopted without any amendment.

It was suggested that Government might issue a circular letter to about 500 private and public companies to obtain information about the nature and extent of control exercised by them on other private or public companies, if any.

- 10. Clause 118.—The following amendment was accepted:—
- In page 49, line 13,

after "shall" insert "not".

The clause as amended was adopted.

11. Clause 119.—The following amendments were accepted:—

t

- (1) In page 49, line 19,
  - for "the following sub-section" substitute "the following subsections".

618(B) L.S.--25

(2) In page 50,

after line 19, add-

"(1A) Nothing in sub-section (1) shall apply where a relative of a director or a firm in which such relative is a partner holds any office or place of profit under the company or a subsidiary thereof having been appointed to such office or place before such director becomes a director of the company."

The clause as amended was adopted.

12. Clauses 120-121.—The clauses were adopted without any amendment.

13. Clause 122.—The clause was adopted without any amendment subject to its being reopened, if necessary, after consideration of clause 15.

14. Clause 123.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 51,

.

1

ł

÷

for lines 30-31, substitute-

- "123. Amendment of section 318.—In section 318 of the principal Act, in sub-section (3)—
  - (a) in clause (a), the words "secretaries and treasurers" shall be omitted;
  - (b) in clause (c), for the brackets and letter '(k)' the brackets and letter '(i)' shall be substituted."

The clause as amended was adopted.

15. Clause 124.—Consideration of the clause was held over.

16. New clause 124A.—The Committee decided to hold over consideration of the following new clause:—

In page 51,

after line 37, add-

. .

<sup>&</sup>quot;124A. Amendment of section 332.—In section 332 of the principal Act—

- (a) in sub-section (4), for clause (b), the following clause shall be substituted, namely:----
  - (b) where the managing agent of the company is itself a company, every person who is a director, the Secretaries and treasurers or a manager of the latter company, and where the latter company is a public company, every member thereof who is entitled to exercise not less than ten percent of the total voting power therein and where the latter company is a private company, every member thereof;'
- (b) after sub-section (4), the following Explanation shall be inserted, namely:---
  - 'Explanation: The expressions 'director' and 'member' in clause (b) shall include any person in accordance with whose directions or instructions the director or the member, as the case may be, is in the opinion of the Central Government, accustomed to act'."
- 17. Clause 125.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 52, line 16,

for "prepare" substitute "prepare, and the managing agent; shall prepare".

The clause as amended was adopted.

18: Clause 126.—The clause was adopted without any amendment, subject to the question of punishment with imprisonment for contravention of the provisions of sub-section (1) of section 343 beingreopened.

19: Clauses 127-128 - Consideration of the clauses was held over.

20. Clause 129.—The committee considered the following amendments:—

(1) In page 54,

- (i) for lines 21-23, substitute-
  - "(a) in sub-section (3),---
    - (i) in clause (c), for the words 'profits from the sale', the words 'profits of a capital nature including profits from the sale' shall be substituted;

- termine (ii) the following proviso shall be inserted at the end, namely:---
  - "Provided that where the amount for which any fixed asset is sold exceeds the written down value thereof referred to in section 350, credit shall be given for so much of the excess as is not higher than the difference between the original cost of that fixed asset and its written down value."
  - (b) line 32,

for "clauses (d) and (3)" substitute "clause (d)".

(2) In page 55,

for lines 1—10, substitute—

- "(c) in sub-section (5) after clause (c), the following clause be inserted, namely:----
  - (d) loss of a capital nature including loss on sale of the undertaking or any of the undertakings of the company or of any part thereof not including any excess referred to in the proviso to section 350 of the written value of any asset which is sold, discarded, demolished or destroyed over its sale proceeds or its scrap value."

The decision on the clause was held over.

21. The Chairman announced that the Committee might sit on any one Saturday to be fixed by him during the ensuing Budget Session when the Houses were not sitting for further considering non-controversial clauses of the Bill.

22. The Committee decided to ask for further extension of time for the presentation of their report upto the last day of the first week of the Eleventh Session and the Chairman and in his absence Shri Arun Chandra Guha, was authorised to move the necessary motion in the House.

23. The Committee then adjourned.

3

,

# XXI

# **Twenty-first Sitting**

The Committee met from 15.00 hours to 15.15 hours on Saturday, the 23rd April, 1960.

#### PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman.

# MEMBERS

# Lok Sabha

2. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha

3. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

4. Shri Shivram Rango Rane

5. Shri Radhelal Vyas

 $0 < \omega$ 

- 6. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 7. Shri P. T. Thanu Pillai
- 8. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 9. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 10. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 11. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
- 12. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 13. Shri Naushir Bharucha
- 14. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

## Rajya Sabha

1

!

.....

- 15. Shri P. D. Himatsingka
- 16. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai
- 17. Shri Ram Sahai
- 18. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 19. Shri Jairamdas Daulatram
- 20. Shri Dahyabhai V. Patel
- 21. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

## Draftsman

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Joint Secretary and Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

# 193

#### REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

# Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai—Deputy Secretary.

2. At the outset the Chairman welcomed the new members of the Rajya Sabha who had been appointed on the Committee by the Rajya Sabha in the vacancies caused by the retirement of some members from that House.

3. The Committee then fixed up their future programme of work.

4. The Committee decided to meet from the 16th July, 1960, onwards daily from 09.00 hours to 13.00 hours and again from 15.00hours to 17.00 hours till the completion of their work.

5. The Committee desired that further notices of Government amendments if any, to the Bill, might be made available to the members of the Committee by the 7th July, 1960.

6. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 09.00 hours on Saturday, the 16th July, 1960.

# XXII

# Twenty-second Sitting

The Committee met from 09.00 hours to 12.00 hours on Saturday, the 16th July, 1960.

## PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman.

# MEMBERS

.

i.

ł

.

# Lok Sabha

- 2. Shri H. C. Heda
- 3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 6. Shri Radhelal Vyas
- 7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 8. Shri M. Shankaraiya
- 9. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 10. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 11. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 12. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 13. Shri C. D. Pande
- 14. Shri Mulchand Dube
- 15. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi
- 16. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
- 17. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 18. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 19. Shri M. R. Masani
- 20. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 21. Shri G. K. Manay

- 22. Shri Naushir Bharucha
- 23. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

. . . .

195

# Rajya Sabha

24. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

25. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

26. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai

27. Shri J. S. Bisht

28. Shri Akbar Ali Khan

29. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha

30. Shri Ram Sahai

31. Shri M. P. Bhargava

32. Shri Jairamdas Daulatram

33. Shri P. Ramamurti

34. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

## Draftsman

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Joint Secretary and Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

# Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai—Deputy Secretary.

2. The Committee resumed clause by clause consideration of the Bill.

3. Clause 130.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 55,

1

.

ł

after line 24, insert-

"Provided that if any asset is sold, discarded, demolished or destroyed for any reason before depreciation of such asset has been provided for in full, the excess, if any, of the written down value of such asset over its sale proceeds or, as the case may be, its scrap value, shall be written off in the financial year, in which the asset **is** sold, discarded, demolished or destroyed."

The clause as amended was adopted.

4. Clauses 131 and 132.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

# 196

5. New clause 132A.—The following new clause was adopted:—

197

In page 55,

after line 31, add-

"132A. Amendment of section 359.

- In section 359 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), the words 'managing agents, secretaries and treasurers, manager' shall be omitted."
- 6. Clause 133.-Consideration of the clause was held over.
- 7. Clause 134.-The clause was adopted without any amendment.
- 8. Clause 135.—The following amendment was accepted:—
  - In page 56,

for lines 30-37, substitute-

- "(b) for sub-section (2), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:—
  - (2) Nothing contained in sub-section (1) or section 295 shall apply to:---
  - (a) any credit given by the company to its managing agent for the purpose of facilitating the company's business and held by such agent in his own name in one or more current accounts, subject to limits previously approved by the directors of company and on no account exceeding twenty thousand rupees in the aggregate; or
  - (b) any loan made by a holding company to its subsidiary.
    - Explanation.—Credit referred to in clause (a) of subsection (2) is confined to any cash advance given by way of a permanent advance or imprest for facilitating the carrying on the company's business, transactions of such advance or imprest account being settled as far as on a monthly basis."

The clause as amended was adopted.

9. Clause 136.—Consideration of the clause was held over.

- 10. Clause 137.-The following amendment was accepted:-
  - In page 58,

618(B) L.S.-26

for lines 16-29, substitute-

Insertion of new section 370A.

- "137. After section 370 of the principal Act, the following section shall be inserted, namely:----
  - '370A. Provisions as to certain loans which could not have been made if sections 369 and 370 were in force.— Where any loan made, guarantee given or security provided by a company and outstanding at the commencement of Companies (Amendment) Act, 1959 would not have been made, given or provided if section 369 or section 370 had been in force at the time when such loan was made, guarantee given or security provided, the company shall, within six months from the commencement of that Act enforce the repayment or the loan made or as the case may be, revoke guarantee given or the security provided, notwithstanding any agreement to the contrary:
- Provided that the period of six months within which the company is required by this section to enforce the repayment of the loan or to revoke the guarantee or security, may be extended—
  - (a) in the case of a loan, guarantee or security under section
     369, by the Central Government on an application
     made to it by the company for that purpose;
  - (b) in the case of a loan, guarantee or security under section 370, by a special resolution of the company'."

The clause as amended was adopted.

11. New Clause 137A.-The following new clause was adopted:-

In page 58,

after line 29, insert-

- "137A. In section 371 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), for the words and figures 'section 369 or 370' the words, brackets, figures and letters 'section 369 or section 370 [excluding sub-section (IC) or (1D)], or section 370A' shall be substituted."
- 12. Clause 138.—Consideration of the clause was held over.
- 13. Clause 139.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

Amendmen of section 371. 14. New clause 139A.-The following new clause was adopted:-

In page 61,

after line 15, insert-

"139A. In section 374 of the principal Act, for the words and Amendment figures 'section 372 or 373' the words, figures and 374. brackets 'section 372 [excluding sub-section (6) and (7) or section 373]' shall be substituted".

15. Clauses 140 to 145.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

16. Clause 146.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 62, line 21,

The clause as amended was adopted.

17. Clauses 147 to 150.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

18. Clause 151.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 62, line 35,

The clause as amended was adopted.

- 19. Clause 152.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.
- 20. Clause 153.-Consideration of the clause was held over.
- 21. Clause 154.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

22. Clause 155.—Consideration of the clause was held over.

23. Clause 156.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 64,

- (a) for lines 1 and 2, substitute-
  - "156. Amendment of section 417.—In section 417 of the principal Act—
  - (a) for sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:--"

<sup>..</sup> after "Provided that" insert "except with the approval of the Central Government."

after "secretaries and treasurers" insert "where they occur for the first time"

(b) after line 14, insert-

"(b) in sub-section (3), the words 'with a Scheduled Bank' shall be omitted."

The clause as amended was adopted.

24. Clause 157.—The draftsman was directed to scrutinise the language of the clause and if necessary to recast it to make the intention clear.

Subject to above, the clause was adopted.

25. New Clause 157A.—The following new clause was adopted:

In page 65.

after line 4, insert-

Amendment of section 420-

- "157A. In section 420 of the principal Act, for the words 'fine which may extend to five hundred rupees', the words 'imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months or with fine which may extend to one thousand rupees' shall be substituted."
- 26. Clause 158.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.
- 27. Clause 159.—Consideration of the clause was held over.
- 28. New Clause 159A.—The following new clause was adopted:— In page 65.

after line 13, add-

"159. Amendment of section 444.—In section 444 of the principal Act, for the words 'official liquidator' the words 'Official Liquidator and the Registrar' shall be substituted."

29. Clauses 160 to 162.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

30. Clause 163.—Consideration of the clause was held over.

31. Clauses 164 to 166.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

Insertion of new section 458A. 32. New clause 166A.—The Committee decided to hold over consideration of the following new clause:—

In page 67,

after line 27, insert—

"166A. After section 458 of the principal Act, the following section shall be inserted, namely:— "405A. Notwithstanding anything in the Indian Limitation Exclusion of certain time Act, 1908 (9 of 1908) or in any other law for in computtime being in force, in computing the periods of limitation prescribed for any suit or application in the name and on behalf of a company which is being wound up by the Court, the period from the date of commencement of the winding up of the company to the date on which the winding up order is made (both inclusive) and a period of one year immediately following the date of the winding up order shall be excluded'"

# 83. Clause 167.-The following amendment was accepted:-

## In page 67,

for lines 28-30, substitute-

"167. In section 463 of the principal Act,-

```
Amendment
of Section
```

- (a) after the words 'imposed on him by this Act', the words <sup>463</sup>.
   and figures 'or by the Indian Companies Act, 1913' shall be inserted;
- (b) the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:---
- "Provided that where the winding up of a company has commenced before the commencement of this Act, the Court may, on the application of the Central Government, appoint in place of such liquidator the official liquidator as the liquidator in such winding up."

The clause as amended was adopted.

34. Clauses 168 to 178.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

35. Clause 179.-Consideration of the clause was held over.

36. Clauses 180 to 182.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

37. New Clause 182A.—The Committee decided to hold over consideration of the following new clause:—

- 182A. In section 546 of the principal Act, after sub-section (1), Amendment the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:— of section 546
  - (1A) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1) in the case of a winding up by the Court the Supreme

Court may make rules under section 643 providing that the liquidator may, under such circumstances, if any, and subject to such conditions, restrictions and limitations, if any, as may be specified in the rules, exercise any of the powers referred to in sub-clause (ii) or subclause (iii) of sub-section (1) without the sanction of the Court."

38. Clause 183.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

39. Clause 184.—The following amendment was adopted:—

In page 71, line 22,

for "one month" substitute "two months".

The clause as amended was adopted.

40. Clause 185.-The following amendment was accepted:-

In page 72,

(a) line 23,

after "Reserve Bank of India" insert "in a separate account";

- (b) after line 26, add—
- "(c) in sub-section (9), in clause (a), the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:—
  - 'Provided that the Central Government may in any proper case remit either in part or in whole the amount of interest which the liquidator is required to pay under this clause'."

The clause as amended was adopted.

41. Clauses 186 to 188.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

42. Clause 189.—The following amendment was accepted:--

In page 73,

(a) line 14, Omit "set of";

(b) line 26, . . . . .

for "fee" substitute "additional fee".

The clause as amended was adopted.

43. Clause 190.—The following amendments were accepted:--

(i) In page 73, line 38,

after "fee" insert "including the additional fee".

(ii) In page 74, line 4,

after "months" insert "or fine or both".

The clause as amended was adopted.

44. Clauses 191 and 192.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

45. Clauses 193 and 194.—Consideration of these clauses was held over.

46. New Clause 194A.—The Committee decided to hold over consideration of the following new clause:—

In page 75,

after line 24, add-

"194A. Section 620 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

47. Clause 195.—The following amendment was accepted:— In page 76,

for lines 1-8, substitute-

"(3) A copy of every notification issued under sub-clause (1) shall be laid as soon as may be after it is issued, before each House of Parliament."

The clause as amended was adopted.

48. Clause 196.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

49. Clause 197.—The clause was omitted.

50. Clauses 198 and 199.—These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

51. Clause 200.—The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 77,

for lines 3-11, substitute-

- "200. Insertion of new section 629A. After section 629 of the principal Act, the following Section shall be inserted, namely:—
  - '629A. Penalty where no specific penalty is provided elsewhere in Act.—If a company or any other person contravenes any provisions of this Act for which no punishment is provided elsewhere in the Act, the company and every officer who is

in default or such other person shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees and where the contravention is a continuing one, with a further fine which may extend to fifty rupees for every day during which the contravention continues'."

The clause as amended was adopted.

52. Clauses 201-205.-Consideration of these clauses was held over.

53. Clause 206.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

54. Clause 207. The following amendment was accepted:-

In page 79, lines 8-9,

for "in any such winding up and then functioning" substitute "and functioning in any such winding up".

The clause as amended was adopted.

55. Clause 208.—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

56. Clauses 209-212.—Consideration of these clauses was held over.

57. The Committee decided to meet from Monday, the 18th July, 1960, onwards daily from 14.30 hours to 19.00 hours till the completion of their work.

58. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 14.30 hours on Monday, the 18th July, 1960.

# XXIII

# Twenty-third Sitting

The Committee met from 14.30 hours to 18.30 hours on Monday, the 18th July, 1960.

### PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman.

# Members

.

-

# Lok Sabha

- 2. Shri H. C. Heda
- 3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 6. Shri Radhelal Vyas
- 7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 8. Shri M. Shankaraiya
- 9. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 10. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 11. Shri G. D. Somani
- 12. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 13. Shri C. D. Pande
- 14. Shri Mulchand Dube
- 15. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi
- 16. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
- 17. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 18. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 19. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 20. Shri M. R. Masani
- 21. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 22. Shri G. K. Manay
- 23. Shri Naushir Bharucha
- 24. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

# 205

613(B) L.S.-27

## Rajya Sabha

- 25. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai
- 26. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar
- 27. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai
- 28. Shri J. S. Bisht
- 29. Shri Akbar Ali Khan
- 30. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha
- 31. Shri Ram Sahai
- 32. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 33. Shri Jairamdas Daulatram
- 34. Shri Dahyabhai V. Patel
- 35. Shri P. Ramamurti
- 36. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

### Draftsman

- Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Joint Secretary and Draftsman, Ministry of Law.
- REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS
- Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

# Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai-Deputy Secretary.

2. The Committee resumed clause by clause consideration of the Bill and took up for consideration held over clauses.

3. Clause 23.— (Vide para 15 of the minutes of the 13th sitting, held on the 15th October 1959). The Committee considered the following amendments:—

In pages 9-10,

for lines 35-37 on page 9 and 1-14 on page 10, substitute-

Amendment of section 81.

- "23. In section 81 of the principal Act,—
  - (a) in sub-section (1)—
    - (i) for the words 'Where at any time subsequent to the first allotment of shares in a company it is proposed to increase the subscribed capital of the company by the issue of new shares, then subject to any directions to the contrary which

#### 206

may be given by the company in general meeting, and subject only to those directions—', the following words shall be substituted, namely:—

. .

- "Where at any time after the expiry of two years from the formation of a company or at any time after the expiry of one year from the allotment of shares in that company made for the first time after its formation, whichever is earlier, the Board of directors decides to increase the subscribed capital of the company by allotment of further shares, then, subject to any directions to the contrary which may be given by the company in general meeting—':
- (ii) in clause (a), for the word 'new' the word 'further' shall be substituted;
- (b) for sub-section (3), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:—
  - '(3) Nothing in this section shall apply-
    - (a) to a private company; or

. .

AL,

- (b) to the increase of the subscribed capital of a public company caused by the conversion of debentures issued or loans raised by the company into shares in the company:
- Provided that the terms of issue of such debentures or the terms of such loans include a term providing for an option to exchange such debentures or loans for shares in the company and such term—
  - (a) has been approved by a special resolution of the company before the issue of the debentures or the raising of the loans; and also
  - (b) either has been approved by the Central Government before the issue of the debentures or the raising of the loans, or is in conformity with the rules, if any, made by that Government in this behalf."

The draftsman was directed to submit a redraft in the light of the discussion in the Committee.

4. New clause 49A.— (Vide para 7 of the minutes of the 15th sitting, held on the 17th October, 1959) The following new clause was adopted:—

• Page 17,

after line 39, add-

- "49A. Amendment of Section 173.—In section 173 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2)—
  - (a) for the words 'the nature and extent of the interest' the words 'the nature of the concern or interest' shall be substituted.
  - (b) the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:---
    - 'Provided that the extent of share-holding interest in the company of every director, the managing agent, if any, the Secretaries and treasurers, if any, and the manager, if any, shall also be set out in the statement where such director or the managing agent or the secretaries and treasurers or the manager holds not less than twenty per cent of the paid-up share capital of the company."

5. New clause 50A.—(Vide para 9 of the minutes of the 15th sitting, held on the 17th October, 1959) The following new clause was adopted:—

In page 18,

after line 12, add—

"50A. Amendment of section 187.—In section 187 of the principal Act, in sub-section (2), for the words 'a member', the words 'an individual member' shall be substituted."

6. Clause 53.—(Vide para 12 of the minutes of the 15th sitting held on the 17th October, 1959) The following amendment was accepted:—

Page 19,

- (a) after line 8, insert-
  - "(bb) in sub-section (3), for the words 'such resolution or agreement' the words, brackets and figures 'resolution or agreement referred to in sub-section (1)' shall be substituted."

(b) line 10.

for "Clauses" substitute "Clause".

fe) Omit lines 18-30.

The clause as smended was adopted.

7. Clause 62.— (vide para 6 of the minutes of the 18th Sitting, heid on the 27th January, 1960).—The following amendment was accepted:—

# Pages 22-23,

- for lines 28-32 on page 22 and for lines 1-14 on page 23, misstitute-
  - '62. For section 205 of the principal Act, the following section shall be substituted, namely:---

section 101 section 205.

"205.(1) No dividend shall be declared or paid by a Dividend to be paid only out of the only out of profits of the company for that year arrived at profits. after providing for depreciation in accordance with the provisions of sub-section (2) or out of the profits of the company for any previous financial year or years arrived at after providing for depreciation in accordance with those provisions and remaining undistributed or out of both or out of moneys provided by the Central Government or a State Government for the payment of dividend in pursuance of a guarantee given by that Government:

Provided that-

- (a) if the company has not provided for depreciation for any previous financial year or years it shall, before declaring or paying dividend for any financial year provide for such depreciation out of the profits of that financial year ar out of the profits of any other previous financial year or years;
- (b) If the company has incurred any loss in any previous financial year or years, then, the amount of the loss or an amount which is equal to the amount provided for depreciation for that year or those years whichever is less, shall be set off against the profits of the company for the year for which dividend is

proposed to be declared or paid or against the profits of the company for any previous financial year or years, arrived at in both cases after providing for depreciation in accordance with the provisions of sub-section (2) or against both;

- (c) the Central Government may, if it thinks necessary so to do in the public interest, allow any company to declare or pay dividend for any financial year out of the profits of the company for that year or any previous financial year or years without providing for depreciation:
- Provided further that it shall not be necessary for a company to provide for depreciation as aforesaid where dividend for any financial year is declared or paid out of the profits of any previous financial year or years which falls or fall before the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960.
- (2) For the purpose of sub-section (1), depreciation shall be provided either—
  - (a) to the extent specified in section 350; or
  - (b) in respect of each item of depreciable asset, for such an amount as is arrived at by dividing ninety-five per cent of the original cost thereof to the company by the specified period in respect of such assets; or
  - (c) on any other basis approved by the Central Government which has the effect of writing off by way of depreciation ninety-five per cent of the original cost to the company of each such depreciable asset on the expiry of the specified period; or
  - (d) as regards any other depreciable assets for which no rate of depreciation has been laid down by the Indian Income-tax Act, 1922 or the rules made thereunder, on such basis as may be approved by the Central Government by any general order published in the Official Gazette **cr by any special order in any particular case**

Provided that where depreciation is provided for in the manner laid down in clause (b) or clause (c), then,

210

in the event of the depreciable asset being sold, discarded, demolished or destroyed the written down value thereof at the end of the financial year in which the asset is sold, discarded, demolished or destroyed, shall be written off in accordance with the proviso to section 350.

(3) No dividend shall be payable except in cash:

Provided that nothing in this sub-section shall be deemed to prohibit the capitalization of profits or reserves of a company for the purpose of issuing fully paid-up bonus shares or paying up any amount for the time being unpaid on any shares held by the members of the company.

(4) Nothing in this section shall be deemed to affect in any manner the operation of section-208.

(5) For purposes of this section—

(a) "specified period" in respect of any depreciable asset shall mean the number of years at the end of which at least ninety-five per cent of the original cost of that asset to the company will have been provided for by way of depreciation if depreciation were to be calculated in accordance with the provisions of section 350;

(b) any dividend payable in cash may be paid by cheque or warrant sent through the post directed to the registered address of the shareholder entitled to the payment of the dividend or in the case of joint shareholders, to the registered address of that one of the joint shareholders which is first named on the register of members, or to such person and to such address as the shareholders or the joint shareholders may in writing direct."

The Committee directed the draftsman to examine whether the following amendment is necessary and if so to incorporate the same in the clause:

(i) in sub-clause (a) after "previous financial year or years" add "after the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960".

(ii) in sub-clause (b) after "in previous financial year or years" add "after the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960". Subject to this, the clause as amended was adopted.

8. Clause 63.—(vide para 6 of the minutes of the 18th Sitting, held on the 27th January, 1960).—The Committee adopted the following revised clause, proposed by Government, in substitution of the original clause 63:—

In pages 23-24,

for lines 15-37 on page 23 and lines: 1-16 on page 24, substitute-

Amendment of section 207. "63. In section 207 of the principal Act, for the words 'three months' the words 'forty-two days' shall be substituted."

9. Clause 71.— (Vide para 12 of the 19th Sitting, held on the 28th January, 1960).—The following amendment was adopted:—

Page 27,

for lines 23-24, substitute-

- "(i) in clause (a)-
  - the words "in the case of a public company" shall be omitted;
  - (2) the following proviso shall be added at the end, namely:---
    - 'Provided that in the case of a private company, copies of the balance sheet and copies of the profit and loss account shall be filed with the Registrar separately."

The clause as amended was adopted.

10. Clause 72.—(vide para 13 of the minutes of the 19th Sitting, held on the 28th January, 1960).—The Committee adopted the following revised clause proposed by Government, in substitution of the original clause 72:—

#### Page 28,

for lines 9-15, substitute-

Amendment of Mection 224.

- "72. In section 224 of the principal Act, for sub-section (1), the following sub-sections shall be substituted, namely:—
  - (1) Every company shall, at each annual general meeting appoint an auditor or auditors to hold office

212

from the conclusion of that meeting until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting and shall, within seven days of the appointment, give intimation thereof to every auditor so appointed, unless he is a retired auditor.

(1A) Every auditor appointed under sub-section (1), unless he is a retiring auditor, shall within thirty days of the receipt from the company of the intimation of his appointment, inform the Registrar in writing that he has accepted, or refused to accept, the appointment.

11. Clause 74.— (vide para 15 of the minutes of the 19th Sitting, held on the 28th January, 1960).—The Committee adopted the following revised clause, proposed by Government, in substitution of the original clause 74:—

## Page 28,

for lines 19-29, substitute-

"74. In section 227 of the principal Act,-

Amendment of section

- (a) in sub-section (3), after clause (b), the following 227. clause shall be inserted, namely:—
  - '(bb) whether the report on the accounts of any branch office audited under section 228 by a person other than the company's auditor has been forwarded to him as required by clause (c) of sub-section (3) of that section and how he has dealt with the same in preparing the auditor's report;'
- (b) in sub-section (4), after the brackets and letter '(b)', the brackets and letters '(bb)' shall be inserted;
- (c) for sub-section (5), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:—
  - '(5) The accounts of a company shall not be deemed as not having been, and the auditor's report shall not state that those accounts have not been, properly drawn up on the ground merely that the company has not disclosed certain matters if--
    - (a) those matters are such as the company is not required to disclose by virtue of any provisions contained in this or any other Act, and

613(B) L.S.--28

(b) those provisions are specified in the balance sheet and profit and loss account of the company."

12. Clause 75.— (vide para 15 of the 19th Sitting, held on the 28th January, 1960).—The following amendment was accepted:—

Page 29,

for lines 4-19, substitute-

- "(c) after sub-section (2), the following sub-sections shall be inserted, namely:—
  - '(3) (a) Where a company in general meeting decides to have the accounts of a branch office audited, otherwise than by the company's auditor, the company in that meeting shall for the audit of those accounts appoint a person qualified for appointment as auditor of the company under section 226, or where the branch office is situate in a country outside India, a person who is either qualified as aforesaid or an accountant duly qualified to act as an auditor of the accounts of the branch office in accordance with the laws of that country, or authorise the Board of directors to appoint such a person in consultation with the company's auditor;
  - (b) the person so appointed (hereafter in this section referred to as the branch auditor) shall have the same powers and duties in respect of audit of the accounts of the branch office as the company's auditor has in respect of the same;
  - (c) the branch auditor shall prepare a report on the accounts of the branch office examined by him and forward the same to the company's auditor who shall, in preparing the auditor's report, deal with the same in such manner as he considers necessary;
  - (d) the branch auditor shall receive such remuneration and shall hold his appointment subject to such terms and conditions as may be fixed either by the company in general meeting or by the Board of directors if so authorised by the company in general meeting.

(4) Notwithstanding anything contained in the foregoing provisions of this section, the Central Government may, by rules made in this behalf, exempt any branch (ffice from the provisions of this section to the extent specified in the rules and in making such rules the Central Government shall have regard to all or any of the following matters, namely:--

- (a) the arrangement made by the company for the audit of accounts of the branch office by a person otherwise qualified for appointment as branch auditor even though such person may be an officer or employee of the company;
- (b) the nature and quantum of activity carried on at the branch office during a period of three years immediately preceding the date on which the branch office is exempted from the provisions of this section;
- (c) the availability at a reasonable cost of a branch auditor for the audit of accounts of the branch office;
- (d) any other matter which in the opinion of the Central Government justifies the grant of exemption to the branch office from the provisions of this section."

The clause as amended was adopted.

13. New clause 75A.—The following new clause was adopted. The draftsman was, however, directed to provide that action under subsection (6) of the proposed section shall be taken within a period of four months.

Page 29,

1.1

2 -

1 . . .

1

¢.

÷.

4

ŗ

after line 19, insert-

- - 2.33A.
- '233A.-(1) Where the Central Government is of the opi-Power of nion

Government to direct

(a) that the affairs of any company are not being special audit managed in accordance with sound business prin- in certain ciples or prudent commercial practices; or

••• 🖌

- (b) that any company is being managed in a manner likely to cause serious injury or damage to the interests of the trade, industry or business to which it pertains; or
- (c) that the financial position of any company is such as to endanger its solvency,

the Central Government may at any time by order direct that a special audit of the company's accounts for such period or periods as may be specified in the order, shall be conducted and may by the same or a different order appoint either a chartered accountant as defined in clause (b) of sub-section (1) of section 2 of the Chartered Accountants Act, 1949, (whether or not such chartered accountant is a chartered accountant in practice within the meaning of that Act) or the company's auditor himself to conduct such special audit.

- (2) The chartered accountant or the company's auditor appointed under sub-section (1) to conduct a special audit as aforesaid is hereafter in this section referred to as the special auditor.
- (3) The special auditor shall have the same powers and duties in relation to the special audit as an auditor of. a company has under section 227:
- Provided that the special auditor shall, instead of making his report to the members of the company, make the same to the Central Government.
- (4) The report of the special auditor shall, as far as may be, include all the matters required to be included in an auditor's report under section 227 and if the Central Government so directs, shall also include statement on any other matter which may be referred to him by that Government.
- (5) The Central Government may by order direct any person specified in the order to furnish to the special auditor within such time as may be specified therein such information or additional information as may be required by the special auditor in connection with the special audit; and on failure to comply with such order such person shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees.
- (6) On receipt of the report of the special auditor the Central Government may take either or both of the following actions, that is to say---

216

38 of 1949.

- (a) may send to the company either a copy of, or relevant extracts from, the report with its comments thereon and may require the company either to circulate that copy or those extracts to the members or to have such copy or extracts read before the company in its next general meeting;
- (b) may take such action on the report as it considers necessary in accordance with the provisions of this Act or any other law for the time being in force.
- (7) The expenses of, and incidental to, any special audit under this section (including the remuneration of the special auditor) shall be determined by the Central Government (which determination shall be final) and paid by the company and in default of such payment shall be recoverable from the company as an arrear of land revenue.'"

14. Clause 76.— (vide para 15 of the 19th Sitting, held on the 28th January, 1960).—The Committee adopted the following revised clause, proposed by Government, in substitution of the original clause 76:—

Pages 29-30,

- for lines 20-38 on page 29 and lines 1-27 on page 30, substitute-
- "76. In section 234 of the principal Act-

Amendment of section

- (a) in sub-section (1), for the words 'in order that such of section document may afford full particulars of the matter to which it' the words 'with respect to any matter to which such document' shall be substituted;
- (b) after sub-section (3), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:---
  - <sup>1</sup>(3A) If no information or explanation is furnished within the time specified or if the information or explanation furnished is, in the opinion of the Registrar, inadequate, the Registrar may by another written order call on the company to produce before him for his inspection such books and papers as he considers necessary within such time as he may specify in the order; and it shall be the duty of the company, and of all persons who are officers of the company, to produce such books and papers.';

- (c) in sub-section (4),-
  - (i) after the words 'any such information or explanation' the words 'or if the company or any such person as is referred to in sub-section (3A) refuses or neglects to produce any such books and papers' shall be inserted;
  - (ii) for clauses (a) and (b) the following clauses shall be substituted, namely:---
    - '(a) the company and each such person shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees and in the case of a continuing offence, with an additional fine which may extend to fifty rupees for every day after the first during which the offence continues; and
      - (b) the court trying the offence may, on the application of the Registrar and after notice to the company, make an order on the company for production before the Registrar of such books and papers as in the opinion of the Court, may reasonably be required by the Registrar for the purpose referred to in sub-section (1).
  - (d) For sub-section (5) the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:—
    - '(5) On receipt of any writing containing the information or explanation referred to in sub-section (1) or of any book or paper produced whether in pursuance of an order of the Registrar under sub-section (3A) or of an order of the Court under sub-section (4), the Registrar may annex that writing, book or paper, or where that book or paper is required by the company, a copy or extract thereof, to the document referred to in sub-section (1); and any writing or any book or paper or copy or extracts thereof so annexed shall be subject to the like provisions as to inspection the taking of extracts and the furnishing of copies, as that document is subject;
  - (e) for sub-section (6) the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---
    - (6) If such information or explanation is not furnished within the specified time or if after perusal of such information or explanation or of

the books and papers produced whether in pursuance of an order of the Registrar under subsection (3A) or of an order of the Court under sub-section (4), the Registrar is of opinion that the document referred to in sub-section (1) together with such information or explanation or such books and papers discloses an unsatisfactory state of affairs or does not disclose a full and fair statement of any matter to which the document purports to relate, the Registrar shall report in writing the circumstances of the case to the Central Government.

(f) in sub-section (7), after the brackets and figure '(3)', the brackets, figure and letter '(3A)' shall be inserted."

15. Clause 77.— (vide para 15 of the 19th Sitting, held on the 28th January 1960).—The following amendment was accepted:—

(a) Pages 30-31,

In this clause omit the word "documents" wherever it occurs.

- (b) Page 30, line 31,
  - for "reason to believe" substitute "reasonable ground to believe";
  - (1) line 33,
    - after "secretaries and treasurers" insert "or managing director or manager";
  - (2) lines 35-36,

omit "which are 'n their custody or power";

(3) line 36,

- (4) lines 37-38,
- for "Magistrate of the First Class" substitute "the Magistrate of the First Class or, as the case may be, the Presidency Magistrate";
- (c) Page 31,

L

for lines 11-17, substitute-

"(3) The Registrar shall return the books and papers seized under this section as soon as may be, and in any case not

for "destroyed or tampered with" substitute "destroyed, mutilated, altered, falsified or secreted";

later than the thirtieth day, after such seizure, to the company or the other body corporate or, as the case may be, to the managing agent or the secretaries and treasurers or the associate of such managing agent or secretaries and treasurers or the managing director or the manager or any other person, from whose custody or power they were seized and inform the Magistrate of such return:

Provided that the Registrar may, before returning such books and papers as aforesaid, take copies of, or extracts from them or deal with the same in such other manner as he considers necessary."

The clause as amended was adopted.

16. Clause 78.— (vide para 15 of the 19th Sitting, held on the 28th January, 1960).—The Committee adopted the following revised clause proposed by Government, in substitution of the original clause 78:—

Pages 31-32,

for lines 22-29 on page 31 and lines 1-2 on page 32, substitute-

Substitution "78. For section 239 of the principal Act, the following section of new section for section for section 239.

Power of inspector to carry investigetion into affairs of related companies or of managing agent or associate etc.

- "239. (1) If an inspector appointed under section 235 or 237 to investigate the affairs of a company thinks it necessary for the **purposes** of his investigation to investigate also the affairs of—
  - (a) any other body corporate which is, or has at any relevant time been the company's subsidiary or holding company, or a subsidiary of its holding company, or a holding company of its subsidiary;
  - (b) any other body corporate which is, or has at any relevant time been managed—
    - (i) by any person as managing agent or as secretaries and treasurers or as managing director or as manager, who is, or was at the relevant time, either the managing agent or the secretaries and treasurers or the managing director or the manager of the company; or

- (ii) by any person who is, or was at the relevant time, an associate of the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers of the company; or
- (iii) by any person of whom the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers of the company is, or was at the relevant time, an associate;
- (c) any other body corporate which is, or has at any relevant time been managed by the company or whose Board of directors comprises of nominees of the company or is accustomed to act in accordance with the directions or instructions of—
  - (i) the company or,
  - (ii) any of the directors of the company, or
  - (iii) any company any of whose directorships are held
     by the employees or nominees of those having the control and management of the first mentioned company; or
- (d) any person who is or has at any relevant time been the company's managing agent or secretaries and treasurers or managing director or manager or an associate of such managing agent or secretaries and treasurers, the Inspector shall, subject to the provisions of sub-section (2), have power so to do and shall report on the affairs of the other body corporate referred to or of the managing agent, secretaries and treasurers, managing director, manager or associate of the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers, so far as he thinks that the results of his investigation thereof are relevant to the investigation of the affairs of the first-mentioned company.
- (2) In the case of any body corporate or person referred to in clause (b) (ii), (b) (iii), (c) or (d) of sub-section (1), the inspector shall not exercise his power of investigation into and reporting on, its or his affairs without first having obtained the prior approval of the Central Government thereto:
- Provided that before according approval under this sub-section, the Central Government shall give the body corporate or person a reasonable opportunity to show cause why such approval should not be accorded."

613(B) L.S.-29

17. Clause 79.—(vide para 15 of the 19th Sitting, held on the 28th January, 1960).—The following amendments were accepted:—

Page 32,

(a) after line 6, insert

"(aa) In sub-section (2), the words 'and for that purpose may require any of those persons to appear before him personally' shall be inserted at the end."

- (b) for lines 14-15, substitute
  - "(b) to appear before the inspector personally when required to do so under sub-section (2) or to answer any question which is put to him by the inspector in pursuance of that sub-section";
- (c) line 19, for "such evidence" substitute "such evidence if any";
- (d) lines 20-21, for "his explanation" substitute "his explanation, if any";
- (e) line 22, after "inspector" insert "of".
- (f) line 30, after "every day" insert "after the first";
- (g) after line 31, add—
  - "(c) in sub-section (6), in clause (c), for the word 'officers' occurring at both places, the words 'officers and other employees' shall be substituted".

The clause as amended was adopted.

18. Clause 80.—(vide para 15 of the 19th Sitting, held on the 28th January, 1960).—The following amendments were accepted:—

- (a) Pages 32-33,
  - for lines 34-38 on page 32 and lines 1-5 on page 33, substitute
    - "240. Where in the course of investigation under section 235 or section 237 or section 239 or section 247, the inspector has reasonable ground to believe that the books and papers of or relating to, any company or other body corporate or any managing agent or secretaries and treasurers or managing director or manager or such company or other body corporate, or any associate of such managing agent or secretaries and treasurers may be destroyed,

**Seizure** of **Accumen** by **inspector**.

mutilated, altered, falsified or secreted, the inspector may make an application to the Magistrate of the First Class or, as the case may be, the Presidency Magistrate, having jurisdiction for an order for the seizure of such books and papers.":

- (b) Page 33, lines 18-20,
  - for the words "the company or, as the case may be, the other body corporate, the managing agent, secretaries and treasurers or associate." substitute the following words "the company or the other body corporate or, as the case may be to the managing agent or the secretaries and treasurers or the associate of such managing agent or secretaries and treasurers or the managing director or the manager or any other person."

The clause as amended was adopted.

19. Clause 84.— (vide para 19 of the 19th Sitting, held on the 28th January, 1960).—The Committee adopted the following revised clause in substitution of the original clause 84:---

Pages 34-35,

for lines 9-38 on page 34 and lines 1-30 on page 35, substitute

"84. For section 250 of the principal Act, the following section Substitution shall be substituted, namely: ----

of new section for section 250.

- 250. (1) Where it appears to the Central Government, Imposition whether in connection with any investigation of restricunder section 247, 248 or 249 or otherwise, that shares and there is good reason to find out the relevant facts debentures and prohibiabout any shares (whether issued or to be issued) tion of transand the Central Government is of the opinion that fer of shares or debentures such facts cannot be found out unless the restric- in œitain tions specified in sub-section (2) are imposed, the cases. Central Government may, by order, direct that the shares shall be subject to the restrictions imposed by sub-section (2) for such period not exceeding three years as may be specified in the order.
- (2) So long as any shares are directed to be subject to the restrictions imposed by this sub-section-
  - (a) any transfer of those shares shall be void:

- (b) where those shares are to be issued, they shall not be issued; and any issue thereof or any transfer of the right to be issued therewith, shall be void;
- (c) no voting right shall be exercisable in respect of those shares;
- (d) no further shares shall be issued in right of those shares or in pursuance of any offer made to the holder thereof and any issue of such shares or any transfer of the right to be issued therewith, shall be void; and
- (e) except in a liquidation no payment shall be made of any sums due from the company on those shares, whether in respect of dividend, capital or otherwise.
- (3) Where a transfer of shares in a company has taken place and as a result thereof a change—
  - (a) in the composition of the Board of directors, or
  - (b) where the managing agent is an individual of the managing agent, or
  - (c) where the managing agent is a firm or a body corporate, in the constitution of the managing agent,
  - of the company is likely to take place and the Central Government is of the opinion that any such change would be prejudicial to the public interest, that Government may, by order, direct that—
    - (i) the voting rights in respect of those shares shall not be exercisable for such period not exceeding three years as may be specified in the order.
    - (ii) no resolution passed or action taken to effect a change in the composition of the Board of directors or of, or in the constitution of, the managing agent before the date of the order shall have effect unless confirmed by the Central Government.

- (4) Where the Central Government has reasonable ground to believe that a transfer of shares in a company is likely to take place whereby a change—
  - (a) in the composition of the Board of directors, or
  - (b) where the managing agent is an individual, of the managing agent, or
  - (c) where the managing agent is a firm or a body corporate, in the constitution of the managing agent, of the company is likely to take place and the Central Government is of the opinion that any such change would be prejudicial to the public interest that Government may by order direct that any transfer of shares in the company during such period not exceeding three years as may be specified in the order shall be void.
- (5) The Central Government may, by order at any time, vary or rescind any order made by it under sub-section (1) or sub-section (3) or sub-section (4).
- (6) Where the Central Government makes an order under sub-section (1) or sub-section (3) or subsection (4) or sub-section (5) or refuses to rescind any such order, any person aggrieved thereby may apply to the Court and the Court may, if it thinks fit, by order, vacate any such order of the Central Government.
- **Provided that no order, whether interim or final, shall** be made by the Court without giving the Central Government an opportunity of being heard.
- (7) Any order of the Central Government rescinding an order under sub-section (1), or any order of the Court vacating any such order, which is expressed to be made with a view to permitting a transfer of any shares, may continue the restrictions mentioned in clauses (d) and (e) of sub-section (2), either in whole or in part so far as they relate to any right acquired, or offer made, before the transfer.

- (8) Any such order of the Central Government shall be served on the Company within fourteen days after the making of the order.
- (9) Any person who-
  - (a) exercises or purports to exercise any right to dispose of any shares or of any right to be issued with any such shares when to his knowledge he is not entitled to do so by reason of any of the said restrictions applicable to the case under sub-section (2); or
  - (b) votes in respect of any shares whether as holder or proxy, or appoints a proxy to vote in respect thereof, when to his knowledge he is not entitled to do so by reason of any of the said restrictions applicable to the case under sub-section (2) or by reason of any order made under sub-section (3); or
  - (c) transfers any shares in contravention of any order made under sub-section (4); or
  - (d) being the holder of any shares in respect of which an order under sub-section (2) or subsection (3) has been made, fails to give notice of the fact of their being subject to any such order to any person whom he does not know to be aware of that fact but whom he knows to be otherwise entitled to vote in respect of those shares, whether as holder or as proxy, shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months or with fine which may extend to five thousand rupees or with both.
- (10) Where shares in any company are issued in contravention of such of the restrictions as may be applicable to the cases under sub-section (2), the company, and every officer of the company who is in default, shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five thousand rupees.
- (11) A prosecution shall not be instituted under this section except by, or with the consent of, the Central Government.

(12) This section shall apply in relation to debentures as it applies in relation to shares.'"

1

20. The Committee decided that on Wednesday, the 20th July, 1960 they will meet at 09.00 hours instead of 14.30 hours as decided on Saturday, the 16th July, 1960 (vide para 57 of the minutes).

21. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 14.30 hours on Tuesday, the 19th July, 1960.

## XXIV

# Twenty-fourth Sitting

The Committee met from 14.32 hours to 18.54 hours on Tuesday, the 19th July, 1960.

#### PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman.

# Members

- Lok Sabha
- 2. Shri H. C. Heda

•

- 3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 6. Shri Radhelal Vyas
- 7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 8. Shri M. Shankaraiya
- 9. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 10. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 11. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 12. Shri G. D. Somani
- 13. Shri C. D. Pande
- 14. Shri Mulchand Dube
- 15. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi
- 16. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
- 17. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 18. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 19. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 20. Shri M. R. Masani
- 21. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 22. Shri G. K. Manay
- 23. Shri Naushir Bharucha
- 24. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

### 228

### Rajva Sabha

25. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

26. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

27. Shri Babhubhai M. Chinai

28. Shri J. S. Bisht

29. Shri Akbar Ali Khan

30. Shri Awadeshwar Prasad Sinha

31. Shri Ram Sahai

32. Shri M. P. Bhargava

33. Shri Jairamdas Daulatram

34. Shri Dahyabhai V. Patel

35. Shri Mulka Govinda Reddy

36. Shri P. Ramamurti

37. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

#### DRAFTSMAN

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Joint Secretary and Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

# Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai—Deputy Secretary.

2. The Committee resumed clause by clause consideration of the Bill and took up for consideration held over clauses.

3. Clause 103.—(Vide para 29 of the minutes of the 19th sitting, held on the 28th January, 1960). The Comm<sup>i</sup>ttee after discussing the question of monetary contributions by companies to political parties adopted the clause without any amendment.

4. Clause 104.— (Vide para 29 of the minutes of the 19th sitting, held on the 28th January, 1960). The following amendments were moved:—

(1) Page 42, for lines 36-41, substitute,

(b) no managing agent who has ceased to hold office as such after the commencement of the companies (Amendment)
 Act, 1990 shall be appointed during a period of three years

613(B) L.S.--30

from the date of such cesser as the sole selling agent of the company whose managing agent he was.";

- (2) Page 43, for lines 1-19, substitute,
  - "(5) (a) Where a company has a sole selling agent for an area and it appears to the Central Government that there is good reason so to do, the Central Government may require the company to furnish to it such information regarding the terms and conditions of the appointment of the sole selling agent as it considers necessary for the purpose of determining whether or not such terms and conditions are prejudicial to the interests of the company;
  - (b) if the company refuses or neglects to furnish any such information, the Central Government may appoint a suitable person to investigate and report on the terms and conditions of appointment of the sole selling agent;
  - (c) if after perusal of the information furnished by the company or, as the case may be, the report submitted by the person appointed under clause (b), the Central Government is of the opinion that the terms and conditions of appointment of the sole selling agent are prejudicial to the interests of the company, the Central Government may, by order, make such variations in those terms and conditions as would in its opinion make them no longer prejudicial to the interests of the company;
  - (d) as from such date as may be specified by the Central Government in the order aforesaid, the appointment of the sole selling agent shall be regulated by the terms and conditions as varied by the Central Government.
  - (6) (a) where a company has more selling agents than one in any area or areas and it appears to the Central Government that there is good reason so to do, the Central Government may require the company to furnish to it such information regarding the terms and conditions of appointment of all the selling agents as it considers necessary for the purpose of determining whether any of those selling agents should be declared to be the sole selling agent for such area or any of such areas;
  - (b) if the company refuses or neglects to furnish any such information, the Central Government may appoint a suitable person to investigate and report on the terms and conditions of appointment of all the selling agents:

42、21、24

- (c) if after perusal of the information furnished by the company or, as the case may be, the report submitted by the persons appointed under clause (b), the Central Government is of the opinion that having regard to the terms and conditions of appointment of any of the selling agents and to any other relevant factors, that selling agent is to all intents and purposes the sole selling agent for such area, although there may be one or more other selling agents of the company operating in that area, the Central Govment may by order declare that selling agent to be the sole selling agent of the company for that area with effect from such date as may be specified in the order and may make suitable variations in such of the terms and conditions of appointment of that selling agent as are in the opinion of the Central Government prejudicial to the interests of the company: . 1
- (d) as from the date specified in clause (c) the appointment of the selling agent declared to be the sole selling agent shall be regulated by the terms and conditions as varied by the Central Government.
- (7) If a company refuses or neglects to furnish the information required by the Central Government under clause (a) of sub-section (5) or clause (a) of sub-section (6), the company shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five thousand rupees and every officer who is in default shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months or with fine which may extend to five thousand rupees or with both."

As regards the amendment No. (1) above, the Committee desired that the date should be from the introduction of the Bill, *i.e.* 1st May, 1959.

The Committee further felt that a managing agent who has resigned after the 1st May, 1959, might be appointed as a sole selling agent even within a period of 3 years with the approval of the Central Government.

As regards amendment No. (2) above, the Committee desired the Government to examine whether refusal or neglect to furnish information should be punishable with imprisonment also.

Subject to the above, the clause was adopted.

5. Clause 111.—(Vide para 4 of the minutes of the 20th sitting held on the 29th January, 1960). The following amendments were accepted:—

(1) Page 48,

for lines 23-31, substitute-

- "(2) particulars of every such contract or arrangement to which section 297 or as the case may be, sub-section
  (2) of section 299 applies, shall be entered in the relevant register aforesaid—
  - (a) in the case of a contract or arrangement requiring the Board's approval, within seven days (exclusive of public holidays) of the meeting of the Board at which the contract or arrangement is approved;
  - (b) in the case of any other contract or arrangement, within seven days of the receipt at the registered office of the company of the particulars of such other contract or arrangement or within thirty days of the date of such other contract or arrangement whichever is later;

and the register shall be placed before the next meeting of the Board and shall then be signed by all the directors present at the meeting."

(2) Page 47,

for lines 4-7, substitute-

"(b) to any contract or arrangement (to which section 297 or as the case may be, section 299 applies) by a banking company for the collection of bills in the ordinary course of its business or to any transaction referred to in clause (c) of sub-section (2) of section 297."

The clause as amended was adopted,

6. Clause 124.—(Vide para 15 of the minutes of the 29th sitting held on the 29th January, 1960). The following amendment was accepted:—

Page 51,

for lines 32—37, substitute—

'124. After section 325 of the principal Act, the following section shall be inserted, namely:---

325A. Subsidiary of a body corporate not to be appointed as managing agent in CErt ain CHES.

Insertion of new section

> "325A. After the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, no company shall appoint as

its managing agent any body corporate which is a subsidiary either of itself or of any other body corporate unless immediately before such commencement the company has any such subsidiary as its managing agent." '.

The clause as amended was adopted.

7. Clause 127.—(Vide para 19 of the minutes of the 20th sitting, held on the 29th January, 1960). The Committee adopted the following revised clause proposed by Government, in substitution of original clause 127:—

Page 53,

for lines 26-37, substitute,

"127. In section 346 of the principal Act,---

(a) in sub-section (1)—

Amendment of section 346.

- (i) for the words "before such expiry", the words "before the expiry of six months aforesaid or where further time has been allowed by the Central Government, before the expiry of that time" shall be substituted;
- (ii) in the Explanation, after clause (c), the following words shall be inserted as a separate paragraph, namely:—
  - 'and where the managing agent, being a body corporate is a subsidiary of another body corporate, includes a change in the constitution of that other body corporate within the meaning of clause (a), clause (b) or clause (c)';
- (b) for sub-section (2), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---
  - (2) Where the managing agent is a body corporate (whether or not it is a subsidiary of another body corporate) and its shares are for the time being dealt in, or quoted on, a recognised stock exchange, no change in the ownership of its shares, or
  - Where a managing agent being a body corporate is a subsidiary of another body corporate and the shares of the other body corporate are for the time being dealt in, or quoted on, a recognised stock exchange no change in the ownership of the shares of the sther body corporate,

shall be deemed to be a change in the constitution of the managing agent within the meaning and for the purposes of sub-section (1), unless the Central Government by notification in the official Gazette, otherwise directs:

Provided that no such notification shall be issued in respect of any such, or such other body corporate as aforesaid, unless the Central Government is of the opinion that any change in the ownership of its shares has taken place or is likely to take place, which has affected or is likely to affect prejudicially the affairs of any company which is being managed by the managing agent."

8. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 09.00 hours on Wednesday, the 20th July, 1960.

#### **Twenty-fifth Sitting**

XXV

The Committee met from 09 00 hours to 13 04 hours on Wednesday, the 20th July, 1960.

#### PRESENT

## Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman.

#### Members

#### Lok Sabha

2. Shri H. C. Heda

3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha .

4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary

5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane

6. Shri N. R. M. Swamy

7. Shri M. Shankaraiya

8. Shri Jaganatha Rao

9. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi

10. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka

11. Shri G. D. Somani

12. Shri Mulchand Dube

13. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi

14. Shri Arun Chandra Guha

15. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani

16. Shri Nityanand Kanungo

17. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani

18. Shri M. R. Masani

19. Shri Yaday Narayan Jadhay

20. Shri G. K. Menay

a second a second second second

21. Shri Naushir Bharucha

22. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

235

and the second

and a contraction of the Manual and

.

#### Rajya Sabha

1

23. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

24. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

- 25. Shri P. D. Himatsingka
- 26. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai
- 27. Shri J. S. Bisht
- 28. Shri Akbar Ali Khan
- 29. Shri Awadeshwar Prasad Sinha
- 30. Shri M. P. Bhargava
- 31. Shri Dahyabhai V. Patel
- 32. Shri Mulka Govinda Reddy
- 33. Shri P. Ramamurti |
- 34. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

#### Draftsman

Shri S. P. Sen, Verma, Joint Secretary and Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

#### Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai—Deputy Secretary.

2. The Committee at the outset considered the amendment mentioned at the end of para 7 of the minutes of the sitting held on the 18th July, 1960.

The Committee desired that the amendment should be suitably incorporated in the Bill.

3. The Committee resumed clause by clause consideration of the Bill and took up for consideration held over clauses.

4. New Clause 124A.—(Vide para 16 of the minutes of the 20th sitting held on the 29th January, 1960). The Committee considered the following amendment:—

#### 236

Page 51, after line 37, add-

"124A. In section 332 of the principal Act-

Amendment of section

- (a) in sub-section (4), for clause (b), the following clause 332. shall be substituted, namely:--
  - "(b) where the managing agent of the company is itself a company, every person who is a director, the Secretaries and treasurers or a manager, of the latter company, and where the latter company is a public company, every member thereof who is entitled to exercise not less than ten per cent. of the total voting power therein and where the latter company is a private company, every member thereof;";
- (b) after sub-section (4), the following Explanation shall be inserted, namely:---
  - "Explanation: —The expressions "director" and "member" in clause (b) shall include any person in accordance with whose directions or instructions the director or the member, as the case may be, is in the opinion of the Central Government accustomed to act."

The Committee felt that in the proposed clause (b) of sub-section (4), in the case of a member of a private company there should be a limit of five per cent of total voting power.

The Committee also directed the draftsman to make necessary clarificatory amendment in the Explanation.

Subject to above the amendment was accepted.

The clause as amended was adopted.

4. Clause 128.—(Vide para 19 of the minutes of the 20th sitting held on the 29th January, 1960). The following amendment was accepted:—

Page 54, line 18,

for "in sub-section (1)" substitute "in sub-section (1) or subsection (2)".

The clause as amended was adopted.

5. Clause 129 - (Vide para 20 of the minutes of the 20th sitting held on the 29th January, 1960). The following amendments were accepted:—

Page 54,

- (1) for lines 21-23, substitute
  - "(a) in sub-section (3),-
    - (i) in clause (c), for the words "profits from the sale"

613(B) L.S.--31

the words 'profits of a capital nature including profits from the sale' be substituted;

(ii) the following proviso shall be inserted at the end, namely: ---

'Provided that where the amount for which any fixed asset is sold exceeds the written down value thereof referred to in section 350, credit shall be given for so much of the excess as is not higher than the difference between the original cost of that fixed asset and its written down value."'.

- (2) for lines 29-34, substitute the following:-
  - "(ii) for clause (1) the following clause shall be substituted, namely:—
    - '(1) the excess of expenditure over income, which had arisen in computing the net profits in accordance with this section in any year which begins at or after the commencement of this Act, in so far as such excess has not been deducted in any subsequent year preceding the year in respect of which the net profits have to be ascertained.'".
- (3) Page 55, for lines 1 and 10, substitute, --
  - "(c) in sub-section (5), after clause (c), the following clause shall be inserted, namely:—
  - '(d) loss of a capital nature including loss on sale of the undertaking or any of the undertakings of the company or of any part thereof not including any excess referred to in the proviso to section 350 of the written value of any asset which is sold, discarded, demolished or destroyed over its sale proceeds or its scrap value'."

The clause as amended was adopted.

6. Clause 123.—(Vide para 6 of the minutes of the 22nd sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). The following amendment was accepted:—

In page 56,

(a) for lines 3-6, substitute-

"shall not be valid against the company-----

- (i) unless the contract has been approved by the company by a special resolution passed by it; and
- (ii) where the contract is for the supply or rendering of any service other than that of managing agent, unless further the contract has been approved by the Central

Government, either before the date of the contract or at any time within three months next after that date."

- (b) for lines 12-14, substitute-
  - - '(4) Nothing in clause (a) of sub-section (1) shall affect any contract or contracts for the sale, purchase or supply of any property or the supply or rendering of any services, in which either the company or the managing agent or associate, as the case may be, regularly trades or does business, provided that the value of such property of any or the cost of such services does not exceed five thousand rupees in the aggregate in any year comprised in the period of the contract or contracts; or:' ".

The clause as amended was adopted.

7. Clause 136.—(Vide para 9 of the minutes of the 22nd sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). The Committee adopted the following revised clause proposed by Government, in substitution of the original clause 136:—

Pages 57-58,

for lines 1-35 on page 57 and lines 1-15 on page 58, substitute:--

"136. In section 370 of the principal Act,-

(a) after sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall of section be inserted, namely:—

Amendment

- (1A) Where the lending company—
  - (a) makes any loan to, or
  - (b) gives any guarantee, or provides any security, in connection with a loan made by any other person to, or to any other person by,

a firm in which a partner is a body corporate under the same management as the lending company—

- (i) the loan shall be deemed to have been made to, or
- (ii) the guarantee or the security shall be deemed to have been given or provided in connection with the loan made by such other person to, or to such other person by,
- a body corporate under the same management.";

- (b) the Explanation to sub-section (1) shall be numbered and lettered as sub-section (1B) and in sub-section (1B) as so numbered and lettered—
  - (i) for the words 'For the purposes of this sub-section', the words, brackets, figures and letter 'for the purposes of sub-section (1) and (1A)' shall be substituted;
  - (ii) at the end of clause (ii), the word 'or' shall be added,
  - (iii) after clause (ii), the following clauses shall be inserted, namely:---
    - '(iii) if not less than one third of the total voting power with respect to any matter relating to each of the two bodies corporate is exercised or controlled by the same individual or body corporate; or
    - (iv) 'if the holding company of the one body corporate is under the same management as the other body corporate within the meaning of clause (i), clause (ii) or clause (iii), or
    - (v) if one or more directors of the one body corporate while holding, whether by themselves or together with their relatives, the majority of shares in that body corporate also hold whether by themselves together with their relatives the majority of shares in the other body corporate'.
- (c) after sub-section (1B) as so numbered and lettered, the following sub-sections shall be inserted, namely:—
  - (1C) Every lending company shall keep a register showing—
  - (a) the names of all bodies corporate under the same management as the lending company and the name of every firm in which a partner is a body corporate under the same management as the lending company, and
  - (b) the following particulars in respect of every loan made, guarantee given or security provided by the lending company under this section:—
    - (i) the name of the body corporate to which the loan has been made whether such loan has been made before or after that body corporate came under the same management as the lending company,
    - (ii) the amount of the loan,
  - (iiii) the date on which the loan has been made,

- (iv) the date on which the guarantee has been given or security has been provided in connection with a loan made by any other person to, or to any other person by, any body corporate or firm referred to in sub-section (1) or (1A) together with the name of the person, body corporate or firm.
- (1D) Particulars of every such loan, guarantee or security shall be entered in the register aforesaid within three days of the making of such loan, or the giving of such guarantee or the provision of such security or in the case of any loan made, guarantee given or security provided before the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, within three months from such commencement or such further time not exceeding six months as the company may by special resolution allow.
- (1E) If default is made in complying with the provisions of sub-section (1C) or (1D), the company and every officer who is in default, shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees and also with a further fine which may extend to fifty rupees for every day after the first during which the default continues.
- (1F) The register aforesaid shall be kept at the registered office of the lending company and—
  - (a) shall be open to inspection at such office, and
  - (b) extracts may be taken therefrom or copies thereof may be required,
- by any member of the company to the same extent and in the same manner and on the payment of the same fees as in the case of the register of members of the company; and provisions of section 163 shall apply accordingly;'
- (d) for sub-section (2), the following sub-sections shall be substituted, namely:---
  - (2) Nothing contained in the foregoing provisions of this section shall apply to—
  - (a) any loan made-
    - (i) by a holding company to its subsidiary, or

- (ii) by the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers to any company under his or their management, or
- (iii) by a banking company in the ordinary course of its business;
- (b) any guarantee given or any security provided-
  - (i) by a holding company in respect of any loan made to its subsidiary; or
  - (ii) by the managing agent or secretaries and treasurers in respect of any loan made to any company under his or their management; or
  - (iii) by a banking company in the ordinary course of its business.
- (3) Nothing in this section shall apply to a book debt unless the transaction represented by the book debt was from its inception in the nature of a loan or an advance.
- (4) For the purposes of this section, any person in accordance with whose directions or instructions the Board of directors of a company is accustomed to act shall be deemed to be a director of the company.".

8. Clause 138.—(Vide para 12 of the minutes of the 22nd Sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). (1) The following amendment was accepted:—

Page 60,

for "three days", substitute "seven days".

(2) The Committee considered the following amendment:-

Pages 58, 59 and 60 in clause 138, *omit* "or debentures" wherever they occur;

- (b) Page 59-
  - (i) line 18,

for "the limits", substitute "the percentages";

- (ii) line 20, after "investing company", insert "in general meeting";
- (iii) after line 21, insert,—
  - "Provided that the investing company may at any time invest upto any amount in shares offered to it under clause (a) of sub-section (1) of section 81 (hereafter in this section referred to as rights shares) irrespective of the aforesaid percentages:

- Provided further that when at any time the investing company intends to make any investments in shares other than rights shares, then, in computing at that time any of the aforesaid percentages, all existing investments, if any, made in rights shares up to that time shall be included in the aggregate of the investments of the company.";
- (iv) line 30,

omit "and debentures";

- (c) Page 60,
  - (i) line 4,

for the brackets and figure "(5)", substitute the brackets and figure "(6)";

- (ii) lines 6---8,
  - for the words, brackets and figures "this Act, within six months from the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1959", substitute the words, brackets and figures "the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, within six months from such commencement";
- (iii) line 13, *insert* 'and also with a further fine which may extend to fifty rupees for every day after the first during which the default continues" at the end;
- (iv) for lines 14-20, substitute-
  - "(9) The register aforesaid shall be kept at the registered office of the investing company and—
    - (a) shall be open to inspection at such office, and
    - (b) extracts may be taken therefrom and copies thereof may be required,
- by any member of the investing company to the same extent, in the same manner, and on the payment of the same fees as in the case of the register of members of the investing company; and the provisions of section 163 shall apply accordingly."
- (v) after line 29, insert-
  - "Provided that in the case of a company whose principal business is the acquistion of shares, stock, debentures or other securities (hereafter in this section referred

to as an investment company), it shall be sufficient if the statement shows only the investments existing on the date as at which the balance-sheet to which the statement is annexed has been made out";

- (vi) line 35, for the brackets, figure and letter "(A)", substitute the brackets, figure and letter "(1B)";
- (vii) after line 36, insert—
- "(12) References in the foregoing provisions of this section to shares shall in the case of investments made by the investing company in other bodies corporate in the same group, be deemed to include references to debentures also."
- (viii) for lines 37-41, substitute,
  - "(13) The provisions of this section except the first proviso to sub-section (2) shall also apply to an investment company."
- (d) Page 61,---
  - (i) line 1,
    - for the brackets and figures "(13)", substitute the brackets and figures "(14)".
  - (ii) after line 4, insert—
    - "(c) to any company established with the object of financing, whether by way of making loans or advances to, or subscribing to the capital of, private industrial enterprises in India, in any case where the Central Government has made or agreed to make to the company a special advance for the purpose or has guaranteed or agreed to guarantee the payment of moneys borrowed by the company from any institution outside India."
  - (iii) line 5, for "(c)" substitute "(d)";
  - (iv) line 7, for "(d)" substitute "(e)".

Discussion of the clause was concluded but decision thereon was held over.

9. Clause 159.—(Vide para 27 of the minutes of the 22nd Sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). The Committee adopted the following revised clause, proposed by Government, in substitution of the original clause 159:—

Page 65, for lines 10-13, substitute,-

"159. In section 439 of the principal Act,---

Amendment of section 439.

in sub-section (5)-

- (a) for the words, brackets and letters 'clauses (b), (c) and (e)', the words, brackets and letters 'clauses (b), (c), (d), (e) and (f)' shall be substituted;
- (b) in the first proviso, for the words 'an inspector', the words, figures and letter 'a special auditor appointed under section 233A or an inspector' shall be substituted.

10. Clause 163.—(Vide para 30 of the minutes of the 22nd Sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). The Committee adopted the following revised clause, proposed by Government, in substitution of the original clause 163:—

Page 66, for lines 22-29. substitute,-

"163. In section 454 of the principal Act,-

Amendment of section

- (a) for sub-section (5), the following sub-sections shall be 454substituted, namely:—
  - (5) If any person, without reasonable excuse, makes default in complying with any of the requirements of this section, he shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to two years or with fine which may extend to one hundred rupees for every day during which the default continues or with both.
  - (5A) The Court by which the winding up order is made or the provisional liquidator is appointed, may take cognizance of an offence under sub-section (5) upon receiving a complaint of facts constituting such an offence and trying the offence itself in accordance with the procedure laid down in the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898, for the trial of summons cases by magistrates."

11. New clause 166A.—(Vide para 32 of the minutes of the 22nd Sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). The following new clause was adopted:—

ł

Page 67, after line 27, insert-

613(B) L.S.--32

د الدارية. المرد المسية طوية عن معن الأن المحالية.

Exclusion of certain time in computing periods of limitation. '458A. Notwithstanding anything in the Indian Limitation Act, 1908 (9 of 1908) or in any other law for the time being in force, in computing the period of limitation prescribed for any suit or application in the name and on behalf of a company which is being wound up by the Court, the period from the date of commencement of the winding up of the company to the date on which the winding up order is made (both inclusive) and a period of one year immediately following the date of the winding up order shall be excluded.'"

12. Clause 179.—(Vide para 35 of the minutes of the 22nd Sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). The Committee adopted the following revised clause, proposed by Government in substitution of the original clause 179:—

Page 70, for lines 24-31, substitute-

Amendment of section \$30. "179. In section 530 of the principal Act, in sub-section (1), in clause (b), after the words "relevant date", the following words, figures and letter shall be inserted, namely:—

'and any compensation payable to any workman under any of the provisions of Chapter VA of the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947.'"

14 of 1947

13. New clause 182A — (Vide para 37 of the minutes of the 22nd Sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). The following new clause was adopted: —

#### Page 71,

after clause 182, insert the following clause, namely: --

Amendment of sect on 546. "182A. In section 546 of the principal Act. after sub-section (1), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:---

- -- ....

'(1A) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1), in the case of a winding up by the Court the Supreme Court may make rules under section 643 providing that the liquidator may under such circumstances, if any, and subject to such conditions, restrictions and limitations, if any, as may be specified in the rules, exercise any of the powers referred to in sub-clause (ii) or sub-clause (iii) of sub-section (1) without the sanction of the Court.'"

14. Clauses 193 and 194.—(Vide para 45 of the minutes of the 22nd Sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

15. New clause 194A.— (Vide para 46 of the minutes of the 22nd Sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). The Committee considered the following new clause and negatived the same:—

Page 75,

after line 24, add-

"194A. Section 620 of the principal Act shall be omitted."

.

16. Clause 201.— (Vide para 52 of the minutes of the 22nd Sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). The Committee adopted the following revised clause, proposed by Government, in substitution of the original clause 201:—

Page 77,

for lines 12-30, substitute-

"201. In section 633 of the principal Act,-

Amon dritut of section

- (a) in sub-section (1), the following proviso shall be added <sup>693.</sup> at the end,
  - 'Provided that in a criminal proceeding under this subsection, the court shall have no power to grant relief from any civil liability which may attach to an officer in respect of such negligence, default, breach of duty, misfeasance or breach of trust.';
- (b) for sub-section (2), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:---
  - '(2) Where any such officer has reason to apprehend that any proceeding will or might be brought against him in respect of any negligence, default, breach of duty, misfeasance or breach of trust, he may apply to the High Court for relief and the High Court on such application shall have the same power to relieve him as it would have had if it had been a court before which a proceeding against that officer for negligence, default, breach of duty, misfeasance or breach of trust had been brought under sub-section (1).
  - (3) No court shall grant any relief to any officer under sub-section (1) or sub-section (2) unless it has, by notice served in the manner specified by it, required the Registrar and such other person, if any, as it thinks necessary to show cause why such relief should not be granted.' "

17. Clause 202.—(Vide para 52 of the minutes of the 22nd Sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). The Committee adopted the following revised clause, proposed by Government, in substitution of the original clause 202:—

Pages 77-78,

for lines 31-38 on page 77 and lines 1-7 on page 78, substitute-

"202. After section 637 of the principal Act, the following heading and section shall be inserted and shall be deemed always to have been inserted, namely:—

- "Grant of approval etc. subject to conditions and levy of fees on applications.
  - 637A. (1) Where the Central Government is required or authorised by any prov sion of this Act—
    - (a) to accord approval, sanction, consent, confirmation or recognition to or in relation to, any matter;
    - (b) to give any direction in relation to any matter; or
    - (c) to grant any exemption in relation to any matter, then, in the absence of anything to the contrary contained in such or any other provisions of this Act, the Central Government may accord, give or grant such approval, sanction, consent, confirmation, recognition, direction or exemption subject to such conditions, limitations or restrictions as it may think fit to impose.
- (2) Save as otherwise expressly provided in this Act, every application which may be, or is required to be, made by a company to the Central Government under any provision of this Act—
  - (a) in respect of any approval, sanction, consent, confirmation or recognition to be accorded by that Government to, or in relation to any matter; or
  - (b) in respect of any direction or exemption to be given or granted by that Government in relations
     To any matter; or

Insertion of new heading and new section 637A.

Power of Central Government to accord approval etc. subject to conditions and to prescribe fees on applications.

- (c) in respect of any other matter, shall be accompanied by such fee not exceeding one hundred rupees as may be prescribed:
- Provided that different fees may be prescribed for applications in respect of different matters or for applications by different classes of companies."

18. Clause 203.—(Vide para 52 of the minutes of the 22nd Sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). The Committee adopted the following revised clause, proposed by Government, in substitution of the original clause 203:—

Page 78,

for lines 8-9, substitute-

"203. (1) Section 639 of the principal Act and the heading Omission above it shall be omitted.

and section 639.

- (2) For the removal of doubt it is hereby declared that nothing in section 639 of the principal Act before its omission by sub-section (1) of this section shall be deemed ever to have required the Central Government to prepare, and lay before both Houses of Parliament, any annual report on the working and affairs of a Government company of which the Central Government is not a member."
- 19. New clause 203A .- The following new clause was adopted: -- Insertion of

new section after section 640.

- Page 78, after line 9, add-
  - "203A. After section 640 of the principal Act, the following heading and sect on shall be inserted, namely:—

Computation of time for filing order of court

640A. Except as expressly provided in this behalf else-Exclusion of any time requirwhere in this Act, where by ed in obtainprovision of this Act. order ing any copies of the Court is required to be filed with the of orders of Courts. Registrar, or a company or any other person within a period specified therein, then in computing that period, the time taken in drawing

up the order and in obtaining a copy thereof shall be excluded".

20. Clause 204.—(Vide para 52 of the minutes of the 22nd Sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). The Committee adopted the following revised clause, proposed by the Government, in substitution of the original clause 204:—

Page 78,

for lines 10-11, substitute,

Amendment of section 641.

- "204. In section 641 of the principal Act, for sub-section (3), the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:----
  - (3) Every alteration made by the Central Government under sub-section (1) shall be laid as soon as may be after it is made before each House of Parliament while it is in session for a total period of thirty days which may be comprised in one session or in two successive sessions and if before the expiry of the session in which it is so laid or the session immediately following, both Houses agree in making any modification in the alterations, or both Houses agree that the alteration should not be made, the alteration shall thereafter have effect only in such modified form or be of no effect, as the case may be, so, however, that any such modification or annulment shall be without prejudice to the validity of anything previously done in pursuance of that alteration'".

21. Clause 205.—(Vide para 52 of the minutes of the 22nd Sitting, held on the 16th July, 1960). The Committee adopted the following revised clause, proposed by Government, in substitution of the original clause 205:—

Page 78,

for lines 12-19, substitute-

Amendment of section 642. "205. In section 642 of the principal Act, for sub-section (2) and (3), the following sub-sections shall be substituted, namely:—

1

(2) Any rule made under sub-section (1) may provide that a contravention thereof shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees and where the contravention is a continuing one, with a further fine wh'ch may extend to fifty rupees for every day after the first during which such contravention continues.

(3) Every rule made by the Central Government under sub-section (1) shall be laid as soon as may be after it is made before each House of Parliament while it is in session for a total period of thirty days which may be comprised in one session or in two successive sessions, and if before the expiry of the session in which it is so laid or the session immediately following both Houses agree in making any modificat on in the rule or both Houses agree that the rule should not be made, the rule shall thereafter have effect only in such modified form or be of no effect, as the case may be, so, however, that any such modification or annulment shall be without prejudice to the validity of anything previously done under that rule.'".

22. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 10.00 hours on Thursday, the 21st July, 1960.

## XXVI

## **Twenty-sixth Sitting**

The Committee met from 10.00 hours to 12.12 hours and again from 14.10 hours to 15.10 hours on Thursday, the 21st July, 1960.

#### PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman.

#### Members

#### Lok Sabha

- 2. Shri H. C. Heda
- 3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
  - 6. Shri Radhelal Vyas
  - 7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
  - 8. Shri M. Shankaraiya
  - 9. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 10. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi

#### 11. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka

- 12. Shri G. D. Somani
- 13. Shri C. D. Pande
- 14. Shri Mulchand Dube
- 15. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
- 16. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 17. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 18. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 19. Shri M. R. Masani
- 20. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 21. Shri G. K. Manay
- 22. Shri Naushir Bharucha
- 23. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri.

## 252

#### Rajva Sabha

24 Shri Khandubhai K. Desai

25. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar

26. Shri P. D. Himatsingka

27. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai

28 Shri J S Bisht

29. Shri Akbar Ali Khan

30 Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha

31. Shri Ram Sahai

32. Shri M. P. Bhargava

33. Shri Jairamdas Daulatram

34. Shri Dahvabhai V. Patel

35. Shri Mulka Govinda Reddy

36. Shri P. Ramamurti

37. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

#### DRAFTSMAN

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Joint Secretary and Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

#### SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai—Deputy Secretary.

2. At the outset, the Committee considered para 3 of the minutes of the Twenty-fourth sitting held on the 19th July, 1960. For the existing para the following was substituted:-

"3. Clause 103.-The Committee after rejecting proposals for banning contributions by companies to political parties adopted the clause without any amendment."

3. The Committee then resumed clause by clause consideration of the Bill and took up for consideration held over clauses.

4. Clause 209.-(Vide para 56 of the minutes of the 22nd sitting held on the 16th July, 1960). The clause was adopted without any amendment. ļ

613(B) L.S.---33

5. Clause 210.—(Vide para 56 of the minutes of the 22nd sitting held on the 16th July, 1960). The following amendments were accepted:—

(1) Page 79, line 22,

- (a) Omit "(including step father)".
- (b) after line 33, insert—

"12A. Son's daughter's husband".

(2) Page 80,

Omit lines 9-12, 16-19 and 36.

(3) Page 81,

Omit lines 7 and 8.

The clause as amended was adopted.

6. Clause 211.—(Vide para 56 of the minutes of the 22nd sitting held on the 16th July, 1960). The following amendments were accepted:—

(1) Page 90,

æ

for lines 23-29, substitute-

"(1) A statement of investments (whether shown under investments or under current Assets as stock-in-trade) separately classifying trade investments and other investments should be annexed to the balance sheet showing the names of the bodies corporate, indicating separately the names of the bodies corporate in the same group (with the name of managing agent or secretaries and treasurers, if any, of every body corporate) in whose shares or debentures investments have been made (including all investments whether existing or not, made subsequent to the date as at which the previous balance sheet was made out) and the nature and extent of the investments so made in each such body corporate; provided that in the case of an investment company, that is to say, a company whose principal business is the acquisition of shares, stock, debentures or other securities, it shall be sufficient if the statement shows only the investments existing on the date as at which the balance sheet has been made out; provided further that it shall not be necessary to give any particulars in respect of investments made by a managing agency or secretaries and treasurers company in the managed companies' shares or debentures."

(2) Page 92,

Omit lines 10-15.

- (3) Page 93,
  - (i) line,

Omit "and any other person".

(ii) line 36,

Omit "percentage".

Draftsman was authorised to make necessary drafting changes in the clause.

The clause as amended was adopted.

7. Clause 212.— (Vide para 56 of the minutes of the 22nd sitting held on the 16th July, 1960). The clause was adopted without any amendment.

8. Clause 104.—(Vide para 4 of the minutes of the 24th sitting held on the 19th July, 1960). The Committee decided that the officer of the company who is in default need not be punishable with imprisonment but may only be subject to a fine of rupees fifty for each day on which the offence is continued.

Subject to the above the clause as amended was adopted.

9. Clause 153.—(Vide para 20 of the minutes of the 22nd sitting held on the 16th July, 1960). The clause was adopted without any amendment.

10. Clause 155.—(Vide para 22 of the minutes of the 22nd sitting held on the 16th July, 1960). The Committee felt that applications on frivolous or minor matters under sections 408 and 409 need not be referred to the Advisory Commission but Government might deal with them independently.

The Committee were of the view that Government might pass interim orders under sections 408 and 409 but before passing final orders the opinion of the Advisory Commission ought to be obtained.

The Draftsman was directed to submit a revised draft of the clause accordingly.

11. Clause 138.—(Vide para 8 of the minutes of the 25th sitting held on the 20th July, 1960). The following further amendments were accepted:—

(a) Pages 58, 59 and 60 in clause 138, omit "or debentures" wherever they occur;

(b) Page 59,

- (i) line 18, for "the limits" substitute "the percentages";
- (ii) line 20, after "investing company" insert-

"in general meeting";

- (iii) after line 21, insert-
  - "Provided that the investing company may at any time invest up to any amount in shares offered to it under clause (a) of sub-section (1) of section 81 (hereafter in this section referred to as rights shares) irrespective of the aforesaid percentages:
  - Provided further that when at any time the investing company intends to make any investments in shares other than rights shares, then, in computing at that time any of the aforesaid percentages, all existing investments, if any, made in rights shares up to that time shall be included in the aggregate of the investments of the company.";
- (iv) line 30,

Omit "and debentures";

- (c) Page 60-
  - (i) line 4,
    - for the brackets and figure "(5)" substitute the brackets and figure "(6)";
  - (ii) lines 6-8,
    - for the words, brackets and figures "this Act, within six months from the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1959" substitute the words, brackets and figures "the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, within six months from such commencement".
  - (iii) line 13, insert "and also with a further fine which may extend to fifty rupees for every day after the first during which the default continues" at the end;
  - (iv) for lines 14-20, substitute-
  - "(9) The register aforesaid shall be kept at the registered office of the investing company and—
    - (a) shall be open to inspection at such office, and

- (b) extracts may be taken therefrom and copies thereof may be required,
- by any member of the investing company to the same extent, in the same manner, and on the payment of the same fees as in the case of the register of members of the investing company; and the provisions of section 163 shall apply accordingly."
- (v) after line 29, insert-
  - "Provided that in the case of a company whose principal business is the acquisition of shares, stock, debentures or other securities (hereafter in this section referred to as an investment company), it shall be sufficient if the statement shows only the investments existing on the date as at which the balance-sheet to which the statement is annexed has been made out.";
- (vi) line 35, for the brackets, figure, and letter "(1A)", substitute the brackets, figure and letter "(1B)";
- (vii) after line 36, insert-
  - "(12) References in the foregoing provisions of this section to shares shall in the case of investments made by the investing company in other bodies corporate in the same group, be deemed to include references to debentures also."
- (viii) for lines 37-41, substitute-
  - "(13) The provisions of this section except the first proviso to sub-section (2) shall also apply to an investment company."

- (i) line 1,
  - for the brackets and figures "(13)" substitute the brackets and figures "(14)".
  - (ii) after line 4, insert—
    - "(c) to any company established with the object of financing, whether by way of making loans or advances to, or subscribing to the capital of, private industrial enterprises in India, in any case where the Central Government has made or agreed to make to the company as special advance for the purpose or has guaranteed or

<sup>(</sup>d) page 61,-

agreed to guarantee the payment of moneys borrowed by the company from any institution outside India."

(iii) line 5, for "(c)", substitute "(d)";

(iv) line 7, for "(d)" substitute "(e)".

The clause as amended was adopted.

12. Clause 2.—(Vide para 5 of the minutes of the 12th sitting held on the 14th October, 1959).—The following amendments were accepted:—

#### Page 1,

- (a) for lines 12-13 substitute-
  - "(iii) any subsidiary of the other body corporate referred to in paragraph (ii) above:
  - Provided that where the body corporate is the managing agent of the other body corporate referred to in paragraph (ii) above, a subsidiary of such other body corporate shall not be an associate in relation to the managing agent aforesaid; and;"
- (b) for lines 19-20, substitute\_\_\_
  - "(iii) any subsidiary of the other body corporate referred to in paragraph (ii) above:
  - Provided that where the body corporate is the Secretaries and treasurers of the other body corporate referred in paragraph (ii) above, a subsidiary of such other body corporate shall not be an associate in relation to the Secretaries and treasurers aforesaid; and";

#### Page 2,

- (a) line 7,
  - for "body corporate" substitute "body corporate (not being a company as defined in this Act)";
- (b) line 12,

after "branch office" insert "in relation to a company";

(c) line 14,

after "Company" insert "or";

(d) line 17,

for "and" substitute "or";

- (e) for lines 38-41 on page 2 and line 1 on page 3, substitute
  - "(b) the following provisos shall be added at the end. namely:---
    - 'Provided that the power to do administrative acts of a routine nature when so authorised by the Board such as the power to affix the common seal of the company to any document or to draw and endorse any cheque on the account of the company in any bank or to draw and endorse any cheque on the account or to sign any certificate of share or to direct registration of transfer of any share, shall not be deemed to be included within substantial powers of management:
    - Provided further that a managing director of a company shall exercise his powers subject to the superintendence, control and direction of its Board of Directors;"

The clause as amended was adopted.

13. Clause 6.— (Vide para 9 of the minutes of the 12th sitting held on the 14th October, 1959).—The clause was adopted without any amendment.

14. Clause 15.— (Vide para 8 of the minutes of the 13th sitting held on the 15th October, 1959) .--- The following amendment was moved:

Pages 7-8.

for lines 12-39 on page 7 and lines 1-14 on page 8, substitute-

- "15. After section 43 of the principal Act, the following sec- Insertion of new section tion shall be inserted, namely:---
  - 43A.
  - '43A. (1) Save as otherwise provided in this section, where Private comnot less than twenty-five per cent of the paid-up come public share capital of a private company having a share company in capital is held by one or more bodies corporate, the certain cases. private company shall-
    - (a) on and from the date on which the aforesaid percentage is first held by such body or bodies corporate, or
    - (b) where the aforesaid percentage has been first so held before the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1960, on and from the expiry of the period of three months from the date of such commencement unless within that period the

aforesaid percentage is reduced below twenty-five per cent of the paid-up share capital of the private company,

become by virtue of this section a public company:

- Provided that even after the private company has so become a public company its articles of association may include provisions relating to the matters specified in clause (iii) of sub-section (1) of section 3 and the number of its members may be, or may at any time be reduced, below seven:
- Provided further that in computing the aforesaid percentage, account shall not be taken of any share in the private company held by a banking company, if, but only if, the following conditions are satisfied in respect of such share, namely:—
  - (a) that the share-
    - (i) forms part of the subject-matter of a trust,
    - (ii) has not been set apart for the benefit of any body corporate, and
    - (iii) is held by the banking company either as an trustee of that trust or in its own name on behalf of a trustee of that trust; or
  - (b) that the share—
    - (i) forms part of the estate of a deceased person,
    - (ii) has not been bequeathed by the deceased person by his will to any body corporate, and
    - (iii) is held by the banking company either as an executor or administrator of the deceased person or in its own name on behalf of an executor or administrator of the deceased person;
- and the Registrar may, for the purpose of satisfying himself, that any share is held in the private company by a banking company as aforesaid, call for at any time from the banking company such books and papers as he considers necessary.
- (2) Within three months from the date on which a private company becomes a public company by virtue of this section, or within such further time as the Registrar may allow in this behalf. the company shall, by

ordinary resolution, change, if necessary, its name in conformity with clause (a) of sub-section (1) of section 13.

- (3) The company shall file with the Registrar a copy of the ordinary resolution referred to in sub-section (2) within one month of the date on which that resolution was passed.
- (4) Section 23 shall apply to a change of name under this section as it applies to a change of name under section 21.
- (5) A private company which has become a public company by virtue of this section shall continue to be a public company until it has with the approval of the Central Government and in accordance with the provisions of this Act again become a private company.
- (6) If a company makes default in complying with subsection (2) or sub-section (3),---
  - (a) the company shall be punishable with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees for every day during which the default continues; and
  - (b) every officer who is in default shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months, or with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees for every day during which the default continues, or with both.
- (7) Nothing in this section shall apply—
  - (a) to a private company of which the entire paid-up share capital is held by another single private company or by one or more bodies corporate incorporated outside India; or
  - - (i) that the body corporate or each of the bodies corporate holding shares in the private company is itself a private company (hereinafter in this section referred to as a shareholding company),
    - (ii) that no body corporate is the holder of any shares in any such shareholding company,

613(B) L.S.--34

- (iii) that the total number of shareholders of the share-holding company, or as the case may be, of all the share-holding companies together with the individual shareholders (not including the person referred to in sub-clause (b) of clause (iii) of sub-section (1) of section (3), if any, of the private company, does not exceed fifty.
- (8) Every shareholding company shall, as soon as may be, inform the private company referred to in clause (b) of sub-section (7) about every change in the membership of the shareholding company taking place by a change in the number of its individual shareholders or by any body corporate becoming the holder of any of its shares.
- (9) Every private company having a share capital shall, in addition to the certificate referred to in sub-section
  (2) of section 161, file with the Registrar along with the annual return a section certificate signed by both the signatories of the return, stating either—
  - (a) that since the date of the annual general meeting with reference to which the last return was submitted, or in the case of a first return, since the date of the incorporation of the private company, no body or bodies corporate has or have held twenty-five per cent or more of its paid-up share capital, or
  - (b) that though since the aforesaid date one or more bodies corporate have held twenty-five per cent or more of its paid-up share capital, the provisions of this section do not apply to it because it is a private company referred to in clause (a) or clause (b) of sub-section (7).'"

The Committee were of opinion that it was not necessary for a private company to pass a resolution for the change of its name to a public company. The company need only inform the Registrar of its conversion who might make the necessary changes. Penalty should also be provided for failure to inform the Registrar.

The Draftsman was directed to provide for the same in the amendment.

Subject to the above the amendment was accepted.

The clause as amended was adopted.

15. Clauses 7 and 8.—(Vide para 9 of the minutes of the 12th sitting held on the 14th October, 1959). These clauses were adopted without any amendment.

16. Clause 38.— (Vide para 7 of the minutes of the 14th sitting held on the 10th October, 1959). Discussion on clause 38 was reopened.

The clause was omitted.

17. Clause 1.—The following amendment was accepted:—

Page 1, line 4,

for "1959" substitute "1960".

The clause as amended was adopted.

18. Enacting Formula and Long Title.—The Enacting Formula and the Long Title were adopted without any amendment.

19. The Committee then authorised the Draftsman to carry out minor changes of a drafting nature in the Bill, if necessary.

20. The Committee decided to ask for further extension of time for the presentation of the Report up to the 16th August, 1960.

21. The Committee decided to consider the draft Report at their next sitting to be held on Wednesday, the 10th August, 1960 at 16.00 hours.

22. The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 16.00 hours on Wednesday, the 10th August, 1960.

## XXVII

## Twenty Seventh Sitting

The Committee met from 16:00 hours to 16:15 hours on Wednesday, the 10th August, 1960.

#### PRESENT

## Members

## Lok Sabha

• •

- 1. Shri H. C. Heda
- 2. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 3. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 4. Shri Radhelal Vyas
- 5. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 6. Shri M. Shankaratya
- 7. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 8. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 9. Shri C. D. Pande

10. Shri Mulchand Dube

- 11. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi
- 12. Shri Arun Chandra Guha (in the Chair)
- 13. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 14. Shri M. R. Masani
- 15. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri.

#### Rajya Sabha

- 16. Shri Khandubhai K. Desat
- 17. Shri P. D. Himatsingka
- 18. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai

264

- 19. Shri J. S. Bisht
- 20. Shri Akbar Ali Khan
- 21. Shri R. S. Doogar
- 22. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha
- 23. Shri Jairamdas Daulatram
- 24. Shri Dahyabhai V. Patel
- 25. Shri P. Ramamurti
- 26. Shr: Rohit M. Dave.

#### DRAFTSMAN

- Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Joint Secretary and Draftsman, Ministry of Law.
- REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS
- Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

#### Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai-Deputy Secretary.

2. In the absence of Sardar Hukam Singh, the Chairman of the Committee, Shri Arun Chandra Guha was elected Chairman for the sitting.

3. The Committee expressed deep concern over the illness of Sardar Hukam Singh, Deputy Speaker of Lok Sabha, and wished him speedy recovery.

4. The Committee adopted the Bill as amended.

5. The Committee thereafter considered the draft Report and adopted the same.

6. The Committee decided that the Minutes of Dissent, if any, may be sent so as to reach the Lok Sabha Secretariat by 17.00 hours on the 12th August, 1960.

7. The Committee authorised Shri Arun Chandra Guha to sign the Report on their behalf.

8. The Committee authorised Shri Arun Chandra Guha and in his absence Shri Shivram Rango Rane to present the Report on their behalf and to lay the evidence on the Table of the House on Tuesday the 16th August, 1960.

266

9. The Committee authorised Shri Babubhai M. Chinai and in his absence Shri Dahyabhai V. Patel to lay the Report of the Committee and the evidence on the Table of the Rajya Sabha.

10. The Committee then adjourned.

# LOK SABHA

# JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE COMPANIES (AMENDMENT) BILL, 1959

## **EVIDENCE**



LOK SABHA SECRETARIAT NEW DELHI September, 1959

Price : Rs. 3.00

## WITNESSES EXAMINED

Name of the Association and their spokesmen		Date	Page
Indian Banks' Association, Bombay          Spokesmen:		7-7-59	
Ι.	Shri C. H. Bhabha		
2.	Shri P. V. Gandhi		
3.	Shri Mohan Singh		
II. Taia In	dustries Private Limited, Bombay	7 <b>-7</b> -59	. 19
Spokesme	n:		
Ι.	Shri J. D. Choksi		
2.	Kumari G. N. Cowasjee		
III. The Ind	dian Merchants' Chamber, Bombay	7-7-59 and	53
Spokesmen:		8-7-59	59
1.			
2.			
3.	•		
	Shri Tanubhai D. Desai		
5.		-	•
IV. The Bombay Shareholders' Association, Bombay .		8-7-59	84
Spokesme			
1.			
2.	Shri Tanubhai D. Desai Dr. R. C. Cooper		
3.		8 <b>-</b> -	
	ociated Chambers of Com nerce of India, Calcutta.	8-7-59	9 <b>5</b>
Spokesme	n: Mr. J. D. K. Brown		
2.			
3.			
VI. Indian Chamber of Commerce, Calcutta		<b>9-</b> 7-59	<b>1</b> 16
Spokesme	n:		
Ι.	Shri B. P. Khaitan		
2.			
. 3·	Shri B. Kalyana Sundaran		
VII. Indian	National Trade Union Congress, New Delhi .	9-7-5 <b>3</b>	137
Spokesme	n:		
Ι.	Shri S. R. Vasavada		
2.	Shri N. K. Bhatt		
3			
4.	Shri M. B. Joshi		

	Name of the Association and their spokesmen	Date	Page
VIII.	Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry, New Delhi.	9-7-59	 I45
S	bokesmen:		
•	1. Shri Madanmohan R. Ruia		
5	2. Shri A. M. M. Murugappa Chettiar		
	3. Shri Lakshmipat Singhania		
	4. Shri M. L. Shah		
	5. Shri Ramnath A. Podar		
	6. Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain		
	7. Shri S. M. Shah		
	8. Shri G. L. Bansal		
4	9. Shri P. Chentsal Rao		
	10. Shri N. Krishnamurthi		
IX.	The Indian Cotton Mills' Federation, Bombay	10-7 <b>-59</b>	16
St	bo <b>ke</b> smen:		
•	1. Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain		
	2. Shri J. J. Ashar		
	3. Shri B. G. Kakatkar		
	Indian Federation of Working Journalists, New Delhi	10-7-59	19
3			
	1. Shri J. P. Chaturvedi		
	2. Shri R. Narasimhan		
	3. Shri C. Raghavan		
XI.	Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited, New Delhi	10-7 <b>-59</b>	206
S	pokesmen:		
	1. Shri S. C. Aggarwal		
	2. Shri Bhim Sen		
хII.	The Company Law Association of India, Bombay	11-7-59	216
S	pokesmen: '		
	1. Shri K. T. Chandy		
	2. Shri S. H. Gursahani		
	3. Shri K. V. Rao		
XIII.	Bengal National Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Calcutta	11-7-59	24
S	pokesmen:		
	1. Shri D. N. Bhattacherjee		
	2. Shri S. R. Biswas		
XIV.	The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, New Delhi	11-7 <b>-59</b>	24
S	pohesmen:		
	I. Shri C. C. Chokshi		
	2. Shri J. S. Lodha		
	3. Shri E. V. Srinivasan		

# JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE COMPANIES (AMENDMENT) BILL, 1959. MINUTES OF EVIDENCE GIVEN BEFORE THE JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE COMPANIES

.

(AMENDMENT) BILL, 1959

Tuesday, the 7th July, 1959 at 08.30 hours

PRESENT

Sardar Hukum Singh-Chairman

# Members

Lok Sabha

2. Shri H. C. Heda

.

- 3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 6. Shri Radhelal Vyas
- 7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 8. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 9. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 10. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 11. Shri G. D. Somani
- 12. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 13. Shri Mulchand Dube

- 14. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi
- 15. Shri Arun Chandra Guha

. . . . .

- 16. Shrimati Sucheta Kripalani
- 17. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 18. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 19. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 20. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 21. Shri Tridib Kumar Chaudhuri
- 22. Shri Surendra Mahanty
- 23. Shri G. K. Manay
- 24. Shri Naushir Bharucha
- 25. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

### Rajya Sabha

26. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai	31. Shri P. T. Leuva		
7. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chet- ffar 28. Shri P. D. Himatsingka	32. Shri M. P. Bhargava		
	33. Shri R. S. Doogar		
	34. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao		
29. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai	35. Shri Rohit M. Dave		
30. Shri J. S. Bisht	35. Shri Konit M. Dave		

#### DRAFTSMAN

Shri S. P. Sen Varma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

### REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

#### SECRETARIAT

Shri A, L, Rai-Under Secretary.

### WITNESSES EXAMINED

I. Indian Banks' Association, Bombay.

#### Spokesmen:

1. Shri C. H. Bhabha

3. Shri Mohan Singh

2. Shri P. V. Gandhi

# II. Tata Industrie: Private Limited, Bombay.

Spokesmen:

1. Shri J. D. Choksi

# 2. Kumari G. N. Cowasjee

III. The Indian Merchants' Chamber, Bombay.

### Spokesmen:

- 1. Shri Lalchand Hirachand
- 2. Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia
- 3. Shri R. G. Saraiya
- I. Indian Banks' Association, Bombay Spokesmen:
  - 1. Shri C. H Bhabha
  - 2. Shri P. V. Gandhi
  - 3. Shri Mohan Singh
- (Witnesses were called in and they took their seats)

**Chairman:** We have gone through the memoranda supplied by them to us. Each Member has got a copy of them; if the witnesses want to add to or clarify or supplement anything that has been said in the memoranda, they may do so. Or, if they want to make some statement in a general manner, then too, we have no objection.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: We are thankful to you for giving us this opportunity of presenting our case before the hon. Members of the Joint Committee, and for the very special privilege you have given us by fixing up this time today.

We have submitted our memorandum already, and the basis of the memorandum has been that somehow, from the Government side, banking companies have been more or less lumped or treated on a par with other joint-stock enterprises in the country. Our contention is that the very nature of banking is entirely different from the nature of ventures which are for other purposes, just like manufacturing or trading or carrying on other types of businesses of some other nature.

We feel that banking companies already have their own specialised legislation. Banking companies are 4. Shri Tanubhai D. Desai

5. Shri C. L. Gheevala

affected by the Banking Companies Act, which is by itself a very comprehensive piece of legislation. Banking companies are also regulated or governed by the Reserve Bank of India Act. In addition to that, I might draw your attention and that of the hon. Members to the fact that we are also affected directly by the Bankers' Books Evidence Act.

Since the basis of banking business is trust and secrecy, if those fundamentals are borne in mind, then the various contentions to which we have drawn your attention, Sir, and that of the hon Members of the Joint Committee, will be borne out, namely that we should be eligible for certain specific exemptions, and should not be treated on a par with other ventures of this country. And that is the basis on which we have presented our case.

In addition, we have also shown the practical difficulties of bankers of this country, if they were to be regulated by the general Companies Act in special matters. I may only draw your attention. Sir. and that of the hon. Members here, to one amendment that is sought to be made, namely that every branch shall be audited. These are the actual words used in the amendment to section 228. Now, in the case of the State Bank, which has got over seven hundred branches, it is exempted. There is a special provision laid down in the State Bank of India Act regarding the audit of the State Bank of India. In the case of other commercial institutions. that is, banking institutions, which have get four hundred or three hundred and fifty branches, the absurdity of this amendment will become obvious to all of you, specially if you will visualise that there are branches in very small places also.

Now, under the new definition of the term 'branch' as proposed to be amended by clause 2(d), a small office of a bank in an outlandish place employing not more than five or six people shall have to be audited. The present practice is that the statutory auditors whom the shareholders appoint have the authority or the privilege of going to those offices also, but invariably they rely on what are known as certified returns, which they may get audited or otherwise.

So, we feel that there are several issues which we have made out in our memorandum, and which we are prepared to elaborate, should you or any of the hon: Members here wish us to do so. We feel that certain things, if they are analysed, reduce themselves to a position which it will be very difficult to implement, so far as the banking companies are concerned leave aside the time or the effort or even the money aspect. There is the specific thing in connection with this audit to which I would like to draw your attention.

Unlike other joint-stock enterprises banking companies must complete their accounts within as short a period as possible after the closing of their books: and the banks in this country close their books on the 31st of December. Generally, by the first half of January, all the results are announced. That is essential for the creditworthiness of these credit institutions. And when they announce, they say 'subject to audit'. Now, the audit is supposed to be completed within a period of two months, because under the law of banking, the meetings of banking companies must be called before the 31st of March at the latest. So that is the difference which I am trying to emphasise, and which entitles banking companies to be treated entirely on a separate or a different

footing, as has already been doner since the Reserve Bank of India Act came into existence. We cannet, therefore, visualise how many of the several things that have been pushed here into this Bill could be made applicable in the remotest sense to banking companies.

I have no other special points to make. If you, Sir, or any of the hon Members here wish me to elaborate any point, I shall do so.

**Chairman:** The four memoranda that you have sent us have been circulated to hon. members already. And I suppose they are sufficiently clear. If any hon. Member wants to ask any questions for the purpose of clarifying anything, he may do so.

Shri Rohit M. Dave: In the memorandum you have submitted, you have taken objection to section 530(1)(b) which deals with certain rights which the workers have in case of a company which is wound up. It has been stated over there that because a company always looks forward to its being run rather than its being wound up, therefore, all the liabilities that are contemplated are liabilities of a running company and not of a company which is being wound up.

What I want to ask you is this. When a particular loan is taken by a particular company, normally, is it not the intention of the company to repay that loan? The question comes because it is said that non-payment also must come only when the company is wound up. That is exactly the difference between the charge of the workers, on the one hand, and the charge of the bankers, on the other, on a company in case it is a runningcompany and it is not contemplated that it would be wound up. I have not understood exactly what you are trying to make out in regard to 530(1)(b).

Shri C. H. Bhabha: The answer is very simple. As hon. Members are aware, the bank's moneys are moneys of the general public and most of the moneys are repayable on demand. When advances are made, particularly to industrial ventures, a calculated risk is taken. But, we feel that unforeseen liabilities of this nature will setard the desire of banks to finance industrial ventures. And, in our view, it is one of the functions of banking to try and assess in advance the security of the loan, as they have gone in for industrial advances in a big way recently, provided there are as few uncertainties as possible.

What we have tried to bring out by an illustration of a company which is being wound up is this. There are many unforeseen circumstances that come quite often during the career of industrial ventures and these unforeseen circumstances should not be augmented by such types of liabilities which are supposed to be non-existent at the time an advance is made but which would have a prior charge as soon as anything untoward happens to that company. So, to that extent, we feel that by incorporating this additional unforeseen or uncalculated or incalculable liability. the progress of banking advances to industrial ventures would be retarded or checked. The banks would be chary of giving advances when they do not know what will be the other superior or senior charges, even when all the other precautions have been taken by them.

Shri Rohit M. Dave: You say that it is unforeseen. It ceases to be unforeseen when the retrenchment and lay-off compensation is already provided for the last 5 years. How does it differ from an ordinary company doing production and from banking and other concerns? The question is not of a running concern. If it goes into liquidation, should not priority be given to the workers? Is it not also a sort of deferred payment which has to be paid?

**Chairman:** Perhaps, in his answer he said that nobody knows when that claim might arise, how much it might be, whether there might be a possibility that such a demand might be made and whether it would be chargeable or not.

Shri Khandubhai K. Desai: When a particular company goes into liquidation—whether it is a banking company or otherwise—and everybody hopes for the best—should the workers' claims be ignored as you seem to claim today?

Chairman: Which workers? Are they the workers of the bank which has advanced money or the other? How can the advancing bank be sure of the liabilities of a company to whom it has advanced loans, whether the worker in that industry is making a demand on that company for wages or any other thing? These are things which are not, at least certain to the bank advancing the money. They cannot make so many enquiries at the time the advance is made.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: That is the thing. It is not possible for a banking company, when it makes advances to industries, (a) to know the total strength of the employees; (b) the number of employees who have been there for 5 years, or for 7 years or for a period of 20 years, because their liability is not reduced in concrete terms, and (c) whether, just before going into liquidation, the management has increased its labour force by 500 and all that.

I am not here to talk in terms of whether the claims of the workers should be better than the claims of the bankers or others. But, I do think that banking business vis-a-vis industry will be checked or greatly restricted or retarded or there will be a deterrent to banks to make advances to industrial concerns if this sort of contingent liability or an unknown liability is put on the statute

Shri Khandubhai K. Desai: But, when the bank advances certain loans, certain risks are taken and this is also a risk which is calculable. Shri C. H. Bhabha: In our opinion, this is an incalculable or contingent liability which we cannot ascertain. It is our opinion. Your opinion may be different.

Shri Nathwani: You object to compensation under the Industrial Disputes Act being included; but you do not object to the maximum figure of Rs. 1,000—your suggestion comes to that, that this limit should remain but, in fact, this should not be reached.

Shri C. H. Bhabha; On 3 prior occasion we had pointed out that even this limit is an onerous limit: but there being no alternative---a known responsibility or liability that may arise-we have no greater say on the subject. But we do feel that even the limit mentioned by the hon. Member must retard the banks from giving loans as liberally or as wholeheartedly as they ordinarily would for industrial ventures in this country.

Shri Nathwani: You have stated that the compensation, at present, would amount only to a fraction of Rs. 1,000. What exactly is meant by a fraction? At what figure would you place it?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: After the amendment to the Industrial Disputes' Act, the Association tried to find out from its members the liability or the prior charge that accrued in cases of industries or companies which went into liquidation and to whom advances had been made by banking companies in this country. So far, the experience has been that this liability has not been of any untoward nature which has impaired the security of banks. That is what is meant by us.

Shri Nathwani: Can you say what you meant in terms of the amount?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: I would not say that. We merely took a general survey for our own purposes, to gather experience when we go on making industrial advances. The little experience that we gathered was that it did not come up to the maximum figure. That is all I can tell you.

Shri P. T. Leuva: The witness has said that so far, from the experience of the members, they have calculated that the figure has not reached this maximum. May I know what would be the percentage of retrenchment compensation and others which might have to be paid and what is the percentage of the wage bill in a manufacturing concern?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: It varies from company to company and it varies according to the fortunes of the industry. When new technique is developed, and retrenchment compensation is paid out, perhaps it remains to be seen. We have no such figure, nor are we in a position to say it. We have never made it.

Shri Leuva: Can you say definitely that the credit position of a company has been affected because of the compensation?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: In some cases bankers have restricted their credit; when large amounts of the cash resources or the liquid resources of the company have had to be paid out for retrenchment compensation, there, the credit has been restricted.

Shri Leuva: The question arises at the time of liquidation. What would be the percentage of the claim of a worker which would be outstanding at the time of liquidation, because the retrenchment compensation has to be paid at the moment of liquidation. So, normally speaking, there would not be any arrears of retrenchment.

**Shri C. H. Bhabha:** Retrenchment compensation is payable even when the companies are running and not at liquidation time.

Shri Leuva: Retrenchment compensation is payable and therefore there would not be any arrear of retrenchment compensation which can affect the creditworthiness of any concern. Shri C. H. Bhabha: Yes; it would be.

**Chairman:** The witness has given his opinion. We might not agree with him. He says it has affected in the case of certain companies.

Shri P. D. Himatsingka: All the workers would be treated as retrenched if the company goes into liquidation and I think that the amount payable will amount to a very huge sum, for, some workers would have put in 20 years of service, some for 15 years, and they would all be entitled to a half-monthly salary for every completed year of service.

**Chairman:** If the hon. Member has to answer the point raised by another hon. Member, that could be done by us separately. He may put any question to the witness.

Shri P. D. Himatsingka: I was trying to understand Shri Leuva's point of view.

Chairman: All right. Shri Morarka.

**Shri Morarka:** What would be the practical effect if this amendment is carried out? How would the banks take it if the amendment is carried out? Would there be any change in their attitude towards the advances which they are making to the industries?

**Shri C. H. Bhabha:** I have given the answer. We feel that we will certainly pull in our horns rather than encourage it. We will completely discourage or severely restrict advances for industrial ventures if this sort of contingent liability, which is unknown to us, continues.

Shri Morarka: In your illustration you say that whereas you are giving Rs. 7½ lakhs today, if this amendment is carried out, you will be able to advance only about Rs. 2½ lakhs.

**Shri C. H. Bhabha:** Generally bankers can have a particular margin We have taken a hypothetical case of a company which goes into liquidation and have considered as to what extent we would be affected if an X-quantity of compensation is to be paid which is a prior charge. We have just assumed those figures and from those figures we have come to the conclusion that ordinarily we would have gone up to Rs. 7 lakhs. We could now think in terms of going up only to Rs. 2½ lakhs. It is a hypothetical case that we have worked out.

Shri Morarka: May I refer to page 2 of the first memorandum dated 23rd May? I refer to section 292(1). It is divided into two paragraphs. I really could not understand what your organisation exactly wants. Because, you say one thing and say differently about it in paragraph 2. There is no question of the practical effect of this section to compel the directors of a banking company to delegate. There is no compulsion. The section only says that the Board may delegate powers.

**Chairman:** What is the practical effect of that? Perhaps it may not lead to that effect.

Shri Morarka: If you have looked into the amending section.....

**Chairman:** I do not know whether the witness could answer that.

•Shri Morarka: See the amending section—clause 102 of the Bill. It clearly says:

"... the Board may, by a resolution passed at a meeting, delegate to any committee of directhe managing director. tors. agent. the managing secretaries and treasurers, the manager or any other principal officer of the company or in the case of a branch office of the company, a principal officer of the branch office, the powers specified"

so on and so forth.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: That is well and good so far as the other joint stock enterprise is concerned; a branch office of a bank to function by itself, for banking business. It is a sine qua non that there is to be a delegation. After this section .--- however it has been amended to a certain extent-the delegation arises in this fashion, namely, a general evaluation is taken by the head office of the total quantum of business transacted at that circle or area or branch, and a delegation is given to the branch manager in order that he may carry out the function. Although it says "may", in the case of a banking company, for the success of the branch or for the functioning of the branch, delegation has to take place. Now, in actual prectice, in many cases, or in some cases, the delegation to the branch has been to the extent of about Rs. 50 lakhs or Rs. 75 lakhs or even a crore or Rs. 2 crores, commensurate with the turnover and the needs of the area. We represented even to the Shastri Committee that by asking for this delegation, the Board gives away wide powers to the branch managers, willingly or unwillingly, since the law requires it. In the past, the delegation of powers was only to the principal officers at the head office and they in turn would delegate or subdelegate the powers to branch managers according to a certain system. Whenever a branch manager or a branch officer wanted to exceed his authority, immediate reference was made to the general manager who could rectify it through the telephone or telegram.

We have experienced that as a result of this section which has been incorporated in the new Companies Act, quite often, however reliable our man is, he is impaired in business. We delegate to a certain branch agent Rs. 30 lakhs loans power-that is, the power for advancing that amount. He comes up in the course of businesswhen it is peak period-that the advance comes up to Rs. 29 lakhs. A customer who is an old client has a right to demand say, Rs. 5 lakhs as advance at that particular moment. Without a new resolution for delegation he cannot make the advance. That is one obstacle so far as we are concerned.

The second obstacle is that he came not merely refer it to the General Manager or the Managing Director or the Deputy General Manager or the District Manager or whoever that be. During that period, he loses the customer and if he starts exercising his discretion or authority for the furtherance of the business of the institution, then he is violating this section. So. in our view, we felt that this delegation should be so modified and some scheme should be evolved whereby the Board's responsibilities would be there. Ultimately, it is the Board's responsibility. But the delegation should be to the senior and superior officers and not to every branch manager.

**Chairman:** Shri Morarka's fearwas that, as you have put it in your memorandum, the practical effect of this sub-section is to compel the director. He feels that it is for the Board to do it. The Board may or may not delegate the powers. If the Board' does not want to delegate it or has not that confidence, is there any compulsion by law through the amendment whereby it could be done?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: I have answered that, but the very nature of business compels us.

Shri Morarka: My point is not clarified. In para 1 they say that if these powers are delegated to the Branch-Manager or to the local agent, then that person would become very strong and in a way he would not be within the effective authority of the General Manager. In para 2 they say that there are occasions when the Branch Manager acts outside his authority in emergency cases and to cover such cases, there must be some sort of authority given to him. I personally could not understand what they want.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: In para 1, we have simply said that the delegation to the General Manager has been an old custom, but because of this newsection, delegation directly by the-Board to the Branch Manager has come into practice and that also hasto be done if the business of the bank is to be carried on. In the first nara we say we are agreeable to the delegation to the General Manager. Tt has been the practice and there is no objection to that. But the trouble arises when the delegation directly by the Board to the Branch Manager or to the local officer takes place. That local officer sometimes oversteps the mark because of his over-enthusiasm though, of course, we have faith in his honesty, and the law is violated. If he does not do that, then he is retarding our business. On every occasion, because of the practical effect of this, the Branch Manager has to come to the Board or to the General Manaver

Shri Nathwani: If I have understood Mr. Morarka's point correctly, you can delegate certain powers to the branch officer. You feel that it involves delegation of vast powers. It is not necessarily so. You delegate power to the extent of Rs. 25 lakhs. Further if the branch officer wants to invest more, the General Manager can be empowered to extend further powers to the branch officer. Where is the difficulty?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: As the section reads, the General Manager has no powers to do that; the Board has powers.

Shri Nathwani: I beg to differ. The Board can say, the branch officer has power up to Rs. 25 lakhs and beyond that, the General Manager has powers. What is there to prevent such a course?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: The legal interpretation that we have got is that the delegation has to be by the Board under this section. As the hon. Member says, there is delegation to every Branch Manager, since the section requires it. But it is not via the The General General Manager. Manager has got three times or ten times more power than the Branch Manager, but the General Manager at that stage cannot increase it to Rs. 25 lakhs.

Shri Nathwani: It is the Board of Directors which gives power up to Rs. 25 lakhs to the branch officer. Beyond that, the General Manager would be authorised to extend the powers.

**Chairman:** The General Manager also shall have only delegated authority. He cannot increase his own authority or delegate his own delegated authority.

**Shri Morarka:** On page 3, there is another amendment dealing with the definition of temporary loans in section 293. According to this explanation, every demand loan is a temporary loan.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: The loans are generally given on demand "On demand" is one of the documents taken by banking companies. But the review of the loan takes place once a vear by the Board of Directors. They are all demand loans. We feel that since now the definition of a temporary loan, which was non-existent, is sought to be made as a loan given for six months, it would cause great hardship to banking companies. They are supposed to be demand loans in theory, but they come up for review once a year. Here you specify that a temporary loan should be for 6 months. So we say that in accordance with the practice of reviewing this loan once a year, you may kindly incorporate 12 months instead of six months.

**Chairman:** The witness has said that ordinarily all loans are really temporary loans, but they are reviewed every 12 months. Now if the limit is put at 6 months, that would dislocate the existing practice. He is putting forward that difficulty.

Shri P. T. Leuva: All the loans have been categorised as repayable on demand or repayable within six months. Loans which are repayable on demand can still be reviewed annually. But if a loan is made with the condition that it should be repaid within six months, then the explanation would apply.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: I am prepared to explain. All loans are demand loans as provided by the Banking Companies Act. We take as one of the documents a demand promissory note. That does not necessarily mean that you demand it back from the customer after a week or six months. Generally the understanding is that these loans will be reviewed at the end of the year. In some cases, there are certain instalments to be paid. If you reduce the overdraft-if your turnover is X and if you repay Y out of thatthen we shall be prepared to consider a renewal. We do not say we will not renew. They are all on demand, but that is the practice. The hardship to the client will arise if a demand loan is to be treated as a sixmonth loan and if we call it up at the termination of the six months. The alternative will be that the Board will have to review the position every six months. There are so many loans in the course of transactions during the six months-new and old-and it will be physically impossible for the Board of Directors in large companies to review them every six months.

**Shri Morarka**: On page, you are suggesting an amendment to section 293(5), which is not covered by this present Bill.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: This is an old request of ours and we wanted to mention it when the law is being amended.

**Chairman:** But you will appreciate that it will be outside our sphere now.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: Then I will drop it.

Shri Morarka: Your next amendment is to section 301(5).

Chairman: We can consider only amendments in the Bill.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: It is a correlated section which is sought to be amended. Clause 111(3A) (b) says:

"in the case of a banking company to any contract or arrangement (to which section 297, or as the case may be section 299 applies) by the banking company for the collection of bills in the ordinary course of its business."

If the exemption is given only for collection of bills, what happens if certain secret arrangements or contracts are made? How shall we be able to maintain our secrecy? What will prevent an outsider from asking for a copy of that? As bills which are also in the nature of secret transactions between the bank and the customer are sought to be exempted, we request that the exemption should be extended to such contracts in the ordinary course of banking business. If there is a general exemption that will meet our demand.

Shri Morarka: Section 301, subsection 5 is not being amended at the moment.

**Chairman:** We need not argue that with him. We will take into consideration all that. We need not argue with him. He feels this is correlated and a part of it. We will decide whether this is so or not.

Shri Morarka: What I want to know, Sir, is that this provision was there even in the old Act of 1913. Since the Act was amended in 1956, I would like to know whether they had any practical difficulty during these years.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: Sir, my hon'ble friend has referred to the Act of 1913. There is a material difference. In the first place, all these details which are sought to be incorporated were never in existence in 1913 Act; secondly, 1913 Act never sought that any copies could be given: 1913 Act never wanted this thing should be filed with the Registrar and there will be no guarantee of secrecy now. If you will refer to 1913 Act, you will find all that.

Shri Morarka: Now. I come to Section 228 in the Memorandum dated the 1st June. They are giving reasons why the branch offices should not be audited: firstly, because the State Bank of India does not audit: secondly because the cost of compulsory audit will be high in relation to the turnover of business at small branches and thirdly, that purpose is already being served. Could you please explain to the Committee how this purpose is already being served?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: As I said in my opening remark, these statutory auditors, particularly under the Banking Companies Act have to be sanctioned by their share-holders. In a general meeting, a resolution ie usually passed laying down their duties, that these auditors shall examine X. Y. Z branches and call for such information, etc. Now, already by way of test audit, as and when an opportunity occurs. they examine these small officers. That is what we have said, that the purpose has been served under the present legislation.

**Shri Morarka:** But at the present moment all branches of the Banks are not audited.

**Shri C. H. Bhabha:** That is correct, Sir. But if the general meeting wants that all the branches should be audited, the general meeting can decide so. The words are: "unless the general meeting so decides."

Shri Morarka: Now, I come to Memorandum dated 17th June. Clause 64 wishes to amend section 209. Is it your impression that if this amendment is carried out, then all the books of the branches also will have to be kept at the head office?

**Shri C. H. Bhabha:** No, Sir; we do not visualise that. Every branch has got its main books and subsidiary books. The hase office may be the custodian of the shares registered, the central office books certain main books. inter-branch accounts and things like that. But every beanch that is opened or permitted to be opened has to be sanctioned hv the Reserve Bank. In addition to that the Reserve Bank has a right of inspection of any small or big branch. which they exercise. A regular inspection takes place. So, we say that through this amendment of section 209, you are casting an unnecessary and unwarranted res\_ ponsibility. As soon as a small branch is opened, the Patna Registrar will have to be informed that we have opened a branch at Moga or wherever it is and that the books are here. That is what we are trying to point out.

Shri Morarka: On page 2 of the same Memorandum, section 293, you want that the Reserve Bank and Finance Corporations, etc. should be incorporated. Would you please explain his thing because sub-section 4 of the above section deals with only your accepting deposits from the public?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: Sir, quite often. the surplus money of these specialised institutions for temporary period remains with them and since many of these institutions have as their share-holders banking companies themselves or are directly or vitally interested in banking companies, they choose to keep their funds with them or distribute their funds with banking companies. If the section is kept as it is, we have drawn the attention of the Hon'ble Members that there is a little difference in our thinking which should permit us to retain these funds which temporarily may be surplus to the needs of the specialised institutions like. Finance Corporation. Supposing they issue bonds in the market, great portion of the bonds are taken by the banks themselves. Now, during a period when they have collected the money and when they have fulfilled their objective of dispersing

these loans, during that interregnum period, they choose not to keep those amounts with them not earning anything.

Shri Morarka: Is it not true that the borrowing needs of a bank generally depend upon the withdrawals by the public and, therefore, you cannot exactly forecast as to what would be your borrowing from the Reserve Bank or any other scheduled banks or from others? Therefore, the section should exempt banking companies.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: That is an internal working. It does not exclusively depend on the withdrawals of the public. That is an incorrect statement to make with due deference to the Hon'ble Member. Banking companies adjust their needs as they want finance from time to time and if finance or borrowing is attractive from one source, say, the Refinance Corporation, banking companies would go there. That is why we have suggested that these other institutions may also be included.

Shri Morarka: On what grounds can the banking companies ask for special treatment as compared to other companies?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: We are not asking for special treatment. We are pointing out that occasionally the deposits from other specialised institutions remain with banks and this is what has been somehow not noticed in this amendment.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I am referring to section 301, sub-section 5 on page 4 of the Memorandum. Subsection 5 relates to the maintenance of a register of contracts of companies and firms in which Directors are interested. The argument advanced by the witness is that banks have the paramount duty of maintaining secrecy and that they should be exempted. My question is, since the Very purpose of the amendment is to expose any transactions in which Directors are interested, how does your argument stand?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: Sir, as 1 have said a little earlier, it is incumbent on every banker-that is the basis of banking-to maintain secrecy of the transactions of his customer. We apprehend that if this basis is in any way sought to be exposed to public gaze of this type-it is for the Government and the hon. Members to take a policy decision, it is not for us-then banking business in India will be greatly impaired, and the basis of banking business will be shaken very rudely if the clause permits the disclosure of the details of the principal terms and conditions of contracts or arrangements made

It may happen that there are common directors in large corporations along with a bank. The corporations may not have any direct stake with the bank or vice versa. But, for good business of banking, a certain share of the business of the corporation may be passed on to the bank. Now, if the details of all those terms and conditions are to be (a) noted in the register, and (b) made available to anybody, then it will create a very harmful effect on banking. That is our opinion.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: At page 6 of the memorandum relating to the question of certain risk regarding retrenchment compensation not being amenable to precise calculation, you say that it is an incalculable risk. Are you aware of the fact that under section 25 of the Industrial Disputes Act, it has been held that bona fide closure is not retrenchment? Therefore. a maximum amount equal to three months' wages as compensation has been provided. So. i₽ three months' wages are definitely provided. and you know the wage bill, what is the difficulty in calculating the amount?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: The hon. Member is trying 'o differentiate or put a line between bona fide closure and....

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** The Supreme Court has done it; it is not I who am doing it.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: All right; the Supreme Court has done it. I am not a lawyer of repute like my hon. friend.

Further, from the banking angle, we feel that such sort of unknown liabilities which cannot be put down on paper and which are not known at the time when a loan is made, should arise later. There are risks that a banker takes; but if more and more unknown or uncertain factors of this type are on the statute-book, we feel that there will be a shrinkage in the attitude of bankers towards industrial advance.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I would next invite your attention to page 2 of your memorandum dated the 17th June, regarding clause 76 amending section 234. Section 234 relates to the powers of the registrar to call for information or explanation. In that memorandum, you suggest that the powers of the registrar should be so limited as to prevent him from calling for information of a confidential nature from banking companies. Who decides whether the information is confidential or not?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: Our contention is that all information, confidential or otherwise, is exposed to the Reserve Bank of India through its regular checks and inspections. All information, good, bad or indifferent, vital or not vital, confidential or otherwise, is known to the central banking authority of the country.

We are also familiar with the powers and functions of the registrars. If registrars, however competent they may be, are given the powers to call for information, we feel that (a) we shall not be able to continue with our banking secrecy, (b) that we cannot be indemnified by the registrar or any other person against any claim or suit that may be instituted against us, and (c) that there will be a certain amount of impairment of our own credit and stature, if certain clients come to know that we have been called upon by the registrar to submit some information.

In addition, the registrar is given powers to call for our books from any branch. I would like my hon. friend and you, Sir, to visualise a case where a small branch with six or seven staff members—since there are many branches all over the country, for the spread of banking, and otherwise—is called upon to produce certain books at the registrar's office, which may be half a mile away, for a particular bona fide purpose. If that is to be during banking hours, is it possible for the bank to carry on its banking business?

Shri Naushir Bharucha: That does not answer my question. Who decides the confidential nature of any information?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: Well, naturally, the registrar, and not we.

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: Why should it be necessary that those documents should be sent only during banking hours?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: If you so choose, they may be sent after banking hours. But the very fact that the documents are removed from a branch by a registrar is....

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: That is a different matter.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: My point is that those are the general business hours.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Regarding section 293 which deals with restriction on powers of the board to borrow money beyond the particular limit your request is that as has been done by the amending Bill in the case of section 292, a sub-section mav he added to section 293 exempting the borrowings by banking companies from the Reserve Bank of India, the State Bank of India or any other corporation. If this is done, then do you not think that the purpose of the section would be defeated, which is to prevent over-borrowing?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: No. Inter-bank borrowing is permitted and is permissible and is common practice also in the course of natural banking business. The State Bank is also a lender to a large extent, because the State Bank's agency is employed for free transmission of funds from one place to the other. In other words, where the Reserve Bank has not got its own offices, the agency of the State Bank is used by all. But, generally, the Reserve Bank is the bankers' bank. But where the bankers' bank has not got its own branch office or organisation for these facilities, then, naturally, the State Bank comes into the picture. In addition. under the Banking Companies Act, for various guarantees given by banks for various purposes in the natural course of banking business. the State Bank gives a line of credit. That is technically and literally a sort of borrowing from the Reserve Bank. Sometimes, there is an adverse balance against one of the banks, in a clearing; and at that time, a temporary loan is given, which has been laid down, as per the terms and conditions under the Banking Companies Act: the Reserve Bank is bound to advance that to that bank for that period. Quite often, the banks go to the Reserve Bank for borrowing. My hon. friend may think that it may lead to over-borrowing. But the overborrowing aspect does not come into the picture, because all these loans are carefully known to the lender, but the lender puts a limit for everything.

As I said, even the Reserve Bank, according to the turnover of the institution says that 'You can extend guarantees for your clients to the extent of Rs. 2 crores or Rs. 5 crores, Rs. 2 crores in one case, and Rs. 5 crores in another case. So, there is no overborrowing.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Mv last question is in regard to what you have stated at page 3 of the memorandum on clause 180 dealing with section 531 which relates to fraudulent transfers. during liquidation. Your suggestion is that the transfer to a banking company of property, in the course of liquidation, should be exempted from the operation of this clause. Do you not think that this would defeat the very purpose of the section, first, by the property being transferred to a third party through a bank, and secondly, by the bank being nominally brought in in the transaction?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: I beg to differ from my hon. friend. A banker would never be a party to that.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Not a party, but it may be a tool in the hands of designing persons.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: You may call it a tool or party or anything. Generally, a banker would not sell or stake his reputation. What we are objecting to is this. In the course of banking business, very often. the banker refuses to extend the credit. The borrower is unable to pay then and there: and there may be a specified asset of his which is unencumbered, which the banker may be willing to accept in order to continue that facility. Now, that is an unencumbered security which the borrower gives to the lender, that is, to the banker, in the ordinary course of business. Otherwise, the issue would be forced that you either pay us or go into bankruptcy. So, quite often, an additional security is taken so that the business continues and the business is nursed through a period so that it comes on its proper bearings. That is what we feel.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Since transfers for valuable consideratio... without notice and in good faith have been excluded, where is the fear of a banking company's inability to prove its good faith?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: The bank will be able to prove good faith. But at a particular moment it may not be possible for it may be a continuous business of the bank.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: Please refer to page 2. You point out certain difficulties. But may I point out that the resolution that is passed by the Directorate would provide for these difficulties. The conditions can be incorporated in the resolution itself.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: I bow to the views of the hon. Member; but our lawyers say that such a resolution may not hold the field if it is contested.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: Do you mean to say that any resolution that may be passed must be applied to all branches with the same conditions? If an amendment is made that it will be subject to the conditions etc. will that satisfy you?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: Yes.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: In page 3, you have referred to some local committees. I understand that in many banks local committees are doing a useful job. In your resolution you can also provide for consultation with the local committees.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: Consultation with local committees would not give them any power. There is a specific delegated authority to the local committees to transact business. And, the local committees, when they are performing effective functions, exercise these powers. But very often, as I have said, they are handicapped in the exercise of those powers when the powers are restricted or specified. The local committees cannot be given powers by a flexible resolution or a wide resolution.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: The functions of your local committees are not merely advisory.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: They advise; and they have also specific powers.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: You have given reasons for exemption from compulsory audit and one of the reasons given is that the State Bank is not compulsorily audited.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: That is incidental.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: But that is one of the important reasons you have given.

**Chairman:** He says that it is only incidental.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: You must have some reasons. What are the reasons that promoted you for this non-compulsory audit?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: Because the statutory auditors are very responsible people; they know their own responsibilities. In cases where they have felt that there ie sufficient evidence before them, namely certified returns-which they have tested or checked occasionally by sample tests and satisfied themselves that they are correct-they have felt that they can certify the balance-sheet with full knowledge of their responsibility and also knowing the liability attached thereto.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: With regard to wages being given priority, I can understand that because till now they are an undefinable quantity. But once they are defined by law, will they not cease to be an undefinable quantity?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: Definition by law does not specify the amount in actual practice. **Chairman:** He has given his opinion on this point. We need not labour it further.

Shri Mulchand Dube: You pointed out in your opening remarks that the banking companies should be treated separately from the others. In that connection you also pointed out that vou are governed by the Banking Companies Act. In this connection. may I draw your attention to section 3 of the Banking Companies Act which says that the provisions of this Act shall be in addition to and not. except in so far as is hereinafter provided, in derogation of the Indian Companies Act and any other law for the time being in force. The difficulties that you have pointed out with regard to the working of the Banking Companies Act can. I think, be very properly placed as amendments to the Banking Companies Act and not to the Indian Companies Act. I think that Act is also being amended and it would be more appropriate for you to place all these objections and difficulties before a committee appointed for that purpose.

**Chairman:** So far as this particular Bill is concerned, he has expressed what special treatment the banks desire. We need not go into the background or the case they make out for special treatment because they have specifically mentioned their points with regard to the clauses concerned.

Shri Mulchand Dube: The special difficulties which the banking companies are likely to encounter by enacting the various clauses have been mentioned in the memorandum. These difficulties will apply generally to all companies. If the banking companies want special treatment for themselves, that has to be governed by the Banking Companies Act and not by this Act.

**Chairman:** We have to discuss whether we are going to agree with the views put forward by him or not. But he has put forward his views why they want special treatment. Shri Mulchand Dube: If they want special treatment, a treatment different from the one meted out to other companies, they should go to the Banking Companies Act and not to this.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: We agree.

**Chairman:** The witness says he agrees with the hon. Member.

Shri Bisht: In your memorandum, page 23, you have raised certain points. I may draw your attention to the Shastri Committee's Report, pages 106 to 109. These very points were raised before the Shastri Committee: and, in order to meet these points. the Shastri Committee has recommended a new proviso, an extension your of which would amply meet points. For instance. the Shastri Committee says that in order to cover cases where large sums have to be raised, the practice is to have local boards of directors or local committees the Branch to advise and guide Manager and the principal officers in regard to the sanctioning of loans. Previously, the sanction had to be obtained from the headquarters before granting such loans.

**Chairman:** That is exactly the ground why these companies have submitted their memoranda as to why they do not agree with the Shastri Committee's observations.

Shri Bisht: I am drawing his attention to this that the words 'with such conditions as the Board may prescribe' were not there in the existing law. Therefore, when the Board is delegating power it can prescribe the conditions. The delegated authority shall have to take the prior consept of the General Manager or the dele-gated authority shall have to consult the local committees-all these come under 'such conditions as may be These words did 100 prescribed'. exist before.

**Chairman:** Shri Morarka also raised the same point. He has answered the point. If we do not agree with

873 L.S.-2.

him, we need not argue the point. We can discuss it when the witness is not here. But he has answered that point. Whether the answer satisfies us or not is a different thing.

Shri Bisht: I wanted to know if that point has been made.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: I am aware of the Shastri Committee and we represented to that Committee about that, but we feel hat this little amendment is not necessary. And we have been so advised legally also.

Shri Tangamani: You referred to section 228. What I would like to know is whether there are any branch auditors for branch auditing, in any of the branch offices. That is the first point I would like to know.

The second point is, would you not consider it desirable to have such branch auditing to prevent irregularities and fraud and such other things in the branches themselves?

The third point arising out of the same is this. You referred to section 41(7) of the State Bank of India Act, 1955. Would you like the same control to be imposed on the scheduled banks also?

Then you also referred to section 7 of the Companies Act.

**Chairman:** You may put the questions one after the other, after each question is answered.

Shri Tangamani: They deal with the same point.

**Chairman:** Perhaps the witness may find it difficult to answer them at one and the same time.

Shri Tangamani: Would you consider the returns contemplated in section 27 to be the same as the audited report?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: In most of the cases the returns are recorded not by us but by statutory auditors who know their responsibilities and liabilities. They sign the balance-sheet. It is sufficient proof and evidence for them to incorporate them in the consolidated balance-sheets.

Shri Tangamani: At page 3 of your first memorandum, you referred to section 292(4),-the purposes for which the loans may be made. You want that to be deleted. But is it not the practice now that before loans are sanctioned the banks know the purposes for which the loans are going to be utilised? Would you not consider it necessary to know the purposes for which the loans are advanced to them and are to be utilised. Perhaps the loans may be utilised for speculative purposes like hoarding of foodgrains.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: Very correct. The purpose is the consideration that the banker looks into. Quite often, he also keeps a watch whether the purpose for which the loan is given is adhered to. But both in the accounts of the borrowers as well as in the day-to-day conduct of business, very often, there is no compartmentalisation or demarkation of the loan, to the effect that this Rs. 50,000 is used specifically for this purpose and so on. It may overlap in some cases.

In the accounts of the borrowers also there is no such specific thing that the loan of Rs. 50,000 borrowed from a bank has to be exclusively used for such and such a thing. There is no legal obligation about it although they may tell us what it is for and we also see that it is done. That is why we have felt that it will create practical and onerous responsibilities for us and so we will not be able to fulfil our functions in letter and spirit. That is what we have tried to show there.

Shri Tangamani: At page 4 of the memorandum regarding section 303(5) you say that shareholders have become more conscious of their rights. Then you proceed to show in the memorandum that chances of abusing their rights have considerably increased. Is it your contention that things must be done behind the back of the shareholders who are conscious of their rights?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: No. Sir. I am sorry if the hon. Member has got that feeling and comes to construct that sentence in the way he has done. I say it with due deference. What we have tried to show is that banks are essentially credit institutions and credit being a very tender plant it can be adversely affected by even the smallest sort of mischief even if that mischief be unintentional. There have been very solitary cases but, those cases have been salvaged or saved because the Reserve Bank steps into the picture and says to the shareholder that the Bank is satisfied. The examination by the Reserve Bank or the chit from the Reserve Bank allows the credit institution to function. Nobody can check rumours .--leave aside the shareholders. Even rumours affect the credit institutions. That is what we have tried to point out. Under this amendment there will be a bigger chance for that sort of mischief, unintentional though it may be, being played against the credit institutions specifically.

Shri Tangamani: I put the last questions auestion. Several Were asked about the compensation payable to the employees. Section 531B deals with the arrears of wages up to a maximum of four months as a preferential payment in the winding up of a company. The section limits that maximum to a thousand rupees. Ĩn the Industrial Disputes Act, as amended. in 1953, Chapter V clearly says what will be the quantum that is payable to each employee. Do you hold that at the time when a particular loan is advanced at any particular period of time, we do not know what will be the compensation payable to the employees?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: I have replied to that.

Shiri Tangamani: Can you not fix a percentage in terms of the annual wage bill? That could be done for a particular period of time. Shri C. H. Bhabha: I do not agree with the hon. Member. I still maintain that this is a contingency, an undetermined liability, so far as the banker is concerned. I do not wish to go into the policy underlying this. but I do feel that as lending institutions banks would be chary hereafter of making, to the full extent possible, industrial advances in this country. That is what I wanted to say. I am not concerned with the policy decision.

Shri Chinai: May I know how the audit of the branches of the banks is conducted at present? Also, may I know what would be their effect or will there be any effect of the auditing, in view of the amendment suggested for section 228?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: I have briefly answered that. Statutory auditors as determined by the general meeting carry out the audit but for most of the branches, although they owe a responsibility to the shareholders, they have to comply with their liability to the members of the company, and otherwise......

**Chairman:** The hon. Member knows the answer but I think perhaps he is driving at some other point.

Shri Chinai: You have answered that in the beginning. But I wanted to have a detailed knowledge about it, namely, whether the auditor at present does come in the way of branches.

Shri C. H. Bhabha: He does not; not at present.

Shri Chinai: If he does not, why do you object to the amendment of section 228?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: Because, the amendment as it has been put here, would compel every banking company to appoint a chartered accountant for even the smallest branch employing five to seven people, or alternatively, through a resolution of the members, the Board would be authorised in consultation with the auditors of the company,—the statutory auditors—to appoint X, Y or Z to declare who should be qualified auditors. We feel that if this process is applied to banking companies, which at times have 400 or 500 branches-the State Bank has got 700 branches-then the accounts of the banking companies would (a) never be audited in time; (b) the expenditure would be enormous: and (c) it would not be worthwhile to challenge the responsibilities and liabilities of the statutory auditors who know their business and who have been so far satisfied in accepting certified returns from those branches. In spite of the certified returns, they take sample audits in branches with their full powers and they are doing it occasionally.

Shri Chinai: Regarding the amendment to section 292(1), why would it not be practicable to give effect to this scheme?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: As I have explained, this is one of the great practical difficulties which bankers have been confronted with after this new section was incorporated in the Act of 1956. It compels directors of banking companies to delegate directly authority to Managers. As I have explained. quite often the managers in their overenthusiasm or over-zeal may step beyond their authority for keeping a customer. Again, quite often he may have come to the limit of his powers. but an old customer comes and he cannot turn him away. Thirdly, he cannot, as he used to do formerly, telephone to the General Manager, or one of the senior officials. Formerly the delegation from the Board was to half a dozen senior officials who in their authority could give sanction on the telephone or telegraph. To that extent it will create hardship to the banking companies.

Shri Chinai: Is it not a fact that the managers of these big companies are very high-powered personalities and they have very wide powers? If that is a fact, is it not possible that the Board may delegate some power to their managers who can take decisions for themselves, so far as the branches are concerned? Shri C. H. Bhabha: No, that is not possible; as the section stands and as the Act stands it is not possible. That is what we pointed out to the Shastri Committee.

Shri Chinai: Would the suggested amendment to section 301, sub-clause (5) have any harmful effect on the business of banking?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: I have already explained that.

Shri Chinai: What will be the harmful effect on the banking business as such if we amend this section?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: It will shake the very basis of banking business, namely secrecy.

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: Mr. Bhabha might have seen the present Act. I merely want to draw his attention to sub-clause (d) of clause 9, which says that for clause 9 the following clause shall be substituted —definition of a branch:

"But does not include any establishment as specified in any order made by the Central Government under section 8."

The Central Government has got the powers to exclude any branch from compulsory audit. It may be banking companies, branch offices. Does this not satisfy you?

Shri C. H. Bhabha: So far as banking companies are concerned, we are anxious to expand or increase the number of branches. Quite often if a branch at the end of one year or so becomes unremunerative, it is shifted with the permission of the Reserve Bank in every case. Now at every stage an exemption in the course of the year is sought to be asked. The statutory auditors themselves will get confused.

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: If general permission is given?"

Shri C. H. Bhabha: That is a matter of palicy so far as you are concerned. The section as it stands is applicable. Whether you give sanction or you do not is a matter of government policy. We felt it our duty to point out the hardship that would be brought on the banking companies and on the growth of Indian banking.

(The witnesses then withdrew)

# M. Tata Industries Private Limited, Bombay

Spokesmen:

- 1. Shri J. D. Choksi.
- 2. Kumari G. N. Cowasjee.
- (Witnesses were called in and they took their seats).

**Chairman:** We have all read the memorandum submitted. Have you anything to say in addition to or supplement of it?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I should like to make a few preliminary observations and also to refer to certain salient provisions in our memorandum.

Sir, the Group that I represent appreciates that Company Law ie essentially a matter of regulation and you must expect more regulations in matters concerning companies than in the ordinary affairs of an individual. But, Sir, it is our feeling that the stage has now been reached, with the Companies Act of 1956 and this Bill, where regulation has heen stretched to a point that it prevents companies from really exercising their ordinary rights of carrying on business. That may appear to be a very general statement, but I would like to illustrate it. I would only say this that you have increased the responsibility on those in charge of management enormously and VOU have reduced our powers and authority, which is not good; because, when you increase one's responsibility. whether it be an individual or a company, you should let him have the authority to match that control which you have chosen to impose on him. We feel that that is not there.

Today those in charge of management cannot even appoint a selling agent for a village for their goods shareholders without going to the for sanction. It may seem ridiculous. but in the result. companies 9 74 forced to commit a breach of the law. I have to go to my shareholders to sanction the appointment of a sole sewing selling agent to sell my machine. If he dies or if I find that he is not sufficiently honest or honourable. I have to go back to my shareholders. Otherwise mv business comes to a standstill.

I think this body, which is representative of the public of India, if I may say so, is aware that in large companies like the Tata Iron and Steel Company, it costs Rs. 50.000 to call a general meeting of the company. Am I to call a general meeting just to appoint an agent because the former agent has died? There should be ways and ways of getting over these difficulties. The trouble is every time the company administration finds there has been some malpractice or dishonesty. thev promptly think there is need for legislative control. If I may sav so, that is a wrong approach. Punish goodness's the wrong-doer, but for sake, you have already placed a strait-jacket on management and now you are putting shackles to his feet and it is very difficult to run companies.

There is a general penal provision that if there is a breach of any of the provisions of the law, the companies will be liable to be prosecuted and penalised. I have asked the department to tell me to which section does this apply but I think they are unable to say so, because there are a number of provisions of the law which are purely regulatory. If you want to increase your capital and if you do not go through a particular procedure, your capital is not increased. But that is not a case for prosecution. Those in charge of management can only proceed on the basis that every section has a penalty attached to it, which makes things

very difficult. I do plead that this Joint Committee should do something to break some of these fetters. There is a further illustration under section 346. Government's sanction is required for making changes in the constitution of a managing agent of a company. In fact, there is a provision that you have to get the consent of Government when a managing agent's partner dies. God. of course. does not wait for Government's sanction. If I may say something personal, I have been a member of the Company Law Commission which dealt with these applications running into thousands, some of which were of the most trivial character. A share of a managing agency company changes by virtue of the death of a member. You have to go to the Government for the sanction of the transfer of that share from the dead man's name to hie successor The law Govis somewhat If onerous. ernment does grant sancnot tion, the consequence is not that the share cannot be transferred, but that the managing agent ceases to hold his appointment as managing agent, which is a rather curious result.

From my experience of that Commission. I have found that about 90 per cent of the changes in the constitution are as a result of forces of normal occurrence. I do beseech this body, after hearing me, to make that section applicable only in the event of a certain number of shareholders applying to Government to control any change in the constitution of the managing agent. We have now a very fine code under one of the sections that where 100 shareholders or such number of shareholders as represent 10 per cent of the capital apply, Government is entitled to take certain action to prevent oppression and mismanagement. I request that the same principle be applied to section 346 also. Let not every alteration in the constitution of a managing agent be subject automatically to Government's sanction. It is a waste of public funds; waste of time of the Company Law Commission and waste of Government's time.

Take the case of a director retiring in the ordinary course of events. Mr. Homi Mody, one of my colleagues, is just retiring, but his retirement is not effective till the Government of India sanctions it. I know it is going to sanction it, but in the usual way, it will take about 2 months to get the approval of the Commission. Why is this necessary? So, I ask that these changes in the constitution should be made automatically provided the managing agents give notice to their shareholders and the shareholders have the right within a stated period of time to apply to Government that they should approve of the change in the constitution and then it would be effective only if Government agrees to the change. I have that proposal at page 26 of my memorandum and I do earnestly request the Joint Committee to be kind enough to consider it. It will save an enormous amount of time.

If you look at page 27, there I have made certain proposals, which I will not read because I trust they have been read. There is a proposal which provides that the death or retirement of a director should not require approval. A sub-clause has been added providing that it will be obligatory on managing agents within 21 days to notify the shareholders of such a change. In the event of such notification being given, the powers exercisable by the Central Government under clause (1) shall only be exercised if within 90 days thereafter an application is made for that purpose in the case of a company having a share capital by not less than 100 members of the company or not less than one-tenth of the total number of members, whichever is less, and in the case of a company not having a share capital by not less than onefifth of the total number of members. That formula of representative shareholders has been adopted in other sections of the Act also. So, I do plead that it would go a long way to increase the despatch of business by operating companies. As it is today, we find ourselves in a difficulty. Sir, that is one of the important suggestions we wish to put forward.

Now. Sir. there is another section which affects my group of companies very seriously and if it is put into operation-I refer to clause 124-it will mean that Tata Industries which are the managing agent of a very large group of companies, simply disappear from business, completely disappear from business. I do not understand how that section, if I may say so, crept into the Bill. Frankly speaking, I think, there has been some serious misunderstanding in this position. The Shastri Committee held a very elaborate enquiry. as this body knows, into the working of companies and they made a number of suggestions and a number of examined by them. witnesses were The proposed section provides that no subsidiary company can be • managing agent. No such evidence was laid before the Shastri Committee. I make bold to say, that no such evidence has been produced before Government that there has been any abuse of authority by subsidiary companies which are managing agents or has any malpractice been found at their doors? Surely, I am entitled to ask, if you are going to deprive certain groups of companies of their ordinary business activities, you should only do so provided you find that there has been some serious misconduct by such groups or their position as managing agents led to serious abuse of authority. There is no instance of that. When I read the Bill, I turned to the Explanatory Note to find out what was the reason for this amendment and all that I find in the Explanatory Note is a paraphrase of the clause. If you will kindly look at page 112, all that it says is:

"Clause 124—The proposed new section provides that no company shall appoint or employ as its managing agent any body corporate which is itself a subsidiary of another body corporate."

# Shri Morarka: No legal language.

Shri J. D. Choksi: It is merely a paraphrase of the section. May I say this, the Hon'ble Minister himself has pleaded for decentralisation in the affairs of company. May I say that the creation of subsidiary companies is a form of decentralisation. I think, it is hardly necessary for me to say that before this body. In fact there are a number of sections of the Act dealing with subsidiary companies. Perhaps, the name 'subsidiary' is a misnomer. It gives the impression that it is an inferior type of animal. It is not so. It is merely that it is a specialised company in the sense that 50 per cent of its capital is held by another company and ultimately. Sir. the capital of all companies is held by individuals. Ultimately it is the individual who owns companies. In the case of subsidiary companies, я holding company has been superven-6d In other words, the original share-holders form a company called the holding company and then for certain purposes, to which I will briefly refer, the holding company forms subsidiary company in which it holds either the whole or a majority interest in the capital with the object of transferring some particular field or activity of the parent company to the subsidiary company. There is as any much delegation in company management, whether it be a principal company or a holding company, as there is in subsidiary company. All management of a company is a matter of delegation.

Now, it has been said that a subsidiary company is not qualified to become a managing agent. Why? In my own group the subsidiary company which is the managing agent is more competent than the holding company to be a managing agent, because Tata Sons, the original firm

which was created by late Mr. J. N. Tata had a number of activities, trading and otherwise and today its share capital is mainly held by two large public charitable trusts created by the Tata family. In fact, the constitution of that company is such that it is difficult to appoint other Directors to its Board. So. Tata Sons devised in 1945 a formula whereby they created Tata Industries to take over all the managing agency activities of the parent firm and as a result of that creation of Tata Industries we were able to invite outstanding administrators from Government service. from public life, specialists, financial experts, technical experts and we have a very large Board of 13 or 14 Directors today, each a specialist in his field or a tried administrator including administrators that have grown up through the ranks of the various Tata companies.

Now, we claim that a company of that type which is solely devoted to managing other companies and which is, therefore, skilled in the technique of management, and which make it their study to understand the techniques of management is far better qualified than a trading organisation to be a managing agent and it is by creating such a body of specialists that you get the type of managing agents which Government want. In fact, Government itself have suggested that they must improve the standard of secretaries of companies because a large number of companies have not got the secretarial assistance they need and suggestions have been made to improve the qualifications of the secretaries and make them more fit to perform secretarial services. Well, Sir, this is actually what we have done. It is a process of decentralisation which has merged into this managing agency company all the functions of management and nothing else. They are not concerned with buying cotton, selling cotton; they are not concerned with acting as selling agents. They have no other interests. Their interests are to protect solely the operations of their principals and I say, with all the emphasis that I can, that that body is much more qualified to act as managing agents than any other type of managing agents.

Well, Sir, under the provisions of this Bill such managing agents disappear completely from the field without any investigation into their activities, without any evidence of malpractice, without any evidence that they are less competent. On the contrary, if the share-holders of the Tata Group were to be asked, they have appointed these managing agents unanimously. When the time came for appointments of the managing agents, the Government have approved these appointments. I deal with the practical facts of life and companies also have a practical life and I do earnestly submit that there is no case for abolishing managing agencies in the hands of subsidiary company. That is my point No. 2. Otherwise, the result will only be this If you destroy that particular type of managing agent, it only means that you will weaken the managing agent by converting him to a non-subsidiary of a powerful holding company with large financial resources. How does a subsidiary company become a nonsubsidiary company? By transferring shares in the holding company to the share-holders of the holding company. What purpose does it serve Government? What purpose does it serve the Company Administration? In my own group Tata Sons' resources are about Rs. 10 crores. The managing agency company, apart from the individual status of the structure, has not resources beyond a sum, may be of a crore of rupees. Now, as a matter of fact, it is well known that all responsible holding companies underwrite the obligations of their subsidiaries, and in our own case the managing agents have stood guarantees to the extent of about Rs. 38 crores for the member companies of which they are managing agents and the holding companies have joined

in the guarantees. Why destroy that set-ap? It is a perfectly sound set-up. It is not a question of control of authority in a few individuals at all. It is a question of the whole of the resources of an industrial house being put at the service of the companies which they have promoted. I will say no more on that.

Shri Morarka: Before the witness goes to the next point I want one His objection to small clarification. the provision that no subsidiary companies should be appointed managing agents I can understand. There was a discussion that no subsidiary company should have the managing agents. Has the witness any objection to that---a subsidiary of another holding company should not have managing agents?

**Chairman:** We are discussing clause 124. We shall come to that later.

Shri J. D. Choksi: That will be a fundamentally different point which I shall answer later.

As regards clause 124 it is proposed that it should apply only to future appointments of managing agents. after this Bill becomes law. As the Joint Committee knows all managing agencies cease on the 15th of August, 1960. So all appointments effected from that date will automatically come under this ban That is all I have to make clear.

I should like to make a suggestion here and it is right that I should do it. Under the law as it stands today holding companies of managing agents are not subject to the control under section 346, that is, any change in the constitution of a holding company does not require government sanction. Although there have been no cases where it has been said that as a result of lack of control there have been abuses on the part of holding companies of managing agents, I would submit that clause 127 should be made of general application, namely that in future a change in the constitution of a holding company should be

deemed to be a change in the constitution of the managing agents. Government thereby will have effective control not merely over the change in the constitution of the subsidiary company but also a change in the Board of Directors of the holding company. In other words, I am suggesting widening the control which is given under section 346, which I want to extend to all managing agencies.

I have briefly in my preliminary remarks referred to the plight, if I may say so, of selling agents. We, the group of companies I represent, which is a fairly important group, agree that the duties of selling agents and of managing agents are incomparible with one another. We do not believe that managing agents should be interested in any form or even remotely with the sale of the products of their principal companies, because there is a conflict of interest.

A managing agent is there to protect the management of the companies he manages and to control the activities of selling agents. But we do say this: do not prevent companies. and the large majority of them have honest managing agents, from carrying on their business. You will thereby be handicapping companies as against business partnerships and other firms which carry on business. When you say in the case of selling agencies that they should not only have the approval of the shareholders but also Government's approval, you are placing those companies in an inferior competitive position as regards foreign competitors. Today if I want to sell my cloth in Australia—I do sell my cloth in Australia-if I appoint a sole selling agent, I have to go to the shareholders of my company to get their sanction. If this Bill becomes law, I may have to go to Government to get Government's sanction also. With all respect to Government, no self-respecting selling agent in other countries would

be prepared to submit their appointment as selling agents to the control of the Government of India If we sell in another country we have got to sell according to the conditions that exist there and it puts me in an entirely incompatible and in an inferior competitive position with foreign interests selling in that market. Under this section Government has to approve the appointment and also the terms and conditions on which it is made. Surely it is not our intention. but we are leading-I do not like the use of that word-to a totalitarian regime in matters of business We do not want that; we want to see that our business activities expand and I sav it is wrong to place these companies in this inferior sort of competitive position with foreigners.

The trouble is that not merely does it apply to sales abroad, but even within the country. Powerful international corporations can sell within this country without these restrictions. But if I have to sell my soap or my household goods or my sewing machines in competition with them. I have to go through this rigorous, timeconsuming, money-consuming procedure. As I told you in some companies it costs Rs. 50,000 to hold a general meeting and Government may take two or three months to give its approval or sanction to the appointment of the selling agents. And if I am dissatisfied with the selling agent, or if I want to alter his terms in some small respect, I cannot do so till I get the sanction. This is not the way for any company in any country to run business. By all means punish us: have the most drastic penalties if we commit a breach of the law which you consider as corrupt; but do not let us have this form of control. It does not serve any purpose; it only tends to create, if I may say so, a monolithic structure in the company organisation where every time they have to come up to Delhi for approval. We do not want that sort of situation. That is not the decentralisation which the hon. Minister himself pleaded for. We want decentralization. We frankly do not want anything else. We want to be able to run our business in an effective manner. competitive with every other competitor, and we want to see that we do a good job of our business. And we are prepared to disclose everything afterwards and report it to our shareholders. We can maintain registers about the appointment of selling Suppose I appoint a selling agents agent in a district, a sole selling agent. because that is the normal way of carrying on business; and if he is satisfactory. I do not want to appoint another to compete with him. Why should I, when I want to change his appointment, go to the shareholders? After all. I am responsible to the management. Give me the authority of management. If I have a business of my own, without shareholders. I could do it. And frankly. if the partnership law were to be changed and if we were allowed to have partnership of more than ten persons, what would be the position? Now ten persons only can form a partnership: if it is more than ten persons. you must have a limited liability company. I am confident that a number of businesses would convert themselves into unlimited liability partnerships-if they could take thousands of partners, I am quite sure that numerous members of the public would like to become members of that partnership-.... rather than go through this procedure.

I would like to make this plain that in my expreience of the last nine years I have not come across a single instance where Government has not done the right thing in approving applications under the Company Law. I will say that I have not come across a single instance. But I will say this that I have had to wait quite a long time to get Government's answers and that is what matters. It creates only expenses on the part of the Government as well as the company. We have nothing of this in any other country where you have joint stock enterprise. We are not allowed to carry on ordinary activities. We are not allowed to sell in the markets that we select and through the agencies that we select. except by control.

And finally I say this, and I say it with a great deal of emphasis. that as selling agents are not really a creature of the Company Law. this distinction between selling agents of limited liability companies and selling agents of ordinary individuals ic really, if not an actual breach of the Constitution, against the spirit of the Constitution Because, in pith and substance, it is not a provision relating to Company Law at all. It is a provision dealing with trade and commerce. If the Government of India feel that certain commodities have to be controlled, they should do it auite independently of the Company Law ad\_ If the sales of certain ministration. commodities. in the public interests. and selling have to be controlled agents have to be approved. by all the right. means Government have and they should exercise the right, but not by virtue of Company legis-Company legislation is conlation. cerned with the administration of comnanies. Then it would apply to all bodies that deal in those particular commodities and not merely to limited liability companies, and that too to Indian companies and not to foreign organisations.

I have had my say. I may say that we personally are not so much interested on this point, but we consider it is a matter of important principle, and that is why we want to represent, with all the emphasis we can, our point of view to the Joint Select Committee.

The next one is a new creature under the law—Section 43A Companies. We accept without question the principle that when you have public funds in private companies, there should be full control. But when you have private funds in private companies, the mere fact that there is a

body corporate which is a shareholder, should not convert an essentially private company into a public company We have dealt with that at p. 3 of our Memorandum (Clause 15). We straightway agree that when 25 per cent of the capital-we would rather have it at 40 per cent, but if the Legislature feels that it should be 25 per cent --- when this percentage of capital is held by a public company in a company, then that other company, even if it is a private company, should be subjected to the liabilities of a public company under the law, because then that private company is dealing with public funds, although indirectly. That principle is conceded. But that situation is a different one from the case of one or more private companies holding 25 per cent, of the capital. You might have private companies with two or three members each. individual members. Surely it is not suggested, when they form a new private company for the purpose of business convenience so that its accounts are separated from their own, that when they form such a separate entity, there are public funds invested in it. There are no public funds. It belongs to, maybe, twelve or twenty individuals. The law itself allows fifty persons to form a private company. So our suggestion is a simple one. It is that when you have a group of private companies holding shares in another private company, so long as the total membership of the group including the private company in which they hold shares does not exceed fifty, it should not be treated as a public company. That is very desirable and I must say it is quite necessary, because some of the provisions which are applicable to public companies cannot by any stretch of imagination apply to such a company. For instance, if that were not so, many managing agency companies would become public companies. And we have the curious situation that while the law provides that the managing agent should only get up to a maximum of 10 per cent, of the net profits of the company he operates, the actual remuneration of the directors of the managing agents who will probably be the sole shareholders of the managing agents will not be the total remuneration received as managing agent but only 10 per cent of the net profits after deducting all expenses of their management, which makes it impossible. In fact, the hon. Mr. Deshmukh, when he was the Minister in charge of the Companies Bill in 1956, pointed this out on the floor of the House and said: what we seek to control is the total remuneration paid to managing agents, we do not care how it is distributed among those entitled to it. And not to control the individual remuneration of the directors of the companies to whom the managing agency remuneration ie situation surelv paid. Now, that should be preserved here. And I do submit that it is desirable that we limit section 43A companies to genuine public companies.

If that suggestion is not accepted, I submit in the second alternative, that when you come to this type of companies which are mainly managing agency companies, they should not be subject to the control under section 198, namely that the remuneration of the directors of that company should be 11 per cent. of the net profits; in practice, they are over 150 per cent. of the net profits.

The only purpose of the managing agency remuneration is not to create an asset but to pay for services on the basis of what the services are worth; and if a dozen people perform those services as the managing agents, they are entitled to distribute the managing agency remuneration amongst But the imposition of themselves. this section provides that they cannot get that remuneration at all. That is not a situation which should be accepted.

So, I do feel that the section 43A class of companies should be limited, and in any case, should not apply to managing agency companies, so that the limitation of section 198 should not apply to them. I have dealt with all that in the memorandum. I shall not read the paragraphs, but I shall merely point out that I have dealt with all that from page 3 to page 7 of my memorandum; and I do hope the Joint Committee will see their way to accept that representation.

There is one further serious objection, although I think it is more a matter of form than of substance. The proposal in the Bill states that these companies shall be public companies. My suggestion is that instead of that the language of the section should provide that these companies should be subject to the liabilities of public companies. Otherwise, there will be the following difficulty. There are a number of companies which have been promoted as a result of a partnership between a foreign interest and an Indian partner. These are closed partnerships. We have them in our own group. They have the approval of Government. If these are converted into public companies, and their membership is to be extended, the original bargain-and there was an international contract as the basis of that bargain-will be destroyed. But, if you say that they will be subject to the liabilities of a public company in the matter of disclosure, but they can retain their qualities as mentioned in section 3, namely that their membership will be limited so also the rights of transfer etc., then it is understandable. So, I do feel that that amendment should be made.

In connection with this I have dealt with section 198. There is only one matter there, under section 198 which provides for a 11 per cent maximum. and that is the case of the managing directors. It has often been, I am sure, the experience of the department that companies managed by managing directors have to pay more than 11 per cent of the net profits to the managing directors in bad years. After all, in trading companies, lean years alternate with good years of business. In good years of business, 11 per cent of the net profits may be a very generous maximum for the remuneration of managing directors. In lean years, they are a very bad one, and Rs. 50,000 does not cure the situation at all. You cannot get certain types of managing directors for large organisations on that basis.

So, the suggestion is this. It is again a matter of simplification-that when Government approve-and they have to approve of the apponitment of managing directors, and have to sanction their remuneration-and sanction the which in remuneration. terms **^** salary, is so much a month or so much a year, that should not be subjected to the limitation of 11 per cent. Government can take care to see that the remuneration they give to the particular gentleman should be a certain figure, and it should apply irrespective of whether the company makes a loss or a profit. Therefore, it would remove the overall limitation of section 198 of 11 per cent to any remuneration sanctioned by Government on the basis of a salary. I agree it applies to profits. You cannot give a share on net profits, but any basic salary should be left out of consideration so long as it is sanctioned by Government. The next suggestion I have is in the matter of dividends. It is in relation to clause 62, and it appears at page 11. It relates to the question of deduction of depreciation. The provision there is that depreciation should be deducted from the profits of a company before the profits are made available for distribution of dividends. We agree to that in principle. But the depreciation provided is the incometax scale. Now, there are several objections to that in the case of some companies.

As a matter of fact, the electricity companies have their own formula under the Electricity Supply Act, under which their dividends are controlled by a formula under that Act. It should not be the law that an electricity company declaring a dividend should be subject to both limitations, because the depreciation scale under the Sixth Schedule to the Indian Electricity Act is an entirely different type of depreciation from that provided under the income-tax law.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I think Shri Choksi is referring to the Indian Electricity Supply Act.

Shri J. D. Choksi: The hon. Member has rightly corrected me. I was referring not to the Indian Electricity Act in reality but to the Indian Electricity Supply Act of 1948. There are very rigid financial principles there which control the profits of electricity undertakings. Therefore, we suggest that the provision should read that the depreciation should be deducted but that the basis on which the depreciation should be deducted should be left to the directors of the company, because they are the best judges.

Even in an ordinary trading company. I may say, under the income-tax scale, when you undertake largescale expansions, it is not possible for companies to set aside the full incometax depreciation, because that is a very large figure in proportion to the assets of the company. Under the income-tax scale, the depreciation in the first five years often knocks off 75 per cent of the assets; then it tapers down considerably, and it is very low. Many companies would prefer to have a more even spread of depreciation in their accounts. So, let us not overregulate matters.

We agree in principle that adequate depreciation should be provided, but let us not legislate for the type or the scale. As you will see, we have suggested certain alternative scales. For instance, there is the straight-line basis of depreciation as opposed to the written-down basis provided in the income-tax law.

There is also the compound interest basis, different from the income-tax basis. All these are different types of bases. Some of them suit particular types of businesses more than the income-tax basis. So long as adequate depreciation is provided, let not the

.

law regulate the actual basis of depreciation. That is the suggestion I have to offer

I have incidentally referred to clause 200 in my general comments. I do not want to add much to it except to say that I do not think you should have a general omnibus clause like the one we are dealing with for penalties and penal control. You should specify it in the section itself. If the department feels that it is unequal to it. I would be glad to sit down with them and specify the sections. I do not think the department is unable to do that. They can easily specify the sections. Let those who run the companies know which are the sections violation of which is likely to attract penalties. Let us not have a general provision of this character.

Shri Mazumdar: Trying to avoid unnecessary work.

Shri J. D. Choksi: But they do a lot of work; let them do more and specify the sections.

There is one thing which is not dealt with in the Bill but which arises indirectly. That is on page 25 of my memorandum. I think there is some mistake in the existing law which needs to be rectified. The existing law provides that no managing agency can hold more than ten managing agencies. We agree with that in principle. But the provision is rather peculiar in that every director shall be deemed to be a managing agent. One interpretation of the section, as it is. therefore, is that if one single director happens to be a director of 2 managing agencies, then for the purposes of this section the two managing agency companies are grouped together and they together cannot hold more than ten. I do not think that that was the intention: but it is there in the section. The principle should be that no managing agency can hold more than ten. If the majority of the directors of one managing agency company are also the directors of another managing agency company, then the two managing agencies can be treated as one for the purpose of calculating that number ten. That seems to be fair enough. If there are two companies A and B and if 5 or 6 directors of company A are also the directors of company B. it is all right. It is also right if there are two companies, one with 5 directors and the other with ten, and three directors of the company with 5 directors are directors of the other with ten: because a majority of the company with 5 directors are directors of the other company. They can be grouped together. But, surely, one individual common directorship should not make both companies together subject to a total number of 10

In our own group, just for purposes of investment-we have moneys invested in other managing agencies. may be 3 or 4, we have a single director in these companies. If these managing agencies are grouped together, that is really not quite fair and it is going far beyond the requirements. There is really no abuse which reauires to be rectified. There is no connection between the management of these companies and the companies of this group. But still the law brings them all into one body of managing agents. So I submit that this provision requires rectification.

There is one other point that I would like to refer to-page 34, clause 202. In our view this section is quite unnecessary. It provides that where the Central Government is required or authorised by any provision of the Act to accord approval or sanction or to give directions or to grant exemptions, it may do so subject to such conditions or limitations as it may think fit to impose. If I may say so, the lack of this provision has not been felt at all. In fact, when they impose conditions on applications made by parties, they do it with the consent of the parties. They say, 'either you accept these conditions or we reject your application.' It seems to me quite unnecessary to have this provision. It really amounts to legislation by executive action, because conditions may

be attached which are not germane to the particular provision. The right to impose the conditions is absolute here. I think that should be restricted

That is all my representation. I will be glad to answer questions.

Shri Tangamani: I would confine myself to only the points which you have explained. Lastly, you referred to certain penal provisions, particularly, to clauses 200 and 190. In what form would you like to have these penal provisions?

Shri J. D. Choksi: My suggestion was a simple one.

**Shri Tangamani:** Do you not agree that any violation of certain things laid down here will have to meet with penalties? Don't you think that such a provision is necessary?

**Chairman:** He said that many of the provisions are regulatory only and there is an omnibus clause that any violation would be liable to punishment. He has stressed the point that all the provisions, which if violated, would meet with punishment, should be specified.

Shri Tangamani: There are certain clauses which lay down penalties; for instance clause 190 deals with a particular type of offence. The witness referred to clause 200—that is section 629A.—where it is said that any default **made** by the company and every officer of the company in complying with the provisions of the Act will be met with certain penalties. Would you not like to have a kind of residuary clause like that? What is your objection?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I would like you to place yourself in the position of those actually concerned with the management of business. We should like to know whether we are liable to penalties and, if so, for violating what provisions of the law? Surely, we must know what is the crime for which we are liable to be penalised. Is there any objection to set out in the sections themselves—in this clause 200 itself—the sections to which the penalty applies?

If this provision is allowed to remain here, the department may take action—the local registrar may take action—in cases which are not fundamentally penal. Supposing a company sets out to increase its capital without going through the required procedure the law is that that increased capital does not exist. There are civil proceedings which can rectify this. But the Registrar may choose to prosecute the company and then the magistrate will have to go into the question whether this section applies or not. Why create all these problems?

**Shri Tangamani:** What is your objection to punishment being given without any option to five in the case of section 614A?

Sub-clause (2) of the new section section 614A—says:

"Any officer or other employee of the company who fails to comply with an order of the Court under sub-section (1) shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months."

That is without any option to fine in such cases.

Shri J. D. Choksi: There may be extenuating circumstances and that is all that I have to say, because after an order is passed, condition; may change and it becomes impossible for the particular officer to comply. That is why imprisonment should not be peremptory under the clause.

Shri Tangamani: My next point is regarding clause 15, namely, the creation of 43A companies. I find that the explanation that you have given now shows that you have considerably watered down the stand you have taken in the memorandum. May I take it that you are welcoming this 43A companies with all controls as if they are public companies?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I have not watered down what I have said in the memorandum. I have merely referred to the salient features of the memorandum. I have first of all said that the application of 43A should be restricted to those companies which really deal with public funds. I accept that. But I say it should not be applied to a group of private companies in which no public funds are invested.

**Shri Tangamani:** Then what is your objection to 11 per cent. under clause 60 which has been allowed?

Shri J. D. Choksi: As I said, if you accept my proposal of limiting the 43A to genuine public companies, as I call them, then the limitation about section 198 does not apply. But if you do not accept my proposal regarding 43A and you cover a whole group of companies which according to me are not really public companies or do not deal with public funds, then I say that some of these companies are purely management companies whose only business activity or whose principal business activity is that of management like my own company. In my own company we have paid more than a 199 per cent of the net profits as remuneration to the directors of the managing agents. It is more than 100 per cent of the net profits, because the whole remuneration is there for those who run the managing agency. So what you do then is, you create a 11 per cent. on a 11 per cent. You first say that a managing agency company should get 11 per cent. and then you say that the directors of the managing agency company should only get 11 per cent of that 11 per cent. Is that not That makes it one per cent. so?

Shri Tangamani: I will come to the next point. At page 11 of your memorandum you have referred to clause 62—section 205. You said in the introduction that this company law and the amendment thereto are for regulating various companies. Would you not like to have a proper regulating of the depreciation? You yourself have said this namely, under various formulas amounts go towards depreciation. In the case of the Electric Supply Company there is a particular depreciation: allowed, as you said, according to the Income-tax Act another quantum is allowed. Would you not like to have a particular quantum fixed by the Companies Act?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I realise the force of your question but different companies have different provisions for depreciation and by its very nature, the basis for depreciation in a trading company would be different from that inmining company. A mining company would be different from a textile company. The provision is too rigid even for the electricity company, although its own profits are regulated under a special Act. When it comes to pay dividends, it would have to comply both with this section and with their own section, which would make it impossible for electricity companies in certain areas to pay any dividend at all which again would have adverses effects

Shri Naushir Bharucha: They are exempted.

Shri J. D. Choksi: We do not exempt. It is only when there is an inconsistency.

Shri Tangamani: You were telling us about the selling agents. Do you agree that after the 1956 Act, many of these managing agency companies and managing agents have become selling agents?

Shri J. D. Choksi: Whose fault is that?

Shri Tangamani: I would like to know whether it is not a fact that managing agency companies and managing agents have now become selling agents and some kind of restriction is necessary if you are to carry out the spirit of the 1956 Act.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Unfortunately, the legislature did not appreciate the services of managing agents and in fact managing agents are now under opprobrium. As managing agencies have got nothing but opprobrium some wanted to give up management of companies. Some of them were interested in the sales of the products of their companies and they applied for and became selling agents. What is wrong with that so long as they do not have to deal with management, and provided they are selected by the companies as suitably qualified selling agents?

I can understand that there should functions: that not be dual there should not be people who are both managing agents and also selling agents. But if there is no dual function. I do not know why people who have nothing to do with management should be disgualified from being selling agents because at one time they were managing agents. That is what I do not appreciate. I may have to sell motor-cars if the provision of the law again if managing agents is further strengthened. So do not prohibit me from becoming a motor-car agent or a salesman. I think I may be qualified to do that.

**Shri Tangamani:** I understand that you are opposing section 325A by the new clause 124:

"After the commencement of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1959 no company shall appoint or employ as its managing agent any body corporate which is a subsidiary of another body corporate."

But if you are opposing it, are you not attacking the very basis of the amendment itself? Do you not see that by opposing this particular clause, you oppose the very basis of this amendment itself? Are we to take it that you are opposing the entire amending Bill itself?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I do not follow.

Shri Tangamani: If you are going to oppose this clause, are you not opposing the very fundamentals of this amending Bill itself? Shri J. D. Choksi: Not a bit. You realise that this has not appeared before the Shastri Committee at all. There has been no enquiry into this matter. It has got nothing to do with the rest of the amendments.

Shri Tangamani: The Shastri Committee also have addressed themselves on the question of managing agents.

Shri J. D. Choksi: And never dealt with this point at all.

Shri Tangamani: What will be the alternative which you would suggest now, apart from what you have stated in the memorandum?

Shri J. D. Choksi: The alternative is already stated in the memorandum. I have no other suggestion.

Shri Tangamani: One more point. In your memorandum, I find that at page 9, against clause 58, section 197, you have referred to the Chairman's speech. What can be your objection if the Chairman is particular about publishing his speech and does it on his own instead of doing it at the expense of the company?

Shri J. D. Choksi: The Chairmen do not care whether you publish the speech or not. But the organisation they represent do care. Sometimes you have to educate and promote public opinion. And it serves that purpose. So, I cannot see any objection to publishing the Chairmen's speeches.

Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi: You have opposed the amendment to section 285, in clause 2, on the ground that the taxlevel on the depreciation would be too harsh, and you have said that it should be the fair and equitable depreciation that the director may fix. Supposing the depreciation is not equitable and fair, what check would you suggest otherwise?

Shri J. D. Choksi: The auditors are there. If they make a statement that in their opinion the depreciation is not sufficient, then it would be for the shareholders to agitate and bring the matter to the attention of the Registrar and the Government.

873 LS-3.

**Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi:** That would be leaving it to the shareholders after the report of the auditors. But before that what check would you suggest?

Shri J. D. Choksi: After all, before the dividend is paid, it has got to be sanctioned by the shareholders. Before the shareholders sanction the dividend, they have before them the accounts of the company and the auditor's report. They can say at the general meeting that proper depreciation has not been fixed and they will not sanction the dividend. They can raise the objection there. Even individual shareholders can bring it forward if there is a breach of the law.

**Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi:** Would you suggest here that in case a certain percentage of the shareholders do not agree with the quantum of depreciation, they should take up the matter to the Government?

**Shri J. D. Choksi:** I would have no objection. I think it is a good suggestion to give them that power.

Shri Jadhav: May I know the maximum amount of remuneration that has been earned by the managing agents of your group of companies?

Shri J. D. Choksi: The highest remuneration earned by managing agents of the Tata group—there are about 15 or 20 companies in the group—is about Rs. 45 lakhs to Rs. 50 lakhs. There expenses of management have been over Rs. 30 lakhs and a bulk of the balance of Rs. 20 lakhs has gone to public charities.

**Shri Jadhav:** How does it compare with the earnings of English companies?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I am unable to answer that question.

Shri J. S. Bisht: In page 15 of your memorandum, regarding clause 84 seeking to amend section 250, you have raised certain objections. May I just remind you that certain events took place in the group of companies controlled by the British India Corporain Kanpur and a few other firms in Calcutta and if the Government had these powers at that time, that tragedy could have been averted.

Shri J. D. Choksi: I think the powers should be there, but they should be vested not in Government officials, but in court. I think the principle is sound and I accept it. But I say let there be a judicial enquiry into it straightaway.

Shri J. S. Bish:: A judicial enquiry may take 2 or 3 years.

**Shri J. D. Choksi:** You can get interim relief within 2 days, pending the hearing. The court will grant interim relief on a *prima facie* case.

Shri Mazumdar: My experience of tourts is quite different.

Shri J. D. Choksi: May be you had not a good case.

Shri J. S. Bisht: In page 29 you have raised certain objections with regard to clause 138. You want to delete the first proviso to sub-clause (2) of section 372. You also want that subclause (3) of section 372 to be omitted. Why?

**Shri J. D. Choksi:** It is against the interests of the development of industries in the country.

Shri J. S. Bisht: That is a very vague thing.

Shri J. D. Choksi: It is not a vague thing. To control the past investments of companies is a very difficult thing to do. That is why we suggest, let the past alone and forget about what has happened. How can you cancel what has already happened?

Shri J. S. Bisht: If the Government is given this power, in exceptional cases, it might grant permission.

Shri J. D. Choksi: I know sometimes Government is treated like the archangel Gabriel. Sometimes I am doubtful if Government should be entrusted with so much powers.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: Section 198 fixed the maximum managerial remuneration at Rs. 50,000 in the case of loss. That was without the sanction of the Central Government in the original Act. The present Bill introduces an amendment that vou must take the consent of the Government of India in fixing the remuneration subject to a maximum of Rs. 50,000. There may be even smaller companies which cannot afford to pay Rs. 50,000. I agree that to give 80 much power to the bureaucracy to administer the law may not always be desirable. Can you suggest ٩ method by which this can be satisfied and also natural justice can be done for the companies, say, some sliding scale by which you can fix the remuneration so that only cases above Rs. 50,000 may go to Government?

Shri J. D. Choksi: As I understand. the present law is whenever directors and managing agents are appointed. Government have to deride whether the maximum is Rs. 50,000 or not. I was a member of the Company Law Commission and I know that in several cases, we actually had a sliding scale for companies with smaller some profits or smaller capital. In cases it went down to even Rs. 5.000. So, the present law is strong enough. I am not quarrelling with the fixation of Rs. 50,000. I only say that when Government sanction the appointment of managing directors, they should sanction it irrespective of the fact that their remuneration may in bad years come to more than 11 per cent of the profits of the company. Some companies may have need to have 4 managing directors. If Government were to sanction all their appointments realising the need for that, all I say is, because it will be a deterrent to the appointment of such managing directors, let us not provide in the letter of appointment that you will only get this salary, provided the aggregate salary for top management does not exceed 11 per cent of the profits.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: Now, I come to section 205. This is with regard to depreciation. You agree to the deduction for depreciation. . .

Shri J. D. Choksi: Absolutely.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: The only difference is on the rate of depreciation to be allowed.

Shri J. D. Choksi: The basis of depreciation.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: You say, the basis of income-tax scales is rather harsh.

Shri J. D. Choksi: What I said is, the income-tax rates are not flexible enough. I think, my own group, Tata Iron & Steel is the biggest company in the country. This year, or the next year if we were to calculate depreciation on income-tax scales, there would be no profit to distribute.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: What is your straight-line method?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I will come to it. There is another method called written down basis. Supposing depreciation is 10 per cent and the asset is Rs. 100. In the first year you take Rs. 10, which is 10 per cent of Rs. 100. In the second year, you take 10 per cent of Rs. 90, which is Rs. 9. Then. you go on deducting like this. This is called the written-down basis, with the result that you will find that as years go by, the depreciation in the earlier years is extremely high and the depreciation in the remaining years tapers off substantially.

Now, I will explain to you straightline basis. Supposing, the life of a plant is 15 years, then the average depreciation every year will be about 7 per cent or 62 per cent. The Electricity Act has an alternative basis called the sinking fund basis which means, you create every year a certain figure of depreciation and to it you add the interest.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: Now, I come to section 294 which deals with sole selling agents. You say, the appointment of small selling agents may be left with the management and that in the case of bigger selling agents, share-holders may be consulted.

**Shri J. D. Choksi:** Yes, Sir. If you will kindly look at the proposal on page 19. it reads:

"(i) In sub-section (1) of Section 294 for the words "for any area" substitute the following: "for the whole of the area for any State or States within India".

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: I have got only one question to put. You have not referred to amendment to section 530?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I do not support that point because it will be difficult for trading organisations now to go to Banks to borrow money because the banks would want to know not merely about the security they would offer, but of the wages bill and what would be the compensation likely to be paid on retrenchment and if the company were to go into liquidation what would be the liability. It looks fair if you look at it from social justice. I do not think it fits in with business life.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Mr. Choksi, I have seen your Memorandum but it has raised many questions. I am afraid, I have to ask many questions.

I come to page 2, clause 6, Section 17(4). You object to the Registrar's Joining as a party before the Court. What is your apprehension if the Registrar intervenes?

Shri J. D. Choksi: It is not a question of apprehension. It is merely this. Older companies have been formed in this country with limited objects clause. New companies have been formed without the objects clause. They today go in for manufacture of ships and electrical equipment. Now, if we were to equalise the competitive power of the two groups, those with those defective clauses in the Memorandum and those with this, then we should automatically give the power to the old companies to alter their Memorandum to bring them into line with modern Memorandum.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: What is the objection?

**Shri J. D. Choksi:** Well, the proposal is much more than that. There should be no need to go to the Court at all. There is no question of the Registrar's apprehension. The English law does not require approval. Why should we require it in India? The English legislators in their wisdom thought it unnecessary. Individuals are allowed to expand their business activities, why not Corporations?

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 3, clause 11, section 31. You say that in view of clause 15, it would seem unnecessary once these requirements are fulfilled, for Government to approve of the conversion of a publicompany into a private company. Even in spite of section 43A which is proposed to be inserted now, there would still be many companies outside the scope of clause 11. It will be necessary to retain this clause.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Personally speaking, I do not see the reason for retaining this clause. But if my suggestion for reducing the impact of section 43A is acceptable, then I agree that my proposal under clause 1879 should be withdrawn. It is only because Section 43A is so wide now that there hardly seems to be need for clause 11 at all.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 5. paragraph (H) which says that the actual draft of the new Section 43A is defective. One of the defects is regarding the passing of ordinary resolution. Suppose, the company's share-holders, as they are entitled in law, refuse or fail to pass an ordinary resolutions in terms of sub-clause (2). Does the conversion of the private into a public company take effect? Why do you say that such a contingency would arise, whether the resolution is passed or not, the law would take its course.

Shri J. D. Choksi: There should not be a provision requiring the conversion of a company at all to be approved by the Company in general meeting.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Supposing they want to change name or whatever it is, a resolution may become necessary.

Shri J. D. Choksi: It is not merely the name. I think, there are some drafting amendments which are called for and perhaps the Department is already undertaking them.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I was just giving you an illustration. It is not a very material thing. Now, on page 6, referring to one of your objections against Section 43A, you say that a numoer of such companies prohibit the transfer of shares except that a member may transfer a share to ۵ lineal descendant or other relative. If these special rights, which form the basis of the original promotion of the company, are cancelled by virtue of the new Section 43A(1), a forfeiture of property rights may result. Whv do you say, forfeiture of property rights? I am laving stress on the word 'forfeiture'. It means expropriation without compensation.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Expropriation of contractual rights.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You refer to that?

Shri J. D. Choksi: Yes.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 7 of your memorandum. You approve of Section 43A with some modifications. Supposing the membership fluctuates from 50 to 49, what happens?

Shri J. D. Choksi: It is quite plain. If the membership in any year exceeds 50 that becomes a public company for that year.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Your suggestion suffers from the same infirmity.

Shri J. D. Choksi: A company which wants to preserve its integrity will take care to see that the total membership does not exceed 50.

I agree with you: when a public company owns more than 25 per cent or more, whether the membership is only 2, let it be a public company. I am only referring to private companies. As the test of a private company is limitation of 50 members, you apply that test here.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: In regard to your proposal II, you are prepared to take the label of a public company without the substance of it.

\* Shri J. D. Choksi: I am prepared make this company by that test . private company, subject to all the rigours and obligations of a public company under the law. Otherwise, you will be defeating a number of international contracts which have been entered into.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 8, clause 54, section 193: You say that it is too much to ask the Chairman to sign on each page. Are you really suggesting that the Chairman cannot put his initials on all the pages.

Shri J. D. Choksi: When there are a number of meetings, it is quite a lot and it is unnecessary. You do not want to paralyse his right hand before he dies!

Chairman: Page 9, clause 59, Section 197, Publication of the Chairman's speech: You say that the Chairman's speech deals with trends in the commercial world and has an educative value in the commercial and investing world. Why should the shareholder of a particular company pay for educating the commercial world?

Shri J. D. Choksi: Because it helps the progress of the company of which he is a member. I have suggested that if you like you may put in a provision that it may be published with the sanction of the shareholders' meeting. If you do not do that what is going to happen is this. In England you do not have Chairman's speech; you have Chairman's statement which is issued before the meeting.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Thanks to the witness pointing it out it can be remedied at the time of drafting.

Your main argument is educating the commercial world. Don't you think that there are enough number of articles in the newspapers for this purpose?

**Shri J. D. Choksi:** As a matter of fact the Chairman's speech of our group go abroad.

I may tell you that our printing bills and advertisement bills have gone up a thousand per cent since the Companies Act of 1956.

Shri Nathwani: The witness said that publication of the Chairman's speech is welcomed by the public. Will he say the same thing about his photograph also?

Shri J. D. Choksi: It depends on whether he is a good-looking man or not!

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 10: In regard to annual general meetings it is said that the bulk of the proceedings is of no interest to the general public as they relate to domestic affairs of the company. This may concern several lakhs of shareholders.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Not more than 50,000 to 60,000 shareholders usually. We do circulate the proceedings of the meeting of shareholders.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 11, clause 62. You have said that the reguirement of the deduction for depreciation to ascertain the net profits for payment of dividends would work hardship. I quite appreciate that. But you do not tell us what should be the basis with regard to depreciation. You have referred to depreciation accounting so far as the Sixth Schedule to the Electricity (Supply) Act is concerned. You have made reference to straight line basis. As this straight line basis is a merely accounting procedure and it has no meaning whatsoever unless you fix the basis on which the straight line procedure is to proceed.

Now you have also said in answer to one of the hon. Member that you would like it to be left to the shareholders to raise a plea that depreciation in a particular year is not adequately set aside. When a shareholder raises that plea you will appreciate that in order to judge about the adequacy or otherwise of the depreciation you will have to have certain basis by which you will judge it. For instance, in respect of electricity supply companies, their depreciation has to be calculated on what is known as the capital base. Before a shareholder can object that this is inadequate depreciation, the law will have to prescribe what is the capital base. If we do not prescribe that, how do you suggest that the shareholder will have some vardstick by which it will be possible to measure the adequacy or otherwise of the depreciation?

Shri J. D. Choksi: Frankly, this is not a matter on which shareholders are the best judges. The directors who are in control of the company are the best judges as to what the basis should be. If you like, we could provide in the law-though I think it directors is unnecessary-that - the shou'd disclose their basis to the shareholders. And I have actually stated in the Memorandum that once the basis is adopted it should he followed. I quite agree with you that the shareholders are in no position by themselves to suggest the basis. So I say that the directors are the best judges. They are concerned with the fortunes of the company from day to day and from year to year, and they will decide the basis. And if it is a fair basis it will be accepted by the shareholders. But they will disclose the basis to the shareholders.

There are controlled industries. May I take this case? Many industries in my group are controll d industries. The Tariff Commission lays down the basis of depreciation which is not the same as the Income-tax basis. For instance, in the steel industry the Tariff Commission has laid down a basis of 61 per cent on the gross block: in the chemical industry it has laid down a basis of 10 per cent on the gross block: in other industries it has laid down a basis of 8 per cent. So why should we stick to this particular basis? In fact, if you are to comply with the Tariff Commission's requirements in these cases you will find that in some years you will not be allowed to distribute the dividend because the Tariff Commission basis applies: in other years you will not be allowed to distribute it because the Income-tax basis applies. I could go into all this. I can assure you as a practical administrator that there are going to be enormous problems of this King. I would far rather go to Government and tell them, "this is my basis, please put your o.k. on it"though it will take time. I personally think this sort of regulation does not serve any purpose.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I will tell you the purpose it serves. The remuneration of managerial or managing agents is dependent on the net profits. Net profit in its turn is dependent on the amount you set apart for depreciation, large or small. It is possible for a company, by providing inadequate depreciation, to camouflage losses or small profits and show that larger profits are being made.

Shri J. D. Choksi: May I answer that? First of all. I entirely agree that for managing agency basis there is a specific provision-which is the income tax provision-and I accept that. For my managing agency agreement I want not the company basis but the harsh Income-tax law. Take my own company, Tata Steel. As I mentioned a little while ago, for the next two or three years the managing agents will get no remuneration because the depreciation is high. So far as the managing agency remuneration goes, under section 250-which is another section-you will have to calculate the depreciation on the Income-tax scale. And I accept that that is right and sound. But for the purposes of the accounts of the company we must follow a certain regulation which has regard to the realities of the regulations applicable to the particular industry: *e.g.* for electricity, the Electricity Supply Act; for steel, the controls under the Steel Regulations.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Unless the law lays down any particular basis on which depreciation has Ъe to accounted, the straight line method would be a mere formality or only an accounting and book-keeping procedure. Unless we fix some basis for depreciation it will be left to the sweet will of the board of directors to set aside whatever depreciation they choose and thereby show more profits and virtually eat out of the capital of the company. That is possible. Therefore, in order that any authority, whether it is Government or the shareholders, may be able to judge about the adequacy of the depreciation, unless you fix the basis that this depreciation is to be calculated in relation to, for instance original cost. including so many things-or, unless you define it as has been defined in the Electricity Supply Act for instance. how on earth is it possible for anybody to calculate whether it is adequate depreciation or not? Suppose two directors differ. Who decides what is adequate depreciation?

Shri J. D. Choksi: What you want, If I may say so, is to protect companies and shareholders in general from the directors frittering away the assets of the company by showing little or no depreciation when there is substantial depreciation. I submit that if you put in the words "fair and adequate depreciation", you will find that the auditors will not pass the accounts unless they are satisfiedand they are men with a good deal of commercial experience-that the basis adopted by the directors is some suitable standard basis of depreciation. It will vary from company to company, because the problems of companies are different.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You are simply shifting the question one step forward. The auditors will decide..

Shri Khandubhai Desai: From company to company in the same industry also?

Shri J. D. Choksi: No, Sir.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: It will under your suggestion.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Normally it won't happen.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: The auditor will look to the fact that there is a reasonable amount. But what is the basis on which the auditor has to satisfy himself? He must have some standard. Unless the law lays down..

**Chairman:** The witness says that the auditor has sufficient experience and he can judge, without any particular basis being laid down, as to what fair depreciation would be. That is his opinion.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I am just trying to get at it. He says it is left to the discretion of the directors, in which case I say the depreciation provision would be a matter of complete chaos; because, even in the same type of industries, the directors may think one basis is correct and auditors may think that another basis is correct. Therefore, if you feel that depreciation under Income-tax is harsh, you can suggest some specific basis on which depreciation can be calculated.

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: If it is provided "or on any other basis for which approval will have to be taken from Government", will it satisfy you?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I will accept it. I agree to create a situation where we have again to come to the Government!

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: That, of course, is there.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: May I give a friendly warning to the hon. Minister that he is inviting a hornets' nest around his ears? Because, on the question of calculating depreciation, the proceedings can be lengthened for months togetner, and still we would be nowhere. Because, Government would ask, "what is the standard by which I shall judge whether the basis is adequate or not"?

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: There are standard methods under which it is done—there is, for instance, the Electricity Supply Act, and some other provisions.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I can understand 'vour saving with regard to electricity concerns that you will go by that: or about chemicals. But apart from these few industries where depreciation allowances are regulated, there thousands of are industrial establishments in which there is no regulation whatsoever for accounting purposes. Therefore I am asking, what is the standard? Assuming that Government takes upon itself the responsibility of saying "o.k." to a particular basis adopted by a particular industry, what is the standard?

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Government will not regulate the actual amount of distribution but only the basis.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: What is the basis?

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: It is well known. Good accountants know it.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Accountants can only apply the basis which the law lays down.

**Chairman:** These would be for our internal discussion.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Laying down a basis for depreciation calculation is a legislative procedure, not an accountancy provision.

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: I merely made the suggestion. We need not discuss it now.

Chairman: We shall discuss it amongst ourselves separately.

Shri J. D. Choksi: May I make just one observation? First of all. Shri Naushir Bharucha is an optimist if he thinks that there are thousands of companies which are not regulated. Under the conditions that exist today. about 75 per cent or the bulk of industrial output is regulated in this country. Secondly, I would like to tell Shri Naushir Bharucha-and that is a point which I should have made when I argued it-that this clause has also provided for retrospective effect; I hope that will be rectified. It should not apply to past profits, and dividends paid out of past profits when there was no regulation regarding depreciation.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Are you suggesting that the back-log or arrears of depreciation should be given the go-by?

Shri J. D. Choksi: No, I am not suggesting that at all. All that I say is that the companies have built up reserves on a certain basis. Let us not now recalculate the reserves and re-write the balance-sheets for past years; If they pay dividends out of the past taxed reserves, they should be free to do so without a recalculation of the depreciation.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: At page 12 regarding depreciation, you have made a proposal after para E in which you say that an explanation be added requiring the directors to fix the depreciation which should be charged to the accounts of the year having regard to all the circumstances including the profits of the company for the year. What have profits to do with depreciation? Depreciation exists independently of the profits.

Shri J. D. Choksi: May I say this? I may be guilty of it, but in our own group, when there are good years, we provide more depreciation than is needed; when there are bad years, we provide a little less than is adequate, and we tell the shareholders so. We balance the one with the other. Maybe, you consider that illegitimate, but I consider it fair and sound business practice.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: So, is it your intention that when discretion is to be left, it has to be exercised on what is known as the rule-of-thethumb method, providing when you can and not providing when you cannot?

Shri J. D. Choksi: No, we shall have to disclose some basis. I can assure you that the auditors will naturally catch us out if we do not regulate our depreciation properly.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Would you agree to the proposed amendment being varied to admit of some such formula that depreciation should be calculated in the case of regulated industries on the basis of such regulation, and in the case of the other industries, let us say, on the incometax basis less by a rule-of-the-thumb allowance, say 25 per cent or 30 per cent as the case may be.

Shri J. D. Choksi: That is for you to decide.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I would like to know whether that would meet with your approval.

**Shri J. D. Choksi:** That, if I may say so, is providing a very flexible thumb, as big as this or that. I do not quite know frankly what it will be.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You would not mind this being regulated, in the case of the regulated industries, on the basis of such regulation?

Shri Kanungo: May I suggest that these points may be discussed amongst ourselves later?

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I want to know his views, whether this will result in any hardship in practice.

Shri J. D. Choksi: It would certainly mitigate the hardships.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: At page 13, while making a reference to dividend amounts being deposited in scheduled banks, you say in your note that such provision might cause hardship to those shareholders, particularly small shareholders, who do not wish to be paid by cheques. That is one objection as to why the amount should not go into the bank. What is the objection if the company makes the payment in cash to the small shareholders and draws a cheque on the bank?

Shri J. D. Choksi: That would meet that objection, if you provide for it that way, so far as the small shareholders are concerned. But there are many more objections to that. For instance, the steel company pays Rs. 2 crores in dividends. Why should we set aside a separate account for Rs. 2 crores and pay from that? I suggest that so long as we pay it regularly according to a method, that is all right. We, in fact, pay our dividends from our overdraft account. Surely, you do not want us just to pay interests to the banks on transfers to a dividend account from the overdraft-account.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I appreciate that point.

At page 14, you say in regard to seizure of documents that the application should not be made to the magistrat $\epsilon$  but it should be to the appropriate court. Is it your intention that the civil court should have power to seize without issuing notice on the other side to show cause why the documents should not be seized, or the same powers of the magistrates to seize without hearing the other side?

**Shri J. D. Choksi:** I want the civil court to have the same powers in the matter as the magistrate,—that is, no notice at the preliminary stage.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I now come to page 15 of your memorandum relating to clause 84 and section 250 where you say that

"By 'aggrieved shareholders' should be shareholders either holding ten per cent of the capital or being one hundred in number or 1/10th of the total number of shareholders.".

So, that is the qualification?

Shri J. D. Choksi: That is the present section 408.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: The present section 408 deals with oppression and mismanagement which  $i_s$  a much more serious issue than this.

Shri J. D. Choksi: This is also very serious.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: As a practical businessman, do you think that in the present unorganised state of shareholders, it is ever possible to get 10 per cent of the capital holders to come forward to apply to the court?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I think you can; but if you feel that ten per cent is too high, you may reduce it.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Coming to the question of selling agency, which you have dealt with at page 17, in your opening speech you made a very eloquent representation and said 'Why should a business concern be put to the disadvantage of having to come before Government for approval of selling agents?'. But you missed the basic fact on which the section had been enacted, namely, that the bestowing of selling agency, like the bestowing of managing agency, is an act of patronage; if the law refuses to allow patronage in one form, why patronage in should it allow you another form? It is from that angle that I want to look at the proposals which you have made.

Shri J. D. Choksi: My answer is that I refuse to accept the position that selling agency is a matter of patronage at all. I think in these competitive days, especially when there is difficulty in selling one's goods, there is no question that the companies will get the best selling agencies that they could get. So, there is no question of patronage. I know many

If you look at it from the point of view of patronage, your argument is right. But I submit that selling agency is not a matter of patronage at all. It is a matter of getting your goods to the largest number of consumers, consistent with good quality; and for that, you need highly skilled people. For instance, you cannot sell pharmaceuticals except through suitably qualified selling agents; you cannot sell machine-tools except through suitably gualified selling agents; you cannot sell a number of specialised products except through suitably qualified selling agents. So. all that has got to be borne in mind.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: At page 18. you agree to reconcile yourself to a period of one year to intervene between the termination of the managing agency and the taking over of the selling agency. If you reconcile yourself to one year, do you not think that the same disadvantages to which you have made a reference in your opening speech would affect your business in this case also? You stated: that you should be able to act promptly, and you have to have your selling agents nominated.

Shri J. D. Choksi: No. my reason is this that because a particular party has been either a managing agent or managing agents I think that is a disqualification to become a selling agent. So, he must shed his spots. and it takes about a year for him to disassociated become completely Today from management. he gives up the managing agency and temorrow he becomes a selling agent. I do not believe in that. There must be some period of time between. the two.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Turn to page 18. You say that this sort of restriction should not be imposed on partnerships and individuals.

## Shri J. D. Choksi: Yes.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You say that it is discrimination to single out Companies only; but in the case of a partnership or an individual it is private money absolutely and in the case of a compnay it is public money. Where is discrimination.

Shri J. D. Choksi: In many cases it is not public money. Take private companies; it is not public money. Even if it is public money it is a question of selling the products of the undertaking. Why should those in charge of the management be not as qualified as Government to select the right type of selling agents?

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Then, on page 19, you say:

"Sub-section (4) (c) is not in 'pith and substance' legislation relating to company law and companies. In 'pith and substance' it is a form of control introduced in the operations of trade and commerce. A sole selling agent is not a creature of company law. Selling agents are independent organisations and do not form part of a company's organisation."

You contradict yourself on page 18 when you say that the desire to centralise the effective powers of joint-stock enterprise.

Shri J. D. Choksi: I do not think there is any inconsistency. All I say is that you are interfering in the matter of joint-stock enterprise selling its products.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You say these are effective forms of joint-stock enterprise to sell their products.

Shri J. D. Choksi: It is a matter of opinion; my opinion is that.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Now, please come to page 19. You have made an effort to find out a concrete proposal to get over this difficulty. On page 19, you make the proposal:—

"In sub-section (1) of section 294 for the words 'for any area' substitute the following: 'for the whole of the area for any State or States within India' ".

Your objection is that even for the sole selling agency in a taluka you would have to go to Government and so you want a bigger unit to be fixed.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Yes.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: But don't you think your proposal will circumvent the section. In Bombay there are 43 districts and if you appoint a sole selling agent for 42 districts, then you need not go to Government.

**Shri J. D. Choksi:** It is then for the Legislature to step in if there is any abuse.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Supposing you say 'everywhere in India—minus a small taluka'. Then in every State you can leave out one taluka, and evade this section altogether.

Shri Kanungo: It may be the whole of India or the whole of one State minus one taluka.

**Shri J. D. Choksi:** I have not that discerning type of mind as Shri Bharucha.

Shri Kanungo: No law can be fullproof.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Never lawyer-proof.

Then, coming to section 314 which relates to relatives of directors. You say that once an appointment is made after going through the formalities, for purposes of promotion, you should not have, every time, to go through the same formalities. Supposing a director's relative is appointed on a salary of Rs. 100|- per month and sanction is given on that understanding. Next year he is promoted to a post on Rs. 500|-. The spirit of the section is violated.

Shri J. D. Choksi: It should be disclosed in the register of directors contracts so that the shareholders can inspect it. They would naturally ventilate their grievances against the promotion at the next Annual General Meeting. You have put your point of view. I will put mine.

Supposing a relative is appointed and is found to be exceptionally able and he is promoted as a result of some vacancy arising in another department. Obviously, you do not want the whole machinery of a company meeting to be called just with the object of approving the promotion of that particular individual. It may cost an amount equal to 10 years' salary.

**Shri Mazumdar:** I think there are other brilliant people—other than relatives also.

Shri J. D. Choksi: There are dull relatives; I do not deny that.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Then coming to page 21, what is the remedy you have in cases where cartels or trusts are sought to be created for the purpose of controlling commodity prices or for other objects? How can you break them without injuring the subsidiary companies?

Shri J. D. Choksi: The creation of a subsidiary company has got nothing to do with cartels. You have to judge the cartels in a different way altogether. With great respect, I say it has nothing to do with the subject of cartels.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Then we will take up page 26, section 346, changes in the constitution of the managing agents to be approved by Government. You were very eloquent when you said that for every little thing the director does he will have to come to government. What measures would you suggest to distinguish between things of a trifling nature and changes of a substantial nature in the constitution of managing agency firms which affect the character of the firm?

Shri J. D. Choksi: Whenever there is a change in the constitution, the managing agents inform the shareholders. If the shareholders approve of the change they will do nothing. If they do not approve of the change, they will approach the Government to control it. What is wrong in that?

Shri Naushir Bharucha: If your proposal is accepted, then the purpose of the entire section would be neutralised completely. In course of time, the entire board of directors will be changed —gradually one by one—and still the Government will not be able to control unless there are sufficiently diligent shareholders who in the first place will read your notice—which is doubtful—and in the second place will organise the necessary number of people to start action.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Why do you assume that the directors in our country are less honest and less honourable than directors in other countries? That is the first assumption. This form of control does not exist in other countries.

This was introduced in 1951 as a result of the conditions brought about by the war. It was brought in by Ordinance, as a temporary measure; then, it was passed into law in 1956. We pleaded with the Finance Minister at that time to drop it. He said that we had not had sufficient experience. Today I am suggesting a way out and I say this with all sincerity. The cost of applying to Government, the advertisement to the shareholders, sending circulars etc. have all gone up out of all proportion.

You are obsessed with the idea that Government is better qualified. You are no friend of Government, I think. And I do not see why you feel that Government is better qualified to select a director, than the Board of Directors themselves.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I think against the Tatas I have nothing to say. I am talking of those who know the tricks of the trade. Shri J. D. Choksi: There is no trick in being a director. Directors are the same all over. I say with great respect.

**Chairman:** Then, only the approach is different.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Then at page 27, regarding section 346, what is worse is,

"....the consequence that follows is serious. Such consequence is not that the change in the constitution," etc.

That occurs in the third line.

Shri J. D. Choksi: We have suggested a remedy.

Shri Naushir Bharncha: If the director alone ceases to be director—assuming that position—there will be no harm in every director trying to violate it, because, what is the consequence? The consequence is, at most that he will cease to be a director. Everybody would be induced to violate law.

Shri J. D. Choksi: What I suggest is a locus poenitentiae. With your background you will appreciate that. You will give notice saying that unless you do this, your man will be punished.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: What you suggest at page 27—proposal I—is that the company would be allowed to restore the status quo. If the director dies, then—

Shri J. D. Choksi: I agree there.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: When changes of this nature take place it is because they are inevitable. It is not just for the fun of it. A change in the constitution is made because it is inevitable. Then it is very difficult to restore the status quo.

Shri J. D. Choksi:. With great respect, I suggest that when a director dies, what is inevitable then?

Shri Naushir Bharucha: If it is a change, then there is another party.

Shri J. D. Choksi: It is not inevitable.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Unless it is very inevitable, you would not change the Constitution of a directorate.

Shri J. D. Choksi: We will ask the director to go out. If you do not approve of our taking an officer of the company as a director on the board of managing agents, we will tell the director that the Government of India do not approve of it. We cannot afford to lose our managing agency. It is very simple.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: At page 27, under proposal II you say:

"The permanent retirement of a director due to superannuation, ill-health or like cause shall not be deemed to be resignation of the director for the purposes of this sub-clause".

If this suggestion is accepted, so many directors would resign for reasons of ill-health and make way for others.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Then the others would have to be approved. It is only on retirement that we say that it need not be approved. When some director dies, some other person may go to the Government of India and my good friend Shri Mazumdar will be able to approve of it!

Shri Mazumdar: It is done by the members of the Advisory Committee.

**Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri:** Do you want to make any distinction between Government and the Advisory Committee of which you also happened to be a member for some time?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I happened to be a member. I do say this. The interposition of the advisory committee is certainly a safeguard. After all, it is not an official organisation. I do say that it certainly makes a difference, and a difference to the good. I am not disputing it. My objection frankly is..... Shri Lai Bahadur Shastri: You referred to the fact that "we have to go to Government" etc. In most of the cases, these matters are considered by the advisory committee. Generally the Government agrees with the Committee.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Ultimately, the Government agrees with the Commission.

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: It is almost a formal affair.

Shri J. D. Choksi: My objection is. it is not so much the quality of the decision which is finally taken, but to the procedure and it seems to me quite unn cessary. I can assure you that I have been through the mill and I have felt rather humiliated at this: some person in the South wants to be a managing director on Rs. 300 a month and to come to this Committee which is convened at great cost to the public. I want to simplify and streamline the procedure. After all, these are mainly matters of management and indoor management at that. As such, let us not raise them in this august place, Delhi, unless there is special need. When there is a small percentage of 10 per cent, they say, "will you kindly control this activity of the company?" That is my Let us do it that way. suggestion.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 29, clause 138, section 372. It deals with the purchase of shares of one company by another company. You say about the proposed new sub-section that no company other than an investment Company can invest in shares of other companies more than 20 per cent of the subscribed capital of the investing company. I do not think that your point is correct.

Shri J. D. Choksi: You may be right.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: We have to see to it. Now, what measure would you suggest to prevent unhealthy cornering of shares as distinct from bona fide investment for industrial development? Shri J. D. Choksi: For unhealthy cornering of shares, we have a group of sections: sections 398 and 399 onwards. They are there. They must remain. They have got nothing to do with this. It is the interlocking of funds that is sought to be controlled. It is a bad thing, of course. I agree.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: By interlocking of funds, that practice can be developed.

Shri J. D. Choksi: You want to bring in new industries into the country. Many of these industries require very large capital, which you cannot get from your own shareholders. So, what you do is, you make an arrangement with the foreign concern and it says, "I will set up a unit in India provided a certain large industrial company joins hands with me". It may be for the moment that that industrial company would have to put in more than 30 per cent of its capital or 40 per cent.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I wanted to know whether you think that the practice of interlocking of funds, if permitted, would lend itself to corrupt practices. What did the Mundhras do?

Now, I pass on to page 30—clause 153—section 408. It deals with the powers of Government, to prevent oppression and mismanagement. You have made a proposal that "no increase in the number of directors for the time being in office shall take effect...."etc.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Frankly I think there is a mistake in the proposal in the Bill. Why cannot ordinary elections take place for directorship? I am quite sure the department will appreciate that.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: That is to prevent undesirable characters coming into the electorate.

Shri J. D. Choksi: This does not happen.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: According to you, is it not your intention that section 408 should be scrapped?

Shri J. D. Choksi: It is there. The present Bill provides that no change should be made in the direc ors so long as the directors appointed by virtue of this section are in office. without Government's approval All I say is, what is intended really is that no additional appointment of directors should take place. Say that. Do not prevent directors being elected in the ordinary course supposing that the Government director continues for two or three years.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I follow. say no additional director should be position? appointed. what is the Supposing there are eight directors in a Board and if the Government approve of it knowing that they are good directors, and if you remove two and put in undesirable two, the number does not increase. and the Government's purpose is defeated.

**Shri J. D. Choksi:** You can only remove a director at a general meeting. Supposing the existing two are undesirable and the shareholders remove them and put in two good people, why should that not be done? Why should it go to Government?

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I follow-Ť. come to page 31---clause 165 -section 456. It deals with liquidation proceedings. Power is given to the liquidator to obtain possession of property even from a third party. You say, why should it be the third party. Would it not defeat our purpose if your proposal is accepted, and if the property of a company is transferred to a third party, on the eve of disbanding its business, would it not defeat our purpose?

Shri J. D. Choksi: My answer to that is this. In that case the third party will be holding the property on behalf of the company. What I was trying to say is this. Supposing there is a pledgee of goods, why should not the pledgee have a right to retain control over those goods. That is the point.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: There is no hing to prevent the District Magistrate from holding an enquiry. Shri J. D. Choksi: He can pass orders straightaway. That is the point.

Shri Naushir Bharncha: With regard to clause 190, I quite see the force of your proposal. I think your objection could be met if we say 'without reasonable cause'.....

Shri J. D. Choksi: That is what I have said in my proposal. I am glad that we are agreed on one clause.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: In your comment on clause 200, you say that section 629(A) is against the principles of jurisprudence. May I invite vour attention to section 63 of the Indian Penal Code? It says that where no sum is expressed upto which a fine may be imposed. ดท unlimited amount of fine maw he imposed.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Quite right. You are a far better criminal lawyer than I am. But may I say that there I would have no objection. There it is a question of the extent of punishment. It is a much smaller field than contemplated here.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: With regard to clause 202, is it your proposition that it would be much better and in the interest of the companies to discuss the terms and their application and that they would be accepted rather than rejected....

Shri J. D. Choksi: That is exactly what I say. Government often imposes terms and conditions and it is done with the consent of the company because that is permitted here. But as stated here, Government may impose conditions which may have nothing to do with the subject matter. This is rather sweeping.

Shri Naushir Pharucha: With reference to the proposal contained in item 43 of your memorandum; you have said that... one such item is item (4) in which the estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for are required to be stated.' Can you really maintain that it can not really be estimated? Is it merely a guess work.

Shri J. D. Choksi: It is an item of budgeting.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Therefore, it is only an estimate.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Therefore, it should be in the directors' report so that the shareholders can come to know that capital costs are being incurred commensurate with the construction. In general the shareholders are entitled to know what is the magnitude of the outstanding commitment. Therefore, make it compulsory there. That is what I suggest.

Shri Morarka: About clause 15, new section 43(A) I have heard you saying that in principle you have no objection when the public funds are involved, in a private company being made a public company. If a private company borrows huge funds from corporations or from Government which companies to Government guarantees are given or private companies which borrow a lot of money from the banks, do you not think that public funds are involved in those private companies?

Shri J. D. Choksi: No, Sir, for the simple reason that it was up to the Government or to the banks to lend or not to lend. They have chosen to entrust their money to a private individual. The Government or the bank knew the character of the individual or the company that came to borrow the money. Therefore, I do not think that public funds are involved.

**Shri Morarka:** That is not my point. Are these public funds or are they not? That is the only question.

Shri J. D. Choksi: It is a matter of opinion. I think the character of the funds had completely changed. What were originally public funds have been converted into private funds.

Shri Morarka: If the Government gives a loan to a company, do you

mean to say that those funds are not public funds? If a loan is given by the Government to a private company, is that loan made out of the Government funds public fund or not?

Shri J. D. Choksi: Quite right. They are public funds in the hands of the Government.

Shri Morarka: These public funds when given to the private companies are involved in that private company?

Shri J. D. Choksi: Right, Sir.

Shri Morarka: You said some thing about this 11 per cent and you also said that ten per cent of this 11 per cent would be one per cent. I could not follow that.

Shri J. D. Choksi: What I was saving was that under this proposal. many genuine private companies will become public companies because a private company in which another private company has 25 per cent of the share capital becomes a public comthough that other company nanv remains a private company. Many managing agency companies are of of that character and these managing agency companies will become public The main source of companies. income of these managing agency companies is the managing agency remuneration which is ten per cent of the profits of the companies they manage. The remuneration is for distribution organisations of the among the managing agency company which because the remuearned it neration is so calculated that in the eves of the legislature and the law, ten per cent is sufficient remuneration for the group of people who are managing the company. If you make this a public company, the directors. of the public company who are responsible for the management or perform the services of the management will not be entitled to have the ten per cent which they get but ten per cent of that ten per cent. That is my objection. In fact, if I may say so, this point was very fully explained 873 L.S.-4.

far better than I am able to do so now, by Shri C. D. Deshmukh on the floor of the House when he dealt with the managing agency remuneration. I have given the reference already.

Shri Morarka: You have said while dealing with clause 43(a) that subsidiary companies lead to some sort of a decentralisation. Could you explain how this formation of subsidary companies leads to decentralisation of managerial powers?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I think I have not said as much as you have said just now. In my memorandum I have not talked of decentralisation at all.

**Chairman:** But the word 'decentralisation' was used today when you said that the formation of subsidiary companies was also a step towards decentralisation.

Shri J. D. Choksi: In that sense I am right in this way. When you have a large trading organisation as the holding company and that trading organisation also wishes to become the managers or managing agents of other bodies corporate, you find in one corporation an aggregation of multifarious activities. If you create a subsidiary company which is solely devoted to management of the principal companies, then you have decentralisation. You have specialised and fuller service to perform for the principal company, because the only activity of the subsidiary is to inform itself of modern management tecniques and to put them into operation. The directors of that company are not concerned with any trading activity. Their only concern is operating to the best of their ability the various companies of which that particular subsidiary are the managing agents To that extent there is decentralisation.

Shri Morarka: In essence, decentralisation would depend on the ownership of this subsidiary company.

Shri J. D. Choksi: No, Sir; it would not. After all, management is a form of delegation. I say clause 124 is a mischievous provision because it prevents companies which are admittedly fully qualified to manage companies from continuing to be managing agents. When you have a company which is solely devoted to exercising managerial function over other companies unfettered by any other trading activity, that company is better qualified to do full justice to the managed companies, because then they have no conflicting interests.

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: Instead of forming a subsidiary company, which, you say, will be completely independent, if the holding company constitutes management boards—more than one board if necessary—there will be much closer contact between the management board and the holding company with the same results.

Shri J. D. Choksi: That is a good point. We had thought of it ourselves in 1945. We rejected it because it did not give full status to the directors of the subsidiary board. We have recruited eminent men from public life like Dr. John Mathai and other people in Government service. To give proper status to these gentlemen. you could not make them directors of a subsidiary board. You have to create companies to do it. In fact, I have written a letter to you on this subject pointing out how, for instance, the peculiar situation of the Tata Sons makes it difficult to appoint directors directly to the board of Tata Sons.

Shri Morarka: Regarding clause 124 which deals with new section 325A, I had put a question which the Chairman ruled you would answer later on. Could you explain whether a subsidiary company should have managing agents or not, particularly when the holding company has already a managing agency?

Shri J. D. Choksi: My answer to that would depend on the particular type of subsidiary company. I agree that normally a subsidiary should not have a managing agent. But supposing a subsidiary company consisted of a large textile mill, why should that subsidiary not have a managing agent and why should another company which does not happen to be a subsidiary and which has a smaller textile mill have the right to have a managing agent?

Shri Morarka: The only logic is, because the holding company has already a managing agency, they should manage the subsidiaries as well.

Shri J. D. Choksi: You should make them managing agents of the subsidiaries as well, if they are to be responsible for the management, with or without additional remuneration.

Shri Mazumdar: Without additional remuneration.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Yes; in fact, I do not think the remuneration should be taken twice over. I agree with you.

Shri Morarka: You made a very impressive plea against the scheme of this company law, the tendency towards totalitarianism, etc. Don't you agree that for the proper and effective management of these companies, you must have independent and effective Board of Directors?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I agree.

Shri Morarka: When we speak of independent and effective Board of Directors, would you like to concede the right of representation to the minority shareholders?

Shri J. D. Choksi: Yes.

Shri Morarka: On page 20 of your memorandum there is a small point about entering of details of contracts in the register. You seem to think it cannot be done within 3 days from the date on which the contract is entered into. But actually the Bill says "3 days from the date it is approved by the Board of Directors".

Shri J. D. Choksi: Many of the contracts do not require approval of the Board of Directors. In fact, a Shri Morarka: Is it not that this section would apply only to contracts which require approval of the Board of Directors under section 297?

Shri J. D. Choksi: The section which requires registration applies to all contracts in which the directors are interested, irrespective of whether the contracts have to be sanctioned or approved by the Board or not.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: Would you throw some more light about section 346 and your suggestion regarding it? You say, whenever there is a change in the constitution of a managing agency, the managing agent should notify, the shareholders. and the powers shall be exercisable by the Central Government if an application is made for that purpose by not less than 100 shareholders or not less than one-tenth of the total number of shareholders. I want to know what is the sanctity behind fixing this 10 per cent of shareholders? Does it mean that only number counts and not the contents of the application to the Government? What is it you have got in your mind?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I think, you might address this question to those who framed Section 398. I am taking my words from Section 398. There it is said, minority interest is sufficiently represented by 10 per cent of the share capital or 100 shareholders. I am only following that principle. There must be something at stake. One share-holder is far too a small number. You must have some real figure.

Shri Munisamy: We need not go by number. One intelligent shareholder can still do something in the matter. There is no sanctity with regard to 10 per cent or 100 shareholders.

Shri J. D. Choksi: I am afraid, I cannot agree with you. There must be a representative number. The last gentleman who addressed me said, minority interests should have their representation. I agree, but there must be some definite number, not a single shareholder.

Shri Dave: Now, I come to section relating to depreciation. Your argument is that depreciation charges which are provided for in the incometax law are not realistic and that they are purely notional, at least during the initiative and development stages. Are we then to understand that the scale that is provided for in the income-tax law is purely notional, devoid of any reality?

Shri J. D. Choksi: I do not think they are devoid of reality. They serve a very definite purpose. They serve a purpose in the initial stages when spend very the companies have to large sums on new plant, etc. The Legislature in its wisdom has thought fit to give them higher depreciation so as to enable them to recoup a part of the cost of their plant. So, it serves a very beneficial purpose. But I disagree with the view that the plant in the early stages suffers greater depreciation than in the later stages of his life, I mean actual wear and tear of the plant. Very often certain plants suffer very little depreciation in earlier years. You will find in the experience of plant histories that plants require far more maintenance and renewals as they grow older in existence.

Shri Dave: Would that mean that when the company has to pay incometax it would deem to have earmarked a particular sum for depreciation?

Shri J. D. Choksi: That argument, if I may say so, sounds very attractive. But if you kindly look at it over a period of years, it works out to the same thing. Supposing we assume the workable life of a plant as 15 years, now under the Incometax scales, you will find in the first five years about 70 per cent of the plant will be written off and in the remaining 10 years only 30 per cent is provided for. So, in the remaining 10 years there is an average of 3 per cent. But if you take, what we call straight-line basis and allocate the same life to the plant, say, 15 years, then there will be an even spread of approximately 7 per cent per year throughout the life of the plant. Ultimately, 100 per cent is provided over the same period. In one case, a much larger proportion is provided in the earlier years and a much smaller proportion in later years. In the other case, it is an even spread. That is called a straight-line basis. In the case of the Electricity supply Act, companies are compelled to adopt a certain basis for depreciation. Again, for instance. in the Steel Industry, the prices are regulated having regard to the costs of manufacturing steel and depreciation is an element and the Tariff Commission has laid down that 61 per cent on the gross block is a fair provision for depreciation. In other words, the same straight-line basis spread over 15 years.

Shri Dave: In other words, the straight-line basis is more in conformity to reality than the income-tax scale.

Shri J. D. Choksi: In certain industries, yes. In certain fast consuming industries, where the plant is used up quicker, then the income-tax scales may be better.

Shri Dave: Now, I come to clause 104 which relates to the appointment of sole selling agents. You say in your evidence that the type of provisions which are thought to be incorporated in this Act are not found anywhere else in the world. Your argument was two-fold. one was administrative and the other was legal. As far as the legal aspect is concerned, you suggested that discrimination between one selling agent and the other selling agent was not quite in conformity with the spirit of the Constitution. As far as this section is concerned, all that it tries to do is to prescribe a procedure in order to appoint a particular selling agent and that procedure is prescribed for the joint stock company. It is not prescribed for the selling agent at all. Just as under the Constitution everyone has a right to work, but whether I get work or not depends upon the employer, similarly in this case also though every selling agent has a right to be a selling agent of any company he likes, the law tries to prescribe certain procedures to be followed before any joint stock company can appoint a particular person as a selling agent. So, I am not able to appreciate how this section is not in conformity with the spirit of the Constitution.

Shri J. D. Choksi: I will first deal with administrative aspect of the matter. As I said earlier, it is wrong in principle that selling agents should be subject to the approval of the Government because they may be for such a small area and they may be for small periods; they may have to be changed or there may have to be changes in the terms of their remuneration to suit a particular business or a particular product that is being sold. It would be very very difficult to effect these changes without causing a lot of business loss to the companies.

Now, I come to the legal aspect of it. After all, selling agent is not a creature of Company Law at all. Industrial organisations which are not companies have also selling agents. When you regulate corporations who have selling agents on a different basis, you create a difference between the method of treatment between an un-incorporated body and an incorporated body. I have pointed out the practical disadvantages of the incorporated body. Now, I suggest that there is no reason why there should be this disparity. If you want that the sales of particular commodities should be controlled, then you do not need this Act. You have other legislation to do that and you can do that. In fact, you do control the sale of certain commodities under the law. You can do it if you find that certain

commodities, certain products, require to be controlled, their sales and their distribution. Do not have recourse to this legislation; you have powers otherwise. Then that would apply not merely to companies, but to all organisations which produce those goods. That is what I said.

Shri Dave: Here the question is when a particular person is appointed a selling agent by a corporate body which is definitely a creation of law, that corporate body is subjected to certain conditions and certain procedure. As far as the selling agent is concerned there is no restriction on him. He could be a selling agent wherever he likes. Provided he is a selling agent of a corporate body that corporate body has to go through certain procedure.

Shri J. D. Choksi: I agree with all that. But you are placing the corporate body at a very grave disadvantage. That is what I am saying. You are suggesting that there is no technical breach of the letter of the constitution, but I am suggesting that there is a breach in the spirit of the constitution, because after all ultimately it is the shareholders or individuals who own the corporate body and their business suffers.

**Shri Dave:** Your proposal would be against the constitution, because you are only expanding your area.

Shri J. D. Choksi: I am submitting to an illegality, but I am hoping that by submitting to some illegalities larger illegalities will not be imposed on me.

Shri Dave: You said a little while ago that a distinction is being made, or certain restrictions are sought to be imposed on Indian directors which are not found anvwhere in the world. May I draw your attention to the fact that this section only tries to control managing agency companies and not companies generally, because the managing agency system as such is peculiar to this country. Whenever any attempt is made to control that particular system there is bound to be certain conditions and certain provisions which will be peculiar to this country and which will not be found anywhere else in the world. May I submit there is therefore no cause for any feeling of being hurt. It is only an attempt on the part of the legislature to control a system which has outlived its purpose.

Shri J. D. Choksi; I am not quite as hurt as all that. I will say this that this distinction of managing agents as something peculiar to India is not altogether sound. I have some experience of companies abroad in the past and in the present and I know certain American companies approximate somewhat to the managing agency system. And in the shipping lines in Britian they used to have a system whereby companies become managers of those lines with full powers of management very much akin to managing agencies. So it is not quite so distinct. Ultimately companies have to be managed. Whether you call it managing directors, or managers, whether you call it a whole board of directors or whether you call it managing agents, the functions are essentially the same. It is true there have been acts of misconduct, which have been committed by people who have been managing agents. But if you analyse those acts you will very often find the root cause is not they were managing agents but because they were corrupt. That form of mismanagement would have taken place whether you had managing agents, managing directors or any others.

I may tell you that the Cohen Committee in England went into the activities of managing directors and they had a lot to find in regard to misma-Therefore you have got nagement. the group of sections which we have copied which enable minority interests to be protected. It is really bad management which has got to be put down and which should be put down. I can assure you it is nothing peculiar to managing agents. I have the same influence as a managing director, the same type of mind; I do the same type of service. It is only because of my

label that you look upon me as an object of suspicion. That I say is wrong and that is what I am trying to correct.

I was a Member of this Company Law Commission. During my short period of service there was no less than 5.000 perhaps more, applications and it seemed to me quite a considerable proportion of those applications should never have come to us. They dealt with a person dving. his shares to be transferred to his representative in the managing agency company. It was quite informal. Why should those things come. So I suggested a procedure whereby unless the company's interests were hurt and shareholders brought the matter to the attention of Government it should not automatically come to the Advisory Commission and to the Government.

Shri Nathwani: You say that a considerable minority of shareholders should be given representation on the Board. I think the best way to secure this is to appoint directors by the system of proportional representation. How will you secure due representation of minorities on the Board of Directors?

Shri J. D. Choksi: There are provisions in the present law which enable that to be done.

Shri Nathwan: There is that section about optional representation.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Since the 1956 Act I have not heard of any representative bodies wanting to appoint directors on the basis provided in that section. But the section is there and the powers given in it can be exercised.

Shri Nathwani: You say you are totally in favour of a substantial minority of shareholders being given representation on the Board of Directors. What is your way for securing that? Is there any other system except that of proportional representation, or leaving the matter to the Government to nominate two Members as directors. Shri J. D. Choksi: What has been just pointed out is an objection which I have found exists in practice. You cannot label individuals as belonging to a minority or majority except in regard to specific resolutions.

Shri Nathwani: When it is a question of appointing directors: supposing seven directors are going to be appointed, 20 per cent of the voters want to elect one of their nominees as a director. Their representation can only be secured if you adopt the system of proportional representation. According to the present, distributive, system, often though they have 49 per cent of voting strength they cannot appoint even one of them as directors. So, when you accept this principle of a minority, a substantial minority. being represented on the board of directors, is there any other way except that of proportional representation? Or. of course, you may leave the matter to the Government who have the power to appoint two of the members as directors. That was a compromise which was accepted by Shri Deshmukh at that time in deference to the strong plea raised by myself and Shri Morarka.

Shri J. D. Choksi: The difficulty I find in this matter of minority shareholdrers appointing directors is not a difficulty in regard to the principle. I accept the principle whereby all interests of the shareholders are represented on the board. I accept that principle. But the difficulty arises in providing a suitable machinery to enable, what is called, a minority of shareholders the right to have their own director on the board. If you say that when 20 per cent of the directors come and say "we want to appoint a director of ours on the board", it has to be done, another 20 per cent may come forward and say "we want to appoint a director", and a third 20 per cent will come forward and say "we want to appoint one".

Shri Morarka: What is wrong there?

Shri J. D. Choksi: The result will be that you will have groups and you will have directors who do not represent the shareholders as one body. That may not be to the advantage of the company; in fact, very often it is not an advantage. It is far better that all the directors have the approval of all the shareholders.

Shri Nathwani: Certainly not. T quite see that depending on the number of the directors on the board. even a substantial minority will have no other way of appointing their nominee on the board except by this system. Suppose four directors are to be appointed. Even if you have 40 per cent votes, a group which commands 51 per cent of the votes will have all its nominees appointed as directors on the board. Even if 49 per cent of the voters want a single nominee, that nominee will have no place under the present system.

Shri J. D. Choksi: I appreciate that. But the only feeling I have is the practical difficulty.

Shri Khandubhai Desai: Your memorandum and suggestions, I take it, have been based on your experience in your own group of companies.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Not entirely, Sir. I hope you don't think I am not experienced outside my own group.

Shri Khandubhai Desai: The proposed amendments are mainly based on the recommendations of the Sastri Committee which has gone into the question of the law as it should be applied to thirty thousand odd companies. So, naturally, we cannot follow in our consideration all the good suggestions that you have made from your point of view.

Shri J. D. Choksi: That is my misfortune, Sir. But may I say this that the Sastri Committee has made no report on the proposed clause 124?

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: The rest you accept?

Shri J. D. Choksi: No, no I do not accept the rest.

Shri Kanungo: About clause 47A You have suggested that as long as the total membership does not exceed fifty, it should be considered as a private company.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Yes.

Shri Kanungo: That means that. fifty should be considered as the total membership of all the holding companies?

Shri J. D. Choksi: Including the companies in which the shares are held—the holding companies plus the company in which the shares are held.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Do you mean individuals or persons?

Shri J. D. Choksi: The question that was put to me was different. There again I accept that if in a company there are corporate holders, they have got to be brought in. So you have fifty individuals ultimately.

**Shri Kanungo:** You would like to limit it to fifty individuals?

Shri J. D. Choksi: Yes.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: That is, a legitimate, bona fide private company is one where it does not exceed fifty individuals? But that is not the law today.

Shri J. D. Choksi: When I say fifty, I include corporate bodies, I mean provided they do not hold more than 25 per cent.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Suppose a corporate body holds 5 per cent in a private company it will still be a private company.

Shri J. D. Choksi: Yes. I never suggested anything else.

Chairman: Thank you very much.

(The witnesses then withdrew)

# III. The Indian Merchants' Chamber, Bombay Spokesmen:

- 1. Shri Lalchand Hirachand.
- 2. Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia.
- 3. Shri R. G. Saraiya.
- 4. Shri Tanubhai D. Desai.
- 5. Shri C. L. Gheevala.

(Witnesses were called in and they took their seats)

**Shri Laichand Hirachand:** I would like to submit one thing. It is nearly quarter past one of the clock, and I understand that you usually adjourn at half past one of the clock. Would it not be desirable if we meet tomorrow morning instead of for just ten minutes or so now?

**Chairman:** But we understood that there was your parent body also which was going to come and tender evidence before us. We thought that perhaps you might not have much to add to what they have to say.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: No, the views of the two bodies are independent. We have submitted our memorandum already.

**Chairman:** We have got it. If we start it just now, we can continue the rest tomorrow morning.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: All right.

**Chairman:** Your memorandum has been circulated to all the Members, and they have read it. If there is any particular thing that you want to add or supplement, you may do so; or the Members might begin directly with their questions, and you might give your answers or explanations in reply to the various questions.

'Shri Lalchand Hirachand: At the outset. I may make a few preliminary remarks. My Chamber feels thankful to the committee for having given us this opportunity of explaining in greater detail the views expressed in our memorandum. The Chamber which we have the honour to represent this morning is a leading organisation of business people and industrialists in the Bombay State. In fact, it is the leading organisation on that side. It has 130 associations of different trades and industries as its affiliated members, and nearly 2000 individual memhers

The main points that we have made in our representation are as follows. We feel that the overall objective underlying the new legislation has been that joint-stock enterprise in the country should subserve the' larger national economic policies. The company law that was enacted in 1956 was a huge piece of legislation which changed considerably the old company law; and it was feared at that time that this big change might cause a lot of difficulties to the business community; and it was expected when the committee was appointed to investigate how the company law was operating, that they would go into the various difficulties that the business community has been experiencing. There have been various suggestions in that committee's report which are certainly helpful in removing those difficulties. But the proposed new legislation is also another big piece of legislation which has again brought into existence new ideas and will result in a lot of thinking on different lines. No doubt. it is the intention of the Bill to safeguard the legitimate rights and privileges of the shareholders. But my Chamber feels that in some respects it does much more than that, and it puts restrictions on the companies and the management. It will not be helpful in that respect. We have given in our memorandum the details of that, and we feel that further control on company management may not be useful. Government have got large powers already, and if they are judiciously used, they can regulate the working of the companies for the benefit of the shareholders, and any further controls should not be introduced.

There are certain provisions in the Bill which are of an avoidable nature, and could be safely removed from its scope, since they can in no way be said to involve issues of public policy from the point of view of protecting the interests of the community at large.

I would like to refer in this connection to the provisions of clause 71 of the Bill requiring a private company to file with the registrar its profit and loss account. The provisions of clause 75 require the company to have the accounts of its branch offices audited; and clause 90 introduces the need for a special resolution for appointing additional or alternate directors.

Another point that I would like to refer to relates to the large number of provisions vesting in Government vast powers of interference to which I have already made a reference. That, from the Chamber's point of view, will not be helpful for the proper administration of the companies or for the proper management of the companies. Powers such as for the seizure of documents by registrars, and powers of inspectors to examine employees of a company, sought to be conferred by clause 79, are some of the additional powers which are included in the amending Bill. In the exercise of these various powers, there is every scope for arbitrary action, and undue interference in the day-to-day affairs of the joint-stock companies.

I would, therefore, submit that it is necessary that these powers should be kept to the minimum and there should also be provided such checks so that the exercise of such powers by inexperienced officers does not come in the way of the management of joint-stock companies.

Shri Moraka: Regarding your comment on clause 3 (c) which appears at page 8 of your memorandum, could you please explain a little more clearly how the formation of Indian subsidiaries with foreign collaboration etc. would be affected?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: If the foreign company owns the entire capital of the Indian private company, then the Indian company will be treated as a private company. But, if you seek the collaboration, in which the foreign company does not own the entire capithen the Indian company will tal. be treated as a public company and will be subject to the handicaps which are there to a public company as compared with a private company with the result that the formation of private companies with foreign collaboration of say 50-50 or 75-25 may not be encouraged: or it may be positively discouraged.

**Shri Merarka:** Is it your contention that if Indians own shares in a private

company together with foreigners then: the company would become a private company and not otherwise?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: I have not followed the question.

Shri Morarka: Is it your understanding that a private company would become a public company if the Indian nationals hold shares along with foreigners and not othrewise?

Shri E. G. Saraiya: If there is a company with foreigners and Indians, then it becomes a public company unless the foreigners own the entire capital. It will go against the registration of companies in which there are both foreigners and Indians. It will encourage the entirely foreign owned company as against a mixed venture or a joint venture.

Shri Morarka: What is the position under the existing law?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: There is no restriction like this at present.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: At present there is no restriction of the typespoken by the hon. Member because there is no provision that Indian companies like this are to be treated as public companies.

Shri Morarka: You are confusing clause 3(c) with clause 15.

Shri P. T. Leuva: Clause 15 relates to private companies

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: At present it would not be treated. But, ultimately it would be treated as a public company and all the disabilities, if I may say so, would apply to it.

Shri Morarka: Is it your suggestion that even those private companies which are wholly owned by foreigners or foreign companies should be treated as public companies?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We do not suggest that. We do not suggest a worsening of the situation. We want collaboration to come and, therefore, we do not want this provision that private companies which are subsidiaries of foreign companies should be treated this way. We do not agree with the insertion of this provision.

Shri Morarka: Do you agree with the principle that if public funds are invested in private companies then the private companies should submit themselves to the regulations of public company?

Shri Lalchand Hirchand: In our memorandum we have accepted the principle. The only consideration that we have suggested is a two-fold one. We have suggested that 25 per cent. is too small and that it should be naised to 33 1. The second thing we have said is that if private companies invest in a private company. that should not be treated as a public combecause private company is vanv. after all a private company and, therefore, it need not be treated as public investment.

Shri Morarka: Apart from the question of share capital, if public funds are invested by way of loans or otherwise, then don't you think that public funds are involved in private companies?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: That is not the criterion. A private company may take loans from a bank. A bank is a public concern. What we mean by funds is the share capital involved and it is the share capital that should be the criterion and not loans or any other form of money obtained.

Shri Morarka: Surely, when you accept the principle of public money being involved in private companies, whether it is investment in the form of share capital or in the form of loan, what difference does it make?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: From the business point of view it does mean quite a lot of difference. A loan is quite different from invested capital. A party giving a loan has got ample opportunties of getting back his money and for dictating the terms of the loans, while capital invested is differently treated. Shri Morarka: I think, on the other hand, the shareholder has got an opportunity of selling his shares and washing his hands off. But, in the case of a loan one cannot do that. In any case, once you accept the principle that public funds are involved in a private company, then it should become a public company.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: We do not understand loans to be public funds. By public funds we mean the capital invested in the company and by capital we mean only or mainly equity capital coming from public companies and not from banks.

Shri Morarka: If a bank buys shares in a private company—say to the value of Rs. 50,000|- constituting 25 per cent, then, according to your memorandum, that company would become a public company; but, on the other hand, if the bank gives a loan to the extent of Rs. 5 lakhs that should not become a public company.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia; When considering this question we must distinguish between the persons contributing the funds. The source from which the money comes is immaterial. What I mean is this If a private company gets loan from outside, they do not become funds of the outside source. They are funds of a private person and that makes the difference. We are concerned with entity and entity. Therefore the source from which a particular entity acquires finance is not quite relevant or matter for the consideration.

**Shri Morarka:** If the private company is given a loan by Government of an autonomous corporation belonging to Government, don't you think public funds are involved in that?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: That is a much larger issue. Here we are discussing the question in terms of the ownership of the companies. We are discussing the Companies Act where the regulation of the interests of the investors—the shareholdersare concerned. In that light, the only relevant issue, in the humble opinion of the Chamber, is the contribution of funds by an entity and, therefore, no outside factor should be the material for consideration.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: In this respect I would draw the attention of the hon. Member to this. The Bill says 25 per cent. of the share capital. It does not refer to public funds as loans or in any other form. From that point of view the memorandum says that the Chamber would like to make it clear that it is the paid up share capital and not loans or other financial assistance.

Shri Morarka: I will continue tomorrow.

**Chairman:** I would request hon. Members just to wait for a couple of minutes because we have to fix the time when we meet tomorrow. Members might agree to sit in the afternoon also tomorrow so that we might finish with the witnesses whom we have called for tomorrow.

Shri Morarka: Five hours are too strenuous. We have to study all the papers.

**Chairman:** We follow these timings so that the witnesses might not be put to much inconvenience. We might finish tomorrow, and perhaps we might not feel any difficulty afterwards if we can finish tomorrow with the witnesses whom we have called, and then I would not request you to sit in the afternoon. So, shall we meet at half past eight tomorrow?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: We begin at half past eight tomorrow, and the spokesmen of the shareholders who have been called, may perhaps wait a little longer.

**Chairman:** We shall continue with you tomorrow at half past eight.

(The witnesses then withdrew)

The Committee then adjourned.

## JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE COMPANIES (AMENDMENT) BILL 1959

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE GIVEN BEFORE THE JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE COMPANIES (Amendment) Bill, 1959

Wednesday, the 8th July, 1959 at 08.30 hours

#### PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman.

### MEMBERS

Lok Sabha

- 2. Shri H. C. Heda
- 3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha
- 4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 6. Shri Radhelal Vyas
- 7. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 8. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 9. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 10. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 11. Shri G. D. Somani
- 12. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 13. Shri Mulchand Dube

9/7 Chai 7/1 - 1 11 - -

- 14. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi
- 15. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
- 16. Shrimati Sucheta Kripalani
- 17. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 18. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
- 19. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 20. Shri M R Masani
- 21. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 22. Shri Tridib Kumar Chaudhuri
- 23. Shri Surendra Mahanty
- 24. Shri G. K. Manay
- 25. Shri Naushir Bharucha
- 26. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

## Rajya Sabha

27. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai	32. Shri P. T. Leuva
28. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar	33. Shri M. P. Bhargava
	34. Shri R. S. Doogar
29. Shri P. D. Himatsingka 30. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai	35. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
31. Shri J. S. Bisht	36. Shri Rohit M. Dave.
er. Duri e. D. Disnt	

### DRAFTSMAN

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

#### SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai-Under Secretary.

38

a sector in . .

.....

#### WITNESSES EXAMINED

I. The Indian Merchants' Chamber. Bombay.

#### Spokesmen:

- 4. Shri Tanubhai D Desai 1. Shri Lalchand Hirachand
- 2. Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia
- 3. Shri R. G. Saraiva

II. The Bombay Shareholders' Association, Bombay.

Spokesmen:

1. Shri Jagdish J. Kapadia

2. Shri Tanubhaj D. Desai

III. The Associated Chambers of Commerce of India, Calcutta.

Spokesmen:

- 1. Mr. J. D. K. Brown
- 2. Sir Walter Michelmore

### I. The Indian Merchants' Chamber. Bombay.

Spokesmen:

- 1. Shri Lalchand Hirachand
- 2. Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia
- 3. Shri R. G. Saraiva
- 4. Shri Tanubhai D. Desai
- 5. Shri C. L. Gheevala
- (Witnesses were called in and they took their seats)

Shri Morarka: I wish to refer to page 15 of your memorandum where regarding clause 60 you say:

"According to this explanation. the remuneration payable to a managerial personnel will include expenditure incurred by the company in providing rent-free accommodation or any other benefit or amenity free of charge or at a concessional rate. It cannot be contended that all amenities provided to the managerial personnel at the expense of the company are for the benefit of the personnel concerned, as some of them would be expenditure incurred for the purpose of the business of the company In such cases, such expenditure cannot be termed as remuneration paid to the personnel concerned "

I want to know what exactly you mean and what you want.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: Here the question is of a wider nature. All amenities as such need not be taken to be amounts paid with a view to meet the personal needs of the incumbant in office. For example, if a person has been appointed in a particular position and he is also given the charge of looking after the customers of the company and those customers when they come stay with him, it would be expenditure incurred on behalf of the company and a fixed allowance may be given to him or reimbursement of the actual expenditure incurred. In the case of actual reimbursement, there is no difficulty, but where an allowance has been given, out of which he meets the said expenditure for the comfort of the customers or other people who come in relation to the business of the company, that amount will not be a personal benefit to that incumbant in office. This is one example.

3. Dr. R. C. Cooper

5. Shri C. L. Gheevala

3. Mr. D. S. Gorer.

Shri Morarka: You have no objection to including those items which are incurred by the company exclusively for the benefit of the employees.

Shri Gonaldas P. Kapadia: In relation to that question. I should say that it is very difficult to lay down a hard and fast rule. Even for income-tax purposes, when one begins to value the perquisites, it is a question of making a broad analysis. For example, in respect of the premises used by some of the persons in Government service, if attempts were made to value the houses they are occupying today. it would give us a fantastic result. because it would be out of all proportion to the salary. The actual rent for that house would be much higher. It is not a question of trying to value that sort of amenity on that basis. On the same lines, when you consider the amenities provided to persons serving in business, a broad approach of the nature which is made in relation to the service of an administrator requires to be made.

**Shri Morarka:** Is it, therefore, your suggestion that no amenities provided by the company should be treated as a part of the remuneration irrespective of their nature?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: If it is a personal amenity given to him of which he takes full advantage, certainly it should be included.

Shri Morarka: If a residential site is given exclusively to a director for his use, would you like to include it or not?

**Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia:** Would he be just a director in office or a fulltime director of the company? We will have to make a distinction between the two.

Shri Morarka: Suppose he is fulltime.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: In that case, he makes full use of the residential accommodation and there is no reason why we should not include it. Shri Lalchand Hirachand: There is one thing which I might say. That director may be going out of town to visit the factory.

Shri Khandubhai Desai: That is only temporary.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: When he goes out to visit the factory, naturally he has to be given a residence and certain amenities there.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: That will not be taken into account.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: At the time some legislation is made, the intention is something different, but when it is translated and interpreted afterwards, difficulty arises. It is our endeavour to put our views before the Joint Committee so that such a position may not arise.

**Chairman:** If the words are not clear, our intentions and objects here are the same and those words can be properly conveyed. It is for the courts to interpret them, but as you have said, it is only our endeavour to put it properly; whether we succeed or not is a different matter.

**Shri Lalchand Hirachand:** It is not only the courts that interpret, but even the Income-tax Officers interpret the letter of the law and many times lots of difficulties arise.

Shri Morarka: I refer to clause 62 on page 16 which relates to the payment of dividend after providing depreciation. Could you please tell us, what is your objection if depreciation is provided before dividends are paid?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: The difficulty arises because in the present context of the companies expanding their work and production and putting up new plants, they are not able to earn depreciation on the plant which is being added up and it takes three or four years before it can be provided. As a result, any company which has got an expansion programme, even if it is an old-established company, cannot pay a dividend unless, of course,

it has got past reserves. The real sufferers would be the share-holders and particularly the smaller share-holders because they have to depend more on the dividend than the bigger shareholders. For the bigger share-holders if there is no dividend for five years. they benefit by capital appreciation, and so on. For the smaller shareholders it is a great handicap and. therefore, it has been represented particularly by the share-holders that the companies should be enabled to pay dividend after making the necessary stipulation or note in the balance sheet of the company to the effect that shortfall in depreciation. if any, will be made up.

Shri Morarka: Would you, therefore, suggest that there should be a smaller scale of depreciation or there should be no provision at all about this depreciation?

**Shri R. G. Saraiya:** That should be left to the discretion of Directors. I do not suppose, even the share-holders would allow the capital to be wiped out and pay dividend.

Shri Morarka: Capital cannot be wiped out in one year. But if you pay dividend without providing for depreciation, then certainly it means reduction of capital.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: It is not payment out of capital. Even today there is no law which requires that depreciation should be provided.

Shri Morarka: Because there is no law, the Bill seeks to make the law. That is quite clear and if you pay dividends without providing for depreciation, then does it not mean that you are paying dividend out of the depreciated capital assets and to that extent your capital depreciates and you are making payment out of capital. What I want to ask is, whether you want a lesser scale of depreciation or no depreciation at all.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: That should be left to the discretion of the Company and the share-holders. Shareholders will know better to do it or not.

Shri Morarka: That would apply to everything, to each and every clause.

Now, I come to page 17, clause 63. Could you please let us know whether any instance has come to your notice where the dividends once declared have not been paid either in time or fully.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: There areonly a few cases of companies which issue the dividend warrant only onrequest. It is something unusual to our mind and that is the only casewhich would be a case of difficulty. Otherwise, in Bombay there is no such difficulty.

**Shri Morarka:** I think there is a provision in the present Bill that dividends once declared must be paid within one month; otherwise, there will be a penalty.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: That is right.

**Shri Morarka:** Do I take it there is no specific instance that you can quote where the company has failed to pay the dividend within a stipulated time?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: Not to our knowledge.

Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha: I have got only one question to ask. On page 21, with respect to the audit of the branch offices, the Memorandum. says that there are practical difficulties in implementing this particular provision and it is further suggested that the Central Government may be empowered to waive the proposed requirement of branch audit also in the case of any Public company, which is likely to experience genuine difficulties in instituting branch audits. Are you not satisfied with the provision in section 8 of the Act which empowers the Central Government to exclude any branch office from auditing.

Shri R. G. Saraiya: We do not want that the audit for branch offices should be made compulsory because often branches are just purchasing agencies, say, for cotton and oil seeds. Sometimes the branches are opened for 15 days during the seasons. It is not proper that the auditors from Bombay or Calcutta, wherever the head office is located, are asked to audit these branch offices. It would be a great hardship and it will cost a lot to the company.

**Chairman:** The Hon'ble Member says that you yourself have suggested in your Memorandum that the Central Government may be empowered to waive the proposed requirement of branch audit, etc. Now, under Section 8, the Central Government has already got that power.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: The definition of the 'branch' is attempted to be changed by this Bill. That puts us in a typical position. Actually, as a Member of the Company Law Committee, I had the privilege of having full discussion regarding this definition. We found inherent difficulties in defining 'branch'.

Chairman: You will excuse me. My question was rather a simpler one. You have made a suggestion that there will be too many difficulties. It may not be practicable. These branches are spread out in far flung areas and that would cause hardship. That is all right. So far, I agree. Then to remedy that, you have put two suggestions. One is, that this may not be compulsory audit. That is one thing. Then you say that the Central Government may be empowered to exempt any branches or companies. The question was, already there is a provision under section 8, that the Central Government has that power. Do you mean to say by this suggestion any other thing or the same power that is already there?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: No, Sir. What I say is that the question of branch audit is linked up with the definition of the term 'branch'. If you widen the definition of 'branch', then the difficulty will be of a grave nature. As it is, 'branch' is defined as something which is described as such by the company. If you attempt a definition of the term 'branch' to include in its scope all the purchasing centres, all the sales centres and also the processing and manufacturing centre, then the difficulty will be all the more greater.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: There is a little confusion. Section 8 provides that the Central Government may declare that certain establishments will not be treated as branches. What we want is that even if an establishment is a branch within the meaning of the section, if there are practical difficulties, the Central Government should take powers....

Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha: Power is there under section 8.

**Chairman:** What he says is that that power is not enough as it does not apply to every branch. Under the present power, they can exclude some establishments. They want an express provision to exempt certain branches.

Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha: Under clause 2(d) of this Bill....

**Chairman:** You need not pursue that. He has given his point of view. We can consider it.

Shri Satvendra Narayan Sinha: Now, I come to page 13, clause 53. The objection raised against this clause is that the requirement of filing with the Registrar any resolution of the Board of Directors of a company should be waived because that will contain information regarding the interest of the particular Director or Directors, which will not be in the interest of the company. They say that all such information will be available in the Register of Contracts to be maintained by companies and that will saleguard the interests of the investing public. By merely filing with the Registrar the resolutions of the Board of Directors it does not mean that the entire public will come to know of this information. Only such persons as are interested in knowing it will come to know of it. What is the particular objection to this provision?

**Chairman:** In one of the memoranda—it may be here or elsewhere— I remember to have seen it stated that they have suspicions against the Registrar's office on the ground that things may leak out from there.

Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha: It is not stated here. That is why I am asking this question.

**Chairman:** Even if it goes to the Registrar's office, things may leak out from there. Secret information may not be kept there; this was the reason.

Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha: That will leak out only to those who are interested in it.

Shri R. G. Saraiya: What about the procedural difficulties both on the side of the companies as well as on the side of the Administration in regard to maintenance of the registers and duplication of work in the office of the Registrar? I should think it will entail enormous amount of work both by the companies as well as by the Registrar with regard to information which will be available under the Companies Act. Why should the whole thing again be duplicated and kept in the Registrar's Office. And there is also the possibility of leakage of information because after all the clerks and other staff are human beings.

Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha: What I submitted was this: Only such persons as are interested in knowing the secret would come to know of it. I understood the witness saying that this system will multiply the work in the office. Would they supply the information to those who are interested in knowing the information from the company?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: They have got a right to see under the existing Act. 873 LS-5. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha: Any member of the public?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Any member of the company.

Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha: Not any member of the public?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: Any member of the public will also.

Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha: The prospective shareholders of the company.

Shri R. G. Saraiya: Not only the prospective shareholders, but also the prospective competitors. If they manufacture certain products, they will be more interested in this as prospective competitors, than as prospective shareholders. That is why we referred to the possible leakage of the information, because all possible use will be made by them.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Not the staff of the Registrar's office.

Shri R. G. Saraiya: I always maintain that the staff of the Registrar's office and of the companies are the same Indians who are equally honest or equally dishonest.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: New section 240-A is introduced with a view to empower the inspector to enter, search and seize documents. You have taken objection to this. Instead of the inspector applying to the First Class Magistrate for the seizure order, you want him to apply to the District Court. Could you give us your reasons why you want this change in jurisdiction?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: The reason is that the district court is a higher judicial authority and in such cases as these it is desirable that the district court should give permission.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: The district court and a First 'Class Magistrate have the same powers. I do not find any justification for this change.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: For the inspector, it makes little difference whether he goes to the district court or to the First Class Magistrate. But from our point of view, I think it is more desirable to have a higher authority rather than the lower authority.

Shri Nityanand Kanungo: When you say district court, do you mean the District Judge?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: Yes.

**Shri N. R. Munisamy:** Then you say that you should be given a chance before the orders are passed. Do they pass order *ex parte*?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Usually, orders are passed *ex parte* because there is a danger of tampering with the record. The order is obtained on that ground. Therefore, it is all the more necessary that the highest judicial authority in the district should do this.

**Shri E. G. Saraiya:** We have said that the company concerned should be given an opportunity to appear before the court.

**Chairman:** Has the district court authority to order seizure?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: At present there is no power. The suggestion with regard to clause 77 is that the man should take the power of seizure from the First Class Magistrate. What we are suggesting is that there should not be power given to the First Class Magistrate, but it should be given to the District Judge.

**Chairman:** Unless we amend the Criminal Procedure Code, we cannot do it.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: In fact the District Judge is dealing with companies. He is vested under the Act with the various powers relating to companies. As the District Judge will be knowing the provisions of the Companies Act and the methods of their working, he should be vested with this power.

Shri Nityanand Kanungo: I suppose that your point is understood. For this purpose the Criminal Procedure Code has to be amended.

Shri Rohit Manushankar Dave: On page 5 of the memorandum it has been stated that some of the provisions of the amending Bill are meant take away the rights to of the shareholders. Tt hes also been argued that it bluow mean a curtailment of the rights of the shareholders. May I know from the witnesses whether, as practical businessmen, they have come across any instances where because of the peculiar nature of the shareholdings and the discretion thereof and because of the peculiar nature of voting at. the shareholders' meeting, they have felt that there are cases in which the shareholders' meeting is not a proper forum to safeguard the interests of a sufficient number of shareholders and in which case some supervising authority is necessary in order to see that these interests are safeguarded?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: In the first place the Companies Act contains provisions for regulating the voting rights of the various categories of That is a shareholders. safeguard by itself. As regards instances where the shareholders' privilages are being taken away, according to the present statute the minimum remuneration of Rs. 50,000 can be paid to the managing agents by the company. An attempt is now being made to regulate that privilage of the shareholders and give that privilege to Government.

Actually in the administration of the Companies Act, 1956, cases have also arisen and I can relate it from my personal experience where although the companies were prepared to sanction this amount. of Rs. 50.000, the Company Law Administration with the privilege of renewing the agency agreement made it a condition that they were prepared to renew the managing agency agreement provided they would reduce this Rs. 50,000 to a lower figure. In certain instances the varving of the amount went by a pair of scales, that instead of Rs. 50,000 we will sanction Rs. 45,000.

These cases came before the Advisory Committee also. These are cases where the voting rights could not be said to be controlled. This is an instance of a *bona fide* nature. This is an instance where the rights and privileges should be left to the shareholders to be regulated by themselves.

Shri Nityanand Kanungo: That means the Advisory Committee is not an adequate safeguard?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: I will put it in a different way. Actually, when the Company Law Technical Advisory Committee was formed I had my fears about it. I felt that the utility and value of the Commission should not be jeopardised. Today, the position is that the functions of the Advisory Commission have been limited to an extent.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Not in the least.

Shri Dave: Assuming that the Company Law Administration is not in a position to safeguard the interests of the shareholders, have you got any other suggestion whereby these interests in case they are jeopardised are safeguarded?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: Taking more powers for Government is not a solution for this.

Shri Dave: What else is the solution?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: Our solution is to give more scope for the shareholders.

Chairman: He means educating the shareholders so that they may be aware and conscious of their rights.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: Taking more powers every time and vesting them in the executive is hardly a useful solution. It only creates vested interests.

Shri A. C. Guha: Continuing the same issue raised by my hon. friend on my left, will the witness be good enough to say whether he has come across cases where some speculators might have cornered some shares of the company and in the shareholders' meeting have forced something which is not to the interests of the company as a whole or to the interests of the shareholders also?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: There is provision in the existing Act. Government have got adequate powers in their hands. See section 409.

Shri A. C. Guha: I think there have been instances where in Calcutta, and maybe in Bombay also, Government have not been able to prevent such undesirable activities of speculators.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: In such cases Government may not have thought it desirable to do so.

Shri A. C. Guha: If Government have sufficient powers why should they have incorporated these new provisions in the Bill?

Chairman: This should not be argued with the witnesses.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: So far as Bombay is concerned, we do not know of any such instances as the hon. Member has pointed out.

Chairman: In Bengal, or any other place than Bombay, such cases might have arisen.

Shri A. C. Guha: Another matter raised here is about private companies holding shares in public companies. Does the witness not know that some private companies have controlled many public companies?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: This question is rather complicated. What we are discussing is if a private company gets investment from a public company, then should not that private company be treated as a public company. If a private company controls a public company I do not think that question arises from this section. It is difficult to answer how a private compnay can be prevented from controlling a public company if the public company is small and the private company has chosen to invest a large amount in that public company. This section does not apply to that.

What the memorandum emphasises is this that if a private company invests in a private company, then it should not be treated as a public company. If a private company is treated as a public company and if the public investment goes down then a new complication will arise as to whether that private company should continue to be treated as a public company or again it should revert as a private company. A variety of complications would arise when a new idea is introduced in this manner.

Shri A. C. Guha: There are private companies which control many public companies. Why should general exemptions be given to private companies?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: The whole principle is this that Government have allowed private companies. and Government have allowed public companies. The functions, or the regulations affecting the two are different. And it is not the intention of the Government, by this amending Bill, to eliminate private companies. A private company gets investment from a limited number of people and amongst them another private company may be investing. Therefore it would not be right to treat a private company differently simply because another private company is investing in it. Government wants to safeguard the interests of the public as a whole. If the public as a whole are not coming to invest in a private company, I do not see how the public interests can be affected by the investment of a private company in a private company.

Shri A. C. Guha: A private company is given certain exemptions in the expectation that it would limit its operations also and not extend them beyond certain limits. But when the private company goes on investing in further private companies, does it not come within the purview of public companies, as a result of the extension of operations beyond certain limits?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: So long as a private company invests in another private company, it does not mean that public interests are involved. There may be two private companies, just like there may be two individuals.

Pandit D. N. Tiwary: Please refer to the last paragraph on page 5 about the creation of a fresh advisory committee. It has been suggested in the memorandum that the present Advisory Commission or the Technical Advisory Committee does not serve the purpose. What is the sort of organisation you want, and with what power and constitution?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: The recommendations of the Bhabha Committee were clear on this point, namely, to have a central authority which would serve as an independent authority with some semi-judicial powers. I think my friend who was a Member of this Committee may be able to enlighten the Committee further on this point.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: The recommendation of the Bhabha Committee was of a crucial nature. The Bhabha Committee recommended the institution of a central authority of an independent nature. in which authority the public would have full confidence; and instead of centralising all power in the hands of Government it was thought desirable then to make a recommendation that there should be an independent body on the lines of what is obtaining in the United Kingdom, something like the Board of Revenue which we have today and which functions more or less as an independent authority and is not an administrative unit of the Government of India, as we understand it. The institution of a central authority of that nature would inspire confidence in the minds of the public. It would also be able to

safeguard the interests of the individual shareholders, and with that confidence it would be able to administer the Company Law in a much better manner.

Shri Nityanand Kanungo: May I interrupt the witness for a minute? This recommendation of the Bhabha Committee was discussed by the Select Committee and Parliament and it was rejected.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: That is history, Sir. Still we feel that that recommendation is a recommendation which weighs with the Indian Merchants' Chamber.

**Pandit D. N. Tiwary:** What will be the difference or distinction between the present Advisory Commission together with the Technical Advisory Committee and the new organisation that you have proposed?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: We would have to revert to the advantages of a central authority of an independent nature. This is a very wide issue. Unless the desire of the Committee is to discuss the merits and demerits of a central authority, the considered opinion and the humble opinion of the Merchants' Indian Chamber is that the constitution of a central authority is certainly something much superior to having an Advisory Commission or a Technical Advisory Committee.

**Pandit D. N. Tiwary:** Please refer to page 22 (clause 77) and page 23 (clause 80). In case it is feared that there would be interpolations or destruction of records, they have suggested that companies should be given the opportunity to represent their case. In that case it will certainly take time and in the meanwhile the registers may be destroyed or interpolations made. What safeguards do they suggest in this respect?

**Chairman:** The hon. Member says that you have suggested that an opportunity should be given to the company to show cause etc. In the meanwhile, he says, that these documents might be destroyed as notice is given and the show-cause time is given. What safeguard do you suggest for that?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: An undertaking can be taken from that company.

**Chairman:** Why should they? The danger is there that the documents might be destroyed or done away with.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Suppose there is a frivolous complaint by somebody and on that complaint an application is made.

**Chairman:** Another witness gave the answer—I think that was a plausible answer—that the courts have authority to give interim orders and then decide the issue.

Shri Nityanand Kanungo: I think Shri Bharucha threw that suggestion to the witnesses.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: There have been cases where these officers may be Income-tax officers where omnibus orders have been issued and papers have been asked for. And when companies have contended, the courts have given orders restricting them. So, when such cases 070 there of omnibus orders, it is but fair, in the name of justice, that the other party should be immediately called and given a chance.

Shri Nityanand Kanungo: That is within the discretion of the court.

**Pandit D. N. Tiwary:** In that case there is fear of misuse of power. If we take it as a general rule, then no law can be made.

**Chairman:** There may be extreme cases on both sides. We have known the point of view of the witness. Why should we labour the point further? Let us go to the next point.

Shri R. G. Saraiya: May I supplement the reply given by my friend? There have been cases of mass raids, in regard to Sales Tax, of whole localities. We have written this on the basis of experience; it is not based on irrational fear of the Government.

Shri Kanungo: And there have been cases of companies destroying the document.

Shri R. G. Saraiya: As the Chairman said, there are extreme cases on both sides. We want protection against both.

Shri Somani: I want to raise the point that was raised earlier by Shri Guha in regard to the cornering of shares. Where an existing managing agent is holding 5 or 10 per cent of the shares of the company and 90 per cent is in the market, if somebody acquires 60 per cent of the shares. what policy will the witness advocate-whether Government should step in or whether the existing managing agents with 5 per cent shares should continue to manage the company?

Lalchand Hirachand: The Shri principle in the management of a company is that the selection made by the shareholders should prevail. If the company's shares are held to the extent of 60 per cent by somebody, naturally, he will be guiding the policy—unless it is found by the shareholders that dishonesty is being practised. There are ample provisions in the existing Act whereby such dishonesty can be prevented. And the management knows fully well that the Government can step in and bring that management to book, under the present rules and laws. Even those laws are very severe in several cases.

So, there is no point in extending or giving increased powers to the Government. The principle is there that the shareholders as far as possible manage their own affairs.

Shri Somani: Regarding clause 15 relating to private companies, I would like to have some more elucidation. You know that the Company Law Amendment Committee has said that where any private company employs public capital directly or even indirectly, that private company should be put under certain restrictions. What is your reply to that recommendation of that committee?

Lalchand Shri Hirachand The Chamber's view has been that where public capital is invested to any appreciable extent. then. to that extent, a private company may be treated as a public company. In the memorandum, they have suggested that instead of 25 per cent investment, 33-1|3 per cent, basing on other provisions, may be treated 20 the criterion for consideration 1 private company as a public the company.

But the Chamber do not agree with the view or with the provisions of the Bill that when a private company invests in a private company, that should be treated as a public company; nor does the Chamber agree that investment in the forms of loans or bonds should be treated as investment; only share capital, and mainly equity capital, should be the basis of this consideration.

Shri Somani: May I take it that you mean that any advances or loans by banks or any other capital that comes into the hands of the private company should not be taken into eonsideration for treating it as a public company, because that capital can be recalled by the bank at any moment, and in that sense, therefore, this cannot be called as a public company?

## Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: Yes.

Chairman: The question has given the answer also.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: The answer will be of a different nature. I shall give the answer in quite a different way.

Chairman: The way might be different, but the answer would be the same. Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: The nature of the answer also may be different. May I attempt it?

**Chairman:** Yes. I said it only by the way.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: We are making a distinction between the share capital and the borrowings for the simple reason that if we extend the principle to borrowings. everv individual or every partnership. unless it does business with its own capital, will be a public undertaking. The extension of this principle to borrowings will go to that sort of peculiar interpretation that every undertaking or every business. whether it is a corporate body OT not, will become a public undertaking or a public body.

Shri Nathwani: May I take up this last point? Shri G. P. Kapadia has suggested that if borrowings were to be taken into consideration in deciding the character, namely whether it is public or private then individuals and even partnerships would amount undertakings. But to public in those cases. the fundamental difference is that they are of 110limited liability. If an individual borrows or a partnership borrows. there the liability is unlimited. But here it is limited: and this is a great advantage which the companies enjoy.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: You have made the exact point which I am trying to make; inasmuch ۵e while in the case of the partnership. the share in the partnership is the substance of his ownership of the and in the case of the business. individual, he is the owner of the business of all the moneys, subject to liabilities, similarly, the ownership a private limited company is of related to the shareholdings and not to the borrowings.

**Shri Nathwani:** I have not been able to follow. If we were to take into consideration the borrowings of a private company from several sources, then, you say, that even in

the case of an individual ٥r partnership, because they borrow from outside, it amounts to a public undertaking But what is the difference then? Here, we want to subject it to certain restrictions, and provide that the company should comply with certain provisions. That is the only object here. The reason for our doing so is that it is a question of limited liability.

Shri Gonaldas P. Kanadia: Whether it is a corporate body or a partnership or an individual, the share capital in the case of a company, or the capital contributed by the partnerships or the the individuals represents ownership interest, and the borrowliabilities will represent the ings whether it is an individual. ٥r it is a partnership, whether ٥r whether it is a limited liability company.

Shri Nathwani: In reply to a question put by Shri Morarka, the witness Shri Saraiya stated that the objection to declaring dividends after prodepreciation as provided viding for 350 was this that new in section companies embarking ventures or upon expansion programmes would not be able to declare dividends, and therefore the shareholders may not get any return for some years to come. Did I understand him properly?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: Yes.

Shri Nathwani: Is that the only objection?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: That is the main objection.

Shri Nathwani: What is the other objection?

Shri E. G. Saraiya: The other objection is that the indirect effect of that would be that the enterprises would not be able to collect capital, once it is found that any new ventures do not give proper returns.

Shri Nathwani: That is connected. with the first objection, and it flows from that, that because there would **be no** return, therefore, there would be no inducement for the investors to come forward.

Shri R. G. Saraiya: Both for investment and expansion.

Shri Nathwani: But the main thing is that there would be no return, and, therefore, there would be no inducement. But will you kindly turn your attention to section 208? Will that not meet the eventuality which you contemplate? Section 208 amply provides for the contingency which is visualised by you.

The section reads thus:

"Where any shares in a company are issued for the purpose of raising money to defraying the expenses of the construction of any work or building or the provision of any plant,....the company may—

 (a) pay interest on so much of that share capital as is for time being paid up, for the period and subject to the conditions and restrictions mentioned in sub-sections
 (2) to (7)......"

So, even if there is no profit, and, therefore, no dividend can be declared, still the shareholders would be able to get interest at the rate of four per cent per annum.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: In the first place, this refers to the power of the companies to pay interest on their capital; and what we are talking of is not payment out of capital but out of the gross profits of the company which is quite a different thing. Again, the restriction of 4 per cent is there.

Shri Nathwani: First of all, it was stated that during a long period, the shareholders would not be able to get anything, though the venture is a sound one and would ultimately thrive and would be able to pay. In the interregnum there would be no return or yield to the shareholder. But that is fully provided for in section 208. They are contemplating a case where the concern is a sound one and where the moneys are required for expansion and the only question is paying some interim remuneration or interest.

**Chairman:** Four per cent may not be enough inducement; according to the witness, it may be as good as nothing.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Not only that; the other objection is that section 208 provides for payment out of capital.

Shri Nathwani: Ultimately, in the case which we are contemplating, there would be enough resources available at the end of a certain period. We want to satisfy the shareholder during the period during which the company acquires a certain prosperous condition.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: There is another thing. If you look at subsection (3) of section 208, it provides for the written sanction of Government.

**Shri Nathwani:** Certainly; Government would exercise its discretion properly. You know the natural presumption is that Government would exercise its powers properly.

**Chairman:** The witness tries to free himself from the fetters that are imposed.

Shri Nathwani: What I am trying to show is that in a genuine case there would be no difficulty.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: I would like to mention one point here. Under section 208 Government have gone to the extent of allowing 4 per cent out of capital. That means that Government want to be more liberal; while the new clause is trying to restrict payment even out of gross profits of the company. Now, the liberal provision in section 208 is being restricted by the substitution of this clause.

Shri Mazumdar: We are not substituting it. Shri Lalchand Hirachand: Here you are introducing a restriction on payment out of gross profit whereas under the existing provision you have allowed payment out of capital if the gross profits are not there.

**Chairman:** The witness says that when you have got that liberal provision why should you have any strictness here?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: When you are prepared to give a liberal provision, there is no point in restricting this.

Shri Nathwani: As regards private companies being treated as public companies you have agreed that the test should be that if public monyes flow into private companies, then. they should be deemed to be public companies-flowing into share capital, of course. Now. it is proposed by your association that holdings of private companies should not be consideration. But is taken into there not the danger of a public company holding shares in a private medium company through the of private companies?

I can give you an instance. Suppose X is a private company. There are two other private companies Y and Z holding shares in X company. According to you, the holdings of the private companies Y and Z should be excluded and they should not be converted into a public limited company.

There is another company A, a public limited company, which holds shares in both Y and Z to the extent of 20 per cent so that Y and Z are not public limited companies. Therefore, through the nuclia of Y and Z companies which are private, A company does hold indirectly shares in X, a private company. If you exclude the holdings of private companies there is the danger of the provision being circumvented by public companies lending through private companies.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: This czpression of 'danger' means that you are suggesting legislation for individual cases. I do not think it is the intention of the Legislature to pass legislation for individual, hypothetical and very extreme cases.

**Shri Nathwani:** If you do not like the word 'danger'. I won't use it. But there is the possibility of the law being circumvented in this manner.

Shri Khandubhai K. Desai: In the absence of compulsory normal depreciation before paying dividends, most of the concerns have come to grief. You know that; it was so in the case of textile mills.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: No.

Shri Khandubhai K. Desal: According to my information, most of the textile mills.....

**Chairman:** The answer is 'No' according to the witness.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: Most of the textile mills have already provided all the depreciation.

Shri M. P. Bhargava: On page 30 about clause 200—you say that the new clause 629A will be against the fundamental principles of jurisprudence. It is a question of taking residuary powers. In almost of all statutes residuary power is taken. How do you say that it would be against the fundamental principles?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: The objection is against the approach. If every default in compliance with the provisions of the law were to be made a criminal offence, then, we would be living in a police State. If we want to penalise there should be a specific provision and not that every default may be made a criminal offence. An omnibus provision like this would not find a place in comparative legislation anywhere else.

**Chairman:** Would you be satisfied if the penalty is given in every clause instead of putting it that every default will be punished?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: The question is whether you want every noncompliance to be into an offence as it is purported to be done now. **Chairman:** Then the question comes to this. There are certain defaults or offences which are only technical. You want that there should not be a penal provision for that. Is that the objection?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Every default is not necessarily a technical default and every default is not necessarily a criminal offence. It depends on the circumstances of each case. In certain cases it may be a technical default which can be proved to be so but still it would be a criminal offence according to the provision.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: Nowhere in the world have they got such an omnibus clause as this.

Shri Mazumdar: Section 46 of the Banking Companies Act provides exactly for the same thing.

Shri P. T. Leuva: There might be companies in which the branch offices might be transacting business which might be more or less as substantial as the business of the head office itself. In that event would it not be necessary to audit the accounts of the private companies?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: That is exactly the point which was referred to when the question of body corporate was being discussed. It is very difficult to say that a particular branch enters into the same or substantially the same business which the company does. What are the normal operations of a company? The manufacture of goods; the purchase of raw materials: the sale of finished products and placing of orders in respect of all things and activities that are carried on in the course of busi-Now, what happens in the ness. branch offices? A branch office as such would be of a different type. A branch described as such may be doing the work of purchasing raw materials as well as the sale of finished products. Or, it may be a mere purchasing centre; it may be a mere sales centre. It is only at the head office that the board of directors, the managing agents and the officials of the company

function and where the business of the company is conducted, and it is not possible to say with a degree of accuracy that the same activity or substantially the same activity that is carried on by the company at the head office with its board of directors and managing agents and officials will be carried out at some other place. It will be to a very limited extent.

Shri P. T. Leuva: My point was quite different. What I said was this: assuming that the business is carried out at the branch office, the business being substantially of the same nature, the volume of business of a branch office is the same as that in the head office. So, will you not think it desirable to audit the branch office accounts? I am assuming that the same nature of business is carried out.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: I do not agree with the assumption that the branch office will be carrying out the same activity as in the head office. It will be of a very restricted nature.

Shri P. T. Leuva: Assuming that for the purposes of argument the branch office is deemed to be a branch office because it is carrying out substantially the same type of business as in the head office, then, I am asking the question as to whether it is not desirable to audit the accounts of a branch office if the volume of business is to such an extent and corresponds: to that which is carried on in the head office. I am putting the question in so far as the volume of business is concerned.

Chairman: That comparison might be left out. The hon. Member wants to know this: there are certain branches that are doing large amount of business. That will be conceded, I think.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: That is why the existing Act says, and contains a definition, namely, that a branch is described as a branch by the company.

**Chairman:** It should depend upon the company—whether the company dubs or describes a branch as a branch or not. But the hon. Member says that when there are branches and when it is conceded that they are doing a large volume of business, is it not desirable that they should be audited.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: As I pointed out earlier, it is very difficult to take into consideration the various factors and describe a particular place as a branch in an artificial manner. You cannot give an artificial definition to a place of business and call it a branch. A branch is a branch provided all the things that flow from the head office are there.

Chairman: Your objection is that though there would be certain branches that would be doing large amount of business, if this provision is adopted, even smaller branches which are doing very restricted business would also come under those restrictions and would cause hardship. Is that your view?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: In addition, there will be purchasing centres or sales offices and there is ohly a partial activity which is not related to the whole activity and they may come within the definition of a branch.

Shri P. T. Leuva: May I know the criterion which is being adopted and which might be adopted by the witness for describing a particular place as a branch office? They say that if the company says that a particular place should be a branch office, that would become a branch office. What is the criterion on which you describe a particular place as a branch office?

**Chairman:** According to the witness it is very difficult to define it.

Shri P. T. Leuva: They say that under the present Act if a particular place is described by the head office of the company as the branch office, it becomes a branch office. May I know what is the criterion for them to describe a particular place as a branch office?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: Under the definition, they rope in the branches of a banking company because it is only with respect to banking companies where the same or substantially the same activity as that of the head office is carried on can obtain. In respect of non-banking companies doing normal business of other types, it is very difficult to describe them as branches and the definition of a branch as such can be extended only to banking companies.

Shri P. T. Leuva: My question has not been still answered. What I wanted to know is, what is the criterion adopted by the companies today for the purpose of describing a particular place as a branch.

Shri R. G. Saraiya: Could it not be left to the discretion of the shareholders who are ultimately the judges?

**Chairman:** That is an admission of inability to define it!

**Shri P. T. Leuva:** They must be having certain criteria in order to define a particular place as a branch.

**Chairman:** The witness says that only in the case of banking companies it can be described. In the case of others, it cannot be done. Whether we accept it or not is a different thing.

Shri P. T. Leuva: Is it the view of the witness that no other industrial concern has ever established a branch and described it as a branch in its articles of association?

**Chairman:** They have been doing it at their discretion. There are no criteria which the witness can give at present to us.

**Shri R. G. Saraiya:** It is very difficult to give a hard and fast definition?

Shri P. T. Leuva: My question related to the volume of business. That has not been answered still. If the volume of business in a branch is as big as that of the head office, may I know whether it would not be desiable to audit its accounts?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: I leave that judgment to the shareholders.

Shri P. T. Leuva: I want to know whether it is desirable or not. I am not asking who should have that power? We will decide about the power. I am asking whether it would be desirable to audit the accounts of such branch offices?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: If the hon. Member means other activities such as the purchase or sale of raw material as well as finished products and other incidental activities which the head office is carrying on and if that volume of business is as that of the head office, then the head office will cease to be the head office.

Shri P. T. Leuva: How will it cease to be the head office? Are there not instances where the registered office of a company is situated in a small village and the main business is carried on somewhere else?

**Chairman:** I would advise the hon. Member to go to the next point. We will draw our own conclusion and inferences from the answers given.

Shri P. T. Leuva: I will take up clause 15 relating to section 43A. So far as the question of investment by public companies in a private company is concerned, will you accept this position that such private companies might be treated as public companies? Suppose the public limited companies have invested a share capital to the extent of 25 per cent.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: 33-1/3 per cent.

Shri P. T. Leuva: I am confining myself to the present provision as is in the amending Bill. Will you accept this position, because 25 per cent and 33-1|3 per cent do not make much difference between them. Will you accept this principle that if money is invested by a public limited company in a private limited company, such a private limited company might be treated as a public limited company? For the present I am leaving out the question of a private limited company investing in another private limited company.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: That has been accepted.

Shri P. T. Leuva: Now, am I right if I assume that you accept the position that if monies are invested by a public limited company in a private limited company,.....

**Chairman:** When once the confession or acceptance of the witness is made, we should accept it. Does the hon. Member want the witness to rescind from what he has said?

Shri P. T. Leuva: I thought that the witness did not follow my proposition.

**Chairman:** Then it is all the good for us, because he admits it and it goes on the record.

Shri P. T. Leuva: I do not want the witness to remain in doubt.

**Chairman:** All the four gentlemen present here gave that advice to the witness who answered it.

Shri P. T. Leuva: If a public limited company invests money to the extent of 25 per cent in the share capital of a private limited company, you accept that such a private limited company should be treated as a public limited company.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: That is right with this limitation that there should be a substantial amount.....

Shri P. T. Leuva: 33-1|3 per cent.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: Yes.

Shri P. T. Leuva: If a private company and a public limited company together invest more than 25 per cent of the share capital of a private limited company, will you accept that private limited company to be (a public limited company?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: Of course not. It is a wrong idea to say that if one individual and one public company invest 25 per cent, it should be taken as a public company. That is not the idea; private company is a private company and a public company is a public company. What we have accepted is if a public company invests to the extent of 33-1|3 per cent of the share capital, then only it will be treated as a public company.

Shri P. T. Leuva: I know what is stated in your memorandum. The principle of this amending Bill is that we do not want that there should be too much concentration of economic power in a few hands. That is one of the reasons why such a provision is being made. When a public limited company has invested money in the share capital of a private limited company, you accept the position that such a private limited company be treated as a public company. But if a public limited company and a private limited company together invest. what is your objection to that company being treated as a public limited company?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: I have already explained the objection. A private company is a private company and it cannot be combined with a public company. The two ideas are quite different.

Shri P. T. Leuva: You are also making a private company a subsidiary of a public limited company and that subsidiary becomes a public limited company because it is the subsidiary of a public limited company. That position is being accepted. The difference between this and the subsidiary company is that the share capital which is invested by the public company is less and that is why you are objecting to it. But if you invest 51 per cent of the share capital, then it becomes a public limited company, even though it is a private limited company.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: I do not understand how this idea of restricting economic holding comes into this. When a public company invests Rs. 33,000 in a Rs. 1 lakh company, that becomes a public company. It has nothing to do with restricting concentration of power.

Shri P. T. Leuva: A public limited company, which has a share-capital of Rs. 1 lakh, may have financial resources of Rs. 1 crore. That does not mean that it can invest only to the extent of Rs. 33,000. Shri Lalchand Hirachand: When it is a public company whose capital is distributed among a large number of people, it does not mean concentration of power in a few hands.

Shri P. T. Leuva: Power is concentrated, though money may not be concentrated.

Please turn to pages 12 and 13 witnesses regarding clause 53. The will accept that the law has treated the contracts made by directors on a separate footing. That is why special provision is made under section 297. Those contracts are registered in a register maintained for that purpose. What is your objection to filing the resolution in which the consent of the Board of Directors is given? There are certain contracts in which the directors are interested for which the sanction of the Board of Directors is necessary and a resolution is passed. What is your objection to filing that resolution with the Registrar?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: We have already explained it and there is no point in repeating it. Any shareholder can inspect not only the resolution but even the contract itself. Where is the point in saying that X, Y or Z, who has no interest in the management of that company, should try to peep into somebody else's business. It is absolutely undesirable.

Shri P. T. Leuva: The reason for filing this resolution with the Registrar is to find out whether the particular director is taking any undue advantage of his position or not. That is the main reason, because in a public limited company, not only are the members interested, but the public also are interested.

Shri R. G. Saraiya: This matter has been fully answered. In the first place, we feel that this is an unnecessary addition to the work of the company and of the administration. The Chamber thought that the total implication of all this legislation will really add to the cost of running public companies as well as the company law administration. This will be one further addition to the total cost. The other point is that information of a secret nature may pass on to competitors. Whether to accept it or not, it is for Government to decide.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: The Registrar has the right to call for these papers if he feels doubtful. What is the fun in sending each and every paper or resolution to the Registrar?

Shri P. T. Leuva: Please turn to page 21, regarding clause 76 you say:

"Section 234 of the Act is proposed to be amended with a view to empower the Registrar to call for and inspect such books of accounts, etc. as he might require in relation to the documents filed with him as well as in cases of complaints by a member or creditor."

Under section 234, formerly the Registrar had no power to ask for documents, books of accounts, etc. His only power was to ask for explanation and information. Now section 234 is sought to be amended. What objection have you got if the power of calling for books of accounts and documents is exercised by the Registrar when a complaint is made by a member or a creditor?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Section 234 of the existing Act empowers the Registrar to call for information or explanation and that completely protects the Registrar's powers. For what purpose do you want more powers? We are not in favour of the extension of his powers.

Shri P. T. Leuva: Your grievance is that the Registrar should not be empowered to call for documents and books of accounts in-case a complaint is lodged with him by a creditor or member. But this power is concomitant to the power given in subclause (1). The provision is already there under section 234 that on a complaint made by a creditor or member, the Registrar can ask for explanation and information.

Shri P. T. Leuva: The power is the same so far as the complaint is concerned, whether the complaint is made by the member or the creditor, or the registrar on the basis of documents filed for it.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We are not in favour of such powers.

Shri P. T. Leuva: The registrar should not exercise such powers.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Yes. Sir.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: I come to page 2 of your Memorandum. You are agreeable to the recommendation of the Committee.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: No.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: Page 5. You have said that the conferring of rights on Government is against the rights and privileges of the shareholders, but you are aware that once you have got 51 per cent of shares, you can do anything.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: That is not correct. In many cases, a special resolution means 75 per cent majority and in many cases we have to take the sanction of the Government. It is not that with 51 per cent shares you can do whatever you like.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: If something is being done which may be wrong, the minority sharehouders may protest against it.

**Shri Tanubhai D. Desai:** There are enough provisions in the existing Act. One can refer to sections 397-398 and 408-409.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: Page 8, that is about clause 9. Will you please specify the sections that you want to be exempted from?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: In actual practice, insurmountable difficulties have been experienced by associations of trade and industry and other Chambers of Commerce and other people where the Directors have to be elected and a very complicated procedure has to be resorted to.

**Chairman:** The question put was, which are the sections that you wanted to be exempted from. That is the question.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: It would run to a number of sections. I would say with regard to the election of the Board of Directors, with regard to the filing of the statements of Directors' interests. Now, if I am a member of the Committee of a Chamber of Commerce or of a particular trade association. I have to disclose the particulars relating thereto and I have also to find out the position with regard to the election. Actually, all these sections have been enumerated in clause 9 of the Bill. They are all enumerated there. The difference is between giving Government power to exempt as against having a statutory provision, because every trade organisation or Chambers of Commerce has found it difficult in carrying on its ' usual activities. Therefore, exemption should be granted by the Act. That is our request.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: Page 24, clause 104. You are agreeable to this clause being there provided, as you have suggested, the draft notification is placed before Parliament for approval. That is a very important clause.

#### Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Yes.

**Shri T. S. A. Chettiar:** You are agreeable to that clause being passed with this proviso.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Yes, we have said it so.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: There was a great deal of discussion about depreciation. Do you agree to the principle that depreciation should be provided before profits are given?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: This has been discussed already. In certain cases depreciation cannot be provided by stages and still shareholders would require to be paid some dividend and, therefore, it should be permitted to give a dividend from the gross profit even without providing full depreciation, provided a note is made in the balance-sheet to the effect that the short-fall in depreciation will be carried forward.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: There are people who agree that the depreciation should be provided, but the manner in which depreciation should be paid is under dispute. Have you any definite suggestions to make as to in what manner depreciation should be made. For example, it may be straight-line method, or it may be on the basis of income-tax scales.

Shri E. G. Saraiya: We are not discussing the whole problem of depreciation. I do not think this is the proper forum. For the purpose of this Memorandum, we are agreeable to the manner in which the depreciation has been allowed in the income-tax law. The only thing is that where the normal depreciation has not been provided. that statement should be made in the books of account of the company. The dividend may be distributed even if the normal depreciation is not provided. We are not discussing the question of manner of providing depreciation. That should be left according to the existing law.

Shri Tangamani: Yesterday vou made it perfectly clear that you resented any inspection by the registrar and also seizure of documents by inspectors if so authorised by the court. What I would like to know is, clause 76, to which some reference has already been made, merely empowers the Registrar to call for and inspect such books of account etc, as he might require in relation to the documents filed with him as well as in cases of complaints by a member or creditor. You know, in similar circumstances, a trade union which is registered. has to submit annual returns. Even these trade unions are subject to inspection.

Can you advance any special reason why you resent even this kind of inspection by the registrar under clause 767

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: There is a distinction between the provisions of clause 76 and clause 77. With regard to clause 76, as it stands today in the draft, it may be possible for the Registrar to cover the grounds not relating to the documents and other papers filed. If it is an inquiry relating to the documents filed, the drafting should make it very clear that the inquiry of the Registrar should be limited to the documents and other papers which are required to be filed in respect of which the explanation has been received. It should not be a roving inquiry or inspection.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand; TP T understand the hon. Member rightly, his grievance is that since the Trade Union Act has a similar provision, why should it not be introduced in the Companies Act. My reply to that would be that we do not like this kind of a provision and if it is the grievance of the trade union, they should rather have the Trade Union Act amended rather than allowing such an objectionable provision to remain in that Act.

Shri Tangamani: On page 26, with regard to Clause 124, it is stated here that the new Section 325A prohibits a subsidiary of a body corporate from being appointed as Managing Agent. The reason advanced is that this point has not been convassed in the Shastri Committee. This is the reason why they are opposing the introduction of section 325A.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We do not see any objection in that. For instance there is a private company and there is a subsidiary company of that company. What is the objection of that subsidiary company being appointed managing agent? Shri Tangamani: Now I come to page 9. Many questions have already been asked regarding 43A. We can understand your point about private companies. But in the case of public companies you say if 25% is increased to 33°%, you will have no objection. Why are you so fond of 33%%?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: We have made it already clear. You please see the definition of the word "associate" where the idea of control comes. There  $30\frac{1}{8}$  % is stated to be the controlling idea.

Shri Tangamani: On page 14 of the memorandum you speak about the publication of Chairmen's speeches. Why are you very particular about Chairman's speech being published at the expense of the company?

**Chairman:** We had good elucidation on it.

### Shri Tangamani That was yesterday.

Shri R. G. Saraiya: We want it to be published because it gives a general account of the company with its economic background. It is a well-studied document.

Chairman: The answer is the same.

Shri Tangamani: About depreciation, on page 16 of your memorandum, I have not been able to follow the reasoning. Clause 62 refers to Section 350 of the Act. All that it states is that the normal depreciation provided for under the Income-tax Act alone should be considered, and not the initial depreciation, or the special depreciation, or any development rebate, or any arrears of depreciation. Are you opposing even normal depreciation being taken up first before the dividend is declared?

Shri R. G. Saraiya: We are not opposing. But we find that in actual practice a large number of new companies, and existing companies which are in the process of exemption are unable to provide even the normal depreciation, because the capital which is invested or the machinery which is erected does not yield manufactured products which can be sold. Therefore, profit is not made. The principle of normal depreciation is accepted but before the produce is sold or money made, in the meanwhile, some payment of dividend should be permitted.

Shri Tangamani: In the case of new companies, under the Income-tax Act, you will be allowed initial depreciation which will be more than the normal depreciation.

Shri R. G. Saraiya: Till you sell or make money, initial depreciation has often become ineffective or infructuous because the company does not earn enough to get exemption.

Shri J. S. Bisht: On page 15, regarding clause 59, you say in paragraph 2 that "Where it could not result in additional expenditure, the appointment of more than one type of managerial personnel should be allowed. My Committee would also like to point out that some of the State undertakings in this country as also concerns in foreign countries have more than one category of managerial personnel enumerated in this Section". Would you please explain which is the State undertaking which you refer to?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: So long as the ceiling of remuneration fixed by the legislature is not exceeded, what is the objection to employ whatever personnel is necessary for the company? So long as the objective of the legislature is not infringed, what is the objection of a company choosing its own method of management? There is also this difficulty. For example, even in public undertakings, there is a Managing Director, a Chairman, a General Manager, etc. If that is possible in a public undertaking, we do not see any reason why private enterprise alone should be stopped from choosing its own method of management and personnel and from paying its own remuneration.

Shri J. S. Bisht: Remuneration is fixed for the managing agent. Supposing there is also a Managing Director. There is no ceiling for him.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: 11% is the ceiling. Section 198 provides for that.

Shri J. S. Bisht: What is meant by 'more than one type'?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: There may be a Managing Director and there may be a Manager.

Shri Jadhav: What I have to say is based on your preliminary observations on page 4, paragraph 3.

Chairman: Why should the preliminary observations be made a subject of controversy?

Shri Jadhav: I want some clarification. You say that the Companies Act, 1956, contains a large number of provisions vesting in Government vast powers of interference in company management, in some cases, even in apparently minor matters. I want to know specific instances of this sort, specific instances of interference by Government.

Shri R. G. Saraiya: We have already given a reply to this, the question of remuneration, for example. When the proposal for minimum remuneration goes to the Government, it is reduced from 50,000 to 45,000 and from 40,000 to 30,000 and so on. So also is the question of appointment of Managing Directors.

**Chairman:** There are very many clauses and sections under which Government can interfere. Let us take up clause by clause.

Shri Jadhav: I only wanted to know whether their fears are imaginary ones.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: No.

Shri Jadhav: You are not able to quote instances.

Shri R. G. Saraiya: We will prepare a note on that if desired. It will be difficult to remember all of them.

873 L.S.-6.

Shri Jadhav: You are not afraid of the powers of the Government; but you are afraid of the inexperienced officers.

Shri E. G. Saraiya: Power is there and officers are bound to be both experienced and inexperienced, same as everywhere.

Shri Babubhai M. Chinai: From page 92 of the Bill you will find a reference to expenses under various heads. Salary and wages should be allocated to repairs account and figures allocated under each such head should also be indicated in the balance-sheet. Will Mr. Kapadia explain whether it is feasible and how you are going to do it?

Shri Gopaldag P. Kapadia: I have not been able to understand the implication of this provision. That is my difficulty. If the desire is to so allocate them to various heads of expenditure, then it would be necessary not only to take into account expenditure relating to the stores and other articles specified.

But then all the salaries of the management, the general overheads and other things will have to be pro rata casted and on the basis of such casting they will have to be added on to the different heads of expenditure with the result that there will be mothing like salary or wages, but everything will be cast under the various heads of expenditure. I do not think that is the desire to have it so wide. Is it the intention to restrict it or to make it wider. I should like to seek clarification and then give an answer.

Shri Masumdar: This is a matter of accounting procedure. This is based on the recommendation of the Shastry Committee. This is also based on the advice of another past President of the Institute of Chartered Accountants and Mr. J. D. K. Brown, who is also President of the Associated Chamber of Commerce. They said it would give a true and better picture of the affairs of the company than the present system. So it is a matter of difference between experts.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: The only submission I would make is that it will be of a very wide nature. Even in regard to the restricted nature of the approach I would like to make a cautious approach. It is difficult to make that sort of allocation and the company management and the auditors will find it a difficult task to make these allocations to the satisfaction of the administration. We have to examine all the implications.

Shri Chinai: Please refer to clause 9 of the Bill.

**Chairman:** Is he asking for clarification on the Bill or on the memorandum. We have to confine ourselves to the memorandum.

**Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia:** There is a mention of it in our representation also.

Shri Chinai: As a Chamber of Commerce registered under the Companies Act, have you experienced any difficulty in complying with the requirement of the Act? Do you feel some provisions of the Companies Act are not suited to the bodies constituted like you? What is the experience of your Chamber, particularly to amendments in clause 9? Will it remove the difficulty?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: This particular Chamber is not a limited liability company, but I happen to be a member of the Committee of the Federation of the Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry. I also happen to be the auditor of the East India Cotton Association, Ltd. From personal experience I can relate the difficulties of these two bodies which are generally experienced by all bodies of that nature.

So far as the Federation is concerned, by registration as a company it has landed itself into so many difficulties for disclosure of interest, for filing of documents for passing of accounts. We have to hold a meeting, prepare the accounts and submit them to the Board of Directors for their prior approval and then again have them adopted at the annual general meeting. Disclosure of interest has to be noted every time and communicated. This has resulted in such a difficult position that we would request the Joint Committee to examine the implications and see that all these restrictions are removed and so far as non-profit making bodies are concerned they are given statutory exemption.

For the East India Cotton Association the last election had to be postponed by several months—nearly 20 months—and they had to apply for special extension of time to the Registrar and with great difficulty they were able to get it.

**Shri Kanungo:** That was for different reasons.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: What was the other reason?

Shri Kanungo: The reason was that a new panel system of election came into force.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: That was one additional reason.

Even otherwise they had to face unsurmountable difficulties out of which they could not come out. Therefore a statutory exemption from all the requirements from the sections enumerated in clause 9 of the Bill should be given instead of leaving it to Government.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 7 of your memorandum; clause 2(a). Your Chamber objects to the widening of the definition of associates. Unless the definition was widened, how do you expect the provision to be foolproof?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: As it is it is wide and now it is sought to be made wider. If you see the wording it is liable to be interpreted in such a manner that it will create more confusion.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 15; clause 60; amending section 198 of the principal Act. This fixes the maximum limit of managerial remuneration and you very rightly observed that certain amenities such as cars provided for the benefit of company use should not be included in the remuneration of the director.

Now, could you tell me how would vou draw the line of distinction, or where to limit the allocation just as the Income-tax Department makes. Assuming for instance that a car is provided to a director of a company. The director also uses it for his private purpose. How would you draw the line in the case of amenities provided to directors, such as a car ostensibly for the benefit of the company of which domestic use is also made?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: The distinction will come in this way. You will have to make a distinction between a full-time employee and those directors who are not full-time employees.

**Shri Bharucha:** I have understood your point of view. What I want to know about is the drafting difficulty. How do you get over that?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: I would rather leave it to the Income-tax Administration to disallow a part of it and add it and not anything in the Companies Act.

Shri Bharucha: You will follow the income-tax method.

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: It will not be quite correct. If any benefit is given of a personal nature to a director, the Company law will automatically come through the incometax statute and there is therefore no need for a regulation in the Companies Act.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 16, clause 62, amending section 205 relating to depreciation. You have said that provision of depreciation, that is actual allocation of depreciation, must be left to the discretion of the director. Assuming for a moment that there is a dishonest director who wants to inflate the price of his holdings, he does not provide for depreciation for a number of years and gives dividends on a larger scale than would be warranted, with the object of having capital appreciation of his holdings, and leaving it to the subsequent people to provide for the back log of arrears of depreciation. How would you provide for such a case, if your suggestion is accepted?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: There is no such thing possible, because it is not in the hands of one man or one director. Moreover, it is for the shareholders to provide how the profits are to be distributed. The dividends are decided in a general meeting and not by the directors.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: After all, the auditors make a statement in the balance sheet that depreciation has not been provided or that adequate depreciation or less depreciation has been provided. Therefore, every shareholder and any person who wants to know the position of the company can see that statement and then decide whether any fraud is being done by not providing for depreciation or not.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I follow your point of view. Assuming for a moment that there is a foot-note saying that adequate depreciation has not been provided, what happens to the assets of the company when you keep on giving dividends without giving adequate depreciation for a number of years?

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: The assets as shown in the balance sheet will be at the value less depreciation.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: The point I am making is this. Assuming for a moment that there is a directorate which wants to defraud the public, acceptance of your suggestion leaves open the door of fraud on the public, and it is this way. Take a public company. The foot-note says that this year the depreciation is not adequate. But after all, the public judge about the prices of shares on the basis of the dividends; they do not go deeply into the other details. And the dividends are kept at a higher rate by not providing for depreciation from year to year. If your suggestion is accepted, the possibility of fraud on the public exists. How would you safeguard that?

**Chairman:** The answer of the witness was that because the auditor has certified that there has been adequate depreciation provided....

**Shri Naushir Bharucha: Even where** it is not provided, still the dividend must be given.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: May be given.

Shri Naushi<sub>r</sub> Bharucha: You may exercise your right.

**Chairman:** When there is a certificate, the shareholder will come to know of it.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: There is an express note in the balance sheet.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: After all, by and large, the masses of the shareholders go by the declaration of dividend while buying shares.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: Not necessarily.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: They do not minutely look into the other details.

Shri Lalchand Hirachand: The feeling that the prices of shares are regulated only by dividends is not correct. And if perchance a single shareholder or a prospective purchaser may not see the balance sheet, the stock brokers do check all these balance sheets and they advise the prospective buyer. Therefore it would be incorrect to assume that mere dividends rule the prices of shares.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Then I come to page 18 of your memorandum with regard to the maintenance of the books of the company from the date of commencement of the Act. I quite see the force in your statement that it would amount to retrospective application of the new provision. Would it satisfy you if the provision is made that with effect from 1952 the books should be maintained? You are expected to maintain the books at least for three years. If the 1956 Act came into force on 1st April 1956, in that case you should be expected to have the books of 1952 by that time.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: You cannot make a rule of that kind. You are assuming that because the 1956 Act came into force on 1st April 1956, therefore there was a statutory obligation like this.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Not a statutory obligation; but you are expected to preserve the books at least for three years.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: The question is of being treated as defaulters.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Would you be satisfied if it is like that, or would you like it to be eight years from 1956?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Eight years from 1959.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Then I come to page 22 of your memorandum, clause 79. That is about the examination of the employees of the company, to which you object. Do you suggest that an accountant who has made an entry should not be examined by the inspectors or any other authority?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We are not suggesting that. We are only pointing out that a wide power like that to examine the employees would lead to serious trouble; because, for example, the employees would be put in an awkward position. And apart from that, suppose there is an exaccountant who has been dismissed for certain reasons. He would come forward to make all sorts of allegations. Where is the limit?

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** If he is an ex-accountant and has been dismissed, he is not in your employment.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Suppose

there is an accountant who is prepared to give some information which is damaging, for some reason. Where is the line to be drawn in exercise of these powers? That is our main contention.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Then I come to page 23 of your memorandum. With respect to shares which are the subject of investigation you say that Government should not restrict the voting rights in respect of these shares Don't you think it would defeat the very purpose of the section which seeks to prevent the mischief as a result of those voting rights? It would then be a *fait accompli*.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Government has the power under section 409 to take necessary action preventing the transfer of management. Therefore, why should there be this kind of power interfering with the rights of voting?

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Please refer to page 24, clause 104. How do you propose to get over the difficulty of ceiling on managerial remuneration being circumvented or evaded by the device of sole selling agency?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: You are well aware that under the existing provisions no associate of the managing agents can at all be appointed as sole selling agent. So there is no question of evasion. He cannot be appointed sole selling agent.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Please refer to page 29, clause 147. You are referring to the liberty of the company to have executive officers who may be managers. What if a whole-time director is appointed under the guise of a manager? That would evade the provision of the Act. You simply label whole-time я director 28 Manager, exclude him from the operation of the Act and give him any salary.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: What we are trying to point out is that if you insist on a manager being approved by the Central Government before his appointment, it would lead to serious troubles with the management. For example, if a manager is appointed there is always a dispute as to whether he is a manager within the terms of the section or not. How will you get over that point?

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: I want to ask one question from Shri G. P. Kapadia. A suggestion has been made relating to the question of audits of branch offices. The suggestion is that if a proper change is made in sections 227 and 228 of the Act to the effect which may be somewhat on the lines adopted in the USA, that the company's auditor should satisfy himself regarding the adequacy of the system of internal audit in force throughout the company's organisation and should certify that he is so satisfied than in that case, if the auditor is prepared to give that certificate for the different branches of the company, would that be all right and suffice? How he will satisfy himself is a matter for him to decide. For example, if he audits one or two branches and feels satisfied that proper accounting is being maintained. and gives a general certificate, that should satisfy the Government, and it should be enough for our purposes. Will our auditors be prepared to undertake this responsibility, as they do in the USA?

Shri Gopaldas P. Kapadia: No, the matter will have to be viewed a bit cautiously, because the internal audit department in every organisation cannot be of the same nature. While in some instances it may be a perfect internal audit department, in several cases, it might be just a sort of check over particular items or particular transactions, and there cannot be any uniformity. Beyond that, the auditor of a company will not be able to vouch for the adequacy of the internal audit. The only opinion that he can communicate to Government would be that this is the set-up of the internal audit department, these are the functions which the internal audit department is performing, and in the performance of these functions, these

are the things which are likely to be checked, and these are the difficulties relating to the department owing to which a full check cannot be made. So, he will not be able to give a uniform certificate. The certification will also vary according to the set-up of the department.

Moreover, the internal audit as such in this country has not reached the perfection that is there in the USA. And unless we reach that stage, it would be a rather difficult attempt to make and having an internal audit department to be relied upon absolutely would also not be desirable from that point of view, because you would not get anything substantial. What you want is that the internal audit should be of that nature that the audit may not be conducted. Unless wo are able to ensure that, the objective which Government have in view will not stand fulfilled. So, the problem is a little different.

I am mentioning this as a past president of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The views of the Indian Merchants' Chamber in this respect may be communicated by the president of the chamber.

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: I asked you the question in that capacity of yours.

Chairman: Thank you.

(The Witnesses then withdrew)

# II. The Bombay Shareholders' Association, Bombay

Spokesmen:

1. Shri Jagdish J. Kapadia.

2. Shri Tanubhai D. Desai.

3. Dr. R. C. Cooper.

(Witnesses were called in and they took their seats).

Chairman: We have got your memorandum here, and you can presume that we have read all that is put down there. Have you anything further to say? Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We want to mention two or three important things which, we believe, have not been pointed out by other associations.

The first is about the question of the distribution of dividends before providing for depreciation. The Sharebolders' association is of the view that the imposition of the statutory obligation namely that full depreciation should be provided or the nominal depreciation of the year should be provided should not be there. The shareholders do feel that something should be allowed to be paid. The question may arise what the safeguard is against fraudulent companies or other companies paying dividends excessively.

We have made some suggestion in this behalf, and we want to elaborate that point to some extent. We have got evidence before us to show that the new companies which have now come up could only come up because they did pay dividends in spite of there being not enough profits for providing for depreciation. And we have got balance-sheets to show this, if only the learned Members of the Joint Committee would like to see the evidence of certain companies.

**Chairman:** Why should the witness say that he is pressing a point which has not been put forward by other associations or other witnesses? This point has been put forward before the committee by other witnesses as well.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: They have made it a question of principle. What we would point out is that the Shareholders' Association, which stands for the rights of the shareholders, does feel that the small shareholders are in need of even payment of dividends. A small shareholder who lives on dividends expects dividends to be regularly paid and the fact that in certain years, because of expansion, there should be no dividends would be harmful to the interests of the shareholders.

We have suggested a formula that in such cases the dividends should be restricted to 6 per cent of the paid-up capital and that, in future, whenever there is profit, the arrears of depreciation should be made up and until it is made up a limitation should be put on dividends—say 6 per cent. I do not think other associations have suggested that formula. What we want to emphasise is that.

We are pointing this out because we do feel that it would not be possible for new undertakings to pay dividends—also existing companies which take up schemes of expansion.

The second point which we want to emphasise is this. We have stated that there should be a scaling down of the Managing Agents commission. What we find is this. The existing Act provides for 10 per cent as the maximum. And, in most cases, the maximum has turned out to be the minimum. We want scaling down and we have suggested the basis of a sliding scale.

Shri Mazumdar: Can you give a list of companies which make more than one crore of profit.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We would be able to quote about 20 to 25 companies

Shri A. C. Guha: Is there any company getting a profit of more than Rs. 3 crores?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: There are companies; I can give the names. The Government have all the information, we believe.

Dr. R. C. Cooper: Our experience shows that there are several wellmanaged companies earning a profit of more than a crore of rupees which are managed by managing directors or full-time directors and the remuneration which is being paid in such cases comes to about 2 per cent of the profits; whereas in the case of managing agents it comes to about 10 per cent.

For instance in case of first class companies like Dunlops, Metal Box Company, and Lever Brothers which are not managed by managing agents but by full-time directors, there are profits of Rs. 170 lakhs or so and these men are paid on an average about 2 per cent.

In the case of the Scindia Steam Navigation Company the managing agency agreement has not been renewed since 1957. We have got comparative figures to show that since then as the company is being managed by full-time directors there has been very considerable drop in the remuneration—from about Rs. 25 lakhs to about Rs. 4 lakhs.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: There are also cases in which the managing agents of the holding company take about 10 per cent of commission from that company and also take 10 per cent on the basis of the profits of the subsidiary company. We are opposed to this because the same work is being done and double commission is being taken. We can show that. That is why we want to suggest that if the holding company has its managing agents the subsidiary company should not have managing agents.

The problem of the Tatas is quite different. In the Tata Group one of the private companies is the subsidiary of another private company. That is quite a different matter. What we are saying is that if there is a public compary and it is a subsidiary of arother public company, the managing agents of the holding company should not take commission from the holding company as well as from the subsidiary company as managing agents thereof. Therefore we say that there should be no managing agents appointed by the subsidiary company.

In this connection we would like to point out the example of the Premier Construction Company Ltd., which is one of the big companies in India. It holds as subsidiaries the Indian Hume Pipe Co., and the Hindustan Construction l.td. These are public companies. In addition to taking commission from the main company additional commission is being taken from the Indian Hume Pipe Co., and also from the Hindustan Construction Ltd

It may be interesting to you to note that that total dividend paid to the shareholders is less than the commission of the managing agents. We are only pointing out that this is undesirable from the point of view of the shareholders.

**Chairman:** Shri Bharucha says that it is an indication that it is very well managed.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We are only pointing out that the managing agents are getting commission in this manner.

Another important point is this. There is no provision whereby the rights of the founder shareholders are to be converted. Under the new Act there cannot be any deferred shares. There is no provision whereby it can statutorily be done. The existing shareholders insist on their rights. The Companies Act provides that there should be no disproportionate voting rights. For example, there are shares which have got special dividend rates-I would call them disproportionate. There is no procedure for converting these shares and equalising the capital. Then what will happen? The scheme for conversion of these rights can be on fantastic terms and may not go through even. The Company Law Administration knows all these difficulties.

Shri Mazumdar: We know it too well.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: That is why we are pointing out that there should be a procedure under the law by which these rights can be converted. That is what we are pointing out.

Another thing which we wanted to point is the one that relates to the increase of capital and issue of shares. We would like to refer you to section 81 of the Companies Act which provides that if new shares are increased, they must be offered to the existing shareholders pro rata but that right can be abrogated or affected by passing a resolution. That resolution would be an ordinary resolution. What we demand is that it should be a special resolution, because with the control of 51 per cent, the right can be abrogated to the shareholders prejudice. We find in certain cases that such resolutions are being passed to the detriment of the smaller shareholder. We might give the example of the Metal Corporation.

Shri Nathwani: What is the percentage  $\bullet$  of such cases where those shares are issued? In how many cases there has been a general resolution passed whereby that order which is indicated in section 81 is not followed. In how many cases has that rule not been observed. I would like to know that.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: There are some cases. I quoted the example of the Metal Corporation where it was recently done.

**Shri Nathwani:** I wanted to know whether that is done or not.

**Shri Tanubhai D. Desai:** I can only quote cases which have happened, and therefore we wish to safeguard by inserting a provision that there should be a special resolution and not an ordinary resolution.

These are main things which we wanted to point out.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: I would like to know your opinion regarding the subsidiary company of one company becoming managing agents of another' company just as in the case of Tata Sons and the Tata Industry. Could you enlighten us on that situation which is going to be abolished in the Bill?

Shri Jagdish J. Kapadia: Where the private companies are there, the shareholders are not affected at all, because the shareholders are generally in the public limited companies. That is why we do not have any objection in having a subsidiary of the private company becoming a managing agent of any other company.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: Public also?

Shri Jagdish J. Kapadia: Yes; in those subsidiary companies, the public are not at all interested.

Shri Chettiar: At page 2, it has been mentioned that while the dividends of the preference shareholders are being paid, the rights are not mentioned. What rights would you like to give to them?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: The preference shareholders have now no right to attend and speak, under the articles of association. We want them to have the right to attend and speak at the meetings. That is what we have said.

Shri Chettiar: You would like the publication of the President's or the Chairman's speech even at Government cost?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Yes; we are in favour.

Shri Chettiar: In clause 60, you have elaborated the fixation of remuneration at a lower rate. Would it be by statute or at the discretion of the administration?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Of course by the statute.

Shri Chettiar: Would you like these things to be mentioned in the statute? You think what you have mentioned is foolproof.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Not foolproof; but humanly foolproof. That would be the maximum ceiling.

Shri Chettiar: You will fix these as the maximum and allow the Company Law Administration to exercise their further discretion. That is your idea?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Yes; why not? We do not suggest that there should be the exact ceilings in all cases. These are the maximum in these cases.

**Shri Chettiar:** With regard to depreciation, you said that the ordinary shareholders would like to have the money back and the profits as soon as possible and that has been responsible

for building up your institutions. It is also not true that not providing for the depreciation is a big reason for many of the falls of your companies?

Dr. R. C. Cooper: We are not against the principle of depreciation being provided before dividend distributions are made. We are only suggesting in the case of new a modification industrial undertakings and other existing concerns which are having verv substantial expansion programmes. In such cases, if there is an expansion programme, much new capital has to be called for from the shareholders and if the expansion programme is going to take from three to six years, it is but fair that a reasonable return which the shareholder would get elsewhere should be available to him. That is why we are suggesting that no further increase in percentage could be made unless all the arrears of depreciation are made gcod. So, that is full safeguard against the difficulty which you have in mind.

Shri Chettiar: Kindly give us the formula. Suppose the profits are not as much as 60 per cent, and you may like to give profits and not provide for depreciation for five years.

**Dr. R. C. Cooper:** If there are no profits, there is no question of distribution.

**Shri Chettiar:** Suppose a six-percent profit accrued and that is minus depreciation, in that case, you would not give depreciation?

Chairman: They said these arrears would be made up in the subsequent years.

**Shri Tanubhai D. Desai:** Yes, and till that time no dividend should be distributed beyond 6 per cent.

Chairman: Yes; unless the arrears of depreciation have been made up.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: May I mention one case: It was a case where even the State of Bombay was concerned—the Bagalkot Cement Company. They realised that the shareholders should get something and guaranteed the dividend 'even in the initial period of five years.

Shri Chettiar: About the selling agents the provisions for which have been incorporated in the Bill, you have not made any reference. Are they of use?

**Chairman:** Why should we ask them to go into those points particularly? We can presume that they have no objection to those provisions!

Shri Chettiar: There are fresh restrictions placed on managing agents. Do you think in the present state of the company law those restrictions are correct. Would you like to have all those fresh restrictions placed?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We have pointed out one case—the case of an inter-company investment outside the group management where the sanction of the Central Government should not be taken. We are not in agreement with that principle—that for investment in outside group companies the sanction of the Central Government chould be taken.

Shri Chettiar: It has been put to us that it is overriding the wishes of the shareholders if after the shareholders pass even by an extraordinary resolution it is not necessary for the Goverment to confirm the resolution so passed. Do you think you are satisfled that shareholders' wishes are respected even when that is necessary?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: What we have suggested is that so long as there is a special resolution for increasing the investment in non-group companies it is not necessary to get Government sanction.

**Shri Chettiar:** There is one clause for that. Your reference was to the issue of capital by allotment.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: No, no. Kindly look at page 4, clause 138. It is a different issue.

Shri Chettiar: It has been generally put that it is overriding the wishes of shareholders when it is necessary for the Government to confirm even after a special resolution has been passed. You think differently, and say that confirmation by Government is uccessary and that is consistent with the rights of shareholders.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We have not said so. On the contrary we have said in clause 138 that the Government's interference is not called for. We do not agree that Government's interference is required in all cases. Wherever we think that Government's interference is necessary and the Companies Act has provided for it, we have not taken objection to it. But it does not mean that we accept the principle that in all cases Government's interference is called for.

Shri Tangamani: I take it that you are for advancing the interests of the shareholders. In the very first page I find that you oppose the creation of the new section 43A companies. Can you advance any special reason for 25 per cent being advanced by the public companies? How does it advance the interest of the shareholders?

Dr. R. C. Cooper: The Bombay Shareholders' Association is not against this principle at all as far as public companies are concerned. But we are anticipating certain very serious difficulties where a private company holding more than 25 per cent is shares in another private company. That is the only thing we are opposing. For instance, if a private company is holding more than 25 per cent shares in another private company, there are cases in which both companies have small capital of Rs. 25,000 or ۵ Rs. 50.000. In such cases, various formalities which today are not applicable will have to be brought into force, as for instance, change of name. If after 15 days or even a year, the interest falls below 25 per cent, once again there will have to be a change of name. All these complications will we are only against a arise. So. private company holding more than 25 per cent shares in another private

company being treated as a public company, we do not oppose the principle generally.

Shri Mazumdar: There are private companies whose magnitude of operation transcends that of public companies.

**Dr. R. C. Cooper:** Even in such cases, if the holding company is also a private company, our view is that "body corporate" should be substituted by "public company".

**Shri Tangamani:** Arising from that, where the company employs public money directly or indirectly, do you or do you not oppose control as if it was a public company?

Dr. R. C. Cooper: The section speaks of holding of shares; it does not speak of loan or assistance. May I point out in this connection that as far as shareholding is concerned, the position is entirely different from loans made Supposing a loan is to companies. made by a bank, the credit-worthiness of the company is gone into and it gives guarantee and security. But as far as shareholding is concerned, the position is fundamentally different from loans.

Shri Tangamani: In page 4, regarding section 203, you say that a person convicted of an offence in connection with the formation of a company should not be allowed to become a director and even the court should not give permission.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We are cointing out the necessity of it.

**Chairman:** That is not before us; that is not within our purview.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We only took the opportunity of pointing out the necessity of it, so that if they think it fit, hon. Members may take it up in the House.

**Chairman:** We can keep that in mind for the future.

Shri Tangamani: Regarding clause 58, would you like the director's specches and all the things made out in the general body meeting to be published at the expense of the company? Do you want the shareholders to bear the expenditure?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: In fact, the Chairman's speech gives a complete version of the company's progress. There are so many shareholders who are not resident in the town where the meeting is held and they would come to know the position of the company from the Chairman's speech. The Press is the best medium for it not only for the shareholders but also for the prospective investing public. We do not see any objection to that.

Shrt Tangamani: So you consider that in this particular matter the interests of the shareholders and the directors are identical.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: The directors may not like, but the shareholders would like to see it in the Press. It is more in the interest of the shareholders.

**Shri Jadhav:** What is the membership of your Association and how many companies do they cover?

Shri Jagdish J. Kapadia: Our membership is 500 covering roughly 2,000 companies.

Shri Morarka: I want one clarification from the witness. He said subsidiaries should not have managing agents. I would like to know whether according to him subsidiaries should have managing directors or should not have even that.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: That is a matter of their choice. What we want to prevent is double payment of managing agents' commission in the shape of managing agents' profit from the holding company and from the subsidiary company.

Shri Morarka: If the managing agents are different for the holding company and for the subsidiary, would you have any objection? Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: If they are not the same managing agents we do not object to it. We only object to double payment to the same person in two shapes for the same work.

**Shri Morarka:** I would like to know whether your Association has received any complaint about non-payment or late payment of dividends?

Shri Jagdish J. Kapadia: According to the Act, the management has to pay the dividend within 90 days. Most of the managements are paying dividend within 90 days of the passing of the dividend.

**Shri Morarka:** Have you received any complaint that the dividends are not fully or regularly paid according to the existing law?

Shri Jagdish J. Kapadia: Not such complaints.

**Shri Morarka**: Do you remember any case where the payment has not been made?

Shri Jagdish J. Kapadia: There was one case where the payment was not made. When the regional director enquired of the company the company said that they had posted the dividend bonds to the particular shareholder and it was complained that they might have been lost in the post. That is the only case we have come across.

Shri Morarka: Please turn to page 4 of your memorandum regarding clause 138 dealing with section 372. What is your precise objection? Do you want the limit of 30 per cent which the amending Bill sceks to impose to be removed.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We say that so far as non-group companies are concerned, if investment is to be made, the sanction of a special resolution of the company should be sufficient. What we object to is to go to the Government even after the special resolution is passed.

Shri Morarka: Since you are representing the shareholders, what objection would you have if the investment beyond this limit is made subject to Government's sanction? What hardship would your association suffer?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: It is not a question of suffering hardship by the association. Our suggestion is that sanction of the shareholders should be sufficient, because if the shareholders approved of it by a special resolution. it is not necessary to have Government sanction, because it is a non-group company. We do not welcome Government interference in every case.

**Shri Morarka:** In clause 60, you want the remuneration of managing agents to be reduced and put on a sliding scale. Would you not like that to be regulated by a special resolution likewise? Why do you want a satutory provision for that?

**Shri Tanubhai D. Desai:** Because we feel that there is necessity for a statutory regulation being made.

**Shri Morarka:** You must say something more than that. We know you feel like that, but you have to explain it to the committee.

Shri Jagdish J. Kapadia: If scales are laid down in the Act, then all the companies will have to abide by the law. At the moment. Indian Iron & Steel Company is charging 5 per cent. on its profits and Tata Iron & Steel is charging  $7\frac{1}{2}$  per cent. Such things will not happen in future if scales are laid down.

**Dr. R. C. Cooper:** In certain cases there may be substantial holding by the persons concerned and we feel this is a case in which this type of restriction is necessary. By virtue of this substantial holding. the persons concerned may be in a position to pass a special resolution also.

Shri P. T. Leuva: If a person has got substantial interest, it would be to his interest to decrease the remunration. **Dr. R. C. Cooper:** The point which I was trying to explain is, persons who are incharge of management may be having substantial holding by virtue of which they may be in a position to pass a special resolution.

Shri Morarka: Please refer to clause 153, section 408. You want that only a member of the company should be nominated as a Director by the Government, not an outsider.

Shri Tanubhai D. Dasai: Why we suggested this is, that a shareholder who would be appointed a Director would be conversant with all the facts and he would be in a much better position to know what the affairs of the company are going on. If a non-shareholder is appointed as a Director by the Government, then the position would be that he will not take so much interest as a sharewould. We suggest that a holder shareholder should be appointed as a Director.

**Shri Morarka:** Are you in favour of giving representation to the minority shareholders on the Board of Directors of Companies?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We are not opposed to that.

Shri Morarka: Are you in favour of it?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We are in favour of it.

**Shri Morarka:** Can you suggest a way how the minority shareholders can be represented on the Board?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: 1 do not think that is the subject matter of the Bill. If you want to expect us to say something outside the purview of the Bill, we may submit a separate Memorandum on that.

Shri Morarka: You kindly refer to the last paragraph of your Memorandum; there is section 408. I am asking a question whether it is very much concerned with your Association. Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We are only pointing out that the Government wants the power to appoint Directors who are not shareholders of the company. We are only pointing it out.

**Chairman:** Their objection is that the Directors should not be non-members, but that they should be out of the members.

Shri Morarka: The company by itself can also appoint among the minority shareholders the Directors on the Board and for that purpose I wanted to know from them whether they have got any suggestions to make.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: This is not covered by the Bill.

Shri Morarka: Since the witness is saying again and again about the Bill. I take it that there is nothing in the Memorandum which is outside the purview of the Bill.

**Chairman:** You are going out of the purview of the Bill. Therefore, I do not allow discussion on that.

Shri Morarka: Then, I take it, at the present moment, the witness has no views to offer and that they cannot give any opinion on the question that I have asked.

**Dr. R. C. Cooper:** Since this point does not arise out of the Bill, we have no definite views to offer at this stage.

Shri P. D. Himatsingka: Please refer to clause 153, Section 408. Is the Shareholders' Association aware that there have been cases where Directors appointed by the Government were not registered as shareholders and, therefore, they could not function?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Under the existing law, the shareholders alone could be appointed Directors.

Shri P. D. Himatsingka: Shareholders who were there were not willing to become Directors, but at the same time Government felt that somebody else should be appointed as Director and they nominated some. They were not registered shareholders of the company and, therefore, they could not function.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: So far as shareholders' Association is concerned, we do not know of any such case, where no shareholder has come forward to became the Director.

Shri P. D. Himatsingka: This has happened in Bombay.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: That is not correct.

Shri P. D. Himatsingka: Clause 60, Section 198. You have suggested sliding scale. Is it on the slab basis-

Dr. R. C. Cooper: We are suggesting slab system.

Shri Dave: From the Memorandum that you have submitted. it appears that you contemplate certain cases and certain problems especially dealing with the managing agents, their appointment, their remuneration etc. in which you feel the shareholders as a body by themselves are not in a position to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and, therefore, certain amount of Government supervision and control is necessary. Is that impression correct?

Dr. R. C. Cooper: In certain matters, Government restriction is welcome, but we are not for too much Government interference. Where we consider it absolutely essential, we have suggested it.

Shri Dave: But in two cases, firstly in the case of appointment of managing agents, for instance, of a holding company and a subsidiary company and secondly, in the case of the remuneration of the managing agent in certain companies, you do welcome Government restriction. Is that go?

Dr. R. C. Cooper: That is so.

Shri A. C. Guha: Page 3, clause 60. Your Association has suggested some modification in the remuneration of the managing agent on a sliding scale. Would you make any distinction between a managing agent of only one company and managing agent for a group of companies?

**Dr. R. C. Cooper:** No, Sir. We are going by each individual company separately. The profits of each separate company would vary.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: It is not possible to define the remuneration of managing agents in terms of groups or any thing of that kind. We can only take the case of each separate company and come to a definite conclusion.

Shri A. C. Guha: Clause 124. You have suggested certain modifications regarding subsidiary companies and holding companies, do pou suggest restrictions on remuneration of the managing agent also.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We have suggested that there should be no managing agents, not restriction on the remuneration. But no managing agency should be permitted.

Shri A. C. Guha: How would that company be managed?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: The company would be managed by the Board of Directors of that company, through the Managing Director, or the Manager.

**Shri A. C. Guha:** In such cases, if there is a nominee of that firm as the manager of that company and if he enjoys all the remuneration, what happens?

**Shri Tanubhai D. Desai:** He would not get the heavy commission which the managing agent would get.

Shri A. C. Guha: Regarding clause 62 you have suggested that dividend should be paid at the rate of 6 per cent even without deducting depreciation for the first five years. Would it not be better for the shareholders to wait for five years instead of spending from the working capital? Dr. R. C. Cooper: The Shareholders' Association stands for a large body of shareholders belonging to the middleclass and lover middle-class. When they go on investing, it is not possible for them to wait even five years without getting any return at all on the capital. That is why we have suggested a nominal amount of 6 per cent. dividend.

**Shri A. C. Guha: Would it not** be just eating away the working capital of that company because in the first five years the company is not expected to get any loan.

Dr. R. C. Cooper: Our suggestion is based on a policy which is being continuously followed by the Government for several years and by various corporations including the State Financial Corporations where the Government have guaranteed from the first year.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: That shows the necessity of declaring dividends.

Shri Nathwani: In your Association, out of the 2,000 companies, how many of them are private companies?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Very few private companies.

Shri Nathwani: You have stated that certain type of managing agents sometimes have received remuneration twice over for the same kind of work. Will you kindly give illustrations?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: We have the Premier Construction company. That company is holding 100 per cent shares of the Hindustan Construction company and the India Hume Pipe Company. Those companies are carrying on big contracts. The Premier Construction company does nothing else except that they charge 10 percent of the Premier Construction Company's profits which are mainly coming from the dividends of those companies and they take commission here and there as managing agents of those two companies.

Shri Khandubhai K. Dessi: What is the commission they get?

Shri Jagdish J. Kapadia: The managing agent's commission is about Rs. 13 lakhs in respect of these three companies.

Shri Khandubhai K. Desai: Is it the same agency?

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Yes.

Shri Nathwani: As regards small shareholders I would like to know whether section 208 will not give them some relief. I know the views of Tanubhai Desai.

Shri Tanubhai D. Desai: Please do not talk of personal views.

**Chairman:** What he says is the view of the Association and that is what we want. If one of them gives his views and the other is not giving, we should presume that what is given to us is the view of the Association.

**Dr. R. C. Cooper:** I may, however, explain that as far as those section are concerned, they may be enforced only in exceptional cases and for that special sanction of the Government is necessary and various other formalities will have to be gone through We want this principle to be extended. It is a general principle for general application.

Shri P. T. Leuva: Will not the cost of management increase as the profits are also increasing? When a company is entitled to  $7\frac{1}{2}$  per cent. commission, you envisage that the profit should be Rs. 1 crore. As the volume of business in the concern is expanding, will not the cost of management also increase?

**Dr. R. C. Cooper:** The suggestion of ours is that a slab system should be introduced because we feel that the increase in cost is not in proportion to the increase in profit of the company.

Shri P. T. Leuva: You have suggested that the maximum remuneration of managing agents should be reduced from 10 per cent to  $7\frac{1}{2}$  per cent.

Dr. E. C. Cooper: We are not suggesting that. What we are suggesting is that on the first slab the commission should be 10 per cent.

Shri P. T. Leuva: When the profit is less than Rs. 1 crore.

**Dr. R. C. Cooper:** If it is more than Rs. 1 crore, the percentage also will vary as shown in the statement.

Shri P. T. Leuva: Will it not discourage the companies from running more efficiently? Because, if the profits of the company go on increasing, the remuneration of managing agents will not correspondly increase, but on the other hand, it will go on decreasing

**Dr. R. C. Cooper:** Our experience is otherwise. We have first-class companies like Dunlop and Liver Brothers. There is no lack of incentive even though the remuneration is less there.

Shri P. T. Leuva: If your slab system is introduced, will there be an incentive to expand business?

**Dr. R. C. Cooper:** The incentive would be more if he gets remuneration on the slab system.

Shri P. T. Leuva: If the percentage is reduced from 10 per cent to  $7\frac{1}{2}$  per cent, will there be more incentive?

**Dr. R. C. Cooper:** We are equating the interests of shareholders.

**Shri P. T. Leuva:** But the shareholders are not running the company. The Board of Directors are running the company. Do you mean to say that you decrease the remuneration, there will be more incentive?

Dr. R. C. Cooper: We feel that, if anything more is to be paid over and above what we have suggested, it is not reasonable according to the views of our Association.

Shri P. T. Leuva: What I am asking is whether this is a general principle. If you decrease the remuneration, will there be incentive to work harder? **Chairman:** They only say that even with the decrease in the remuneration there will be sufficient incentive.

Shri P. T. Leuva: Generally if a person is paid more, he will work harder...

**Chairman:** They have modified their position. They say that even with this decrease there would be enough incentive for them to work hard. You need not press it further. Thank you gentlemen.

(The witnesses then withdrew.)

#### III. The Associated Chambers of Commerce of India, Calcutta

Spokesmen:

- 1. Mr. J. D. K. Brown.
- 2. Sir Walter Michelmore.

3. Mr. D. S. Gorer.

(Witnesses were called in and they took their seats)

**Chairman:** We have gone through the memorandum submitted. If you wish to clarify or amplify any points made in it you might do so.

**Mr. J. D. K. Brown:** In regard to certain clauses we would welcome an opportunity to comment in greater detail than we have been able to do in the memorandum.

I would first refer to a series of clauses which raise an important practical issue.

Clause 2(d) Definition of "branch office." In this connection I would like to refer to what we regard as connected clauses, clauses 46, 48, 65, 70 and 75. The short point is that the definnition of a branch office, combined with the revised audit provisions contained in the Bill, will mean that company managements will be put in a position of some difficulty in a number of cases in getting their accounts completed in time. We entirely accept the principle that all companies' transactions have to be audited. Our objection is on the practical basis. The way in which it is put in the Bill will make it very difficult to have it done. 873 LS.-7.

I should like to explain one particular clause—the clause which proposes to take away from the Registrar the power to grant an extension of the date within which a company has to hold its meetings. The effect of that is that every company willy-nilly will have to complete their acocunts and put them before the shareholders before nine months from the end of the financial year. There are circumstances which do sometimes make it very difficult to prepare the accounts, so that the auditors may complete their work in time.

We have noticed a recent notification of the Department of Company Law Administration wherein they have made it clear that simple delay in audit will not ordinarily be treated as sufficient cause for giving an extension and we naturally support that. But just to take away the power of the Registrar, altogether, combined with the provisions relating to audit is going to make thing's a bit difficult and we would suggest that this matter be given further consideration. These provisions will also mean that a very great deal of additional man-hours will have to be spent; in some cases this will mean duplication of work. Many organisations have very good internal audit arrangements for their own satisfaction. They keep an internal audit organisation and if this work is to be done all over again by equally qualified auditors from outside. there will be duplication of work and it will lead to delay.

We would like to see sections 227 and 228 amended in such a way as to get over this duplication of work. To the extent organisations do not at present employ internal auditors, if our proposals are accepted, it will lead to this practice becoming more widespread which will be a healthy development in company management. It will incidentally lead to probably more employment among the young chartered accountants who are an under-employed class at the moment. I do not wish to say anything more on these provisions. It is a practical point which I think merits the attention of the committee. The next point we come to is with reference to clause 3(c), that is the conditions under which an Indian subsidiary company of a foreign company is to be treated as a subsidiary for the purpose of the Act. The Companies Act Amendment Committee in this respect left the policy decision to Government. That policy decision has apparently been taken and it will be appreciated that where a company is wholly owned by a foreign company the necessity for the control that exists over the public companies in India is not quite the same. The basis of this argument is that the Indian law must look after the interests of the Indian shareholders. That presumes the proposition that directors in companies have a considerable degree of freedom in fixing their remuneration and things like that. The law has provided that where it is a public company, Government approval has to be obtained. As far as Indian private companies which are subsidiaries of foreign bodies corporate are concerned, the same consideration does not apply, because the directors of the Indian private company concerned have no share-holding interests. They are nothing more nor less than pure employees: they have no influence over the voting control as to how much remuneration or anything like that may be paid. Thev are nothing more nor less than outright employees of the foreign company.

And it is a reasonable presumption, we submit, that the foreign company which is the principal company is well able to see that it does not pay anything more than is necessary.

The practical difficulties are, if these companies are subjected to the same regulation as applies to Indian companies, it does render things difficult for an Indian subsidiary of a foreign body corporate which works on a worldwide basis, because to some extent it is necessary for them to be able to transfer their staff from one country to another. And, obviously, there has got to be some degree of parity of remuneration. You cannot expect a man, possibly on promotion, to do some special job for the Indian company if he is going to be paid considerably less than he is being paid while working in some other country.

Of course it is correct that even if this amendment is given effect to. the position will be all right for an Indian private company which is a subsidiary of one foreign company. But there are an increasing number of cases where foreign companies collaborate either with one another and have joint organisations or even with some element of Indian capital. Where that element of Indian capital is public capital, of course we do not object to this principle at all. And the whole basis of the Companies Act Amendment Committee report was where Indian public money is involved, even in a minor degree, the company must submit itself to the Indian laws in this respect. That, of course, is perfectly acceptable. But where there may be some small element of Indian private money, or on Indian money at all, and it is a combination of two or three foreign companies. I do not think the same principle can be applied.

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: We propose to amend that provision like this.

> For "by that body corporate", substitute "by that body corporate whether alone or together with one or more other bodies corporate incorporated outside India".

Will that meet your objection?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: We are very glad to note that. It does not quite cover cases where there may be small—five or ten per cent—Indian capital, which we would ask the Committee to consider.

The next point that we are concerned with is about the matter of private companies in clause 15 introducing section 43A. And on this matter my colleague, Sir Walter Machelmore,

Sir Walter Michelmore: I agree with what Mr. Brown has said. We do not dispute the policy which is set out in the notes on the Clauses. Where substantial public money is involved. the company concerned should be treated as a public company. But there are quite a number of private companies at this time which happen to have shares in them held by other corporate bodies where the private companies are trustee companies) charitable trusts and things of that sort. all of which would be brought into the net of the public company if the wording now followed is adopted. We therefore suggest an amendment which would leave out from that, companies which we consider serve a definite purpose as private companies and many of which have virtually been of a sort of family business nature. It is a plea really for the private company which is in our opinion genuinely a private company but which would be brought within the definition of public company under the wording as it is now drafted in the Bill.

Mr. J. D K. Brown: The next point we have is in regard to clause 53 where it is proposed to add a new subclause (eee) to section 192(4). Now, we can appreciate, in some ways, the purpose of this proposed amendment. but we have two objections to it. We do not think that it is sound to have Board resolutions filed with the Registrar. It is quite a revolutionary departure, and there is a clear line drawn between Board resolutions and resolutions of a company. Some are, and some are not, filed with the Registrar. but the importance ones are filed with the Registrar. But frenine-tenths quently than more of Board resolutions are purely matters of relatively small importance. I admit that where some large transaction of a capital nature is involved, there may well be a case for doing something about it. But the practical effect of this is going to be that not only would resolutions have to be

filed with the Registrar-which is merely an administrative difficultybut also copies of the resolutions have to be added to the copies of the articles which every company has to have available for the shareholders on demand. Every time you pass a resolution it has to be attached to the articles. These are fairly long and the net result over a period of years would be that the articles of the company, which are about fifty pages or less. would become volumes. And the vast majority of these resolutions would deal with matters which are of importance only for a week or a month; they have no permanent effect on the company at all.

We object to it in principle, I should make it clear. But partly, we have an objection from the point of view of the practical effect also.

With regard to the next point, we welcome the opportunity to address the Committee on clause 124 which deals with the question of subsidiary companies being employed as managing agents and I would ask Mr. Gorefto address the Committee on this point.

Mr. D. S. Gorer: The proposal under section 325A seeks, as I understand it, to legislate as if the relationship between a holding company and a subsidiary company-the latter being a managing agency company-is the same as exists in respect of a managi ing agency company having its own managing agent (which has been barred by section 325 of the Act). I would like to suggest that the relationship is not the same, because the basis of employment of a managing agency company or any managing agent is solely on the merits of the managing agent. The terms of the managing agency have to be approved by the Government, and if Government do not think that the proposed managing agency company is fit, then Government have powers to refuse the agreement.

In addition, Government have powers for the control of the managing agency company, that is to say, over the constitution of its board and also of the constitution of its share capital. The job of the managing agent is to look after the day-to-day running of the managed company. I would submit that it would seem that the idea behind the suggested section 325A is that the board of the holding company would have in some measure control over the day-to-day running of the managed company through the managing agency company. And that, I submit is not what happens in practice, because in many cases, the holding companies are not even Indian companies: they are often foreign companies with their control away from India, and it will be quite impossible for them, even if they wanted to, to exercise control over the day-to-day running of the managed company.

In regard to matters of policy, certainly, the board of the holding company can, and no doubt, such boards do, express their views to the managing agency company; but in matters of policy, the final decision must rest with the board of the managed company itself.

For these reasons, I do submit that the relationship between a managing agency company, and one which might in turn be its managing agents—which has been barred—is not the same as that between a parent company and a managing agency company which is its subsidiary.

I have no doubt that the committee is aware that there are a number of cases in existence now, of managing agency companies, which have been in existence for many years, managing important public companies which are, in fact, subsidiary to other companies.

For these reasons, I would ask that clause 124 be given further consideration.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: The next point we have to raise is in regard to clause 128. It provides in effect for a further reduction in managing agency

remuneration in certain cases. We are not taking exception to the clause as a whole, but what we feel has been overlooked is the difference between personal services, which are outside the scope of the duties of the managing agent, and the services of the managing agent. I am referring here to services which an individual necessarily renders in a personal capacity. Α managing agency company may have one or more representatives on the board of the managed company; that individual, whoever he might be, has to act in a personal capacity, although, no doubt, he may reflect the views, on certain matters, of his colleagues on the managing agency company; but he bears a personal responsibility as director of the managed company just like any other director who is not connected with the managing agency: and he is subject to the same penalties and all the other provisions of the Act

Furthermore, while managing agents have the right at present and frequently and most commonly, do nominate a director, this clause will also apply to secretaries and treasurers who have no such right; therefore, if an individual is on the board of a company, besides being a director of the secretaries and treasurers company, he is there by virtue of the voting power either of the secretaries and treasurers and or their friends or the shareholders generally.

Then, there are cases of men who are technical men and who render technical services to the managed company. As a matter of administrative convenience, and with a view to give the necessary status and authority, it is frequently found desirable to have such men being employed as directors of the managing agency company, but the services which they are rendering are in most cases distinguishable from the managing agency services as such. It is not seen by the Associated Chambers why what are essentially personal services should not be remunerated as such, without impinging on the remuneration of the managing agents.

Where devices have been used to. in effect, give more remuneration to managing agents through creating artificial jobs-we are not concerned with that here-we do not dispute the object of the clause at all, but where bona fide personal services are being rendered, we think that this clause is going to create a hardship. We would not go into the details. We have referred to certain circumstances or cases which we know of, in our memorandum, where considerable hardship would be suffered not only by the managing agents, but probably by the individual employees, because they will be forced to sell their shares and give up a good investment. So, we would ask that that principle of personal remuneration for personal services be considered.

Our next point which we consider to be of quite considerable importance is in regard to clause 136. This clause *inter alia* seeks to enlarge the definition of the term 'bodies-corporate.... under the same management'. Now, it is proposed to do this by in effect providing that if company A is controlled by another company or individual holding only 331|3 per cent of the capital of that company, and company B is similarly controlled by the same company or individual, then these companies are to be treated as under the same management.

If I am a director of company A, I am in a position, almost certainly, to know who controls the shareholdings in my company; I may, but I need not, but I very probably do; and to that extent, this is quite reasonable.

Furthermore, loan transactions which are primarily dealt with in section 370 are not of such every-day occurrence that this need cause great difficulty; although you may be unwittingly lending money to a company and you do not know who controls 33 1/3 per cent of the shareholding of the other company; you do not know who does; and even if you did know, you do not necessarily know that it is the same person, because so frequently these shareholdings are in the name of nominee companies or other benamination names, that it is very difficult to know it; you may know it, but with the best will in the world you cannot be sure that you would know. As I said, loan transactions are not indulged in every day, and these may not be part of the company's regular business.

But there is a further practical difficulty. In the balance-sheet found in Schedule VI, we are required to show both under the head of 'Sundry Debtors' and under the Head 'Loans and Advances' separately, amounts owing by companies under the same management, not only amounts owing, but the maximum amount owing at any time during the year.

The effect of this amendment, clause 136, will be that any company selling goods to another company will theoretically have to ascertain who controls 33 1/3 per cent of the shares of that company. I suggest that this is impracticable.

In the vast mass of daily transactions it is quite impossible to verify in respect of every sale and every purchase who has the controlling shareholding. And, yet, if you do not verify that how are you to know how to make up your balance-sheet? The position of the directors may be difficult. I suggest that the position of the auditors, who may not have access to the same inside information as the directors, would be made quite impossible. In short, we feel that however desirable this amendment may be the itself in order to deal with the abuses, it is impracticable as far as the day to day working is concerned. We would therefore, earnestly request that it be given consideration on that basis.

Our next point is one which, I am sure most witnesses must have already raised with the committee and I would not like to take too much of the committee's time. We regard clause 133 as of very great importance indeed from the point of view of the future development of companies. I think I am well aware of the reasons which have motivated this amendment. Buil I do suggest that the procedure envisaged will make very desirable transactions impracticable.

'We have dealt with the various difficulties-some of them are of a minor degree and others are of great importance-in our memorandum. I do not want to repeat them. But, in short, if a deal involves the purchase of shares. which under the new provisions would require the approval of the shareholders and then of Government, it will mean that where the shares in question are quoted in the Stock Exchange. the transaction will generally become impossible because as soon as you send notices to the shareholders calling a meeting and telling them what they are asked to approve, the prices of the shares in question will either go up or go down. If the buying company's shareholders are going to get the shares at a smaller price, then the difectors of the selling company are going to be attacked vehemently.

In these matters, the normal procedure is negotiation between the buyer and the seller with the aid of professional advisers, legal advisers, chartered accountants and so on. After a good deal of bargaining, possibly, a fair price is agreed upon. It may be the market price or a little above or a little below the market price; but it is an agreed price. The procedure envisaged in the Bill will make such perfectly bona fide and, in many cases, desirable transactions just impossible. We do not think the restriction proposed is a reasonable one.

The next point concerns clause 179. This is a very important matter from the point of view of labour intensive industry. I am thinking particularly of the like of tea companies, jute mills, cotton textile mills where the ratio of labour employed is high and where, as it so happens, much of the finance that it employed for working capital comes from banks. If this clause is given effect to, we foresee that, probably, the object which is sought to be achieved, that is, to protect the worker and give him preference for retrenchment com-

As a land our

••

pensation in the event of the company going into liquidation, would be frustrated because what will happen is this. Instead of the company getting through a difficult period with the aid of the bank, the bank will certainly have to take into account the liability for retrenchment compensation etc. and the limit of their advance will be reduced accordingly. That means that just when you need the money mostmaybe to get through a bad season such as is there at the present time in the tea gardens in Cachar (practically half the Darieeling gardens are faced with difficulty)-instead of being able to lend more, the bank will have to consider reducing the advances. Then, what has the company to do? It means. in effect, that workers may be laid-off. units closed down earlier than would otherwise be the case-and in some cases they would be closed down though with a bit of good luck and good management they might have got through their difficulties.

For these reasons we suggest that clause 179 be very carefully considered.

We foresee great difficulties. I know them from personal experience of two or three years ago, in the case of jute mills, where many of the jute mills were borrowing up to the limit റ് their capacity because they had spent large sums of money on the modernisation of their mills-only part of which was raised in the form of permanent finance-and they were using part of their working capital and temporarily using bank funds. It so happened that this large capital expenditure, occurred during a period of very great trading difficulty and large losses were incurred. Many of the companies were borrowing from their managing agents sums greatly in excess of the absolute limit of bank advances. If bank advances had been restricted at that time, it would have been necessary to make special arrangements through some agencyhow it could be done. I do not knowto enable some of these companies to get through and weather the storm. It

is for these practical reasons I submit that this clause be reconsidered.

The next clause is clause 211. A11 we ask for is that as for the 90 balance-sheets are concerned, our comments be given consideration because balance-sheets are concerned, our comciple, but they indicate the practical difficulties which will arise in the working of the Act later on. We would state that the principle of this amendment is taken but we hope these anomalies would be reduced and clarified-as far, that is, as the balance-sheet is concerned.

We have some fundamental objections to the revised paragraph 4 in Part II of Schedule VI. That paragraph, in our opinion, seeks to equate trading transactions with remuneration and will certainly cause misunderstanding among share-holders. the vast majority of whom are not trained accountants and can hardly be expected to interpret the balancesheets in a professional manner. We would, therefore, request that paragraph 4 be considered in the light of our comments.

As far as paragraph 4A is concerned, we suggest that there is no need for it and, in any case, it is misleading. Paragraph 4A requires the amounts paid to auditors for services in other capacities to be disclosed. There is a great danger in this. Supposing my company employs the company's auditors. who are the best people to employ because they know our business, to investigate the possibility of amalgamation with env other company or to investigate the purchase or sale of one or other of The shares of these our companies. companies may be quoted in the Stock Exchange. The paragraph as drafted in the Bill requires detailed information to be given. As I put it, if it is a case of amalgamation, information regarding the amalgamation just going on will, in some cases. make it impossible for such amalgamation to take place; and, amalgamation might otherwise be desirable from the point of view of both the

The services which companies. on auditor renders in another capacity are quite separate. The amount might vary much from year to year. depending upon what work is actually done, and the audit fee is a fixed fee. But in the course of a year you may not pay the auditors sometimes when they may not have any other work at all, and in the next year you may employ them to deal with the income-tax officer over a very complicated taxation point which might occupy their time and then they send in the bill. That is the remuneration for services. Certainly it has to be disclosed when it has to be disclosed. But our main objection is to the disclosure where it will have a bad effect on the future business of the company in matters like amalgamation and so on which I have mentioned

These are the main clauses on which it is our view that the consideration of the Committee is required. We have no other points on which we should particularly like to stress. We have mentioned many others in our memorandum and we hope that they will be given consideration.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Mr. Brown, will you please turn to page 3 of your memorandum wherein it is said:

"Clause 3(c) of the Bill purports to give effect to this view but unfortunately deals only with the case of a private company being a subsidiary of a body corporate incorporated outside India, *the entire* share capital of which is held by that body corporate."

The hon. Minister has indicated certain proposed amendments. I take it that that meets with your case completely.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: If the amendment meets with 90 per cent of our case, perhaps that is enough! I have suggested an amendment to that effect, stating why we would like, if possible.....

You are Shri Naushir Bharucha: satisfied with that? Now. coming to page 5, clause 11. I would like to point out that it deals with alteration of the articles in relation to the conversion of a public company into 8 private company. You have suggested some emendment. But, if that is accepted, it might defeat the purpose of that section, because, you would "the want to substitute the words purpose of which is to convert" for the words "which has the effect of If those words are inconverting." corporated, the Board of Directors will say that "our purpose is not to convert the public company into я private company" and therefore there is no question of the approval of the Government. That question will not arise. Your difficulties are there, but we would like you to see our difficulties also.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I think this is very much a matter of legal interpretation. I am not a lawyer, but for the lavmen we thought that the present wording, if used, might also defeat the purpose. We say no alteration can in fact have an effect of converting a public company into a private company unless the approval of the Government is obtained first. I think I see Shri Bharucha's point but. as I see, it is really very much 8 matter for legal interpretation.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: We leave it at that. Now, let us turn to page 9, clause 24. I quite appreciate your anxiety to avoid the burden being taken up by the companies. to get themselves satisfied with respect to certain certificates which have been Instead of the words "proved lost. to the satisfaction of the company", I would like to ask, from your practical experience, whether you suggest that a procedure can be laid down. such as, for instance, swearing by an affidavit. That would meet your point.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: The position at the moment is that we do get affidavits from people who lose the share certificates. They wish to take an affidavit and that is with the guarantee of an insurance company or a bank or something like that. Many small shareholders lose their shares and they get duplicate shares which are stamped 'duplicate' and there is an end of the matter.

Our point here is that the penalty provisions are sought to be imposed. and the company managements praving for safety and thinking. "Well what is this affidavit worth?"! Many shareholders will be put to additional expense. If it is a very small number of shares, we do accept an affidavit without having to incur the expenses on getting a bank guarantee. But I am sure if the penalty is imposed, every company will naturally try to secure the maximum indemnitv.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Not only maximum indemnity but maximum proof.

# Mr. J. D. K. Brown: Yes.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: That is precisely the point that I am making. There is already a complaint that companies do not readily issue duplicate share certificates even in bona fide cases. I am trying to find a via media as to whether from your practical experience it can be prescribed by rule or an Act to see that the company, if it is satisfied with the affidavit and an advertisement and can issue a duplicate. Some such procedure might be laid down.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: That would be giving a legislative effect to the present practice and I should not think that any of us-my friends Sir Walter Michelmore and Mr. Gorerwould object to that. In other words, if legislative effect is given to the present practice, namely, the affidavit and the letter of indemnity being filed and the company management being very adequately protected, then I do not think they would be scared by this penalty which is proposed.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Let us turn to page 13, clause 44. It speaks of the appointment of a Registrar.

"Quite apart from any question of appointment of registrars, the Chambers do not see why a company should not be permitted to keep its register of members and the other books and documents..." etc.

Do you not think that it might defeat the purpose, namely, to avoid the search of registers by any member, register may be shifted to a village where there is extreme difficulty of access to it?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: The point is there, but the argument cuts both ways. You have companies which have established their registered offices in the mofussil districts in Bihar or elsewhere throughout India. where the shares are dealt with in the stock exchanges Calcutta. in Bombay, Madras and Delhi. Of course, there is great convenience and advantage as far as the negotiability of shares is concerned if registers are kept in one of those places where deliveries and transfers would be much more quickly secured.

This matter has been raised on two grounds: (a) some companies find it convenient to maintain their share registers through registrars and (b) a point was made to me by various people in Bombay that with the preaccommodation sent shortage of which is very evident in all the cities where the offices keep expanding and expanding, the share department is a self-contained department: it does not require to be in consultation with a lot of other departments during the day, and it will be of very great convenience if they could move the share department with the registers and use the space for their trading and managerial activities in their existing building which is too small.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I see your point of view. Shall we turn to page 15, clause 48? It deals with notice for calling meetings. Some previouswitnesses made the same points and urged the same difficulty which you mentioned in the second sentence. What exactly is the difficulty and what is the concrete instance?

"In particular, the extension of the period of notice required for calling meetings will cause additional difficulty in arranging for the preparation and presentation of accounts in time and the observance of the period may be impracticable in many cases."

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: There was a period of fourteen days. It was then extended to 21 days as recently 00 1956. and in the initial stages it. caused a little difficulty to extend it further. We visualised that it will cause difficulty in this way: particularly, if you are running for some reason or the other near the end of the time, when you have got to hold a meeting, the audit may not be very far advanced. And yet, you may have to take the chance of calling a meeting and most companies want to call their meetings as early as they can. But where they have got to give 28 days' notice, it means that they have to be surer of these things at a much earlier stage than what has been contemplated. I do not think I have made myself quite clear. The longer the period of notice, the greater will be the difficulty in deciding what is a safe date for calling the meeting.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: With regard to clause 53, you have in your memorandum on page 17, drawn 9 distinction between the resolutions of the company and the resolutions of the board. Can vou suggest anv practical line of demarcation between the contracts which are substantial. materially affecting the business and those which could be considered insignificant?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I think a distinction does lie, in effect, between capital transactions and ordinary trading transactions. Of course, if they are under Rs. 5,000 in a year,

the clause exempts them and they need not be recorded and approved at the meeting. But if they are over Rs. 5.000, they have to be approved at the board meeting and entered in a register open to inspection by the shareholders. We cannot see env point in having to do all these things. But I do admit that if, for instance, a company is proposing to buy fifty per cent of the share capital of another company from a director. I concede that there is a feature about it which makes it a capital transaction and there may be a wide range of difference of opinion as to whether the shares are worth Rs. 12 or Rs 22 Such a transaction affects the future of the company and quite a large sum of money may be involved and some permanent record of it in the articles may be reasonable.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: My question was whether you could suggest any practical method of distinguishing the two because when we enact any law, we have got to be precise so that it might be implemented. Is it ever possible to distinguish transactions which are definitely of an insignificant character from the other types of transactions.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I cannot suggest any basis but I would suggest that the matter might be examined on the basis of the fact whether the transactions vis-a-vis the company are of a capital nature or are not of a capital nature.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You have made certain observations regarding clause 62. Perhaps your intention is that the matter of setting aside a certain percentage should be left to the discretion of the board of directors. You suggest that as a safeguard for the shareholders, the auditors are there. Since you do not suggest any yardstick for measuring depreciation, on what basis is the auditor to judge whether the depreciation is adequate or not?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: Recalling my own days as an auditor, I may say that you cannot be dogmatic on this subject but certainly the rates pres-Indian cribed by the Income-Tax rules do give the auditor in the normal course a very fair indication of what prima facie would be reasonable. But there are other cases. Take. for instance. a motor lorry. The Indian Income-tax rules lav down 25 per cent on the written down value. But if that lorry is employed on some construction project, it may be virtually unusable after 18 months. If the auditor is aware, as he must be, that the company is engaged in this work he ought to say that the 25 per cent depreciation would not be enough as the lorry would be finished in 18 months. The Indian Income-tax rules were last revised in relation to this aspect in 1940 and there have been considerable change in the types of modern machinery and highspeed machinery. These will not have the same long life like the older types of machinery. Now, that point is not very material. There are cases where the rates provided under the Indian Income-tax rules might be too great or too small and an auditor who is doing his job ought to take cognisance of that and most particularly, if the rates are inadequate.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: So far as your memorandum is concerned, the suggestion which you make precludes taking the Indian Income-tax rules as the basis for depreciation because you want the whole matter to be left to the discretion of the Directors or auditors. May I take it that you are prepared to take the income-tax basis as the yardstick of depreciation on which the auditors might go?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: As a yardstick yes. Because of the difficulty of putting this into the Act, it has a practical significance. I think it would not be right as a yardstick to decide whether the depreciation is adequate or not.

I think, if I may say so, there is in the company law a great tendency to shield the position of the auditor. I do not think it is a healthy development at all. There should be nothing in the Act which detracts from the ultimate responsibility of the auditor. By sheltering the auditor, we are not going to improve the position of the accountancy profession in this country and it is not going to develop as it should.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: It is not a question of sheltering the auditor. For instance, take the instance of the lorry which you gave just now. Α lorry used in earth moving projects may last only for 18 months. The auditor may insist upon the service life to be estimated at 18 months but the board of directors may say that it will last for four years. Who is going to resolve the dispute? You refuse to go by the income-tax basis.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: The Act provides the answer. The auditor qualifies his report and under the law the directors are required to comment on that qualification in the directors' report and the matter is thereby brought prominently to the attention of the shareholders and the Registrar when the accounts are lodged with The directors, as a class, him. Т think, are very reluctant to see qualification appear in auditor's reports. Many a time I had personally argued with auditors, but one has to give way at the end, because there is a certain stigma attached to an audit report with qualification.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Since it is your desire that the ultimate responsibility should rest with the auditors, would you agree to a clause being incorporated that the decision of the auditor on this matter shall be final?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I do not think we have got any objection to that, because if the auditors take a line which we do not approve of, we can on our own volition include a paragraph in the report stating our view. Again, I do not think the directors would be very ready to do that.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: May we turn to page 27? Round about the bottom of that page you say: "The effect of this proposal would be that companies which at present operate fully integrated internal audit system, employing qualified chartered accountants, would be enabled to continue these arrangements and would not be subjected either to additional expense or delay......" etc.

Would you be satisfied if power is given to Government, for the purpose of section 228, dealing with auditing of branches, to exempt from the operation of this clause such companies as operate a fully integrated internal audit system?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I think that would be acceptable to us.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Please turn to page 33, clause 103, amending section 293—"Restrictions on powers of the Board". In the second sentence you say:

"The Chambers hold very strongly to the view that the present form of the section casts an extremely unfair responsibility on the lender and one which might have serious effects on the willingness of banks and other financial institutions to provide accommodation."

Why do you say that it imposes an extraordinary burden? Do not the banks as a rule, before advancing money to a company, ascertain the extent of the company's indebtedness?

**Mr. J. D. K. Brown:** I would agree with you; the banks do that as a rule, but possibly if a relatively junior officer of a bank is negligent, the bank may be defrauded of money.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: If the ordinary common man suffers if he is is negligent, why should banks not suffer if they are negligent?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I agree with you.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Please turn to page 34, clause 104, amending section 294—"Appointment of Sole Selling Agents". I quite appreciate the difficulties which you may experience in appointing managing agents for small areas. The intention of the section is to prevent abuse of patronege. Could you suggest how it can be done—for instance, preventing exmanaging agents coming again in the guise of sole selling agents?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I have to confess that I have no answer to that question. I am afraid this attempt will be to some extent infructuous.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Please turn to page 39, clause 124 "Prohibition on appointment as managing agent of a body corporate which is itself a subsidiary of another body corporate". You have said there:

"Since clause 127, however, provides that where a managing agent is a body corporate and a subsidiary of another body corporate. anv change in the constitution of the parent body will require the sanction of the Central Government, it appears that there is no intention to prohibit the continuance A existing arrangements under which a managing agent is a body corporate and is itself a subsidy of another body corporate."

In view of what clause 127 says, you think it does not prohibit the continuance of existing managing agents?

**Mr. J. D. K. Brown:** That is the way we interpret the clause. There does admittedly appear to be a conflict between clause 124 and clause 127 in this respect.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Perhaps if you treat clause 124 as over-riding and clause 127 as a transitional safeguard, the conflict may not be there.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: The use of the words "appoint or employ" in clause 124 seems to us to make that interpretation not tenable. I am not a lawyer, but that is the way we look at it.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Please turn to page 41, clause 127, dealing with section 346----"Changes in the constitution of a managing agency firm or corporation to be approved by the Central Government". Would you experience any difficulty in implementing this clause by reason of the fact that on the death or retirement of any director, you may have to appoint another director, etc? Would this impose too heavy a burden on you to approach Government or could this be managed normally?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: The truth is at present it is done. You have to approach Government for approval when somebody is retiring in the normal course. There is a feeling that it is an unnecessary formality, but we cannot claim that it imposes. any undue burden. It is an additional work which has to be done.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Please turn to page 42, clause 128, amending section 348-"Remuneration of managing agents ordinarily not to exceed 10 per cent of net profits". In your opening speech you have rightly stressed that where a special type of technical service is rendered. that person should be entitled to some additional remuneration. For instance, if you have a lawyer or an engineer, he is entitled to more remuneration. Would it serve your purpose if power is given to Government to exempt payment made to persons for bona fide technical service rendered to the company?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: Yes, Sir; that would meet our case part of the way so far as technical services are concerned. We would also suggest that further consideration be given to the case where they are bona fide personal services and somebody has to accept the responsibility. Certainly the proposal which has been madeby Mr. Bharucha would meet our case in part.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Please turn to page 44, clause 130, amending section 350, relating to depreciation. You have made some very important observations in connection with the applicability of this section to electrical companies. You have said:

"Having regard to the future relation between sections 205 and **350, it seems to the Chambers to** be necessary to clarify the position regarding depreciation to be charged in the case of electricity companies."

Would you be satisfied if it was mentioned in the clause amending section 350, as follows:

"Provided that in the case of assets governed by the Electricity (Supply) Act, 1948, such depreciation shall be calculated on the basis prescribed in the Sixth and Seventh Schedules of that Act."?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I think that will meet the case.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Would you consider that amendment under clause 130 is desirable or under clause 62 which deals with distribution of dividends out of profits only?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: The amendment should be under section 350.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 46, clause 136 amending section 370. I quite appreciate the force of what you say. It becomes extremely difficult to find out who has got the onethird voting strength. But could you suggest any practical alternative to get over the difficulty?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: It will in the ordinary course be impossible for anyone to ascertain whether onethird of the total voting power of the two companies is exercised by the same individual or body corporate. What I would suggest is, if it has to apply to loans, at least, we should get rid of this complication so far as ordinary trading transactions are concerned.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 47. clause 137—provision with regard to certain loans. Where the loan has been guaranteed, you are required to recall the loan as a practical businessman. Would you not find it difficult if your company guaranteed only such loans as to enforce its repayment?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I think, in many cases it will be found that its enforcement becomes impracticable and Government will have to give consent of extension of the date, probably for a very long period. I think, the point that has been raised by the Hon'ble Member is a very good one.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Page 47, clause 138 amending section 372— Purchase by Company of shares etc. of other Companies. How do you propose to distinguish unhealthy cornering of shares from bona fide investment for development of industries?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: Well. Sir. as many Hon'ble Members are aware. this matter has given a lot of headache to the Chambers of Commerce in past years, but I have to admit, with all the thought given to it, there is no practical way to stop it. You cannot argue that all cornering is bad because there is ample evidence to show, in certain cases cornering does not have an evil effect. Unfortunately, in many other cases. it has a very evil effect. But our opinion on this matter is that initial cornering is started by two or three individuals, not using funds of one company or two companies but of half a dozen or more companies. It is only when the cornering has been effected that something is done to avoid it. Other provisions of this section would have effect to stop cornering. How can you stop cornering except to use the other provisions of the Act?

Shri Kanungo: In other words, there cannot be any law which will be knave-proof.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: Supposing, I learn that somebody is going to corner the shares of my Company then with the aid of my friends I can arrange the purchase of shares against the other man and I fight him and either he wins or I win, either the control over the company rests with us or with the other man. But by the time we issue a notice and call an extraordinary general meeting to pass a resolution, the Forner will have been effected. Shri Naushir Bharucha: I quite agree with you that calling a meeting to purchase a block of shares would immediately push up the prices, or push down the prices. But is there from your experience of working of so many companies any practical way out of it?

**Mr. J. D. K. Brown:** There is a provision in the Bill for the Government to step in and prohibit the transfer of shares for a certain period. I cannot say it would be fully effective, but it will be a deterrent.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Suppose Section 372 is replaced like this:

(i) Companies should be allowed freely to invest anywhere they like;

(ii) If the investment exceeds 30 per cent of investing Company's capital or 10 per cent of the other Company's capital, investing Company desiring to exceed the limit should give intimation to the Government and ask for permission; and

(iii) Government may prohibit further investment or permit it on terms.

Would that in any way get over difficulties? Would you think that would help in any way?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I think, it would be a very distinct improvement on the clause as it stands now. provided that Government are prepared to give instant decisions. I had a case in my own Company only last week. I received a letter from our friends in London that in respect of a Company of which we are the agents another Company—a Trust Company-sent out a letter to the shareholders saying, "We will buy your shares and so on." The effect of that is, if they get a certain number of shares, they will get control over the company. Unless I am in a position to act instantly to defeat that move-nearly instantly, within a week or ten days-to take some effective steps, I may not be able to check that. The proposal which has been made by the Hon'ble Memberwould undoubtedly help provided that Government is able to take instant decisions. If it involves a lengthy inter-departmental consideration of the matter extending over a period of three months, I quite frankly say it would not be a noticeable improvement on the clause.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 54. amending section 530 clause 179 dealing with Preferential Payments. retrenchment particularly about compensation. I have not been able to understand the attitude which certain witnesses, including yourself. have taken on this issue. I do not understand how this is going to be an extraordinary burden on industries who might require accommodation to tide over a period of crisis. When the bankers advance money they do take certain risks. In this particular case, even assuming that there is a labour-intensive industry. the liability would not be retrenchment compensation, because this will be a permanent closure. In the case of bona fide permanent closure the limit is upto 3 months' wages, if the banks are satisfied about the soundness of the company, why should they hesitate to advance money?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: As I understand the position. the banks will advance money on cash and credit account or by way of overdraft, on the basis of a going concern and they do not at the present time take liability into account the potential for retrenchment compensation or closure pay. But if retrenchment compensation is going to be given preference, then it will create difliculties. At the present time, on jute give 90 manufactured goods they per cent and you get very adequate working capital to tide over the busy part of the year when you need it. But if you have 5,000 workers in a mill and if you are going through a period of depression, it is only ordinary prudence if banks také account of the liability. If it is a capital-intensive industry where the number of workers in relation to the size of the company and the transaction is too small, then it is not so serious but some of these export industries which are subject to greater fluctuation and fortune are generally labour-intensive industries.

Shri Jadhav: May I know something about the practice in U.K. to give contributions to political parties by private or public companies?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: There is no law in the matter in U.K. But it is a fact that these organisations do contribute sums to political parties in various ways without any disclosure. I think it is recognised that the Labour Party collects very large sums from workers by way of weekly or monthly contributions and nobody has so far raised a point over this in the U.K. There has from time to time, as you may know, been clamour for publication of the a accounts of the Conservative Party.

**Shri Jadhav:** I would like to know whether this practice is limited to the ruling party or it covers.

**Chairman:** That depends on the contributor. He has to see which party suits him.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: In the course of my audit experiences in U.K., I can honestly say that companies contribute from their funds to the Conservative Party, the Liberal Party and the Labour Party.

Shri Jadhav: May I know what is the maximum amount of managing agent's remuneration in U.K.?

**Mr. J. D. K. Brown:** There is no maximum of remuneration in the U.K.

Shri J. S. Bisht: In regard to clause 15, you have said in your memorandum, page 5, that that clause which provides that under certain circumstances, private companies will be deemed as public companies is not acceptable to you. Do you really think that this clause would lead to some anomalies and difficulties?

**Mr. J. D. K. Brown:** Yes; we visualise that there will be considerable difficulties. The range of these difficulties will be quite wide. We do not think it will be possible to get equitable result by fixing a percentage. It may be that the shares of a private company are held by other companies which are tied up with charitable trusts and so on and will become a public company.

Shri Babubhai M. Chinai: Will you kindly turn to page 18. Do you think that the managerial remuneration at present allowed under the Act is sufficient, or not sufficient? Will the further reduction envisaged in clause 60 be considered as disincentive?

**Mr. J. D. K. Brown:** We find that in practice the remuneration provided in the Act is inadequate in **a** large number of cases. It is impossible to be dogmatic because if a company is highly profitable, you may get quite a good remuneration. But there are industries where ten per cent of the profit will be very inadequate.

Shri Khandubhai K. Desai: If it is inadequate you may suggest something.

Shri Babhubhai M. Chinai: Now I come to clause 62, on the same page. This provision says that dividends are to be paid out of profit arrived at after providing for depreciation. Will this retard capital formation?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I would say that I am all in favour of depreciation being provided before dividends are declared. But I do not think it will be even necessary to provide it by law because it is already there in the sense that the Auditor has to certify that the accounts show a true and fair view of the profits of the year. I quite see that this clause is perhaps put in here to ensure that the Auditor does not overlook this point. As regards the hon. member's question whether it will slow down capital formation, I would say it will, to some extent because with this rather rigid rule, the Board of Directors will not be able to agree with the auditors that the depreciation of certain items of plant will be treated in a certain way . . . .

Shri Babubhai M. Chinai: Will you kindly turn to page 47, clause 138? Do you think that the restrictions on inter-company investment should not be extended as proposed? Under this clause, you cannot invest more than 30 per cent of the subscribed capital. Could you agree if the limit is fixed at 30 per cent. of subscribed capital and reserves?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: Our attitude is that we do not like this at all; we do not think it would be effective for the purpose. We do not think this restriction should be imposed. But if it is imposed we would certainly agree with the hon. Memer that it should be capital plus reserves at least.

Shri J. S. Bisht: Page 11 of the Memorandum; clause 26. You say this clause as it stands today will prevent amalgamation or reconstructions and you want that the words "and is not prohibited by the terms of issue of the shares of that class" to be deleted.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: You have companies-we have many of them-which were floated in the 1880's or 1890's and the share have some peculiar provisions attached to them. It does not cause any difficulty as long as the company carries on in its present form. But if you are going to undertake an expansion scheme and you have got to introduce new capital then you often have, as a preliminary, to reconstruct your existing capital on some basis or other. That is normally done by agreement of the different classes of shareholders inter se and by the company in general meetings. We see no reason why the terms of shares issued on certain terms in 1888 should not be altered by 75 per cent. majority of today's holders of the same shares.

Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi: Page 20. You accepted the suggestion of Mr. Bharucha that you will agree to a proviso to section 205 that the decision of the auditor shall be final. Will it not be placing dictatorial powers in the hands of auditors?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I do not think so, as I explained, beause of the reluctance of the Boards of Directors to see qualified audit reports, which is the existing position. The auditor does have dictatorial powers.

Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi: Would it not be better if the words are added: "after deduction of depreciation at a suitable and fair rate". That will be a guidance to the auditors without giving them final powers.

Mr. J. D. K Brown: That is agreeable pefectly to us The auditors' duties are quite clear. namely thev have to certify that the accounts show a true and fair picture of the profits of the year and if he is doing his job conscientiously he has got to consider this matter.---the adequacy or otherwise of depreciation.

Shri Tangamani: Page 64, clause 179 relating to section 530. On the question of preferential payment to the employees, in case of winding up both under section 530 and also under the Industrial Disputes Act the total amount payable at a particular period is knowable. What will be the percentage on the annual wage bill payable to these workers in case of winding up in an industry say like jute?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I cannot say off-hand—I want notice of it.

Shri Tangamani: This Act puts the maximum at Rs. 1000. Rs. 1000 is the maximum that is fixed and also under the Industrial Disputes Act half a month's salary for every completed year of service, in which case will it exceed more than six months wage bill?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: It would not be six months. There is a large element of jute mill labour, as in many other industries, which turns over-quite a lot. I do not think it will be six months. It is very easy to calculate. There are three employees per loom which is considered to be a fair figure today. The total number of employees in a mill with thousand looms will be 3,000.

Shri Tangamani: In regard to depreciation you have referred to it at page 18 of your memorandum. Are we to take it that you are in support of depreciation being allowed before dividend is declared on the basis of section 250, namely only normal depreciation will be allowed as per Income-tax Act?

 $M_{r.}$  J. D. K. Brown: Normal plus shift allowances, etc., not development rebate and so on although they actually have to be deducted by reason of the provisions of the Finance Acts.

**Shri Tangamani:** Please refer to section 50. I would like a categorical reply from you whether you support the fixation of depreciation before the declaration of dividends on the basis of section 350?

Mr. J. D. К. Brown: As T have already explained, we agree it has to be provided. But we feel that it is not possible to provide a rigid formula, if you are going to get a satisfactory result in every case. We entirely agree that depreciation should undoubtedly have to be deducted before you arrive at the profits out of which you are going to pay dividends. We do not dispute that at all. But what we criticise is any rigid formula for the reasons which I have tried to explain.

**Shri Tangamani:** Clause 128, page 42. In regard to remuneration of managing agents it is stated that it should not be more than 10 per cent. Some witnesses have informed us that it is better to have it from 21 per cent. to 71 per cent. They were saying 10 per cent is on the excess side. How do you reconcile yourself with that view? Mr. J. D. K. Brown: Remuneration by means of a percentage on profits is not absolutely equitable.

**Chairman:** What he means is that in certain cases 2 per cent. may be high; while in other cases even 10 per cent. will be a low sum. In the form of percentage it is difficult to assess in every industry and in every enterprise. It cannot be adequately dealt with by fixing a percentage.

Shri Tangamani: Would he suggest that in some cases less than 10 per cent. will do?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: It is a fact that some companies do charge less than 10 per cent. of the profits and the fact that they charge so is proof that it is acceptable in such cases.

Shri Tangamani: Please refer to page 39 of your memorandum, about clause 124 (Prohibition on appointment as Managing Agent of a body corporate which is itself a subsidiary of another body corporate). What is your objection to this?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: OUT clause is that objection to this it is quite unnecessary. The relationship of a holding company to a subsidiary company is sought to be placed on the same footing as the relationship of a managing agent to a managing agent. The two, in our opinion, are quite different. Our objections are practical, in that there are many companies which are subsidiary. They may be public companies, but the controlling interest may be held by other bodies corporate either in India or abroad. And so far as the latter are concerned, they will have to revise their arrangements. In some cases it may put into their minds the idea of selling their investments in India. At the present time. when there is a severe shortage of foreign exchange in the country, it seems to us that it would be unfortunate to permit a clause of this sort to be put in

873 LS-8.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: It makes provision for the appointment of inspectors.

Shri Tangamani: This is about the Registrar himself. He is authorised to inspect the documents if he chooses or at the instance of a shareholder or creditor.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: We do not see why any extension of the existing provisions is necessary at all.

**Chairman:** He can call for further information on any complaint.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: He either gets the information he requires, or, if he does not get the information, we feel that the Registrar is at perfect liberty to take further steps, namely to go and get an order from the Court to inspect the books or it is for the Government to appoint inspectors. The existing provisions, we feel, are quite adequate if they are used. If the books are found to be not there when the inspector goes, prima facie there is something wrong. What we feel is that if the Registrar is drawn into the orbit of administration, by giving him equal powers with the director to inspect the company's books and that sort of things, it could be used as a defence on the part of a guilty party later on, "Well, I am a director. I never inspect the books, but the Registrar does". We feel that the existing distinction, which is quite clear, between the functions of the Registrar and the functions of the director should be maintained.

Shri Tangamani: With regard to your suggestion on page 3 of your memorandum, relating to clause 3(c), will it not amount to a discrimination in favour of the foreign company as compared to the Indian company, especially in relation to clause 15 for example?

J. D. K. Brown oh aW Mr anv element of disnot see crimination at аП. here because one must presume that there would not be the necessity for this legislation unless it was to protect the shareholders whose money is involved. As I said earlier, the directors of a private company or of a public company may have voting control. But in respect of these Indian Companies subsidiaries of which are foreign bodies corporate, by virtue of the very fact that their entire capital is held by the foreign body corporate, the individual who may nominally be the Managing Director has no right to fix his own remuneration at all. There is no need for it.

Shri Nathwani: Could you tell us what are the provisions in U.K. for exempting private companies and how they compare with those sought to be placed here in this Bill?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: The profar visions as 88 This matter U K. is concerned are in the contained in the Seventh Schedule to the Companies Act. 1948. They extend to five fairly-closely printed pages. By and large, what it says is, if a company is owned by individuals and if there are any corporate holders or trusts, family settlements and so forth, held through limited companies in a nominal capacity. then. even if one hundred per cent of the capital is held by other companies. they will be exempt private companies. On the other hand, if the beneficial ownership of the private company is in the hands of another company where the ownership is at arm's length, an investment in a trading capacity in other words, then they are not exempted.

Shri Nathwani: Do you agree that on the whole they are more severe than those which are sought to be placed in this Bill?

**Mr. J. D. K. Brown:** It is not possible to say. They are more severe in some respects and not so severe in others. As I said, the proposal in the Bill....

**Chairman:** We will judge that severity ourselves.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: With regard to clause 179, about retrenchment compensation, may I know whether your objection is only based on the ground that it is not conducive to the prosperity of the company and the bankers may not lend money and so on, or whether it is based on the ground that this is an innovation in this country and that it does not obtain anywhere else in any other country of the world?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: As far as 1 know, it does not obtain in any other country-but I say this subject to correction. Our objection is purely from the point of view of the management of company finances and the practical difficulties which we visualize may arise. We are not concerned with the labour relations aspect of it, which is properly a matter for the Industrial Disputes Act-where we have made representations on this matter on various occasions.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: The next question is about clause 3(c)—private companies, subsidiaries of foreign bodies corporate. You have said something here which I am not able to make out. For instance, you say:

"Consistent with the distinction which is drawn between public companies and private companies and bearing in mind the proposals in this connection contained in clause 15 of the Bill, the Chambers are of the view that there is no reason why, even if as much as, say, 25% of the share capital of an Indian private company which is a subsidiary of a foreign body corporate is held by another Indian private company or companies, which will continue to be private companies notwithstanding the provisions of the new section 43A, the first named should Indian private company be treated for the purposes of the Act as a subsidiary of a public company".

Am I right in saying that in case you have got 25 per cent of shares of a private company which happens to be a subsidiary of a foreign company, it continues still to be a private company, because the 25 per cent share capital is also invested in the subsidiary company?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: I am not quite sure if I have got the full meaning of the question. But our point is that where you have an Indian private company, the capital of which is to the extent of 75 per cent or more owned by a foreign body-corporate or bodiescorporate, it may not be totally advisable to treat it as a public company: if there is a limited Indian participation, and it is purely private. There are such companies, and some of them are of quite recent formation, to exploit processes; in the course of time, they will become probably public companies. of their own volition, but to subject them at this stage to all the restrictions imposed on public companies is not probably going to encourage the foreign partners in expanding their interests and building up that company. It is a thought that we put in the minds of the committee that a little latitude in this would probably have a very good psychological effect on foreign investment.

Shri Himatsingka: At page 12 of your memorandum, regarding clause 38, you have suggested some amendment in the proviso. How will that improve the present position? Dividend is declared as payable on a particular date, and that is generally the date of the meeting or some date prior to that. If the register is kept open after the dividend becomes due. how will it help shareholders who have not registered themselves?

J. D. K. Brown: As I under-Mr. stand the position, under the Secu-(Contracts) Regulation rities Act. as soon as a buyer registers his shares within a fortnight after the dividend becomes due; he is entitled to that dividend, if he bought the shares before. Therefore, what seems to us to be important is that the share registers should not be closed during that fortnight where he is given the protection under the Securities (Contracts) Regulation

Act. In other words, the emphasis must be on the date on which the dividend is declared as payable or is due to be paid, not the date on which it is declared, because as the hon. the Member has said sometimes. dividend is declared payable on the day of declaration, and sometimes it is declared today but it may not be for a fortnight. Different pavable companies have different practices in the matter.

Shri Himatsingka: Do the companies not fix the date prior to the date of the meeting, generally?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: No. In my own agency, our practice is that the dividend is declared at the meeting for instance, we have the shareholders' meeting on Friday, and we declared the dividends, and they become payable that day and the warrants are posted that night.

**Shri Himatsingka:** True, they will be payable later on to all shareholders who are on the register no a day prior to the date of the meeting.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: My experience is that it is payable to shareholders who are registered as on the date of the meeting.

Shri Himatsingka: Therefore, even if you keep the register open for fifteen days after the date of the meeting or after the dividend has become due, those shareholders will not get the advantage.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: But their position, as I have just said, is protected under the Securities (Contracts) Regulation Act.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: What about the shares which have been transferred long before, three weeks or even before, but which could not be entered in the books?

Shri Himatsingka: Then, they would not get it.

**Shri Morarka:** May I refer the witness to page 5 of the memorandum, where he says:

"While, broadly speaking, the Champers accept the view of the Companies Act Amendment Committee that private companies which employ public money, directly or indirectly, to a considerable extent should be subject.....

Mr. Brown had said that before private company can be made into a public company, it must employ public funds directly or indirectly, and to a considerable extent.

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: That is what we have stated.

**Shri Morarka:** Could you kindly explain to the committee what you mean by the term 'directly or indirectly'?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: Either by direct investments or held through some other company or body. Your shareholders may consist of individuals, either directly or holding through other companies or nominee companies. There are various ways of holding shares in a company.

Shri Morarka: If the public funds are invested in a private company, not necessarily through the shares but through other methods also, would that not be an indirect investment of public funds?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: That is not an investment, in our opinion, within the meaning of the term, as it is understood in company law. I hardly think that it is an investment. For instance, in the case of debentures, the relationship is that between a debtor and a creditor; it is not an investment in that sense. The debenture-holder has got a charge on the assets; he is not concerned with the risks of the business.

Shri Morarka: Similarly, would you consider redeemable preference shares as investment or still as a loan?

Mr. J. D. K. Brown: If they are preference shares, whether they are redeemable or not, they are an investment. There is no doubt about it.

Chairman: Thank you.

(The Witnesses then withdrcw) The Committee then adjourned.

# JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE COMPANIES (AMENDMENT) BILL, 1959 -

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE GIVEN BEFORE THE JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE COMPANIES (Amendment) Bill, 1959

Thursday, the 9th July, 1959 at 08.30 hours.

## PRESENT

Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman

### MEMBERS

## Lok Sabha

2. Shri H. C. Heda	12. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha	13. Shrimati Sucheta Kripalani
4. Shri Shivram Rango Rane	14. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
5. Shri N. R. M. Swamy	15. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
6. Shri Jaganatha Rao	16. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
7. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar	17. Shri S. Easwara Iyer
Morarka	18. Shri M. R. Masani
8. Shri G. D. Somani	19. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
9. Shri Feroze Gandhi	20. Shri Tridib Kumar Chaudhuri
10. Shri Mulchand Dube	21. Shri G. K. Manay
11. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi	22. Shri Naushir Bharucha
	23. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

Rajya Sabha

24. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai	29. Shri P. T. Leuva
25. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar	30. Shri M. P. Bhargava
26. Shri P. D. Himatsingka	31. Shri R. S. Doogar
27. Shri Babubhai M. Chinai	32. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
28. Shri J. S. Bisht	33. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

### DRAFTSMAN

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law. REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

# SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai-Under Secretary.

#### WITNESSER EXAMINED

I. Indian Chamber of Commerce, Calcutta

Spokesmen:

1. Shri B. P. Khaitan	3.	Shri	<b>B</b> .	Kalyana	Sundaram
-----------------------	----	------	------------	---------	----------

2. Shri A. L. Goenka

# II. Indian National Trade Union Congress, New Delhi

Spokesmen:

1. Shri S. R. Vasavada	3. Shri S. D. Desai
2. Shri N. K. Bhatt	4 Shri M. B. Joshi

III. Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry, New Delhi.

Spokesmen:

1. Shri Madanmohan R. Ruia	6. Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain
2. Shri A. M. M. Murugappa Chettiar	7. Shri S. M. Shah
3. Shri Lakshmipat Singhania	8. Shri G. L. Bansal
4. Shri M. L. Shah	9. Shri P. Chentsal Rao
5. Shri Ramnath A, Podar	10. Shri N. Krishnamurthi

## I. Indian Chamber of Commerce, Calcutta

Spokesmen:

- 1. Shri B. P. Khaitan
- 2. Shri A. L. Goenka
- 3. Shri B. Kalyana Sundaram
- (Witnesses were called in and they took their seats.)

**Chairman:** Gentlemen, we have got your memorandum. You may take it that we have gone through that. Would you like to give some clarification with reference to that or would you like the hon. Members to put questions to you?

**Shri B. P. Khaitan:** It would be proper if I emphasise a few of the points which we have made out in the memorandum.

As far as the proposed Bill is concerned, we understand that the object is to put right certain defects or inconveniences in the working of the Company Law as a result of the experience gained during the period after the new Act came into force. We find, however, that in the proposed Bill very extensive powers have been sought to be secured on behalf of Government or the Company Law Administration. Some of the powers are of a very far-reaching character. If these amendments are given effect to as they are. there will be very great concentration of power in the hands of Government and the Company Law Administration. It may be that the amendments will lead to another evil which will be far worse than the evils which are sought to be removed. Concentration of power, as you know, always leads to corruption or nepotism or whatever word you may choose to consider. One of them is, for instance, the power of search. Hon. Members will see that very wide powers have been invested. Those of you who are lawyers will bear me out that the order for search given by magistrates is always given as a matter of course. As far as the power of search is concerned, whenever an application is made that such and such If it were provided, for instance, that this power of search will be resorted to only if it is suspected that an offence has been committed which would involve imprisonment for two or three years or something like that, I can understand, but no such safeguard has been provided in the Bill.

A very wide power which has been sought to be obtained is that no appointment of selling agent will be made without the sanction of the Central Government. There are many companies which have selling organisations all over India. A large number of branches is sarted. Instances of companies producing consumer goods and having the necessity to appoint selling agents all over India in smaller areas are there. Perhaps. that number may run to 500 or 700 or even 800, having regard to the size of our country. If all these applications are to be made to the officials. not only will they be clustered with a large number of applications which they will not be able to deal with in time but it may lead. I think, to the necessity of contacting other people known to the officials before they can be promptly dealt with or suitably granted.

The amendments, if given effect to, will involve various serious difficulties in certain aspects and I am going to emphasize them one by one as and wnen I deal with the matter. The nrst and the most important matter is regarding the altered definition of associates of managing agents. Under the proposed amendments, subsidiaries of an associate are also to be regarded as associates of the managing agents. To that, there is no objection, but the objection lies in the consequential sectons where the activities of the associates are barred. I am inviting your attention to sections 356, 358, 360 and 369 which are the most important sections which deal with one restrictions regarding associates.

I may tell you the contents of those sections one by one. Section 356 of the present Act relates to the appointment of selling agents. Before I deal with the various sections, I will explain to you why those particular sections are likely to create difficulties. Managing agents, in order to ensure continuity of their managing agency and also in order to ensure that they are able to stick to their office, have got to have at least 40 per cent. shares in order to be able to have a working majority. Otherwise, having regard to the present tendencies of cornering and acquisition of control of shares, the managing agents cannot hold on or stick on to the company management unless thev hold at least 40 per cent. shares The resultant effect is that that company becomes the associate of managing agents. The managed company is not only a managed company but also vis-a-vis of other managed companies of the same managing agents, that particular managed company becomes an associate of the managing agents. If that associate starts a company, for instance, in England, for the purpose of having its own buying organisation or if it finds that it is more suitable to have its own organisation for distribution or sale of its own goods, and starts subsidiaries for this purpose, what will happen? For instance, it finds it necessary to start a pulp mill: two or three paper mills which get together may start a pulp mill, and two companies subscribe 50 per cent. and that pulp mill becomes a suosidiary of that paper mill. Therefore. that subsidiary will become an associate of the principal managed company.

Now, if this definition is adhered to, then it will be a total bar so far as the subsidiary is concerned, either to act as a selling organisation for the principal managed company or to supply its pulp to the selling agents of the company unless every time some sort of resolution under section 360° is passed, or there is a bar to monetary help being rendered by the

subsidiary company to the managed company, because no loan can be given. There is an absolute bar on the managed company for giving a loan to the associate of a managing agent Therefore, the managed company will not be able to give loan to its own subsidiary because by virtue definition that subsidiary of this becomes an associate. Therefore, this aspect of the matter seems to have been overlooked, and in my humble submission, adequate safeguard should be made to see that sections 356, 358, 360 and 369 will not apply to subsidiaries of managed companies vis-avis the transactions between the managed company and its own subsidiary.

Then. I come to the definition of 'relative' This definition of relative acquires great importance having regard to other amendments and provis.ons in the Act. One of the important provisions which have been sought to be introduced and which of course we are also opposing is that if in two companies one-third of the shares are commonly held by directors and their relatives, then those two companies will fall under the category of one and the same management. If the present extended list of relatives is adhered to, then, first of all, it will make the task of the management of the various companies very difficult so far as the ascertainment of the relatives' shareholdings is concerned. If we start thinking out who our relations are under the various categories, I think we will require assistance from the various family members before being able to ascertain whether they are such relations or not, and whether they are holding controlling shares. It is not merely directly registered, but the expression used is "control". So, it is a very difficult task because the company transacting with the other company will have to know not only what shares are direc'ly registered in that category of relations, but also to find out, if at all they get the co-operation of all those relatives, what shares they are controlling through their nominees, and so on. So, to avoid difficulties in practical working and also to avoid the penal sections with which I shall be dealing later on, it will be desirable to have these relatives curtained.

In fact, the present definition has gone far beyond the recommendations of the Sastri Committee. Under the existing provisions, cousins 9 7 0 brought within the prohibited degree only if they are members of the joint family. But, now even if they have gone out of the joint family, they are kept in the category of prohibited relatives. As far as I know, there is ne love even amongst brothers after they are separated not to speak of cousins and other distant relations.

I am now taking up the question of 25 per cent, shareholding of one company in ano her private company causing it to be deemed to be a public company and also the prohibition of subsidiaries acting as managing agents. I have not been able to see the pur-Jose behind constituting a public company simply because another company holds shares to the extent of 25 per cent, in a private company. In fact, I read the recommendations of the Sastri Committee; since you must have also read them, I will not take your time by reading them out again here. But hon, Members will see that beyond the dogmatic statement that this should be done, nothing else has been stated. In that case, the principle should be even if a public comrany holds 1 share in a private company with a shareholding of 3.000 shares, it ought to be considered as a public company. Why 25 per cent. of the shares? I would suggest that the safeguard which is already contained in the company law, namely the extension of the various restricting provisions relating to public companies, should be enough. It is not necessary to convert the company into a public company. Today a company may acquire 25 per cent, shares and it is converted into a public company. The next day the company may sell its shares and it ceases to be a shareholder. So, again that company should be reconverted into a private company. So, this process of conversion

and reconversion will go on. So, the better thing would be you may apply to such a company the restrictions imposed on the subsidiary of a public company. That will serve the purpose.

Here again, if the particular company happens to be a private company acting as managing agent, it will lead to a change of constitution if it is to be converted into a public company. In that case, again an application has to be made to the Central Government for sanction regarding change of constitution on the ground of conversion of a private company into a public company, quite apart from the fact that a change of constitution will be effected by reason of the shareholding. But by reason of the shareholding, an application for change may not be necessary, secause the same company which is a shareholder acquires more shares or even without changing membership, there might be a change in the holding.

With regard to filing of returns, etc. with the Registrar, under section 297, the Board's sanction is required for certain class of transactions. I think you will have to provide for a big cfilce for filing so many things with the Registrar.

Regarding clause 53 which provides. with regard to dividends, that you have to set apart the money and deposit it in the bank. I would like to emphasise the fact that most of the companies have to depend on overdrafts for carrying on their business. Fig companies have to provide very large sums for dividends. If they have to withdraw that money and keep it in a separate account, they will be paying interest on the overdraft, but they may not be earning any interest on the money so kept. The time which lapses between the date of the transfer and the collection the dividends is about 2 or 3 of munths and the loss of interest in some cases will be to the time of Rs. 5 lakhs or Rs. 10 lakhs. This loss would be that of the company and consequently of the shareholders who would be interested in the dividend and the larger profits of the company.

Regarding clause 75, we have no objection to auditing of branches. because that means in addition to the head office, the factory accounts will also be audited. But beyond that, it would be a very expensive and diffthing for companies having cult numerous small branches where some kind of production takes place and of which it can be said that the activity is similar to that carried on at the nead office My submission is that audit should be restricted to factory accounts or places where activity of a very substantial character is carried on and not extended to every place which may be characterised as a branch within the definition

Then, Sir, I come to clause 116. remuneration of managing Directors. Five per cent has been fixed as a ceiling of remuneration of directors. It means this will cause us a bar to the appointment of technical and other administrative personnel as directors of the company. I think, Sir, it is our policy that we should give increasing participation to those who are not interested in companies 88 proprietors or hereditary proprietors. but people who by reason for their merit have achieved high position in companies. It should be possible for them to become directors of com-They have been drawing a panies. certain salary every month and they will be drawing it every month and they cannot anticipate at the end of the year whether there will be profit or not, or the totality of the salaries will or will not exceed 5 per cent. In that case it would be very difficult for them either to become direc. tors or if they become directors, it will be a great hardship if they are expected to discard the salaries which they have earned by their hard labour. Therefore, either an exception should be made with regard to holding secondary persons who are managerial offices or their technical staff and all that, from the category of this 5 per cent ceiling, or some other safeguard should be provided. In fact, when a person is appointed managing director or when the director's salary is fixed on monthly basis, sanction is taken by the Government. So far as the company is concerned, it takes into account in fixing the salary of a technical or other personnel as to what reasonable salary should be given to him, and it comes to the Company Law Administration for sanction. They also, I presume, take into account all the factors. Then, why should, when 5 per cent ceiling is exceeded, it be necessary to go to the Government again for sanction of condonation of the limit beyond 5 per cent?

Now, I come to clause 124 which provides that no subsidiary company can act as managing agent. I can think of many instances where subsidiary companies are acting as managing agents and I do not know what objectionable feature has been discovered to justify the introduction of this provision in the proposed Bill. Quite apart, there may be existing managing agents who may have collaboration with others with a view to become managing agents of some newly proposed venture. Sir. I submit. there is no objection in principle to companies subsidiary becoming managing agents. I think, the purpose will be served if all the restrictions which are applicable to managing agents are made applicable to subsidiary companies. But there should be no bar to subsidiary companies acting as managing agents. If a subsidiary is acting as managing agent, the provision regarding change of constitution may be extended to holding companies also. because-I know Mr. Mazumdar is smiling-say. for instance, section 346 allows a change in the constitution of that other body corporate. If there is a change of constitution of holding cannot have control company, we because ultimate control lies in the holding company. You may say, change of the constitution of the holding company will amount to the change of subsidiary company also and you may have that safeguard, but there is no objection in principle to the subsidiary acting as managing agent.

Then. I come to clause 130. which provides that no dividend shall be paid except out of net profits. This leads us to the present definition under the altered clauses regarding computation of net profits. The amendment under the clause provides that depreciation shall be calculated on the book-value of the assets of the company. Now. during recent vears. many companies either for giving their balance-sheet a better look or for many other reasons. revalued their assets. Assets which according to the normal rules of calculation had depreciated to a considerable extent have been revalued. Now, among the shareholders there would be numerous persons who would be widows and others who would be depending on dividends for their livelihood and they must be holding shares quite in the expectation that they will continue to get dividends in the manner they have been getting. If depreciation is calculated on this revalued asset, then it will have various repercussions. It will affect the computation of the 10 per cent overall in section 198. It ceiling provided will affect the calculation of profits for the purpose of dividends and—it is not coming to my mind-there is one more point which it will affect. This is the position. In my humble opinion, this position is not only discriminatory but also will result in hardship. It is discriminatory because companies which started life at the same time, some of them which did not revalue their assets, their shareholders will continue to get dividends, etc. on the basis of profits calculated on their written down assets, whereas those companies where assets have been revalued, they will suffer simply because their management at one time thought that the assets should be revalued either for the purpose of giving better look or for some other reasons. Therefore, my submission is, this position regarding calculation of depreciation on revalued assets should not be introduced.

Then, I come to clauses 136 and 138 together because both of them relate to inter-company investments and transactions.

I am sorry. I will deal with clause 138 only, because I have already dealt with clause 136. This clause is perhaps put in order to fix a ceiling on inter-company investment. I presume that what is sought to be achieved is concentration of wealth. But at the same time we must not lose sight of the fact that today accumulation of wealth is possible under the present tax structure only in incorporate enterprises. Starting of new ventures or promotion of new undertakings or collaboration with foreign investors is possible only with the help of the accumulated wealth in the hands of incorporate companies. If there is a bar to the utilisation of accumulated wealth in the hands of incorporate enterprises such collaboration will not be possible. Then, many times it happens that prosperous companies issue rights shares and the existing companies hold shares to the ceiling and if they issue rights shares and those rights shares are often issued at par whereas the market value of those shares is at a high premium. It will not be possible for the companies to acquire those rights shares if the present position remains. If the objective be to control power only, there should be no objection at least to acquisition of non-voting shares such as preference shares or other shares.

Clause 179 provides for payment of compensation to workers. I thought that the objective of the amendments and the various regulations behind the Companies Act is to safeguard the interests of persons dealing with the companies and to safeguard the interests of persons making investments in the companies. No doubt, the interests of workers should also be safeguarded. But we should not, in our over anxiety to safeguard in every possible way the interests of workers, lose sight of the numerous persons who deal with the company. Quite apart from the fact that it may scare banks-many companies whose management is not powerful enough may find it difficult to secure loans and advances-I submit that the Select Committee should look after the interests of other persons also who have become the creditors of the company. Their interests should also be looked after. So far as workers are concerned, in principle, we are not objecting to any provision being made for safeguarding their interests. But what is the difference between safeguarding the interests of the workers in the hands of a corporate enterprise and safeguarding the interests of the workers in the hands of a non-corporate enterprise? You are, by making this provision here, no doubt safeguarding the interests of workers in the event of liquidation. so far as a corporate enterprise is concerned. But if a private individual, a multi-millionaire, runs the by some misfortune show and if incurs loss and becomes insolvent. what happens? In order to safeguard the interests of workers and ensure payment of compensation to them, some other method can be adopted. namely, compulsory insurance so that in the event of liquidation or insolvency, be it a corporate or a noncorporate enterprise, the interests of workers are safeguarded.

Then there is clause 200. It is an omnibus penalty clause. This, I am not able to understand. If I do any small thing or commit any small mistake that act will come under this provision. In the case of the Act, I will incur civil liability, but here it will be a penal offence. This clause should be deleted.

Shri P. T. Leuva: You have stated that you are in favour of protecting the rights of the workers. You have also said that if the retrenchment compensation becomes a prior charge in the event of liquidation, then it will affect the credit-worthiness of the company adversely. In any event the liability would not go beyond Rs. 1,000. In that case how will it affect the company adversely?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The ceiling of Rs. 1,000 is with regard to wages. If this limit of Rs. 1,000 is extended to retrenchment compensation, the amount will geometrically rise. My greater emphasis was on the discriminatory character of the provision as against corporate and non-corporate enterprises. As I said a provision like this is not germane to the provisions of the Companies Act. It should be a provision providing for insurance, or some other provision.

Shri P. T. Leuva: What I am driving at is this: With regard to arrears of wages, you admit that the limit is Rs. 1,000 and that it has got a prior charge. Now, retrenchment compensation is also a claim by a worker because he is losing his livelihood and that is the reason why in the law it has been provided that compensation should be treated as a prior charge in the event of liquidation of a company. What is the objection if the ceiling is Rs. 1,000?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: So far 85 workers are concerned, most of them are paid weekly and therefore there is no chance of their wages remaining in arrears for four months. The wages which are in arrears are in respect of the clerical staff or some other people whose total liability. even within this limit of four months. will be very small whereas the retrenchment compensation for a large firm will come to a very large figure. It may be Rs. 50 lakhs or Rs. 30 lakhs whereas under the present provision his liability would come to Rs. 40,000 or Rs. 25,000. It cannot be in lakhs.

Shri P. T. Leuva: That would also depend upon the size of the particular undertaking.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The company is wound up, except in case of amalga-

mation or reconstruction, only when large liabilities accrue.

**Shri P. T. Leuva:** In case of amalgamation if the workers are retrenched then the company which is newly formed will pay the compensation.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The assets will be there and they will be paid. The safeguard is not necessary.

**Shri P. T. Leuva:** The question is not in regard to safeguard. When a company goes into liquidation the question will arise whether the workers will have a prior right for the payment of dues.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I cannot advance my argument any further beyond this that the quantum involved will be disproportionate to the quantum involved if provision is made.

**Shri P. T. Leuva:** The difficulty is that you are not in a position to advance your argument further and we are not in a position to understand you.

**Chairman:** We have to see what weight is to be attached to the evidence.

Shri P. T. Leuva: I got an impression while you were dealing with clause 15 that you will have no objection if the company in which the shares are held by any other body corporate is treated as a public company. Am I right?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: If all the restrictions now provided for in the Act with regard to subsidiaries of a public company are extended to that company, I have no objection.

Shri M. P. Bhargava: Please see page 49 of your memorandum where you begin a new point. Could you elucidate what is in your mind about that point? What do you want to be incorporated in the Bill?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: A company is not a citizen, as you know. Many times it is argued that the provisions of article 19 relating to Fundamental Rights, are not available to a company. You are by making many restrictive provisions encroaching on article 19.

**Shri M. P. Bhargava:** Do you want any change in the citizenship rights, what is the idea?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: It is not that.

**Chairman:** Even if it were so, we are not competent to go into the question. Therefore the hon. Member need not labour it.

Shri M. P. Bhargava: In regard to next paragraph about the schedule do you intend giving a supplementary memorandum?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I do not think you will allow me.

Shri M. P. Bhargava: Have you any comments to make about the schedule?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I have none.

Shri Somani: A<sub>S</sub> a spokesman of an important Chamber and as a senior lawyer is it your point that some of the far-reaching provisions are not necessary to ensure healthy and sound management of the corporate sector and they cause unnecessary diversion of time and energy in complying with these restrictions rather than that these should be utilised for productive purposes? Would you enlighten the committee on this point?

**Chairman:** The answer is obvious.( The witness would agree with you.

**Shri Somani:** Regarding your point about dividend would it meet the requirements if distribution of dividend up to 6 per cent is made free of these restrictions about depreciation.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Yes, Sir, or a provision similar to that in section 208 may be introduced. .....

Shri Somani: About cornering of shares do you suggest that when a

businessman or individual obtains a majority of shares in any company then Government should not interfere in regard to the transfer of the majority shares?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The views of the Chamber are already in the memorandum.

Shri P. T. Leuva: The section provides that in case of cornering of shares Government will intervene only in case such transfer is prejudicial to the interests of the shareholders.

Shri A. C. Guha: About the cornering of shares Government is only proposing to take a permissive authority, authority to interfere in certain cases. Will Mr. Khaitan object to that even?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The memorandum does not say so.

**Shri A. C. Guha:** What do you say now? What is your objection to the provision as incorporated in the Bill?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: All that the memorandum says is that the member concerned should not be absolutely deprived of representation on the Board. That is a compromise between the view expressed in the proposed amendment and the existing situation.

Shri A. C. Guha: What is your objection to the provision in the Bill?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The objection is to absolute deprivation of any representation on the Board. Suppose there is a board of four or five persons. Why should a person who has got certain shares, or acquired a large interest be absolutely excluded from the Board?

Shri A. C. Guha: Would you suggest anything in the ordinary course of things to protect the interest of the minority shareholders?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The Act contains very far-reaching provisions for protecting the interests of the minorities. **Chairman:** He says they are farreaching, not merely enough.

Shri R. M. Dave: Please refer to pages 5-7 of your memorandum. The general impression that is created when one goes through this part of the memorandum is that you have in mind the proximity and the remoteness of the relationship as defined in the law of succession and that you want that the same should be incorporated in the Company Law. The question is, in the case of Company Law the more relevant consideration is whether a particular person is likely to be under the influence of another person. rather than whether he has got the proximity or remoteness of a particular relationship. As the Schedule stands today the provision that any person belonging to a joint family should be considered a relative irrespective of proximity or remoteness of the relation is for the purpose of ensuring that a person under the influence of another person and likely to be under the influence of another person should be considered a "relative". Is there not a distinction between the law of succession and the Company Law in this matter?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: So far as the law of succession is concerned, that is quite a different subject and it has nothing to do with Company Law. But the relationship apparently has been regarded as the sole test by which the inference of control should be drawn. In my experience, relations are less dangerous for the purpose of control than friends and other well-wishers.

**Shri N. R. Munisamy:** Would you agree that the activities of the joint stock company have to be regulated by the Company Law Administration?

Chairman: He agrees.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I fully agree, but....

**Chairman:** I have answered for you! He will come with the next question where you may put your 'but'.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: You also agree that the appointment of a selling agent is one of the activities of the joint stock company?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Mr. Mazumdar will not be able to deal with all those applications, from ICI, National Tobacco Company, Bata Shoe Company etc., and he will have to appoint officers all over India, and I do not know what will happen in remote regions.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: By 'Mazumdar' he means collectively the Government.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: If you agree that the appointment of the selling agent is one of the activities of the joint stock company and the managing agents, I think there is no special ground in your objecting to the appointment of the selling agent with the approval of the Government, as the appointment is one of the activities of the managing agents.

**Shri B. P. Khaitan:** I have serious objection to the concentration of power.

Chairman: Next question.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: I do not agree with the objection that there will be concentration of power. But I will go to the next question.

You agree that the appointment of a subsidiary company as a managing agent is only as an agent for the holding company. If that is so, if the holding company could appoint a subsidiary as managing agent—to which you disagree—, why should the subsidiary company have wide powers beyond the scope and functions of the holding company?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: My point has not been clearly understood. What I said was that managing agents, in order to secure the continuance of their managing agency, have to hold in many cases more than 30 per cent shares in their own managed com-Those managed panies. companies therefore become associates of their own managing agency companies, and if that managed company starts a subsidiary for having a selling or buying organisation or for other activities, in that case, having regard to the present restriction it cannot lend money to its own subsidiary. it cannot appoint its own subsidiary as buying or selling agent. That restriction should be removed by a suitable amendment in the Bill.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: Would you specifically state the particular section which, while removing the difficulties, creates fresh difficulties?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: It won't create. All that you have to do is to provide suitable exceptions in sections 356, 358, 360 and 369.

Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha: With respect to the holding of annual general meetings, they say that the Registrar ought to have the powers to extend the time instead of the Government having it. What is the particular objection to the Government having the power?

**Chairman:** That was contained in the new point—they want freedom as citizens to do as they like.

Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha: They want the Registrar to exercise the power and not the Government. What is the reason for it?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: That is not so. We say that the existing provision empowering the Registrar to extend the time, which is being taken away, should be continued.

Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha: But this has been taken away by Government and Government should exercise the same power.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: It means that we have to come to Delhi every time.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Concentration of power!

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Not a question of concentration of power.

**Shri Morarka:** May I refer you to your letter dated 24th June which encloses this memorandum and read two lines therefrom? The letter says:

"the Committee of the Chamber find that several other difficulties which the working of the Companies Act during the last three years or so have brought to light have been left untouched by the present Amendment Bill."

May I request you to enumerate some of those difficulties which have been brought out by the working and the experience of the Act which have been left untouched by the present Bill?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Sir, I have not come prepared to answer that question.

**Chairman:** If he enumerates those difficulties, shall we be able to remove them?

Shri Morarka: Sir, that is a very pertinent question. My understanding of the powers of a Select Committee is that if some new points are made which are relevant to the purpose of the Bill, it has powers to go into them. For instance, the present Bill is to remove the difficulties in the functioning of the Company Law, and if the witnesses point out certain things and the Committee is convinced that some more provision is necessary in the Bill, the Committee has powers to make amendments to that extent. This was the ruling given by the previous Select Committees.

Chairman: I differ from it a little. In my view, when they have said in their memorandum that there are certain things in the Act which create difficulties and they have not been removed or touched upon by this Bill. our purpose is to look into the provisions of the Bill or anything that would follow as a consequential matter or a resultant thing: we can only look to these and not open those sections that are not the subjectmatter of this amending Bill. Therefore I thought that even if they refer to other sections and say that there are certain difficulties created. 1170 might not be competent to go into them.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Even if they are very genuine difficulties.

**Chairman:** Therefore, when we have no power, why should we listen to them?

Shri Morarka: I bow to your ruling, but if you permit me, at a later stage, I may be able to quote some precedents.

**Chairman:** And then the witness says that he is not able to relate all those difficulties.

Shri Morarka: Then may I know why they made a statement like that in their letter?

**Chairman:** We should rather refer to those comments and suggestions that have been given in regard to the clauses than go into other things. They might have committed a mistake in the letter; we need not take notice of it.

Shri Morarka: That is probably a mistake; I do not know. There is another statement in the same letter, which reads thus:

"Moreover, on a study of the provisions of the Amendment Bill, it is found that some of the changes proposed in it are of a far-reaching nature.". May I know what those proposals are which according to the witnesses are of a far-reaching character, and which are not just for the purpose of removing the difficulties?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I think I made them out in my opening address.

**Shri Morarka:** In his opening address, the witness has more or less paraphrased the memorandum which he has submitted.

**Chairman:** I would request hon. Members to remember that we need not comment on that when the witness is present. We shall have enough opportunities when we sit separately.

Shri Morarka: In regard to clause 15, the witness has said that he would have no objection if these companies are treated as a subsidiary of the public companies. May I know what difference it would make in practice whether a company is a subsidiary of a public company or whether a company is deemed to be a public company?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The same difference which exists today in not converting a subsidiary into a public company, even though it is a subsidiary of a public company, will be there. For example, the present Act provides that the moment a managing agency company becomes converted or is to be converted into a public company, then you have to alter the articles, you have to change the name, and so on; whereas, a subsidiary of a public company today does not have to go through all those formalities. Again, the Act provides that if a public company ceases to be a public company and becomes a private company, it is obligatory again to take steps for altering the articles, for changing the name, for obtaining Government sanction and so on; when it is again converted into a public company. the same formalities will again have to be gone through. And this process may go on, that is, the conversion from public to private, and from private to public, may go on so many times, whereas, in case it is subjected

to all the restrictions and provisions of a subsidiary of a public company, as under the present Act, all these formalities will be eliminated

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Our understanding was, with particular reference to section 346, that the subsidiary of a public company, which has a managing agnt today, assuming that there is such a company, is as much subject to section 346  $a_s$  any other public company.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Quite so.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: So, there is really no distinction between the subsidiary of a public company and a 'deemed' public company, for the purpose of section 346 today.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I made an additional suggestion namely that in section 346 suitable changes be made where the subsidiary is a managing agent....

**Shri D. L. Mazumdar:** We have taken that power already. That is there in the Bill.

Shri B. P. Khaitan:...so far as the holding company is concerned....

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: That is what 1 have stated. That is covered already.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I was trying to understand the implication of Shri Morarka's question. I did not realise that there was any appreciable difference so far as the treatment of these companies was concerned, as between a subsidiary of a public company and a 'deemed' public company. That was my understanding.

**Shri Morarka:** May I refer the witness to pages 20-21 of the memorandum? The memorandum says:

"The committee wish to point out that there may be a case where a monthly salary is fixed for a manager or a whole-time director, and at the end of the year, the total amount so paid by way of monthly salary exceeds the prescribed percentage of the net profits or the pre-873 L.S.-9. scribed minimum managerial remuneration, that is, Rs. 50,000. It will not be possible for the company to know this in advance...."

May I know why it is not possible, when the amount of Rs. 50,000 is already prescribed, to calculate whether the monthly salary of a director or directors or manager as the case may be would work out to more than Rs. 50,000 or not?

**Shri B. P. Khaitan:** The hon. Members is an important industrialist, and he knows that at the commencement of the year it is not possible to calculate it.

**Chairman:** Here, he is a Member of the Committee.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: He knows that he cannot anticipate at the commencement of the year whether at the end of the year, his textile mills will make a profit or a loss.

Shri Morarka: This figure of Rs. 50,000 has nothing to do with profit or loss. It is the minimum. I agree that so far as profits are concerned, you cannot forecast, but you can always provide for the minimum and calculate against that.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: That is exactly what we are suggesting, that so far as this minimum is concerned, we should not be subjected to Government sanction.

Shri Morarka: In regard to clause 63 which amends section 207, could you please tell us whether in the experience of your association, there has been any case where the dividend has not been paid in time or has not been paid fully according to the provisions of the present Act?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: After the present penal provisions, I have not come across a single case, and I do not see why such a provision should be made.

Shri Morarka: There is one point about depreciation, which the witness said, which I could not follow. He said that those companies which had revalued their assets were at a disadvantage, as compared with those that did not revalue. I would request the witness to clarify the position, as to whether revaluing or not revaluing the assets would make any difference, so far as the normal depreciation is concerned.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: There are two aspects of the matter. So far as income-tax is concerned, they will allow depreciation only on the written-down value, as per the original cost. Whatever revaluation we may do, they will not allow us higher depreciation. It is not the company which will suffer by this: it is the shareholders and the managing agents or other persons who are remunerated on the basis of net profits, who will suffer, if the calculation of profits for the purpose of dividend is on the basis of the revalued assets. Suppose, for instance. the written down value is Rs. 20 lakhs, and it has been revalued to Rs. 1 crore: if you calculate depreciation on Rs. 1 crore, the amount of depreciation will be much larger. Therefore, a much larger slice of the gross profits will be taken out, leaving for the shareholders a much lesser amount: and therefore. it may be, that it takes away the whole amount of the profits, leaving nothing to be divided among the shareholders.

Shri Morarka: But if the same assets are revalued from Rs. 20 lakhs to Rs. 1 crore, do you suggest that you can allow depreciation on Rs. 1 crore?

Shri B. P. Kbaltan: That is what you have provided for in the Bill.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: No, there is no such requirement in the Bill.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The language of the proposed amendment is 'valued as per books'. I do not know of any other meaning for this term. If I have revalued, it would be the revalued amount, because my books will show the revalued amount. Shri Morarka: The Bill says only about the normal depreciation that is allowed.

**Chairman:** We have understood the witness as to what he feels about the interpretation of these words. We shall discuss amongst ourselves later whether there is really such an interpretation or not.

**Shri B. P. Khaitan:** From the Government representative's remarks it appears to me that these words are not intended to convey that meaning.

Chairman: That is not the intention.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Referring to the definition of 'associate', you are suggesting the dropping of the amendment proposed or, as an alternative, you suggest a proviso being added to that section that 'the bar of that section will not apply to loans, guarantees and other financial assistance by a holding company to its subsidiary or vice-versa'.

In that case, what remedy would you suggest for preventing the interlocking of assets along the lines which happened in Mundhra's case?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I think the hon. Member has not quite appreciated the point which I advanced. I said this. that under the modern conditions the managing agents have got to ensure their management continuity of because under the present Act a managing agency contract can be terminated by a simple resolution. Therefore, to safeguard against the termination of managing agency contract it is necessary for a managing agent to hold at least 35 to 40 per cent shares in the managed company. The managed company may be, say, Tata Iron and Steel Co., a big organisation. That managed company may have to start a subsidiary in England for purchasing stores. If this present provision is going to be given effect to, the Tata Iron and Steel cannot give a loan to its subsidiary in London; it cannot buy goods through that company or sell company. So, I am goods to that only suggesting an exception.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** I have followed that point of view. But you also say 'vice-versa'. In your present illustration, you want the subsidiary company in England to give loan to the Tata Iron and Steel Co.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Because it is Tata's money with them. So long as they can use it let them; but if they make a profit why should they not give a loan?

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I can understand your plea that where purchases have to be made the definition should be modified to cover such anticipated purchases. It may be permissible. But I cannot understand your saying that the subsidiary company in England, in this case, should advance money by way of loan to the Tatas.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Even the existing provisions of law allow subsidiaries to grant loans to the holding company. That is not being taken away even under this amendment. I only say that in the case of the subsidiaries of such holding companies, some exception should be made.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: We understand and appreciate what you state. But can you suggest any concrete formula by which we can overcome this difficulty?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I have not got it; but I think your draftsman can do it.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Coming to page 16, at the bottom you have made a reference:

"The power of the general meeting to give directions in respect of offer of new shares should, therefore, be so amended as not to extend to total exclusion of the existing holders of equity shares from participating in new shares to the detriment of value of their existing shareholdings."

Supposing the new shares are issued for amalgamation purposes, do you suggest that it must be obligatory that some additional shares should also be issued to existing shareholders?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Under section 81 it is obligatory for a company which issues 'right shares' to take the sanction of the shareholders at a general meeting. Otherwise, they have to offer it to existing shareholders. I take it that this provision was introduced with a view to check abuses on the part of the controlling interest in taking over the shares themselves. A simple majority is not sufficient and, therefore, we have suggested that this should be converted into a special resolution.

As regards amalgamation and other things, our memorandum already states that there should be an exception.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Coming to page 25, clause 64 dealing with section 209 regarding the power of inspection by the Registrar, you say:

"Books of accounts are confidential documents relating to the internal management and administration of companies, and the Act does not permit their inspection even by members of companies:"

In this particular case, Parliament desires that these account books could be inspected by the Registrar. Don't you think that cases might arise when this would be for the benefit of the company?

Would it not be much better that the Registrar should have access to the books of accounts so that cases of frivolous complaints may be summarily rejected instead of having recourse to the process of search warrant?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: As it is couched, this power is very wide. The question of seeing the books with a view to satisfy himself as to whether a certain thing has happened or not is quite different from the question of powers which are now sought to be taken, namely the power to inspect, a thing which is against all canons known so far. It is well-known that there should not be a general power of making a fishing enquiry and a roving inspection. This has been condemned by the judiciary all over the world and now we are trying to introduce this provision in the company law.

Shri Easwara Lyer: There has been no such condemnation.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Then I come to page 28, clause 84 dealing with cornering of shares. While I quite appreciate what you say that preventing the holding of shares might tend to hamper genuine industrial development, what scheme would you suggest to distinguish between cornering of shares and the holding of shares for genuine investment?

**Shri B. P. Khaitan:** I am obliged to you for this suggestion. That is exactly the reason why we say that there should not be total exclusion of voting powers since it is very difficult to distinguish between genuine acquisition and mala fide acquisition.

Section 409 and other safeguards are already there and that power has been exercised rather liberally by the Company Law Administration. I do not see why this additional safeguard has become necessary.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: For taking powers before the event, and not merely after the event.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: You have exercised it before the event because notice has to be given and that notice has to be 21 days' notice and Government has got the power to exercise this under section 409. The amendment gives powers to Government to pass an interim order. The power is already given to you. There are adequate safeguards under the present section 409.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: On page 33 of your memorandum, you object to the necessity of obtaining Government sanction after the appointment of a relative has been made—in cases of promotion: You ask why should they go again to the Government or the meeting. You as a lawyer would admit that this provision can be circumvented if after the appointment on a salary of Rs. 100 a month, promotion could be given to such relative of even Rs. 500.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: That is why I do not press it.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I turn to page 38, clause 129, which deals with political contributions by companies. Will you say that this should be regarded as expenditure of a capital nature? I cannot understand that. Why should it not be an operating cost?

**Chairman:** Opinions can differ. One person might think that it is capital expenditure. It might give the benefit afterwards and not immediately, and you think that it is operating cost. These are only two opinions.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Suppose they are getting any benefit out of it afterwards.

**Chairman:** It is only a difference of opinion.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: This point has been put on somewhat of a misconception, namely, that if it is treated as an outgo, then the amount available for dividends and other things will go down. I think that if by statute a certain thing is treated as an outgo, it will be treated as an outgo for all purposes such as income-tax and the rest. That is the only point.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Do you want to treat it as capital?

Shri B. P. Khaltan: If it is capitalused, you get depreciation. If it is not treated as revenue expenditure, then only the shareholders suffer, whereas they do not get the benefit of taxes. That is the point behind it.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: There is another difficulty. If it is capital, then in the case of electricity undertakings, they would earn 6 per cent on the political contributions also, under the Act. About depreciation, your colleague, Shri Goenka, has pointed out that the words are such that they may lend to a possible interpretation that the written down value may be of the revalued assets. I am referring to page 55 of the amending Bill wherein it is said:

"The amount of depreciation to be deducted in pursuance of clause (k) of sub-section (4) of section 349 shall be the amount calculated with reference to the written down value of the assets  $a_s$  shown by the books of the country...." etc.

By that you mean that it might be the revalued amount and not the original cost as written down. But then you will realise that since there has been provision on the income-tax basis, the income-tax refers only to the written down cost as related to the original cost.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: It was construed by me that so far as the rates are concerned they will be those provided for in the income-tax provisions. So far as the quantum on which it will be calculated, it will be that as per the assets valued in the books. Since it is considered that it is not the intention, a clarificatory change may be made.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: In the case of companies which have revalued their assets, the difficulty still arises. Suppose the assets were revalued five years back. You have been setting aside the proportionate depreciation on the basis of the revalued assets. Supposing some companies have done that. How will you revert back to the original cost basis?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I do not think that question arises from the present Bill, because, so far as those assets as per books are concerned, they will be arrived at after excluding, and making calculation for, the earlier period. They will be for that year. But since it is considered that provision has been made on the written down value calculated according to the provisions of the Income-tax Act, not only according to those rates but also according to the cost and other things, there is no difficulty.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Do you think that in practical working you would not find any difficulty even where you have adopted the replacement basis for five years or so?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Even today there is no difficulty.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Coming to page 43, second paragraph, you have expressed some genuine difficulty about bonus shares and right shares issued, as a result of which the maximum fixed might be exceeded. What is the solution? Do you suggest that the bonus shares might not carry any voting right?

**Shri B. P. Khaitan:** What I suggested was that the debentures and preference shares do not carry voting rights at all. Therefore, so far as the debentures and preference shares are concerned, they should be totally excluded from this restriction.

**Shri D. L. Mazumdar:** From the computation of the percentage.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Yes. That is why I suggest that if the limit is exceeded by reason of our taking bonus shares or right shares, they must be excluded even though they do not carry voting rights.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: At the same page—page 43—you are referring to section 372 in relation to the question of acquiring investing rights in other companies which requires sanction of the Government. What exactly is your difficulty about it? I suppose your difficulty is this: that industrial development may be held up or perhaps you go by going to the general meeting and advertising it make the deal impossible. Is that your idea?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: First of all, for a meeting, it will take time. Then, going to the Government for sanction will also take much time. Projects should not move so slowly, and they should move fast. They should not move at bullock-cart speed.

Shri D. L. Masumdar: Supposing the collaboration of the project involves licensing, would you not have to take time to get those licences?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: That  $i_s$  an example which should be cited. That is exactly another point. There is licence and there will be so many other applications.

**Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Why cannot** this be done simultaneously?

Shr. B. P. Khaitan: If you want me to cite cases, I can say that the granting of licences takes inordinate time. Where the granting of licence should take not more than half an hour, they have taken three months, because the persons concerned do not know any authority personally. They cannot carry on.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Coming to page 45, paragraph (f), you suggest that investment companies should be exempted.

"The Committee consider it necessary that this section should not apply to companies which trade in shares, debentures and other company securities".

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The idea is this. Where shares have been bought, the word "acquire" has been used in the draft Bill. It should be "acquired and sold". I think so far as the verbal change is concerned it has come to the notice of the draftsman and it will be done.

But there are many companies which deal in shares. Thev buv shares and they sell the shares. Within a period of one month, both the purchase and the sale take place. Then there is no time to have it registered in their own name. That is the point. You have got purely investment companies doing no other business. In such cases if you impose a limit, that would be difficult. Is it your suggestion that such purely investment companies should be excluded?

# Shri B. P. Khaitan: Yes.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: While F appreciate your argument that investment companies may have to be excluded from the operation of the clauses which restrict acquisition and sale of shares except with Government consent, would it not be possible for an industrialist who is bent upon knocking the bottom out of these clauses safeguarding the shareholder to manoeuvre and get these things done by floating a camouflaged investment company, which is not intended to be a genuine investment company?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: A company may have various activities, one of which may be dealing in shares.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Not one of the activities, but the principal activity.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Under the present section, the word used is "principal" whereas the suggestion is that it should not be confined to "principal" only.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You made a suggestion in respect of the workers' right being safeguarded in the <u>event</u> of liquidation. You suggested that some sort of insurance in case of liquidation might be provided, so that the workers' rights may be safeguarded. Do you think any insurance company in existence will undertake it?

**Shri B. P. Khaitan:** There is no difficulty, because this guarantee means nothing. It will be quite profitable to the particular insurance company which undertakes this, because the premium will be in relation to the amount provided.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: The premium will be paid by the employer?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Yes; because it is the liability of the employer.

Shri Jadhav: I hope your Chamber represents a number of companies. May I know whether there are any specific instances where the management of a company has been unduly interfered with by the Government officials?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: It is rather vague. There has been no occasion for undue interference by Government except that in the event of change of management and other things, applications have to be made, numerous queries have to be answered, most of which are not relevant to the particular application, etc.

**Chairman:** They might be harassed in future if they have not been harassed so far. The hon. Member suggests that if you have not been harassed so far and there has been no undue interefence, why should you be afraid of any such thing in future?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Even though unlimited powers are given, sufficient safeguards are already there. The Act was passed in 1956 and sufficient time has not elapsed. Why should these extensive powers be given now?

Shri Jadhav: After the passing of the 1956 Act, what are your difficulties?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Is it germane to the present discussion? Of course, I can enumerate quite a number of difficulties.

**Shri T. S. A. Chettiar:** Regarding clause 75 dealing with audit, you refer to bigger and smaller branches. Can you give us a guidance as to how we can distinguish a smaller branch from a bigger branch?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: That matter no doubt requires attention. Take for instance, insurance companies or banks. They have got branches all over India. Some of these branches may be in out of the way places and the cost of their auditing will swell like anything under the present provision. The objection is not to auditing. It is one thing to ask a qualified auditor to make the audit and it is another thing if some officer audits and checks those things. That should be sufficient.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: I just want a clarification. Mr. Khaitan would agree that if that officer is a chartered accountant, that might serve the purpose.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Yes, Sir.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: It is all right when you talk to say they are in out of the way places, etc. But when you want to put it in a Bill, how would you distinguish?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: That will be a drafting problem.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: Regarding the calculation of depreciation, you say that there should be some relief in the earlier days to attract capital. Somebody suggested a formula of 6 per cent. Have you any formula to give in this matter?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I have given two formulas. 6 per cent is a very good formula. In the alternative, a provision like that of clause 208 may be provided.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: With regard to sole selling agents, would you like to fix any area beyond which you consider permission of Government is necessary?

Shri B. P. Khaltan: There are so many States. I think the area covering an entire State should be sufficient.

Shri J. S. Bisht: In your note on clause 138—page 43—your sole objection seems to be that preference shares and debentures should be excluded. If debentures are excluded and the operation of the clause is confined only to shares, you would have no further objection to this clause?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: We have pointed out our objection in regard to right shares, owner shares, shares in dealing companies, etc. and we have mentioned about debentures and preference shares also.

**Shri J. S. Bisht:** If the word 'debenture' is excluded and only the word 'equity share' is put, then you are satisfied with the clause.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: No.

Chairman: He does not accept that.

Shri J. S. Bisht: You say, many well-managed companies have built up larger reserves by ploughing back the profits earned by them over many years and these reserves are being utilised for the purposes of the business as capital. May I know whether these large reserves are ploughed back in the same industry or in some other new venture?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: It must be in the same company. In olden days companies were started with a capital of Rs. 10 lakhs. In those days, it used to be a very big capital and they built up very large reserves. Therefore, these percentages should be fixed with reference to the paidup capital and reserves, not with reference to the paid-up capital only.

Shri J. S. Bisht: What I am asking the witness is, the main object is to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of that particular company and to expand it. Why do you want the reserves to be utilised for other ventures?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The question is, in what relation that 10 per cent should be fixed, whether it should be in relation to the paid-up capital only or it should be in relation to paid-up capital plus reserves.

Shri J. S. Bisht: Now, I come to your next point i.e. with regard to projects which require foreign collaboration. For example, there is an engineering project which wants foreign collaboration. You say, there is nothing to prevent in this section from their having foreign collaboration. Shri B. P. Khaitan: I agree there is no bar to that, but the formalities, as I explained earlier, will take a long time.

Shri Tangamani: Will you please turn to page 48 of your Memorandum, clause 200 which seeks to introduce a new section 629-A? Now your objection is, it is an omnibus section. Then, would you like that for every default a specific provision must be made giving the penalty to be imposed? Will it not become an omnibus affair then?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: No. What I say is that in this particular clause the default for which punishment is provided should be listed either by a schedule or by some notification or by some other process. Under the present Act, if a technical or a minor mistake is committed, there is a civil liability provided. But this omnibus provision will make it a penal offence. This provision is all pervading. So, I say that the acts for which this section will apply should be listed.

Shri Tangamani: But there are many penal provisions already in this Act itself. What objection can there be to them?

Chairman: He means to say that there are certain provisions which are only regulatory and technical things for which under the present Act, only civil liability is provided. This clause, as it is framed, would be an omnibus clause by which even smaller things like technical ones, shall be punishable.

**Shri Tangamani**: Don't you concede that only where a prosecution is launched, you will be brought to book, not otherwise?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The thing is this . . .

**Chairman:** The prosecution is likely to be launched. That gives the fear. This is the fear that prosecution can be launched. Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Only if mens rea are proved, prosecution will take place. If nothing is proved, then there will not be any punishment.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** It may not be necessary to prove *mens rea* in all cases.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: In most cases.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I will say something about this mens rea business. If 1 am permitted. I can give one illustration. You pull the chain in a railway train somewhere, 500 miles away from your house and you had a very good reason for doing so and you come back to your house. The offence is committed at that particular place and the summons is issued by the magistrate. Then, you will have to go there at least half a dozen times before you are acquitted. Similarly, registrar's office may be at Bombay and I may be a resident of Delhi. I will have to travel at least half a dozen times before mens rea is proved.

Shri Tangamani: Page 38, clause 129. It deals with contributions to purposes other than the declared objects for which the company was formed. I heard you to say that you would like this thing as part of the capital expenditure, not revenue expenditure. Then, would you like the limit that is imposed under section 293(e), namely, Rs. 25,000|-, or 5 per cent of the average net profit for the three years, to remain as it is or increased? Would you like that limit to be imposed or increased from Rs. 25,000 -?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: There is no suggestion in that direction.

**Chairman:** He has no suggestion in that connection.

Shri Tangamani: You have no suggestion?

**Chairman:** If the Hon'ble Member has got any suggestion to make in that respect, he might do so. Shri Tangamani: I would like to find out whether he wants to raise the figure of Rs. 25,000/- to Rs. 2 lakhs or 2 1/2 lakhs. That was the purpose for which I put that question.

**Chairman:** He does not want to commit himself.

Shri Tangamani: Then I leave at that.

Page 30, clause 104, about sole selling agents. Am I to take it that because Government is not having a suitable machinery, you do not have any control by the Government when you want to appoint a sole selling agent? That is one of the main reasons given by you.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: That is only a subsidiary objection, namely, there will be thousands of applications with which the Company Law Administration will be flooded. Apart from that, my essential objection is with regard to the concentration of power which will lead to corruption and nepotism.

**Shri Tangamani:** You consider that the appointment of a sole selling agent for a particular area is a very minor matter.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Yes. I think it is a matter incidental to the normal carrying out of the business of the company.

Shri Tangamani: About branch auditing, you have stated in the memorandum that the banking companies will be put to a lot of difficulties. But are you aware that most of these banking companies have branch audit at present? Do you know any banking company which has no branch audit?

**Chairman:** He is in favour of internal auditing.

Shri Tangamani: He says that if there is branch auditing, then the banking companies will be put to a lot of difficulties. That is the reason given. What I would like to know from the witness is whether he is aware that there is branch audit at present in existence in these banking companies.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I think my suggestion was that a chartered accountant who is an officer of the company and who is the internal auditor may audit the branches and that is a good alternative relevant suggestion.

Shri Tangamani: Page 48, clause 179 [Section 530(1)(b)]—this is about winding up and liquidation when compensation has to be made to the employees. You will be connected with certain companies. Could you tell us what will be the percentage in terms of the annual wage bills which will have to be paid to the employees?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The Act provides 15 days for every year of service.

**Chairman:** The hon. member wants it in terms of percentage.

Shri B. P. Khaltan: That I have not calculated.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Regarding the definition of the term 'associate' you have made some comments. You have said that the managed company will be debarred from giving financial aid to subsidiary companies through the managing agents. Am I clear on that point?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: I gave you an illustration.

Shri Easwara Iyer: I just want to know whether you say that the managed companies will not be in a position to help its own subsidiary company if this definition is accepted.

Shri B. P. Khaitan: That is correct.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Is it not equally dangerous if this definition is not accepted because then a bogus subsidiary company can be brought into existence by the managing agent and the funds of the managed company will be diverted to this bogus subsidiary company? Shri B. P. Khaitan: I cannot conceive of a situation like this.

Shri Easwara Iyer: I could not follow.

**Chairman:** The witness says that he cannot conceive of such a situation or circumstance.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Well, we can conceive.

**Chairman:** We will conceive when we will sit separately.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Regarding the definition of 'relative', you have given a number of suggestions.

Is there any guiding principle for that?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: The guiding principle is that under the existing Act cousins, if they are members of the joint undivided family, come within a definition of 'relative'. Once separation takes place the position is that even among brothers there is no love lost, not to speak of distant cousins. Then, so far as wife's relations and mother's relations are concerned, they are bound to be very remote because they have long gone out of the family. These are the principles that have worked in our minds.

Shri Easwara Iyer: This is a matter for some enlightenment. You have said in your memorandum:

"In connection with the definition of relatives, the Committee would like to suggest the following principle for consideration. When a female relation gets married she goes out of the family of her birth. So it is a matter for consideration whether female relations of the second degree and beyond should not be altogether excluded from the list of relatives".

You say that when a female relation gets married she goes out of the family of her birth. Don't you know that a daughter's daughter is still entitled to a share of the family property. Do you mean to say that a daughter's daughter is a remote re-

Shri B. K. Khaitan: Remote for this purpose. She may be more friendly to a friend's daughter. She may be very near to her heart.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Your guiding principle is based on remoteness. For the purpose of company law relationship should not be determined on the ground of remoteness.

Shri B. K. Khaitan: I do not see any danger in so doing.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Now I come to clause 64. Here, you say that the books of accounts of the company are confidential documents relating to the internal management. What exactly you mean by 'confidential documents'?

Shri B. K. Khaitan: Books relating to companies are confidential documents. It is quite clear. My essential objection to this provision is this: By this provision you are giving the Registrar much wider power than under the normal provisions of the Criminal Procedure Code meant for worse criminals.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Suppose there is a suit filed against a company by a stranger. Can you not then be asked to produce the books and accounts in a court of law? Or, can you plead any privilege on the ground of their being confidential documents?

Shri B. K. Khaitan: So far as that matter is concerned, both the pariles to the dispute have to give an affidavit as to what documents are to be produced. It is covered, by the law of Discovery.

Shri Easwara Iyer: The Registrar of Joint Stock Companies has to inspect the books of account in order to find out if there is any hanky-panky in the books of account.

**Chairman:** That is what he objects to.

Shri Easwara Iyer: When it is established that they could be produced in a court of law, why should he object to produce them before the Registrar?

**Chairman:** He has given his view. We might consider it.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Page 17 of the memorandum; holding of the annual general meeting. Are you suggesting that the existing provisions must be maintained regarding this notice period?

Shri B. P. Khaitan: Not all the existing provisions. I only wish that the power of the Registrar to extend the time should be retained.

(The witnesses then withdrew)

## II. Indian National Trade Union Conggress, New Delhi.

Spokesmen:

- 1. Shri S. R. Vasavada
- 2. Shri N. K. Bhatt
- 3. Shri S. D. Desai
- 4. Shri M. B. Joshi.
- (Witnesses were called in and they took their seats)

**Chairman:** We have received your memorandum, which we have gone through. Have you anything to add to it, or any point to emphasise in it.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: It may be suggested to the witnesses that our competence is after all limited to the Companies Act and we will not be competent to entertain any suggestions beyond that.

**Chairman:** We shall restrict ourselves to the clauses which are contained in the amending Bill; we cannot go beyond those. Our competence is restricted to this amending Bill. This committee is not competent to go into the other sections of the Act. Bearing that in mind the witnesses may say what they like to. various amendments contained in the Bill which was introduced in the House. We would also like to indicate the various measures which the sponsors of the Bill may take into consideration.

Chairman: There is one difficulty. That will benefit us the Members and the Ministers can also take note of them. But all this effort will be wasted. So far as the present Bill is concerned we are restricted by our authority not to go beyond that. If the hon. witnesses have to say something by way of suggestions that do not affect the provisions of the Bill. but are outside its scope, then a can be found different opportunity out. Today we may discuss only the provisions that are contained in the Bill itself.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Regarding the other points they may make a separate representation to Parliament.

Shri Lai Bahadur Shastri: I shall always be available to them.

**Chairman:** They can sit with the hon. Minister at any time.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: I thank you for your kind instructions. I also thank the hon. Minister for the promise to give us an opportunity to put forward our case.

We have gone through the provisions of this amending Bill. In the first place I would like to submit that these amendments do not carry us any far. The object of the Companies Act is to see that companies are well managed and that the interests of the consumer and of the country are properly safeguarded and incidentally or consequentially production or work of the company does not When the first come to a stop. amending Bill was introduced there were certainly some good points in it. But after the working of the Act and after various new policies which the Government and Parliament have adopted we at any rate felt that the new Companies Act would lood to better management of companies. But, on the contrary we find that companies are still mismanaged even after the Act of 1956. losses are incurred, production so many times comes to a standstill and it is a pity that nothing has been done in these amendments to rectify these drawbacks so that the Companies Act may help the companies to have a sound management. Take, for instance, the managing agency system. I am not arguing on that point at all because it is irrelevant here

Chairman: Which clause? Managing agency' is contained in many clauses.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: The witnes may not be able to point out the sections.

**Chairman:** I was going to enquire from the witness as to what he wants to press in that regard, so that we might look into the relevant clause. We will help them, certainly.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: While I was referring to that matter. I was not going to press now for a new point that the hereditary character of the managing agency system should now stop. I am not going to argue or complain that even though it was provided that the managing agency system will terminate by such-andsuch a date, the Bill is silent about it. Even regarding the qualifications of the managing agents nothing has been said: only, the Central Government is to approve of the appointment of the managing agents. What is the approval? They are all being renewed. There are no qualifications. The Bill is silent about that also. I shall skip over all those points which I wanted to urge. And the hon, Minister has said that I can discuss them with him separately.

I will first take up the question of distinction which has been made

between a private company and a public company. Regarding the investment of the funds, it is suggested that the funds of the private company have also to be invested in a particular manner. I am suggesting that all distinctions between public and private companies should be completely abolished. There is no difference between a private company and a public company so far as the country is concerned. There is no difference in the management of private and public companies so far as business. production, employment etc., are concerned, and private companies are also mismanaged like public companies. I am suggesting that there should be equal restrictions on the private company as on the public company in respect of the appointment of managing directors or managing agents etc.

In regard to the remuneration of the managing agents the amendment says that certain other pre-requisites are going to be included in the remunration. But there is nothing about the business expenses in the Act or in the amendment. I find that the business expenses incurred by the managing agents or the company not only at the place of their production plant but at so many other places in the country, amount sometimes to fabulous figures. And there is **no** check on these business expenses either by the shareholders or by the auditors or by the Government. Why I am bringing the Government into the picture is because I wonder why Government control over the companies is still so slack. Government is now an equal partner in this field of production. I should say there are four Government. the partners: managing agents or directors, the The shareholders and the consumers. consumers are represented by the Government, and Government should also have a share in the management of the company. At least they should have the opportunity to control the

affairs of the company. When the affairs of the company go astray, Government should have a very fair opportunity under the Act to control the mismanagement of the company. I am therefore suggesting that these business expenses should also be controlled, it should be defined and included in the remuneration in section 349.

Then about audit. You have now provided under the amendments. the auditors to audit the accounts of the banches of the company. All these reports have also to be placed before the shareholders, etc. I am going to be very brief on this-we are very sore on the point. What are the auditors doing today? They are doing nothing but merely examining the vouchers and receipts. Whatever is placed before them they see: they are doing merely mechanical work. They do not actually guide the company as to what is right and what is wrong. what is the proper expenditure and what is improper expenditure And even balance sheet which is prepared and approved by the auditors does not reveal many a time the true state of affairs to the shareholders. I am not going to say as to how the balance sheets are prepared and all that. I am suggesting that if the auditors have to reveal the real state of affairs before the shareholders, the Government and the public at large, there should be a proper amendment that an auditor should not only certify the correctness of the accounts but also indicate the propriety or impropriety of various expenditures incurred in the course of management of companies. The report of the auditors should be placed before the shareholders. and Government should also draw its own conclusions from the report of the auditors.

I shall come to the next point. Some investigating powers are there with the Government. But apart from examining the auditor's report and the balance sheet, Government should also equip themselves with the powers to investigate the whole business of the companies by themselves. of their own accord, when their affairs go astray-when the balance sheet shows a loss, or when production comes to a stop. After all, the business of the company is to produce something. If it does not produce, if losses are incurred from year to year. if the same managing directors are still in charge of the company for a number of years and it is a losing concern. I think there should be an amendment whereby Government should be equipped with the power that whenever loss is made an investigation should be carried out. For this purpose I am of the opinion that the auditors should be appointed from a panel formed by the Government.

**Chairman:** You have suggested nationalisation of audit services.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: That may not be quite germane, as has been pointed by an hon. Member. So I will not touch that subject I am merely saying that appointment of auditors should be from a panel drawn by the Government; option may be given to them from out of that panel.

**Chairman:** Enforcement of the Act through prosecutors appointed by the Central Government—that also would not be germane.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: That would be germane.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: It is germane. Sir.

**Chairman:** Yes, I stand corrected. He may say something on it.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: The affairs of the company should be investigated not only as at present by the Registrar when the application is made, but even from the auditor's report or from the results as displayed in the balance sheet, Government should have power to investigate as to why is incurred. We have come 1088 across instances where in the same industry some concerns always show properous results while others show losses. There must be something wrong somewhere, and therefore I think Government should have these powers. The next point is about liquidation. I do not know whether this is germane, so, I would like to be guided in regard to this also. I have a number of grievances as to the manner in which the liquidation proceedings take place.

**Chairman:** That is a different thing altogether. You might come to representation of workmen in liquidation proceedings. Does it refer to remuneration, retrenchment compensation etc.?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: That comes at a later stage. All those clauses come at a later stage. I am merely submitting to the Committee that when liquidation proceedings take place, workers' representatives may also be made parties.

I now come to the amendment proper. Here, there is just one small point that I have to make. Provident fund, gratuity, the dues of the workers etc. are now included by the amendment and also by the original Act, in section 530.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: They are not included, for the purposes of preferential treatment. The amendment is for retrenchment compensation.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: It is for retrenchment and lay-off compensation. The other things are already there.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: All the other things are not there.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: I am thankful to my hon. friend for correcting me. My proposal, so far as this amendment is concerned, is this. Ten years have passed since the attainment of Independence, and during this period, numerous labour laws have been enacted. The workers, who were under-dogs before are now getting some status and it has come to be realised that they must also have some provident fund, some sickness insurance, some gratuity, some lay-off compensation etc. Till now, the Act has provided that workers' WAPES alone will have priority at the time of liquidation. I submit that that is not enough. My submission is that gratuity is also workers' equally have sacred. People worked for twenty or twenty-five years and have accumulated this amount. This is the only thing which the worker can fall back upon in his old days. So far as provident fund is concerned, it is his ewn contribution

Draftsman: That is in the Act.

Shri Nathwani: In the original Act, there is provision for gratuity, There are separate headings given there.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: I thought so, but I was corrected.

**Draftsman:** It is all given there in section 530 (1).

Shri S. R. Vasavada: If all these things are covered under the head of priorities, as has been pointed out by Shri Nathwani, then my only contention is that it is highly illogical and improper to restrict this only to four months' wages. It was four months' wages even when the Companies Act was on the anvil. I submit that four months' wages or Rs. 1,000 as the maximum would not cover provident fund gratuity, lay-off compensation etc. If Parliament has decided that these are all the priority items, then if there is some arithmethese various tical miscalculation. items may not be covered adequately by four months' wages or by the maximum limit of Rs. 1,000.

I would, therefore, suggest that the limit should be raised to a reasonable figure; I have suggested twelve months' wages. The Joint Committee may decide as to whether it should be twelve months' or ten months' or cight months' wages. I am quite definite that if a calculation were to be made, four months' wages will not be sufficient for meeting all these dues. Similarly, the maximum of Rs. 1,000, which is referred to at the end of the section will not also be sufficient.

There is one other point, namely that when liquidation proceedings are before the High Court.....

Chairman: That is not to be raised here.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: Whatever I wanted to plead I have already pleaded and placed before you. I do not think I have got anything more to say.

**Chairman:** Now, Shri M. R. Masani may ask any questions, if he wants.

Shri M. R. Masani: In view of the fact that you have practically ruled out most of the points in the memorandum as irrelevant, I do not want to ask any questions.

Shri Nathwani: Do I understand that trade unions require true and complete information from the companies, whether public or private, to enable them to assess the justice of the wage rates offered to the employees? That is how labour is interested in the information. I believe.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: My answer is in the affirmative, and a very emphatic affirmative at that. Without putting the true and correct picture about the balance-sheets before the tribunals, or the courts or the arbitrators, it will not be possible to decide about the wage increase or the bonus or even about the provident fund or gratuity. Even gratuity cases are decided on the merits of the balancesheet. Unless we get a correct picture in the balance-sheet, we shall be nowhere.

Shri Nathwani: For that, it is necessary to have an absolutely independent audit of the accounts of the company.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: We have been agitating for that for the last seven or eight years. Before the last Joint Chairman: That should be a good fortune and not a misfortune.

Shri Nathwani: Do I understand it properly that in view the importance of independent audit, your suggestion is that instead of the problem being tinkered with in the manner indicated in the proposed amendment, Government should have powers to appoint independent auditors?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: I do not want to be discourteous to the draftsmen who drafted the amendments. If you merely say branch accounts should be examined, it is nothing but tinkering with the problem. The problem is a more serious and grave one. In fact. nobody believes in the balance-sheets today; and balance-sheets can be manipulated anyway one likes. I have got an instance where the chairman of a millowners' association submitted before an industrial court of Bombay that his balance-sheets could not be relied upon because they were being manipulated. It is there on record in the proceedings of the court.

Chairman: A very honest man he was.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: Therefore, it is no use merely saving that auditors should examine the branch accounts. To say like this even after seven years of experience is no solution to the problem at all. The problem is something more than that; it is one of lack of honesty; it is one of complete deception. Unless there are independent and impartial auditors who are responsible not only to Government but also responsible morally and mentally to the people at large. I do not think this problem can ever be solved.

Shri Nathwani: One of the main reasons why you want private companies not to be excmpted from various restrictions which are placed on public companies is that you want full and complete information. Is it not so?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: Yes. Not only that. Sometimes people are going in for private companies only to escape all these provisions.

Shri Tangamani: On page 12 of your memorandum, you refer to section 530(1)(b) which is now sought to be amended by clause 179. That gives a prior charge to the workers in the case of winding up. You say that 4 months' salary will not be sufficient and 12 months' salary will meet the ends of justice. This amendment and the Act suggest that the celling should be Rs. 1.000. Are you satisfied with Rs. 1,000?

**Chairman:** He has already said that he is not satisfied with Rs. 1,000 but he has not fixed the amount.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: What I said was that 4 months should be raised to 8 months or 12 months. As the hon. Member just now rightly pointed out, I am not satisfied because I want my actual dues. It represents the wages for work performed by me. What is after all gratuity? Gratuity is also provided from year to year?

**Chairman:** If the period is raised to 8 or 12 months, then, probably there is no necessity to have the ceiling at Rs. 1,000.

Shri Tangamani: May I take it that you want full compensation as provided for in the Industrial Disputes Act?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: If Parliament desires to have some ceiling, then, I have suggested 12 months' salary. If they want to have it reduced, let them have it reduced to 10 months or 8 months; and, in that case, consequential amendments can be made.

Shri Tangamani: You have referred to the amendment regarding the disclosure of donation to political parties....

Shri S. R. Vasavada: Yes; I have endorsed that. Shri Tangamani: The amendment says that it will be treated as revenue expenditure and will also be taken for arriving at the net profit. The amount that is fixed is Rs. 25,000 or 5 per cent of the average net profits. Would you like that amount to be as it is or would you like that any other amount should be fixed for the contribution?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: It is on a par with donations and I think the amendment is quite all right.

Shri Tangamani: You refer to section 205 on page 12 of your memorandum. Clause 62 seeks to amend this section. It says that before dividends are declared, depreciation must be a prior charge and depreciation must be only normal depreciation as in the Incometax Act. Would you like that normal depreciation be provided for before net profit is ascertained for the purpose of distributing the dividend and for the purpose of distributing bonus?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: I would place the highest priority on depreciation. I agree with the proposal.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: You stated that balance-sheets are invariably manipulated. This is a very wide and general statement. I would like to know specifically from you whether it has been your experience that balancesheets of companies are manipulated. If they are manipulated, could you be able to tender some balance-sheets of prominent companies, say, 15, 20 or 25 companies, with your comments on those balance-sheets showing how they have been manipulated?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: That has been my job for the last 30 years.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: Could you send some 15 to 25 balance-sheets of companies which have been manipulated together with your comments as to how they have been manipulated....

Chairman: He says that he stands by that statement. But does the hon. Member want them to be sent to the hon. Member or to the Committee, because the Committee is not very much interested in it?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: Before I undertake to send these balance-sheets as desired by the hon. Member, may I seek some clarification? We have been going to courts for certain claims. or dues. The company says that the balance-sheet shows losses. When we want to enquire whether the balancesheet is correctly cast or not and how these losses have been incurred, they say, come out of court and let us not enter into any controversy and let us go into the balance-sheet. This is what happens ultimately. I have felt that these balance-sheets have been manipulated and I am prepared to send you the balance-sheets of prominent companies. As I said, I need not put all these things before you because the Chairman of the Millowners' Association himself has stated that they were manipulating the balance-sheets. It is already there in the proceedings of the court. If you want, I will send that extract also

Shri Feroze Gandhi: It would be very helpful to us.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You have made a general statement on page 7. Is it your intention that the representative unions in a particular industry alone should get the information? There may be, say, several unions.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: By labour I mean the union. So far as the 'representative union' is concerned, that is an expression known only in one or two States. Whatever union is recognised for the purpose of these matters. it must have a say in the matter.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: In talking of fixing percentages of business expenses does it occur to you that it is impossible to do so because the expenses, the operating costs in different industries vary?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: I want to clarify our stand as to what we mean by business expenses. Sometimes, the officers, the managers, managing directors and managing agents come to the capital of the State or the capital of the country and they have to incur

837 LS-10.

some expenditure. I can understand that it is legitimate expenditure. But. when I find that....

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You are not answering my specific question. I said that the ratio of operating costs varies very largely in various industries and it is humanly impossible to fix a definite percentage.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: It may not be possible to have one uniform percentage. That I agree.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Coming to your observations on page 11 which are very important, you say that there should be a check on the piecemeal disposal of machinery prior to the company going into liquidation with the object of defeating the claims of the workers. This has happened in my constituency also and I am particularly interested in it. Can you suggest what method can be adopted for preventing that?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: It may not be proper at all till liquidation proceedings are over.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: If a firm wants to go into liquidation, it makes preparations beforehand and starts dispesing of its machinery piecemeal. This has happened in several cases. Section 294 restricts the power of the directors to dispose of the whole or substantially whole machinery. So, if they dispose it by bits, you can do nothing. Ultimately, when the company goes into liquidation there are no assets. Can you suggest any method to prevent that?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: You should have an amendment.

Chairman: He has nothing concrete at present.

Shri Morarka: I want to ask one question. Could you say from your experience what is the maximum loss that the labourers have suffered because of some complaint of some industry going into liquidation? Shri S. R. Vasavada: Anywhere from Rs. 5 lakhs to Rs. 30 lakhs.

Shri Morarka: Could you kindly tell us in terms of the monthly salary? How many months' salary or emoluments have they lost? You are asking from four to 12 months.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: In one case recently I had to compromise a claim of Rs. 17 lakhs by Rs. 5 lakhs.

Shri Morarka: Still my question is not answered.

Chairman: He wants to know it in terms of salary.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: It requires some calculation.

Shri Morarka: How many months' salary have the workers lost?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: You want to know the actual months' salary lost? You may convert all the loss into months' salary.

Shri Morarka: You are asking that the emoluments which are provided in the Bill for four months should be increased to 10 to 12 months. I want to know from your experience what is the loss that the workers have actually suffered and which is not covered by the existing provisions.

Shri S. R. Vasavada: Anywhere from 24 to 30 months, in extreme cases. In extreme cases they have suffered like that

Shri Feroze Gandhi: I want to know the name of that Chairman of the Bombay Millowners' Association who made that statement. What is his name?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: I am going to send the extract of the proceedings.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: I want to know his name and also when he made it. Could you give us some idea?

Shri S. R. Vasavada: If I say that I do not know the name it is incompetency on my part.

Chairman: He would like to send those extracts. From them it can be found out. He is not prepared to give "the name just now.

(The witnesses then withdrew.)

III. Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry, New Deihi Spokesmen:

- 1. Shri Madanmohan R. Ruia.
- 2. Shri A. M. M. Murugappa Chettiar
- 3. Shri Lakshmipat Singhania
- 4. Shri M. L. Shah
- 5. Shri Ramnath A. Podar
- 6. Shri Shrivans Prasad Jain
- " 7. Shri S. M. Shah
  - 8. Shri G. L. Bansal
- <sup>(.</sup> 9. Shri P. Chentsal Rao
  - 10. Shri N. Krishinamurthi

# (Witnesses were called in and they took their seats.)

**Chairman:** Your memorandum is before us. We can presume that every hon. Member is aware of it. Would you like that straightaway we might begin with questions? Or, would you like to say something, in elaboration or clarification?

Shri Madanmohan R. Rula: Before we begin first of all I would like to thank you for giving us this opportunity to be present before you.

Mr. Chairman: We thank you for coming over here.

Shri Madanmohan R. Ruia: Before you put us questions we would like to amplify certain points very briefly. There are particularly about eight to ten points which we consider to be very important and we would like, with your permission, to amplify those points.

First of all, the first point which affects an organisation like our Federation is clause 9, which affects the non-profit-making bodies like our Federation. I would like to say a few words about that. This parti-

cular clause-clause 9- makes the working of an all-India body like the Federation difficult because we have got in this organisation members from different associations and different parts of the country. We have had to take a certain new clause of members called associate members who are members of our primary body, the chambers of commerce and various organisations. No voting right were given to those associate members because they constituted a fractional membership of the total member bodies.

Section 29 provides that the articles of such bodies should be in accordance with Table 6. Table C provides that every member should have a vote. This would be very difficult because of the way in which the constitution of this body of the Federation has been made.

Then also the Federation's constitution has to provide for representation on committees, representing various regional interests because **this** is supposed to represent the all-India body. Under section 257, any member can stand for election and if he obtains a majority, he will become a member of the committee. That will affect the fundamental structure of a body like our Federation.

Section 265 that you have got provides for adopting proportional representation: more than two-thirds of the directors should be elected by such procedure. This is again against what we call the articles or the structure of the Federation as I explained to you. Therefore, 3176 would like to reiterate that a body like the Federation, which is not a profit-making body. should be exempted from sections 29, 257 and 265 in addition to sections mentioned in clause 9.

Would you like to put questions on every clause?

**Chairman:** There are so many Members here and each of them would be putting questions, so that every para of your memorandum will be covered. Besides that you have said in the memorandum, if you want to supplement it by emphasising or elaborating certain points, you may to so.

Shri Madanmohan R. Rula: We would like to elaborate certain points in regard to 8 or 9 clauses.

Chairman: We do not stand in the way of that.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: Clause 15 deals with cases in which private will be deemed to be companies public companies. There are two things here. Firstly, a private company the entire capital of which is held by another private company or by one or more foreign companies will not be treated as a public company. But where more than 25 per cent of the share capital is held by one or more bodies corporate, it will be treated as a public company. My submission is, in foreign collaboration it is not possible that 100 per cent capital is held by the other company. So, we submit that even if a part of the share capital less than 100 per cent is held by the other company, it should not be treated as a public company.

As far as 25 per cent is concerned, my submission is that this is a very small percentage for converting a private company into a public company. Even under section 23A of the Income-tax Act, the percentage is more than 50. So, we have submitted in our memorandum that the percentshould be slightly age raised, at least to one-third, i.e., 33 per cent. It is not that we are afraid of private companies being treated as public companies, but it will not be practicable.

I come to clause 62 which deals with payment of dividend. When a new company is formed, the distribution of dividend will be most difficult, because first of all, all the accumulated depreciation has to be made up before you can distribute dividend. I have calculated anv certain cases where I have found that in some companies, it might take ten years before the first dividend is Under these circumdistributed. stances, it will be very difficult to attract new capital if the subscribers know beforehand that for 10 years they will get no dividend. So. my request is, from the point of view of more capital formation for new industries, this clause should be suitably amended

Regarding clause 63, it is envisaged that the whole amount of the dividend must be deposited in a bank. Within our knowledge, no case has come up where after declaring the dividend, it has not been paid. But even the law as it is makes it obligatory that the dividend must be distributed within three months. So there is no reason why it should be deposited in a bank.

Secondly, after the dividend is deposited, in big companies there are some shareholders who may not take the dividend—they might have gone abroad, dead or something like that. In such cases, there is no provision for taking back the deposited money from the bank to the company. It will remain with the bank for ever.

The penatly clause says:

"If he is knowingly a party to the default, be punishable with simple imprisonment for a term which may extend to fourteen days and shall also be liable to fine."

My submission is it should be left to the discretion of the court to award suitable punishment. This is not an offence of such a nature as to call for such strong penalty.

There is one more small point.

Now, I come to clause 124. We have not been able to understand why ······ 147

subsidiary cannot function as managing agents of other companies? Why it. should be prohibited from its acting as managing agents if it has such necessary qualifications to act as managing agents? My submission is after all managing agency has to be by Government, Under approved these circumstances, why there should be a complete bar for a subsidiary to act as managing agents. I may give you an example for your consideration. Supposing foreign collaboration is needed and foreign capital has already come in, in that case what is going to happen? Supposing, a subsidiary is formed for that particular business, why should we prohibit it from acting as managing agents, if they have all the necessary qualificatons to the satisfaction of the Government? After all, Government has got the final power to approve managing agency.

Then, with your permission, I will make certain observations on clauses 135 and 138 which deal with loan and inter-company investment. On this matter, a controversy is going on for a very long time and when the last Company Act was made in 1956, this point was also discussed at a great length. Our submission is this, that today any new venture or a new industry, beside the conventional industries, requires a large capital and that those types of investments cannot yield results in a very short time. Therefore, it is necessary that those companies should be financed out of corporate savings. But under this clause, a limit has been placed on Inter-company investment. In olden days, capital structure of the company was very small and those companies have built up large reserves and if you put a limit, say, 30% of the paid-up capital. I am afraid, many companies will suffer. Supposing a company has got a capital of Rs. 25 lakhs and it may have a reserve of, say, Rs. 75 lakhs, then 30 per cent of Rs. 25 lakhs would come to only Rs. 7 or 8 lakhs. In other words, a

company which has got a reserve of about a crore of rupees, cannot invest in other companies more than Rs. 8 lakhs.

Secondly, to bring new industries in existence, the private sector must collect funds from the available re-Today, individual saving is sources. very very limited and cannot contribute to a bigger capital formation. It is the corporate saving which makes people to invest in new industries. We have not been able to understand at all why, when we have the fund available at one place, we are not allowed to use it but that we should go to the public for borrowing funds. By amending 1913 Act you have given more freedom to the investors in the companies. Now, the company is managed by people who are collected at general meetings to take decisions. Now, why this power is being curtailed? That means a general body meeting is deprived of those powers of investment. I am only submitting it, because if you take the history of industrial development in India, you will find that conventional industries have developed all these new industries. These new industries have come up as branches of the conventional industries. This means, most of the funds of new industries have come up from the conventional industries. It is not practicable today that all the funds can be available from the general borrowing or from individual investment.

Therefore, my submission is that these clauses should be given a careful consideration. There may have been cases-I do not deny-but these cases have to be viewed in the way I have suggested.

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: There is no ban as such.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: But you must go to the Government for getting permission. I am fully aware of that. So far as I understand, the objective of the Companies Act is to regulate the functions of the company and avoid misuses by its manage-1.

ment. My submission, therefore, is that when the general body approves of a certain fundamental principle of a company, why should Government come in the way to have its final say in the matter? I am not at all challenging the rights of Government. Please do not misunderstand me.

Shri Kanungo: How do you make a distinction between bona fide investment and mala fide investment?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: If the shareholders of a company do not have the brains to understand what is a bona fide investment and what is a mala fide investment, then I do not think anybody esle could judge it.

Shri Madanmohan R. Ruia: May I supplement? We have all along proceeded in our observation on this basis that shareholders are the ultimate masters of a company and if a thing is approved by the shareholders, there should be no other body which should supersede the shareholders in giving any judgment. That is the basis on which we have proceeded.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania; Then there is clause 200. I am surpised that this clause has been introduced here. The Company Act itself has about 650 sections and most of them eontain penalties and prescribe **D**unishments for various acts of omission and wilful negligence. There may have been some sections without penatly, but they are mostly not very important. I am surprised that this clause is inserted saying that if there is any contravention for which no punishment is provided, the company would be punished under this clause. In that case one penalty clause would have been more than enough. We are completely surprised why this clause 200 is being introduced at this moment nullifying all those provisions. We have serious objection to this clause.

Shri Madanmohan R. Ruia: There are a few other points which my colleagues would explain.

Shri A. M. M. Murugappa Chettiar: Clause 58 deals with the publication of the proceedings of general meetings. I think in our memorandum we have given the details of it and I would not, therefore, take much time of the Committee except to add that when we give a review to the papers and .... the papers also give a review of the working of the company. It helps the choose their investors to pick and investments. I think this is a very important matter. Moreover, it gives a general ' idea about the industry with regard to the generalised points."" So, we feel that it is important that". it should be summarised and published in the papers. As far as shareholders are concerned, they are sent all the proceedings of the meetings and they are in the full know of these things. They are not kept back from any such proceedings. This is only meant for the public and therefore I would request the Committee to consider this matter again.

Shri M. L. Shah: With your permission I would like to speak on clause 60. This clause seeks to introduce new section 198 in the place of the existing section. It deals with the overall managerial remuneration. The amendment defines 'remuneration' to include perquisites, such as rent-free accommodation, free motor car, free passage, free education of children. pension or insurance benefits provided by the company. Where there are no profits you say that the remuneration should not exceed Rs. 50,000 subject to the approval of the Central Government. We feel that the present section in the law is quite enough. In the Bill, Government approval is made necessary in respect of many more expenses incurred, like providing any benefit or amenity free of charge or at a concessional rate to the managerial personnel, and all these will be treated as remuneration. Sometimes the Managing Director or the Managing Agent has to go to the factory, be there and also he has to entertain his customers and he has to partake in it. These should not be treated as benefits or amenities.

اللة

Then, it is very difficult to define 'concessional rate'. On the whole, I feel that there is no need for this amendment so far as clause 60 is concerned.

Clause 84 on page 20 of the memorandum deals with imposition of restrictions shares. At present. on Government have power to approve of changes in the management. By this clause Government are trying to take powers to say that voting rights shall not be exercisable for three years and they can say that the shares cannot be transferred. The fundamental point is this: Whatever decision the majority take should prevail. That is a fundamental right of the majority Therefore. I feel that there is no need for this particular clause. The majority must have their fundamental right to consider this matter of transfer of shares.

Shri Shrivans Prasad Jain: I have been asked by my President to explain to this august body clauses 128 and 104 of the amendment Bill. First, I would like to take up clause 128 would rather like to draw the attention of the Select Committee to the fact that what is permissible in sections 309 and 314 will be nullified if this clause adopted. This is an overriding is clause and what is being permissible under sections 309 and 314 will be taken away by this clause. I do not think that is the intention of the Government. I would elaborate my point in this way. Under section 309 it has been permitted that a Director is entitled to have a sitting fee when he attends the board meeting. But if this clause is adopted the fee received by a particular director who happens to be a partner in the case of a firm or a director in the case of a body corporate will be deducted out of the managing agent's commission. I do not think it is the intention of the Government. This may be rectified. I would elaborate this point a little further. Section 309 empowers the Board of Directors to give remuneration to a director or directors appointed by the Board for a special service or for a special assignment, to the

extent of 1 per cent and if the Board appoints or gives assignment to a director who happens to be a partner of a firm or a director of a body corporate, whatever the case may be, the remuneration drawn by him will be deducted out of Managing Agent's commission. I would submit that this point may be considered.

I would now take up section 314. Section 314 provides that by a special resolution passed at the general meeting an assignment can be given to a director and then that will not be considered as a disgualification. If after passing a special resolution under section 314. if a particular person happens to be a and acts as a technical person or works in any other capacity, and or if any remuneration is paid to him under section 314. in that case also the managing agent's commission will be deducted. I am not here to argue what should be the managing agent's commission. That has already been provided and that is a maximum of 10 per cent. But having given him permission to receive that 10 per cent, to take away that commission is not a proper thing. Similarly, to take away what is permissible to the other directors is not a proper thing. I would rather request you to reconsider this point sympathetically.

Clause 104 deals with two problems. One problem is that when the managing agent ceases to be a managing agent and takes the appointment of sole selling agent, this clause debars him to take up that appointment for a period of three years. The other point which is being dealt with in this clause is that the Government can notify that in a particular business or industry there is no need of a selling agent. My submission is that the shareholders are the proper judge to know whether in a particular trade or in a particular industry or in a particular area a sole selling agent is necessary or not. We do not want Government to assume the powers of notification. After all we should not treat a Board of Directors lightly; we should give them some weight. They

are the best judges; they know the circumstances; they know the necessities of each case; they will adjust themselves according to the exigencies of the situation. Even if Government assume these powers, it will be too much for the government servants to deal with these day to day problems.

So far as the managing agency is concerned it is being done once in ten years. But here in this case it will be a day to day matter and it may sometimes not be understood in its proper perspective and thereby create many difficulties. I am not making any allegation, but it may be possible that some times delays may take place and the industry may suffer thereby. In regard to export promotion and things of that nature delay may have the opposite effect. We want to accelerate our sales through the agency of somebody. If this clause remains on the statute book it will delay matters. I therefore wish that Government should not take powers so far as the appointment of selling agents is concerned. It may be left to the better judgment of the shareholders and of the directors.

Shri S. M. Shah: Page 60, powers of the Registrar to call for information and inspection of documents. . Enough powers are already given to inspectors and to the Central Government to call and investigate the books of for accounts of the company. It is not necessary to further reinforce these powers by vesting this power in the hands of the Registrar of Companies. Registrars are supposed to be statistical officers who will register the documents and call for any information they like. The present provision in the Act already empowers them to call for sufficient information they want. If they think that the information is not forthcoming they are supposed to report to the Central Government and the Central Government might appoint investigating officers. There are sufficient powers with the Central Government already and it is not necessary to reinforce these powers by vesting them in the Registrar of Companies.

The second point is that if the books of accounts are transferred from the Head Office notice has to be given to within the Registrar seven davs. Books of accounts in business offices have to be shifted for various reasons. There may be sales tax assessment in other States: there may be suits filed by the company or against the company in courts of law; there may be suits filed by other parties. For evidence purposes books of accounts have to be produced. Sometimes books of accounts have to be produced before a labour board. If the books are to be shifted for a temporary period it should not be made obligatory on the company to give notice.

It is also said that books of accounts should be maintained for at least eight years. It may be argued that for income-tax purposes the books are supposed to be maintained. But there is no statutory obligation there. If this provision is given retrospective effect, as is sought to be done, there will be great hardship to the companies. All the books of accounts may not have been maintained by a company; only some books may perhaps be necessary for income-tax purposes and some books may not be necessary.

My submission is that this clause should be re-examined.

Shri Madanmohan M. Ruia: We have finished with our observations. I would only like to mention one point. The substance of what we have been telling you is that too much power is sought to be taken by Government. Wherever it is absolutely necessary we have no objection. We have no objection that Government as the controlling body should have the ultimate authority, but they should not be such as to make the working of companies more difficult. It is with this aim in view that we have made the suggestions and we have nothing else at the back of our mind.

Shri P. D. Himatsingka: Clause 138 investment in companies. You suggest ' that shareholders should be the final authority if they want to invest more than 30 per cent in other companies. Is that the suggestion that you want to make? The present provision is that if any company wants to invest more than 30 per cent such excess should be sanctioned by the general body of shareholders at a general meeting and it should also be approved by Government. You want that the approval of Government should not be necessary.

Shri Madanmohan M. Ruia: That is right.

**Shri P. D. Himatsingka:** So far as investment in companies under the same management is concerned, you do not want to suggest anything more than what has been provided?

Shri Mazumdar: In the present law the formula is that there should be shareholders' approval plus Government approval in the case of intercompany investment in excess of the prescribed limits. That is the law today, passed in 1955. Your objection to Government approval is to the law already passed or the new extension of it?

Shri Madanmohan M. Ruia: We have confined ourselves to the amendment. We cannot object to the old law.

Shri P. D. Himatsingka: Clause 9. You want more freedom for companies which are not for profit.

Shri Madanmohan M. Ruia: No restrictions should be put in the way of a body or organisation which is not making any profit, because there is no monetary complication.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: I want to add only this. Once the Government approves a body as a non-profit-making body and grants certain exemptions to it, why does Government want that for these exemptions we should again go to them for approval? They should ipso facto apply. Government work should not be added to on points which are not so important. Once you have satisfied yourself that a company deserved these exemptions, what is the necessity of going to you again and again for every exemption?

Shri P. D. Himatsingka: Regarding Section 43A companies which will be deemed to be public companies, the provision, as you know, is that even if a private company takes shares in another private company to the extent of 25 per cent, that would be deemed as a public company. Is it your view that if a public company takes shares to the extent of 33-1/3 per cent, it should be regarded as a public company?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: Yes, that is what we have given in the memorandum—that is, if a public company takes the shares. But if a private company takes all the shares of a private company, that is already exempted. That amendment has been brought in.

Shri P. D. Himatsingka: Under the Income-tax Act many public companies are not regarded as public companies.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: I have already submitted that according to Section 23A of the Income-tax Act any company in which more than 50 per cent of the shares is held is supposed to, be a public limited company. Therefore I think that it should be 50 per cent. But in our memorandum we have submitted 33 per cent and therefore I could not go beyond that.

Shri P. D. Himatsingka: There may be public companies where there are only 7 shareholders and they may, according to the Income-tax Act, come within the definition of a private company. If such a company takes shares, do you want them to be regarded as public companies or not?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: It will be a very complicated affair. After all it is a matter that you have to agree under company law. And under the Company Law, whatever may be the companies, a public limited company is a public limited company. Let us not misunderstand the issue. Section 23A of the Income-tax Act was enacted for a certain purpose, namely for division of the profits. That is, if the company is managed by such and such persons or group, the profit is divisible in terms of 60 per cent, 90 per cent, 100 per cent and so on. It was for that purpose. Therefore we cannot mix the Incometax Act with the Company Law.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I visualize two types of companies: one, where the shares of a private company are held by another private company. In respect of those private companies, even if the shares are held by another private company—one or more—, in no case should they be treated as public companies. That is point number one.

The second point is, if the shares of a private company are held by a public company to an extent lower than 33 per cent, in that case also they should not be treated as public companies. But if shares to the extent of 33 per cent or more are held by a public company, in that case they should be treated as public companies. That is our submission.

Shri Morarka: I would like to understand about this clause 15 with which my predecessor was just dealing. May I request the witnesses to state what is the rationale behind their suggestion that where a percentage of the shares of a private company are held by a public company, the provisions may be applied. They know that in a private company there can be as many as 49 whereas in a public shareholders, company there can be as few as seven shareholders. If the funds of a public company which has got only seven members are invested in a private company and if that money could be as public money, why considered cannot the funds of a private company constituting 49 persons be consiwhen that dered as public money money is invested in another private Sastri Committee company? The made a recommendation the basis of which was that where public money

is invested to an appreciable extent. the company in which that money is invested should be treated as a public company. That is the only criterion which was laid down by them. If that is so, how do these distinctions whether the money belongs to a private company or a public company or whether it is in the form of equity share capital or loan capital or debenture capital, come? It is one thing not to accept the basis at all. But once you accept the basis that if public money is invested it should be treated as a public company, how could these distinctions be made? What is the rationale behind it?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: Lef us understand what is the meaning of a private company and what is the meaning of a public company-in my language. As the hon, Member just now said, a public company can pe up to 7 members only and a private company can have 49 members. He was also good enough to explain that the Sastri Committee have recommended that investment in any shape is investment in the company. Investment and share-holding are two distinct things. You cannot mix up a loan, which is temporary and withdrawable at any time, and share capital. Once share capital is formed, it cannot be drawn unless you go to the court and have a reduction of capital. That is public investment in the share capital of a company, if at all it can be considered. Suppose a temporary loan is taken against some security. If the company holds certain securities, if a private limited company holds certain buildings, factory, etc., and if they mortgage it and take a loan from the bank, it does not mean that it becomes a public limited company. And immediately the bank loan is paid it is not possible that it becomes again a private limited company. It is not possible or practicable that a company can become a public limited company and immediately afterwards a private limited company. Therefore I feel that the amendment has been brought, ignoring what the Sastri Committee have observed-that is, the investment point

of view. Sastri Committee have taken a loan point of view also, and Draft Amendment is the pure and simple share-holding point of view.

Secondly, a private company should be treated as a private company so long as it has the character of a private company. Once it is treated as a private company all the provisions of the Act should apply to it. Immediately you try to make a distinction between a private company and another private company without any qualification, I do not think it is practicable or can be administered.

Shri A. M. M. Murugappa Chettiar: When we register a company we have an intention whether to have it as a private company or as a public company. The matter of minimum seven or maximum forty-nine does not count. When the minimum is seven, the maximum can be anything; it is unlimited. So the intention when we register a company as a private company—I think that should carry with it all the rights of private company

Shri Morarka: May I draw the attention of the witness to the Sastri Committee's report, where they say at page 19, in para 23 as follows:

"At the same time, there is no doubt that private companies which employ public money directly or indirectly to a considerable extent should be subject to the same restriction....".

**Shri P. T. Leuva:** I would like to have some explanation as to the exact ' meaning of the term 'public money'.

**Chairman:** This question is directed to the witnesses?

Shri P. T. Leuva: I am asking this question because the hon. Member is saying that the Sastri Committee has recommended like this and used the phrase 'employ public money'. What is the exact character of that public money? Let us know that.

Shri Morarka: If this question is directed to me, I am willing to answer it. **Shri P. T. Leuva**: You have been relying upon that for the last three days.

**Chairman:** The hon. Member Shri Morarka might continue his question now.

Shri Morarka: The wording is 'employ public money directly or indirectly to a considerable extent' Even after the present amendment as proposed by Government is adopted or even after the suggestion contained in your memorandum is accepted, still, it would not comply . with the requirements of the Sastri Committee's report. because there is nothing to indicate whether the money is considerable or inconsiderable. For, even if there is a private company. whose paid-up capital is Rs. 1000, and 25 per cent of the shares of that company are held by others, that is, to the tune of Rs. 250, still, within the meaning of this amendment, it would become a public company. Is that correct?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Every private money can become public money. But we have to draw a line as to where private money remains private money and where private money becomes public money. That is a very fundamental and important point.

The hon. Member has referred to the Sastri Committee's report. My reading of that report is somewhat different, as compared with the meaning that has been put into it.

Shri Morarka: I have not put any meaning into it. I have only read out the report.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: According to me, the meaning is this. We should differentiate between investment and loans and borrowings.

So far as the question of loans and borrowings is concerned, if loans or advances are given to a private company, they are given agains<sup>+</sup> certain securities, which may be personal, which may be against hypothecation, or which may be against mortgage. In that case, the lending company has looked into the case very thoroughly and properly, and on that basis, the loan is being advanced. Therefore, the question of utilising public money into this private company in this context does not arise at all, and I think it is out of context.

So far as the question of investment is concerned, I would consider it only in the shape of equity capital and not in any other shape. If the equity capital of a private company is held by another private company, both are private companies, and no public funds are involved, because both are private companies. Therefore, in this case, the question of employment of public money in a private company does not arise at all.

The only point which we have represented in the Federation's memorandum is that when in a private company, to the extent of 33 per cent or more, public money in the shape of investment is employed, then and only then, it becomes a public money, and not otherwise. That is our submission. That is the meaning which we have put to the Sastri Committee's suggested clause, and we have considered the Sastri Committee's clause in the context of this explanation.

**Shri Feroze Gandhi:** Does it mean that in private companies, no public money is employed?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: The question as I have followed it is like this. The question is whether public money is invested in a private company or not.

I have explained my point of view very clearly, and I am prepared to explain it further. I have differentiated the employment of public money in a private company in two forms; one is in the form of investment in the shape of equity capital; and the other is money being employed in the shape of borrowings. So far as the question of borrowings of public money by a private concern is concerned, I rule them out; my submission is that public money is being utilised after careful consideration of the lending company, and in that sense of the word, public money is not employment in a private company.

So far as employment of public money in a private company is concerned that is only in the shape of investment and not otherwise. If the investment is to the extent of less than 33 per cent-we have drawn a line at this percentage-even though it may be by a public company or more public companies, and it should be treated only a private company. But when the investment is more than 33 per cent we are prepared to concede that in that case, it should be treated as a public company.

I would also like to draw the attention of the committee to another point. According to the amending clause, when there is a hundred per cent subsidiary, it would be treated as a private company; but in case of foreign companies where the entire paid-up share capital is held by one or more companies, still it is treated as a private company.

There is a discrimination made here between a foreign company and an Indian company. If an English comcompany holds pany or a foreign even if it is shares to any extent, held by a public company, still it is being treated as a private company, whereas in the case of the Indian company, if the shares of a private company are held by another public company or private company, then, it is treated as a public company. I would point out that there should not be any discrimination between Indian companies and foreign companies in this respect.

Shri Madanmohan M. Ruia: That is not the intention.

Shri Morarka: I regret to say that my question still remains unanswered.

Chairman: That is my opinion also. When three of them have answered. and it still remains unanswered, then we should be content with that. The hon. Member may proceed to his next question.

Shri Morarka: Let me make one more attempt. Even if the present suggestion of the witnesses is carried out, still would that satisfy the requirements of the Sastri Committee's recommendation, namely that public money is involved to a considerable extent, because in the amendment suggested by them in their memorandum, there is nothing to distinguish between considerable money and a little money, even if it is public money in both cases?

**Chairman:** Why should we ask from the witnesses whether the requirements of the Sastri Committee's recommendation would be satisfied or not?

**Shri Morarka:** I shall give you the reason which perhaps would satisfy you.

The present amendment is based on the Sastri Committee's recommendation. To that amendment, the Federation has suggested an amendment with their own reasons. Even if we were to accept the suggestion of the Federation, still it would not solve the problems which we are facing.

**Chairman:** The question might be put this way that it will not solve the difficulties that we are experiencing. Why should we say that it will not fulfil the requirements of the Sastri Committee's recommendation?

Shri Morarka: Because, when a suggestion is made, we are certainly entitled to know what is the rationale behind it.

**Chairman:** We have put that question; it is quite legitimate.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: I have already made my submission on that point. I do not think I am capable of finding out the difference between the Sastri Committee's recommendations and the amendment here.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: With regard to clause 15, would it meet your point of view if we say that in order to determine the public character of the capital of a company, there should he two qualifications, namely, the qualification of 25 per cent of the paid-up share capital and also the qualification that the number of shareholders should exceed 51. You are reconciled to the position that if there are 51 persons, then it is a public company.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: We have not said so.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: The law says that. So, supposing we put the additional qualification: 25 per cent share capital plus a membership of not less than 51.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: Capital is something and membership is something else. We have made a very simple suggestion here to raise the percentage from 25 to 33. Let us not mix up two things.

Shri Madanmohan M. Ruia: The present law does not permit any company with a membership of over 50. If you want to change the existing law, the answer would be quite different.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: The point I am making is this. You will be satisfled, according to your memorandum, if the percentage is raised from 25 to 33. Will it meet with your approval if it is not raised to 33 but if the membership is restricted as to remain round about 50 or 51? Have you any objection?

**Chairman:** There is no question of their objection if the law provides that. Their point of view is restricted to capital.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: So, the quantity of the capital is your criterion?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: Yes, Sir.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: On page 12, you have made reference to

certain expenditure and certain sumenities provided to the managerial staff for company purposes. Could you tell me how you are going to distinguish between amenities which are really debitable for company's purposes and amenities which are going to benefit the managerial staff.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: I believe that such small amenities like the use of a car or telephone or the use of the directors' bungalow at the factory end or things like that are very difficult to distinguish. I do not know whether it is practicable for the Government to appoint an inspector for each company to find out how much mileage a car has done on somebody's personal account and how much on company's account.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Would you be satisfied, as an alternative, if we specify certain sum and say that upto that sum it may not be included and over and above that it may be included?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: I believe that can solve the question.

Shri Murugappa Chettiar: But it also depends upon the size of the companies. A bigger company may require a bigger amount.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I quite appreciate your comment on page 14 when you say that if the entire depreciation has to be set apart, there will be no dividend to declare. Would it meet your point of view if it is provided that no dividend exceeding six per cent over a certain number of years only may be given, if there is inadequate provision for depreciation.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: I believe that it should satisfy us. I only want to add that if there is a reserve fund or if the dividend is given out of the dividend equalisation fund, it should not be taken into account. "Then, we have pointed out the diffireulties regarding new companies. Shri Naushir Bharucha: Are you reconciled to the fact that depreciation has to be calculated on incometax basis?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: Yes, Sir.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Regarding audit, certain companies have got a good integrated system of internal audit. In order to obviate the need for auditing the branch, would you be satisfied if powers were given to the Government to exempt certain companies where the Government is satisfied that the company has a good system of internal audit?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: We have no objection to that but my submission is that it will not be possible for all the smaller companies to have internal auditors. It depends upon the business and there are different types of business. Supposing a company is trading in cotton, it may have 50 branches.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: On page 19, you  $ar_e$  objecting to the investigation of related companies. How do you get over the fact that these companies have vital information which should be disclosed to the investigation?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: The Central Government have got power to investigate under a distinct law.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You circumscribe that power by saying that relevant evidence must not be brought in. How do you expect investigation to go on?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: I do not think that we have any such intention.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Let us turn to page 24. I am asking you frankly for your opinion. With regard to the question of the appointment of the sole selling agent I want your frank opinion. The bottom of this clause can be knocked out completely—even if this power is exercised-for instance, by appointing two agents instead of one sole selling agent. One of them can be a dummy. Would it be practicable to carry on a scheme in which vou appoint one real sole selling agent (and one a dummy agent) and not call him a sole selling agent? To get over the provisions you appoint two agents in one area-one your real favourite and the other a dummy. I want to know from your experience as a practical working businessman whether such a thing would be difficult to operate.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: Even in elections you have got dummy candidates.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha: I would** like to know whether it is possible.

Shri Shriyang Prasad Jain: We are opposing this suggestion. So far as the amending Bill is concerned, it is said that Government want to assume power. But I think the amending clause is about whether in a particular industry or trade the selling egent can be discontinued. The question of appointment, I think, is not in the amending Bill.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: At present things are not definite. You have got the sole selling agent but you may say that he does not come under the mischief of that clause at all because there is no sole selling agent.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: We are not here to suggest how the clauses are to be circumvented. I think we can leave it to the lawyers to say what is to be done at that time. We are here to explain our point of view.

**Chairman:** Those who frame laws have also to look to these contingencies.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I want to know from your practical experience.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: There cannot be a precise and definite answer to that. It will depend on the question of each appointment. There might be good intentions; there might be bad intentions. So far as bad intentions are concerned, we do not approve of it.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: The problem of inter-company investment has been worrying us. You rightly say that. perhaps, industrial development might be retarded if inter-company investment is restricted. I also guite appreciate your difficulties in complying with the requirements of the clause as it is worded. Would it meet your objections or would it remove your difficulties if you recast the scheme of the clause in such a way that companies may be free to invest where they like-without any restriction? Secondly if the investment exceeds 30 per cent of the investing company's share capital, in that case you only give intimation to the Government. And, thirdly, if the Government disapprove of it. then. that investment will have to be disposed of. If this via media is evolved. would that meet your objection?

**Shri Lakshmipat Singhania:** So far as intimation to Government is concerned, we will intimate to Government; there is no doubt about it. But if Government does not approve, it should be dislodged—I do not know how far it is practicable. There may be hundreds of examples.

Suppose a new company is formed. Several companies might have subscribed to its shares. How can such companies dispose of those shares if not approved? It is not practicable. Therefore, I cannot agree to a solution which I might feel completely impracticable.

Shri Ruia: It is not always possible in a new company. It is all right in the case of certain companies where the shares are over-subscribed. There, it may be a different thing. You may simply sell your shares. It is not possible in a new company that you can immediately sell the shares if Government disapproves. This would dislocate the working of companies.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** How are you going to have a check on mala fides? Your answer can only mean....

**Shri Kanungo:** His answer is already there that the shareholders are the best judge of mala fides.

Shri Ruia: We have also said that we would be agreeable if it is thought that when you give this power to the shareholders, it should be not a bare majority but a bigger majority.

Shri Kanungo: Your basic point is that the judge is the shareholder notwithstanding the fact that in certain companies 60 per cent of the shares are held by a group or person.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: He may do something against the interests of the 40 per cent.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: On pages 11 and 12 you have said:

"The Committee wish to point' out that in the case of the bigger companies, depending upon the volume and nature of work, different categories of managerial personnel will be required."

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: It is already there; for the managing director or others, the approval has to be taken from the Government. But here you are restricting it to 'manager'.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: Is there any company which you can say has appointed managing agents, managing directors and Secretaries etc.—all of them?

Shri Murugappa Chettiar: When we say managers, if it means managers who are entitled to commission etc. as the treasurers, secretaries etc. it is all right. But what we mean is this. If manager is supposed to be a manager of a firm, it might be a commercial manager, export manager, factory manager etc. There may be different managers. If your conception of manager is as secretary and treasurer or managing director or any such thing, we have nothing to say.

Shri Kanungo: As defined in the Act.

Shri S. P. Jain: We visualise four kinds of management; one, management by the managing agent; the next, secretary or treasurer; the third, managing director and the fourth is the manager. We do not visualise that there will be overlapping management. We are prepared to accept this so far as manager as defined in the Companies Act.

But, when we loosely use the word 'manager' we are not using it as defined in the Companies Act; we are using it as a departmental manager or works manager. If it is 'manager' as defined in the Companies Act, there should be no overlapping.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: On page 13, you have pooh-poohed the idea of introducing this clause. Don't you think that in the case of some bigger companies the value of the perquisites is much more than the monthly salary which is paid?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: It is difficult to say which company is giving what perquisite. Last time this question came up in regard to income-tax. There are certain perquisites which have been defined in that Act and those perquisites are all taxable. We do not want to take advantage of those perquisites which are in bigger industries but we only want to avoid misunderstanding between the authorities and the company. provisions, The reason is, for many there is a big penalty, and it is said that for small amenities like telephone, motors or tea or other things. the expenses should not be included or that there must be a limit on perquisites amounting to Rs. 5,000 or Rs. 10.000 according to the size of the company. That is all. We have no object such as to take indirect advant\_ age of those perquisites.

**Shri Chettiar:** May I know whether the income-tax, when charged, is on a notional value or the actual value?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: It depends upon case to case. I cannot give a general answer to that.

Shri Chettiar: About clause 62-payment of dividends.-in which appropriation of depreciation is also mentioned you have mentioned, as many others have mentioned earlier, that in companies which are beginning to compel people to give depreciation according to the income-tax formula. the provision will prevent people giving dividend and that it acts as a deterrent in the formation of companies and you will also agree that provision even for depreciation is necessary. Have you any via media or suggestion to offer by which both can be safeguarded?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: I think an hon. Member has put a suggestion with which we have agreed. If it is six per cent, ceiling is made on that and in older companies where the dividend is paid from the old reserves it is not included in this Act. I think then that we have no objection.

Shri Chettiar: You will agree that more than six per cent will not be paid until the reserve is built up according to the income-tax rate.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: You know all the reserves are put in the management. If the dividend is paid from the reserve then it should be taken from the old profits.

Shri Chettiar: Coming to clause 75, page 17; with regard to the audit of branches you have also said that there are difficulties in auditing branches. Others have said that there are big branches and small branches. Would you like to distinguish by a regulation in the Act which are the big and which are the small branches?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: We again at this stage request you to 873 LS-11.

kindly leave this matter to the shareholders of the company, because it is very difficult for me to say here for each company which is the small one and which is the big one-small branch or a big branch. I have personnal experience of some branches. Suppose I have one branch in Colombo or Nairobi, it is difficult to get auditors there. I have a branch in Indonesia where no auditor is available, and I am going to be penalized. Therefore I put before the shareholders that this is not practicable and I say, "exempt it". Therefore. this is not such a matter where the management tries to derive indirect benefit. It is a matter of facility. Therefore, I would request that this clause should not be put in.

Shri Chettiar: Will you agree that in Nairobi or Colombo you should get the permission of the Department not to audit?

Shri Lakshminat Singhania: I will give you an example. There is a company whose accounts have to be closed within a certain period. The latitude which we used to get from the Registrar of the companies for delaying the accounts is also being eliminated. I am in the eighth month which is running. How long will it take? I cannot get the accounts ready by that time. Then the question is that one should ask for permission of the Administration, and say that the accounts are going to be delayed. That is a matter which has to be considered. If the shareholders say that the branch accounts cannot be audited in such circumstances then it is practicable.

Shri Chettiar: Let us refer to page 23, clause 101 dealing with quorum for meetings. You say:

"The Committee are of the opinion that the proposal is not practicable....the matter cannot be decided by the third director and has to be decided by the general meeting. This will mean unnecessary expense and delay."

ŧ

Do you not think this itself is the reason for which you go to the general body? Between three directors, if a contract is made up, and that is made between themselves, and then when it is left to the single director afterwards, this itself is mala fide.

Shri Murugappa Chettiar: We can have a regulation that it will be ratified at the next general body meeting when there is no quorum. When there is a quorum of only one, in such cases, it can be ratified by the next general body meeting.

Shri Chettiar: After a fait accompli. There is only one other matter. I come to page 28—clause 128. This clause extends to page 29 also. It deals with remuneration of managing agents. It says:

"If for such technical work the services of other persons are obtained, separate remuneration will have in any event to be paid."

Will you refer to the amendment recently introduced in Great Britain in 1952 to clause 128 in which the word "managerial" has been introduced specifically to confine the remuneration to managerial work and not to technical work? It was specifically provided that the remuneration of 10 per cent or whatever it is would be confined to managerial work so that the technical work done by others is included. What is your complaint in saving that for technical work other than managerial services rendered by the managing agent the payment should not be included?

Shri Mazumdar: It is an inadequate understanding.

**Chairman:** Shri S. P. Jain said that so far as the definition of the word "managerial" is concerned, if that were to be confined to it, they have no objection.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: There are two distinct functions. One is the function of the managing agent and the other is the function carried on by the others. It does not necessarily mean that all the functions are to be done by the managing agent. The function of the managing agent is to manage and govern the company. It may not be that the managing agent should be a technical person. Therefore, if a particular director of the managing agents happens to be я technical person, and he is, under section 314 employed by that company for a full or a part-time job, in that case. my submission is whatever remuneration is due to him by virtue of section 314 should not be a deductible item while calculating the managing agency commission. If section 128 as it stands is being adopted, then it is permissible under section 314 that he can draw the remuneration. But while the commission of the managing agent will be calculated. whatever remuneration is there will be deducted. I do not think it is the intention that what is permissible under one clause should be nullified by another clause.

Shri Chettiar: I refer to the amendment to section 198(1).

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I do not want an amendment to section 198(1). There are several clauses under section 198. Sections 309 and 314 should be added.

Shri Kanungo: This will apply only when the director is a director of the managing agency company or also of the managed company.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Quite right. If the managing agency company is a firm or a partner or if the managing agency company is a corporate body, in that case, if that also happens to be the director of a managed company, only then it will be applicable. Otherwise it will not be applicable.

Shri Kanungo: So, you like the Director who is a director of both the companies to be excluded. Shri Chettiar: To do the technical job.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Not only technical.

**Shri Kanungo:** Not technical. He is referring to the other section also—for specific work.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I would like to add a few words. The point is. I also want to draw the attention of the Committee to clause 309 in this respect. Clause 309 empowers the board of directors to give one per cent commission. Then if the company is being managed by the managing agents, the board of directors are empowered under clause 309 to give one per cent to any director for any special services rendered. If a special assignment is being done or is being made by any person who happens to be the director of a company or also a director of a managing agent's company-when it is a special assignment-and if it does not come within the powers or within the definition of services of the managing agents, in that case, whatever the remuneration to the extent of one per cent would be given to that director while calculating the managing agency commission here and it will be a deductible item.

I would go a little further. If the managing agent is also a director of the company and he renders service as a director, that fee should not be deducted. If that fee is also deducted, that is unfair.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: There is an advisory committee and a suggestion has been made that it should be on a statutory basis. What is your experience in regard to its working? Would you like it to continue as it is or should there be a statutory provision?

**Chairman:** That would be a different thing.

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: There is no clause for that in the Bill. Shri Ruia: We have not thought it over.

Shri J. S. Bisht: In page 33, with regard to clause 138, you say:

"The Committee are opposed to the limitation of the total investments of a company in all other companies. The history of the last few years has proved that new company formation and consequent industrial expansion has to a large extent been made possible by inter-corporate investments. Such inter-corporate investments have, therefore acquired a significance and have been recognised as useful. If the proposal ie accepted, the Committee have no doubt, that it would arrest the further development of our economy. The Committee are, therefore, opposed to the restrictions on investments of one company in other companies to 30 per cent of its subscribed capital."

Could you tell us what would be your suggestion to prevent such malpractices as purchasing another company with the reserves of one company, from that purchasing another company and so on? What is your suggestion for safeguarding against such mala fide practices?

**Shri Singhania:** I have already given my suggestion. It should be left to the shareholders and not merely to the directors.

**Shri J. S. Bisht:** If a person happens to control a majority of shares, he can get through it.

**Shri Singhania:** If a person controls a majority of shares, he is the owner of the company.

Shri J. S. Bisht: In page 59 of the Bill, in clause 138, suppose the first proviso and sub-section (3) are dropped, as recommended by one of the witnesses here, what is your reaction?

Shri Singhania: This would mean further curtailment of the powers.

**Chairman:** He might have had his own views.

Shri J. S. Bisht: I want to know whether the witnesses here are agreeable to it.

Shri Singhania: We are not agreeable to it.

Shri Tangamani: In page 15 of your memorandum dealing with clause 63, you tell us that there is not a single instance which has been brought to your notice of the dividends having been declared, but not paid. If that is the reason why do you object to this amendment which lays down that persons who are knowingly a party to this defraud are punishable with 14 days simple imprisonment and also fine?

**Chairman:** For that an answer was given. The witness said that if some shareholders are dead and if some are not traceable, once the money is deposited, it cannot be drawn back and that will become the entire property of the bank for eternity.

**Shri Tangamani:** Will not a provision like this on the statute-book guarantee to the shareholders the payment of dividend? As an organisation representing not only the various companies but also the shareholders, what is your objection?

**Chairman:** Their point of view is that there has been no complaint absolutely, not even a single instance where a claimant might not have been paid his due share of the dividend. Why should there be a provision requiring the management to deposit the money in the bank which would cause further complications?

Shri Singhania: Yes, Sir; that is our point.

Shri Tangamani: What will be the other method which you will suggest for guaranteeing the payment of the dividends declared?

**Chairman:** There is no difficulty according to them; why should we find out a solution?

Shri Singhania: This Act provides a penalty if the dividend is not paid within three months. That solution  $i_s$  already there.

Shri Tangamani: Your objection, I take it, is only against the penalty of imprisonment and not fine?

Shri Singhania: This penalty clause is unique. The word used is "and" and not "or".

**Chairman:** He says, even if the penalty is there, the court should have the discretion to decide whether the penalty of imprisonment is necessary or the ends of justice would be met by fine.

Shri Tangamani: Please turn to page 27 of your memorandum, dealing with clause 124 which creates a new section 235A prohibiting subsidiary companies being managing agents. In the note you have given you tell us that the company law amending committee has not considered it, but candid enough to vou have been say that this cuts across foreign collaboration. Is this the reason why you oppose the creation of section 235A?

**Chairman:** The reason given was that it would be discriminatory and would be rather prejudicial to the interests of Indian companies as against the foreign ones.

Shri Singhania: That is not the reason, Sir.

**Chairman:** I am sorry; you may give the reason now.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: We do not understand what could be the evil of it if a subsidiary company is going to be managing agents and we have advanced a further reason that suppose a foreign collaboration is needed in one of the businesses of the managing company—where it is managing 5 or 6 businesses—and the foreign collaboration comes in, then it is not practicable for a subsidiary to act as managing agents.

Shri Tangamani: Page 10 of your Memorandum, clause 58, section 197. You are particular about the Chairman's speech being published at the expense of the company. But may I just point out that where the chairman's speech alone is published, given wide publicity, it has created difficulties in the recent past as in the case of the Madura Mills Co. Ltd. where there was a dispute between 22,000 workers and the management? The view of the chairman which alone was published has considerably embarrassed the State Governments and. more or less, postponed the settlement of the dispute. Is not Mr. Chettiar aware of such a thing which happened only six weeks back?

Shri A. M. M. Murugappa Chettiar: It was published in papers. I think, as far as shareholders are concerned, they are given all the details of the minutes of the meeting etc. Minutes of the meeting are sent to all the shareholders separately.

Shri Tangamani: The mere fear expressed was, more or less, proved in a particular case because it does not give the whole picture and emphasis is given on a particular issue. Probably, it may be a genuine desire on the part of the chairman to help but the net result has been prolongation of a particular dispute, as it has happened in this case.

**Chairman:** The answer is, it may mislead outsiders, but the shareholders have other sources of getting true information and they are getting that regularly. Shri A. M. M. Murugappa Chettiar: That is the point.

Shri Tangamani: It affects the industry very badly.

Shri A. M. M. Murugappa Chettiar: We are concerned with the shareholders' interests and shareholders' interests are fully safeguarded.

Shri Tangamani: Page 16 of your Memorandum. Even some of the witnesses who came before you did not very much like the idea of the registrar's inspecting documents. Do you hold that the registrar should be deprived of the powers which are sought to be given under clause 76? Here, at the instance of a shareholder or a creditor, the registrar can inspect certain documents. Do you oppose giving the powers to the registrar under clause 76?

Shri S. M. Shah: The point at issue is whether the powers should be vested in the Registrar or not. Under the present Act, the powers are already vested in the Government. If a complaint has been brought to the notice of the Company Law Administration, they can appoint inspectors and investigate the matter. The only question to be considered is whether additional powers have got to be given to the registrars of companies for this purpose. This clause goes even beyond the scope of the recommendations of the Commission inasmuch as when a creditor complains. in that case also the registrar can call for certain information. All that was not envisaged. What will happen is that a number of frivolous complaints will be brought before the registrar and the registrar will have to call very often the company management to explain and produce the documents. For this purpose, extra staff may have to be engaged.

Shri Tangamani: Clause 104 Vou did answer to a question put by Ms. Naushir Bharucha.' What I would like to know is, would you not like some kind of control from the Government side when the company wants to appoint a sole selling agent?

Chairman: I can answer for them.

Shri Tangamani: They have given answer in a dubious way in the Memorandum.

Chairman: I can give you answer in a clear way. It is that, they would not like Government interference. Shall I proceed further?

Shri Tangamani: I thought Mr. Jain was going to say something.

Chairman: They agree with me.

Shri Easwara Iyer: You have said that you have prepared this Memorandum on the basis of shareholders' point of view and that lesser control is conducive to the shareholders. Do you agree with the principle that the majority shareholders should not oppress minority shareholders?

**Chairman:** There ought to be no oppression by the majority. Everybody would agree with the principles.

Shri Madanmohan R. Ruia: There is already a provision

Shri Easwara Iyer: That majority shareholder becomes practically the owner, I do not agree with him. That is why I am putting this question.

Shri Madanmohan R. Ruia: Already there is a provision.

**Chairman:** The answer is, already there are provisions in the Act.

Shri Easwara Iyer: I want to know whether they concede the position that minority shareholders should not be oppressed by a few majority shareholders.

Shri Madanmohan R. Ruia: Yes, of course.

**Chairman:** The answer given is, **'Yes, of course'**.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Page 15, clause 63. You object to the deposit of the dividends in a scheduled bank or the State Bank. Now, can you tell me, what you consider the nature of the moneys which have become the declared dividend? I will put it in this way, whether it is the property of the company or the property of the shareholders once the dividend is declared.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: The company itself is a property of the shareholders, and therefore all the wealth of the company belongs to shareholders. Nobody else is the owner.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Do you agree with the view that the company has a legal entity quite apart from the shareholders?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: No, Sir.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Do you mean to say that the use of the declared dividend for purposes other than giving it to the shareholders will amount to temporary misappropriation?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: I do not say so.

**Chairman: That would be an opinion** to be given by the lawyers. We need not ask their opinions on legal matters.

**Shri Easwara Iyer:** They practically admit that the moneys are being adjusted towards other purposes.

Chairman: You need not enter into that controversy.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Page 3, clause 2—Definition of Associate. I have put that question to others also. You have taken the objection to the definition of 'Associate', the wider meaning given to the word 'Associate'. I just want to know your objection. Is it your objection that the holding company will be debarred from financing these subsidiary companies?

**Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: The** position is this, that this definition....

Shri Easwara Iyer: Let me first make myself clear. Supposing the managed company is the holding company and there is a subsidiary company of the managing company, is it your view that by this definition, managed company will be debarred from financing the subsidiary company?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: That is what we have said.

Shri Easwara Iyer: But if the definition is not accepted, is it not equally dangerous because bogus companies will be created and public funds will be diverted to them?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: For that there is already a provision in the Act. You cannot create a managing agency. The definition of associate is very wide. If the managing agent holds the majority shares of the managed company, what will happen is that the managed company cannot advance money to its subsidiary.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Clause 76, page 18. From what I have understood from your explanation the position seems to be that apart from producing books of account to the labour tribunal, this is one more hardship to the company. Is it your view?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: The company law administration has wide powers to investigate anything. If they are given this power of calling for books of account also, you can understand how it will affect the smooth working of companies.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: It is not correct to say that the Department has power to investigate anything? Our powers are restricted by the provisions of the Act.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Do you realise that under this amendment the Registrar cannot call for books of account arbitrarily, but only if the information supplied by you is inadequate?

**Shri Lakshmipat Singhania:** There are two things. Let us be very clear about it in our minds. One is the returns which we have to submit to the Registrar. The second is about the books of account. It is the obligation of the company to submit certain returns. Now, this amendment provides that books of account also should be produced before him. The account books have nothing to do with the Registrar. If the account books are also to be submitted to the Registrar, then he will be having unlimited powers.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Page 4, definition of 'relative'. I have asked questions on this to other witnesses also. Is there any principle which you can apply in the matter of definition of this term?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: Relations cannot be regulated by any principle. The existing section and the amendment itself are so wide that they will cover anything.

Shri Easwara Iyer:. Then I take it that you have no objection to the amended list.

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: What we have suggested is for removing some from the list.

Shri Nathwani: Page 14, clause 62. You say that if depreciation provided in section 350 is to be allowed, there will be no profit for a few years to come in case of new units. Even apart from this provision, a large-scale industrial undertaking takes a number of years before it goes into full production, say three or four years. Am I right?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: It is not fixed. Some industries may take . even 15 years.

Shri Nathwani: It will take anyhow at least a minimum of three years. It may take between three and 15 years. During this period the shareholders will not be receiving any dividend. Till the unit goes into full production and starts producing goods and before it becomes profitable, there will be no dividend declared. Is the correct?

Shri Lakshmipat Singhania: Yes.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: At present there is no bar to distribute dividends out of accumulated reserves.

Shri Nathwani: I am referring to new industrial units.

**Chairman:** He says that the shareholder has nothing to fear because there is no provision in law which prohibits distribution of dividends.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: If the present amendment is adopted, then it will be a deterrent factor for the investing public. In the case of new companies or in the case of some of the existing companies which are in the process of expansion, the burden of the depreciation and the development rehate will be felt to such an extent that they will find it extremely difficult to pay any dividend. If no dividend is received for a number of years by the investing public. then it will be a deterrent factor to invest money. Therefore, our submission is that till the company starts earning profit. dividend at the rate of 6 per cent should be paid in the interim period. It should not be more than 6 per cent.

**Shri Nathwani:** What I was saying is this: At present no company can declare dividend out of capital.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: The present provision is that no dividend can be paid unless there is a profit in the company. But 'profit' is never defined or determined by the Companies Act.

Shri Nathwani: Unless there is profit, no dividend can be declared. In the case of a new unit, it may take at least three or four years before there is profit.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: It will take more.

**Shri Nathwani:** Even today there is a possibility or probability of a new undertaking not being able to pay dividend for three or four years.

# Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Yes.

**Shri Nathwani:** And it has not acted as a deterrent to the prospective investors.

Shri Nathwani: If the individuals have confidence in the future of industry and management there will be no difficulty.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: The present Act has come into force only from 1st April, 1956. Here the provision has been that the dividend will be paid out of the profits of the company. We are now only in the year 1959.

Shri Nathwani: Even after the unit goes into production, it will take some time for the profits to be made. Will section 208 not give some relief in a case like this?

**Chairman:** The answer the witness has given is that there are apprehensions that for those companies also there may not be any profit and therefore no dividends. Now the apprehensions would be greater.

Shri Nathwani: I have understood that apprehension. At the most the period will be a little prolonged during which no dividends can be declared. We are taking the case of a genuine concern which will succeed ultimately. Will not section 208 meet a case like this?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Under that clause we have to come to Government for permission of declaration of dividend. Upto 6 per cent it should be left to the discretion of the directors and if we want to pay higher than 6 per cent in that case we will come to Government and ask for permission and if Government give that permission then only more than g per cent will be paid.

**Shri Nathwani:** Those who invest in new undertakings will also look for appreciation in share value.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: This may not be the main purpose. There

are three factors which guide investments: one is dividend; the other is appreciation and the third is security of the capital.

(The witnesses then withdrew.)

The Committee then adjourned.

# MINUTES OF EVIDENCE GIVEN BEFORE THE JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE COMPANIES (AMENDMENT) BILL, 1959.

Friday, the 10th July, 1959 at 08.30 hours

# PRESENT

## Sardar Hukam Singh-Chairman

# MEMBERS

# Lok Sabha

2. Shri H. C. Heda	14. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi
3. Shri Satyendra Narayan Sinha	15. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
4. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary	16. Shrimati Sucheta Kripalani
5. Shri Shivram Rango Rane	17. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
6. Shri N. R. M. Swamy	18. Shri Nityanand Kanungo
7. Shri M. Shankaraiya	19. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
8. Shri Jaganatha Rao	20. Shri S. Easwara Iyer
9. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi	21. Shri Yadav Narayan <b>J</b> adhav
10. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar	22. Shri Surendra Mahanty
Morarka	23. Shri G. K. Manay
11. Shri G. D. Somani	24. Shri Naushir Bharucha
12. Shri Feroze Gandhi	25. Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri

13. Shri Mulchand Dube

.

# Rajya Sabha

26. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai	31. Shri P. T. Leuva
27. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam	32. Shri M. P. Bhargava
Chettiar	33. Shri R. S. Doogar
28. Shri P. D. Himatsingka	34. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
29. Shri J. S. Bisht	35. Shri Rohit M. Dave.
30. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha	

## Draftsman

Shri S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

#### Secretariat

Shri A. L. Rai-Under Secretary.

# WITNESSES EXAMINED

I. The Indian Cotton Mills' Federation, Bombay.

#### Spokesmen:

1. Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain

2. Shri J. J. Ashar

3. Shri B. G. Kakatkar

II. Indian Federation of Working Journalists, New Delhi.

Spokesmen:

1. Shri J. P. Chaturvedi

2. Shri R. Narasimhan

3. Shri C. Raghavan

III. Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited, New Delhi.

Spokesmen:

1. Shri S. C. Aggarwal

2. Shri Bhim Sen.

I. The Indian Cotton Mills' Federation, Bombay.

Spokesmen:

1. Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain

2. Shri J. J. Ashar

(Witnesses were called in and they took their seats.)

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: First of all, I am very thankful to you on behalf of the Federation and on behalf of my colleagues, to express my gratitude for the opportunity you have afforded to us to present our case. We have already put forward our point of view in the memorandum which we have submitted. T do not propose to take each and every clause referred to therein, but I would like to elaborate on ten or twelve clauses, so that we may be able to place our detailed, viewpoint on those clauses.

Chairman: That is all right. The witness may begin now.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I will request Mr. Ashar to speak about clause 15 and then I will continue.

Shri J. J. Ashar: Under clause 15, any investment in a private company of public funds will be converting that private company into a public company. The question is what kind of investment would be or should be treated as such for this purpose. I will give an extreme example—and I think an extreme example will illustrate the point quite forcibly.

Take two private companies A and B in which there are only two members; and B invests in the shares of A. 3. Shri B. G. Kakatkar.

Then, what will happen is this. If this investment exceeds 25 per cent of the paid-up capital of A, then, A will become a public company.

This is an extreme example of how a purely private company investing to the extent of 25 per cent only in other companies which are also private and having only two members will result in the conversion of the first company into a public company. So, I suggest the whole position might be examined from that point of view. I have given an extreme example to show that this particular point requires to be very seriously considered by the Committee.

There are several technicalities also. For instance, under the Companies Act, you cannot make a company which has only less than 6 or 7 members into a public company. I suppose this is a kind of over-riding provision; although a company has less than 6 or 7 members, it will, nevertheless, by virtue of this clause, be converted into a public company.

In our memorandum we have made a suggestion which is worth consideration. For the purpose of the Incometax Act, under section 23A there are two types of companies, those in which the public are substantially interested and those in which the public are not substantially interested. Section 23-A applies to those companies in which the public are not substantially interested and it does not apply to those companies in which the public are substantially interested. In computing the number of persons who will be included for the purpose of 23-A, they do not take into consideration at all the private companies. They are treated as individuals. We suggest for the consideration of the Committee that a similar criterion be adopted for the purpose of clause 15.

If the funds of a company which is treated as a company in which the public are substantially interested for the purpose of the Income-tax Act are invested in a private company to the extent of 25 per cent or more, then, that private company should be treated as a public company and not otherwise. That is a well-known criterion -well-recognised and well-tried-not only in this country but in other countries also where they try to gauge the interests of the public by the adoption of this criterion. If that is done, I think, we will have a feasible, demonstrable and a well-tried criterion.

If a company is treated as a non-23-A company, that is, will not be subject to the provisions of section 23-A of the Income-tax Act, then, the investment of such a company should be taken into consideration for ascertaining whether the public is interested or not or whether public funds are invested in that company or not.

I was suggesting that this is a welltried and a reasonable criterion about which there can be no doubt whatever. That should be the proper criterion to be adopted.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: The next clause I would like to take is clause 58. It bars the publication of the Chairman's speech. If the Chairmen's speeches are published, it has now been made obligatory that the whole of the proceedings of the General Meetings should be advertised along with the Chairmen's speeches. The Chairmen's speeches as are being published today will be prohibited if the entire proceedings of the General Meetings are not advertised.

We are not able to appreciate this point of view-why this ban is being imposed. As a matter of fact, the Chairman's speech may be a part and parcel of the proceedings or sometimes it may not be. The Chairman's speech does not only deal with the working of the company and the various aspects of the company but also deals with the general nature of the industry. If one has studied Chairmen's speeches, he will note that there are a number of features. They give the economic review not only of the company but of the particular industry or the general economic situation of the country. The various expansion programmes and economic activities which are going on not only in this country but also abroad are dealt with. Therefore, the Chairman's speech is not only limited to the interests of the shareholders but it is also in the interests of the general public by and large.

So far, to my knowledge, the share holders of no company have objected to these publications. When the shareholders are not opposed to the publication of these speeches, we do not see why there should be any ban on the publication of the Chairman's speech.

Next I will deal with clause 62 which prohibits the distribution of a dividend unless the depreciation and multiple allowances are provided for. We have represented in our memorandum that the new companies or those companies which are engaged in expansion programmes will be greatly hit.

It is the general public who supply the capital of these public limited companies. If the shareholders do not get a dividend for a number of years, then, it would be a sort of discouragement to invest in joint-stock companies. It is a well-known fact that new companies or existing companies which have large expansion programmes take a number of years, 3 to 5 years, or even a little longer, to attain that capacity to pay dividends. If dividend is not being paid unless that capacity is achieved, it will retard the formation of new companies and, ultimately, the growth of economic development of the country.

Therefore, our suggestion is that we must strike a via media and find out a solution for this difficulty. In our memorandum we have suggested that a 6 per cent dividend be allowed till the whole depreciation is not provided for. That is for the interim period. We suggest that this will solve the problem and the shareholders also will not be put to any disadvantage.

Now. I come to clause 63. The new Companies Act came into force in the year 1956. We have hardly worked it for two to three years. In the existing Companies Act. it has been provided that dividend must be paid after the declaration within a period of three months. Now, a further restriction is being imposed or is contemplated to be imposed, that as and when dividend is declared, the amount to the extent of the dividend must be deposited in the bank within 14 days of the declaration. No statistics are available as to why this new provision is intended. Every company is paying a dividend after it is declared and within the stipulated time. If any company has not paid the dividend,---I do not know there can be many such companies and even if there be. their number will be very, very negligible-there are other provisions in the Act to deal with the situation. This is a provision for the compulsory deposit within fourteen days. Suppose a company has declared a dividend today and wants to distribute it, say, after a couple of months, why should it be made obligatory on the part of the company to deposit the money within 14 days? It will distribute the dividend as and when the dividend warrant is being issued. If the period is considered too long, it can be restricted. But why this deposit of the dividend within 14 days should be

made? It will be a hardship particularly to the smaller companies who can otherwise synchronize their programme and look into the various necessities of the companies and their expansion needs. Therefore, I would suggest that the present provision which is contained in the Companies Act is quite all right and it could safeguard the interests of the shareholders. The proposed clause will entail a lot of difficulties to the companies, particularly to the smaller ones.

Shri J. J. Ashar: I would now like to deal with clause 84. Before I come to the recommendation which we are making in this connection I would like to deal with some of the aspects of that particular clause and some of the drafting aspects also. Two points are sought to be made by that clause. One is pre-transfer and the other is post-transfer; shares before the stage they are transferred, that is, the apprehended transfer of shares, and shares which have been actually transferred, and in fact there has been transfer which is now proposed to be dealt with through that clause.

It is quite obvious that there are a bundle of rights associated with shares, the most important of which, in our opinion, is the voting rights. It is sought to deny the voting rights if Government thinks that through that transfer the constitution of the board of directors may be affected or there may be a change in the managing agents or in the constitution of the managing agents. Later on, in that clause, they say that if it is likely to lead to any such change Government may prevent it by an order of transfer.

If the bundle of rights of which the most valuable aspect is the voting right, then I suggest that this requires to be very seriously considered whether the voting right should be curtailed. Not only that. The clause as it stands is susceptible of this interpretation: namely, if I am pre-

vented from exercising voting rights in respect of the shares transferred to me because one of the things mentioned in that clause would apply. then, even my transferee, the person whom I may sell the shares, will be affected because they will not be able to exercise the voting rights for three years. That is the meaning, obviously, which flows from the clause as it is worded. It could not be the intention of Parliament that a person to whom the shares are transferred, if he is the transferee, for value or for consideration, will also suffer this disability. In many cases they have no notice because everybody is not going to know that I have been prevented by Government from exercising the voting rights in respect of the shares which I hold

Therefore, the clause, as it has been worded, is not only impinging upon the property rights, if I put it that way, of the shareholders who are prevented from exercising those rights. but will also impinge upon the very valuable rights in regard to voting of my transferee who may totally be unaware of the position as regards the notification issued by Government preventing me from exercising the voting rights. I think that is a very serious matter. It is not a matter so far as that particular shareholder is concerned but it is a matter which affects every transferee, whether with or without notice, and I do say and suggest that the clause requires to be redrafted carefully so as to preserve the voting rights of the other parties, that is, the transferees.

Then, as we have mentioned about this clause,—and that is the main recommendation of ours—this should be regarded in the first instance as a matter of indoor management. The Company Law provides for latitude as far as possible to the shareholders to manage their affairs as far as they can, provided public interests are not substantially affected. Here, the shareholders do not come at all. The appreciation of the situation is by the Government and the Government will issue a notification without consulting

the shareholders at all. If you accept, as I do suggest we should, the position that indoor management should be respected as far as possible, then the matter should come up to the company in general meeting for consultation, and the Government should refer the question to the company in general meeting whether a particular transfer is acceptable to the company or not, and if the company by a special resolution affirms the transfer and blesses it, as it were, then we feel that Government should not intervene in this matter unless the case is so exceptionally bad that you can ignore the wishes of the shareholders although they express it through a special resolution. That is the crux of our recommendation so far as this particular clause is concerned.

Shri Shrivans Prasad Jain: I shall deal with clause 104. This clause empowers the Government to issue notification that in a particular. trade or industry or business, sole selling agency cannot be appointed, and if they are to be appointed, they should be appointed with the approval of the Government. We are not in favour that the Government may be the authority to decide. whether a particular trade or industry needs selling agents or not. It should be left to the discretion of the board of management or to the company itself to decide whether they need the services of a person to distribute their goods.

It may also be possible that occasion may arise when different decisions may be taken. It is not necessary that when you appoint the selling agents, they should be appointed for all time to come. Sometimes the situation is that you may discontinue and sometimes it is felt necessary that they may be appointed again. In the case of a notification that a particular trade or industry will not have the selling agents, it means no selling agents for that industry will be appointed unless for special causes it comes to the Government for its approval.

Therefore, our fundamental objection is that it should be left to the discretion of the shareholders and they may decide whether a particular industry needs a selling agent or not.

Secondly, in this connection I would like to point out, while the Government of India will have the jurisdiction over the Indian companies, they will have no jurisdiction over the foreign companies. So far as the foreign companies are concerned. they will be free to appoint selling agents. If this amendment is adopted, they will be barred to appoint selling agents unless they are approved by the Government of India. Today, the foreign companies will have free choice to appoint selling agents to operate in this country in any manner, they like, while the Indian industries will be deprived of this fundamental right and, therefore, I only submit that we should reconsider this and this should be left to the discretion of the company itself.

Shri J. J. Ashar: I will now come to clause 124, which prohibits a subsidiary of a company from acting as managing agent. There is one drafting mistake which I would like to point out. There is a contradiction between clause 124 and clause 127. Clause 124 says that a subsidiary cannot act as managing agent. Clause 127 says, if a subsidiary of a company is acting as managing agent of another company, then any changes in the constitutions of the holding company will also be taken as changes for the purposes of the constitution of managing agents. I hope the Draftsman will agree that there is a contradiction between the two clauses and that these two clauses require to be reconciled

Shri Sen Verma: There is no contradiction.

Shri J. J. Ashar: You do not envisage a subsidiary company acting as managing agent of another company.

Shri Sen Verma: It says, a subsidiary of another body corporate and that body corporate may be an Indian, company. There is no inconsistency.

Shri J. J. Ashar: Then, you may say, a subsidiary of another company.

**Chairman:** If there would be no Indian company, it will not be affected. But if there are, then it would apply.

Shri J. J. Ashar: I thought, Sir, in the interests of meticulous drafting that could have been taken care of. The arguments why this particular clause should not be retained must have already been advanced and hence I would not repeat them.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Now I come to clause 128. Before I deal with clause 128. I would like to refer in this connection to sections 309 and 314. Section 309 allows that a director may be paid a remuneration to the extent of one per cent if they find any special cause for it, or if he is asked to do any special work. It also says that directors are entitled to get their fee for each sitting of the Board. If this amendment, which has now been suggested and is adopted by Parliament, then what is being provided in section 309 will be taken away by this clause. We must be very clear in our mind whether we want to give that one per cent or the fee for each sitting of the Board. If we are prepared to give fee for each sitting of the Board, or the remuneration to the extent of 1 per cent, then in that case the words 'save as otherwise expressly provided' should not be taken away. Otherwise, this difficulty will arise. Suppose there is a director, who happens to be a managing agent also, is given some special work which is not entirely connected with the management of the company.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: What is that special kind of work?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I shall deal with that point later. Therefore, all that remuneration and the fee which he is entitled otherwise will be deducted out of the commission of

managing agent. Coming to my Hon'ble friend's remark. I would say there can be many types of special assignment. Supposing a company wants to extend their activity, they may ask a director to do the spade work and find out the possibility of company's expansion programme Secondly, if a director happens to be a technical person and the company wants to utilise his services for a special work, in that case he is entitled to a remuneration to the extent of work done by him. Now, if this clause remains as it is, it will be a cut in commission of the managing the agents.

In the same way, I would deal with section 314. Section 314 empowers that a director in the case of body corporate may be appointed to an office of profit by a special resolution. That director's remuneration will also be deducted out of the commission of the managing agents.

Sir, I would say, so far as the fee of a director is concerned, it is personal service to the company not in the capacity of the managing agent. He is discharging the duty as a director and to deduct that fee out of the commission of the managing agent will not be proper. Therefore, I would suggest that the clause as worded before should be retained.

Shri Sen Verma: Fee for a sitting of the Board is excluded.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I would like to know whether it is excluded. Section 348 of the principal Act says, "save as otherwise expressly provided". These words have been taken away now.

Shri Sen Verma: Please look at section 198(2) where it has been provided that:

"The percentage aforesaid shall be exclusive of any fee payable to dirctors for meetings of the Board attended by them." Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I would draw your attention to clause 128(1) (a) which says:

'In that sub-section as so renumbered, the words "save as otherwise expressly provided in this Act" shall be omitted.'

So, whatever is being provided in other clauses, clause 128 will be the overriding clause. Whatever is provided in this clause will be the guiding factor for the determination of the managing agency commission.

**Shri Mazumdar:** The legal opinion is that section 198 is overriding and not clause 128.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: What is the import of deleting these words "save as otherwise expressly provided in this Act"?

Shri Mazumdar: Too many save's will mean confusion.

**Chairman:** So, regarding sitting fees there is no difficulty.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: The other things may also be considered.

Shri J. J. Ashar: I come to clause 138 dealing with inter-company investment. In the note attached to the Bill, nothing has been mentioned except to say that it is proposed now to extend the principle enunciated in section 372 by embracing the entire field of intercompany investment. Since nothing has been mentioned, it is permissible to infer that on purely ideological grounds, it is sought to prevent concentration of power in the hands of a company by reason of investment in other companies except to a limited extent. The presumption is that perhaps that has actuated the insertion of this clause in the Bill. Maybe that we are not right, but we cannot find any other explanation.

It is the policy of Government to promote rapid industrialisation both in the private and public sectors. The notion of concentration of economic power and all that should be considered to a certain extent, but when you limit altogether the power of one company to invest in another company only to the extent of 30 per cent of its paid-up capital, we apprehend that the industrial development of the country might be seriously affected by reason of the insertion of this section.

Again, suppose a company starts with a small paid-up capital of Rs. 5 lakhs. By dint of industry, it accumulates large reserves, which are to be ignored for the purpose of investment in other companies. This, we suggest, it not quite fair. To which capital this limit of 30 per cent should apply is a matter for serious consideration. We suggest that not only the paid-up capital, but the reserves of the company and its debenture capital should also be taken into consideration. Oť course, our suggestion is that there should be no clause of this character. but if it is to be inserted, certain aspects of it might be liberalised. One aspect will be the inclusion of further items in the definition of the capital of the company.

In the notes on the clause, there is reference to voting rights. Voting rights in the company are not attached to preference shares ordinarily unless the dividend is in arrears as provided in the Companies Act. We, therefore, suggest further that the holding of preference shares in other companies should be excluded for this purpose because voting rights are not attached to preference shares and it is not going to affect the extent to which the company is going to control as it were the affairs of the other company.

Before I conclude on this clause, one company may be holding shares in another company and there is the right issue by the other company. That right issue may be offered to the company to take further capital in that other company. Under the law only 14 days are allowed for the purpose after you get the offer from the company. You take up the other right issue proportionate to your holding in that other company, but only 873 LS-12

14 days are allowed. You cannot hold because it takes a general meeting. time. Under the present provisions. it may be 28 days. You have also to - take the sanction of the Central Government, because maybe your 10 per cent limit is exceeded in that particular case. So, the result will be that so far as the right issue is concerned, it may be a serious disadvantage to the The company may not be company able to go through the requisite formalities completely and may altogether lose the right of further investment. The other company cannot wait for you to complete all the formalities which take a long time. So, this is a matter for very serious consideration

Shri Shrivans Prasad Jain: Regarding clause 179, in the case of a company going into liquidation, it is being proposed that the retrenchment compensation should be a prior charge. While we have every sympathy with this clause, we feel that many difficulties will crop up if it is being adop-As you know, almost all the ted. companies are having finances through the banks. When the banks give the advance, they take an assurance or a guarantee from the managing agent or the company it self that they will not pledge the assets of the company to anybody unless they get the prior approval of the bank. When they give advance, they see whether in case of difficulty, they can fall back on the assets of the company for recovering the outstanding dues. This retrenchment compensation will come to a very very large figure and it cannot \* determined at cach and be easily every stage. So, to that extent, the availability of resources in the hands of the company will be lower and the other people will be very chary to advance to the full extent as they are doing at present. Therefore, there will be difficulty in making financial resources available to the company. This matter should be considered from this point of view.

Apart from the workmen, there are so many other people who are also middle-class people, like stores suppliers, cotton suppliers, civil contractors and others. They are also in the same category and they will also be very chary if the company goes into liquidation and if there is a prior charge in respect of retrenchment compensation. If one particular class of people, namely, the workers, are given the full amount, the other class of people will have to be given less. Somebody will suffer and there will therefore be difficulty for the company to get the full resources.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: Suppose they are also included?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Then, I do not think, there will be any meaning to the term 'prior charge'. 'Prior charge' means that it is a charge over somebody else. If all the people come in the same category, then this clause becomes fruitless

A company goes into liquidation when there is difficulty. Therefore. everybody should share that difficulty. Why should there be a prior charge in respect of workers over others? This is my suggestion. I feel like that, I am saying this from two points of view. First, there will be difficulty about the working of the company even in normal conditions because to that extent banks will not advance money. That means the process of liquidation will be accelerated because the compensation amount will be substantial. So far as the question of wages is concerned, one can quite appreciate. This is something which has to be given because the workers had to be retrenched because the company has gone into liquidation. TŤ retrenchment compensation is made a prior charge, it is too hard.

Shri J. J. Ashar: Clause 200 imposes quite a blanket penal provision in respect of offences which are not specified against any particular section of the Act. It is not a very desirable matter. I submit that it is against all canons of jurisprudence because each offence has to be weighed on its merits **before** providing appropriate punish-

ments for the breach. A particular company will be punished with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees for breach of any section for provided. nunishment is which no which I can recall is One example with regard to holding of a meeting once in every three calendar months. Now, no punishment is prescribed for the breach of this provision. That means this clause will apply so that in the first instance the person concerned will be fined Rs. 500|- and if he continuously fails to hold the meetings, then he will be fined Rs. 50|- a day. I suggest that this should not be the case and I submit it is not desirable from the point of view of niceties of jurisprudence....

Shri Sen Verma: What do you mean by niceties of jurisprudence?

Shri J. J. Ashar: You do not consider the gravity of the offence at all.

**Shri Sen Verma:** Similar provisions have been made in several Acts for the last four or five years.

Shri Kanungo: The Court is going to weight it.

Shri J. J. Ashar: I do not say that it has not been made. But I say it is against the niceties of jurisprudence and it is for the Committee to consider my suggestion. I submit that proper punishments should be prescribed for the breach of any particular section, instead of this blanket provision.

**Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain:** That is also what we wanted to emphasize.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: May I know whom does the Indian Cotton Mills' Federation represent?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: The Federation represents the entire cotton mill industry of the country.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Have you got branch associations elsewhere?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: No. It is the associations which are members of the cotton mills' federation. For example, we have the Ahmedabad Millowners' Association, Bombay Millowners' Association and Kanpur Millowners' Association. Associations are the members of the Federation and not the individuals.

Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar: Is the South Indian Mill-owners' Association a member of your Federation?

Shri B. G. Kakatkar: The South Indian Mill-owners' Association is not a member of this Federation. But the Bombay Mill-owners' Association has got several members in South and the Bombay Mill-owners' Association is a member of the Federation. Except the South Indian Association, all are the members of our Federation.

Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar: It is a big association which you do not represent.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I do not know whether this question arises....

Chairman: It does not arise.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: For clause 15 you have made some suggestion which requires further elucidation. You have said that instead of adopting the basis which we have adopted in clause 15, you would like the basis under section 23-A of the Indian Income-tax Act to be adopted, for the purpose of determining whether public money is involved or not. Assuming that is done, will it meet your objection?

# Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Yes.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: On page 3, you have said: "In any case the holding of shares by public companies to the extent that may be laid down, should be for an aggregate period of three years before a private company gets converted into a public company". What do you mean by that?

**Shri J. J. Ashar:** There will be very considerable seesaw in the company. **Sometimes there will be more investments and sometimes it will be less.** This is actually in order to 'stabilise

the position. It is only after such investments are held in one company for a period of three years, a company should be treated as a public company. This is for the purpose of stabilisation.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Don't you see that if this suggestion of yours is adopted, it will be possible to manipulate investments...

Shri J. J. Ashar: I think that situation can be met by taking the entire period, that is the aggregate period.

Shri J. J. Ashar: During the aggregate period of three years, let us say, you watch the position and at he end of that period, if the holdings are there, then it should be treated as public company.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: About Clause 46-on page 3-this is the suggestion which has been made by almost all the witnesses that the Registrar's discretion for extending the time for holding the Annual General meeting should be retained. You have already got 9 months. Why do you want more than 9 months? It must be a highly inefficient organisation which cannot hold the meeting 9 months after the closing of the financial year.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I agree that within 9 months a Company should hold its Annual General Meeting. But this provision would help in the case of some difficulties of a particular company. Due to some practical difficulties, if the Annual General Meeting could not be held, then that Company could go to the Registrar and seek his permission to extend the period. If the Registrar is satisfied that the difficulties are genuine, then only the extension should be granted. It is not as я matter of course the extension should be granted; the Registrar must be satisfied of the genuineness of the difficulties.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Clause 58page 4-refers to the publication of Chairmen's speeches. I do not quite share your views that all Chairmen's speeches are very illuminating. Apart from that, what objection can there be to give some space to the proceedings of the meeting; so that there might be a balanced view obtained by the readers without increasing the advertisement costs by cutting down the Chairmen's speeches to half the length and trying to give some space for other proceedings? What is the additional advertisement cost?

Shri Shrivans Prasad Jain: I am not talking from the point of view of advertisement costs. I have discussed this point from some other angle: Т mean it should be left to the discretion and the Company of the Directors itself to do what they want or propose to do in this matter. If the Company and the shareholders want that the Chairman's speech along with the proceedings of the Company should be published, then it can be published. I have no objection for the publication of the proceedings; but here it has been made obligatory that the Chairman's speech can only be published when the entire proceedings are also published; after all the proceedings are not of a material nature: it is a matter of routine nature.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I follow the point. We will take up Clause 62 You say that Clause 62 seeks to replace the existing section 205 by a new section and indirectly brings in the question of depreciation-no dividend can be declared or paid except out of the profits of the Company for the year arrived at after providing for depreciation to the extent specified in the proposed section 350 or out of the profits of the company for the previous year or years arrived at after providing for depreciation in the same manner and remaining undistributed. You say that you would be satisfied that the 6 per cent. formula viz. that you should be permitted to declare the dividend if necessary out of the capital or the previous reserves to the extent of 6 per cent, is accepted. You lay down the condition that this privilege should continue until the arrears are wiped out.....

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: ..... until the entire depreciation is provided for. Suppose a particular company has made larger profits in the succeeding years. and the entire depreciation has not been provided for in that year in spite of the fact that the Company has earned much more profits. We should not say that it should pay more dividend.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: To that extent I might concede this if the period would be limited. If your suggestion were accepted, the position would be this. Supposing the service life of a Company's asset is 10 years and the company is not in a position to make profits more than 6 per cent. or 8 per cent, for the first 10 years and it keeps on providing inadequate depreciation for 10 years because it does not earn enough profits. the state position would be that the assets would be wiped out and yet the depreciation would not be set aside. Then you will never be able to set aside....

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I am prepared to consider 5 or 6 years.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** It may be restricted to three years. The Company should be able to do this within three years.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jaiu: I am not accepting three years because there are so many companies which get the paying capacity only after 5 years; generally it is not earlier than 5 years. If the period is extended to 5 years, I think that will be an acceptable suggestion.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: On page 5 you have said:

"Clause 130 proposing rewording of Section 350 lays down that apart from normal depreciation, extra and multiple shift allowances should also be taken into consideration before arriving at the net profits of the company." In the 6 per cent. formula do you include multiple shift depreciation or only normal depreciation? Within the 6 per cent. formula which was envisaged, do you suggest that the multiple shifts should be kept out?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: First of all  $w_e$  have not said that and secondly we are not objecting to the formula which has been proposed. Within that formula we are suggesting 6 per cent.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Clause 63 says that every company within 14 days of declaration of dividend must deposit in a scheduled bank in a separate account the total amount of dividend payable. You say you have got the privilege of paying within 8 months. I do not know why should the company after having declared the dividend take so long as three months to pay the dividend.

**Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain:** It does not necessarily mean that the dividend should be paid immediately.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I want to know why should they not pay the dividend as promptly as possible as many companies do.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: They do. But the Act itself permits that the dividend can be distributed within a period of three months from the date of declaration. Supposing a particular Company taking advantage of this clause wants to synchronise the programme of expansion with this and wants to utilise this money for a month or so, it can distribute the dividend a little later. This money will be useful to the expansion programme of that company.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** I follow you. Page 6—Clause 71 lays down that private companies should also file the profit and loss account with the Registrar. You say that this will result in taking away an important privilege of a private company viz. not being required to file the profit and loss account with the Registrar. Will you tell me why should there be objection to a private company which may be managing a huge public company disclosing the profit and loss account so that the public might know how much profit the private company has made out of the management of a public company?

Shri J. J. Ashar: Actually there is this open to no provision to keep public inspection. It is only open to members. The members get the balance sheet and profit and loss account along with the notice; they are entititled to get it. Let us take this provision as it is. What will happen is anyone can go to the Registrar and ask for the accounts saying that he is The Registrar has no a member. means of verifying the credentials of that person as to whether he is 2 member or not. So we submit with all respect that there is no meaning in that provision. In this case how is the Registrar to verify the credentials of a person? A person who is not a member of a private company should not and need not be in a position to inspect its profit and loss account and so far as members are concerned, they can have inspection in the company's Office, apart from getting copies thereof.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Supposing this provision remains as it is, in that case if a proviso is put there saying that the inspection fac'lities will be given to the members in the premises of Company itself and not by the Registrar, then I don't think there will be any difficulty.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Apart from that one of the important objects is that the Registrar would be 'n a position to call for further information if he likes.

**Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain:** As I said earlier, we probably will have no objection to file our profit and loss accounts with the Registrar provided that the inspection of it is not permitted there; the member should be directed to have the inspection in the company's office and not at the Registrar's.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I follow your point.

Page 7; clause 84: Composition of the Board. You say that the company by two-thirds majority may decide that Government should not interfere or that Government should not have such powers.

Shri J. J. Ashar: What we mean is that they should have no power to withhold voting rights.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Everytime you have been emphasising; if the shareholders do this, or dc that. One of the objects is to prevent those shareholders who really cannot effectively do anything.

Shri J. J. Ashar: The idea of the company law should be to allow latitude as far as possible and we feel that Government interference or intervention should be as little as possible. That is the view of our association—Government may or may not agree.

Shri Naashir Bharacha: Page 7, clause 101, amendment of section 287 regarding quorum of the meeting. You make a comment that this provision will lead to many practical difficulties. If, for instance, a company has three directors of whom two are interested directors, one cannot constitute a quorum. What happens if all the three are interested?

Shri J. J. Ashar: Then you have to go to the general body.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Then you must go.

Shri J. J. Ashar: Up to now the provision facilitated the work of the company, because you can have even ene director who was disinterested who would apply his mind to the contract and sanction it. Now you are making it obligatory of having two members who are disinterested. There is no doubt that by amending section 299 you are providing that in order to constitute interest a director must have at least 2 per cent share capital; to that extent the conditions have been liberalised. To call a general meeting every time in order to pass a small contract will be too much of work for the company.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 8. clause 104: section 294. I have been trying to get some information. Would it not be possible to appoint dummy selling agents and say that since he is not the sole selling agent, the mischief of this clause is not attracted? Supposing Tata Company-I do not say they will do so-appoint for Agrico tools two agents with the same. or identical terms of contract. One will do business to the extent of 99 per cent and his dummy will do business to the extent of 1 per cent. Then they will say he is not their sole selling agent and therefore the clause will not apply. I want to know would there be any difficulty if a businessman is so inclined, to appoint on identical terms of contract two selling agents, one of them being a dummy. That is possible.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I am sorry I cannot answer how frauds can take place. My submission is this. Here power is being given to Government that they can issue a notification to the effect that in a particular trade or industry the selling, distribution, should be dispensed with and if a particular company wants to appoint that company should selling agents, go to Government and get its approval to appoint selling agents. Whether there will be dummy selling agents or not is a different question. There can be so many other things also.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Assuming for a moment that Government issues a notification that in a particular industry there should be no selling agents. Why can't that selling part of the affair not be managed departmentally?

Shri Shrivans Prasad Jain: It all depends on the circumstances. We cannot visualise the whole thing in advance. The situation may change from day to day. Sometimes there may be a glut in the market: sometimes there is off-take. If there is a standing distributor in a particular commodity we can press upon him to take delivery of the goods. For example in the case of textile crisis there were so many difficulties and firms with selling agents could do better business than they could have done departmentally. In some cases the selling agents also finance the company. Therefore, it is a very good system. I do not sav it is good everywhere: it depends upon the circumstances and upon the conditions and various factors

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Will you be satisfied if it is provided that Government before issuing a notification in a particular industry would consult the representatives of that industry?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I do not know what are the intentions of Government. In the case of the managing agency Government propose to appoint a committee to go into the question. Our suggestion is that a similar committee should be appointed in this case also.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Government might invite representatives of that industry and hear them, so that they can put forward their difficulties.

Page 8: You have said that Indian companies will be put in an unfair position vis-a-vis foreign companies who will be free to appoint their selling agents. How is it proper for you to complain about discrimination by comparing Indian with foreign companies, because foreign companies may even be subsidised and you may say that puts you in a disadvantageous position.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: My complaint is this. An Indian company may be debarred from appointing selling agents while a foreign company on which the Government of India has no control will be at liberty to appoint agents.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: How can there be comparison between two sets of companies working under different conditions? They may have their handicaps in the U.K.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: This is comparable to this extent. The area of operation in this country. We are comparing the position in this country. There is a foreign company which has got a branch here. That being registered in the U.K. it will be free to appoint its selling agents.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 9; clause 119. Promotion of relatives of directors. As I have been pointing out to some witnesses you might obtain the consent by engaging a relative on Rs. 100 per month and next year promote him to a pay of Rs. 500. That will defeat the purpose.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: So far as Rs. 500 is concerned, it has been exempted now.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: It may be Rs. 1.000 or more.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: This requirement will create practical difficulties.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: With regard to clause 119, would you be satisfied if we said that in case of normal promotions this should not be applied, subject to this that normal promotion may be defined as a promotion involving not more than 25 per cent of the emoluments?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: We will be agreeable.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Please refer to page 11 of your memorandum, clause 133. You say that it will not be possible to pass a special resolution within three months, except perhaps by calling an extraordinary meeting, which may create difficulties. And therefore you suggest that it may be approved in the first general meeting. But there is a possibility of the first general meeting not being held for a long time by which time the purpose of the contract may be finished.

Shrivans Prasad Jain: Shri Α is to general meeting be held. under the law. after four 07 months. five because that is the end of the period. There will be a duplication in the sense of notices going out. All that we suggest is that the company should not be put to the expenses of calling an extraordinary general meeting for that purpose. How to adjust that is for the consideration of the Committee.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: With regard to clause 138—page 12 of your memorandum—you would reconcile yourself to the position if the paid-up share capital plus reserves are taken into consideration for computing the percentage in the case of inter-company investment? Then you would have no objection?

### Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: No.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha: Then** you would feel that industrial development would not be retarded?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: It would be less retarded by that procedure. In our opinion it would be a lesser evil.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Suppose the scheme of this section were recast so as to provide for freedom in intercompany investment absolutely, with this proviso that in the case of the investment exceeding 30 per cent, intimation should be given to Government, and if the Government do not approve of it then the status quo should remain. Would that be a better position?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: It would be a better position. Shri D. L. Mazumdar: On the assumption that the status quo will be restored.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Then, the shares would have to be sold.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Would there be extraordinary difficulty in restoring the status quo?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Because the time-limit is specific. Formerly it was two years. Now if you confine it to six months, and if there  $i_S$  to be a large-scale dis-investment in respect of that excess, then large blocks would be coming on the market and values may be depressed.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Mr. Mazumdar has raised an important point. If the status quo is not restored or if it is difficult, then the whole scheme goes. Suppose it is put this way, that voting rights should in that case be suspended in respect of the excess over 30 per cent.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I would be against any encroachment of the voting rights, except in very exceptional circumstances. When I discussed that particular clause, I said: you are actually depriving the bona fide shareholders of their voting rights because of somebody else exercising them in a way which Government did not approve.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Coming to the question about the labourers' wages getting priority at the time of liquidation (page 13, clause 179), you rightly observe that in principle you approve of these social security measures in connection with labour legislation. If in principle you approve of them, why do you want to knock the bottom of it?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: The question of principle does not arise at all. We have every sympathy for them, they may be workers or traders. We are just pointing out our difficulty. If this clause is adopted then there will be less availability of resources to the company, and a particular section will get an advantage over the other section.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Are you aware of the fact that in many cases where mills have gone into liquidation, not only have the wages been lost but the provident fund amounts have been criminally swallowed by the employers?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Government should take action in those cases.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Even if criminal action is taken, how does it help the employees?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain; Here it is not a question of earned wages but of unearned wages.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You have referred to retrenchment compensation as not being earned wages. Are you aware that the Industrial Disputes Act definitely lays down that unless a worker has put in 240 days' continuous service he is not entitled to retrenchment compensation? Why do you call it unearned wages?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Unearned means he may be entitled....

**Chairman:** It is only a question of interpretation.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: But he has not worked for that period.

**Shri Jadhav:** Please refer to page 6 of your memorandum, to your comment on clause 63. Is your objection because you want to use the funds for some other purpose, or is it a fact that sometimes you declare bogus dividends?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: The question of the dividend being bogus or otherwise does not arise. If dividend is declared it has to be paid within three months. The declaration cannot be a bogus thing. But the non-payment may be a bogus one. Shri Jadhav: Are there any casesof these warrants not being honoured?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I have no such information. According to our information every dividend is being paid, what is prescribed in the Companies Act.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: I want one or two clarifications about clause 15which has been very much discussed. The present Bill provides that if any private company has got on its shareholders a private or public company which has 25 per cent of the shares. then it is to be declared as a public company. Your plea is that when the shareholder is a private company it should not be declared as a public company. Now you said something in relation to the Income-tax Act The funds of the company being public or private is determined by two or three things. One is equity shares. the other preference shares, the third government loans and the fourth deposits. These are the various sources which any company has for capital.

Would you like to consider only the equity shares as the standard for treating a company as a private company or a public company, or would you like to take into consideration the other items also which I have mentioned?

Shri J. J. Ashar: So far, our main argument is that non-section 23-A companies should be treated for this purpose as companies whose investshould ment in private companies make the private companies public companies, provided it exceeds 25 per cent of the paid-up capital. For the determination under section 23A of the Income-tax Act, they take only equity capital into consideration; preference capital is excluded. Our idea is on the same lines as in Preference regard to section 23A. capital does not come in there, loan does not come in there, but only equity capital comes in.

**Shri Chettiar**: You would not like to take them into consideration?

Shri J. J. Ashar: No.

**Shri Chettlar:** Coming to clause .84, do you know the reason for this .clause?

Shri J. J. Ashar: I am not aware of the reason, because nothing is said in this clause.

**Shri Chettiar**: Are you aware of any such attempt for transference of shares, which has been made with a view to disturb the managing agency?

Shri J. J. Ashar: As I said, supposing that section is retained, why do you penalise the transferees of those shares and take away the rights from those persons whose voting rights are blocked?

Shri Chettiar: If I may say so, the purpose of investiment is two-fold; one is earning profit, and the other is getting voting rights. The earning of profits is not disturbed here: the person is entitled to get the profits in respect of those shares. But what is sought to be disturbed is the voting right; if anybody maliciously tries to transfer or corner shares, so that he may disturb the managing agency or , the managing directors, so that he may get the company under his control, then that is sought to be prevented for a limited period of three years: the property rights in respect of those shares are not disturbed.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: The point is this that transference ാ1 shares is just a minor thing; if a person has sold his shares, and another person has purchased those shares in the stock exchange, I do not think there is anything wrong. So far as the question of the management or the managing agency or the managing directors is concerned, today, as the Act stands, no managing ageneies can be appointed without the approval of the Government of India; be and no managing director can appointed without the approval of the Government of India. If the Government of India feel that a particular person is an undesirable person, then, they will not give the permission, and that person will not be appointed. So, why deny the voting rights for the transferees of those shares?

Shri Chettiar: Do you think that any managing agency can continue if it does not command the confidence of the majority of the shareholders, even if the Government of India approve of it?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Therefore, let him have a natural death.

Shri Chettiar: It will be like a Ministry which does not command a majority, and, therefore, it cannot exist.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I cannot comment on the Ministry here.

Shri Chettiar: The point is that even Government interfere only in the interests of the company. They do not want a managing agency to be disturbed except in the normal course, but when the voting rights tend to disturb the managing agency, then they can certainly exercise this power in public interest.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: If the shareholders have no confidence in a particular person, they will not vote for him whether he is to be appointed as a managing agent or a managing director.

**Shri Chettiar:** But this clause only seeks to limit it to a period of three years, so that they may think over the matter in the meanwhile.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: We do not agree that the thinking time should be so much.

Shri Chettiar: You do not think any thinking time to be necessary?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: There should be a quick and immediate decision. Shri Chettiar: Regarding the sole selling agency referred to in clause 104, a suggestion was made yesterday or the day before yesterday by some other witness that the notification in regard to the industries may be placed on the Table of the House before it is issued. Do you think that will satisfy you? Are you against this provision, or would you just like to mellow it down?

Shri Shriyans Prased Jain: We are opposed to the principle that there sholud be such a power with Government to issue such kinds of notifications. That should be solely within the jurisdiction of the company itself.

Shri Tangamani: Will you kindly refer to page 5 of your memorandum, on clause 62? I find that there is some confusion in what you have stated. Clause 62 contemplates only normal depreciation as has been specified in section 350. Am I to take it that you have no objection to normal depreciation being allowed before dividend is declared?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: We have not even objection in regard to multiple shift allowances. What we are saying is that so long as depreciation is not fully provided for, the company should have power to declare a dividend of 6 per cent.

Shri Tangamani: My point is this. Do you have any objection to normal depreciation being allowed before dividend is declared? Leave alone the question of extra shifts, or special or initial depreciation.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: May I put it this way? Is it the question of the hon. Member what our reaction will be if the multiple shift allowances are taken out and only the normal depreciation remains? The same argument is there. The depreciation depends on the size of the various plants. Suppose there is a plant whose capacity is Rs. 3 or 4 crores worth; even the normal depreciation will be a very high figure; and for a period of three or four years, when the company is not able to pay dividends, that difficulty will arise.

We are not against the normal depreciation or the multiple shift allowances being allowed, but what we are anxious is that during the interim period when all these things are not fully provided for, there should be freedom to the company to declare a dividend not exceeding 6 per cent.

Shri Tangamani: You have referred to 6 per cent of the paid-up capital being paid as dividend. Would you like this 6 per cent to be the ceiling for all times to come, for dividends to be declared?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I am sorry I have not been understood properly.

**Chairman:** The witness has made that point clear already. The difficulty is that hon. Members do not attend when others are putting questions. The same questions have been repeated. This very question has been put to the witness twice or thrice, and he has made his position clear.

Shri Tangamani: Let me make my position clear. I have been very careful to see that I do not repeat questions which have already been asked by other Members and which have been answered.

**Chairman:** My remarks may not be applicable to Shri Tangamani; but it applies to others. This question has been put twice, I think, and the witness has made his stand clear.

Shri Tangamani: With due respect to you, may I say that this is the first time that the question of a ceiling of 6 per cent on dividends has been put?

**Chairman:** That question has been answered by the witness already. He wants that for the first few years, say, five years, the dividend should not exceed six per cent, so that the arrears of depreciation could be provided for; when that has been done and full depreciation has been provided for, then certainly the rate can be increased. That is his position.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Quite right; the question of any ceiling does not arise at all.

Shri Tangamani: The witness is not for any ceiling?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: No.

Shri Khandubhai Desai: Some of us on this side are feeling like this. The same phraseological inexactitude is being used in the questions and also the answers, that we do not see any variations at all.

**Chairman:** That is why I say that one or two questions might be put now, and there should be no further examination on that point.

Shri Tangamani: On the question of sole selling agents-clause 104you explained that you had objection to it for the simple reason that our Government will have no jurisdiction over foreign companies. Is that the reason why you are opposing this?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: That is not the only reason; we have just given that reason in support of our other arguments.

Shri Tangamani: You said that in the case of winding up, if priority is given to arrears of wages, you will have no objection.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: That is already provided in the Act itself.

Shri Tangamani: But do you not concede that what has been provided as retrenchment compensation under the Industrial Disputes Act is also the amount they have earned as a result of long years of service? When you do not object to arrears of wages being paid as under the original Act, why do you object to compensation, which has been statutorily recognised and accepted, being paid? Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: The hon, Member should also try to appreciate our point of view. The availability of resources for expansion and for other things will be very much minimised; and, therefore, it may accelerate the process of liquidation in case of difficulty.

So far as the question of wages is concerned, it is also provided in the Act. These things will arise only when there is difficulty. In that case the banks will not give enough money to have a smooth running of the business. Not only that: persons who are giving goods on credit will not give on credit. The functioning of the company will stop totally. because this compensation is not a few thousands of rupees; it runs into lakhs and lakhs. Therefore, in case of difficulty, at a time of crisis, everybody should suffer equally and we should not create a class who have a greater advantage than the others.

Shri Tangamani: Under clause 63. you will have to make a deposit in the bank within 14 days of the declaration of the dividend. You do not seem to have any objection to the payment of the dividend within 3 months. If that is not done, the defaulters will be subject to imprisonment for 7 days. If you do not object to that, what can be the special reason for objecting to this except that here the default can be clearly found out.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: This payment of dividend within 3 months was introduced in the 1956 Act. This has been functioning very well. I do not know whether any case has been brought to the notice of Government where the dividends were not paid within 3 months. We are unable to appreciate why there should he a restriction of depositing within 14 days; if you want to restrict the period of 3 months, reduce it to two months. What is the use of this deposit? Supposing a company wants to make default: it will not make я deposit at all. How will this help the shareholders or anybody else? If the company has no resources and has no intention of paying the dividend, it will not deposit at all.

Shri Easwara Iyer: With all respect to you, Sir, I would say that some amount of latitude may be shown to the members on this side when experienced witnesses have come here and we have to ask questions. We would ask you to give us some time and not hurry us through.

**Chairman:** Has the hon. Member any question to put?

Shri Easwara Iyer: Yes, Sir.

Chairman: He may put the questions.

Shri Easwara Iyer: With regard to the deposit of the dividends, you say it need not be insisted upon, on the ground of hardship. May I know the practical difficulties you feel there would be in making such deposits?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I have already explained it. I would put it the other way. The dividend which has been declared is being paid within a period of three months, and even early. It all depends upon the companies. The Companies Act has provided that it should be paid within a period of three months. When this has been working smoothly, why should there by any compulsion now to deposit it within 14 days? Every company has not got the liquid resources at all times. They may have to synchronise and adjust their pavments within the course of three months. By depositing the money in the bank, how does it help the shareholders or others? This is a point which calls for consideration. I think it will be harsh and difficult in the case of those companies who want to. postpone the payment of dividends for a month or so. Anyhow. thev will have to pay it within 3 months.

Shri Easwara Iyer: When a dividend is declared and a shareholder dies before the payment of the dividend and there is some dispute between the heirs or legal representatives. what do you usually do? Do you deposit the amount in bank? Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: The amount remains in the Dividend account; when the dispute is settled, it is paid.

Shri Easwara Iyer: I want to know whether you keep the amount in a suspense account or separately till the rightful claimant comes and takes the payment.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: It remains in the Unclaimed Dividend Account.

Shri Easwara Iyer: In your memorandum you have not made any comments on the contribution to political funds. May I know your views on the matter if you have any?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: We have not made any comment; and, I would not like to say anything on this.

Shri Easwara Iyer: I am just asking you whether you have any comments.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: We have restricted ourselves only to those things which are in the memorandum itself.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: I want to ask a very innocuous question. You are witnesses representing the Indian Cotton Mills' Federation. Are TOA aware of the Chairman of any one of the Millowners' Associations either at Ahmedabad or Bombay having made a statement before a Labour Tribunal that the balance sheets produced by them before the Tribunal were manipulated and false?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: I am not aware of the statement which my hon. friend has just referred to.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: It has been made before the Committee by a very important witness.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: According to me, it is totally difficult and impossible. Secondly, I do not know how such a kind of statement could have been made. If such a statement has been made, by somebody, it must have been made in a state of insanity. Shri Leuva: Regarding clause 63, I want to ask one question about the depositing of dividends. What would be the effect of this clause on the finances of small companies?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Very difficult.

Shri Leuva: Regarding clause 84, I would like to know from the witnesses the exact reason why they object to this particular clause. The clause, as mentioned, states that in the case of the transfer or the future transfer or attempted transfer, if it is prejudicial to the public interest, in that event only, the Government will intervene. What is the objection of the witnesses to this clause being added?

Shri J. J. Ashar: I think we have elaborated on this quite long,---particularly on this point of transfer when it is for value with consideration. The transfer for value will be affected by it and the withdrawal of voting rights will apply also to the transferees. If I have got shares and if Government finds my voting right in respect of those shares is objectionable, and if I transfer them to you, and you go to the company, you would not be able to exercise the voting rights also. You are victimised and the shares are all supposed to be freely transferred, and there is an exchange for that. Why should they be tied down?

Shri Leuva: The only point is that the Government's intervention is necessary for the purpose of protecting public interests.

Shri J. J. Ashar: Yes; against the particular shareholder.

Shri Leuva: The wording is, that it should not be prejudicial to the public interests. Otherwise there is no necessity for the Government to intervene. When there is a cornering of shares and if Government will feel that if such transfers would lead to unhealthy effect on public interest or would not be for the benefit of the company, in that event only, the Government wants to intervene. If you say that transfer of a share should necessarily be followed by a voting right, in normal circumstances it would be quite all right, but if the voting right is not affected, what is the sense of having Government's intervention at all?

Shri J. J. Ashar: You might find a particular shareholder objectionable. But why should that stigma, if I may use that word, be attached to that transferee? If you confine yourself to a particular shareholder whose exercise of that right is against public interest, I can see the point. But then....

Shri Leuva: As the clause is worded, it is aimed against the transferee and not against the transferor. If it is meant that the transfer is made against public interest, that means the person who is going to acquire the rights would be detrimental to the public interest, and that is the reason why voting right is taken away. Where is the question of stigma?

Shri J. J. Ashar: There are two aspects: one is transfer and the other is that of apprehended transfer. The latter, I can understand. You want to prevent the transfer. But in the first case where the transfer is actually taking place, you are also blocking the voting right, and that will apply also to the transferee because the period is three years.

Shri Leuva: If after the transfer Government comes to know, you mean to say that Government should not intervene.

Shri J. J. Ashar: The Government should not intervene in the case of bona fide transferees.

Shri Leuva: If Government knows that the person who has taken control of the public corporate body has transferred the shares and if Government is satisfied that such a transfer was against public interests, should not the Government intervene in that matter?.

**Shri J. J. Ashar:** There is a remedy for that also. Supposing I acquire 75 per cent shares of a company and the Government thinks that public interests will be affected by my exercising all the voting rights, then I can be compelled to acquire the remaining shares on a fair value. Supposing the remaining shareholders have no confidence in me....

**Shri Leuva:** It is not a question of the shareholders having confidence. It is a question of the interests of the public would be prejudiced by the transfer of the shares, apart from the minor shareholders.

**Shri J. J. Ashar:** A further remedy should be followed. The shareholders should be consulted if possible and if necessary that right should be exercised but in no case it should apply to the transferees.

**Shri Leuva:** The question is that this , very clause is only aimed at transferees and not the transferors.

**Shri J. J. Ashar:** There is nothing to prevent the transferee from selling the shares. He is not prevented from selling the shares. Supposing that fellow sells the shares to me and I cannot exercise also the voting right, although I am a bona fide purchaser, this three-year period applies in respect of those shares.

Shri Leuva: That will apply with respect to a particular transferee. Suppose the shares are again transferred to somebody else.

**Shri J. J. Ashar:** As I see the clause, it will apply. For three years there will be no voting right in respect of those shares.

Shri Nathwani: You are aware that under section 409 the Government has got the power to prevent a change in management or of the board. If you kingly refer to section 409 you will find that as a result of the transfer of shares there is a likelihood of a change in the board, then the Government can prevent it. Does it not affect the voting powers of the transferee?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: When the Government has power to make changes or to modify the provisions in regard to the management,—I put an argument like that—then, in that case, the defranchisement of voting right is of no use.

**Shri Nathwani:** Already, under section 409, the voting rights of the transferees are affected—that they cannot change the management. If what is sought to be done by the proposed amendment through clause 84 is a corollary to this....

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: They may not change the management, but besides that, there are certain other things for which the votes are being taken.

**Shri Nathwani:** They are merely consequential. After all, what are the other things which affect the management or the administration of the company which will not be covered by the provisions of section 409?

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: Passing of the annual accounts, declaration of dividends, etc.

Shri Nathwani: Does it not relate to the management? They have got umpteen affairs.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: So far as the management is concerned—that is, the appointment of the directors, etc.

Shri Nathwani: I beg to differ. It is part of the administration.

Chairman: If there is a difference of opinion we should not pursue further.

**Pandit D. N. Tiwary:** At page 3 of your memorandum in relation to clause 24, you are taking objection to the word "satisfaction"—

"the expression 'satisfaction' being subjective and hence governed by indeterminate criteria,...." etc. You want to put "knowingly". How will you define "knowlingly"? A man can say, although he has done a thing knowingly, that he has not done knowingly.

Shri J. J. Ashar: That word is used in many sections of the Act. So far as the context is concerned, and so far as the degree of the actual guilt is concerned, it is mentioned.

Shri Shriyans Prasad Jain: It is a question of mala fide and bona fide. If the word "knowingly" is there, then the question of mala fide will not arise.

**Pandit D. N. Tiwary:** How to know that it is done knowingly or not? It is a question of evidence.

Chairman: "Knowingly" is used in so many Acts.

**Pandit D. N. Tiwary:** The word "satisfaction" also is used. Why should it be changed?

Chairman: The witness has given his reasons. I think we need not press it further.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: With regard to clause 124, you have given sufficient reasons for not accepting the amendment to section 235. I am not able to make out what effects it will have in our joint stock enterprises and in well-established enterprises. What are the difficulties? He can give us physical illustrations to show in what way the amendment would affect the position.

The new clause says that "no company shall appoint or employ as its managing agent any body corporate which is a subsidiary of another body corporate." I am not able to understand in what way the interest of joint-stock companies will be affected by the new provision. Will the witness give us an illustration by which we can understand it?

Shri J. J. Ashar: To give a particular illustration, Tatas will be vitally affected by it. We are not speaking for Tatas but to take a stock illustration, Tatas' subsidiaries managing Tisco and several other companies will be affected. In principle, we see no objection at all to a subsidiary of a company being the managing agent of another company. If any principle is involved and if that can be explained to us, we will be able to comment on that.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: Regarding clause 63, you are not supposed to be in possession of the money which has been declared as dividend. That is why Government feel that it should be deposited in accounts earmarked specifically for that purpose. Your objection is that the money is locked up, you will lose interest and the utility of the money will be wasted. Are you not the trustee of the money and the moment you become trustee your responsibility becomes greater to account for the money you earn out of the dividend amount? Excepting that it creates hardship in not utilising the amount for the prosperity of the company, you have no other valid ground for opposing this provision.

Chairman: They say they may be allowed to remain as trustees and a new trustee need not be created in the form of a bank. They say there has not been even a single instance where the dividend has not been paid.

Shri Himatsingka: Regarding clause 15, I want a clarification. Is it the suggestion of the witnesses that if a company comes within the mischief of section 23A of the Income-tax Act, although it is a public company within the meaning of that Act, purchases shares in a private company, that should not be treated as a public company?

Shri J. J. Ashar: It is the other way round. If a non-23A company, which is treated as a public company for the purpose of the Income-tax Act and which is not compelled to distribute a minimum of its profits as dividend—in fact they are exempted from the liability to distribute dividend—if such a company holds shares in a private company, then it will be investment by a public company strictly. There are several other public companies which are treated as 23-A companies, but they are for all practical purposes private com-They must distribute a nanies. certain percentage of profits as dividend. They will be subject to a penalty of six annas in the rupee for non-distribution of profits as dividend. Such companies are not really companies in which the public are substantially interested. So, their investment in other private companies should be ignored.

Chairman: Thank you.

(The witnesses then withdrew)

# II. Indian Federation of Working Journalists, New Delhi.

Spokesmen:

- 1. Shri J. P. Chaturvedi
- 2. Shri R. Narasimhan
- 3. Shri C. Raghavan

# (Witnesses were called in and they took their seats)

Shri C. Raghavan: In our memorandum we have raised many points which I would broadly classify as (a) matters relating to the functioning in general of companies publishing newspapers (b) matters in respect of benami companies formed with a view to evade the liabilities due to the staff as a result of statutory requirements passed by Parliament or State Legislatures and (c) certain matters about which the Companies Act has made provision, in regard to provident fund and other dues to employees which in actual working, we find, are grossly inadequate.

Mr. Chairman: The difficulty is that this committee can only go into the amendments that have been proposed. There are one or two points you have made about compensation to workers in case of liquidation, etc. But so far as some other points outside the scope of the amending Bill are concerned, 873 LS-13. perhaps the witnesses realise that they might be outside our competence.

Shri C. Raghavan: I do appreciate that in an amending Bill, you are not expected to touch portions of the Act not touched by the Bill. But certain points were raised in both Houses of Parliament and the hon. Commerce and Industry Minister gave an assurance in reply to a debate in the Rajya Sabha that there was no objection to the Joint Committee going into the matter and studying certain other relevant points also. Of course, I leave it to you to decide, as Chairman of the Committee. I would only like to present our points of view: vou may decide it at a later stage.

**Chairman:** Even if the hon. Minister said it, can his statement enhance the powers of this Committee?

Shri Lal Bahadur Shastri: What the witness has said is almost correct because it is true that I had said something. I do not exactly remember it, but I said something on those lines. I said, if the Select Committee SO desire, it might consider it in a general way the suggestions that they had made. Legally whether it is possible or not, I do not know. But I would request the Chairman that if he so considers it advisable. the Select Committee could make some general observations on the points they have raised. How will it be incorporated in the Bill or further amendments will have to be made, I do not know?

Shri Feroze Gandhi: May I interrupt you, Sir? I would like to read what you exactly said.

"Shri Lal Bahadur: I follow it. It is not only a case of one paper. We have read about other papers in the South and about a paper in Delhi where this kind of formation of new companies is taking place which has undoubtedly created uneasiness in the minds of the workers and the question has to be examined as to whether it could legally be done. Under the preent law, I am given to understand that legal action is not possible because there might be some lacunae. There is no provision in this bill, but if the Joint Committee would like to give thought to this matter, I shall have no objection. The whole matter will have to be carefully examined."

**Chairman:** The Hon'ble Minister even now has no objection. He says, he sticks to what he has said. The Joint Committee also has good wishes for the witnesses that are here. Can the Hon'ble Member suggest any remedy?

Shri Naushir Bharucha: This is a very important matter.

**Chairman:** We will certainly hear them. What is the remedy?

Shri Naushir Bharucha: What I am suggesting is this: it may be possible or practicable to incorporate such provision in this Bill.

Chairman: I cannot incorporate any provision in the amending Bill. Perhaps the Hon'ble Member might he aware, it has happened in two OT three cases, but then it was under the instructions that were given to the Joint Committee by the House that the Committee is authorised to go into the other sections of the parent Act and then suggest other amendments if they so choose. Unless that authority were given by the two Houses, this Joint Committee has no powers.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: I may give a humble suggestion that let the witnesses give their evidence. When they leave, we may discuss this question. The witnesses may be allowed to proceed with their evidence.

Shri C. Raghavan: I am very thankful to the Committee for the view that it has taken. If this Committee finds itself unable, under the Rules of Procedure, to do anything positive in this Bill, I would still suggest to this Committee that it should make a positive recommendation to Parliament and ask the Government to bring in an amending Bill. It is not merely that we are involved but I would firmly say a fundamental aspect of it is involved, the public respect for the rule of law.

You know that the Constitution has given under Article 19. certain fundamental rights, freedom of trade, profession and business to private entrepreneurs. That right under the Constitution has been restricted to the citizens of the country. Now when the fundamental rights of joint stock companies are involved-whether it was a case of Sholapur Mills, or the recent case of Express Newspapers-the point that both the defendants raised in the Courts was that the right for freedom of trade is restricted to the citizens of the country, that it cannot be available to a corporate artificial entity like a joint stock company. In fact the Attorney General who was appearing also for the Union of India raised this point. The judges remarked, "Why do you seriously press this." One of the judges remarked: "Even though we are prepared to go into this aspect. whether a corporate entity has a fundamental right to freedom of trade or not, but even if it has not got that fundamental right, if you tear off the veil of corporate sector, there you find standing behind the citizen of the country. Can you throw him out of the Court".

But, when I as an employee try to proceed to claim my dues the corporate sector avails itself of limited liability which Parliament by Statute has created. I have no fundamental right to work. If the employer dismisses me, I cannot go to the Supreme Court. The right of work has not been guaranteed. And what is the actual result of this? As far as the employer is concerned, he has a fundamental right, he can take advantage of the limited liability provided bv Parliament by Statute. What I would like to emphasize is, it is an artificial entity which Statute creates, it is not a personal right given to the citizen of the country. The employer is able to use that right if it suits him against

the workers, but when it suits to his interests, he is allowed to tear off the veil created by the Act. When liquidation proceedings take place. I am not able to do so unless I can prove the enterprise has by fraudulent practices transferred the assets beforehand. That is a fundamental point. If such a state of affairs is allowed to be continued, if the Company Law provisions are allowed to be utilised by anv person in this country to evade other statutory rights created by the Parliament of India, then we are not able to have any other remedy because of the facade of limited liability dangling before us. Is it not then proved that there is one rule of law for one person and there is another rule of law for another person? If such a state, of affairs should permeate down to the people of this country, how can the rule of law remain in this country?

I would like to suggest, even if you are not able to make a provision in this Bill, in your report to Parliament you must make a special provision in this regard. We had appeared before the **Company Law Amendment Committee** time and again. We have appeared before the various Committees starting from the Company Law Enquiry Committee of which Mr. Mazumdar was the Secretary. It is our unfortunate experience that nothing has come out. The Hon'ble Shri Khandubhai Desai, who was then the Labour Minister agreed with our view point.

**Chairman:** That has been your misfortune.

Shri C. Raghavan: That has been our misfortune. Even when they agree, nothing takes place in actual practice. Probably, when they disagree, something might take place.

Now, I come to my points. In every other enterprise, public is involved at the consumption stage. But here at the raw material stage public is involved, the processing is done by the public and the ultimate consumer is the public.

The newspaper claims as the raison d'etre for its existence the right to publish any secret anywhere. Even the most important cabinet secrets we claim the right to publish If we violate the law of publication we face the consequences thereof. We publish even the letters written by the President to the Prime Minister. The President or the Prime Minister may not have liked it. But we, at least in theory, claim the right to publish anything and because we have a right to publish everything, we made a trade out of it. The business of the newspaper is nothing else People do not sell newsprint. It is the news that is being sold. In such a case is it not right that all its affairs should also be completely brought before the public eye? It is not merely a question of employees' interests. In a democratic country the Press should be subject to the least limitations of the Executive or the Legislature even. You must have all its affairs exposed to the public gaze. Just as the newspaper exposes even the darkest corner of the administration to the public gaze, you must also expose the affairs of the newspaper to the public gaze. This fact is realised in every country. In America every newspaper. 85 we pointed out in our memorandum, places its financial position before the public. It is published. Here also is a law saying that newspaper ownership should be published. What is the result? When I mention names, it is not in derogation. Mr. G. D. Birla owns Hindustan Times. But it is in the name of a large number of limited concerns. Those of us who know of this know that it is owned by Mr. Birla, though many limited companies are put as owners. The public do not know who is the owner. These things take place even when the law requires something to be done.

So far as the workers are concerned, you can understand our misfortune. The Supreme Court has said recently that even the Industrial Tribunal cannot ordinarily, go behind the balance sheet and profit and loss account. As far as shareholders are concerned, they can go into the books, but not into the vouchers. I shall now leave a series of vouchers to this Committee. Let the Committee decide what they are.

There have been three public commissions which have gone into this aspect of the newspaper industry. The first was the Press Commission. In the year 1952 they went into the entire structure of the industry and they reported in 1954. Parliament has unanimously endorsed their recommendations. I do not want to weary the members of this Committee with that because most of the members here have had occasions to refer to those recommendations.

Then there was the Wage Board which was appointed by the Government. It was a statutory body of which I happened to be a member on behalf of the employees. I can say that after having examined the accounts of the newspaper industry, to put it mildly, that there is a great deal left to be desired. Newspapers which criticise Government and the public for not maintaining proper accounts do not accounts maintain their own properly. When we went into their books, what we saw was amazing. It was unimaginable except to those of us That who have gone through them. is why one of the members of the Press Commission, after the report, had said that the newspaper industry is based upon fraud. The Wage Committee went into it and the Incometax authorities also went into their accounts. Both their reports are with the Government. They are not available to us because they are not published. Probably, this Committee can have access to it.

You know that in the year 1957, I think, from the first licensing period beginning from January to June, the system of licensing was changed from open general licence to actual users' licence in regard to the newsprint. Actual users alone were granted licences and established importers could get licences. Some kind of restrictions were imposed based upon the previous consumption. As most of the members of this Committee would know, under actual users' licenses, you cannot transfer newsprint to anybody else.

Now. I have got before me some There is no voucher left papers. because probably the transaction could not have been entered in the books. I have got before me here a sheet of paper signed by the Deputy General Manager of Express newspapers, the prince of the newspaper kingdom. dated 14th April. 1957. It savs: "Delivered 12 reels 33" taken now to bearer". The details of the reels and their numbers are given here. And here in a cover in pencil marks are put "eight annas per pound and for a total of 8,273 lbs., it comes to Rs. 4.136 8 less Rs. 50."

We do not know whether the cash was collected or how much was paid. We do not venture to go into it. I do not want to tell the Committee something in respect of which I cannot produce documentary evidence, although those of us who know of these things know what has happened. As far as this paper is concerned there is no signature, but some of us who are familiar with handwriting of these people have a suspicion that it was by the Managing Director himself. If the Committee want, they can further examine it.

These reels were delivered to the Deccan Herald, Bangalore. You will find the following written in this page: "The following reels delivered to M|S Deccan Herald, Bangalore on 14th April 1957 as per the Deputy Manager's instructions, from Rotary Department" We have got the store keeper's signature. This was transported in lorry No. APC-956 and this is signed by M. P. K. Murthy.

### Shri Feroze Gandhi: Was it in 1957?

Shri C. Raghavan: Yes. The point I am trying to make is that when you go into the books of account, you will not find these transactions entered therein at all.

I would now show to you something more. Unfortunately, people in this country have a tendency to destroy papers. Some of the papers are thus destroyed. I believe, it is because they know that they contain valuable evidence. Here are pages which are presumably from the rough ledger books from the director's suspense account book relating to various dates. They all relate to transactions, not very small, and also cash paid to two directors or relations of directors or persons controlled by the directors.

**Shri Feroze Gandhi:** Which is the company concerned?

Shri C. Raghavan: These are papers all benoging to Express Newspapers. The Committee may probably be able to find out all the ledgers and may try to see if these transactions were entered into the books of accounts. I do not think they have entered them.

**Chairman:** I will advise the witness not to go into further details. We have noted this point and we will follow it. It will not be possible for us to take into account all the papers and then make our observations. If the Committee thinks it proper, it might make a recommendation about their demands.

Shri C. Raghavan: I am not going into details.

**Chairman:** But if the hon. members want to hear him in such details, I have no objection.

**Shri C. Raghavan:** I am aware of the pressure on your time. I shall try to keep myself as brief as possible.

Chairman: As the hon, members are willing to hear you, you can go on.

Shri C. Raghavan: I have divided these into three heads. But there is one common feature about all these papers. All these vouchers, on the face of it, are debited to the director's account. None of . the suspense vouchers bear anywhere any indication as to whether the Auditor or anybody has checked. No numbering of vouchers has been done as required in practice. There is no indication on the vouchers as to whether they have

been entered in the books. Now, if money is paid to a Director, and it is debited to Director's Suspense Account, when the Director renders the accounts, by journal entries, the Director's Suspense account is reversed and the expenditure is to be brought back to the ledger. You cannot short-circuit this procedure. This is also to be passed by the Auditor. In this case, these vouchers indicate that they have not been shown to any Auditor. But they bear the signatures of principal Officers of the Company, viz., the Managing Director or the Chief Accountant. The first list I have contains large amounts, 10,000 and 5.000-cash paid to Directors. No reasons are shown for them in Director's Suspense Account. The second list contains a series of vouchers for Director's house-hold expenses-'Pay for fodder Rs. 85: the bill is sent along with this'. Money is paid and the Bills are shown as debited to Director's Suspense Account-one in respect of fodder and the other is sent by the daughter-in-law of the Director 'send me the salary of Calcutta servant and maid-servant; please pay Miss so and so Rs. 50'. All kinds of personal expenses are shown. If they had been shown in the Director's Suspense Account, they ought to have been entered in the books. Nothing indicates that they have been entered in the books or numbered. They are purely house-hold expenses---cash paid for the purchase of fodder for bungalow cows; cash paid for purchasing betel-nuts; cash paid for air ticket on the 15th instant for one Mr. N. C. Jain; cash paid for furniture to somebody.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: How did you get these things?

**Chairman:** From the man who was keeping them in his custody. He was just going to destroy; but he found that they were valuable documents and then they got possession of the documents. They must come from lawful custody.

Shri C. Raghavan: Firstly these are all signed documents. I think under the Evidence Act, if the primary evidence is destroyed, secondary evidence is admissible. Secondly, I do not know whether this Parliamentary Committee is limited by the Evidence Act. These are all original documents; that is, the evidence under the Evidence Act which was sought to be destroyed and which has come to us. To the question who has given them to us, I would rather appeal to the Committee not to ask for the identity of the person.

Shri N. R. Muniswamy: I suggest that the documents and the vouchers referred to may be placed on the Table so that we can look into them.

**Chairman:** What shall we do with them?

Shri Kanungo: I may mention that such malpractices are not confined to newspaper companies alone. The law provides that these matters, if complained of, can be enquired into.

**Chairman:** He has made that point. There are malpractices; he has given us the examples. We will take note of that. Otherwise, there is no use of our taking these documents into our custody.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettjar: We are convinced that there are malpractices.

Shri C. Raghavan: If malpractices are prevalent in a public limited company, then they may come to the notice of the public. When they are in private limited company, who can know about it?

Shri Feroze Gandhi: Mr. Goenka, who is the proprietor, can be summoned by the Committee and we can examine him.

**Chairman:** That will be a different matter. We will see later.

**Shri C. Raghavan:** I shall leave these vouchers with the Committee now. They can be returned afterwards because they would be useful to us in other industrial disputes. Chairman: We can go to the next point.

Shri C. Raghavan: If Mr. Khandubhai Desai's suggestion that auditing should be done by Government appointed auditors is accepted, then. these malpractices cannot prevail. Otherwise, what is the use of saying that if a complaint is made, it will be enquired into. What is the process that the law has got for this purpose? In the case of Express Newspapers, 8. years' assessments were completed in. one month because the case was pending in Supreme Court. The Company could not get one Director to sign the veracity of the accounts for the entire-Company. Therefore, he persuaded. the Income-tax Department to complete 8 years' assessment in one month. They could not find anything wrong in the Accounts and everything was accepted though depreciation was far in excess of the legal provision. The poor employees are prevented from going into the books; how could you find out the malpractices if this is the position? What is the remedy for this? Such things go on with impunity with nobody to question. What is the basic structure of the rule of law?

The next is Provident Fund, and transfer of Companies. In respect of Provident Fund, you would appreciate that before the 1956 Companies Law came into force, there was no provision in the law that the provident fund should be kept separate. If the Company was administering the Provident Fund, then the responsibility was placed on the Company and where the trusts were created, the responsibility was on the trustees by the provisions introduced in 1956 Act. Before that there was no such provision. The only provision before that was in the matter relating to the winding up of the Company. The Provident Fund was also a mere preferential charge. There was no obligation to keep the money separate. On winding up, there was no priority for provident fund and it ranked with all the rest of the charges due to the Government including trading losses, electricity dues, payment in respect of

wages etc. The money collected from the employee which is in the nature of a trust money could not be realised. The employee has contributed and to collect his money he has to stand along with others and realise that. In the 1956 Act came the provision that Provident Fund must be kept separate and must be treated as a trust. It ranked second in priority, viz. Government charges and the employees' wages and the Provident Fund dues. The Act also provided that the employer must keep it separate in National Savings Certificates or in Post Office Savings Bank or in trust securities as laid down in Indian Trusts Act. The employee is given the right to ask for and inspect these. The position is same even now. It is made into a trust by virtue of the Act. Before that the employee was to stand along with the Government for the money that has been collected by the employer and which he has misused. I do not know whether he can be punished under Indian Penal Code for misappropriation of the trust money. Until the 1956 Act, the misappropriation was covered by the Indian Penal Code. The 1956 Companies Act deals with provident fund moneys and as a layman my knowledge of law is where there is a specific provision, it overrules the general provision. As far as companies are concerned, unless I am able to show any fraud I can do nothing under the Indian Penal Code. As far as Companies Act is concerned, they may misappropriate lakhs of rupees, but they may go scot-free by paying a small fine of Rs. 500.

I will give you a few instances about provident fund. In 1957, the Employees Provident Fund Act was made applicable to the newspaper A measure under industry also. could be made which recovery through revenue process was not helpful in recovering the following amounts from some of the companies. The position as on yesterday is as follows:

- Express Newspapers, Ltd.—Rs. 9.29 lakhs.
- Kasturi Sons Ltd., which publishes the Hindu—Rs. 2:38 lakhs.

Ananda Bazar Patrika, which publishes the Calcutta Hindustan Standard and Ananda Bazar, a Bengali daily-Rs. 6:48 lakhs.

Basumati-Rs. 1:51 lakhs.

Indian National Press which publishes the Free Press Journal (They the clearing the arrears)—Rs. 17 lakhs.

I do not wish to go into the cases of smaller companies. I shall give you evidence of the attitude taken by the employers in respect of these provident funds. In the case of Express Newspapers Ltd., since there is no time, I shall give the reference—it is pages 116 and 117 of the printed records before the Supreme Court the position was this.

The Express Newspapers Ltd. had provident fund managed by trustees. The trustees were nominated by the Board of Directors and they were not elected by the employees. In the balance sheet and profit and loss accounts for the year 1952-53, Rs. 8 lakhs is shown as liability to the provident fund. including both the employers' contribution and the employees' contribution and the auditor has appended a note that these moneys have not been invested 25 required by them under the Companies Act. as well as under the provident fund scheme. In 1955 also, the same was the position. Then, it is shown that this amount is covered by a promissory note of the director, or the principal directors-there are only two or three of them-and that is the guarantee.

In 1956-57, when the Employees Provident Fund scheme came into force certain buildings which were shown till a particular date in April as first mortgage to banks, were shown after that date as first mortgage to provident fund. They are not trust securities covered under the Indian Trusts Act. The Chief Accountant who appeared, admitted that this was wrong. But even more than that; certain amounts lapse to the provident fund if an employee left service before a particular term and the other employees get the benefit of it. But here these are written off as lapsed to the employer and the employer gets the benefit.

Thirdly, bonuses were declared in 1957. Bonuses are shown in the profit and loss accounts and full benefit is obtained under the income-tax law. But that bonus was not paid to the employees. It was shown as a liability. A bonus is paid as a deferred wage to enable an employee to have some more advantages. But it was never paid, but full advantage was taken for income-tax purposes. Only when the accounts were seen by us and we threatened to go to court, the bonus was paid. This is in respect of Express Newspapers Ltd.

Next, we come to the Kasturi and Sons. I would like to read the evidence without making any comments. Mr. Venkataraman who was a Member of the Board, now a Minister in Madras, asked the auditor who appeared, the following questions:

- "Q: Do you lend the provident fund amount and, if so, to whom?
- A: Yes, to all and sundry."

Shri Easwara Iyer: Who was the witness?

Shri Raghavan: One Mr. K. J. Nathan. He was the auditor of the company.

- "Q: Do you know that under the rules, it should be invested in trust securities and not lent to all and sundry?
- A: Yes, we only lend on such securities; we do not lend money without security.
- Q: You are the secretary of the provident fund?
- A: Yes.
- Q: What was the rate of interest at which you invested the provident fund moneys during the period you were secretary?
- A: 6 to  $7\frac{1}{2}$  per cent.

- Q: At what rate, do you credit the employees?
- A: It will be 4½ to 5 per cent. I cannot give you the exact percentage without reference to the records."

I do not want to go further into it, except to say that even where it was kept as a trust separately by the company this was the state of affairs.

I will read one more evidence and leave it at that.

- "Q: Are you actually contributing towards your share of the provident fund?
- A: So far we have not done that."

Shri Easwara Iyer: Which company is this.

Shri Raghavan: It is Tainadu, of Bangalore. The proprietorship has changed and a new company has come into being.

- "Q: Since when has the scheme been in existence?
- A: From 1941.
- Q: From 1941 to 1946 which was the period of the war, many of the newspapers made a profit. Similarly, was not your paper making a profit?
- A: We have been somehow carrying on.
- Q: Have you shown in your profit and loss accounts, balancesheets or other financial statements anything about the provident fund contribution?
- A: It was not shown.
- Q: From 1941 onwards, you have not set apart any sum towards your contribution?
- A: No.
- Q: What do you do with the employees' contribution?
- A: It is kept with us.
- Q: What is the total amount of their contribution?

- A: As on June 30, it is Rs. 9,000.
- Chairman: Have you invested this amount? Is that amount getting interest?
- A: No, we have not invested it. It was in our running account (I do not know what it means —there was no interest).
- Q: So, you kept it as part of your current account and you utilised it to finance your newspapers?
- A: Yes."

Sir, in such a state of affairs, you will appreciate how much we are worried about the inadequate provision in respect of provident fund.

But look at our plight even when a company does not go into liquidation. Express Newspapers Limited have said that they have closed down their business in Madras. That was their plea We have been claiming that it is an illegal lock-out. Both under the Provident Funds Act and their own schemes, when an entrepreneur closes business and discharges the his employees, he must pay off and discharge all debt owing to their provident fund. This amount has not been paid. We brought pressure on the Labour Ministry and said "get us this amount". The Labour Ministry which had earlier allowed Mr. Goenka to pay in easy instalments said "you better give back the amount". But he did not give. They sought to have the Revenue recourse under Recoveries Act and pay the employees. This gentleman has gone to the High Court on the plea that it cannot be recovered, because it is not dues but only a debt and "you will have to collect it at my convenience". Whether he is going to succeed in his writ petition or not, we do not know. He says it is only a debt and, therefore, you will have to quit. Though the business has closed, the company has not gone into liquidation. I cannot even claim preferential payment. I must wait-I do not know how longto recover my contribution of the provident fund to tide over my unemployment situation, not even retirement benefit.

It may be the position in other companies also. It is possible. But we can only talk from our own knowledge. We can only say that because these people are also politically powerful they are able to defy the law with impunity.

I shall now take the question of transfers-binami transfers I will call them though it is not possible merely to put them under binamis. We have already passed a resolution that after the Wage Board came into existence, after the Industrial Disputes Act entitled employees to get the benefits. the phenomenon we have now seen in the newspaper industry which, we think, if successful, other entrepreneurs in other industries may also take to is the formation of new companies to which the business is transferred but not the assets, to which the contingent liabilities of the employees are transferred. Ultimately, when we go in for collecting the liability, we will find that there is nothing to collect there. Before 1955 or 1956. the Industrial Disputes Act provided that when the ownership of a business changed hands, then the employees must be paid their retrenchment compensation immediately: the old employer must discharge his liability and pay off all his workmen. In 1956 the law said that it need not be paid if the new company accepts the guarantee and says "we are responsible for this liability". It was intended to avoid the problem of discharging and re-employing the persons and to protect their continuity of service and other obligations; it was to protect the employee-and not for giving a right to the employer-under certain conditions. The conditions were: continuity of service to be maintained; the same conditions of service as we were entitled to before the transfer must be guaranteed to the individual employee; and in case of retrenchment, not only the obligations under the new company's service but even the old company's service must be taken into account as if no interruption in service had taken place.

First, I will take the case of transfer of business which occurred in the Ananda Bazar Patrika Company which was managing the Ananda Bazar Patrika, Calcutta, the Hindusthan Standard, Calcutta and the Hindusthan Standard, Delhi. They have the advantages of common advertising. common newspaper income and expenditure, with respect to Incometax law and every other advantage. I regretted later why we did not tighten the provision properly in the Wage Board and say that as regards the payment of wages, the provision should be the same as in respect of other industrial bodies. But some great, wise men who had greater knowledge of the Company Law than we had at that time, created a company in which there were only two shareholders. One was a Development Officer of the Ananda Bazar Patrika, an employee; another, a Personnel Officer, something like a labour officer, of the parent company, the Calcutta company. These two gentlemen constituted themselves into the Delhi Hindusthan Standard (Private) Limited.

م م

Shri Khandubhai Desai: Without any assets transferred?

Shri C. Raghavan: No transfer of the shares of the company. That is why I said a new company was created. There were only two shareholders and the subscribed capital, the paid-up capital, of the company was Rs. 2,000. This matter figured before the Wage Committee appointed by the Government and evidence has been recorded in Calcutta. I would like, with the permission of the Committee, to read only a small portion from that evidence.

The Chairman was the Secretary of the Law Ministry of the Government of India. These were the questions put and answers given:

**"Mr. Chairman:** Tell us about the company which has taken over the Delhi Hindusthan Standard."

Mr. Basu, the witness, who had appeared on behalf of the Calcutta company replied: "It is a private limited company called the Delhi Hindusthan Standard (Private) Ltd."

"Mr. Chairman: The same shareholders?

Answer: The shareholders are entirely different. The Ananda Bazar Patrika Company has no interest in that company."

Question (by theh Labour Ministry's representative): "Who are the shareholders of the Delhi Hindusthan Standard?"

The witness who appears on behalf of the parent company said: "I am one of the shareholders, and the other shareholder is Mr. Kanya Lal Sarkar, Development Officer of the Ananda Bazar Patrika. Myself is the Personnel Officer of the Ananda Bazar Patrika, as I have told you. We have taken Rs. 1,000 worth of shares each; between ourselves we have taken shares of Rs. 2,000."

Question (by the Accountant Member, late Shri Vaidyanatha Ayyar): "You think you will be able to run the company only on Rs. 2,000? How do you find the capital for it?"

Answer: That is a long story. When run by the Ananda Bazar, the Hindusthan Standard was running at a very great loss and Ananda Bazar was thinking of closing it down. Then several officers consulted among ourselves. Then, with help from the Ananda Bazar Patrika Company, we have floated this company. We are trying to minimise expenditure and we are running it for the last four or five months.

Question. The capital was only Rs. 2,000 and Ananda Bazar has no interest in it. There is a note here, 'Majority of shares held by Ananda Bazar'."

I presume, Sir, that this must relate to the investigation by the Incometax Officer which is not public record.

Answer: "Ananda Bazar has no interest in it. That is not correct. We came in with a capital of Rs. 2,000. We have taken the machinery and other things as a going concern. We have taken it on lease basis. We have got the building for which we pay a rent of Rs. 1,500 per month, and for machinery, etc. we pay monthly Rs. 1,000. That is, we pay a total of Rs. 2,500 per month."

Stopping here for a moment, I must say, Sir, that the Rs. 2,500 will not cover even one per cent. for depreciation.

**Question:** "What is the value of the machinery installed in Delhi?"

Answer: "The machinery will be worth about Rs. 10 lakhs."

Question: "What is the value of the building which you have taken on a rent of Rs. 1,500?"

Answer: "It will be about Rs. 12 lakhs or so. For this, we are paying Rs. 2,500 per month"—that is rent. "We have come to that arrangement for a period of two years."

I will explain the terms of the contract after reading this.

Question: "You were both employed in Calcutta?"

Answer: "Yes. There is, however, a branch manager in Delhi, who is in charge of the thing. We also go there monthly once. The paper is here, the registered office is in Calcutta; the shareholders and directors are in Calcutta; they come monthly once here to supervise; and they are employees of the parent company."

Question: "I should say that they have given it to you on nominal terms.

Answer: "They were thinking of winding it up. Instead of winding it up, we asked them to keep it going. We said that we would bring in work to help this concern. It is due to our request that they have agreed to run it. Instead of closing it, we are trying to run it."

Question: "Is not the Calcutta company making a profit?"

Answer: "No."

**Ouestion:** "Not even now?"

Answer: "No. It is only four months since we began the Delhi paper. We cannot say."

Question: "You have got a teleprinter line from Delhi to Calcutta?"

Answer: "That is right".

Question: "What do you get on that line?"

Answer: "That Calcutta paper has got representatives there to attend to council meetings and other things. He despatches news through the teleprinter lines. Delhi being the capital, we get news from that quarter."

I shall show you subsequently that the so-called special representatives are all shown as the employees of the Delhi concern.

Shri Khandubhai Desai: How many employees are there in Delhi?

Shri C. Raghavan: There are two representatives to whom they make a reference, and they are shown in the books of the Delhi company as: their employees.

Shri Khandubhai Dasai: How many employees are there in Delhi itself?

Shri C. Raghavan: All told, thereare about 500 employees, including the press workers and everybody.

**Chairman:** It is all really very interesting, and I myself and also the other Members would like to hear it. But there is the element that we would not be able to go on endlessly with this. Therefore, I would request Shri Raghavan to be brief how.

Shri Khandubhai Desai: We have understood the point.

**Chairman:** If Shri Khandubhai Desai is also satisfied, then I would ask the witness to proceed to his next point.

Shri Khandubhai Desai: The point is that a bogus company has been started.

Shri C. Raghavan: The point that I am making here is this. As I said, the employees and the shareholders of As you know, in a contract, there must be three main considerations; firstly, there must be a consideration...

Chairman: All these details might we explained to some Members of this committee or other Members of Parliament to be raised in the House. As I have already stated, it would be difficult for us to take up all these things: though, as has been suggested. the committee might consider whether some observations can be made in the report in regard to these things, yet, in the Bill, itself, it will not be possible to add anything. But we shall consider whether it would be possible to add certain observations about these things in our report. So, the witness should also spend only that much of energy which might be useful for putting in a paragraph there in our report. Otherwise, we would not be able to add much here.

Shri C. Raghavan: The other company to which we have made a reference is the Amrita Bazar Patrika Company of Calcutta. Again, they split up. This is a slightly more interesting case. But I am not going to read the evidence and take up the time of the committee, but I shall only mention briefly the points. On the 14th ...

Chairman: Is it not enough that the witness has stated certain points about one company? That would give us sufficient indication. I do not think that in our observations we would be naming the companies or describing all these details.

Shri C. Raghavan: My only anxiety was that it should not be open to any Government tomorrow or the Members of Parliament to say that this was only an isolated instance, and other companies were doing well, and tomorrow, the newspapers may put in a provision. . .

Chairman: We understand that very well that it is not an isolated case of one company, but others also have been doing like this.

Shri P. T. Leuva: If it could be done in one case, it could be done in several cases.

Shri C. Raghavan: I may mention again the case of the Express Newspapers Limited. The reason for my stressing this point is that before the companies came into existence, before the companies are registered even. they start doing business. The companies enter into agreements and tell the employees 'We have given you the guarantee under section 25FF', which is completely worthless, because there no company which can give is guarantee on behalf of a company which is yet to come into existence. But, as far as section 25FF is concerned, the new company is supposed to have given a guarantee even though it has not come into existence. The companies commence business even before they come into existence: the companies apply for registration, and registration is going on; on the 30th the company is registered, but the company is supposed to have started even on 14th January, as in the case of the Amrita Bazar Patrika. The employees and the shareholders of these new companies are either relations within the meaning of the Companies Act, or they are what I would call name-lenders whom you will never find in their assets: they have no assets, they only lend their names. The jamadar of the Amrita Bazar Patrika Ltd., Calcutta, is shown as the sole selling agent in Allahabad. and he is one of the shareholders and directors of the Allahabad company. If you are merely going to make a recommendation and ask 115 to wait.

**Chairman:** What does the term 'jamadar' mean? In the Army, it means a different person. What does it mean in a newspaper company?

**Shri C. Raghavan:** He is a peon, care-taker or call him whatever you like; he is just an ordinary servant whose emoluments cannot be more than Rs. 100. All that I am asking the Commerce and Industry Minister here is this. If you are not able to make a positive recommendation, here, I suggest that on August 3rd, let him bring forward an amending Bill to deal with this particular problem and not ask us merely to wait.

**Chairman:** Would it not be better if we request the hon. Minister to appoint some officer to hear all these details, instead of our going into it?

Shri P. T. Leuva: What is the remedy suggested?

Shri Feroze Gandhi: Many aspects of this case have been brought to the notice of the Minister, but the Minister gets concerned with some other Ministry, and then difficulty arises, and nothing is done ultimately. Then, the Information and Broadcasting Ministry comes in, the Finance Ministry comes in, then there is the Commerce and Industry Ministry and so on. So, there are so many complications. That is why I suggest that we can listen to the witnesses. Then, it will be for us to consider what recommendation we There would be no should make. harm if we now listen to the witnesses.

Shri C. Raghavan: We have suggested a recommendation, which even if you are not able to incorporate in this Bill, you might still think over and do something about it later on. I might explain briefly the implications of it. I am not going to give any instances, but let me explain the main points.

As I was saying, a contract has to be definite; it must be for a consideration, and between two definite persons. A contract cannot be between myself and myself; if you tear the corporate veil of this company, you will find that the contract is between oneself and oneself. Shri Ramnath Goenka contracts with himself in the Madurai Co. where he is associated with Mr. T. S. Krishna and some namelenders; Shri Ramnath Goenka of the Express Newspapers Ltd. in the Madras company contracts with Shri

Bhagayandas Goenka and another name-lender in a Bezwada Co., Shri Ramnath Goenka of the Express Newspapers Ltd. contracts with his chief accountant who is supposed to be the shareholder and director of the Bombay company. As far as the employees are concerned, we are told that we are having the guarantee under section 25FF and we are covered by it. So, we cannot go to anybody. Only, we can go to God, but we do not know where to approach him

Shri Feroze Gandhi: I think the Minister is also feeling a little helpless in this particular case. For the last two or three months, the matter has come up before the Minister.

**Chairman:** We can certainly consider those things that have a bearing on the clauses, but as for the other details, we can at the most only insert a recommendation in our report.

Shri Shankaraiya: After hearing them, we can consider what recommendation we could make, and what amendments we can suggest. While considering the clauses and the amendments that have been proposed, if any consequential amendments are found to be necessary, even though they are not touched in the Bill, still we can suggest such consequential amendments. We shall also think over the matter in the meanwhile. So, it is better that we hear the witness now.

**Chairman:** That is what we shall consider.

**Shri Tangamani**: In addition to what they have stated in the memorandum, do they have any concrete suggestions to make in the form of amendments?

Shri C. Raghavan: The first formal amendment which would be within the scope of this Committee to make would be this because the Bill touches upon public limited companies and private limited companies. It says that in certain cases a private company shall be treated as a public limited company. Therefore, I say, it is open to you to say that not merely thosetypes of private limited companies recommended in the Bill as entrusted to this Committee but this kind of newspaper companies also shall be deemed to be public limited companies. This is fully within your scope.

You have made some provision that as against the liquidator certain contracts are void. It is also open to the Committee to say that contracts of this kind shall also be deemed to be void as far as the employees are concerned. If you do that I can pursue Mr. Goenka wherever he goes even in the jute mills. But tear of this corporate veil of limited liability. This the Committee may do in respect of the newspaper companies.

**Shri Kanungo:** Do you think that if newspaper publishing companies were made public limited companies all the problems would be solved.

Shri C. Raghavan: I do not say that. Unfortunately, as one expert judicial authority put it in England, which is true even here whether in taxation laws or company laws, the ingenuity of the Legislature is always one step behind the ingenuity of the private entrepreneur; but we can try to plug the loopholes.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: You have not understood the question which Shri Kanungo put. Would it not be a step forward if these companies which undertake the publication of newspapers, periodicals etc. are legally bound to be made public limited companies?

Shri C. Raghavan: It will be for this reason that in the matter of maintenance of registers, in the matter of inspection, in the matter of loans and advances and all these things, it will come under the provision. As I showed earlier, huge sums of money are advanced to the directors. In respect of a public limited company no loan can be made to a director without the previous sanction of the Central Government. Apart from household expenditure etc. huge sums of money are advanced to the directors. For the purpose of the company's business advances have been taken from banks paying 6 to 8 per cent. interest. . If you have a commission of enquiry to investigate into these affairs it will be interesting. Even in the evidence before the Wage Committee it was shown how starting in 1932 as a clerk in Dubash's firm he has been able to expand: he has gone even to Calcutta and has got a jute mill. I do not want to go into all this. The Company Law Administration must already have information with them and if they would care to investigate they would know how the jute mills was acquired. If it is a public limited company and the Central Government's sanction has to be obtained. I will be able to enter caveat with Mr. Mazumdar before he gives the sanction. At least I will know that such an application is being made: at least I can go to somebody and try to prevent it. But now I am completely in the dark.

As for the controlled companies, the suggestion that we have made is substantially known and understood by the law of torts. We are not trying to prevent the existence of controlled companies. Let Mr. Goenka with his 3 brothers or Mr. Ghosh or his family have their separate business. We are not trying to prevent that. What we are trying to prevent is transactions the right of the inter se so that employee is affected. The employee is the only loser. If you change the constitution and transfer machinery etc. as a contingent liability I am transferred. I am transferred like cattle without any whatsoever to say No'.

There are some other points which we have not indicated in the memorandum. They are, for example, the maintenance of directors registers, the general body registers, the shareholders registers etc. It has been our painful experience that when we know something is not there in the registers and we have challenged it, suddenly the register will be produced showing the minutes etc. You can maintain any number of such registers and defraud the people, whether it be a public limited company or a private limited, if they are in loose files. In the case of public limited companies because you have to send notices to shareholders etc. it is not so easy to do; but in the case of private limited companies you can manufacture all that—I mean the directors—and we may not be able to prove that it is wrong.

Shri Feroze Gandhi himself was one of the directors of Express Newspapers Ltd., sometime ago. I would 'like to know whether he ever received notices of general body and shareholders' meetings.

We came to know of it when the case came up before the Supreme Court. We challenged the entire accounts as completely wrong. Shri Feroze Gandhi was asked to certify them to be correct because they probably thought that by putting his name before the Court the Supreme Court will be persuaded to accept the accounts. But fortunately for us. Shri Feroze Gandhi only certified to the Delhi unit because he was not notified when the meeting of the Board of Directors was actually held. We were on good rounds. Shri Gandhi did not oblige them; but the Incometax Department obliged them. Eight years' assessments were completed in 13 months and everything was accepted.

I would submit that whatever policy the Committee may have in respect of managing agencies for other companies, for newspapers at least the system of managing agency should be abolished. There is no need for it. I will give you an instance.

There are several companies having agreements which, though they may not be called managing agency agreements, are in the nature of such agreements.

This is in respect of the Delhi Urdu paper, "Tej" which was associated with Swami Shraddanand. During his time it was almost a public trust paper. Afterwards it became a public limited company. Then it became a private limited company.

When Lala Desh Bandhu Gupta took it over, we come to the fourth phase of it. This company, after Lala Desh Bandhu Gupta's death was brought under the managing agency agreement. I wish to point out how it was brought about. It is also relevant to the private limited company and limited public company issues which we are now discussing.

This is the evidence that was recorded before the Wage Board:

"Q. When were the managing agents appointed for this firm?

A. On the death of the managing director, Lala Desh Bandhu Gupta. In July, 1952, they became the managing agents; from the date when Lala Desh Bandhu Gupta expired."

That is, with retrospective effect. So, it was from November, 1951. According to the witness, in July, 1952, they became managing agents with retrospective effect, the moment Lala Desh Bandhu Gupta died!

But something more interesting is, the witness was asked to produce the auditor's report.

"Q. Have you got the auditor's report? Would you please read it for 1953 and 1954? You said that the managing agency agreement was confirmed in 1952. But the auditor's report talks of a certain sum being paid to the managing agent in anticipation of the managing agency agreement being confirmed."

A. Yes.

Q. Your facts, in the document are contrary to what you have told us.

A. It was in the month of July or August. I do not remember, but it was definitely in the year 1952 that the managing agency agreement was confirmed.

Q. But the audit report says that it was not confirmed even in

1954. I do not know whether they had said the same thing in 1955 also.

The witness did not reply."

The point that I would like to make here is, not only did the managing agency enter into an agreement with retrospective effect but monies are naid even after three accounting periods You know in a private limited company there may be only two or three shareholders who sit formally and send the papers and nothing is done. If it is so, you will understand why in a newspaper industry at least there is nothing at all for a managing agency agreement. In fact, in respect of the managing agreement between the agency Free Press, Bombay, and the same managing agency sitting in another company-I can give you the extract from the evidence tendered by one director-the remark made was "it is agreement". I an unconscionable you whether therefore suggest. abolish the managing agency system in other industries or not, at least in this newspaper industry, please abolish it. That is all that I have got to sav.

**Chairman:** I do not know if any cross-examination is needed by way of further elucidation. We have heard him and he has been very clear in his explanations. No questions are needed, I suppose. Thank you very much.

Shri C. Raghavan: I hope our efforts this time will have greater effect.

(The witnesses then withdrew)

# III. Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited, New Delhi

Spokesmen:

1. Shri S. C. Aggarwal.

2. Shri Bhim Sen.

# (Witnesses were called in and they took their seats)

**Chairman:** We have got your memorandum. We have seen it. All hon. Members have read it and they know the contents very well. Our procedure is this. The hon. Members put questions but if the witnesses desire that they should say something to supplement the memorandum, then in a short time they might just say what they wish to say. But the contents of the memorandum are not expected to be repeated or read again. Something that you might like to emphasize upon or supplement may be done in a few minutes.

Shri Kanungo: I presume that this particular firm is a member of the Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry or one of its constituent bodies, and as such they must be aware of the memorandun: which has been submitted by the Federation and the various chambers. If so, the common portions should be deleted and only the special portions may be taken up.

Shri Himmatsingka: The memorandum is very elaborate. We have read it.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Their point of view may be different.

**Chairman:** Shri Kanungo said that they must be aware of the contents of the memorandum that those associations have already submitted and those portions that are common to both might not be stressed again. We will consider them so far as this memorandum is concerned, but they need not be emphasized again and again because those have been already dealt with.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: We are a member of the Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry. Of course we went through the memorandum which they submitted to the Company Law Committee. We have not received any copy of the memorandum which they might have submitted to this Committee. But most of the points which we have made in our memorandum are mainly with a view to see that the Companies Act in practice becomes more workable. We have not suggested anywhere that any of the provisions should be relaxed or anything of the kind. We have only concentrated on some practical problems which arise from the implementation of the law and we have

drawn your attention to those problems

As you will see, out of some 212 clauses of the Bill, we have commented only on about 35 clauses. There too we have divided our memorandum into two parts, the first dealing with some fundamental suggestions and the second dealing with largely procedural matters.

Since you say that the members of the committee have gone through the entire memorandum, there is not much that we want to add to it. But we can emphasise a few points personally. We shall do it now if you so direct or we will first answer the questions and do it later.

**Chairman:** I have no objection if the witnesses want to make any preliminary observations. But what is contained in the memorandum need not be repeated. If you desire, we can just start the examination by hon. Members and then if anything is left out, the witnesses may clarify it in the end.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: We prefer that.

Shri Tangamani: In Part I, regarding clause 62 you have merely said:

"It is provided in sub-section (2) of the revised Section 205 of the Companies Act that no dividend shall be payable except in cash."

Are we to take it that you do not object to clause 62, which provides for normal depreciation before the dividends are declared?

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: We have made certain observations on some of the clauses. I may not be in a position to give considered replies to any new points that may arise.

**Chairman:** The witness desires that examination may be confined to the observations made in this memorandum. Shri Tangamani: Most of the representatives of the employers have been objecting to the normal depreciation being deducted before the net profit is arrived at. Am I to take it that your concern does not object to this procedure?

**Shri S. C. Aggarwal:** What we have said on clause 62 is that the payment of dividend in species should be allowed. At present it is allowed, but the effect of this amending Bill would be that payment of dividend in species would not be allowed. This is the entire scope of our observation. We have not dealt with the point whether normal depreciation should or should not be deducted.

Shri Tangamani: In page 4, regarding clause 63. shall I take it that you have no objection to the provision requiring that the amount should be deposited in a scheduled bank within 14 days after the declaration of the dividend?

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: We have put forward our objections to this amendment. Firstly, we have said that by making this deposit, we will be only rendering the money idle and no useful purpose will be served. So, it is not desirable. As a safeguard against dishonouring of dividend warrants for want of funds, we have suggested that the dishonour of a dividend warrant may be made a penal offence.

If you feel that the deposit should be made, then it should be required to be made only within 2 or 3 days after the dividend warrants are issued and not immediately after the declaration of the dividend.

Shri Tangamani: In page 6, regarding clause 104 which is a very important clause dealing with sole selling agent, is it your objection that even where an agency is appointed for a particular area, he could be a sole selling agent or do you have any other objection to the appointment of sole selling agents with the consent

873 L.S.—14.

of the Government of India as provided in clause 104?

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: We have made two suggestions on clause 104. The first is that under the proposed amendment, if now a managing agent resigns, he cannot be appointed as sole selling agent until three years after. Our suggestion is that even within these three years, he may be permitted to be appointed with the approval of the Government. We need not wait for 3 years to lapse.

Secondly, in our cement business, for instance, we have got stockists at all centres-in small towns. small cities, big cities and everywhere. As it is, this provision is capable of various interpretations. If we have appointed a dealer who is the only dealer in a particular small place, he can be considered as a sole selling agent under this provision. If that interpretation is to prevail, it means that appointments of stockists at all the centres will have to be placed before the general body meeting. We felt that probably that was not the intention. So, we have suggested that if a sole selling agent is appointed either for a State or for the entire country or for the entire foreign market, that kind of appointment should certainly be regulated. But the appointment in individual towns or cities should be excluded from the scope of this section.

Shri Tangamani: Please turn to page 18 regarding clause 105. Section 386(1) says that a person cannot be a manager of more than two companies simultaneously. But I understand you want him to be the manager of a public company in addition to being the manager of two private companies. You want him to be manager of three companies. Is there any special reason for that?

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: The reason is only this. We are permitting the manager of a public company to be a manager of another public company. If he could be additional manager of another public company, he can certainly be manager of 2 private companies in addition to his being manager of one public company, because the work in a private company is much less.

Shri Tangamani: Page 3 of your Memorandum, clause 58. That deals with publication of the chairman's speech at the Company's expense. Do you think that the publication of the chairman's speech alone is very important both from the point of view of the shareholders and the public interests? What can be your objection to this new amendment.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: We feel that the publication of the chairman's speech is in the interests of the company. It makes the company better known and its activities better known and that is one occasion on which that is possible. The objection is that along with the chairman's speech, so far as the other proceedings of the company are concerned, they are private proceedings and it is not desirable that the private proceedings of general meetings should be published.

Shri Tangamani: Is it not likely if only the chairman's speech is published without the other proceedings, a wrong impression may be given about the position of the company at that particular moment?

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: So far as the other proceedings of a company's general meeting are concerned, they do not deal with the working of the company and even if it were published. I do not think they would in any way help the investor to analyse the working of the company. Whoever wants to invest in a company would have other means of understanding the functions of the company, say, stock exchange reports, balance sheets, etc. All these are various other methods by which one can determine whether the company is working properly or not

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 3, clause 62. You say, dividend in specie or in kind should be allowed where an option is given to the shareholders in the resolution declaring the dividend to receive it in cash or otherwise.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: We have said that where the shareholders have been given option to receive the dividend in cash or kind, there should be no objection to such distribution being made to them.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You mean to say, there should be no compulsion.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: Yes, there should be no compulsion.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 4, clause 63. Do you know of instances where dividends are paid from overdraft accounts, to your knowledge of practical working?

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: It is not a question of paying dividend from overdraft account, but it is a question of finding the funds for payment of dividend. Manv companies have overdraft accounts for their working They do not capital requirements. have any liquid funds. Therefore. when dividends have to be paid. further funds are drawn from overdraft facilities. This kind of thing does happen.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 4, last paragraph. You say, at least the money equivalent to the amount of the dividend warrants despatched should only be required to be deposited in a separate account in Scheduled Bank. Now, don't you think that a provision like this would induce companies not to dispatch dividend warrants so that they can have use of the money for a longer time?

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: The present position is, whenever a company is sending its dividend warrants, it provides for funds at that time. So, I do not think that would in any way aggravate the situation any more than what it is today. Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 5, clause 100. You are referring to the difficulty of holding a meeting once in three calendar months. You say, the volume of work in a private company does not justify their Directors meeting so frequently and moreover in private companies the Directors and shareholders being limited in number are more closely connected with each other, etc. If they are so closely connected and all that, then where is the difficulty in having one meeting in three months?

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: They are closely connected, but they may not be necessarily at the same place. All that we have said is, it need not be made compulsory. In the case of public companies, it is all right; but in the case of private companies there need not be a legal compulsion. They might discuss and consult each other by correspondence. The private company's affairs are very much limited.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 5, clause 102. I quite see your difficulty, that the word 'loan' should be defined, so that advances to employees, etc. are excluded. Would it meet your purpose if we put it like this: Loans shall not include advances to workmen, artisans, contractors or suppliers of goods or services to be rendered in ordinary course of business. Will that meet your purpose?

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: That, I think, will be quite adequate.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 6, clause 104. This is with Fegard to the appointment of sole selling agents. Just now, in answer to a question put by one Hon'ble Member you said that whereas the Government may retain the right of appointing sole selling agents, with respect to cities and towns, the company should be allowed to freely appoint sole selling agents.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: Yes, Sir.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Don't you think that this clause will become useless by your appointing individual sole selling agents in 200 places? What you cannot do in law, that you might do by individual appointment.

a nation into any two and the a second is to

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: I submit that is rather a remote possibility, but even if it were so, one could provide a safeguard by saying, where a person is appointed as a sole selling agent for a particular place, he is not a stockist in another place.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: But you are not making a distinction between a stockist and a sole selling agent. There is a world of difference.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: There is a difference. But interpretations will vary. Now, we have one stockist in one place. He may be called a sole selling agent. We have not been able to understand clearly whether our stockist in that small town will be regarded as a sole selling agent or not. That difficulty is there.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 7. clause 105, that loans made or guarantees given or securities provided by a holding company to its subsidiary are exempted from the application of the restriction of section 295. Now, you say that on the same principle loans made or guarantees given or securities provided by a subsidiary company to its holding company should also be exempted from the provisions of this section. How does it become the same principle? Two things are totally different. It is not the same principle. I would like to know that.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: The holding company has a predominant interest in a subsidiary company. The holding company has a commanding majority of shares in the subsidary. Therefore, it is only a matter of procedure because the resolution can be passed and the loans can be arranged. But it appears to us to be quite unnecessary because if the holding company can give loan to the subcertainly the subsidiary sidiary. should also be permitted to give loan to the holding company.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: If your suggestion were to be accepted, that every subsidiary should be permitted to give loans to holding company, would this not open avenues for fraud by securing control of a subsidiary and then getting return of the investment from the subsidiary into the form of a Toan?

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: As I mentioned, the loan itself is not prohibited. All that is required is that a special resolution be passed. When a company is made subsidiary, the holding company has at least 51 per cent holding in the subsidiary company. It is just a question of getting the resolution passed. I do not think it will very much alter the position and probably it is not very difficult to get such resolution passed.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: On Page 8 you have rightly emphasized the difficulty. Your grievance is that the law imposes responsibility on the director to collect the information, and it imposes no responsibility on the relative. Are you in favour of such a provision being incorporated that the relative should be compelled to dizclose the information?

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: If this provision is to remain as it is, certainly the relative should be put under an obligation and if they do not comply with the obligation, the director should not incur disqualification.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: On page 11, clause 119, you are referring to section 314 of the Act according to which an individual proposed to be appointed to any office or place of profit shall declare in writing before such appointment whether or not he is connected with a director, etc. Then you say that if the section is contravened, the director shall cease to be a director. If it is due to a technical difficulty, even if the Government launch prosecution, the court can give you relief.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: It is something more than that. I would refer to the later paragraph under this clause. The position is that if we,

through a mistake or oversight or due to lack of knowledge, appoint a person as an employee and if he turns out to be a relative of the director. then the effect of this provision is that that particular director is deemed to have ceased to be a director from the date when that appointment was made. Particularly in the case of managing agency companies suppose we have made such appointments, then the director ceases to be a director. This, by itself, is all right. But the consequences go beyond that. Because this amounts, under section 346, to a change in the constitution of the managing agency company and if a change has taken place under section 346, it ceases to be a managing agent of the company. These consequences, we feel, are much too severe and therefore private companies should be exempted from the provision of section 314 This is what we feel. Our main request is that private companies should be taken out of the provision of section 314 because in private companies the interests of only a limited number of people are involved and even if the relations of directors are employed, there should be no objection.

We have made two suggestions. One is that private companies should be taken out of this provision. Or, alternatively, the retirement of a director in consequence of section 314 should not be regarded as a change in the constitution under section 346. This change should not have the effect of taking away the managing agency itself.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: On page 12 you say that in the alternative it may be provided in section 346 itself that a change occurring in the board of a company by the compulsory retirement of a director under the provisions of the Act will not be deemed to be a change in the constitution of the company. This is what you have said. Could you tell me why do you say that a change like this will not constitute a real change in the constitution? Shri S. C. Aggarwal: The change will be there. We have referred to this thing in the context of section 314. We say that this is the legal consequence of our appointing somebody whom we do not know. We do not know whether he is related to the director. The consequence is that the director ceases to be a director. The consequence of this should not be so severe as to terminate the managing agency itself.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: There is no automatic termination of the managing agency under these circumstances. You are given a period of six months' time....

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: The period of six months is given from the date of the change. Suppose I appointed a person on the 1st January 1958. Today I come to know that he happens to be a relative of the director.

**Shri D. L. Mazumdar:** The period of six months starts from the date of your knowledge of this fact.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Assuming this interpretation is correct, do you have any objection? '

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: I do not think there is a difficulty. At least there is a way out of the difficulty.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: When we have commented on section 346, we have submitted that the going out of a director should not be regarded as a change in the constitution, whether it is by death or retirement. We have said that the appointment of a new director may be regarded as a change. But the going out of an existing director should not constitute a change in the constitution.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: On page 12, in paragraph (ii), you say that in clause (a) of the proposed sub-section (1) of section 314, the words "shall hold any office or place of profit" should be changed into "shall be appointed to a place of profit". Don't you see that if your suggestion is ac**cepted** what will happen is that a **person** may be illegitimately appointed, but afterwards due to change of circumstances he becomes incapable of holding the post and according to you he will still hold on to it. If there is appointment on account of change of circumstances, his position becomes illegitimate and he cannot hold on.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: That is a correct position.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: On page 13, clause 137, you say that section 346 of the Act provides that if a change takes place in the constitution of a body corporate or firm acting as managing agents it shall cease to act as such on the expiry of six months from the date on which change takes place, unless the Central Government accords its approval to the change. You say that sufficient opportunity should be given to the managing agent to restore the status quo if the Government disapproves the change. . . .

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: In most cases it will be extremely difficult to restore status quo. For instance, in the case of the death of a director, you cannot restore the status quo. In some cases, there may be this possibility and that possibility should not be closed.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: On page 14 it is said that as the business of the company would go on normally under the supervision of the directors appointed under this section, therefore, any change in the Board of Directors will not make material difference. Your intention is to secure exemption. But how could you make a distinction between a nominal change from the substantial change because often an ostensible nominal change may have a substantial effect; for instance, transfer of 10 shares may tilt the balance of working.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: This is the general observation which we have made. We have gone further in our memorandum to explain these provisions.) If they are done, that may be helpful. For instance, if a Director dies and another Director is taken in his place, that is an inevitable change; it should not be regarded that the constitution of the managing agency has been changed.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: It may also have a substantial effect. The death of a Director may have a substantial effect on the constitution of the company. The effect would be same whether it is intended or unintended. It may be a welcome change also.

**Shri S. C. Aggarwal:** It has already changed. I do not say that it is not a change. In changes like this which are not engineered changes, if I may use this phrase, our submission is that they should not be regarded as changes in the constitution of the company.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Whether the changes are men-made or whether they are by force of nature or by whatever operation of law, how does it matter to the rationale of the section that the constitution is changed one way or the other.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: Really speaking, a change of Director does not mean a change in the constitution of the company. Generally speaking you should have two directors. You can have two Directors. A mere change in the Director does not mean a change in the constitution. Here the change in the constitution has been given a particular connotation. In regard to that connotation these modifications might be made. If a Director dies that should not be regarded as a change in the constitution. If you appoint a new person in his place that cannot be regarded as a change in the constitution.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: If there are four directors and if one dies, then the voting strength is altered; that becomes a change in the constitution without your appointing anybody.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: In practical working, I would submit that among managing agencies which are private companies there is a considerable amount of unanimity and 1 think that situation should not arise.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: On page 16. you have said: 'According to clause (c) of sub-section 3 of section 349and the amendments proposed therein, in computation of the net profits for determining the Managing Agents Commission, the profits of capital nature including pronts from the sale of an undertaking or any of the undertakings of the company or of any part thereof have been excluded. You want that it should not be excluded. How can capital appreciation be treated as profit? The capital appreciation has taken place as a result of general prosperity of the community. How could you count this as pront due to exertions of the directorate?

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: We have suggested that when there is a sale OF capital asset and there is a profit, that should be regarded as pront of capital nature for purposes of managing agency commission. We have said in our memorandum also that the quantum of profit from the sale of immoveable property or fixed assets depends to a very great extent upon the efforts and business acumen of the Managing Agents. Then there is no reason why they should not participate in the profit. That is how we look upon this question. Thank you very much.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: I am most thankful to you for giving us a hearing.

**Chairman:** If you want to say something else you might do so now.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: Since the memorandum has been studied thoroughly by the Committee, I do not have to say very much more. I would only once again refer to the section relating to change in the constitution of the managing agency and there is one point which we have not discussed. Under Section 346 of the Act, if a change takes place in the constitution of a body corporate or firm acting as Managing Agents it snall cease to act as such on the expiry of six months from the date on which change takes place unless the Central Government accords its approval to the change. So until Government gives approval the change should not take effect. Such a change must be approved by Government within six months and Government may extend the time also. We have suggested the provision to be somewhat like thisif there is a change we must apply within six months or three months or within whatever time is prescribed. According to the present provision nu opportunity is given to the Managing Agents to revert to the consultution existing immediately before the change where the change is disapproved by the Central Government. We suggest that the Managing Agent shall cease to act as such on the expiry of six months from the date on which the change takes place if no such application is submitted to the Central Government for approval of the change or on the expiry of three months from the date on which the change is disapproved by the Central Government unless before the expiry of the said three months the cham is reversed and status quo ante restored.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Is this difficulty based on experience?

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: It is a lacuna which I find is there in the Section.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: We have dealt with 3000 cases. There cannot be a single instance where we have exceeded the time-limit of six months. It is as much our interest to see that the orders are issued within six months.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: That is quite true. I may give only one example. Shri Mazumdar has referred to this question. In a particular set of circumstances we referred our case to the Department. They said that this was not a change in the constitution of the Managing Agency. Later on we were told that on 're-thinking this

seemed to be a change and the change had become one year old. We replied to Government, if you think this as a change, then kindly approve this. Accordingly to strict interpretation of the provisions of the Act, after the expiry of six months the managing agency has ceased to exist. Of course they extended the time; but this lacuna is there. I would only submit that our observations are as we have found them in practice. Of course you have wider view of the thing as to how it is working in other companies. We have placed before you our difficulties.

Shri Mazumdar: From the administration's point of view we are in the hands of companies for getting information. It may well be in the interests of the company not to supply this information in spite of repeated reminders. Therefore we are anxious that there should be a time-limit of six months.

Shri S. C. Aggarwal: Yes, Sir, you may reject the application if you do not get the information. If you give reasonable opportunity to a company to supply the information and they do not do, you can reject their application.

(The witnesses then withdrew.)

The Committee then adjourned.

# JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE COMPANIES (AMENDMENT) BILL, 1959

MINUTES OF EVIDENCE GIVEN BEFORE THE JOINT COMMITTEE ON THE COMPANIES (AMENDMENT) BILL, 1959

Saturday, the 11th July, 1959, at 09.00 hours.

# PRESENT

#### MEMBERS

Lok Sabha

- 1. Shri H. C. Heda
  - 2. Pandit Dwarka Nath Tiwary
- 3. Shri Shivram Rango Rane
- 4. Shri N. R. M. Swamy
- 5. Shri M. Shankaraiya
- 6. Shri Jaganatha Rao
- 7. Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi
- 8. Shri Radheshyam Ramkumar Morarka
- 9. Shri Feroze Gandhi
- 10. Shri Rohanlal Chaturvedi

- 11. Shri Arun Chandra Guha
- 12. Shri Narendrabhai Nathwani
- 13. Shri Nityanand Kanungo (in the Chair from 10-45 hours to 10-48 hours).
- 14. Shri K. T. K. Tangamani
- 15. Shri S. Easwara Iyer
- 16. Shri Yadav Narayan Jadhav
- 17. Shri Surendra Mahanty
- 18. Shri G. K. Manay
- 19. Shri Naushir Bharucha

# Rajya Sabha

20. Shri Khandubhai K. Desai—	24. Shri Awadheshwar Prasad Sinha
Chairman	25. Shri P. T. Leuva
21. Shri T. S. Avinashilingam Chettiar	26. Shri M. P. Bhargava
22. Shri P. D. Himatsingka	27. Shri J. V. K. Vallabharao
23. Shri J. S. Bisht	28. Shri Rohit M. Dave.

### DRAFTSMAN

S. P. Sen Verma, Additional Draftsman, Ministry of Law.

REPRESENTATIVES OF MINISTRIES AND OTHER OFFICERS

Shri D. L. Mazumdar, Secretary, Department of Company Law Administration.

# SECRETARIAT

Shri A. L. Rai-Under Secretary.

### 215

.....

-

SF 🌸

WITNESSES EXAMINED.

I. The Company Law Association of India, Bombay.

Spokesmen:

1. Shri K. T. Chandy 3. Shri K. V. Rao

2. Shri S. H. Gursahani

II. Bengal National Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Calcutta.

Spokesmen:

1. Shri D. N. Bhattacherjee 2. Shri S. R. Biswas

III. The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, New Delhi.

Spokesmen:

1. Shri C. C. Chokshi

3. Shri E. V. Srinivasan.

2. Shri J. S. Lodha

I. The Company Law Association of India, Bombay.

Spokesmen:

- 1. Shri K. T. Chandy
- 2. Shri S. H. Gursahani
- 3. Shri K. V. Rao.
- (Witnesses were called in and they took their seats)

**Chairman:** Your memorandum has been read by the Members of the Committee, and if you desire to illustrate, elaborate, clarify or emphasise any point which you want the Joint Committee to consider you may do so.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Sir, we are indeed grateful to you and the hor.. Members of the Joint Select Committee of Parliament for giving us this opportunity to place some of our views before you.

We do not wish to go into many of the matters dealt within our memorandum, as we are sure that the same views have already been covered over and over again by others who have given evidence before you. It is also a fact that one of our Members, Mr. Chokshi, has not come, as he is to follow us as the leader of the next delegation; and so we thought we would leave to him the particular problems relating to accounts as he carries with him our views also.

The first point to which I would like to draw your attention is clause 59. a much-debated clause, which enumerates the different types cf managerial personnel permissible and also sets out that only one such antegory may be found in a company at a given time. On going through the list of permitted managerial personnel we observe that certain categories of directors whose names appear elsewhere in the Act. do not find a place here. I am referring particularly to companies such as mine, namely Hindusthan Lever. where we have whole-time directors or, shall we say, directors in wholetime employment. Is it suggested that they do not form part of the management? This is one of the difficult problems.

In the Act there are four or five different kinds of directors. There is a managing director, there is 9 'whole-time director', there is a 'director in whole time employment', there is a 'director appointed by Government', and there is just an ordinary director. The term 'managing director' is defined. The person appointed by the Government as director is understood. But there is no definition of the term 'whole time director' or of the term 'director in whole time employment'. We do not know where we all stand.

There is a decision of the Bombay High Court in the famous Jyoti case in which there is an observation that in so far as the term 'whole time director' is always used in conjunction with the term managing or whole time director, it comes to the same thing as a managing director. If that were so, we bow to the judgment of the Bombay High Court. But the fact still remains that Parliament in its wisdom has used the term 'managing or whole time director'.

And still there is another category of directors, namely 'director in whole time employment' used in complete juxtaposition with the term "managing director" in section 309.

Therefore, my first submission would be, let us have a clear definition of the term 'whole time director'. Let us have also a clear definition of the term 'director in whole time employment'. And to my mind there is no need for these two terms.

another to That brings me on vexed question, what is the characteristic of a managing director. As the definition stands, if he exercises any powers of management conferred on him either by resolution of a company in general meeting, or a resolution of the Board, or in the articles of association, he is a managing director. It is proposed to amend this definition to make the criterion, not any powers of management but substantial powers of management.

I do not want to appear to be fundamentalist, but at the same time I must say that we are still begging the question. What is management? We are all aware of the fact that in any company you find various levels of authority, collectively referred to as the management. What is the criterion of this management power? ----the exercise of discretion in the disposal of the assets of the company, in the utilisation of the assets of the company and in engaging and displaying of the man-power that may be brought into the company. We are aware of so many managements. What then is that particular level of management which the Board has to perform and which characterises the management function of the Board as different from the management function exercised by any officer of the company below the Board? According to the Sastri Committee Report, no individual director has any power of management. All powers of management of the company are vested in the Board. Surely. then. every officer below the Board must be exercising some power of management by delegation. Otherwise the company cannot function. So, in this context, what we are really aiming at is the separation of all those elements of management, that is, higher management, which we believe. must necessarily be exercised by the board and by nobody else. I think that is what is really intended, and not every power of the management.

Take a company which has operations all over India, and which deals in products, subject to wide fluctuations in prices. It is necessary for such a company to vest in its junior most sales manager a certain power would to decide at what price he sell. Undoubtedly, he has to act within a range that is set for him by the board, but merely because he exercises that discretion, is it suggested that he is exercising a directorial power of management? Surely, that is not intended.

a buving operation. The Take board cannot say, 'You should buv thousand tons of this at this price'. The board will say 'During this week, vou will buy about thousand tons. because those are the projected requirements for the planned production, and we believe that you should be able to get it between this and that price'. But, surely, the operation thereafter is entirely a matter in the hands of the head of the buying You cannot possibly department. direct every detail of an operation.

Now, according to the Sastri Committee's report, buying and selling are fundamental matters of policy. Therefore, anybody who exercises a substantial discretion is exercising a power of management. If that is so, then it must be remembered that he is not even a member of the board. Are we going to suggest that all those persons should be treated as members of the board?

So, what I am coming to is this. The board is collectively responsible for the totality, and that, I submit, it the only criterion by which you can say what is the management power vested in the board as different from the management power vested in any functional authority.

In section 293, there is a valuable concept which I would suggest may be made use of, and that concept is this. No board can undertake to sell the whole undertaking, and where it has several undertakings, substantially the whole of any given undertaking without the consent of the company in general meeting. Even in companies where you will find two or three managing directors, styled as such, if you look at the actual reality, you will find that the division between the various managing directors is precisely this, that each one of them is in complete charge of the totality of one undertaking of that group. It may be coal, it may be plastics, or it may be vanaspati. In other words, where a company has multiple operations, the totality oľ

each such undertaking is vested in a managing director. Therefore, what I am coming to is this. Our first position is that what distinguishes the board is its responsibility for the totality of the undertaking as different from the function of a functional head who also exercises certain powers of management. Therefore, I would say, in all respect. let 115 define the term 'managing director' to mean, the person who has the totality of an undertaking as his responsibility, which is different from saving 'the whole of the affairs of a company', because the affairs of a company may be multiple. The term 'undertaking' is already found in section 293. That is a concept which is clearly understood, and which has been there for many years in 011 Companies Act.

Now, there are certain advantages that would flow from my suggestion. That is my view.

**Shri S. P. Sen Verma:** What is the distinct point that you are trying to make?

Shri K. T. Chandy: The point I am trying to make out is this. First of all, you have used the words 'whole-time director' in the Act, but there is no definition of it. My submission is that there should be a definition, because in the absence of that, we are all wondering where we are. Are we managing directors?

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: You are wondering and flourishing.

Shri K. T. Chandy: We have this problem. We go to the counsel, and the counsel gives us his advice, and we are guided by him, but we are not sure. The last thing that we want is an ambiguity as to the characterisation of each function.

Shri S. P. Sen Verma: If we introduce a definition saying 'the totality of functions' as different from the 'who'le affairs of the board', what should be the real distinction? That is what I would like to understand. We fail to understand the distinction between 'totality of functions', and 'the whole of the affairs of a company'. What is the exact distinction? Is it not a very nice distinction, or I may say, to some extent, metaphysical?

**Shri D. L. Mazumdar:** That distinction will be valid only if a company has more than one undertaking. If it is a unitary company which has one undertaking, there is no distinction at all.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Quite right. My proposition would be this. First of all, in clause 59, let us include besides managing director, the category of whole-time director. It is necessary to include that category, because they exist.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: This is not a new form of words. This has been there since 1956. I would like to know what practical difficulties it has caused in the light of experience and not in the light of logic; that is, what difficulties this term 'wholetime director' has caused.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Without going into the question as to who is a managing director, I would say that the concept of 'whole-time director' is a simple concept, namely that he is whole time in the employment of the company, and he is functioning as a director. That is a simple thing. However, his characteristic is at present in some way associated with the rather difficult definition of managing director; so, all the time, he is wondering whether he is a managing director or a whole-time director.

**Shri D. L. Mazumdar:** He need not wonder. If he is uncertain as to whether he is a managing director or a whole-time director, he must make up his mind. If he is uncertain, he has to apply to Government, and Government will approve of the appointment. So, there is no problem there.

Shri K. T. Chandy: What I would suggest is this. In so far as we have used the term 'whole-time director', that term should find a place in the category of management provided for in clause 59.

Shri Mazumdar: We have wrestled with the problem of definition. It has not been possible to do better. What is meant by a 'whole-time' man? Is it one who works all the 24 hours or who works for 3 hours or 5 hours or 12 hours a day or a man who may not work at all? But he may be a whole-time director who is responsible from his bedroom for the day to day functions. How do you define it?

**Shri Leuva:** A whole-time director may be held to be a managing director.

**Shri Morarka:** A whole-time director will be covered by the definition of 'managing director'.

Shri Mazumdar: Section 269 provides for the appointment of managing or whole-time director. Both require Government approval.

Shri Morarka: The definition of 'managing director' says that he is a person exercising certain powers, by whatever name called. If a wholetime director exercises those functions why should he not be called the managing director?

Shri Mazumdar: Mr. Chandy says that there is a distinction between a whole-time director and a managing director. He distinguishes between carrying on the business aspect of the company's work and the exercise of directorial functions. He concedes that there are directorial functions as apart from managerial functions and that the whole-time director may only have directorial functions.

Shri Kanungo: Instead of going into theoretical discussions, will the witness tell us whether, and if so what, difficulties have been found by any company due to the obscurity of the definition of whole-time director? Shri Mazumdar: The problem of definition has never been satisfactorily solved for the last 40 years. Nobody has been able to define satisfactorily the terms, managing agent, managing director or manager. As it was said at the last Select Committee, you cannot define an elephant but you can identify it; similarly you cannot define this but you can have the concept.

Shri Leuva: When we are trying to put restrictions under clause on the appointment of more than one of these categories of persons, the managing director, the managing agent, the secretary or the manager, it becomes necessary that we should define them.

Official of the Ministry: The term whole-time director is not included in this clause because a whole-time director is deemed to be included in the term 'managing director'. The new section only says that there shall not be two categories of these persons at the same time. You cannot have a whole-time director where you have got managing agents. You can have managing directors and wholetime directors so long as Government approves; but they cannot be otherwise appointed along with one of the same category.

Shri K. T. Chandy: It is not my purpose to suggest that whole-time directors should be exempt from any of the provisions which Government consider necessary to control the appointment or the remuneration or the duration of appointment. My purpose is this. In so far as we have these categories, there is always a doubt as to which sections apply to whom. If you say that a whole-time director should also appear in clause 59, as far as I am concerned, it solves the problem.

**Shri A. C. Guha:** The term 'managing director' would not include a 'whole-time' director. Some companies have a director-in-charge or a wholetime director in addition to a managing director. Shri K. T. Chandy: Elsewhere in the Act we have used the words managing director or whole-time director. I say that there should be no ambiguity in the definition.

**Chairman:** Let the witness finish what he has to say; then, we can put questions.

Shri K. T. Chandy: My suggestion is this. Either we say that 'managing director' shall include 'whole-time director' or include in clause 59 'whole-time director' also in the category of 'managing director'. Otherwise, it is left hanging in the air.

Shri A. C. Guha: Some companies may have, for instance, several managers.....

**Chairman:** That is not the question here. There may be managers like the Sales Manager, Production Manager etc.; but they are not included here.

Shri K. T. Chandy: The next point I wish to make is this. The Sastri Committee rightly observes that certain types of work should not be treated as substantial; for example, the signing of cheques, signing share certificates etc.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: Please refer to your memorandum also so that we may be able to follow.

**Chairman:** Now, the witness is making a reference to something stated in the Sastri Report. So, he is referring to that page.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: It would be easy for us to follow if he mentions the page number of his memorandum.

**Shri K. T. Chandy:** I refer to page 14. You will find that the Sastri Committee report rightly says that certain types of work should be excluded. What that report says, we accept; but, will the court accept? In

other words. would it not be right to say that substantial powers shall not include signing of cheques or signing of share certificates? If something can be clarified so much the better. Having said that the criterion should be substantial powers, the Sastri Committee has excluded the signing of cheques and so on. I realise that vou cannot enumerate everything. But even to the extent that some of the routine operations are enumerated, to that extent there will be less reason for a matter being agitated in a court of law.

**Shri S. P. Sen Verma:** In that case there may be another difficulty. If only certain things are mentioned that the rule *expressis verbis* will apply.

Shri K. T. Chandy: From our point of view if ejusdem generis applies....

Shri S. P. Sen Verma: No, no. If express mention is made of some categories it will mean the exclusion of the remaining ones.

Shri Nathwani: Not necessarily, if they are by way of illustration only.

Shri Kanungo: That is why I asked whether the witness can mention any case or judgment where this ambiguity has cropped up. Can the Association give us instances of cases they have come across where they have experienced any difficulty.

Shri K. T. Chandy: I do not think anybody has gone to the court of law to test this. The problem is always there because they have to go to a counsel for everything and it is a costly business. We would rather suggest clarity as far as possible in the definitions than going to the counsel every other day.

The most ideal thing would be to say that a managing director is a director who is in charge of a whole undertaking or substantially a wholl undertaking. Or you can say that in terms of another criterion. Ordinarlly a director has to retire by rotation or annually. If anybody does not retire in that manner, he is a managing director. You can have both these aspects: duration and power. You can also use both of them as independent criteria.

Shri Kanungo: Am I to take it that the witnesss feels that the present term of 'substantial powers' is not clear enough?

Shri K. T. Chandy: Yes, Sir. It still begs the question and it leaves us in doubt.

Shri Morarka: Certain directors appointed by the Government in certain companies do not retire.

Shri K. T. Chandy: You can exclude them and say: "this shall not include Government directors."

The next point I want to take up is the much debated question of private and public companies and the conversion in certain circumstances of a private company into a public company-pages 3 and 5 of our memorandum. If a company is a private company, whether it is a subsidiary of a public company or not, it is exempted from certain limited number of provisions of the Act. Those exemptions are common to all types of private companies. There are certain other exemptions which are available only to private companies which are not subsidiaries of public companies. In other words, those which are subsidiaries of public companies do not have those benefits. My suggestion is that if you make a large number of companies, private companies, come within the second category, namely, if they are treated for all purposes as subsidiaries of public companies, then the problem at issue can be solved, because filing of documents, etc. follow. It is not necessary to convert them into public companies with all the consequences of changing the memorandum and articles of association and so on.

What is it that we are trying to achieve? It seems to me that we are trying to achieve greater publicity of the nature of operations of a large number of companies which figure substantially as important elements in the economy. Cannot that purpose be achieved in a slightly different way? You say that as soon as a shareholding in a private company reaches a certain stage, it becomes a nublic company and there is an alteration in its character. What we are really trying to do is this. Certain provisions and certain exemptions which are now available to private companies which are not subsidiaries of public companies shall not be available to them. I suggest that instead of enlarging the category of public companies by the operation of law. and thus enlarging the category of public companies which may be subsidiaries of private companies. the purpose can be achieved in the manner I suggested. We need not have the costly operation of conversion of memorandum and articles of association and so on. This is a concrete suggestion I make because the other is an indeterminate position. As per the Bill, overnight you become a public company, and then later on you may not be a public company. That is a rather difficult position. Whether it remains a private company or is deemed to become a public company, certain privileges shall not be allowed to it. This can be done without making such companies into public companies and compelling them to alter their memorandum, etc.

**Shri Morarka:** Your suggestion is that the definition of subsidiary company should be changed.

Shri K. T. Chandy: My suggestion following that would be this. If 25 per cent or more of the shares of any private company are held by another body corporate, whatever be the nature of the other body corporate, this company shall not have any other privileges which are enjoyed by companies which are not subsidiaries of public companies. In other words, they shall be treated as on a par with subsdiaries of public companies.

Shri Morarka: Does that in fact not mean that the definition of 'subsidiary company' will have to be changed?

Chairman: Let him go to the next point. We shall put questions later on.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Let me answer that point. Subsidiary company necessarily means dominating control by some other company. What are we trying to achieve? Not to classify them as subsidiaries of some other companies but to see that they come within a category which disentitles them to some privileges. The draftsman can easily say that as far as shareholding in any private company by another body corporate comes to 25 per cent or exceeds 25 per cent. the exemptions given under such and such sections shall no longer be available to them, instead of having this complicated system of deeming to have been converted into a public company, with consequent changes in the memorandum and articles of association and so on. That is what I suggest in the place of the present proposal.

Now I come to the question of head office and branch office. This also is a much-debated problem. I do not think I am adding anything new. But I must volce the concern of the members of my association. Let me say at the outset that we stand for exhaustive, honest and complete auditing. We do not want to take away any powers which the auditors feel they must have in order to make the audit honest, complete and accurate.

What is the present law and what is it that we are trying to achieve by this re-definition of the term "branch office"? At the moment, if a particular establishment is not to be audited in detail by the auditors appointed at the annual general meeting, the shareholders have the right to pass a resolution that they shall not carry out that audit. But, at the same time, even the shareholders' righte DTD curtailed or subject to serious limitations, namely, the limitations that flow from the all-embracing responsibility of those statutory auditors to certify that the accounts are true and faithfml In other words. whatever arrangements the shareholders mov make cannot but be the arrangements which finally receive the approval of the statutory auditors. Otherwise, it is impossible to resolve the conflict.

There are many companies in which, apart from all provisions for external auditing, it is necessary as a control operation to have internal auditing. If you study the structure of such companies which have an internal auditing machinery, you will find that the internal audit machinery is usually directly responsible to the board and does not come within the purview of any particular financial director. In other words, theirs is an independent arm of the board.

I do not want to mention any companies' names. There are companies which retail consumer articles all over the country; they are key-companies. I do not want this to be quoted. May They have I claim the privilege? depots all over the place, almost in of those every town. The accounts depots have to be kept accurately not auditors want merely because the them to be kept but the company directors must see that they are kept accurately. Otherwise the companies will go to the wall. The control operation may be such that in a branch consider the thev which office. branch office, the daily depot returns will be coming in. Therefore, the central auditors today may consider it necessary to visit some of those depots as a sample test or as a random sample check. They will not go all over the 400 or 500 depots that exist throughout this country. But they will rely on the central accounts kept in a branch which is styled as 2 branch. In other wor w the auditors operate is on the analysis of the control system in a given company. We do not want to take away that, but what we are now saving is that certain things shall be deemed to be branches. Almost everything will be a branch. Then the auditors are beginning to feel-"must they travel all over the place?" So, personally I would submit that as long as we can rely on the central statutory auditors to carry out their functions efficiently, what assistance they will seek from an agency inside or outside may be left to them rather than to create within the Act a definition of the term "branch office" with the necessity to have competent auditors qualified under the Act to audit, which means that the statutory auditors will have necessarily to travel instead of relying on the control system of the company. I am not saying that he is not free to travel but what really happens is that he travels to some depots and sees how the accounts are maintained and sees how the control system operates. Ôn that basis he audits. A complete audit is done only in terms of a central control system. That is a difficulty which I would like to place before you. I do not want to offer any concrete suggestion because my friend Mr. Choksey who is to follow will probably be able to explain in greater detail what concrete suggestions are possible. But I want to place before you the existence of a problem. We do not want to take away from the auditors any powers that they feel they must have to make a complete audit but there are certain difficulties involved.

Many people would have drawn your attention to the fact that today there is no possibility for the Government to exempt the banks and insurance companies from the operation of this branch. That again is a problem. Either say specifically that even with regard to branches of banking and insurance companies the Govhave the power to ernment will exempt certain branches alteror natively take them out of this provision. I do not suggest that they

873 L.S.-15.

should be taken out of the audit provisions because to create a discrimination in favour of one group of people is to invite requests for other discriminations. So perhaps the best thing is to leave it to Government to say that even in the case of banking and insurance companies—I am assuming that the provisions are kept as they are—the Government should have the power to exempt branches of such institutions from the provisions of this type of audit.

May I refer to another question which must have been debated over and over again—the publication of chairman's speech. This has been referred to at page 13 of our memorandum. We are not against the publication of the entire proceedings but the problem really is whether the hon, gentlemen who attend the shareholders' meeting will always be satisfied about the report being correct and as giving adequate emphasis to their respective points of view. We have difficulties like that in many companies, when the minutes of the annual general meeting are written up and are signed by the chairman. The shareholders would have made a point urging certain matters and they would turn up at the registered office and look at the minutes and say, "why have you not quoted my speech in extenso?" So, those who write up the minutes say,—in other words, the directors say, "We have not guoted the chairman's speech either". In other words, there is always a certain amount of argument raised by the gentlemen who appear at the shareholders' meeting. Some of them have very many valid points and some of them are there merely to say something. The problem is really this. In the scheme of things as they are in this country, if the Chairman's speeches are not available to the general public, to that extent, ordinary students of economics in this country will be the poorer. We all look at the daily papers to see what somebody has said and I think it is a good thing to know what somebody has said. If you are thinking of protecting the shareholder, you may say that every shareholder shall be given a copy of the minutes of the annual general meeting. But as far as the general public is concerned, some companies at least will wonder whether they will go into the question of presentation of controversial portions of the proceedings of the meeting, because it is a question of what emphasis is to be given to the various points.

**Shri Kanungo:** Where would be the controversy once the minutes **are** adopted?

Shri K. T. Chandy: The thing that will get published in the papers would not be the minutes. The minutes will be drafted 7 or 10 days later. In the meantime, the Press reports it and we do not want to restrain the Press.

Shri Kanungo: I do not believe any newspaper publishes the Chairman's speech by itself.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: They publish the speeches of Ministers only.

Shri Kanungo: Politics is rather interesting.

Shri K. T. Chandy: If the contention is that the Chairman's speech may not be published at the expense of the company.

**Chairman:** That is not the intention.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Then, may I know what is the intention?

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: A summary or substance of the proceedings may be published.

**Shri Kanungo:** The witness says when you give a substance, there will be controversy as far as the participants are concerned.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Yes; it opens the way to a lot of difficulties. If you want, we are quite ready to send the copy of the minutes to the shareholders.

Then. I come to filing of resolutions with the registrar. Personally, I ტი not say what particular benefit can arise from this filing of the resolution of a Board on a contract in which one of the directors is interested. As far as I know, resolutions of the Board do not contain the terms of the contract as a part of the resolution. That would make the resolution bulky and make the minutes nothing but a ledger. In actual fact, the resolution will say, contract purporting to be entered into between the company and so and so was presented by the secretary of the company or placed on the Table. Director so and so stated that he was interested for this reason or that and he abstained from voting. The directors considered the contract and resolved and that it is approved and may be executed. How does it throw any more light? The purpose of filing with the registrar is to enable the members of the public to know the existence of something. The members of the company have right to go to the everv registered office of the company and ask for inspection of the register of contracts of this kind. They have adequate notice of the coming into existence of such contracts by going to the office of the company.

No resolution of the Board will go into the terms of the contract and so, I do not see what is going to be achieved by filing it with the registrar. It will only create a certain amount of irritation that somebody wants to remove the privacy of the Board.

Then, I come to the registrar's powers to inspect accounts-clauses **64**. 76 and 77-dealt with in page 16 and onwards in our memorandum. Here again, my brief submission is that the registrar nas got adequate powers under section 234. This particular suggestion now embodied in these clauses was considered by the Sastri Committee and they did not consider it necessary to accept it. In fact, they categorically rejected it. When you want to give this power, there must be a need to use it. Government have got adequate powers to appoint inspectors and so on. Anyway, my brief submission is that the Sastri Committee considered this suggestion and did not accept it; Section 234 will be adequate. In fact, this power cannot be used unless there is an espionage system and even with the espionage, the man who is bent on defrauding will do it. I think the remedy should be sought through other methods than this.

Shri P. T. Leuva: You say that the Sastri Committee rejected this. But on page 91 of the report, they have suggested an amendment.

**Chairman:** You may reply to Mr. Leuva's question afterwards.

Shri K. T. Chandy: I would like to point out only one other point. It is suggested that a company must hold all its investments in its own name. It is also suggested that unless certain companies are wholly owned, certain provisions will follow. Sir. in considering whether a thing is wholly owned, would you consider the beneficial ownership or the formal legal title? In other words, it is usual in many companies to have some shares at least held by individuals merely for the purpose of enabling them to function as directors, and so on. You say, ".....if all the shares are held entirely by...". How do vou sav that all the shares are held entirely by one corporation, if there are a few nominal shareholders? What it really means is the beneficial ownership as different from the legal ownership. Sir, you may consider that problem. I have no particular solution other than suggesting that you may add the words 'beneficial ownership'.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: How can you say, it is beneficial ownership?

Shri K. T. Chandy: Then, Sir, what will happen is this, that exemption will not have any practical value.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: That does not create any problem, no practical difficulty.

**Shri K. T. Chandy:** If you say, that in a private company in India, the whole of its shares are held abroad by one or two corporations, it may be that all the shares are held abroad, but not by two corporations only, there may be a couple of individuals involved holding one share each, merely for the purpose of enabling them to function as directors of those companies.

Shri D. L. Masumdar: If you mean to lay down qualification shares, that is a different matter.

Shri K. T. Chandy: The problem is there.

shri K. E. P. Aiyangar (Official of the Ministry): Could we not say, jointly held by the company and the nominee director?

Shri K. T. Chandy: Your suggestion is that they may be jointly held.

Shri S. P. Sen Verma: In subsection 2 of section 49 also, the word 'jointly' has been mentioned.

**Shri K. T. Chandy:** We are told by some of our members that they have a problem there.

Now, in reply to Mr. Leuva's question, I would like to draw his attention to page 76 of Sastri Committee's report. We feel that the registrar's powers should be adequate but adequate for the function you expect him to perform, and not loading him with functions which he cannot carry out.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: That depends on his capacity to carry on.

Shri K. T. Chandy: He has got adequate powers under section 234. There is no need to confer on him more powers, but if more powers are to be conferred on him, he must have the channels of information on which he can act. I do not know what channel of information can he have other than what emerges from the records that come before him?

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 5, clause 15 which inserts a new section 43A. Your object is that notwithstanding the conversion of private company into a public company, Articles should not be changed. Don't you think there might be conflict between the Articles of the company and the factual status of the company?

Shri K. T. Chandy: No.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: May I take it that you do not want any other formalities to be gone through?

Shri K. T. Chandy: If a particular private company is treated on nar with a private company that is a subsidiary of a public company. no changes in its Articles are called for because of that equation. What I am trying to say is this, that it remains private company. There is 9 no need for changing its Memorandum and Articles. All that it means is that it shall not have those privileges which it hitherto enjoyed as a private company not being a subsidiary of the public company.

Shri K. R. P. Aiyangar (Official of the Ministry): How is the public to know that it is no longer a private company? Would you like it to continue in the name of a private company, in which case public will be misled that no information can be had?

Shri K. T. Chandy: There are today many private companies which are subsidiaries of public companies. People do not know about them. But the fact that they are treated as subsidiaries of public companies means that their accounts are attached to those of the public companies.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 7 of your Memorandum, where you refer to see-saw between private and public companies, you say it will give rise to practical difficulties. Would it not do if it were like this if on any particular date in a year the company becomes a deemed public company, for that financial year it remains so. Will that eliminate see-sawing?

Shri K. T. Chandy: Where is the need for it? What are we trying to achieve? If the attempt is to see that they shall not have the privileges which they otherwise have in terms of exemption, let us make it clear then there is no need for all these things. The fact is that they are no longer entitled to these privileges. Let us insist that the company should advertise in the press at its own expense. It is much cheaper than to redraft the memorandum and articles

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 7. Are you satisfied with this 25 per cent limit? Or, would you like a different basis to be adopted? Would you like to increase this percentage? Or, would you like the basis adopted in section 23-A of the Income-tax Act?

Shri K. T. Chandy: That is a new idea. I have not thought of that suggestion. I think there is considerable merit in what the hon. Member said. I do not know how we arrived at this 25 per cent at all. All that it means is that substantial corporate shareholding in any company has taken away from this company some of its privileges.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: That means 25 per cent is substantial. Now, I quite appreciate what you have said on page 8 regarding the responsibility thrown on companies with regard to giving duplicate share certificates. We have heard quite a lot from the bona fide shareholders. Would it do, instead of putting the responsibility on the company to collect the satisfactory proof, if you say that an affidavit coupled with an advertisement and a bond will suffice?

Shri K. T. Chandy: That will be quite adequate. There are many shareholders whose holdings are relatively small. To call upon them to incur huge expenditure with regard to shares worth Rs. 500|- or Rs. 250|is not desirable... Shri Naushir Bharucha: Could we also prescribe that the advertisement expenditure should be limited to 10 per cent after face value of shares or Rs. 300|- whichever is less?

Shri K. T. Chandy: We are not prepared to do that for the simple reason that the Times of India will demand from us Rs. 250/-.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You see what happens. In one case, the company insists advertisements being given in seven different papers....

Shri K. T. Chandy: Quite right. I think one paper would be enough.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Therefore, some sort of limit to the expenditure should be prescribed. Shall we say 10 per cent or Rs. 300/- whichever is less?

Shri K. T. Chandy: I think that will not do. The arithmetical calculation is something for the company law administration to work out. If the onus is upon us to prove that the certificate is lost, it is difficult for us to discharge.

Then page 12, clause 53. Here you say that it is not clear what objective is sought to be achieved by requiring the resolutions of the board sanctioning such contracts to be filed with the Registrar of Companies. Just now you have said that there is not much in the resolution. The point is this: Whenever a resolution is filed with the Registrar, he can call for more explanation if he feels that there is something wrong with a particular contract. According to you the shareholders have a right to inspect the Register of Contracts. Does it mean that the shareholder has to make a pilgrimage every time to the Registrar's office?

Shri K. T. Chandy: First of all I do not know how many companies there are. Probably Mr. Mazumdar will be able to give the statistics. There are so many in Bombay, Calcutta and Madras. Every week there would be some contract in which somebody may be interested. Only in certain companies you get professional managers coming up the line and taking position as full-time directors. In all other companies you get non-professional directors. You will find that their relationship covers a large economic area or activity and therefore they have so many contracts in which so many of them are interested.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: You are complaining about the quantity of work.

Shri K. T. Chandy: You can say that by giving it to the Registrar he is in a position to start an inquiry. What will he inquire into? Is he entitled to see every contract?

Shri Easwara Iyer: Where he cannot do that, the Registrar can report to the Central Government to set aside a particular contract under section 402 of the Companies Act. That section says:

"Without prejudice to the generality of the powers of the Court under section 397 or 398, any order under either section may provide for—

• • •

- (d) the termination, setting aside or modification of any agreement, howsoever arrived at, between the company on the one hand, and any of the following persons, on the other, namely:---
  - (i) the managing director,
  - (ii) any other director.
  - (iii) the managing agent,
  - (iv) the secretaries and treasurers, and
  - (v) the manager...."

Chairman: They are the powers of the court.

Shri Easwara Iyer: The Central Government can apply to the Court and the Registrar can report to the Central Government. **Chairman:** The question is whether the Registrar can move the court.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Coming to page 13, one of the reasons you advance why you do not like it to be flied with the Registrar is that the resolutions will contain details regarding terms and conditions and other essential and confidential particulars which will be taken advantage of by the company's competitors. On the one hand you say that they will not give much information. On the other hand you say that they will give away too much of information.

Shri K. T. Chandy: It all depends how a particular Board will approach the problem.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: If some advantage is gained by your competitors, you can also gain the same advantage.

Shri K. T. Chandy: If the proposition is embodied in the Act, naturally directors will be so cautious to world the resolution in such a manner that any information which is capable of giving an advantage to the rival will be withheld from the resolution. All I am saying is that the filing of the resolution does not by itself start an enquiry and even if the enquiry is to be at all satisfactory, the enquiry has to be protracted.

Shri Easwara Iyer: That is exactly what I was saying. The filing of the resolution enables the Registrar to report to the Government under section 402 so that the contract can be cancelled.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Now I come to clause 58 regarding the publication of the Chairman's speech. The only obligation on you is to give a fair summary of the proceedings to the shareholders.

Shri K. T. Chandy: We are quite happy to send summaries for shareholders; but, Sir, our shareholders will rightly ask 'can you send us the speech made by Chairman at the last Shri Naushir Bharucha: I can understand the meaning attached 'publication' in the Penal Code. On this point, your duty to this particular clause is only limited to publishing a fair summary of the proceedings.

Shri K. T. Chandy: If you say in the Press, I can understand; then half the problem will be solved.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: What other forms of publication do you contemplate?

Shri K. T. Chandy: It is usual for Chairman's speech to be printed in advance as a pamphlet, for presentation as Chairman does not actually make an *extempore* speech. He weighs every word of what he has to say to the shareholders, so that somebody may not say that the profits are going to be high or low. If you say we cannot publish it in the Press, that I can understand.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Please come to page 14, Clause 59.

With reference to this you have suggested that the criterian for distinguishing is the exercise of discretion in the disposal of assets, of manpower of the Company and at what level can you draw a line between Board's function and the executive function. You say that the Board is responsible for the totality of functions collectively and you want the Managing Director to be in terms of one in charge of whole establishment. I want you to be brief on this point. Could you suggest how is it possible for anybody to draw a line between the two-discretion in disposal of assets and executive functions. It is humanly impossible to define that because both are....

Shri K. T. Chandy: The purpose of locating a particular class of Director is to attach certain special provisions to that class of Director. Is it not so?

Why do you want to locate a particular class of Director-because we want to have special provisions attached to that class of Director. What are the special provisions?-the manner in which he may be appointed. the type of connemation that may be required, the duration for which he may be appointed, the terms and conditions of appointment, the number of companies of which he may be the Director. If I understand the law. tnese are the things we want. These are the special points on which we have special want to provisions special categories attacned to of Directors. Now Sir, if you say that on all these, for every Director, we have to come to Government, we shall not solve the problem. Why should two Managing Directors get 5%? I would say that 5% should be limited to one man. In fact it is better to narrow down the special categories and see that for every category we come to Government. We are not against coming to Government, if the Government want it.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Having regard to the complexicies of industrial operations, it is humanly impossible to do it. Your own criterion will not stand in actual practice.

Shri K. T. Chandy: We come to Government because we have to go to Government under the other provisions now, under the provisions of the Bill, as amended now.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: As Chairman observed, in practice by and large there will be border cases; everywhere you cannot help it.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Where a person is Managing Director or wholetime Director or no matter what type of Director he is, we have to come to Government after the present amendment of the Act. If there is a change in the remuneration, even if the change is according to established pattern, we have to come to Government. Shri D. L. Manumdar: If you reduce the remuneration, you don't have to come to Government.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Thank you very much for the suggestion.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 15— Clause 62; I want your views on the depreciation point. Are you satisfied with the criterion employed in the Act—that the basis for calculating depreciation should be the incometax basis plus the multiple shift or do you think if that is done then in the case of new companies or companies with expansion programmes it may be difficult to declare the dividend for some years to come?

Shri K. T. Chandy: I would rather leave this problem to my colleague who is to follow as the head of Chartered Accountants Association. But personally, Sir, I would say this. If we have to work out another category of depreciation we are only complicating matters. There is one type of depreciation recognised under the Income-tax Act. Well, it is not the ideal. But you don't try to reach the ideal in the Companies Act. If something is good enough for taxation. it should be good enough for other purposes also. If it is not ideal, then the first place where it should be changed is the taxation law rather than here.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Clause 64— You are objecting to the proposal to empower the Registrar to inspect the Company's Books of Account. You would not wish the Registrar to have the powers to look into the Books of Account. As you reject outright the provision for the cursory inspection of the Books of Accounts by the Registrar.

Shri K. T. Chandy: As the amending Bill stands, is there anything to indicate the lines on which the Registrar could exercise his discretion? He does not have to give any reason as to why he wants the books of accounts. He does not have to hear the Company's views on this matter. If you want to arm him with certain powers of investigationquasi-judicial power, he must faunction in all respects in that way. He must give the reason to the Company as to why he wants to investigate the books of Account. I am not suggesting that he will abuse the power: but in terms of our constitution we must certainly see that no narticular person will try to abuse his power. What is the reason for the inspection of Books of Account-he must give this to the Company.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 19— Clause 75 refers to the audit of the accounts of the branches by qualified Branch Auditors other than the Company's Auditor. It may be that the Company's Accounts may not be properly maintained and the internal audit system may not be also satisfactory. Why should there not be proper audit of branches? Would you be satisfied if auditors are required to say that they are satisfied with audit of branches.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Yes, if the Central Government will say that. In other words, it is really for the Auditors themselves to satisfy..... that the assistance they received whether from internal auditors or outside auditors is satisfactory from their point of view. If they are satisfied surely that is good enough, because they are guided and controlled by accountants of their own.

Shrt Naushir Bharucha: So you do not want Government to be vested with these powers?

Shri K. T. Chandy: Leave the profession to conduct their own affairs. If the Government is dissatisfied they can intervene.

Shri Naushir Bharusha: Page 20, Clause 76: The Registrar can issue a written order calling for books of accounts if the company fails to furnish an explanation. Why should the Registrar not have these powers instead of his going to the court every time?

Shri K. T. Chandy: The general feeling on which we have made our submission is this. It is better that in all matters concerning an enquiry into the affairs of a citizen either the decision is taken through the intervention of a court or at the very highest level. That is really the point. We would say that under section 234 it is possible for the Registrar to ge to court and say that all these should be called for. If the Government are satisfied at the highest level that there is a case for a detailed enquiry into the operations of a particular company, you have something like the Vivian Bose Commission. Nothing prevents these steps being taken. But let not officialdom at a certain level be conferred with powers which create difficulties. Let us have faith in our courts. Surely, nothing prevents the Registrar from going to the courts.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha**: The Registrar will have time for nothing except for going to courts.

Shri K. T. Chandy: If I am dissatisfied with the Registrar I will go to the court. The law will take its course if the executive and the citizens do not get on well. The fact that we go to court is either because I have misbehaved or you are arbitrary. These are inherent in a certain situation. By all means improve the relations between the executive and the citizen.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 23, clause 103, dealing with political contributions: You say that it might embarrass companies if they disclose in their profit and loss account the name of each political party to which donations are made. Your object is to permit companies to pay simultaneously to all rival political parties so that whichever party loses the company always wins. Why make any political contributions at all?

Shri K. T. Chandy: As far as I am concerned, my company does notmost companies do not. Take the case of a big company in the U.K. whose name I would not disclose. The Labour Party placed on their formal election manifesto the nationalisation of that particular industry. Now that particular company which has adominating role in that particular industry naturally had a right to take every step to protect their continued existence. Its very existence became an open political issue at the instance of one political party. They incurred expenditure on advertisement and the matter went to the court as to whether that expenditure was a legitimate one. The Highest court of England conceded that it was a legitimate one. The point I am making is that in what circumstances a company feels that its future is at stake is for that company to decide. What the future is going to bring nobody seems to be very clear. But some people are worried. Surely, if are worried, why should we prevent them from making their contribution. It is possible that the directors may want to contribute to the ruling party, but it is equally possible that the employees represented by another trade union would say they are going to have a struggle with you, because you have contributed that way, unless you contribute in equal proportion to their side.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** Page 24, clause 128. You rightly say that in case of technical directors and others their remuneration should not be lumped together for the purpose of calculating the 10 per cent. Would you be satisfied if power is vested in the Government to give exemption in the case of bona fide technical personnel?

Shri K. T. Chandy: We trust the Government all right. I have no personal explanation to offer.

Shri Nityanand Kanungo: Is not section 314 adequate?

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Even assuming it is not adequate, surely you can approach Government and ask tor special sanction.

Shri K. T. Chandy: We have no objection.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Pages 26-27: Inter-company investment.

Shri K. T. Chandy: I am sorry to plead my complete ignorance of the managing agency system. The member of the Council who was to have accompanied me, I understand, has aiready given evidence. Please leave me out of this question.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Page 29: At present the mode of valuation is not required to be shown. You say that the requirement that it will have to be shown will raise considerable difficulties. Unless you mention the basis of your valuation what meaning can one attach to the valuation?

Shri K. T. Chandy: I would request the hon. Member to exclude me from the responsibility of answering this.

Shri Avinashilingam Chettiar: What is the constitution of your Association?

Shri Gursahani: This Association was formed about eighteen months with the object of promoting ago the study of company law amongst company lawyers, chartered accountants and all those who were interested in the growth of companies and their administration in this country. We do not claim a very large membership so far. We have about 50, some of which are corporations, others are chartered accountants and still others are company lawyers. We have had some activity in promoting the study of company law in the shape of arranging seminars, lectures and study groups and we also publish a called Company Quarterly Lew

Review which discusses company law not only in India but in Commonwealth countries. Perhaps, I should have brought our latest issue because it may be of some interest. In that issue we have studied the broad aspects of company law in the Middle-Eastern countries and countries of the Far East and go on. Our object is to study Company Law objectively and to assist in promoting a study of company Law.

Shri K. T. Chandy: And that with the help of all the three elements, namely auditors, professional lawyers and those in companies—in other words, to bring them all together into one body so that they can study these problems.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: Have you gone through the question as to whether there have been further evasions after the coming into force of the 1956 Act? Has a study been made of this problem?

Shri K. T. Chandy: No. As my colleague has said just now, this Association was the result of the enthusiasm of three different sets of people to come together. And it is only eighteen months old. During this short period what they have done is to start with the study of the princi-They have not been able to nles get down to issuing a questionnaire and studying to what extent there have been evasions, etc., and we do not know as to what will be the response; I do not think there will be much response.

Chairman: Provided you make one.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: You have not given any suggestions as to how shareholders' interests can be furthered.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Shareholders' interests are furthered by good management. And good management means not merely good internally but coupled with the ability to explain to the shareholders how it functions so that they can carry the sharenoiders with them in what they do. Now, the Company Law—I do not want to lecture—provides for adequate opportunities to place ail the relevant information. At the disposal of the shareholders, I would suggest that some companies should attempt, as early as possible, not only annual accounts but hall-yearly accounts. That is where they can take care of the interests of shareholders.

**Shri T. S. A. Chettiar:** You have not given any amendment with a view to achieving that.

Shri K. T. Chandy: May I say that from that you must not conclude that we do not have the shareholders' interests at heart.

**Shri T. S. A. Chettiar:** We do not conclude anything; I am just making an observation.

Let me come to clause 15. You have stated, rightly, that with the change of ownership of shares the status of the companies may change. Do you know that in the Income-tax Act there is section 20A in which some companies have been styled as public companies on the same basis of the holding of shares? How does it work in that Act?

Shri K. T. Chandy: I beg to differ in that conclusion. The purpose of the taxation law is to determine what tax we shall pay, and not to determine whether there should be change in our internal constitution. It is merely a method of ascertaining how much tax we should pay; it cannot lead to any internal change.

Coming to the distinction between private and public companies as used in the tax law and the distinction between private and public companies as used in the Company Law, may I suggest that they are not on a par. In one case it is a question of how many shareholders control a company economically, for the purpose of deciding whether it should be given special tax exemptions or not. The two are not on a par. The objectives are different

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: We entirely agree. But on this matter about holding of shares, how does it affect there, that was what I was asking.

Please refer to page 8 of your memorandum, clause 24. You have said that a company which accepts a certain evidence as satisfactory proof of loss should be protected from punishment. What would you suggest as a 'satisfactory proof'?

Shri K. T. Chandy: May I suggest this? If the onus is upon us to be satisfied in our own interests, in order to be secure we would ask for what amounts to be an impossibility. My submission is that the law itself may say what 'satisfactory proof' is.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: What would you like the law to make?

Shri K. T. Chandy: We ask, naturally, for an affidavit, a declaration by the man-in other words. a sort of statement by the man that he has in fact lost or misplaced it. or it has been destroyed, whatever it may be. He has to make a positive statement by which he should stand for all time. He has to state it in writing. Then we say: advertise in a paper. We do not say seven or eight papers. We merely say one paper. Then, in order to help the shareholders we even do this, that is, we club together four or five and say "the following shareholders have notified that their shares have been lost or misplaced or they have been destroyed", so that the ex-Because. any penses are shared. city single newspaper in any big charges rather an exorbitant amount for publications of this kind. Apart from a declaration which is indispensable, in my view it is equally indispensable that there should be public notice. whatever be the expenses involved. It cannot be helped. And the third point is this. Public notice, we know, cannot be a complete

notce. So, as far as the company is concerned, there must be some indemnity. The question is, indemnity by whom? It is customary to ask for an indemn.ty guaranteed by two brokers recognised by the stock exchange. Now there are many upcountry shareholders who do not know any brokers: It is also customary to ask for a bond or indemnity guaranteed by a bank. In many places banks hesitate to do that unless there is a standing account with them. and a substantial one. What I say is, when it comes to the question of bond we find that many shareholders have difficulties. But we have invariably insisted on some sort of a bond, some by third responsibility guaranteed parties.

To my mind, therefore, these are the three elements, namely, a positive declaration by the man;—should it be on oath? Perhaps it may be necessary;—secondly, there should be public notice; and thirdly, some indemnity given to the company guaranteed by third parties—whether they are substanital financially or not, depends on the circumstances of the case.

**Chairman:** When you say "we" do you mean your Association or Lever Brothers? We are not able to follow.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Our members feel like this. There are three elements in this.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: They cannot speak for Lever Brothers as "we". I would refer you now to page 11, clause 60, where you have stated:

"The Association feels that if perquisites received by Managerial personnel are to be included within the meaning of the word 'remuneration' they should be confined only to such perquisites as are required to be included in the total income for income-tax purposes.".

Have you any idea as to what is included for income-tax purposes? Shri K. T. Chandy: I am not much of a student of that either. Ali I know is that if that is in the tax, that is in the tax. Personally, I am quite happy, and I think my colleagues are also happy to see that whatever is included for purposes of income-tax must obviously be considered as remuneration. As to what are not included. I do not quite know.

Shr. T. S. A. Chettiar: You have stated that:

"The Association in particular feels that the pension, annuity, graulity or contribution to the provident fund are all paid in connection with past services and ought not to be equated with the current year's pronts. Such items should, in any case, be excluded from the meaning of the word 'remuneration'.

Are you sure that these are not included for income-tax purposes?

Shri K. T. Chandy: No, but, for income-tax purposes, we certainly have to disclose what the employers are contributing towards these things. If there is any pension for which they make provisions, that has got to be disclosed, but it is not taxed in the year. There are certain exemptions.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: You are referring to things included for income-tax purposes, without knowing what those things are. And you say that perquisites up to a maximum of Rs. 5009 per annum per individual should be excluded from the meaning of the word 'remuneration' for purposes of section 198. What is it that you want to say here?

Shri K. T. Chandy: I would say this. Take a pension which is worked out with the Life Insurance Corporation. That is a scheme that I know of. What happens is that every month, a certain amount is contributed by the employee and an equal amount by the employer as a premium paid to the LIC, which eventually matures at the age of 55 or 69 or 235

whatever age is nominated. according to the amount then accumulated, it comes off as an annuity which you call a pension. I do not know how the Company Law Administration want to value this particular benefit. That is all. All that we are saying is that as we go along, we are paying.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: If you do not know the details, please find them out. Now, clause 68 lays down that auditors' report including any separate, special or supplementary report is required to be attached to the balance-sheet and profit and 1085 account. You are against that?

Shri K. T. Chandy: No. We have mentioned that in the context of the likely conflicts-this is what we were told by our chartered accountant friends-between an auditor for 2 branch and the central auditor. They feel embarrassed about that. If there is a dispute between them as to how the thing should be done, each will make his own report. That is the context that we are thinking of. Again, it is a matter on which it is a question of streamlining the relationship between the central auditor and whoever does the audit of any independent or separate establishment under it.

Shri T. S. A. Chettiar: We are not referring to streamlining. We want to have your views on this clause which says that any special or separate or supplementary reports should also be attached to the balance-sheet and profit and loss accounts.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Lest I should be misunderstood, may I say this that I was relving on my colleague Mr Choksi to answer these questions? Anyway, since the point has been raised, all that I would say is this. If there is any dispute between two auditors, let them settle the matter before they make the final auditors' report. Otherwise, there will be multiplicity of reports coming before

the general body; and instead of adding to the clarity, they will add to the confusion. That is one point.

The second point is this. In the course of audit auditors refer to various matters and bring various matters to the notice of the directors. But they do not necessarily find their place in the final report. They write various letters to the directors. For example, they may say, 'Have vou passed a resolution confirming such and such expenditure, because in our view that is necessary?'. It may be that we have not passed: then. naturally, as soon as we get the letter from the auditors saying that we have not passed the resolution but that we ought to pass the resolution, we pass the resolution. In other words, there are many communications between the auditors and the company directors, not all of which should be understood to be supplementary reports.

It was only by way of abundant caution that this was put in. It is not that we are against anything in the nature of a fundamental report. Naturally, if the auditors feel that the matter is worth bringing to the notice of the shareholders, we should not stand in the way; we quite agree to that.

Shri T. S. A. Chettlar: Now, clause 103 is more interesting. Are you aware that there are some companies which give to all parties?

Shri K. T. Chandy: I am afraid I do not know; I cannot speak for the different companies. We have not issued any questionnaire this on Whether somebody will have no conscience at all will give to all parties. and whether that will be in the interests of his security is more than I can say.

Shri T. S. A. Chettlar: Whoever gives will give.

Shri Kanungo: Anyway, we had it from other witnesses that in other countries, some companies to contribute to all parties.

**Shri Naushir Bharucha:** That is because there is the possibility of the Opposition coming to power there, but here there is no such possibility.

Shri Bisht: With regard to clause 59 of the amending Bill, you have made certain observations at page 14 of your memorandum. I do not want to go into any academic discussion of the matter, but I would like to know whether the clause, as it is worded. prohibits any company from engaging or employing more than one category of managing director, managing agent etc. Suppose, a company is a multipurpose company, and it has a textile mill as one branch, an engineering unit as another branch, a cement mill as a third branch and so on, would that not work any hardship to that company?

Shri K. T Chandy: That is certainly the view of some of our members. That is to say, where the activity of a company covers different fields, the kind of structure that is required for the control of each will be determined by the circumstances. To say that there shall be only one category may not be the correct way of dealing with it. But I am a firm believer in professional management coming and functioning as directors, because I believe that is the way the future of the country will lie. From that point of view, I would say that if you want only one type of director or managing director, you may say so. But my submission is that include the category of whole-time directors.

Shri Bisht: Do you agree that it would be necessary to make some slight changes here, so as to cover the cases of those multipurpose companies? For instance, take the case of the British India Corporation in Kanpur; it has textile mills, leather factories and also enginering branches. How is it possible for such a company to have only a managing director everywhere?

Shri K. T. Chandy: I entirely agree with the hon. Member. To say that there should be only one class of management would be to suggest that the same type of management would suit different types of activities, all of which may be embarrassed within one company's operation. All that you may say then is that if more than one category is required, the case should be made out to the Company Law Administration, and they should be satisfied.

Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi: In regard to clause 63, at page 16 of your memorandum, you have opposed the locking-up of the dividend amounts in the scheduled bank. This amendment is really to safeguard the dividends. What check or remedy do you suggest in the alternative, to the possibility of a dividend warrant being dishonoured?

Shri K. T. Chandy: If we have declared a dividend, obviously, we have undertaken the liability to pay, and we have made an appropriation in the profit and loss appropriation account. So, obviously, the money has been found. The problem is to have it in liquid form, so that the debt can be met.

The suggestion in the Bill is that we immediately deposit in terms of liquid cash in a separate account, so that there will be no delay in the payment, and there will be no default in the payment of the dividend warrant. I have no doubt that all companies with sufficient liquidity will have no problem in complying with this. But there are companies whose liquidity at any given moment may not be as high, and they may be thinking that by the time they are ready with the dividend warrants and so on, they will find the liquid cash. I am not denving the fact that within a certain time the dividend must be paid out. By all means, let us say that within period of 3 months all dividends shall be paid—all the dividend warrants issued. The difficulty does not apply to big companies with sufficient liquidity; it does apply to smaller companies who have ۹D contrived that the time they will take to issue the dividend warrant and so

on will be the time during which they will find liquid cash. If you say they must immediately deposit it in a separate account and ear-mark it in a Scheduled Bank they may not be able to do it.

Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi: You do not accept the possibility of the dividend warrant being dishonoured. Have you got some suggestion or some check or remedy for that? Do you agree that there should be a certain penalty in case they dishonour the dividend warrants?

Shri K. T. Chandy: Certainly; by all means.

Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi: Have you got any check or remedy?

Shri K. T. Chandy: The only suggestion I have is this. It shall be an obligation to pay out completely within a certain period of time. The paying out should be in cash. Then, in the subsequent section it is said that cash may mean a dividend warrant. In other words. a dividend warrant must be cashable. That is what it Therefore, what we have to means. see is that if the dividend warrant is dishonoured, what is to be done. If the dividend warrant is dishonoured it is because the company is in a bad way. There is no doubt about it Otherwise, why should they do not When in their profit and loss pav? account and appropriation account they have appropriated a certain amount for the payment of dividend, they put it in the reserve as you now require to be put in an account. It appears in the reserve column of the balance sheet. That comes before the The reso-Annual General Meeting. lution is passed confirming this. They must be obviously making certain calculations about the liquidity of the company at that given moment. That is the crux of the matter. If they are contemplating the liquidity to arise after the declaration of the dividend, during the time that they are getting ready to issue the dividend warrant. they may be making a miscalculation.

But if dividend warrant is dishonoured although it is issued within the prescribed time, it means that the company's liquidity is in a bad way. What is the solution?

Is it to impose greater penalty on a company which is already in a bad way? No. Even if you insist that the money should be found earlier, what will happen? Perhaps, then, there will be no declaration of a dividend. There will be no declaration of dividend unless the company is a dead certain about its liquidity.

**Shri D. L. Mazumdar:** The question is, can they be induced to plan for adequate liquidity through this measure?

Shri K. T. Chandy: I will wholeheartedly agree with Mr. Mazumdur. But we have to reckon with the reality in this country's state of affairs. There are so many small companies.....

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: It will be only for the transition period. But where you know it from the start there will be planning in advance.

Shri K. T. Chandy: We are certainly for a planned declaration of dividend. We are certainly for an enlightened management that ensure the liquidity before it makes a declaration. Be that as it may, we must also not forget that today the management of all the companies may not be so placed.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: It is only a question of the period of transition.

Shri Tangamani: Under section 8, the Central Government has the power to declare an establishment not to be a branch office. When it is so declared, then, the branch office of the company will not be treated as a branch office for all or any of the purposes of the Act. When that is so, why do you still object to the amendment that is sought to be brought in by clause 2?

Shri K. T. Chandy: In my Initial submission I have explained this. First of all, if the clause were to remain as such, there should be exemptions. The exemption given by government should also be extended to banks and insurance companies because they have a large number of branches. That is the first proposition.

Shri Tangamani: If the banks and insurance companies are excluded, have you no objection?

Shri K. T. Chandy: It is much better to leave it to the professional auditors, who are appointed as All India Auditors, to decide what amount of assistance they want for auditing all the outlying offices. It depends upon the control system in a given company. Instead of insisting upon competent auditors going everywhere, it would be much better to leave it to them to decide whether they are satisfied.

Shri Tangamani: With reference to clause 15, you say that what is sought to be achieved by making a private company into a public company is greater publicity. Is it the view of your organisation that the difference between a private company and a public company in the conditions existing today in our country should be narrowed down or even abolished?

Shri K. T. Chandy: There are certain distinctions between a private company and a public company which are inherent in the character of the two. It is not proposed to do away with these. What is proposed is that because of these differences there shall not be a differentiation in treatment between these companies in regard to most of the provisions. That is what it means, because, a private company, by the very nature of its definition, cannot go to the public for funds. It is not proposed that the distinction should be taken awav. All that it means is that because of the classification they are not to be treated as dissimilar for all purposes. Today they are treated as dissimilar You narrow for certain purposes. down those purposes so that in more respects they are alike. That is the whole purpose.

Shri Tangamani: Regarding the publication of the Chairman's speech some of the witnesses who came before you stated that it is of interest to the shareholders. But you now say that it is of interest to the public at large and to Government and so you want them to be published

Shri K. T. Chandy: I think all our universities will benefit; all students of economics will benefit if there is a much more exhaustive, factual and accurate publication of these speeches. I think it is source material. These are matters of interest not only to the present shareholder but to the potential shareholder also.

Shri Tangamani: Clause 53 relates to the filing with the Registrar of the contracts entered into between the company and the managing director or any of his relations. You say that if such a filing is insisted upon, it will affect the company prejudicially. How will it affect it prejudicially unless the contract entered into is of a questionable nature.

Shri K. T. Chandy: I do not know what is the questionable nature. It all depends upon each case. If it is intended to help the shareholder-I may have overlooked Shri Bharucha's point-he can go to the Registrar's office. If the provision is intended to help the Government as represented by the Registrar or if he wants to know the existence of something, he can follow a line of action. I thought he would not be in a position to follow up these things. But if the Government feels that it must know every contract in which every director is interested what will happen?

Shri Tangamani: You had already given your views about the contribution to political parties—clause 103. Some of the previous witnesses have stated that they would like this contribution to be made from out of the capital as capital and not as revenue expenditure. Your objection is that you do not want the names of the political parties to be revealed.

Shri K. T. Chandy: I think that instead of dragging companies too much into politics, it would be much better to leave them out and if they chose to make contributions to political parties, let them do so.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: Why do they pay?

Shri K. T. Chandy: I do not know why. But as far as I can see from papers they pay political parties for various reasons. The political party may have a group of people working or engaged in some constructive work and a company may earmark its funds for that purpose. A new political party is born which says that it stands against nationalisation. It may be that a number of people who feel the threat of nationalisation, may say that they have every right to protect themselves against nationalisation and they may contribute. Any number of reasons may be given.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: Do companies , pay on their own or are they approached by people?

Shri K. T. Chandy: I do not speak on matters which are not in my personal knowledge.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: You refer to the election manifesto. But even before the manifesto is published, how do they pay?

Shri K. T. Chandy: Since it is not in my personal knowledge, I cannot depend upon heresay.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: If it is not in your personal knowledge, it may be in the knowledge of your association.

Shri K. T. Chandy: We do meet people and discuss and people understand each other's point of view. If it is felt that the other man engaged in politics is likely to present a point of view with which you agree and if he comes and stands for election and he is personally known to you, you may contribute something. That is what I would personally say.

Shri Feroze Gandhi: Do you benefit by this contribution?

Shri K. T. Chandy: There cannot be any direct benefit. It may be a benefit that they believe will accrue from the creation of a congenial economic and political atmosphere.

Shri Tangamani: You stated earlier that section 293 laid down a very good principle. That also refers to Rs. 25,000 or five per cent. of the average net profit to be the contribution to political parties and other charitable purposes. Would you like this to remain as it is or would you like it to be altered, increased or decreased?

**Shri K. T. Chandy:** We have not applied our minds to that. I would personally say that these things are there. Nobody has asked for more and to my knowledge nobody has asked for anything less.

Shri Easwara Iyer: As an association engaged in academic study of the company law, I would like your enlightenment on clause 11, page 5 of your memorandum. You say that there is some ambiguity in the drafting. You fear that when the approval of the Government is to be given for any alteration, it may not relate back to the date of the alteration.

Shri K. T. Chandy: When we draft these things, we try to find a common measure of agreement among the different elements. As a lawyer one may say something that inherent in the situation is relating back to the date upon which something took place. There are others, chartered accountants and ordinary company directors. They say that they are not lawyers and they do not want this ambiguity. Why cannot this Government say these things in simple words say that it shall relate back. That is what they ask.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Can you suggest any amendment to take out the ambiguity? If the section says that

873 L.S.-16.

it shall have effect from the date of such alteration, will that be acceptable?

## Shri K. T. Chandy: Yes, Sir.

**Shri Easwara Iyer:** On page 6 of your memorandum you have pointed out the anomalies in the definitions. I do not quite follow what you have said in paragraph (a) on page 6.

Shri K. T. Chandy: There is an exception provided under section 43(a). "Nothing in this section shall apply to a private company of which the entire paid-up capital is held by ......" The phraseology 'incorporated outside India' does not qualify the private company; it only qualifies the other part of it.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Turning to page 12 of your memorandum, regarding clause 53. I want to know one point. I am again and again coming to that question. You say that the filing of a contract entered into with the relative or a director with the Registrar will not serve any useful purpose because the Registrar cannot question the wisdom of the contract. May I ask whether the Registrar, if he finds a contract to be unduly oppressive or unconscionable, cannot report the matter to the Central Government to take action under section 402?

Shri K. T. Chandy: If the view of the Company Law Administration is that the Registrar should have notice for his own purpose and not for the purpose of giving notice to the members of the public, the Registrar should have notice of agreements that are being created between companies and others, in which the directors are interested. so that he can compile them and follow them afterwards. If that is the idea, I have no objection. All I am saying is this: it would be extremely difficult and an onerous task to go through all those things. If the Company Law Administration wants that, we cannot object to it.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Turning to page 16 about clause 63 in regard to the deposit of dividends in a scheduled bank, as persons who have got experience in company law, may 1 know what would be the nature of the dividend that has been declared? May I know whether the dividend, as soon as it is declared, belongs to the shareholders or the company as the legal personality?

Shri K. T. Chandy: As soon as a dividend is declared, the company acknowledges a debt.

Shri Easwara Iyer: I just want to know as a matter of illustration. Supposing the dividend is declared and some of the shareholders have claimed the dividend and have got it. and some unfortunately have not got the dividend, and the company goes into liquidation, may I know whether the shareholders have to prove their claim in the liquidation proceedings?

Shri K. T. Chandy: It is a question of law. I want notice. We have not come here with complete knowledge about some 650 sections.

Shri Iyer: I am not putting it in that sense. I am asking whether it is not better in the interests of the shareholders that the money is earmarked and kept separate so that some of those unfortunate shareholders who have not claimed it before the company goes plut may not be deprived of their dividend. That is what I am aiming at.

Shri K. T. Chandy: In every company you will find that there are some shareholders who are somewhat lazy in collecting the money. They misplace their dividend warrants. If you look into the accounts of many companies you will find that there is a carry-over of unpaid dividends. More so is the situation in connection with the blank transfers. Because of the system of blank transfers of shares on the stock exchange, the dividend is not claimed till one is ready to come on the shareholder the register. Why

chooses to wait for two or three years is more than I know. They do wait.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Why should he be put to the risk? If that money is kept separate he can claim it at any time because it is his money.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Is it suggested that merely because that a company opens an account called the dividend account, that money becomes immediately part of the money of the shareholdres?

Shri Easwara Iyer: I should think so.

Shri K. T. Chandy: I do not think so.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Let us not argue. At page 13, against clause 54, you have said that the use of the word 'Promptly' is not very happy. That word 'Promptly' may relate to the time-limit. Do you suggest a time-limit of 14 or 21 days?

Shri K. T. Chandy: Let us not quarrel about that. As soon as certain things are got . . . .

Shri Easwara Iyer: Do you suggest any time-limit?

Shri K. T. Chandy: I am quite prepared to say "two days", for myself. But I do not know what others would say. In many cases it is ten to 14 days because it depends upon whether all the directors can quickly reassemble to see whether the minutes are correctly drafted. It is not the fault of the draftsman.

Shri Easwara Iyer: I quite follow. Another thing is, clause 103 which has been a controversy regarding the contribution to political parties. You said that there have been precedents in England also-I am not aware of that but I am accepting that-where some company might feel that contribution to a political party necessary for their future existence or other-I could follow that, but can wise these board of directors contribute monies to any political party in which some of the shareholders at least have a different political conviction.

and will it not be embarrassing, and therefore, do you suggest that such contribution to poltical parties should be done away with?

Shri K. T. Chandy: In this country we have different political points or view, and I dare say that shareholders will represent as many political points of view as there are in the country.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Under section 293, except with the consent of the shareholders, the board of directors can go to the limit of Rs. 25,000. The board of directors may side one political party, but some of the shareholders may have a different political convictor or indifferent to politics. So do you not think that we should do away with contribution to political parties?

Shri K. T. Chandy: We cannot do away with poltical parties nor can we do away with their affiliation!

Shri Easwara Iyer: I mean contribution by companies

Chairman: Shri Leuva.

Shri P. T. Leuva: Let us turn to page 4 of your memorandum. It relates to the question of registering the alteration of the memorandum 75 articles of association. I would like to have an explanation from vou regarding the practical difficulties that might be experienced. You see that under this clause, if the memorandum is to be altered it requires the sanction of the court. Then comes the next question with regard to the registration of the document. If the document is not registered, within the stipulated time, the effect is that the alteration becomes null and void. I would like to have your views on this point.

Shri K. T. Chandy: May I say that we are in the wrong in our appreciation of the law as set out in that paragraph? First of all we are in the wrong. These things are **done** in great hurry, and we can only apologise on that ground. It it quite clear, as the law stands today and as it is proposed, that the Registrar does not set himself up as a quasi-judicial authority in any way, for considering or reconsidering the decision of the court. That is quite clear. It is said that he "shall" register. In other words, it is imperative that he shall register. Therefore, our appreciation of the law as set out in this memorandum is wrong.

What is said is this. While he shall register within a period of one month of lodging and while three months are given to the party to lodge the certified copy of the court's order and while power is given to the court to extend the period during which that should be lodged, if a party fails to do this, then all the proceedings shall be treated as null and void. It is also provided that the party can then go back to the court and make its case like a case in an ex parte matter and get the matter revived. I agree with all these proposals. May I therefore withdraw that para?

Shri P. T. Leuva: If the alteration is not registered by the registrar within the stipulated time, is there any penalty provided? The negligence is on the part of the registrar, but somebody else is being punished. Nobody has raised it so far.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Having cast upon the registrar an imperative obligation to register what the court has decided within a certain period, if he fails to do so, what happens? Under the present law, it would appear that all the proceedings would be null and void and the company would have to incur the expenditure of going to the court and getting it revived. My suggestion is that on the very day it is lodged, it shall be treated as having been registered.

**Shri P. T. Leuva:** Please turn to page 16 of your memorandum relating to clause 64 dealing with sections 203 and 204. A member of a company is not entitled to inspect the books of accounts. So, a member is not in a position to know whether the working of the company is in the interest of the shareholders or not. He has not got the material to form any judgment about it. So, what is the objection if the registrar is empowered to inspect the books of accounts in order to protect the interests of the shareholders? Yesterday we had a plethora of vouchers produced before us which showed how the affairs of companies are being mismanaged and the shareholders have no source of information.

Shri K. T. Chandy: I am afraid I have no means of satisfying you as to what can be done to prevent mis-We have to find management. 9 between preventing misbalance management and allowing good management to continue without unnecessary difficulties. You can have legislation based on the good, but may I suggest that you cannot have legislation based entirely on the bad? It is a question of finding a balance between the two.

Of course it is true that the shareholders have not got much power to intervene in the affairs of the company between two annual general meetings unless they requisition я special meeting. But the real custodians of their interests are the auditors. The study of accounts is not just anybody's business. There are many directors who have to have their hand held by their accountants and auditors even to go through annual accounts with which they To say ought to be familiar. that merely because we confer authority on somebody, he can immediately go and break apart a conspiracy which may be going on there is to my mind a rather romantic idea. It can only be done by qualified competent accountants.

**Shri D. L. Masumdar:** Would you object if the registrar is a qualified chartered accountant?

Shri K. T. Chandy: If you feel that the accounts of a company should be studied, let it be studied by professional men who are guided by their own charter and who have their own nomenclature and concepts.

Shri Shankaraiya: Instead of himself doing it, he can authorise a competent auditor to do it.

Shri K. T. Chandy: That is my point.

**Shri P. T. Leuva:** The power is already there for inspection. But at the moment the members of the company have no right to inspect books of accounts. Only a director has that right. If this power is given to the registrar to inspect books of accounts during office hours, is he not being placed on a higher footing than a director.

Shri K. T. Chandy: How does the registrar satisfy himself that there is a cast for it? How does he start thinking about it?

**Chairman:** He does not audit: he only asks for information.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Otherwise you say that on an average the registrar should check 5 per cent of companies. You make it a standard random sample checking.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: It is not a standard function. In a particular case the registrar may have good reasons to think that he must have some further information. It may be a college, a co-director who has informed the registrar about something. The registrar need not disclose the source of the information. In such a case, can he not ask for permission to look into the books?

Shri K. T. Chandy: I think it is a very unsatisfactory statement. Surely the registrar can say why he wants to study the accounts. He need not disclose the source of his information, but he can say why he wants the information.

Shri P. T. Leuva: Please turn to page 20 of your memorandum dealing with clause 76. Under section 234 as it is going to be amended now, the registrar will have power to ask for the production of books of accounts. documents and other things, in case the explanation is insufficient. If the company refuses to produce the books of accounts, etc., why should we prevent the registrar from taking action by going to a court of law? Why should you prevent him from asking the company to produce books of accounts, etc?

Shri K. T. Chandy: If the court directs, after having heard the registrar and the company that there is a case of bringing XYZ documents to the notice of the registrar, there should be no objection.

Shri P. T. Leuva: That means the court has to give decision whether the explanation was sufficient or not.

Shri K. T. Chandy: A prima facie case is to be made out that there is a case for scrutiny.

Shri P. T. Leuva: That means the registrar has to prove that the information or the explanation given was inadequate. How could that be, unless he has seen the books of accounts?

**Shri K. T. Chandy:** First of all, where is the case for asking for the books of accounts unless a *prima* facie case is made for conferring a special right on him?

Shri P. T. Leuva: So you will prefer that the registrar should make an affidavit in the court that the documents are going to be destroyed or tampered with, even though he may not have that feeling. He must make a false and dishonest affidavit and you will be satisfied with that affidavit. In one breath you say that you would not like to increase the farce, on the other hand you will prefer that instead of satisfying the registrar only, you also want the court to be satisfied. You want to have two proceedings.

Shri K. T. Chandy: We must recognise the reality and in this context we suggest that the best method of creating confidence between the parties is to have the intervention of the court, so that a *prima facie* case is made out.

Shri P. T. Leuva: Your argument is based on apprehension.

Page 26, clause 138, It appears to me that there is either a mistake or it is an oversight. On page 27, you are referring to paid up capital, while the clause refers to subscribed capital. I think, you do distinguish between the subscribed capital and the paid up capital.

Shri K. T. Chandy: We do know the distinction. It is a mistake, Sir.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: As regards clause 15, I take it that, excepting nomenclature, you have no objection in calling the public or private company provided facilities are afforded to them. To that extent, you seem to agree with regard to the contents of the present amended section. Am I right?

Shri K. T. Chandy: Yes. Our sug gestion is this, that instead of reclassifying them as a new type of company, you leave them in the present classification, but withdraw whatever privileges you think should no longer be given to them. As regards nomenclature, I would suggest that the matter may be left in the hands of the Draftsman who is quite competent, provided in principle this is agreed as a suggestion.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: Clause 64. You seem to create some distinction between sections 209 and 234. Sec. tions 209 and 234 are two distinct clauses, one deals with the books of accounts and the other deals with the documents required by the registrar to be submitted to him. You say, the safeguard provided in section 234 is taken away or nullified by section 209. We are not able to understand this, unless you throw some more light on this.

Shri K. T. Chandy: May I ask Mr. Mazumdar himself, whether the documents do not include books of accounts.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Of course, they do.

**Shri N. R. Munisamy:** If you say, documents and books of accounts are synonymous, then absolutely there is no objection to your statement. Even a scrap of paper can be called a document.

**Chairman:** 'Document' is a much wider term.

Shri N. R. Munisamy: These two

sections cannot be clubbed together. Books of accounts is a separate thing. Supposing you have entered into a particular transaction with a selling agent or a managing agent. Could that find a place in the books of accounts? These are two different and distinct sections and they cannot be clubbed together. Kindly throw some more light on this.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Mr. Chairman, I am afraid I will be confused too. I want a little more time to consider this point.

Shri Morarka: I want one clarification about those private companies. Even if we were to accept the suggestion given by the witness, I would like to know, in actual practice by taking an example, how that would obviate the working difficulties? Take for example, there is a private company 'A' and today 25 per cent of those shares in the private company are held by other body corporates. The witness has suggested that instead of calling it a public company. treat it as a private compnay but withdraw all the facilities and amenities which were given to the private compnay. Now, the difficulty is that today in that company 25 per cent shares are held by body corporates but after about three months suppose one of the body corporates transfer some shares to the other company and the holding falls below 25 per. cent. Then, at the end of the year, would this company still be subject to the provisions of the public company or would it revert to the original position of a private company? T want to know what would be the actual modus operandi.

Shri K. T. Chandy: You can only transfer the problem from one end to the other because the very criterion that you have built up, namely, 25 per cent shareholding of another body corporation, is inherent in the situation. All that I am saying is that if there is a certain amount of fluctuation, why bring it in the field of classification of public company and private company?

Shri Morarka: The suggestion made is not still free from difficulties as long as you follow the definition of 25 per cent or 30 per cent, whatever it may be. Difficulties are bound to arise.

Shri K. T. Chandy: Quite right, difficulties are bound to arise. But difficulties are involved in what you say also because it involves changing the memorandum and articles of association etc.

Shri Morarka: The recommendation of the Sastri Committee was that if public funds are involved in any private company to a considerable extent, then that compnay becomes a public company.

Shri K. T. Chandy: That is already there in the case of those companies which are subsidiaries of public companies. If the shares of one company are held by a body corporate, even then that body corporate may be only a private company; nevertheless this company shall no longer have certain privileges.

Shri Morarka: Sastri Committee's criteria was that there should be public funds and those public funds should be employed to a considerable extent. If you apply that criterion and if you want to legislate on that basis, then the present amendment which you are suggesting would not meet with the requirements of Sastri Committee's recommendation.

Shri K. T. Chandy: By being a private company which is at the same exemptions that are allowed today? I shall read them out.

1. Prohibition of allotment in certain cases before registration of the statement in lieu of prospectus with the Registrar.

2. Provision for further issue of subscribed capital of the company by the issue of new shares.

3. Restrictions on commencement of business.

4. Provisions relating to statutory meeting and statutory report of the company.

5. Provisions under section 219 regarding the right of a member to copies of balance-sheet and profit and loss account and auditor's report.

This is being taken away.

6. In the case of a private company three copies of the balance sheet together with the auditor's report in so far as it relates to the balance-sheet only need be filed with the Registrar.

These are extremely insignificant provisions. These are the only benefits that accrue to a private company which is a subsidiary of a public Company. By taking away these....

**Chairman:** You want the restrictions to be removed. Shri K. T. Chandy: Yes. I am only submitting this as my personal view.

Shri Morarka: In all these Government corporations there are huge public funds involved and employed. Do you still agree that even after the amendment suggested in clause 15 to section 43-A, these Government companies should continue to be private companies?

Shri K. T. Chandy: I thought that this matter is receiving special attention.

Shri Morarka: That is on our part I am talking only of the present amendment.

Shri K. T. Chandy: They will be private companies because they are not subsidiaries of any companies.

Shri Morarka: So, they are private companies?

Shri K. T. Chandy: Yes.

**Shri Morarka:** They will still continue to be private companies even though huge public funds are employed by them?

Shri K. T. Chandy: Are you suggesting to me that I should endorse the view that they should be treated as public companies? That is a matter for the Government.

Shri Morarka: I am asking for your views.

**Shri K. T. Chandy:** I agree with you that the accounts of all the Government companies should be made available to all persons,

Chairman: Thank you.

**Shri K. T. Chandy:** Thank you. On some points we might not have been very clear.

(The witnesses then withdrew.)

II. Bengal National Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Calcutta.

Spokesmen:

1. Shri D. N. Bhattacharjee.

2. Shri S. R. Biswas.

(Witnesses were called in and they took their seats).

**Chairman:** Your memorandum has been read by the members of the Committee. If you want to add to what is stated in the memorandum or if you want to clarify any point contained in the memorandum, you can do so.

Shri D. N. Bhattacharjee: All that we have to say is contained in our memorandum.

**Chairman:** If you have nothing to clarify or elucidate further, I will now ask the members to put questions to you.

Shri D. N. Bhattacharjee: We have already explained everything in our memorandum. We have nothing further to add.

**Chairman:** If you want to emphasise on any point for the Committee to consider you can do so.

Shri D. N. Bhattacharjee: We want to emphasise only one point regarding body corporates under now section 43-A—page 4 of our memorandum.

Shri Biswas: Page 4 of our original memorandum and page 1 of our supplementary memorandum.

Shri D. N. Bhattacharjee: Here if more than 25 per cent. of shares is owned by a public company or a body corporate, that will be treated as a company by itself. My Chamber feels that a body corporate should be treated as a company itself instead of being a body corporate. If one private company holds the entire shares of another private company holds the entire shares of another private company, then the latter should be exempted from being a public company. The point is this that there should be at least seven share-holders in a public company and when a private company becomes a public company under section 43A, it may not have so many shareholders.

Shri S. R. Biswas: In this Clause 15, sub-section 6 says:

Nothing in this section shall apply to a private company of which the entire paid-up share capital is held by another private company or by one or more bodies corporate incorporated outside India.

Our point is that suppose, if one private company with paid-up capital of one crore of rupees holds the entire share capital of another private company. that second private company is not being considered as a public company, under this section; but if, on the other hand there are two or three small private companies having paid up capital of one lakh or 5 lakhs of rupees and if they together form one private company, and if together they hold more than 25 per cent of shares of another private company, that latter company is being treated as a public company. To us it seems to be incongruous. We feel that this will deter the formation of capital for particularly in the smaller sector of business, we want two or three small private companies should help in the formation of another company. Under this Bill you are preventing that. On the other hand you are not preventing a big, private company with capital of one crore of rupees or 50 lakhs of rupees to form another private company. We feel that there is some inconsistency between the two.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: There is no prohibition to form companies.

Shri S. R. Biswas: Subject to all the limitations and all restrictions of public company we can do. But every private company is not subject to all these limitations. The idea is that no substantial portion of public money should be invested in private company. If that is the idea, then this exception seems to be inconsistent to us.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Suppose the words "by another private company or" are omitted, will you be satisfied?

Shri S. R. Biswas: That objection is met. But there is the fundamental objection *i.e.* it prevents formation of small companies: The policy of Government is to encourage small units. It is not always possible for small units to acquire adequate capital. If there are two or three small private companies, they might try to form another private company by pooling their resources. Now they are prevented from doing this. There is another point. There appears to be some inconsistency between the new section 43A and the existing section 45 of the Companies Act. Under the section 45, if any private company has at any one time less than two shareholders, and if any public company has at any one time less than 7 shareholders and if that continues for more than six months, in that case individual shareholders of the new company, individually become liable for all the debts of the company. On the other hand, if a private company, becomes a public company by virtue of section 43A it may attract the provisions of Section 45 when the total number of shareholders is less than 7. This is another point which we would like to emphasise.

Shri Easwara Iyer: What about exemption being given to foreign companies?

**Shri S. R. Biswas:** We have already mentioned that this is also an inconsistency. Why should we exempt these foreign companies from the provisions of this Act, while we do not exempt the indigenous companies?

**Chairman:** You have mentioned that in your memorandum.

Shri S. R. Biswas: There is another point.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: About Dividend?

Shri S. R. Biswas: Is it open to us to make any suggestions?

**Chairman:** Unless it is germane to the amending Bill, you cannot make any suggestion.

Shri S. R. Biswas: There is one small point about the definition of Branch Office.

**Chairman:** Auditing of Branch Office?

Shri S. R. Biswas: No, about definition itself. In the new definition you say that processing is also one of the functions but we have mentioned in our memorandum that under the Drugs Control Act processing means simply bottling and packing. This is what we want to impress on you. That is not ordinarily processing.

Shri J. S. Bisht: On page 7—Clause 60—you have suggested something about maximum managerial remuneration. What is the difficulty there?

Shri S. R. Biswas: We feel that in the remuneration which may otherwise be paid to a Director for technical services or legal services, there will be some difficulty in giving any such remuneration to that Director if these words "save as" etc. are committed. Till now this saving clause was there. That protected the payment of remuneration to the technical Directors; but if you omit those words, then there may be some difficulty about it.

**Shri Nityanand Kanungo: That** point has been made by other Chambers also.

Shri J. S. Bisht: Now the Directors can be paid monthly salaries. That is being deleted. Have you got anything to say about that? Only sitting fees can be given.

Shri S. R. Biswas: We are not saying anything on that.

Chairman: Thank you.

(The Witnesses then withdrew.)

## III. The Institute of Charatered Accounts of India, New Delhi.

## Spokesmen

1. Shri C. C. Chokshi.

2. Shri J. S. Lodha.

3. Shri E. V. Srinivasan.

(Witnesses were called in and they took their seats).

**Chairman:** The Members of the Committee have gone through your memorandum. Before we put you questions would you like to emphasise certain points in your memorandum or clarify further any points?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: At the outset I would like to express the gratefulness of my Council and myself for the opportunity that you have been good enough to give us to appear before you and to explain our views on this important piece of legislation. We have in our memorandum confined ourselves mainly to the provisions affecting accounts and such provisions as are likely to affect our profession. However, if you want our views on any question of interest we shall be pleased to answer such questions to the best of our capacity in the light of the experience we have gained in the working of the Act.

There is one point on which I would like to make a submission. In our memorandum (pages 13 to 25) we have dealt with the form of the balance sheet and the profit and loss accounts, that is Schedule VI of the Act. These observations of ours may be considered to be of a technical nature and my respectful suggestion is that if you permit we may discuss this and explain our point of view to the Company Law Administration.

Chairman: All the points made here will be before the Joint Committee, before Parliament and the Company Law Administration will look into it. If you want to clarify some of the points from your experience you may do so.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: The impression that one gets from the provisions of the Companies Act, or the amendment bill, is that the intention of Parliament is to see that there is a complete disclosure of the transactions carried on by a company. On that point I want to make a small suggestion. From the little knowledge I have got of other countries. I found that Germany has got a very good system, namely, they have got a Companies Act in which instead of making the balance sheet and the profit and loss accounts cumbersome full of all these details, they call upon the management to give complete information in the form of a report. Under their form of management there is a Supervisory Board and an Executive Board. The Supervisory Board only meets four times in a year. but the Executive Board meets almost every week. This Executive Board has to make out a very detailed report of the company's business activities financial transactions, etc.

## Chairman: At the annual meeting?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Yes. I had some balance sheets with me, but I left them behind in Bombay. This Executive Board gives the report on important items as production—what was the production this year, how it differed from the previous year's production, what was the turn-over this year, how it differed from the turn-over of the previous year, the different aspects of production, how the company's sales are distributed, either in the country or outside it in the export market, if the company has acquired new assets. how the company's new assets were acquired, whether from internal resources or external resources, if it was acquired from external resources whether from borrowed money or from fresh issues, what was the method of obtaining borrowed money and a number of other items relating to finance, relating to production, what are the schemes of development and what they wish to do in the subsequent two or three years, etc., etc.

**Chairman:** This is a statutory obligation?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I was told so by their auditors.

Shri Easwara Iyer: Is he referring to any particular enactment in any particular country?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Yes, in West Germany. I would make a submission that we might take advantage of this provision and introduce it in our Companies Act, so that the report before the shareholders is more colourful and gives sufficient information in a narrative form. What I am trying to point out to the Committee is that instead of giving complete details in the form of a balance sheet.

Chairman: Dry figures.

Shri C. C. Chokshi:.....instead of that, if it is in a narrative form it would be easily understandable to a layman.

**Shri Easwara Iy**er: Sir, can the witness make available to us any such sample balance sheet?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Yes, I have got two copies of such balance sheets in English.

Chairman: He may send it.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Yes. Sir. I will send it to Mr. Mazumdar. As I said. this would be more easily understandable, and only the information in the form of statements which has to be given is to be checked by the auditor. The narrative part he is not concerned with, what is the development policy and production policy, etc. This makes the balance sheet a very simple affairs; if I may put it this way, it is only a one-page document, and at a glance you can see the assets and liabilities. The details are given in the form of a narration. I submit that such a procedure, if it is adopted, would be helpful to the layman and the general body of shareholders. This is the only point I wanted to place before the Committee.

Shri Kanungo: With regard to this report which you said is prevalent in Germany, am I correct in understanding you to say that the obligation and the responsibility for the report is on the Executive Committee and not on the auditors?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: It is on the Executive Committee, but the full report is available to the general body of the shareholders.

Shri Kanungo: But the obligation of reporting is on the management, is it not?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Yes, on the executive.

**Chairman:** And he says the auditors also can look into and certify the statement.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: They have to look into the statement. If any figures are given from the accounts of the company, then they will have to see that these figures have been given correctly and that wrong figures have not been given.

Shri J. S. Bisht: You say with regard to clause 15 that if a private company invests money in another private company, that other private company should not automatically become a public company. You say that the funds employed must be public money. So, would you like to enlarge the scope of this, because the proposed section lays down that it must be not less than 25 per cent? What is the percentage that you would put down so as to bring it within the purview of this section?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: If funds of a public company to the extent of 25 per cent and over are invested in a private company, then that private company may be turned into a public company. If the scope is to be enlarged, say, to the extent of 50 per cent, already a provision does exist in the present Companies Act which makes that private company as good as a public company; so no useful purpose would be served by this new suggestion or new provision. The idea of the new provision appears to be that even if the investment of the public company is less than 50 per cent but if it exceeds 25 per cent, then that private company in which such funds are invested should become a public company.

Shri J. S. Bisht: The reason is that many companies have tried to convert themselves as private companies. To prevent that this new check is designed. But it has been suggested to this Committee that instead of 25 per cent it should be 33 1/3 per cent. What is your reaction to that proposal?

**Shri C. C. Chokshi:** I personally do not see much difference between 25 per cent and 33 1/3 per cent. I would rather keep the 25 per cent that has been suggested in the Bill itself.

Shri J. S. Bisht: Sir, they have not covered clause 138 in their memorandum, but may I ask him something on that clause?

**Chairman:** Yes, if you want to know the opinion of the auditors on that matter, you can certainly ask.

**Shri J. S. Bisht:** Will you please see clause 138 of the Bill which substitutes a new section for section 372. It limits the power of the board of directors of the investing company to 10 per cent of the subscribed capital of the other body corporate and, secondly, to 30 per cent of the subscribed capital of the investing company. Do you think it is a reasonable check?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: In the present context of things it appears to be too strict a provision, because the intention here appears to be to restrict investments of public companies into other companies. irrespective of whether they are under the same management or not. The old section 372 was designed to restrict the investments of one company into another company under the same management. And that was understandable. But when the restriction is placed on the investments in another company whether

under the same management or not, that appears to be too strict a provision, for this reason that at present, when we are about to industrialise our country, we want industries to develop. The only persons who can develop these industries are the companies. Capital formation in recent years has only taken place in the case of companies. Therefore, companies should be allowed to invest their funds in other companies without such very strict restrictions.

Shri J. S. Bisht: Would you like to have no restrictions at all, or would you raise these limits, 10 per cent and 30 per cent?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: With regard to the 10 per cent limit, if the general rule is not accepted that restriction should only be placed in respect of investments in the same managed group or under the same management, and if the intention is to place a restriction on companies which are trying to acquire controlling interests in other companies, then the percentage should be raised to 50 per cent, so that there may not be an attempt to invest in other companies with a view to have a controlling interest. If the intention is to have a controlling interest, such an investment should pass through the scrutiny of the Government.

Shri J. S. Bisht: It has been suggested to this Committee that if this 10 per cent is to be maintained as 10 per cent. it should be of the share capital, subscribed capital plus the reserves. What do you say to that? It is said that there are many old companies formed seventy or eighty years ago with very small share capital, fifty or thirty lakhs, but whose reserves are crores. And if this limitation is put down, then ten per cent of those thirty lakhs would be only three lakhs: whereas, if the reserves are added, it would be a substantial sum.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: In other words, the suggestion before you is that some relaxation should be made, and that is also the point that I was trying to make out. I was trying to correlate it to the paid-up capital, because if the investment in the other company exceeds 50 per cent, then it would be controlled by the investing company, which should require or necessitate a scrutiny by the Government.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: If it is fifty per cent or more, it becomes a subsidiary. That is exempted today. What we are referring to here is only investments within 30 and 50 per cent. If it is less than 30 per cent, it is free; it is left to the board of directors. If it is 50 or more, it is exempted. So, the only range which requires prior approval is between 30 and 50 per cent.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: It is 10 per cent in the other company.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: That is another aspect. That is the case of an individual company. There are two aspects of it. I am now talking about one aspect.

**Shri C. C. Chokshi:** The question which was put to me was about the 10 per cent, whether it should exceed 10 per cent or not.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: I thought you were talking of the investing companies.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I was only on the first part. The holding in the company in which the investment is made should not be restricted to 10 per cent but may be permitted to go higher.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: • That is a different point.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: But if it goes beyond 50 per cent, then you may control it, although it is exempted. I feel that it should be controlled, because in that case.....

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Then it becomes a subsidiary. Shri C. C. Chokshi: It becomes a subsidiary, but that is what Government should see, namely, whether the subsidiary which is taken over is taken over with good intentions or with bad intentions.

Chairman: You want that it should be controlled.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: If it exceeds 50 per cent.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: After the mischief has been done?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: It cannot be done.

Chairman: It is really a post mortem remedy.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Better late than never.

Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi: A page 5 of your memorandum, under clause 62, you have stated:

"It should be remembered that the depreciation charge in the case of these companies would also be very heavy. It is, therefore, suggested that some concession should be extended to new enterprises."

What concessions should the new enterprises have?

**Chairman:** You are suggesting concessions with regard to payment of dividends only and nothing else?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Only with regard to that, and nothing else. This suggestion has been made with reference to the payment of dividends. This is with respect to section 205. It says that dividends should not be declared or paid by a company unless full provision for depreciation of the current year as well as full provision of depreciation for arrears been made. A relaxation in has this regard may be called for in cases where a company or an industry has been newly started or where an industry has undertaken a considerable amount of expansion or development programme, as, for example, the Tata Iron and Steel Co. Ltd., which is going to have a large expansion programme and spend about a few crores of rupees. The depreciation to which they will be entitled will come to such a large sum that if this provision remains on record, the company will not be able to declare dividends for quite a number of years, with the result that the small shareholders who hold the shares and who look forward to get a small dividend from the company will not be able to get any dividends.

Therefore, the practical suggestion which I would make, and which I understand has been made by others is that such companies may be permitted to declare a dividend to the extent of 6 per cent of its paid-up capital for a particular number of years, say, a period of five years from the date on which they have started development, and within five years if they are not able to make sufficient profits to cover up the depreciation, then this restriction should apply.

Shri Ajit Singh Sarhadi: You suggest that for the first five years, 6 per cent must be dividend, whether there are profits or not?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Yes, that is the suggestion.

**Shri Bisht:** What about the provision in section 208 regarding the payment of four per cent interest?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: That is only restricted to the period of construction. I am not on the period of construction. During the period of construction, interest at the rate of 4 per cent is permitted, but after the factory has been constructed, and it goes into production, the factory takes about five years to go into full production; so, for that period of five years, after construction, and after starting the full production, the company should be permitted to declare dividends to the extent of 6 per cent out of the profits, but without providing depreciation, not if the company has made a trading loss.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: That is in regard to new companies.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: New companies or companies which have launched a development scheme on a large scale, or on a sufficiently large scale.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Supposing that before the expansion programme was started, the company was declaring dividends up to 8 or 10 per cent, do you think that the dividends should be brought down to 6 per cent after the development starts?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: It has to be so; to be consistent with the development, it has to be restricted.

Shri Morarka: Or issue new shares without premium.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: That position will apply to everybody, those who took the new shares and also to those who did not take new shares.

Shri Tangamani: After the development starts, would you like any ceiling on the dividends? You said that in the first five years, profit or no profit, the dividend should be 6 per cent. on the paid-up capital. Would you like that ceiling to continue for more than five years?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: So long as the company is not able to provide for depreciation, that ceiling should continue, but not thereafter, because thereafter it is a question of policy whether larger dividends should be permitted in the private sector or not; and I do not think I am competent to reply on that matter of policy.

Shri Tangamani: You have no objection to section 2(9) being amended by clause 2 (d) redrafting the definition of branch offices? And you want that in the same way the head office must be also defined. So, you have no objection to the present definition of branch office.

## Shri C. C. Chokshi: No.

Shri Tangamani: In regard to clause 15. you have stated rightly that where a company, that is, a private company, employs public money to an appreciable extent, it should be subject to the same restrictions and limitations as apply to public companies. That is the view of the Company Law Amendment Commitee, and you fully agree with that. Is it your view that if a private company is dealing with public money to any appreciable extent, then the same control which is exercised on a public company should be exercised over that private company?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Yes, but as I have pointed out in my memorandum, if one private company holds shares in another private company, even to the extent of 25 per cent, it cannot be said that that 25 per cent. holding is public funds. Therefore, the holding of 25 per cent. by the private company should not make the held company the company whose shares are held, a public company.

Shri Tangamani: It is not a question of 25 per cent. to 30 per cent. When we are able to show that a private company is using public money, then, the same control should be exercised. Do you agree with that?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I do not understand how a private company can use public money except by borrowing or by taking loans. Therefore, the persons who give loans or from whom the moneys are borrowed would ordinarily be competent persons, persons who are competent enough to understand the business activities of the private company. The intention in making this provision is to safeguard public funds, funds of people who are not competent to understand these financial complications. Therefore. mv suggestion has been to restrict it to the investments by public companies, where the funds are of private persons who are not so very well-versed with financial transactions or business.

Shri Tangamani: Supposing the private company is getting alone from the Government of India, for example. Would you consider that as public fund?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: It is a borrowing which stands on a different footing.

Shri Mazumdar: Supposing Government invests as share capital? There is no question of Government's incompetency to understand.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: If the Government intentionally invests in a private company and takes risks, then, it will be careful enough to see that the management of the private company does not fritter away its finances.

Shri Morarka: Are they not public funds?

**Shri C. C. Chokshi:** I do not say they are not public funds; they will look after public funds.

**Shri Kanunge:** By implication it means that Government should invest only in public companies.

Shri Tangamani: Please refer to page 5 of your memorandum. Von think that the powers of inspection of documents which is now conferred on the Registrar by clause 76 is justified. When that is justified, why do you oppose this clause 64(b)? You made it clear that the intention of Parliament is complete disclosure of accounts. How can you have objection to the disclosure of accounts to the Registrar?

Shrt C. C. Chokshi: I have not opposed the provision. I have only suggested some sort of restriction or control over those powers. If you kindly permit me to read what I have said, it is this:

"It should, therefore, be provided that the Registrar must have some very good reason before he can demand inspection. Sufficient powers have been provided for by the amended section 234(3A)."

What I have suggested is that the Registrar should exercise his power subject to the sanction of a senior officer just as it is being done in the case of the income-tax authorities. The Income-tax Officer can call for or impound books subject to the sanction of the Commissioner of Incometax who is a very senior officer. In the same way. I am in favour of giving that power to the Registrar; but such power should be subject to the approval of a higher authority like the Company Law Administration or the Regional Director of some such authority.

Shri Tangamani: Please refer to page 11 of your memorandum relating to clause 135. You say that it is not clear as to what is meant by 'indirectly' and that it should be deleted. You agree that loans are possible by indirect means also. What will be the concrete way in which you will put the amendment?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: On principle. I am in agreement with the proposal. But the word 'indirectly' has not been defined in the Act and it is capable of various interpretations which may put a person, like the chartered accountant who audits the accounts of the company, in a very peculiar position. For example, if a managing agent has been able to arrange with a bank or somebody to deposit the company's funds in the bank on an oral understanding that the bank should give a loan to him or to anybody connected with him, his associate or a company under his management, it would be indirect means of obtaining a loan. It would be beyond the possibility of check by a chartered accountant. That is why our suggestion has been that the word 'indirectly' may be defined if it is capable of any definition. Otherwise, it is likely to create practical difficulties.

**Chairman:** Is it capable of any definition? Such phrases always occur in every statute.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: That is a phrase which businessmen understand thoroughly and which lawyers cannot define.

Shri Tangamani: My last question is about branch audit. You say that you have no objection to the branch audit as contemplated by the new amendment.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: We have no objection whatsoever to the branch accounts being audited by a chartered accountant appointed either by the company or by the management in consultation with the statutory auditor of the company—if it is by the management—and by the company in a general meeting, when it is not necessary to consult the statutory auditor.

Shri Leuva: Regarding depreciation. Mr. Chokshi made a suggestion that so far as new undertaking are concerned or where there is substantial expansion, the dividend should be limited to 6 per cent; and. after 5 vears, if the company does not provide for complete depreciation. the company should not be allowed to declare any dividend. Is the arrears of depreciation he refers to to be calculated on the basis of the Incometax Act or on the basis of the opinion of the chartered accountant-that the depreciation is adequate?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: There are two aspects of the matter. Depreciation in order to show the true and fair view of the company's state of affairs is an entirely different thing. It is not provided for in the Act at all. That is left to the discretion of the chartered accountant in consultation with the management. The chartered accountant can if he so chooses, insist on providing a larger depreciation than what is allowed under the Income-tax law. There is no prohibition. What the amending Bill says is that they have prescribed a formula in order to find out whether adequate or proper depreciation has been made. It is that,

873 LS-17.

in any case, provision for deprecis tion at the income-tax rate should bmade before dividends are declared.

Both these things are entirely different. But I very much welcome the suggestion in the Bill that this much of depreciation should be provided for out of the funds of the company before the dividends are declared.

**Chairman:** What is your experience: are the views of the chartered accountant paid heed to by the companies in the matter of depreciation?

**Shri C.** C. Chokshi: My personal experience has been that good managements always accept the advice of the chartered accountant.

**Chairman:** If they do not accept, do you make any mention in your report?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: That is always done in the report—that no provision for depreciation has been made. After 1956, the new Act makes it obligatory on the part of the chartered accountant to see that depreciation is provided before dividend is declared.

Shri Leuva: A point was raised by several associations that if the formula which has now been laid down in the amending Bill is accepted, it would be very difficult for the new concerns and other concerns with substantial expansion programmes. They say that it is difficult if depreciation is to be provided for on the scale prescribed under the Indian Income-Tax Act. That is the reason why I was asking you whether the six per cent. dividend limit would be acceptable to you. Do you think that, the depreciation has to be calculated on the basis of the report of the chartered accountant whether the depreciation provided is adequate or not, or you will permit the declaration of the dividend if the depreciation is provided for under the Indian Income-tax Act.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: In view of the statutory obligation in this regard,

255

the duties of the auditor will become very simple. He will go by the statutory provision rather than his own opinion. In so far as the declaration of dividend is concerned, if he is of the opinion that a large depreciation was necessary, it would be his duty to point that out to the shareholders.

Shri Kanungo: If the accountant feels that a lower depreciation would be enough, he will be debarred by the present provision from saying so?

## Shri C. C. Chokshi: Yes, Sir.

Shri Leava: May I take it that the depreciation prescribed under the Income-tax Act is insufficient in your opinion?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: It is quite adequate in most of the cases. If I may say so, the taxing authorities also take into account the various aspects for providing depreciation which normally a chartered accountant would take. Only up to the year, 1957, larger depreciations were permited in order to encourage the development of industries etc. but from the beginning of 1958, this additional depreciation provision has been scrapped and only depreciation which would be considered fair and reasonable is allowed in income-tax. If that is to be permitted. I do not think that there will be much difference of opinion between the auditor and the provisions made The states here.

**Shri Leava:** In your opinion, if the depreciation is provided according to the income-tax Act, there should not be any difficulty for these companies?

Chokshi: Normally Shri C. C. speaking, it should not be difficult. But unfortunately. the income tax Act does not make a provision for depreciation of certain assets. For instance, in the case of mines' and leaseholds, there is no provision for depreciation in the Income-tax Act and therefore the auditor will step in and say that depreciation must be Drovided. Except in cases where the income-tax Act does not provide for depreciation, there should be no difference of opinion normally.

Shri Leuva: Here a point was made that the scale prescribed under the Income-Tax Act would be of such a nature that the companies would not be able to declare dividends. You have stated that according to that scale it is insufficient to cover the depreciation charges.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I never made that suggestion. With due respect, I may say I was entirely on a different ground. The point I was making before you was that the depreciation according to the income-tax act and according to the concept of the auditor would not be different very much normally speaking because the income-tax authorities have fixed the rates of depreciation also on the same concept as the auditor would provide for or would consider reasonable. It is only in some cases that the incometax Act does not provide for depreciation at all. It may be that in some cases the income-tax Act has not made a special provision because the industry is a new industry and no representation has been made but in most of the cases the income-tax Act itself takes into account what is a fair depreciation and that is the rate of which they have made the provision in that Act.

Shri Leuva: That means that in some cases depreciation recommended. by the chartered accountant or auditor would be of a higher volume than depreciation allowed by the incometax department.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Normally speaking, yes.

Shri Leuva: I would like to put another question not referred to in your memorandum. There is provision that the retrenchment compensation should be treated as a prior charge. A question has been raised here that it is a risk which is not calculable by any person. What is your opinion regarding that? Is it not possible for any company to calculate what might be the liability of a company in case of winding up for the purpose of giving retrenchment benefit or lay off compensation?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: It may be possible to calculate it. I cannot say it is not possible. But there may be some minor difficulties. But it would generally be possible to calculate such risk.

Shri Heda: About depreciation, may I know whether the auditors or the accountants have recommended any other method of depreciation than the one provided in the incometax or do they generally, as a rule recommend, depreciation just on the income-tax rates?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Normally speakin the income-tax rate provided for proper depreciation but there are other methods. Depreciation can be provided on an instalment method. That is to say, if the life of an asset is 20 years, they provide five per cent. every year a straight line method. If that method has been followed in the past, it would not be advisable for the auditor to insist on changing it but in most of the cases it is our experience that clients follow the income-tax method, reducing balance method.

Shri Heda: You had been giving us instances where the accountants have been recommending depreciation rather more than the incometax rate. Can you give us instances where a lower depreciation rate had been recommended?

Shri C. C. Choksbi: It may be that in the case of some particular asset a higher depreciation or lower depreciation might have been provided. But in most of the cases the normal rate is what is provided.

Chairmau: Things have improved since 1956?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I do not know about the earlier years. But since 1956, we have been following the income-tax method which appears to be quite fair and reasonable.

Shri Heda: Representations have been made to us that in respect of new companies and even in respect of old companies which have a programme of substantial expansion, the income-tax rate of depreciation would be very heavy. So, they are asking for straight line depreciation. Do you think that this income-tax rate of depreciation would be heavy in the case of new companies?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: The incometax provides depreciation on what is known as a reducing balance system. I will give you an illustration. An asset is, suppose, worth Rs. 100. In the first year you provide Rs. 10 and in the second year. Rs. 9; in the third year, Rs. 8 and so on. You provide a higher depreciation in the first few years of the life of the asset and a lower depreciation in the subsequent years. That is how iŧ may have been contended that in the first few years the rate of depreciation is higher than in subsequent years. This point may be taken into account when you consider section 205 which says that you cannot declare dividends without providing depreciation.

Shri Heda: The income-tax rate of depreciation is based more or less on the resale value. If the machine is used for a year, the resale value goes very much down. They are feeling the hardship in the first few years, particularly in the case of new companies. I was asking whether a straight line method meet the exigencies or we should stick to the income-tax rate of depreciation.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I personally feel that the income-tax rates of depreciation are quite fair and reasonable subject to the concession which may be called for in the case of new industries and in the case of ir lustries which are starting new development and expansion programmes.

Shri Nathwani: I will ask first one or two elementary questions before I come to the main question. Absolute independence on the part of the auditor is of the essence of a true and complete audit of the companies' affairs. Is it not?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Yes.

**Shri Nathwani:** Therefore, every measure or provision which is calculated to promote or foster independence on the part of the auditors is welcome to you.

**Shri C. C. Chokshi:** There is one point. There is no question of the independence but the important question is whether the auditor is competent to do his duty or not rather than independence.

Shri Nathwani: I am assuming that even when competence is absolutely necessary, he should be absolutely independent in examining the accounts of a company. These are elementary things.

Shri Mazumdar: They do not doubt your competence.

**Shri Nathwani: Equally** with competence, independence on the part of the auditor is essential.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I personally have never felt that the auditor has never been independent either under the old Companies Act or under the Act of 1956. So I do not understand any need for thinking or discussing the point of independence of the auditor. The auditor has always been independent of the management. He has got to be. His own code of conduct requires him to be so. Therefore, I do not see exactly the point.

Shri Nathwani: As an abstract proposition you do not disagree that independence is absolutely necessary on the part of auditors. Shri C. C. Chokshi: What I feel is the independent nature of the auditor. He may be independent but if his nature is servile, he may be otherwise!

Shri Nathwani: Human nature being what it is, the prospect of losing a big client does consciously or even unconsciously operate on the mind of an auditor. I say, "even unconsciously". Human nature being what it is, will it not operate on his mind?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: No, Sir. When it is a question of doing his duty it is not likely to operate, because, if it does, he will be in still greater trouble: instead of losing one client he will lose his bread and butter.

Shri Nathwani: So you do not see the necessity of any further measure for improving or ensuring your independence as an auditor?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I have never found any difficulty—nor have my colleagues found any difficulty—during the last so many years of our professional career in doing our work in an independent manner. We have not found any difficulty about it and we do not see how we can get more independence.

**Shri Nathwani:** Does your organisation lay down any rule or standard for charging fees to the companies?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Yes, Sir. Our institute has from time to time considered this point, and only yesterday we had a discussion and we have laid down the scale of fees normally to be recommended by our institute.

Shri Nathwani: If you have formulated any rules, they may be made available.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: We are sending them to the Government, because Government have asked for them. If you want them I am prepared to send them.

Shri Nathwani: Do I take it that those rules are provided for prescribing the minimum fees and that they do sot limit on the maximum fees. Have you prescribed a ceiling for your fees?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: We do not fix either a minimum or a maximum ceiling. We have prescribed a recommendation to our members. That is, a standard has been prescribed.

Shri Nathwani: Standard or the normal fees. Very well. They are in any even no ceiling or maximum fees.

Now, is there any restriction on the number of audits which an auditor can carry out or other firms can carry out?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: The restrictions are there. The nature of work is there. They are there. A person has human limitations, and he cannot go beyond those human limitations. But if there are larger firms with a large number of partners, they can certainly take more work. As a matter of fact, this particular point is actively engaging the attention of our Council and we have appointed a sub-committee to go into this in order to see two things: (1) that the quality of service that we render is improved; and (2) that there is opportunity for work for all the members of the profession.

Shri Nathwani: Suppose the Government has been conferred powers to appoint in suitable and proper cases auditors of companies, your association will welcome such a measure. Is it not?

**Shri C. C. Chokshi:** Our institute cannot understand why the Government should take powers to appoint auditors in substitution of the powers which are given to the body of shareholders.

Shri Nathwani: Are you aware that there are provisions for carrying on investigation by Government under which the Government appoints some independent auditors in certain circumstances to look into the accounts? Are you aware of such cases or not? Though there were auditors of the companies, Government had to investigate into the affairs of the companies through independent auditors.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: There can be no objection to such a provision.

Shri Nathwani: Therefore, if in proper cases power has been given to the Government to appoint auditors you have no objection. Why are you afraid of accepting the proposition? I cannot understand. T

Shrj C. C. Choksbi: I am not afraid. Only, I want to make a distinction between these two things: where the Government consider it necessary to appoint an investigator, it would be necessary that Government does it. It is most welcome to do that. But, to take away the right of the body of shareholders is something which I cannot understand.

Shri Nathwani: You are trying to give us a picture as if there is nothing more or further left to be desired by way of audits of a company, but that is not so. There has come to the notice of Government several instances where Government had to intervene.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I am not trying to give any more rosy picture than it exists in this country. I am only discussing a question of principle that before taking away the rights of the body of shareholders we must consider whether it would be advisable to do so. Therefore, I would not be a party to deprive the shareholders of their right to appoint auditors for the purpose of knowing the financial position of the company. In addition to that, if the Government comes to the conclusion that it is necessary to investigate into the affairs of a company, the powers are already there. or the Government can take more powers if it so desires.

Shri Nathwani: One more question and that is about cost accountancy. If provision were to be made in the Companies Act for cost accountancy, will the auditors be able to carry it out along with their other work? Shri C. C. Chokshi: Yes. In our profession there are a large number of members who are actually doing cost accounting work, and they would be certainly in a position to do cost accounting work. What is important is, there should be a statutory provision which would compel the companies to keep cost accounting.

Shri Nathwani: That is what we are assuming. Suppose a provision were to be made that it will be possible for the auditors to carry on this kind of work, viz., cost accountancy?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: They would be quite competent to do that

Shri D. L. Masumdar: Would you favour that?

**Shri C. C. Chokshi:** Yes, Sir. Of course, I am not worried about work, but it is always better to have more accurate accounts.

Shri Nathwani: Proper auditing is an integral part of cost accountancy.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: With due respect, I would say cost accoutancy is one thing and auditing accounts is an entirely different thing. What the auditor certifies is the company's financial position on a particular date as shown in the balance sheet. He does not go beyond that

**Sbri Nathwani:** But it would be a useful thing if cost accountancy were also to be included in the work to be carried on by the auditors.

**Shri C. C. Chokshi:** Yes; it would help the disclosure of the company's affairs and it would enable you to come to a better understanding of the affairs of the company.

Shri Morarka: In the beginning, you said something about the system prevailing in Germany about detailed report by the board of management to be given to the board of superior directors.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Yes; that report is submitted to the supervisory board. It is available to the shareholders; it forms part of the annual report of the company.

Shri Morarka: Are you aware of the provisions of section 217 of our Companies Act?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I am very much aware of it, but that does not lay down the same obligation on the board of directors as is laid down in Germany.

Shri Morarka: Over and above what is suggested in the amending Bill, can you give any positive suggestion to carry out the intention of the scheme which you have seen in Germany and which you approve of?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I would like to see the provisions of the German Companies Act. Without seeing that. it would be difficult. But I can produce the copies of two balance sheets from which you will get a fair idea of what the management of those companies are required to disclose to their shareholders. I had occasion to go through both those balance sheets and the annual reports and I was very much impressed by the amount of information that was given in those balance sheets to the shareholders. I asked a chartered accountant of Germany whether this was obligatory and he said it was obligatory on the part of the management to give this much information.

Shri Morarka: According to your experience, do you think the provisions of section 217 are properly complied with by the companies or do you think they are just technically complied with?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: In most of the cases, they are just technically complied with; they are not fully complied with in the sense that a complete detailed report is not given to the shareholders.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: In page 3 you deal with minimum remuneration. You say it should be linked to turnover. How would you like it to be done? Could you give a concrete illustration?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I have an impression that the company law commission which advises Government has some such formula in mind before sanctioning the minimum remuneration to companies. My impression is that they give about Rs. 30,000 where the turnover is less than Rs. 50 lakhs or so. They seem to have worked out a fair formula.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: I come to page 3 regarding definition of 'remuneration' and whether perquisities in the form of rent-free quarters and other things should be included or not. Do you think from your experience that it would do if we specify that amenities, etc. up to 30 per cent. of one's salary may not be included and beyond that they may be included? If we specify like that, practically that would solve the difficulty.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I think so.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: In page 5, regarding depreciation, you say:

"It is, therefore, suggested that there should be some date from which such calculations are to commence, preferably the date of the Amendment Act. Otherwise, it may be extremely difficult if calculations going back to the beginning of the company have to be made."

If you have the date of the amending Act as the limit, what about the back-log of accrued depreciation?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: You may go back a few years if possible. The Companies Act, 1956 came into force from 1st April, 1956. You may start from that date. But we should fix some reasonable date from which it is possible to find out the arrears of depreciation.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: In the same page, in the second para, you say:

"Clause 130 also amends section 350, whereby it is provided that normal depreciation including extra and multiple shift allowances has to be taken into consideration for the purposes of arriving at the net profits of the company. This would increase the depreciation charge considerably and it is considered that the same will considerably handicap new enterprises and basic heavy industries which are coming up in the country"

If you run a concern in three shifts, it is subjected to three times wear and tear. Why should provision not be made for additional shift depreciation?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: My suggestion is not that it should not be made. The suggestion is that some sort of relaxation should be made in the case of new industries or industries which have undertaken expansion programmes and there too, as already explained, a period of five years may be laid down during which the company may be permitted to declare dividends to the extent of 6 per cent out of their profits. After that period, full arrears of depreciation should be provided.

Shri Bharucha: I come to page 9 regarding clause 75 dealing with audit of branches. Several witnesses have expressed apprehension that there would not be sufficient auditing personnel of the requisite calibre. One witness said he had a branch office where there was not a single auditor  $i_n$  existence.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: It is not possible to understand how this difficulty can arise, because chartered accountants are spread over the whole of India.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: So, nonavailability of personnel would not be an obstacle?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: It should not at all be an obstacle.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: In page 10, clause 119, regarding offices of profit, your say that in your opinion, the word 'legal' should be substituted by the word 'professional' in order to include various other categories of professional persons who render advice of a technical nature. If you do that, the companies may even employ astrologers.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: It is not meant for that purpose.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: In page 21, you refer to distribution of expenditure under proper heads on the purpose or function of that particular expenditure. You rightly say that,

> "Wages incurred on repairs to machinery and wages of the welfare department should be included respectively under "Repairs to machinery" and "Workmen and Staff Welfare Exprenses" and not under the the item "Salaries and Wages and Bonus".

I do agree that it should be so, but that would involve arbitrary allocation so far as overhead cost and other items are concerned.

**Shri C. C. Chokshi**: To a certain extent, it would, but that would give a correct picture to the shareholders.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: So, some element of arbitrary allocation will have to be made.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Yes.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: Will you tell me whether it will not involve the establishment of a full-fiedged costing department?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: No, Sir; it will not at all involve the establishment of costing department, because in actual practice, we have to work out the allocation  $o_n$  a reasonable proportionate basis and chartered accountants are quite aware of the proper method of allocating the various expenses under different heads. Shri Naushir Bharucha: Particularly in engineering industries, don't you think that this problem will present very great difficulties, because the cost of every item would have to be worked out?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: In this case what we have in mind is only repairs to machinery. Actually the amount of time involved in regard to a person who is employed is recorded in his time-schedule or in his employment register. On the basis of such records, it should not be difficult to work out the proportionate expense under different heads.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: The costing can be undertaken with adequate number. So far as I understood, when we passed that Bill, it was mentioned that there were 400 cost accountants in India.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: There is no difficulty about that.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: I want your clarification on two points. There is a provision today that the auditor has to look into the profit and loss account and he has to see that the amount is provided for depreciation. renewals, etc. If such a provision is made by means of depreciation charge the method adopted for such depreciation and if no such provision is made for depreciation, the fact that no provision has been made shall be stated. As regards the first part, that if any provision has been made by means of depreciation charge, the method adopted for such depreciation will indicate the formula adopted in the accounts of the company for calculation. As regards the second part, if the auditor finds that adequate depreciation which could have been provided has not been provided. this fact should be stated. Today, you are required just to state that no depreciation has been provided. The fact that it has not been provided. has to be mentioned. That is the duty of the auditor. I am just wondering, whether in addition to that the fact that adequate depreciation which

could have been provided has not been provided, should also be stated by the auditor.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: As a matter of fact, even under the present provision, the auditor has to state whether depreciation has been provided or not, as you rightly pointed out. The question whether depreciation could have been provided, but has not been provided is apparent on the fact of it, if the company has shown profits.

**Shri D. L. Mazumdar:** It is not apparent to the shareholders. Anyhow, you may look into the matter.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: I would consider that matter.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Then I come to another point. Section 227 of the principal Act. There are certain specific requirements on the part of the auditor besides the fact that he has to supply a true and fair view. There are three sub-sections (a), (b) and (c).

- I read (b): Whether, in his opinion proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the company so far as appears from his examination of those books, and proper returns adequate for the purposes of his audit have been received from branches not visited by him;
- Then, I read (c): Whether the company's balance sheet and profit and loss account dealt with by the report are in agreement with the books of account and returns.

These are the specific certificates which have to be attached besides a general certificate about a true and fair view. I am asking you, supposing we add:

(d) whether in the opinion of the auditor the company has a competent internal audit system in-charge of persons to function as auditors; how do you react to that?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: You may include that.

GMGIPND-LSI-873 LS-1-10-59-950.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: Will it be practicable?

Shri C. C. Chokshi: The auditor has undertaken a very heavy responsibility in the sense that he has to certify and say that the company has maintained the books of accounts which exhibit a true and fair view. If he is undertaking such a heavy responsibility as that, I do not think it difficult for him to also say whether the company has got an adequate system of internal check.

Shri D. L. Mazumdar: I am asking you this, because that is linked up with the question of branch auditing.

Shri P. T. Leuva: I suggest that he may give us a short note regarding the actual practice which is prevalent in Germany, along with the balance-sheet, so that we can understand what is the actual practice in Germany. If it is possible for him, he can send us a short note.

**Chairman:** You may give a small memorandum on that.

Shri Naushir Bharucha: It may be circulated to the Members also.

Chairman: Of course.

Shri M. Shankaraiya: Clause 73, section 226. There is a distinction between chartered accountants and restricted auditors. There are chartered accountants and restricted auditors permitted to audit the accounts of the companies in a particular State in which they are registered. I want to know why this distinction should be retained.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: It is not clear.

Shri Kanungo: There are quite a number of accountants who are allowed to practise in different States, who are not chartered accountants and now the Chartered Accountants body wants to level them up.

Shri C. C. Chokshi: Actually, we are levelling them up to give them a higher status.

Chairman: So, thank you.

(The Witnesses then withdrew.) The Committee then adjourned.